UC San Diego UC San Diego Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Community Networks at the Edge of Ancient Andean States: a view from the Tiwanaku frontier, Locumba, Peru (ca. AD 500-1100)

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/13x0s8jk

Author

Sitek, Matthew Jerald

Publication Date

2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA SAN DIEGO

Community Networks at the Edge of Ancient Andean States: a view from the Tiwanaku frontier, Locumba, Peru (ca. AD 500-1100)

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

in

Anthropology

by

Matthew J. Sitek

Committee in charge:

Professor Paul Goldstein, Chair Professor Guillermo Algaze Professor Geoffrey Braswell Professor Christine Hunefeldt Professor Elizabeth Newsom Professor Bruce Owen

©

Matthew J. Sitek, 2022

All rights reserved.

The Dissertation of Matthew J. Sitek is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication on microfilm and electronically:

University of California San Diego

2022

DEDICATION

For my family,

But particularly for four generations of women who have always (and continue to) inspire me to stay the course and get it done.

my grandmother Harriet, my mother Karla, my wife Kat, and my daughter Harriet

EPIGRAPH

History never repeats itself, But the kaleidoscopic combinations Of the pictured present Often seem to be constructed out of the Broken fragments of antique legends.

The Gilded Age: A Tale of To-Day (1874)

Mark Twain

There is no great and small To the Soul that maketh all: And where it cometh, all things are And it cometh everywhere.

History (1841)

Ralph Waldo Emerson

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DISSERTATION APPROVAL PAGE	iii
DEDICATION	iv
EPIGRAPH	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	xix
LIST OF TABLES	xxxix
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	xlii
VITA	I
ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION	lv
	1
Research Questions and Hypotheses	5
Document Organization	7
SECTION 1 - RESEARCH CONTEXT	13
Chapter 1 - Theoretical Context	15
1.1 Situating Human Sociality: how to understand complexity	15
Complex Adaptive Systems	16
1.2 Building It Up & Breaking It Down: finding the proper subunits	22
Scales of Analysis: individuals, communities, institutions	22
Community	24
Communities Under Review	25
Re-situating Community	28
Modes of Community	31
Residential Communities.	34
Sustainable Communities	36
Symbolic Communities	38
Community Ecology: the complex dynamics of middle-range sociality	42
Communities on the Ground	42
Interacting Modes of Community	44
Community Topography	46
1.3 The Birth, Life, & Death of Archaic States	48
The Evolution of the State in Archeology: of stages & systems	48
Before the State: egalitarianism, ranked societies, and network formation	54

Breaking Chayanov's Rule	_55
The Role of Individuals	_57
Pathways to Power	59
Exclusionary Strategies	_59
Corporate Strategies	_62
Creating Unequal Community Networks	64
Becoming the State: prime movers, institutional leadership, and network consolidation	_65
Socio-environmental Stresses & Prime Movers	_66
Irrigation	_66
Population Pressure	_67
Warfare	68
Simulating Institutional Emergence	69
Peer-Polity Interaction	_70
Consolidating Community Networks	_71
Being the State: systems of control, integration, & network globalization	_72
First-Generation States	_73
Core-Periphery Systems	_75
Archaic State Residential Communities	_79
Urban Cores	_79
Colonized Peripheries	_80
Archaic State Sustainable Communities	_82
Craft Production	_82
Archaic State Symbolic Communities	_83
Priests	_84
Globalizing Community Networks	_84
Breaking the State: resiliency, collapse, and network balkanization	_85
Balkanizing Community Networks	_87
1.4 Chapter Summary	_88
Chapter 2 - Socio-Geographical Context	_90
2.1 A (Very) Brief History of Understanding Social Life in the Andes: a macroscale view	_90
The Andes: an environmental overview	_91
El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO)	_95
A History of Archaeological Thought in the Andes	_96
An Andean Culture-History: from peopling to present	102

First Peoples & Archaic Communities	105
Initial Complexity & the Maritime Hypothesis	106
Formative Foundations: farming, herding, & village life	107
Interregional Interaction & Globally-Oriented Symbolic Communities	110
Peer-Polity Interaction & the Emergence of States	112
Initial Collapse & Regional Development	116
Tawantinsuyu & Andean Empire	117
Spanish Colonization & the Great Restructuring	122
From Independence to Modernity: the development of contemporary Andean nation	ons
	123
2.2 Communities in the Central Andes: understanding ayllu	124
Ayllu in Andean Studies	126
Ayllu Organization	130
Ayllus as Residential Communities	134
Ayllus as Sustainable Communities	138
Ayllus as Symbolic Communities	142
Ayllus: now & then	148
2.3 Tiwanaku: culture-history & archaeological interpretation	150
Understanding the Trajectory of Tiwanaku	151
The South-Central Andes	157
South-Central Highlands	158
South-Central Coast	161
Southern Highlands	163
The Formative Period (ca. 1500 BC - AD 500): the emergence of hierarchical institu	tions
in the South-Central Highlands	163
Formative Changes Elsewhere in the South-Central Andes	168
The Early Middle Horizon (ca. AD 500-750): the formation of Tiwanaku as a centripe	etal
center	170
Early Middle Horizon Microscale Institutions: households in the core	175
The Early Middle Horizon Abroad: Tiwanaku's influence in the South-Central Ande	es 179
The Late Middle Horizon (ca. 750-1000): the transformation to Tiwanaku as centrifu	gal
polity	182
Late Middle Horizon Microscale Institutions: from households to neighborhoods $_$	185
The Late Middle Horizon Abroad: Tiwanaku's expansive strategies	187

The Osmore Enclaves	_192
Wari: peer-polity interaction during the Middle Horizon	_195
The Terminal Middle Horizon into the Late Intermediate Period (ca. AD 1000-1400):	
collapse & the impact of the post-Tiwanaku diaspora	_200
Tiwanaku Collapse Abroad: communities in diaspora	_203
2.4 Chapter Summary	_208
Chapter 3 - Materials	_210
3.1 Setting the Stage: the Locumba Drainage & the Cerro San Antonio case study	_210
The Locumba Drainage	_211
Local Histories & Modern Demographics	_216
Previous & Ongoing Work	_222
Proyecto Arqueologío Locumba (PAL)	_227
3.2 Cerro San Antonio (L1)	_228
Archaeological Sectors	_229
Sector A	_232
Sector B	_234
Sector C	_235
Sector D	_240
Sector E	_240
Sector F	_241
Sector G	_241
Sector H	_242
Sector I	_243
Sector J	_243
Sector K	_244
Sector L	_245
Sector M	_246
Sector N	_246
Sector O	_246
Sector P	_247
Sector Q	_247
Sector R	_248
Sector S	_248
Sector T	_248

Sector U	248
Sector V	249
Sector W	249
Sector X	250
Sector Y	250
Sector Z	250
Sector AA	251
Sector BB	251
Other Archaeological Features	251
Valley Access & Pathways	251
Petroglyphs	253
Other Features	257
Disturbances	257
Development	257
Looting	259
Bioturbation	260
3.3 Chapter Summary	261
Chapter 4 - Methods	262
4.1 Data Collection: field & laboratory methods & procedures	263
2012-2014	263
2015	264
2016	265
2017	266
2018-2019	266
Reconnaissance	267
Aerial Imagery	267
Pedestrian Reconnaissance	270
Mapping	272
Systematic Surface Collection	274
Surface Collection Units	275
Excavations	276
2016 Test Excavations	276
2018-19 Household Excavations	278
Locus Number	282

Material Analysis	282
Initial Sorting & Specimen Numbers	283
Ceramics	285
Lithics	288
Lithic-Flaked	288
Lithic-Ground	289
Textiles	289
Basketry	291
Metal	291
Beads	292
Artifacts	292
Fauna	292
Fauna-Hard	293
Fauna-Soft	293
Botanics	294
Soil Samples & Microanalysis	295
Other Samples	295
Architecture	296
Mineral	296
C14	296
Human Remains	296
4.2 Analysis & Interpretation: middle-range frameworks	297
Approaching Complexity with Networks	297
Formal Network Approaches	299
Humanistic Network Approaches	304
A Multiscalar Network Approach	305
Microscale: defining activity assemblages	307
Mesoscale: tracing inter/intra-community patterns	311
Macroscale: identifying broader connections	313
4.3 Hypotheses: archaeological correlates and implications	315
Hypothesis 1 - Primary Tiwanaku Enclave	317
Hypothesis 2 - Secondary Tiwanaku Enclave	318
Hypothesis 3 - Exchange & Emulation	320
4.4 Chapter Summary	322

SECTION 2 - DATA & RESULTS	324
Chapter 5 - Reconnaissance	325
5.1 Initial Reconnaissance	325
5.2 Systematic Pedestrian Survey	330
Ground-Stone Pilot Survey	335
5.3 Spot Find Collections	338
5.4 Low-Altitude Photography	342
5.5 Chapter Summary	350
Chapter 6 - Systematic Surface Collection	351
6.1 Surface Collection Units	351
6.2 Material Density Distributions & Heat-Maps	356
Sector A	356
Sector L	362
Sector U	366
6.3 Chapter Summary	370
Chapter 7 - Excavations	372
7.1 Test Excavations (2016)	372
Unit: L1A-2016-1	375
Area A	378
Area B	379
Unit: L1A-2016-2	381
Area A	383
Area B	383
Area C	384
Area D	386
Unit: L1A-2016-3	386
Area A	388
Area B	391
Area C	391
Unit: L1A-2016-4	392
Unit: L1A-2016-5	394
Area A (Special Structure L1A-1)	397
Area B	399
AMP - Back Dirt	399

7.2 Household Excavations (2018-19)	400
Block: L1L-2019-1	402
Area A (Structure L1L-1 - Room 1)	412
R-3	414
R-4	414
Area C (exterior)	415
Area D (Structure L1L-1 - Room 2)	415
R-2	418
Area E (Structure L1L-1 - Room 3)	418
R-1	421
R-7	421
R-8	422
Area F (Structure L1L-1 - Room 4)	422
R-5	425
R-6	425
Area G (Structure L1L-1 - Room 5)	425
Block: L1L-2019-3	425
Area A (Structure L1L-2 - Room 1)	434
R-1	437
R-2	438
R-3	438
R-4	438
R-7	438
Area B (exterior)	439
Area C (Structure L1L-2 - Room 2)	439
Area D (alley)	441
Area E (exterior)	441
Area F (exterior)	442
Area G (exterior)	443
R-6	443
Area H (Structure L1L-3 - Room 1)	443
R-5	446
Area I (Structure L1L-3 - Room 2)	446
Area J (exterior)	446

Block: L1A-2019-2	447
Area A (Special Structure L1A-2)	457
R-1	461
Area B	461
Area C	462
Area D	462
Area E	463
Area F	463
Block: L1A-2019-3	463
Area A	470
Area B	471
R-1	471
R-2	473
R-3	473
Area C	473
Area D	474
Block: L1U-2019-1	474
Area A	479
Area B	479
7.3 Chapter Summary	479
Chapter 8 - Material Analysis	481
8.1 Ceramics	481
Ceramic Wares	482
Ware Frequencies	485
Diagnostics	487
Ceramic Attribute Analysis	489
Plainware Vessel Types & Major Attributes	490
Ollas	493
Tinajas	498
Incensarios	499
Miniatures	500
Reutilized Sherds	501
Redware Vessel Types & Major Attributes	502
Keros	505

Tazónes	508
Pitchers	511
Other Serving Forms	512
Other Redware Forms	512
Redware Painted Designs & Motifs	513
Figural Design Elements	514
Geometric Design Elements	519
Blackware Vessel Types & Major Attributes	526
Ceramic Production & Repair	526
8.2 Lithics	528
Lithics - Flaked	529
Lithics - Ground	536
8.3 Textiles	539
8.4 Basketry	551
8.5 Metal	554
8.6 Other Artifact Types	555
Beads	555
Wood	558
Bone	562
Leather	563
8.7 Fauna	564
Fauna-Hard	564
Animal Bone	565
Shell	570
Other Invertebrate Remains	574
Fauna-Soft	575
8.8 Botanics	577
Consumable Botanics	580
Bulk Botanics	587
Textile Botanics	589
Ritual Botanics	591
Wild Botanics	592
8.9 Microanalysis: soil samples	592
8.10 Human Remains	593

8.11 Secondary Compositional Analysis	596
AMS Radiocarbon Dating	596
8.12 Chapter Summary	598
SECTION 3 - DISCUSSION	600
Chapter 9 - The Microscale: portraits of "the local" at Cerro San Antonio	602
9.1 The Domestic Structures of Sector L	604
Domestic Structure L1L-1	605
Domestic Structure L1L-2 & Domestic Structure L1L-3	616
9.2 The Special Structures & Communal Features of Sector A	623
Special Structure L1A-1	624
Special Structure L1A-2 & the Central Plaza	626
Sector A Central Storage Facilities	632
9.3 Chapter Summary	635
Chapter 10 - The Mesoscale: intersecting communities at Cerro San Antonio	637
10.1 Middle Horizon Residential Communities at Cerro San Antonio	638
Districts & Domestic Sectors	638
Population	643
Neighborhoods	646
10.2 Middle Horizon Sustainable Communities at Cerro San Antonio	652
Basic Subsistence	653
Production & Procurement	654
Consumption	668
Storage & Disposal	676
Craft Production	681
Ceramics	682
Lithics	684
Textiles	688
Beads	691
10.3 Middle Horizon Symbolic Communities at Cerro San Antonio	692
Habits, Customs, & Communities of Practice	693
Taste & Cuisine	694
Crafting Communities of Practice	699
Individual Distinction, Community Solidarity, & Ritual Action	704
Personal Apparel	704

Cemeteries & Mortuary Ritual	_710
Feasting & Specialized Consumption	_713
The Built Environment	_722
10.4 Chapter Summary	_729
Chapter 11 - The Macroscale: situating the Locumba node in space and time	_731
11.1 Situating the Locumba Node in the Tiwanaku Network: some initial considerations	on
space and time	_731
Macroscale Spatial Constraints of the South-Central Andes	_732
Macroscale Temporal Constraints of the Middle Horizon	_736
11.2 Home on the Range: defining Tiwanaku residential communities on the western	
frontier	_740
Interregional Residential Comparisons: microscale socio-spatial institutions in their	
macroscale context	_74(
Ranking Residence: settlement hierarchy and population on the western frontier	_744
11.3 Self-Dependent with Connections: delineating Tiwanaku's interregional sustainab	le
communities	_746
Easy Living in the Yungas: diversified subsistence in the Valles Occidentales	_747
Farm-to-Table: local agricultural production in perspective	_747
Surf & Turf: contextualizing differences in protein procurement	_749
Highland Stews & Lowland Brews: culinary practices in the Middle Horizon	_753
Making & Moving in a Low-Gravity World-System: craft and trade during the Middle	
Horizon	_756
Different Strokes for Different Folks: everyday crafting in the South-Central Andes	_756
From Chala to Omagua: access to the global during the Middle Horizon	_759
11.4 Oriented Hearts & Minds: diagnosing Tiwanaku's globally-oriented symbolic	
communities as ethnicity	_766
Internalizing Tiwanaku: ethnic habitus & provincial ethnogenesis at the end of the Mi	ddle
Horizon	_767
Some Like It Hot: understanding a new regional Tiwanaku cuisine	_767
When Things Fall Apart: crafting communities of practice in the Terminal Middle Ho	orizor
	_770
Externalizing Tiwanaku: performance & power in an early globalized world	_776
Who's Running the Show?: evidence of rank and role in Tiwanaku society	_777
The Grateful Dead: mortuary symbolic communities	_781

	785
Hosting & Holidays	786
Fashionable Finewares	792
An Individual Ethic	800
Every Step You Take; Every Move You Make: maintaining world order with the b	uilt
environment	803
Public vs Private	804
Orientation	808
11.5 Chapter Summary	813
	815
Hypotheses Tested: Cerro San Antonio (L1) and Tiwanaku in perspective	815
From the Inside, Looking Out: Cerro San Antonio (L1) in perspective	823
From the Outside, Looking In: Tiwanaku in perspective	824
Broader Impact: understanding emergent sociality through community ecology	826
Future Directions: community collaborations in sharing the past of Cerro San Anton	nio (L1)
with the present and preserving it for the future	830
Appendix 1 - L1 Surface Collection Unit Inventory	832
Appendix 2 – Material Densities in Excavated Contexts (2018-19)	850
Appendix 3 – Example Field Forms Used for Data Collection at Cerro San Antonic	o (L1)
	861
Appendix 4 – Supplemental Site (L1 – Cerro San Antonio) Maps & Field Photos _	866
Formative Period	867
Middle Horizon	869
Late Intermediate Period	873
Colonial and Historic Periods	879
Looting and Modern Disturbances	882
Petroglyphs	894
ORKS CITED	896

A Comestible Cosmology: the apogee & legacy of Tiwanaku's religion of consumption

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1. MAP OF THE SOUTH-CENTRAL ANDES: SCHEMATIC MAP OF THE SOUTH-CENTRAL ANDES WITH IMPORTANT TIWANAKU SITES INDICATED. 2
FIGURE 2. THE ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITE COMPLEX OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1) IN THE MIDDLE LOCUMBA VALLEY IN SOUTHERN PERU WITH TIWANAKU-AFFILIATED SECTORS DISPLAYED. (INSERT) CERRO SAN ANTONIO'S GENERAL LOCATION IN THE BROADER LOCUMBA DRAINAGE 4
FIGURE 3. GRAPHIC DISPLAY OF THE PRIMARY HYPOTHESES TESTED IN THIS STUDY. (ABOVE) SUMMARY OF MY THREE PRIMARY HYPOTHESES AND THEIR VARIANTS: HYPOTHESIS 1 (H1), HYPOTHESIS 2 (H2) AND ITS TWO VARIANTS (H2A AND H2B), AND HYPOTHESIS 3 (H3) AND ITS TWO VARIANTS (H3A AND H3B). (BELOW) NETWORK AND MAP-BASED VISUALIZATIONS OF THE THREE HYPOTHESES
FIGURE 4. GRAPHIC ILLUSTRATING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN COMPLEXITY AND COMPLICATEDNESS AND THE PURVIEW OF COMPLEXITY SCIENCE AND SYSTEMS STUDIES (ANDERSSON, ET AL. 2014:149). ALSO ILLUSTRATED ARE THE ANGLES FROM WHICH QUANTITATIVE AND MORE QUALITATIVE APPROACHES APPROACH THESE ISSUES. FINALLY, ALSO PLOTTED ARE DIFFERENT MAJOR TYPES OF SYSTEMS AND AREAS OF STUDY AND WHERE THEY FALL IN TERMS OF COMPLEXITY AND COMPLICATEDNESS
FIGURE 5. SIMPLIFIED SCHEMATICS ILLUSTRATING THE NESTED NATURE OF EACH MODE OF COMMUNITY. THE HYPER-SIMPLIFIED SCHEMATIC ON THE RIGHT ILLUSTRATES JUST HOW COMPLICATED A GIVEN INDIVIDUAL'S MULTI-MODAL COMMUNITY AFFILIATION NETWORK CAN BE. 33
FIGURE 6. SCHEMATIC OF LEVELS OF ABSTRACTION (PETERSON 1999:73), WHICH ILLUSTRATES INTERACTING BEHAVIORS THROUGH WHICH SYMBOLIC COMMUNITIES OPERATE
FIGURE 7. HYPERSIMPLIFIED SCHEMATICS OF DIFFERENT MODELS OF STATE FORMATION DESCRIBED IN THE TEXT, REPRESENTED USING THE MODES OF COMMUNITY (AS REPRESENTED IN FIGURE 5).
FIGURE 8. THE EIGHT PRIMARY ECOZONES OF THE CENTRAL ANDES ACCORDING TO J. P. VIDAL'S MODEL (VIDAL 1987:24). INCLUDES: MAP DEPICTING THE DISTRIBUTION OF ENVIRONMENTAL ZONES ACROSS THE CENTRAL ANDES (TOP-LEFT), CHART PROVIDING BASIC INFORMATION REGARDING EACH ECOZONE (ELEVATIONS, AVERAGE TEMPERATURE RANGE, AND BASIC DESCRIPTIONS OF THE TOPOGRAPHY AND WILDLIFE) (TOP-RIGHT), AND AN IDEALIZED CROSS- SECTION OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL ZONE DISTRIBUTION (BOTTOM)
FIGURE 9. MAP DEPICTING MAJOR CENTRAL ANDEAN SUBREGIONS AS REFERRED TO IN THE TEXT AND SCHEMATIC OF MAJOR PERIODS/STAGES OF CENTRAL ANDEAN CULTURE-HISTORY AS DISCUSSED IN THE TEXT
FIGURE 10. VISUALIZATION OF GODOY'S SURVEY OF AYLLU DEFINITIONS IN 29 COLONIAL-ERA AND 20TH CENTURY ETHNOGRAPHIC ACCOUNTS - (LEFT) CENTRAL ANDEAN SUBREGIONS IN WHICH ACCOUNTS WERE MADE AND (RIGHT) FREQUENCIES OF TEN TERMS USED MOST COMMONLY IN AYLLU DEFINITIONS (GODOY 1986:726-728)
FIGURE 11. SCHEMATIC VISUALIZATIONS OF AYLLU ORGANIZATION
FIGURE 12. EXAMPLES OF TRADITIONAL DOMESTIC STRUCTURE CONFIGURATIONS IN THE CONTEMPORARY SOUTH-CENTRAL HIGHLANDS SUBREGION AS WELL AS FROM INCA-ERA CONTEXTS IN THE CENTRAL HIGHLAND SUBREGION
FIGURE 13. MAP OF THE SOUTH-CENTRAL ANDES, WITH INSERTS OF IMPORTANT SUBREGIONS

DISCUSSED IN THE TEXT - 1) THE SOUTH-CENTRAL HIGHLANDS, 2) THE SOUTH-CENTRAL COAST, AND 3) THE SOUTHERN HIGHLANDS158
FIGURE 14. SATELLITE-BASED IMAGERY (GOOGLEEARTH) MAP OF LAKE TITICACA AND THE SURROUNDING TITICACA BASIN
FIGURE 15. MAP OF THE SOUTH-CENTRAL COAST SUBREGION WITH THE DRAINAGE SYSTEMS THAT COMPRISE THE VALLES OCCIDENTALES LABELLED (NOTE: DOTS INDICATE SOME MAJOR TIWANAKU-AFFILIATED SITES)
FIGURE 16. MAP OF SITE OF TIAHUANACO171
FIGURE 17. MAP OF THE SOUTHERN TITICACA BASIN WITH MAJOR TIWANAKU SITES DISCUSSED IN THE TEXT
FIGURE 18. SCHEMATIC PLAN VIEW OF DOMESTIC COMPOUND PARTIALLY EXCAVATED AT PIRQUE ALTO OUTSIDE OF COCHABAMBA, BOLVIA (MCANDREWS 2007; SITEK 2010)191
FIGURE 19. (LEFT) SCHEMATIC MAP OF TIWANAKU CHEN CHEN VILLAGE OMO M10 IN MIDDLE OSMORE DRAINAGE - INCLUDING PRIMARY DOMESTIC SECTOR (SHADED) AND DOMESTIC PLAZAS, THE OMO TEMPLE, AND THE 14 ASSOCIATED CEMETERY SECTORS (GOLDSTEIN 2005:162). (RIGHT) SIMPLIFIED SCHEMATICS OF CHEN CHEN-STYLE DOMESTIC STRUCTURES EXCAVATED AT M10 (GOLDSTEIN 2005:213)
FIGURE 20. SCHEMATICS OF DOMESTIC STRUCTURES DATING TO TIWANAKU-AFFILIATED TERMINAL MIDDLE HORIZON AND EARLY LIP CONTEXTS IN: (TOP-LEFT) UPPER OSMORE DRAINAGE, MIDDLE OSMORE DRAINAGE, AND (LOWER-LEFT) LOWER OSMORE DRAINAGE CONTEXTS AS WELL AS A CHIRIBAYA AFFILIATED DOMESTIC STRUCTURE FROM THE MIDDLE OSMORE
FIGURE 21. MAP OF THE LOCUMBA DRAINAGE OF THE FAR SOUTH COAST OF PERU (SEE INSERT). THIS MAP DISPLAYS MAJOR GEOGRAPHICAL FEATURES, INCLUDING ALL MAJOR TRIBUTARIES, LAKES, AND VOLCANIC PEAKS MENTIONED IN THE TEXT. ALSO INDICATED ARE THE MAJOR ELEVATION- BASED ENVIRONMENTAL ZONES, INCLUDING IMPORTANT TOPOGRAPHIC MARKERS (500, 1500, AND 4000 METERS ABOVE SEA LEVEL)
FIGURE 22. MAP DISPLAYING THE SOME OF THE MOST INTENSIVELY INVESTIGATED ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES IN THE BROADER LOCUMBA DRAINAGE
FIGURE 23. MAP OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1) DISPLAYING ALL 28 ARCHAEOLOGICAL SECTORS DATING TO ALL PRE-MODERN CULTURE-HISTORY PERIODS. ALSO DEPICTED ARE SOME OF THE MAJOR PRE-MODERN PATHWAYS THAT CONNECTED THE PRE-MODERN OCCUPATIONS
FIGURE 24. MAP OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO DEPICTING ALL DOCUMENTED PREMODERN PATHWAYS AND PRIMARY POINTS OF ACCESS BETWEEN THE VALLEY BOTTOM AND THE OCCUPIED AREAS OF THE SITE
FIGURE 25. MAP (AND INSERT) INDICATING LOCATIONS OF ALL DOCUMENTED BOULDERS WITH PETROGLYPHS OR OTHER DECORATIVE ALTERATIONS, WITH SAMPLE PHOTOS OF PETROGLYPHS.
FIGURE 26. VISUALIZATION OF THE STRENGTH OF WEAK TIES AND STRUCTURAL HOLE THEORY IN SOCIAL NETWORKS
FIGURE 27. EXAMPLE OF A SINGLE NETWORK IN WHICH EACH OF THE PRIMARY MODES OF NODE CENTRALITY IS EXHIBITED BY A DIFFERENT NODE
FIGURE 28. SCHEMATIC REPRESENTATION OF DIFFERENT TYPES OF NETWORK CONFIGURATIONS303
FIGURE 29. THE FUNDAMENTAL RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN CONTEXT AND MATERIAL DATA TYPES -

BASED ON INDEXED LOCUS AND SPECIMEN NUMBERS IN A RELATIONAL DATABASE
FIGURE 30. EXAMPLE BIPARTITE NETWORK DRAWING AFFILIATIONS BETWEEN HYPOTHETICAL AREAS (TOP) BY SHOWING SHARED CONNECTIONS WITH MATERIAL TYPES (BELOW) - STRENGTH OF RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN AREAS AND MATERIALS FURTHER EMPHASIZED BY THE WEIGHT OF THE LINKS (THIN = WEAK CONNECTION, THICK = STRONG CONNECTION)
FIGURE 31. SIMPLIFIED NETWORK VISUALIZATIONS OF THE THREE PRIMARY HYPOTHESES THAT LEAD GUIDE THIS STUDY: H1 (<i>TOP</i>), H2A AND H2B (<i>LEFT</i>), AND H3A AND H3B (<i>RIGHT</i>)
FIGURE 32. TOPOGRAPHIC CONTOUR MAP (5 METER SPACING) GENERATED USING ASTER DEM IMAGERY FROM NASA, BACKGROUND IMAGERY FROM GOOGLEEARTH. <i>NOTE</i> : MY ORIGINAL MAP DID NOT INCLUDE THE FORMAL L1 SITE BOUNDARY
FIGURE 33. MAPS DISPLAYING THE INITIAL RECONNAISSANCE TRIPS I UNDERTOOK AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1) BETWEEN 2012-2014. THE NUMBERS ON EACH MAP CORRESPOND WITH THE FINDINGS SUMMARY TO THE RIGHT
FIGURE 34. OFFICIAL SITE BOUNDARY OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO AS DELINEATED BY THE PERUVIAN MINISTERIO DE CULTURA - TACNA OFFICE
FIGURE 35. (TOP) MAP DEPICTING ALL MAJOR PEDESTRIAN SURVEY WORK - INITIAL RECONNAISSANCE ROUTES (PALE YELLOW) AND SYSTEMATIC PEDESTRIAN SURVEY TRANSECTS. (BOTTOM) MAP DISPLAYING ALL SECTORS DELINEATED FROM INFORMAL RECONNAISSANCE AND SYSTEMATIC PEDESTRIAN SURVEY - SHADED AREAS REPRESENT AREAS WITH PRE-MODERN CULTURAL MATERIAL AND PERIMETER WAYPOINTS (GPS) ARE MARKED IN GREEN
FIGURE 36. MAP OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1) DEPICTING ALL TIWANAKU-AFFILIATED SECTORS AS WELL AS PRE-MODERN ACCESS ROUTES AND PATHWAYS
FIGURE 37. MAP PROJECTING THE PLOTTED FINDS IN THE GROUND-STONE PILOT STUDY. ALSO DEPICTED ARE SEGMENTS OF QUINCHA WALL FOUNDATION SEGMENTS
FIGURE 38. (<i>TOP</i>) MAP DISPLAYING THE DISTRIBUTION OF ALL SPOT FINDS ASSOCIATED WITH THE TIWANAKU-AFFILIATED SECTORS. (<i>BOTTOM</i>) CHART ILLUSTRATING THE NUMBER OF SPOT FINDS ASSOCIATED WITH EACH MAJOR MATERIAL TYPE (TOTAL: N=253)
FIGURE 39. MAPS PLOTTING THE SPOT FINDS FROM THE NORTH GROUP (TOP) AND SOUTH GROUP (BOTTOM TIWANAKU-AFFILIATED SECTORS AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO
FIGURE 40. MAP SHOWING THE SIX PERMANENT REFERENCE POINTS ESTABLISHED AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO
FIGURE 41. MAP WHICH DISPLAYS ALL 1,970-INDIVIDUAL LOW-ALTITUDE PHOTOS TAKEN WITH THE UAV WITH THE PURPOSE OF GENERAL MAPPING DURING THE 2018-19 SEASON
FIGURE 42. MAPS OF THE NORTH AND SOUTH GROUPS OF TIWANAKU-AFFILIATED SITES AT L1 - BLUE DOTS INDICATE INDIVIDUAL OVERHEAD UAV PHOTOS (TAKEN AT VARIOUS ELEVATIONS: 20-90 M.A.G.S.)
FIGURE 43. ORTHOPHOTO MOSAIC OF SECTOR A WITH INSERTS OF ASSOCIATED MORTUARY SECTORS (SECTOR W AND SECTOR B) AS WELL AS SOME MAJOR FEATURES VISIBLE IN THIS HIGH- DEFINITION MODELING. ALSO INCLUDED (<i>TOP</i>) ARE SOME EXAMPLES OF THE STRUCTURE-FOR- MOTION, PHOTOGRAMMETRY PROCESS OF GENERATING THESE MODELS FROM LOW-ALTITUDE PHOTOS TAKEN WITH A UAV
FIGURE 44. ORTHOPHOTO MOSAIC OF SECTOR L WITH INSERTS OF IMPORTANT DETAILS THAT CAN BE OBSERVED IN THE STRUCTURE FOR MOTION MODEL. THIS INCLUDES EXPOSED QUINCHA WALL

FOUNDATIONS OF MIDDLE HORIZON ERA DOMESTIC STRUCTURES (TOP LEFT) AND AN EXAMPLE

OF THE USEFUL PERSPECTIVE OFFERED BY THE 3D STRUCTURE-FOR-MOTION MODELS (<i>LOWER RIGHT</i>)
FIGURE 44. ORTHOPHOTO MOSAIC OF FIGURE 45. MAP OF THE 50M ² L1 SITE GRID WITH ON-SITE UNITS LABELED
 FIGURE 44. ORTHOPHOTO MOSAIC FIGURE 46. MAP DISPLAYING ALL SAMPLED 50x50 METER GRID UNITS. EACH UNIT WAS SAMPLED BY COLLECTING ALL SURFACE MATERIALS IN A 10x10 METER SUBUNIT
FIGURE 47. HEAT-MAPS OF SECTOR A VISUALIZING THE DENSITY OF CERAMICS COLLECTED DURING SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION. (<i>TOP</i>) MAP OF DENSITY OF ALL CERAMIC SHERDS COLLECTED. (<i>MIDDLE-LEFT</i>) MAP OF DENSITY OF PLAINWARE CERAMIC SHERDS AND (<i>MIDDLE- RIGHT</i>) MAP OF DENSITY OF REDWARE CERAMIC SHERDS. (<i>BOTTOM</i>) MAP INCLUDES BACKGROUND HEAT MAP OF ALL CERAMICS AS WELL AS OVERLAY OF PIE CHARTS ILLUSTRATING RELATIVE FREQUENCIES OF PLAINWARE VS. REDWARE SHERDS RECOVERED IN EACH COLLECTION UNIT.358
FIGURE 48. HEAT-MAP OF DENSITY DISTRIBUTION OF FLAKED LITHIC DEBITAGE AS RECOVERED DURING SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION AT L1A. ALSO INDICATED (<i>YELLOW DOTS</i>) ARE FLAKED LITHIC TOOLS (PROJECTILE POINTS, SIDE-SCRAPERS, RE-UTILIZED FLAKES) RECOVERED AS SPOT FINDS DURING RECONNAISSANCE
FIGURE 49. HEAT-MAP OF DENSITY DISTRIBUTION OF MARINE SHELL AS RECOVERED FROM SURFACE COLLECTION UNITS IN SECTOR A
FIGURE 50. HEAT-MAPS OF SECTOR L VISUALIZING THE DENSITY OF CERAMICS COLLECTED DURING SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION. (<i>TOP</i>) MAP OF DENSITY OF ALL CERAMIC SHERDS COLLECTED. (<i>MIDDLE-LEFT</i>) MAP OF DENSITY OF PLAINWARE CERAMIC SHERDS AND (<i>MIDDLE- RIGHT</i>) MAP OF DENSITY OF REDWARE CERAMIC SHERDS. (<i>BOTTOM</i>) MAP INCLUDES BACKGROUND HEAT MAP OF ALL CERAMICS AS WELL AS OVERLAY OF PIE CHARTS ILLUSTRATING RELATIVE FREQUENCIES OF PLAINWARE VS. REDWARE SHERDS RECOVERED IN EACH COLLECTION UNIT.363
FIGURE 51. HEAT-MAP OF DENSITY DISTRIBUTION OF FLAKED LITHIC DEBITAGE AS RECOVERED DURING SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION AT L1L. ALSO INDICATED (YELLOW DOTS) ARE FLAKED LITHIC TOOLS (PROJECTILE POINTS, SIDE-SCRAPERS, RE-UTILIZED FLAKES) RECOVERED AS SPOT FINDS DURING RECONNAISSANCE
FIGURE 52. HEAT-MAP OF DENSITY DISTRIBUTION OF MARINE SHELL AS RECOVERED FROM SURFACE COLLECTION UNITS IN L1L
FIGURE 53. HEAT-MAPS OF SECTOR U VISUALIZING THE DENSITY OF CERAMICS COLLECTED DURING SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION. (TOP) MAP OF DENSITY OF ALL CERAMIC SHERDS COLLECTED. (MIDDLE-LEFT) MAP OF DENSITY OF PLAINWARE CERAMIC SHERDS AND (MIDDLE- RIGHT) MAP OF DENSITY OF REDWARE CERAMIC SHERDS. (BOTTOM) MAP INCLUDES BACKGROUND HEAT MAP OF ALL CERAMICS AS WELL AS OVERLAY OF PIE CHARTS ILLUSTRATING RELATIVE FREQUENCIES OF PLAINWARE VS. REDWARE SHERDS RECOVERED IN EACH COLLECTION UNIT.368
FIGURE 54. HEAT-MAP OF DENSITY DISTRIBUTION OF FLAKED LITHIC DEBITAGE AS RECOVERED DURING SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION AT L1U. ALSO INDICATED (YELLOW DOTS) ARE FLAKED LITHIC TOOLS (PROJECTILE POINTS, SIDE-SCRAPERS, RE-UTILIZED FLAKES) RECOVERED AS SPOT FINDS DURING RECONNAISSANCE
FIGURE 55. HEAT-MAP OF DENSITY DISTRIBUTION OF MARINE SHELL AS RECOVERED FROM SURFACE COLLECTION UNITS IN L1U
FIGURE 56. MAP OF THE FIVE TEST EXCAVATIONS COMPLETED DURING THE 2016 FIELD SEASON. ALL

	IVE UNITS ARE LOCATED IN THE WESTERN PORTION OF SECTOR A (L1A)
Figu	RE 57. DETAILED ORTHOPHOTO INDICATING THE LOCATION OF TEST UNIT L1A-2016-1 WHICH SET TO SAMPLE A PARTICULARLY REGULAR-SHAPED DOMESTIC CLEARING, BORDERED BY DEFLATED ROCKPILE-MIDDEN DEPOSITS. (<i>INSERT</i>) INDICATES L1A-2016-1'S LOCATION IN THE VESTERN PORTION OF SECTOR A, INCLUDING ROUGH LOCATIONS OF CERAMIC DENSITIES376
Figu	RE 58. UNIT LEVEL BASE-MAP FOR TEST UNIT L1A-2016-1. THIS IS THE BASE OF EXCAVATION EVEL 1 (NOTE: ELEVATIONS ARE CM BELOW LOCAL DATUM: L1A-1)
FIGU	RE 59. SELECTED PHOTOS OF IMPORTANT FEATURES OF TEST UNIT L1A-2016-1. (A) PHOTO OF THE ENTIRE UNIT AFTER THE LEVEL 1 SCRAPE, (B) FEATURE R-2 IN AREA B AFTER THE EAST 1/2 IAD BEEN BISECTED - NOTE MAIZE COBS AND OTHER DOMESTIC REFUSE PROTRUDING FROM EENTER PROFILE, AND (C) THE SOUTHERN PROFILE OF UNIT AFTER COMPLETION, ILLUSTRATING THE DEPTH OF THE DEFLATED ROCKPILE-MIDDEN DEPOSIT
Figu	RE 60. DETAILED ORTHOPHOTO INDICATING THE LOCATION OF TEST UNIT L1A-2016-2 AND ITS OCATION AT THE EASTERN EXTENT OF THE ROCKPILE-MIDDEN DEPOSITS WHICH DEFINE THE VESTERN PORTION OF SECTOR A
Figu	RE 61. UNIT LEVEL BASE-MAP FOR TEST UNIT L1A-2016-2. THIS IS THE BASE MAP FOR THE SURFACE (SUPERFICIE) BEFORE EXCAVATION (NOTE: ELEVATIONS ARE CM BELOW LOCAL DATUM: 1A-2).
FIGU	RE 62. SELECTED PHOTOS OF IMPORTANT FEATURES IN TEST UNIT L1A-2016-2. (A) OVERHEAD PHOTO OF ORIGINAL UNIT SURFACE (SUPERFICIE) BEFORE EXCAVATIONS, (B) OVERHEAD PHOTO OF UNIT AFTER LEVEL 2 HARD BEEN COMPLETED AND ROCKPILE DEPOSITS HAD BEEN REMOVED - IOTE THE ORGANIC STAINING, (C) SHALLOW PIT FEATURE R-1 WHICH WAS EXPOSED UNDER THE AREA C ROCKPILE - NOTE CONCENTRATION OF MARINE SHELL (OLIVE SHELLS) AS PICTURED IN POST FIELD CATALOG PHOTO (D)
Figu	RE 63. OVERHEAD DRONE PHOTO OF THE LOCATION OF TEST UNIT L1A-2016-3, JUST NORTH OF THE CENTRAL PLAZA FEATURE OF SECTOR A. ALSO DEPICTED IS THE MIDDLE HORIZON-ERA PATHWAY WHICH CROSSES ROUGHLY DUE EAST-WEST ACROSS THE CENTER OF THE SECTOR AND DIRECTLY THROUGH THE PLAZA
Figu	RE 64. UNIT LEVEL BASE-MAP FOR TEST UNIT L1A-2016-3. THIS IS THE BASE MAP FOR THE BASE OF LEVEL 1 (EXCEPT STILL SUPERFICIE IN AREA C) BEFORE EXCAVATION (NOTE: ELEVATIONS ARE IM BELOW LOCAL DATUM: L1A-3)
Figu	RE 65. SELECTED PHOTOS FROM TEST UNIT L1A-2016-3. (A) OVERHEAD PHOTO OF THE BASE OF EXCAVATIONS (BASE OF LEVEL 2 IN MOST AREAS)- NOTE: THE MOUND FEATURE EXTENDING ROM THE SOUTHERN UNIT WALL. (B) A PHOTO OF THE SOUTHERN PROFILE OF THE UNIT - CLEARLY VISIBLE ARE COMPLETE AND FRAGMENTED ADOBE BRICKS, PROTRUDING FROM THE MOUND FEATURE (SPECIAL STRUCTURE L1A-2)
Figu	RE 66. DETAILED ORTHOPHOTO OF THE NORTHWESTERN CORNER OF SECTOR A, INDICATING HE LOCATION OF TEST UNIT L1A-2016-4
Figu	RE 67. BASE MAP OF TEST UNIT L1A-2016-4 BEFORE EXCAVATION (SUPERFICIE)
Figu	RE 68. OVERHEAD PHOTO OF FINAL BASE LEVEL (LEVEL 3 - AREA A, LEVEL 2 - AREA B) OF TEST JNIT L1A-2016-4
Figu	RE 69. DETAILED ORTHOPHOTO INDICATING LOCATION OF TEST UNIT L1A-2016-5 IN RELATION O OTHER TEST UNITS AND IDENTIFIED FEATURES IN SECTOR A
Figu	RE 70. BASE MAP OF TEST UNIT L1A-2016-5 AT THE BASE OF EXCAVATIONS. CLEARLY VISIBLE

IS THE UNEVEN DISTURBANCE PIT WHICH DAMAGED THE ENTIRE INTERIOR OF THE FEATURE.....396

FIGURE 71. SELECTED PHOTOS FROM TEST UNIT L11A-2016-5. (A) OVERHEAD PHOTO OF UNIT SURFACE (SUPERFICIE) BEFORE EXCAVATION. (B) BOTH OVERHEAD AND OBLIQUE ANGLE PHOTOS OF UNIT L1A-2016-5 ARCHITECTURAL FEATURE (SPECIAL STRUCTURE L1A-1) AFTER EXCAVATIONS. (C) COPPER ARTIFACTS RECOVERED FROM AREA A AND THE AMP BACK DIRT REMOVAL
FIGURE 72. MAP DISPLAYING THE LOCATIONS OF (<i>RED</i>) COMPLETED 2018-19 EXCAVATION BLOCK LOCATIONS, AS WELL AS THE (BLUE) LOCATION OF BLOCKS NOT PURSUED IN 2019 EXCAVATIONS AND (<i>BLACK</i>) LOCATION OF THE COMPLETED 2016 TEST UNITS IN L1A401
FIGURE 73. DETAILED ORTHOPHOTO SHOWING BROADER CONTEXT OF BLOCK L1L-2019-1 AND ASSOCIATED SURFACE FEATURES AT THE NORTHERN EDGE OF SECTOR L
FIGURE 74. PLAN MAP OF (<i>LEFT</i>) THE SURFACE (SUPERFICIE) OF EXCAVATION BLOCK L1L-2019-1 - RED BOX INDICATES THE INITIAL 4X4M UNIT THAT FORMED STARTING-POINT FOR THE BLOCK AND (<i>RIGHT</i>) THE BASE OF EXCAVATION LEVEL 2
FIGURE 75. MAJOR AREAS OF EXCAVATION AND FEATURES WITHIN EXCAVATION BLOCK L1L-2019-1 (NOTE: SUB-AREAS IN GRAY)
FIGURE 76. PLAN VIEW OF THE BASE OF EXCAVATION LEVEL 3
FIGURE 77. LEVEL 4 - SUPERPISO SUMMARY BASEMAP FOR BLOCK L1L-2019-1 - INDICATING MAJOR AREAS AS WELL AS SUBAREAS. ALSO PROJECTED HERE ARE THE 1X1 METER UNITS (NOTE: DISPLAYED UTMS ARE ABBREVIATED TO LAST 4 DIGITS FOR THE NORTHING (N 805XXXX) AND 3 DIGITS FOR THE EASTING (E 314XXX))
FIGURE 78. BASE PLAN MAP AND UAV PHOTO OF THE BASE OF LEVEL 4 IN BLOCK L1L-2019-1. THIS WAS THE SUPERPISO LEVEL, ASSOCIATED WITH PRIMARY ARCHITECTURAL USE AND THE FINAL FULL BLOCK EXCAVATION LEVEL
FIGURE 79. DETAIL PHOTO (CENTER) OF AREA A (ROOM 1) AND AREA D (ROOM 2) IN STRUCTURE L1L-1. ALSO INCLUDES INSERTS DEPICTING: (UPPER-RIGHT) BLUESTONE BEAD MANUFACTURE DEBITAGE FROM AREA D, (LOWER-RIGHT) TEXTILE-RELATED ITEMS (SPOOL FOR THREAD, CERAMIC RUECA (SPINDLE WHORL), AND CACTUS SPINE NEEDLE) FROM AREA E, AND (LOWER- LEFT) A DETAIL OF RASGO 4 BEFORE EXCAVATION (WITH MANO AND CERAMIC SHERDS PROTRUDING) FROM AREA A
FIGURE 80. DETAIL PHOTOS CENTERED ON AREA F OR ROOM 4 WITHIN STRUCTURE L1L-1. BOTH THE LOW-ALTITUDE AERIAL PHOTO (LOWER-LEFT) AND THE OBLIQUE ANGLE SHOT (UPPER-RIGHT) CLEARLY SHOW THE TWO HEARTH FEATURES AND EXTENSIVE ASH AND CHARCOAL-HEAVY MATRIX AND SURFACE STAINING THAT DEFINE THE AREA MORE BROADLY. ALSO VISIBLE ARE THE MULTIPLE LITHIC TOOLS THAT WERE RECOVERED HERE, INCLUDING MULTIPLE GRINDING MANOS, HAMMER STONES, AND A METATE
FIGURE 81. ORTHOPHOTO WITH THE LOCATION OF EXCAVATION BLOCK L1L-2019-3 AND ASSOCIATED SURFACE FEATURES INDICATED
FIGURE 82. PLAN MAP OF (<i>LEFT</i>) THE SURFACE (SUPERFICIE) OF EXCAVATION BLOCK L1L-2019-3 - RED BOX INDICATES THE INITIAL 4X4M UNIT THAT FORMED STARTING-POINT FOR THE BLOCK AND (<i>RIGHT</i>) THE BASE OF EXCAVATION LEVEL 2
FIGURE 83. MAJOR AREAS OF EXCAVATION AND FEATURES WITHIN EXCAVATION BLOCK L1L-2019-3 (NOTE: SUB-AREAS IN GRAY)
FIGURE 84. BASE MAP OF BASE OF EXCAVATION LEVEL 3 IN BLOCK L1L-2019-3

FIGURE 85. LEVEL 4 - SUPERPISO SUMMARY BASEMAP FOR BLOCK L1L-2019-3 - INDICATING MAJOR AREAS AS WELL AS SUBAREAS. ALSO PROJECTED HERE ARE THE 1X1 METER UNITS (NOTE: DISPLAYED UTMS ARE ABBREVIATED TO LAST 4 DIGITS FOR THE NORTHING (N 805XXXX) AND 3 DIGITS FOR THE EASTING (E 314XXX)).431 FIGURE 86. BASE PLAN MAP AND UAV PHOTO OF THE BASE OF LEVEL 4 IN BLOCK L1L-2019-3. THIS WAS THE SUPERPISO LEVEL. ASSOCIATED WITH PRIMARY ARCHITECTURAL USE AND THE FINAL FIGURE 87. DETAIL PHOTOS CENTERED ON AREA A OR ROOM 1 IN STRUCTURE L1L-2......436 FIGURE 88. DETAIL VIEW OF BLOCK LIL-2019-3 FROM THE NORTH, LOOKING SOUTH. CLOSEST ARE THE TWO SMALL PORTIONS OF ROOM 1 AND ROOM 2 FROM STRUCTURE L1L-3, INCLUDING AN INSET OF RASGO 5 (NOTE THE OLIVE SHELL AT THE BASE OF THE FEATURE). ALSO, CLEARLY DEPICTED ARE THE NORTHERNMOST PORTIONS OF THE ROOMS FROM STRUCTURE L1L-2 AND FIGURE 89. ORTHOPHOTO OF THE CENTRAL PORTION OF SECTOR A WITH BLOCK L1A-2019-2 AND FIGURE 90. PLAN-VIEW BASE MAPS OF LEVEL 1 (SURFACE) AND LEVEL 2 IN EXCAVATION BLOCK L1A-FIGURE 91. BASIC PLAN-VIEW OF EXCAVATION BLOCK L1A-2019-2 WITH MAJOR EXCAVATION AREAS (AREAS A-F) INDICATED (NOTE: SUB-AREAS IN GRAY).450 FIGURE 88. DETAIL VIEW OF BLOCK FIGURE 92. PLAN-VIEW BASE MAP (LEFT) AND OVERHEAD PHOTO (RIGHT) OF THE BASE OF EXCAVATION LEVEL 3 IN BLOCK L1A-2019-2......451 FIGURE 93. LEVEL 4 AND LEVEL 5 - SUPERPISO SUMMARY BASE MAP FOR BLOCK L1A-2019-2 -INDICATING MAJOR AREAS AS WELL AS SUBAREAS. ALSO PROJECTED HERE ARE THE 1X1 METER UNITS (NOTE: DISPLAYED UTMS ARE ABBREVIATED TO LAST 4 DIGITS FOR THE NORTHING (N FIGURE 88. DETAIL VIEW OF BLOCK FIGURE FIGURE 94. PLAN-VIEW BASE MAP (LEFT) AND OVERHEAD PHOTO (RIGHT) OF THE BASE OF EXCAVATION LEVEL 4-SUPERPISO IN BLOCK L1A-FIGURE 95. PLAN VIEW BASE MAP OF THE FINAL EXCAVATED SURFACE IN BLOCK L1A-2019-2 AFTER FIGURE 88. DETAIL VIEW OF BLOCK FIGURE FIGURE 96. DETAIL OF AREA A (SPECIAL STRUCTURE L1A-1), INCLUDING STRUCTURE-FOR-MOTION 3D MODEL AND DETAIL PHOTOS OF IMPORTANT FIGURE 97. ORTHOPHOTO OF THE CENTRAL PORTION OF SECTOR A WITH BLOCK L1A-2019-3 AND FIGURE 98. PLAN VIEW BASE MAPS OF BOTH (LEFT) EXCAVATION LEVEL 1 (SURFACE COLLECTION) FIGURE 100. BASEMAP AND OVERHEAD PHOTO OF BASE OF EXCAVATION LEVEL 3 IN BLOCK L1A-FIGURE 101, MAJOR AREAS AND SUBAREAS USED IN EXCAVATING THE FINAL LEVELS OF BLOCK L1A-FIGURE 88. DETAIL VIEW OF BLOCK FIGURE 102. BASE OF LEVEL 4 (SUPERPISO) IN BLOCK L1A-

2019-3
FIGURE 103. PHOTO OF THE FORMAL STONE AND PLASTER-LINED STORAGE PIT AFTER BEING FULLY EXCAVATED, WITH ASSOCIATED <i>QUINCHA</i> WALL FOUNDATION AND POST IN AREA C
FIGURE 104. LOW-ALTITUDE UAV PHOTO OF THE BROADER CONTEXT SURROUNDING BLOCK L1U- 2019-1 WITHIN SECTOR U
FIGURE 105. PLAN-VIEW BASE MAPS OF EXCAVATION LEVEL 1 AND LEVEL 2 IN BLOCK L1U-2019-1.
FIGURE 106. PLAN-VIEW BASE MAP OF EXCAVATION LEVEL 3 AND SIMPLIFIED BASE MAP ILLUSTRATING MAJOR EXCAVATION AREAS USED IN LEVEL 4 SUPERPISO IN BLOCK L1U-2019-1.
FIGURE 107. FINAL PLAN-VIEW BASE MAP AND OBLIQUE ANGLE (GROUND-LEVEL) PHOTO OF LEVEL 4 (SUPERPISO) IN BLOCK L1U-2019-1
FIGURE 108. EXAMPLE OF SHERDS AND PROFILE CROSS-SECTIONS OF EACH MAJOR WARE TYPE: (CENTER) PLAINWARE, (LEFT) REDWARE, (RIGHT) BLACKWARE
FIGURE 109. GRAPH ILLUSTRATING THE OVERALL FREQUENCIES OF MAJOR TIWANAKU WARE CATEGORIES (PLAINWARE, REDWARE, BLACKWARE) BASED ON RAW SHERD COUNTS FROM THE 140 SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION UNITS IN SECTORS L1A, L1L, AND L1U486
FIGURE 110. GRAPH ILLUSTRATING THE OVERALL FREQUENCIES OF MAJOR TIWANAKU WARE CATEGORIES (PLAINWARE, REDWARE, BLACKWARE) BASED ON RAW SHERD COUNTS FROM THE FIVE (5) 2016 TEST UNITS IN L1A AND FIVE (5) 2018-19 EXCAVATION BLOCKS IN L1A, L1L, AND L1U
FIGURE 111. CHARTS ILLUSTRATING THE OVERALL BREAKDOWN OF DIAGNOSTIC VERSUS NON- DIAGNOSTIC SHERDS IN EACH OF THE MAJOR THREE WARE CATEGORIES FOR BOTH SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION ASSEMBLAGE AS WELL AS THE EXCAVATION ASSEMBLAGE
FIGURE 112. SIMPLE FREQUENCY CHARTS ILLUSTRATING THE BREAKDOWN OF PLAINWARE DIAGNOSTIC SHERDS INTO (TOP) MAJOR FUNCTIONAL CLASSES OF PLAINWARE VESSELS, AND (BOTTOM) INDIVIDUAL BREAKDOWNS OF VESSEL FORMS WITHIN EACH MAJOR FUNCTIONAL CLASS (NOTE: ALSO INCLUDED ON BOTTOM ARE SIMPLIFIED PROFILES OF SOME OF THE MORE COMMON FORM VARIANTS)
FIGURE 113. GRAPHIC (CENTER) ILLUSTRATING THE SEVEN TYPES OF OLLA RIM AS ENCOUNTERED IN THE L1 EXCAVATION COLLECTION, INCLUDING (LEFT) A BRIEF DESCRIPTION AND (RIGHT) CHART DEPICTING TYPE FREQUENCIES
FIGURE 114. EXAMPLES OF OLLA HANDLE TYPES, INCLUDING VARIANTS OF (LEFT) NUB HANDLES AND (RIGHT) STRAP HANDLES
FIGURE 115. EXAMPLE PROFILE DRAWING OF OLLA BASE SHERD TYPES AS FOUND IN THE CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1) CERAMIC ASSEMBLAGE
FIGURE 116. EXAMPLES OF MODELLED OLLA SHERDS, INCLUDING: (A) DRAWING/PROFILE OF LARGE SHERD OF OLLA RIM WITH BRAIDED-HAIR MODELLING AND INCISING WITH DETAILED MODELLED EAR (INCLUDING HOLD FOR EAR-SPOOL), (B) DRAWING/PROFILE AN ADDITIONAL RIM SHERD WITH BRAID MODELLING/INCISING, (C) DRAWING/PROFILE OF MODELLED LOWER HALF OF FACE - INCLUDING CHIN AND MOUTH, (D) PHOTO OF ANOTHER MODELLED FACE ELEMENT (LIKELY MOUTH OR EYE), AND DRAWING/PROFILE OF SHERD WITH UNIQUE PROTUBERANCE ON STRAP HANDLE.

FIGURE 117. PROFILE DRAWINGS OF TINAJA RIM SHERDS IDENTIFIED AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1).

	499
FIGURE 118. PROFILES OF MINIATURE VESSELS (MINIS) FOUND IN TEST UNIT L1A-2016-5	501
FIGURE 119. REUTILIZED SHERDS - PHOTOS OF RUECAS (SPINDLE WHIRLS) AND DISKS	502
FIGURE 120. FREQUENCIES OF REDWARE DIAGNOSTIC SHERDS (N=478) BY VESSEL FORM IN THE EXCAVATED ASSEMBLAGE.	L1 504
FIGURE 121. TYPOLOGY OF KERO VARIANTS AND SUB-VARIANTS.	506
FIGURE 122. PHOTOS OF KEROS RECOVERED FROM LOOTERS AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1) IN POSSESSION OF MNC TACNA	507
FIGURE 123. EXAMPLE OF KERO AND TAZÓN BASE PROFILE AND THE DIFFERING FLARE ANGLE - ALMOST ALWAYS ABOUT A 10° DIFFERENCE. NOTE HOW KERO BASES INVERT SLIGHTLY BEFOR PROCEEDING SMOOTHLY UP TO THE RIM, WHEREAS TAZÓNES FLARE IMMEDIATELY AT THE BAS	RE E. 509
FIGURE 124. PHOTOS OF COMPLETE TAZÓNES RESCUED FROM LOOTED CONTEXTS AT CERRO SA ANTONIO (L1) BY MNC TACNA.	N 510
FIGURE 125. EXAMPLES OF RECURVED TAZÓNES AS FOUND AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO: (RIGHT) COMPLETE VESSEL FROM MATERIALS RECOVERED FROM LOOTERS AND COMPLETE PROFILE DIAGNOSTIC SHERD RECOVERED AS A SPOT FIND	.511
FIGURE 126. EXAMPLES OF COMPLETE PITCHERS AND DIAGNOSTIC SHERDS RECOVERED AT CERF SAN ANTONIO, INCLUDING: (RIGHT) COMPLETE VESSELS RECOVERED FROM LOOTERS IN 2016 (CENTER-RIGHT) SHERDS OF STANDARD PITCHERS, (CENTER-LEFT) A POLYCHROME DECORATE SHERD FROM A SPOUTED-PITCHER, AND (LEFT) A SHERD FROM A BOTTLE-STYLE PITCHER	२० , ED .511
FIGURE 127. DRAWING OF RARE EXAMPLE OF TIWANAKU-STYLE REDWARE BOWL WITH INTERIOR DECORATION.	512
FIGURE 128. EXAMPLES OF VARIOUS FELINE-RELATED FIGURAL DESIGN ELEMENTS AS FOUND ON REDWARE SERVING VESSEL SHERDS AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO.	514
FIGURE 129. EXAMPLES OF OMO-STYLE FELINE FIGURATIVE MOTIFS	515
FIGURE 130. EXAMPLES OF AVIAN ELEMENTS, SPECIFICALLY TRIPLE TAIL-FEATHER ELEMENTS, FRUTTHE L1 COLLECTION.	ом 516
FIGURE 131. EXAMPLES OF THE FLAMINGO AND IBIS MOTIFS AS RECOVERED IN THE L1 DIAGNOSTIC CERAMIC ASSEMBLAGE.	с .517
FIGURE 132. EXAMPLES OF OTHER FIGURAL ZOOMORPHIC ICONOGRAPHIC ELEMENTS: (LEFT) THE CRAB DESIGN AND (RIGHT) AN ABSTRACT DEPICTION POSSIBLY A FISH OR ANOTHER AVIAN FOR	км. .518
FIGURE 133. EXAMPLES OF OTHER NON-ZOOMORPHIC FIGURAL REPRESENTATIONS, INCLUDING (UPPER-RIGHT) ECLIPSE MOTIF AND (LOWER-RIGHT, LEFT) THE ANTICEPHALIC HEAD MOTIFS	518
FIGURE 134. EXAMPLES OF THE CROSS MOTIF	521
FIGURE 135. EXAMPLES OF THE STEP-STAIR MOTIF AS EXPRESSED IN THE CERRO SAN ANTONIO DIAGNOSTIC CERAMIC ASSEMBLAGE.	522
FIGURE 136. EXAMPLES OF THE "S" MOTIF AS FOUND ON CERAMICS FROM CERRO SAN ANTONIO.	523
FIGURE 137. EXAMPLES OF VARIATIONS OF THE CHAIN MOTIF AND PENDANT DESIGN ELEMENTS	524
FIGURE 138. EXAMPLES OF CONTINUOUS AND DISCRETE VOLUTE DESIGN ELEMENTS FROM THE L	1

COLLECTION
FIGURE 139. MORE RUSTIC VERSIONS OF TYPICAL TIWANAKU MOTIFS, INCLUDED CONGLOMERATED OR SYNTHESIZED DESIGN ELEMENTS, OFTEN ASSOCIATED WITH TUMILACA AND CABUZA AFFILIATED COMMUNITIES
FIGURE 140. EXAMPLES OF (RIGHT) SHERDS WITH REPAIR HOLES, (CENTER-TOP) A POLISHER STONE USED IN CERAMIC BURNISHING, (CENTER-BOTTOM) DRAWING OF BASE OF A KERO WITH POST- FIRING, ETCHED MAKERS MARK (LEFT) A "WASTER" SHERD FROM A FAILED CERAMIC FIRING EVENT IN WHICH THE FIRING TEMPERATURE AND/OR PASTE MIXTURE WAS INCORRECT LEADING TO VESSEL VITRIFICATION AND ULTIMATE BURSTING
FIGURE 141. SIMPLE COUNTS OF LITHIC-FLAKED MATERIALS AS RECOVERED IN THE THREE PRIMARY FIELD COLLECTION METHODS AT L1 (SPOT FINDS, SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION, AND EXCAVATION)
FIGURE 142. EXAMPLES OF (LEFT) DEBITAGE PRODUCED IN FLAKED STONE TOOL PRODUCTION, INCLUDING FLAKES AND BIFACIAL CORES. AS WELL AS (RIGHT) TWO EXAMPLES OF HAMMERSTONES, ONE OF THE PRIMARY TOOLS USED IN STONE TOOL PRODUCTION
FIGURE 143. EXAMPLES OF SCRAPERS AS IDENTIFIED IN THE L1 LITHIC-FLAKED ASSEMBLAGE, INCLUDING: (LEFT) SIDE-SCRAPERS AND (RIGHT) END-SCRAPERS
FIGURE 144. EXAMPLES OF AGRICULTURAL HOES RECOVERED AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO
FIGURE 145. EXAMPLES OF BIFACIAL KNIVES FROM CERRO SAN ANTONIO
FIGURE 88. DETAIL VIEW OF FIGURE 146. EXAMPLES OF PROJECTILE POINTS ASSOCIATED WITH TIWANAKU SECTORS AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1). MORE ELONGATED FORMS ARE DISPLAYED ON THE TOP AND STOUTER FORMS ON THE BOTTOM WITH THE MORE FLAT-BASED, STOUT FORMS IN THE LOWER RIGHT
FIGURE 147. EXAMPLES OF SLING STONES AS WELL AS SINGLE EXAMPLE OF A BOLA STONE (UPPER LEFT) FROM CERRO SAN ANTONIO
FIGURE 148. SAMPLE IMAGES OF TEXTILE FRAGMENTS AS RECOVERED FROM CERRO SAN ANTONIO EXCAVATIONS, INCLUDING (CENTER) SCHEMATIC OF TYPICAL TIWANAKU-STYLE TUNIC (AFTER OAKLAND 1986) WITH INSERTS OF COARSE AND FINE PLAINWEAVE CLOSE-UPS AND NECK PLAQUE, (LEFT) EXAMPLES OF FINE PLAINWEAVE VERTICAL STRIPES, AND (CENTER-BOTTOM) CHART DISPLAYING FREQUENCY OF WOOL AND COTTON-BASED TEXTILES
FIGURE 149. EXAMPLES OF VERTICAL WEFT DESIGN IN (LEFT) NATURAL FIBER COLORS AND (CENTER) DYED COLORS AS WELL AS (RIGHT) EXAMPLE OF WEFT SEAM POLYCHROME EMBROIDERED EMBELLISHMENT ON A CH'USPA BAG FRAGMENT
FIGURE 150. EXAMPLES OF FRAGMENTS FROM 4-CORNERED TIWANAKU HATS THAT INCLUDE (LEFT) DESIGN ELEMENTS FROM TWO DIFFERENT CLASSIC POLYCHROME HATS - (TOP) STEP-STAIR ANTICEPHALIC HEAD MOTIF AND (BOTTOM) REPEATING STAR MOTIF. ALSO DEPICTED (RIGHT) IS A MONOCHROME HAT FRAGMENT THAT UTILIZES A RAISED CHEVRON DESIGN STYLE
FIGURE 151. IMAGES OF 4-CORNERED HAT FRAGMENT RECOVERED IN EXCAVATION BLOCK L1A- 2019-2 NEAR THE CENTRAL PLAZA IN SECTOR A AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO. INCLUDES DETAIL INSERTS THAT DISPLAY: (TOP LEFT) CORNER WITH FUR TUFT THAT MAY HAVE PROTRUDED FROM END OF POINT, (TOP RIGHT) POSSIBLE STYLIZED FELINE HEAD MOTIF, (LOWER RIGHT) CONSECUTIVE DIAMOND MOTIF, AND (LOWER LEFT) BICHROME CROSS MOTIF
FIGURE 152. EXAMPLES OF TWISTED AND BRAIDED CORDING FROM THE L1 TEXTILE ASSEMBLAGE: (LEFT) COTTON NETTING, AS WELL AS ATTACHED SINKERS, AND (RIGHT) ONE OF THE MORE

ELABORATE FOUR-STRAND ROUND BRAID MADE FROM POLYCHROM WOOL THREADS 548
FIGURE 153. EXAMPLES OF TOOLS AND OTHER IMPLEMENTS USED IN TEXTILE PRODUCTION AND MAINTENANCE, INCLUDING (TOP AND RIGHT) MULTIPLE EXAMPLES OF SPINDLE WHIRLS, (MIDDLE- CENTER) CACTUS SPINE NEEDLE, AND (CENTER-BOTTOM) TWIG THREAD SPOOL. ALSO DEPICTED: (LEFT-TOP) RAW COTTON WITH SEED STILL ATTACHED AND (LEFT-BOTTOM) VARIOUS EXAMPLES OF RAW AND PARTIALLY WORKED WOOL
FIGURE 154. PHOTOS OF EXAMPLE BASKET FRAGMENTS FROM THE L1 ASSEMBLAGE
FIGURE 155. PHOTOS OF THE LARGE BASKET, BELIEVED TO BE A CRADLEBOARD BASKET, RECOVERED IN EXCAVATION BLOCK L1A-2019-2, INCLUDING DETAILS OF A NUMBER OF THE IMPORTANT COMPONENTS
FIGURE 156. EXAMPLES OF VARIOUS TWISTED OR BRAIDED VEGETABLE-FIBER ROPE AND KNOTS553
FIGURE 157. PHOTOS OF EXAMPLES OF METAL, SPECIFICALLY COPPER-BASED, ARTIFACTS RECOVERED AT L1, INCLUDING: (TOP) RING, (BOTTOM-LEFT) THICK UNKNOWN FRAGMENT, AND (LOWER-RIGHT) FLAT COPPER KNIFE OR OTHER SHEET RECOVERED ON SURFACE IN SECTOR A AS A SPOT FIND
FIGURE 158. PHOTOS OF THE VARIOUS TYPES OF BEADS AS WELL AS SOME RAW MATERIALS AS FOUND AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO
FIGURE 159. CARVED WOODEN SPOONS RECOVERED IN (LEFT) A LOOTED MORTUARY CONTEXT AND (RIGHT) EXCAVATED DOMESTIC MIDDEN DEPOSITS
FIGURE 160. PHOTOS OF OTHER WOODEN IMPLEMENTS RECOVERED IN THE L1 EXCAVATION ASSEMBLAGE, INCLUDING: (TOP) CARVED WOOD NET-FLOATS OR BOBBERS AND (BOTTOM) IMPLEMENTS USED IN STARTING FIRES
FIGURE 161. PHOTO OF CANE/REED PANPIPE LOCATED AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1B)
FIGURE 162. PHOTOS OF BONE-BASED ARTIFACTS RECOVERED IN THE L1 EXCAVATION ASSEMBLAGE, INCLUDING: (TOP) POLISHED BONE SNUFF TUBE AND (BOTTOM) WORKED CAMELID RIB WITH TEXTILE HANDLE
FIGURE 163. PHOTOS OF LEATHER ARTIFACTS FROM CERRO SAN ANTONIO, INCLUDING: (RIGHT) LEATHER SANDAL AND(LEFT) UNKNOWN LEATHER STRAPS
FIGURE 164. BASIC COUNTS (# OF FRAGMENTS) AND WEIGHTS (GRAMS), AND UBIQUITIES FOR ALL MAJOR FAUNA-HARD MATERIAL TYPES
FIGURE 165. GRAPHS ILLUSTRATING THE WEIGHTS (IN GRAMS) AND RAW COUNTS OF ANIMAL BONE AS BROKEN INTO MAJOR TAXONOMIC CLASSES. ALSO, LISTED IS THE GENERAL UBIQUITY OF ANIMAL BONE TYPES REGARDING PRESENCE OR ABSENCE IN EXCAVATED CONTEXTS
FIGURE 166. GRAPHS SHOWING WEIGHTS AND COUNTS OF MAJOR TAXONOMIC ORDERS/FAMILIES REPRESENTED IN THE L1 ANIMAL BONE-MAMMAL ASSEMBLAGE
FIGURE 167. BASIC BREAKDOWN OF CAMELID BONE FRAGMENTS AS ASSIGNED TO DIFFERENT ANATOMICAL ZONES ON A CAMELID SKELETON
FIGURE 168. PHOTOS OF EXAMPLES OF MOST MAJOR TAXONOMIC CLASSES OF VERTEBRATES, INCLUDING: (LEFT) ASSORTED CAMELID BONE FRAGMENTS, (RIGHT) ASSORTED RODENT BONE FRAGMENTS, (CENTER-TOP) AMPHIBIAN (FROG) BONES, (CENTER-MIDDLE) LARGE FISH VERTEBRAE, (CENTER-BOTTOM) EXAMPLE OF BIRD BONE FRAGMENT
FIGURE 169. CHARTS ILLUSTRATING THE VARIOUS WEIGHTS (GRAMS) AND COUNTS (# OF FRAGMENTS) OF VARIOUS TYPES OF SHELL AS FOUND IN THE CERRO SAN ANTONIO ASSEMBLAGE

AS WELL AS THE GENERAL UBIQUITIES OF THESE TYPES IN THE EXCAVATION ASSEMBLAGE 571
FIGURE 170. PHOTOS OF EXAMPLES OF VARIOUS TYPE OF SHELL THAT DEFINE THE L1 ASSEMBLAGE, INCLUDING: (RIGHT) BIVALVES, (CENTER) MARINE GASTROPODS, AND (LEFT) TERRESTRIAL GASTROPOD
FIGURE 171. PHOTOS OF EXAMPLES OF OTHER INVERTEBRATES INCLUDED IN THE FAUNA-HARD MATERIAL CATEGORY: (LEFT) FRAGMENTS OF FRESHWATER CRAYFISH EXOSKELETON AND (RIGHT) FRAGMENTS OF CORAL
FIGURE 172. CHARTS SHOWING WEIGHTS, COUNTS, AND UBIQUITIES OF DIFFERENT TYPES OF ANIMAL COPROLITES AS RECOVERED IN THE EXCAVATION ASSEMBLAGE
FIGURE 173. PHOTOS OF EXAMPLES FROM THE FAUNA-SOFT ASSEMBLAGE, INCLUDING: (LEFT AND BOTTOM) FEATHERS AND (RIGHT) A SEGMENT OF FUR AND SKIN FROM A GUINEA PIG
FIGURE 174. CHARTS ILLUSTRATING THE BASIC COUNTS (# OF INDIVIDUAL FRAGMENTS) AND WEIGHTS (GRAMS) OF MAJOR SOCIO-FUNCTIONAL BOTANIC CATEGORIES
FIGURE 175. BREAKDOWN OF ABSOLUTE COUNTS AND WEIGHTS OF VARIOUS TAXA IN THE CONSUMABLE CATEGORY, INCLUDING THE UBIQUITY OF THESE TAXA ACROSS EXCAVATED CONTEXTS
FIGURE 176. PHOTOS SHOWING EXAMPLES OF MAIZE REMAINS FROM THE L1 ASSEMBLAGE, ILLUSTRATING THE VARIABILITY IN COB SIZE. ALSO DEPICTED (BELOW) ARE MAIZE KERNELS AND PORTIONS OF MAIZE STALKS WITH COB HUSK STILL ATTACHED (NOTE: DIFFERENT SCALES)583
FIGURE 177. PHOTOS OF (LEFT) VARIOUS EXAMPLES OF BEAN (PHASEOLUS SP.) REMAINS AS WELL AS (RIGHT) GOURD SEEDS (NOTE: IMAGES ARE AT DIFFERENT SCALES)
FIGURE 178. PHOTOS OF OTHER LOWLAND CULTIVARS FROM THE L1 ASSEMBLAGE, INCLUDING: (LEFT) PEANUT REMAINS AND (RIGHT) EXAMPLES OF THE TWO TAXA OF CHILI PEPPER SEED IDENTIFIED
FIGURE 179. PHOTOS OF PLANT REMAINS BELIEVED TO BE PRIMARILY HIGHLAND CULTIVARS, INCLUDING: (RIGHT) A PRESERVED FRAGMENT OF SOME TAXA OF TUBER AND (LEFT) EXAMPLES OF QUINOA SEEDS FROM THE L1 MICROANALYSIS (FROM GARVIN 2020:68)
FIGURE 180. EXAMPLES OF (LEFT) MOLLE BERRIES AND (RIGHT) ASSORTED ALGARROBA REMAINS AS COLLECTED IN EXCAVATED CONTEXTS AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1)
FIGURE 181. BREAKDOWN OF ABSOLUTE COUNTS AND WEIGHTS OF VARIOUS TAXA CONSIDERED TO BE IN THE BULK CATEGORY, INCLUDING THE GENERAL UBIQUITY OF THESE TAXA IN EXCAVATED CONTEXTS
FIGURE 182. PHOTOS OF BOTANIC TAXA CATEGORIZED AS TEXTILE BOTANICS, INCLUDING: (LOWER- LEFT) COTTON SEEDS FROM THE L1 EXCAVATION ASSEMBLAGE, (TOP) MODERN COTTON PLANT GROWING ON THE MARGINS OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO ALONG A RELIC CANAL, AND (LOWER-RIGHT) A CACTUS SPINE NEEDLE
FIGURE 183. PHOTOS OF EXAMPLES OF COCA SEED AND LEAF RECOVERED IN THE L1 ASSEMBLAGE.
FIGURE 184. OVERALL FREQUENCIES OF CONSUMABLE (OR MARKET BASKET) TAXA AS IDENTIFIED IN THE 36 ANALYZED SOIL SAMPLES (FROM GARVIN 2020:134)
FIGURE 185. EXAMPLES OF HUMAN HAIR RECOVERED AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1), INCLUDING: (RIGHT) ELABORATE HUMAN BRAIDS RECOVERED FROM LOOTED CONTEXTS (L1W) AND ADDITIONAL BRAIDED HUMAN HAIR RECOVERED IN EXCAVATIONS

FIGURE 186. B-R SIMILARITY MATRIX AND NETWORK VISUALIZATION, ILLUSTRATING THE PROPORTIONAL SIMILARITY IN THE OVERALL MATERIAL ASSEMBLAGES COLLECTED FROM EACH MAJOR EXCAVATION BLOCK AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO
FIGURE 187. SKETCH-UP 3D MODELS OF DOMESTIC STRUCTURE L1L-1, FROM MULTIPLE ANGLES.
FIGURE 188. BIPARTITE NETWORK GRAPH ILLUSTRATING THE RELATIVE DENSITIES OF MATERIAL TYPES ASSOCIATED WITH DAILY FOOD PREPARATION AND CONSUMPTION AS FOUND IN EACH ROOM OF STRUCTURE L1L-1
FIGURE 189. HEAT-MAP ILLUSTRATING THE CONCENTRATIONS OF MATERIALS ASSOCIATED WITH FOOD PREPARATION AND CONSUMPTION (BASED ON RELATIVE DENSITY: GRAM/LITER)
FIGURE 190. CHART DISPLAYING THE RELATIVE DENSITIES (GRAMS/LITER) OF TAXA INCLUDED IN THE CONSUMABLE BOTANIC CATEGORY IN MACROBOTANICS. ALSO INCLUDED ARE RELATIVE FREQUENCIES (BASED ON COUNT) OF THESE SAME TAXA AS RECOVERED IN THE MICROANALYSIS OF THE SOIL SAMPLES (AFTER GARVIN 2020:125)
FIGURE 191. BIPARTITE NETWORK GRAPH DISPLAYING THE RELATIVE DENSITIES OF VARIOUS MATERIAL TYPES ASSOCIATED WITH VARIOUS FORMS OF CRAFT PRODUCTION AND MAINTENANCE AS FOUND IN THE VARIOUS ROOMS OF STRUCTURE L1L-1
FIGURE 192. BIPARTITE NETWORK ILLUSTRATING RELATIVE DENSITIES OF MATERIAL CLASSES ASSOCIATED WITH SPECIALIZED FORMS OF CONSUMPTION AS THEY CONNECT TO SPECIFIC SPACES IN DOMESTIC STRUCTURE L1L-1
FIGURE 193. SKETCH-UP 3D MODELS OF DOMESTIC STRUCTURE L1L-2 AND DOMESTIC STRUCTURE L1L-3, FROM MULTIPLE ANGLES
FIGURE 194. BIPARTITE NETWORK GRAPH VISUALIZING THE RELATIVE DENSITIES OF VARIOUS MATERIAL TYPES ASSOCIATED WITH DAILY FOOD PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION AS FOUND IN EACH ARCHITECTURAL SPACE
FIGURE 195. CHART DISPLAYING THE RELATIVE DENSITIES (GRAMS/LITER) OF TAXA INCLUDED IN THE CONSUMABLE BOTANIC CATEGORY. ALSO INCLUDED ARE RELATIVE FREQUENCIES (BASED ON COUNT) OF THESE SAME TAXA AS RECOVERED IN THE MICROANALYSIS OF THE SOIL SAMPLES COLLECTED IN BLOCK L1L-2019-3 (AFTER GARVIN 2020:125)
FIGURE 196. BIPARTITE NETWORK DISPLAYING THE DENSITIES OF MATERIAL TYPES ASSOCIATED WITH VARIOUS TYPES OF CRAFT PRODUCTION AND MAINTENANCE AS ASSOCIATED WITH EXCAVATED ROOMS IN STRUCTURE L1L-2 AND L1L-3
FIGURE 197. BIPARTITE NETWORK ILLUSTRATING RELATIVE DENSITIES OF MATERIAL CLASSES ASSOCIATED WITH SPECIALIZED FORMS OF CONSUMPTION AS THEY CONNECT TO SPECIFIC SPACES IN DOMESTIC STRUCTURE L1L-1
FIGURE 198. OVERHEAD PHOTO OF EXCAVATED FOUNDATIONS OF SPECIAL STRUCTURE L1A-1, ALONG WITH SPECIAL ARTIFACTS RECOVERED IN LOOTERS BACKDIRT, OUTSIDE OF THE STRUCTURE
FIGURE 199. STRUCTURE-FOR-MOTION 3D RECONSTRUCTION OF SPECIAL STRUCTURE L1A-2 IN THE MIDDLE OF EXCAVATIONS AND (RIGHT) A STYLIZED DEPOSITIONAL HISTORY DISPLAYING THE MAJOR DEPOSITIONAL AND OTHER FORMATION PROCESSES THAT LED TO THE STATE OF THE STRUCTURE AT EXCAVATION
FIGURE 200. CHART DISPLAYING THE RELATIVE DENSITIES (GRAMS/LITER) OF TAXA INCLUDED IN THE CONSUMABLE BOTANIC CATEGORY. ALSO INCLUDED ARE RELATIVE FREQUENCIES (BASED ON

COUNT) OF THESE SAME TAXA AS RECOVERED IN THE MICROANALYSIS OF THE SOIL SAMPLES COLLECTED IN UNIT L1A-2016-3 AND BLOCK L1LA-2019-2 (AFTER GARVIN 2020:125)630
FIGURE 201. SKETCH-UP 3D MODEL OF THE CENTRAL STORAGE FACILITIES IN SECTOR A, AS EXPOSED IN BLOCK L1A-2019-3 AND SOME OF THE UNIQUE MATERIAL FINDS FROM THIS CONTEXT
FIGURE 202. MAP OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO DISPLAYING MIDDLE HORIZON DISTRICTS, SECTORS, MAJOR PATHWAYS, AND POINTS OF SITE/VALLEY BOTTOM ACCESS
FIGURE 203. THREE DIFFERENT JUSTIFIED-ACCESS GRAPHS ILLUSTRATING HOW THE MIDDLE HORIZON SECTORS (BOTH DOMESTIC AND MORTUARY) CONNECT VIA FORMAL FOOTPATHS, USED IN CONDUCTING SPATIAL SYNTAX ANALYSIS OF THE SECTOR AND BROADER DISTRICT CONFIGURATION
FIGURE 204. POPULATION ESTIMATES FOR MIDDLE HORIZON RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITIES AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1)
FIGURE 205. ORTHOPHOTO-BASED MAPS OF THE THREE (3) MIDDLE HORIZON DOMESTIC SECTORS WITH THEIR CONSTITUENT RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOODS DENOTED (INTENSITY OF YELLOW SHADING INDICATES DENSITY OF SURFACE MATERIALS AS WELL AS ROCKPILE-MIDDEN DEPOSITS.
FIGURE 206. SCHEMATIC MAP OF EXPOSED QUINCHA WALL FOUNDATIONS IN NEIGHBORHOOD I, INCLUDING EXCAVATED DOMESTIC STRUCTURE L1L-1 AND LIKELY POSITIONS OF ADDITIONAL DOMESTIC STRUCTURES
FIGURE 207. SCHEMATIC MAP OF EXPOSED QUINCHA WALL FOUNDATIONS IN NEIGHBORHOOD IV, INCLUDING EXCAVATED DOMESTIC STRUCTURES L1L-2 AND L1L-3 AND LIKELY LOCATION OF NEIGHBORHOOD STORAGE FACILITIES
FIGURE 208. MAP ILLUSTRATING THE AMOUNT OF ARABLE VALLEY BOTTOM AREA WITHIN APPROXIMATELY ONE-HOUR WALK (~ 3 KILOMETERS) FROM EACH MAJOR ACCESS POINTS TO THE MIDDLE HORIZON SETTLEMENTS AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1)
FIGURE 209. (LEFT) OVERALL FREQUENCIES OF DOMESTICATED VS WILD CONSUMABLE PLANT TAXA RECOVERED FROM EXCAVATED CONTEXTS IN EACH OF THE MAJOR MIDDLE HORIZON SECTORS AT L1 AND (RIGHT) A MORE DETAILED BREAKDOWN OF FREQUENCIES OF SPECIFIC TAXA, AS RECOVERED IN THE MACROBOTANIC ASSEMBLAGE OF THE SAME CONTEXTS
FIGURE 210. FIGURE ILLUSTRATING (<i>TOP</i>) THE RAW NUMBER AND FREQUENCY OF STONE HOES AS RECOVERED ACROSS ALL METHODS (SPOT FINDS, SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION, EXCAVATION) IN THE THREE DOMESTIC SECTORS AS WELL AS (<i>BOTTOM-LEFT</i>) PHOTOS OF COLLECTED HOE EXAMPLES AND (<i>BOTTOM-RIGHT</i>) MAP OF SECTOR L GROUND STONE PILOT STUDY SURVEY WITH LOCATIONS OF HOES
FIGURE 211. FREQUENCY BREAKDOWN OF FAUNA REMAINS AS RECOVERED IN EXCAVATIONS WITHIN THE THREE (3) MIDDLE HORIZON DOMESTIC SECTORS: SECTOR A, SECTOR L, AND SECTOR U.
FIGURE 212. (RIGHT) BOTH OVERHEAD UAV AND GROUND-LEVEL PHOTOS OF RELIC ESTABLISHED FOOTPATHS FLANKED BY NUMEROUS PARALLEL INFORMAL PATHS LEFT FROM HERDING CAMELIDS AND (LEFT) TWO EXAMPLES OF CAMELID-CENTRIC PETROGLYPH SCENES FROM PETROGLYPH BOULDERS OVERLOOKING THE SALADO VALLEY BOTTOM
FIGURE 213. EVIDENCE OF THE SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITY PRACTICES RELATING TO PROCURING WILD GAME THROUGH (<i>TOP</i>) HUNTING AND (<i>BOTTOM</i>) FISHING AS DESCRIBED IN THE TEXT666

FIGURE 214. MAPS OF GROUND STONE PILOT SURVEY RESULTS FROM NEIGHBORHOOD IV. INCLUDING (TOP-LEFT) MANO DISTRIBUTION, (TOP-RIGHT) METATE DISTRIBUTION, AND (BOTTOM) COMBINED DISTRIBUTION WITH NEIGHBORHOOD STORAGE FACILITIES AND FOOD PROCESSING FIGURE 215, FREQUENCY BREAKDOWN OF CAMELID BONE REMAINS AS RECOVERED IN EXCAVATED CONTEXTS, INCLUDING: (TOP) CAMELID BONE FREQUENCY COMPARED TO OTHER FAUNA-HARD MATERIALS, (BOTTOM-LEFT) FREQUENCY OF DIAGNOSTIC VS. NON-DIAGNOSTIC CAMELID BONE FRAGMENTS AND THE FREQUENCY OF CAMELID BONE ANATOMICAL CATEGORIES, (RIGHT) KEY OF FIGURE 217. BR-SIMILARITY MATRIX AND ASSOCIATED NETWORK VISUALIZATION CONFIGURED TO SHOW CONTEXT SIMILARITIES BASED ON MATERIALS ASSEMBLAGES ASSOCIATED WITH DAILY FIGURE 218. BREAKDOWN OF ALL FORMALLY EXCAVATED PIT FEATURES, INCLUDING (TOP) TABLE LISTING ALL (NON-HEARTH) PIT FEATURES USED FOR STORAGE, REFUSE DISPOSAL, OR BOTH, AS WELL AS (BOTTOM) PHOTOS OF TYPICAL EXAMPLES OF BOTH INFORMAL AND FORMAL (STONE-FIGURE 219. APPROXIMATE DISTRIBUTION OF ROCKPILE-MIDDEN DEPOSITS IN (BOTTOM) SECTOR A FIGURE 220. (TOP-LEFT) MAP ILLUSTRATING VARIOUS SPOT FINDS AND SURFACE FEATURES THAT CORRELATE WITH THE PRODUCTION AND FIRING OF CERAMIC VESSELS, WITH INCLUDED IMAGES OF (BOTTOM) MAP AND PHOTO OF NATURAL CLAY OUTCROPS AT L1 AND (CENTER-RIGHT) FIGURE 221. MAP OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1) WITH INSERT DETAILS OF MIDDLE HORIZON DOMESTIC SECTORS, ILLUSTRATING THE DISTRIBUTION AND DENSITY OF MATERIALS ASSOCIATED FIGURE 222. OVERHEAD PHOTO OF THE BASE OF EXCAVATION BLOCK L1L-2019-1 AND THE REMAINS OF DOMESTIC STRUCTURE L1L-1 WITH DETAIL PHOTOS OF RECOVERED MATERIALS RELATED TO FIGURE 223. MAP ILLUSTRATING THE DISTRIBUTION OF BLUESTONE CHRYSOCOL A RECOVERED IN SPOT FIND OR EXCAVATED CONTEXTS AS WELL AS THE LIKELY SITE OF THEIR MANUFACTURE IN FIGURE 224. B-R SIMILARITY MATRIX-NETWORK AND CHART ILLUSTRATING RELATIVE FREQUENCIES FIGURE 225. RESULTS OF GARVIN'S MICROANALYSIS OF SOIL SAMPLES (GARVIN 2020:124) COLLECTED FROM SELECTED CONTEXTS IN BLOCK L1L-2019-1 AND BLOCK L1L-2019-3.......697 FIGURE 226. THE PROPORTIONS OF FAUNAL REMAINS AS RECOVERED IN EACH OF THE FIVE (5) FIGURE 227. FREQUENCIES OF WOOL AND COTTON WOVEN TEXTILE FRAGMENTS AS FOUND IN THE FOUR (4) MAJOR 2018-19 EXCAVATION BLOCKS IN SECTOR L AND SECTOR A.700 FIGURE 228. B-R SIMILARITY MATRIX-NETWORK AND MULTIPLE CHARTS ILLUSTRATING THE RELATIVE FREQUENCIES OF THE SEVEN (7) DIFFERENT OLLA RIM FORMS ACROSS SELECTED EXCAVATED FIGURE 229. EXAMPLES OF WOVEN TUNIC FRAGMENTS RECOVERED IN EXCAVATIONS AT L1......705

FIGURE 230. EXAMPLES OF MIDDLE HORIZON-STYLE 4-CORNERED HATS - ALL EXAMPLES FOUND AT L1 ARE MADE FROM DYED CAMELID WOOL AND WOVEN USING A TAPESTRY-STYLE
FIGURE 231. EXAMPLES OF JEWELRY AND OTHER ITEMS USED IN DECORATING CLOTHING AND OTHER COMPONENTS OF PERSONAL ADORNMENT
FIGURE 232. SCHEMATIC MAP OF ALL MORTUARY SECTORS OR CEMETERIES WITH MIDDLE HORIZON AFFILIATION
FIGURE 233. B-R SIMILARITY INDEX MATRIX AND NETWORK VISUALIZATION OF MAJOR EXCAVATION BLOCK ASSEMBLAGES PERTAINING TO SPECIALIZED CONSUMPTION
FIGURE 234. HEAT DENSITY MAPS PROJECTING THE DENSITY OF SERVING WARE CERAMICS FROM SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION716
FIGURE 235. DESIGN ELEMENTS AND SIMPLE MOTIFS FOUND ON REDWARE SERVING VESSELS IN THE L1 EXCAVATION ASSEMBLAGE
FIGURE 236. BIPARTITE NETWORK GRAPH ILLUSTRATING THE RELATIVE PROPORTIONS OF DIFFERENT DESIGN ELEMENTS AND SIMPLE MOTIFS IDENTIFIED ON REDWARE CERAMIC SHERDS AS RECOVERED IN THE FOUR (4) MAJOR EXCAVATION BLOCKS IN SECTOR A AND SECTOR L AT L1.
FIGURE 237. PHOTOS OF MATERIALS ASSOCIATED WITH THE CONSUMPTION OF MIND-ALTERING SUBSTANCES, SUCH AS COCA AND VILCA AS WELL AS A TABLE INDICATING THE PRESENCE/ABSENCE OF COCA AND VILCA IN THE FOUR MAJOR EXCAVATION BLOCKS IN SECTOR A AND SECTOR L
FIGURE 238. THE ROUGHLY NW-SE ORIENTATION OF DOMESTIC ARCHITECTURE ILLUSTRATED VIA SCHEMATIC MAPS OF THE QUINCHA (CANE) WALL FOUNDATIONS BEST DOCUMENTED THROUGH SURFACE MAPPING AND EXCAVATION
FIGURE 239. SECTOR A CENTRAL PLAZA ARCHITECTURAL SUITE, INCLUDING: (<i>CENTER</i>) OVERHEAD PHOTO OF PLAZA, (<i>TOP-LEFT</i>) 3-D MODEL OF SPECIAL STRUCTURE L1L-2 DURING EXCAVATION, (<i>TOP-RIGHT</i>) PHOTO OF THE LOOTED CAMELID OFFERING IN THE CENTER OF THE PLAZA, AND (<i>BOTTOM</i>) PHOTO OF THE PLAZA, TAKEN FROM THE SW CORNER
FIGURE 240. AERIAL ORTHOPHOTO OF SECTOR A SHOWING ORIENTATION OF MAJOR CEREMONIAL STRUCTURES, INCLUDING (TOP-LEFT) CENTRAL PLAZA AND SPECIAL STRUCTURE L1A-2, (UPPER- RIGHT) VIEW OF TUTUPACA VOLCANIC PEAK FROM JUST DOWN PLAZA PROCESSIONAL PATHWAY, (BOTTOM-CENTER) OVERHEAD PHOTO OF SPECIAL STRUCTURE L1A-1, AND (BOTTOM-RIGHT) ORIENTATIONS COMPARED
FIGURE 241. MAP OF THE SOUTH-CENTRAL ANDES WITH MAJOR AREAS OR SUBREGIONS OF TIWANAKU-AFFILIATION DURING THE MIDDLE HORIZON
FIGURE 242. MAP OF THE SOUTH-CENTRAL ANDES INDICATING DOCUMENTED TRANSPORTATION CORRIDORS THAT WERE BELIEVED TO BE UTILIZED DURING THE MIDDLE HORIZON, WITH ASSOCIATED TABLE INDICATING DISTANCE AND APPROXIMATED LLAMA CARAVAN TRAVEL TIME BETWEEN TIWANAKU AND MAJOR AREAS OF INFLUENCE
FIGURE 243. BASIC CULTURE SEQUENCES FOR THE TIWANAKU DRAINAGE IN THE SOUTH-CENTRAL HIGHLANDS AND THE MIDDLE AND LOWER OSMORE, MIDDLE LOCUMBA, AND MIDDLE AZAPA DRAINAGES IN THE SOUTH-CENTRAL COAST (VALLES OCCIDENTALES)
FIGURE 244. THE RESULTS OF THE RADIOCARBON DATES SAMPLES FROM SIX (6) CONTEXTS EXCAVATED IN 2016, WITH THE SHCAL13 CALIBRATED DATES PLOTTED, INCLUDING THEIR 2- SIGMA RANGES

FIGURE 245. GRAPHIC REPRESENTATION OF TOTAL ESTIMATED TIWANAKU-AFFILIATED INDIVIDUALS LIVING IN EACH LISTED REGION
FIGURE 246. MAP SHOWING CARAVAN ROUTES AND DISTANCES BETWEEN OMO, CERRO SAN ANTONIO, AND THE COASTAL ACCESS POINTS
FIGURE 247. SOME OF THE EXAMPLES OF NON-LOCAL MATERIALS RECOVERED FROM MIDDLE HORIZON CONTEXTS AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1) IN THE MIDDLE LOCUMBA VALLEY
FIGURE 248. EXAMPLES OF CORPORATE VERSUS POSSIBLY LATER DERIVED VARIANTS – ALL COLLECTED FROM CERRO SAN ANTONIO
FIGURE 249. (LEFT) CONCENTRATION OF FLAKEY MAIZE KERNELS RECOVERED FROM SOIL SAMPLE COLLECTED AT BASE OF THE CENTRAL PLAZA ADOBE PLATFORM (SPECIAL STRUCTURE L1A-2) (GARVIN 2020:149), (RIGHT) MODERN EXAMPLE OF SPROUTED MAIZE KERNELS IN PROCESS OF CHICHA PRODUCTION
FIGURE 250. (TOP) FREQUENCY OF SERVING VESSEL SHERDS FROM SELECTED EXCAVATED CONTEXTS AT L1 (N = 374) AND (BOTTOM) FREQUENCIES OF SHERDS GROUPED BY MAJOR CERAMIC SOCIO-FUNCTIONAL CATEGORY FROM THE SAME SELECTED EXCAVATION UNITS/BLOCKS (N=10,406)
FIGURE 251. MAPS DISPLAYING "SPOT FINDS" OF DECORATED REDWARE SHERDS BY TEMPORAL VARIANTS IN TIWANAKU-AFFILIATED SECTORS AT L1 (WHOLE VESSELS RECOVERED FROM LOOTERS ARE FOR ILLUSTRATION ONLY)
FIGURE 252. BOOTH-LIKE STRUCTURES FROM (LEFT) THE SITE OF CHEN CHEN IN THE MIDDLE OSMORE AND (RIGHT) FROM CERRO SAN ANTONIO IN THE MIDDLE LOCUMBA810
FIGURE 253. COMPARISON OF ALIGNMENTS OF OMO IN THE OSMORE DRAINAGE, TIAHUANACO IN THE HIGHLANDS, AND THE SECTOR A CENTRAL PLAZA AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (INSERT)
FIGURE 254. MAP ILLUSTRATING TIWANAKU CONNECTIONS IN THE VALLES OCCIDENTALES DURING THE LATE EARLY MIDDLE HORIZON AND BASIC NETWORK REPRESENTATION OF THESE CONNECTIONS
FIGURE 255. MAP ILLUSTRATING TIWANAKU CONNECTIONS IN THE VALLES OCCIDENTALES DURING THE LATE MIDDLE HORIZON AND BASIC NETWORK REPRESENTATION OF THESE CONNECTIONS.
FIGURE 256. MAP ILLUSTRATING TIWANAKU CONNECTIONS IN THE VALLES OCCIDENTALES DURING THE EARLY TERMINAL MIDDLE HORIZON AND BASIC NETWORK REPRESENTATION OF THESE CONNECTIONS
FIGURE 257. MAP ILLUSTRATING TIWANAKU CONNECTIONS IN THE VALLES OCCIDENTALES DURING THE LATE TERMINAL MIDDLE HORIZON AND BASIC NETWORK REPRESENTATION OF THESE CONNECTIONS
FIGURE 258. SCHEMATIC REPRESENTATION OF THE COMMUNITY ECOLOGY FRAMEWORK DEVELOPED IN THIS THESIS AND A COMPLEXITY-INSPIRED UNDERSTANDING OF HUMAN SOCIALITY MORE GENERALLY
FIGURE 259. BOTANIC DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER) FROM THE 2018-19 EXCAVATION BLOCKS851
FIGURE 260. DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER) OF SELECTED CULTIGENS FROM THE 2018-19 EXCAVATION BLOCKS
FIGURE 261. DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER) OF SELECTED CONSUMABLE ARBOREAL SPECIES FROM THE 2018-19 EXCAVATION BLOCKS
FIGURE 262. DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER) OF COCA REMAINS FROM THE 2018-19 EXCAVATION BLOCKS
--
FIGURE 263. DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER) OF BULK BOTANICS FROM THE 2018-19 EXCAVATION BLOCKS
FIGURE 264. DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER) OF TEXTILE RELATED BOTANIC REMAINS FROM THE 2018-19 EXCAVATION BLOCKS
FIGURE 265. DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER) OF FAUNA MATERIAL AND SPECIFICALLY LARGE MAMMAL BONE FRAGMENTS (CAMELID), SMALL MAMMAL BONE FRAGMENTS (GUINEA PIG), AND MARINE SHELL
FIGURE 266. DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER) OF ORGANIC FAUNA MATERIAL AND SPECIFICALLY CAMELID AND GUINEA PIG COPROLITES
FIGURE 267. DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER) OF MAJOR SOCIO-FUNCTIONAL CERAMIC CATEGORIES: UTILITARIAN CERAMICS (OLLAS, TINAJAS, ETC.), SERVING CERAMICS (KEROS, TAZÓNES, PITCHERS, ETC.), RITUAL CERAMICS (INCENSARIOS, MINIATURES), RE-UTILIZED SHERDS (SPINDLE WHIRLS, POLISHERS, ETC.)
FIGURE 268. DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER) OF INDIVIDUAL MAJOR CERAMIC CATEGORIES
FIGURE 269. EXAMPLE OUTPUT FROM LOCUS #-BASED DATABASE USED TO CORRELATE MAJOR CONTEXT AND MATERIAL DRIVEN DATA COLLECTION IN THE FIELD AND LAB
FIGURE 270. EXAMPLE SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION FIELD FORM USED IN 2015, 2016, AND 2018-19 FIELD SEASONS
FIGURE 271. EXAMPLE EXCAVATION – LEVEL/AREA FORM USED IN 2016 TEST EXCAVATION863
FIGURE 272. EXAMPLE EXCAVATION – LEVEL/AREA FORM USED IN 2018-19 EXCAVATIONS
FIGURE 273. SAMPLE PAGE FROM THE MASTER SPECIMEN LOG, USED TO RECORD MATERIALS COLLECTED AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1) IN ALL COLLECTION METHODS
FIGURE 274. PHOTO OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO AS VIEWED FROM THE NORTH, LOOKING SOUTH866
FIGURE 275. MAP OF WESTERN EDGE OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1), CENTERED ON SECTOR H (L1H), THE ONLY SECTOR DATING EXCLUSIVELY TO THE FORMATIVE PERIOD – A MORTUARY SECTOR COMPOSED OF BURIAL MOUNDS (<i>TUMULOS</i>)
FIGURE 276. PHOTO OF FORMATIVE-STYLE <i>TUMULOS</i> AT THE WESTERN EDGE OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1G) – VIEW FACING NORTH-NORTHWEST
FIGURE 277. LOW-ALTITUDE PHOTO OF THE <i>TUMULOS</i> (BURIAL MOUNDS) WHICH ARE DEFINITIVE FEATURES OF THE FORMATIVE PERIOD IN THE VALLES OCCIDENTALES. INSERT: VERTICAL POSTS PROTRUDING FROM ONE OF THE MOUNDS, SUGGESTING AN INTERIOR STRUCTURE
FIGURE 278. LOW-ALTITUDE UAV PHOTO CENTERED ON SECTOR A AND INCLUDING SEVERAL OF THE SURROUNDING CEMETERY SECTORS – VIEW FACING DUE EAST
FIGURE 279. PHOTO OF TYPICAL QUEBRADA ROCK PILE-MIDDEN DEPOSITS THAT DEFINE TIWANAKU DOMESTIC SECTOR L - VIEW FACING WEST BY SOUTHWEST
FIGURE 280. PHOTO OF TIWANAKU CEMETERY, SECTOR B – VIEW FACING EAST, STANDING AT SOUTHERN EDGE OF SECTOR A - VIEW LOOKING ROUGHLY SOUTHEAST
FIGURE 281. PHOTOS OF TYPICAL EXAMPLES OF TIWANAKU-STYLE COLLARED TOMBS AS ENCOUNTERED AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1)

FIGURE 282. TIWANAKU-ASSOCIATED MAJOR PATHWAYS AND WALKING PATHS	72
FIGURE 283. MAP DISPLAYING THE PRIMARY LATE INTERMEDIATE PERIOD ERA OCCUPATION AND US OF THE SITE, CENTERED ON SECTOR C, AND EIGHT (8) ASSOCIATED MORTUARY SECTORS87	E 73
FIGURE 284. UAV PHOTO OF EASTERN HALF OF SECTOR C; INCLUDING THE PEAK OCCUPATION SECTOR, THE EASTERN PLAZA, AND EASTERN WALL WITH LIP-ERA CEMETERIES INDICATED - VIEW LOOKING EAST BY SOUTHEAST	N 74
FIGURE 285. FIELD STONE DOMESTIC PLATFORMS IN THE PRIMARY LIP DOMESTIC AREA OF SECTOR C	75
FIGURE 286. VIEW (LOOKING EAST) OF EASTERN FIELD STONE WALL THAT PROTECTS THE SOUTHER FLANK OF THE SECTOR C HILLTOP SETTLEMENT	N 76
FIGURE 287. SECTOR C (L1C) EASTERN PLAZA, VIEWED FROM THE GROUND (LOOKING SOUTH) AS WELL AS A LOW ALTITUDE UAV PHOTO	77
FIGURE 288. EXAMPLES OF SUBSURFACE TOMB TYPES FOUND IN SECTOR C: INCLUDING NON- TIWANAKU FINE-MASONRY RECTANGULAR TOMBS AS WELL AS DEEP (2-4 METERS) CIRCULAR CIST TOMBS	78
FIGURE 289. REMAINS OF <i>CHULPAS</i> (AND LOOTED HUMAN REMAINS) SECTOR P AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1P)	78
FIGURE 290. UAV PHOTO OF THE COLONIAL-ERA BODEGA AND SURROUNDING STRUCTURES THAT COMPRISE SECTOR J AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1J)	79
FIGURE 291. THE SECTOR J (L1J) BODEGA88	30
FIGURE 292. COLONIAL/HISTORIC-ERA FEATURES AND MATERIALS FROM L1: INCLUDING THE HISTORIC STRUCTURE IN SECTOR N (L1N) AND DECORATED PORCELAIN, GLASS, AND A LATE COLONIAL COIN RECOVERED ON THE SURFACE	31
FIGURE 293. MAP SHOWING LOCATIONS OF VARIOUS MODERN (AND RECENT HISTORIC) DISTURBANCES AS DISCUSSED IN THE TEXT	32
FIGURE 294. EXAMPLES OF FORMAL DISTURBANCES MADE TO THE SITE (L1), OVER THE LAST 100 YEARS INCLUDE A) A RELIC HILLSIDE GEOGLYPH MADE IN 1955, STILL VISIBLE IN LOW ALTITUDE DRONE PHOTOS, AND (B)B PERMANENT SURVEY MARKERS	33
FIGURE 295. ISTURBANCES TO THE SITE INCLUDE REMNANTS FROM INFORMAL LAND CLAIMS, OFTEN DEMARCATED BY LINEAR ARRANGEMENTS OF ROCK CAIRNS (A) OR SYSTEMATIC CLEARING OF SHERDS AND OTHER REMAINS (B)	34
FIGURE 296. MAP OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1) ILLUSTRATING THE MORTUARY SECTORS THAT HAV BEEN LOOTED, INCLUDING ESTIMATED AND DOCUMENTED PERIODS IN WHICH THE LOOTING TOO PLACE	Е К 35
FIGURE 297. IMAGES ILLUSTRATING STHE EXTENT OF THE 2015-16 LOOTING EVENTS, INCLUDING (BOTTOM) MATERIALS ABANDONED OR NOT YET COLLECTED BY LOOTERS AND (TOP) PAL 2016 FIELD SCHOOL MEMBERS WORKING TO MAP THE DISTURBANCES FOR MNC	36
FIGURES 298. EXTENT OF LOOTING FROM 2014 AND 2015-16 L EVENTS), INCLUDING: (FROM TOP TO BOTTOM) SAN MIGUEL CERAMICS AND BASKETRY, WOODEN KERO WITH PAN PIPE AND BASKET, TEXTILE BAG (CHUSPA) WITH COCA, AND COLLECTION OF MATERIALS PILED UP BY LOOTERS (INCLUDING A PILE OF HUMAN TEETH)) 37
FIGURE 299. PHOTOS OF ANIMAL REMAINS FOUND IN LOOTED LATE INTERMEDIATE PERIOD MORTUARY CONTEXTS (PRIMARILY CHIRIBAYA), INCLUDING (TOP) MULTIPLE MUMMIFIED DOG	

REMAINS AS WELL AS (BOTTOM) COLLECTIONS OF CAMELID FEET
FIGURE 300. PHOTO OF THE MATERIALS RECOVERED FROM MAJOR ARREST OF CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1) LOOTERS IN 2016 (PHOTO COURTESY J. ORTEGA)
FIGURE 301. EXAMPLES FROM CERAMICS RECOVERED FROM 2016 LOOTER ARREST, CERAMICS ARE PRIMARY FROM TIWANAKU, CHIRIBAYA, SAN MIGUEL, AND GENTILAR STYLES (PHOTOS COURTESY OF J. ORTEGA)
FIGURE 302. BASKETRY RECOVERED FROM 2016 LOOTER ARREST AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO, LIKELY MIXED NON-TIWANAKU AND SOME TIWANAKU CONTEXTS (PHOTOS COURTESY OF J. ORTEGA).891
FIGURE 304. TEXTILE-REALATED ITEMS RECOVERED DURING THE 2016 LOOTER ARRESTAT CERRO SAN ANTONIO, INCLUDING VARIOUS NON-TIWANAKU DECORATED TUNICS AND MANTAS, BAGS, AND BELTS (PHOTOS COURTESY OF J. ORTEGA)
FIGURE 305. IMPLEMENTS RECOVERED FROM THE 2016 LOOTER ARREST AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1)., INCLUDING MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS (INCLUDING A FULL DRUM), WEAVING AND AGRICULTURAL IMPLEMENTS, AND DOZENS OF WOODEN SPOONS OF NON-TIWANAKU STYLE (PHOTOS COURTESY OF J. ORTEGA)
FIGURE 306. SELECTED PHOTOS OF PETROGLYPHS AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1)
FIGURE 307. ADDITIONAL SELECTED PHOTOS OF PETROGLYPHS AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1)895

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. LIST OF FREQUENT CHARACTERISTICS OF CAS. THIS LIST IS NOT MEANT TO BE EXHAUSTIVE,
AND THESE FEATURES ARE NOT NECESSARILY PRESENT IN ALL CAS. THIS LIST IS SYNTHESIZED
FROM A NUMBER OF OTHER, SIMILAR LISTS (MILLER 2016; MITCHELL 2009; WEISS AND
BUCHANAN 2009; WEISS, ET AL. 2011:7). I USE THESE TERMS BOTH IN QUANTITATIVE METHODS
AND QUALITATIVE DESCRIPTIONS THROUGHOUT THIS THESIS
TABLE 2. CHART OF SCALES USED IN MY MULTISCALAR APPROACHES, AND THE DIFFERENT
DIMENSIONS OF HUMAN SOCIALITY WHICH THEY GENERALLY CORRELATE WITH, AS WELL AS HOW
THESE SCALES MANIFEST IN ARCHAEOLOGICAL INTERPRETATIONS OF PAST SOCIETIES
TABLE 3. CHART OF THE FIVE MAJOR TRANSITIONS IN THE EVOLUTION OF SOCIALITY IN HOMININ
SPECIES (AFTER FOLEY AND GAMBLE 2009:3276)
TABLE 4. MODES OF COMMUNITY AS DISCUSSED BELOW IN THE TEXT – INCLUDING COMMON
EXAMPLES OF SOCIOCULTURAL EXPRESSIONS OF THESE MODES OF COMMUNITY AND EXAMPLES
OF POSSIBLE ARCHAEOLOGICAL CORRELATES AT THREE DIFFERENT SCALES (MICRO-MESO-
MACRO). NOTE THESE EXAMPLES (AND REFERENCES) ARE BY NO MEANS EXHAUSTIVE
TABLE 5. CHART LISTING THE QUECHUA TERMS AND PHRASES THAT INCLUDE THE TERM AYLLU OR ITS
RELATED ROOT AYLLUY IN GONZÁLEZ HOLGUIN'S 17TH CENTURY QUECHUA DICTIONARY
(GONZÁLEZ HOLGUIN [1608]1989). TABLE INCLUDES QUECHUA AND SPANISH QUOTED DIRECTLY
FROM SOURCE, ENGLISH TRANSLATIONS (MY OWN), AND FINALLY THE PAGE NUMBER FROM
SOURCE. TERMS LISTED ABOVE THE DOUBLE LINE ARE THOSE THAT MOST CLEARLY RELATE TO
HUMAN KINSHIP/SOCIAL ORGANIZATION WHEREAS THE TERMS BELOW THE LINE REFER MORE
GENERALLY TO RELATEDNESS AND OTHER SIMILARITIES128
TABLE 6. LIST OF ARCHAEOLOGICAL SECTORS AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO (L1). HERE PRIMARY,
SECONDARY, TERTIARY REFER TO THE TEMPORAL SEQUENCE, NOT THE INTENSITY OF
OCCUPATION231
TABLE 7. MAJOR PHASES OF FIELD AND LABORATORY WORK DISCUSSED IN THE TEXT. 263
TABLE 8. THE 16 MATERIAL TYPES INTO WHICH ALL MATERIALS COLLECTED IN THE FIELD WERE
SORTED. THESE TYPES ARE ORGANIZED INTO FOUR BROAD MATERIAL CLASSES: ARTIFACTS,
ECOFACTS, SAMPLES, AND HUMAN REMAINS

TABLE 9. BASIC INFORMATION REGARDING FIVE TEST UNITS EXCAVATED DURING THE 2016 FIELD

SEASON
TABLE 10. TABLE OF IMPORTANT INFORMATION OF ALL EXCAVATION BLOCKS COMPLETED DURING THE 2018-19 FIELD SEASON.
TABLE 11. TABLE OF LITHIC-GROUND SPECIMENS COLLECTED IN VARIOUS MODES OF FIELD WORK.
TABLE 12. CHART LISTING FIVE (5) MAJOR SOCIO-FUNCTIONAL CATEGORIES INTO WHICH ALL BOTANICS COLLECTED IN THE FIELD WERE ORGANIZED. ALSO LISTED ARE TAXA IN EACH MAJOR CATEGORY AS FOUND IN THE L1 ASSEMBLAGE
TABLE 13. RESULTS OF THE SIX (6) RADIOCARBON DATES RESULTS FROM THE SAMPLES COLLECTED IN THE 2016 TEST EXCAVATIONS IN SECTOR A, WITH CALIBRATED DATE RANGES, USING THE INTCAL13 AND SHCAL13 (THESE DATES ARE USED HERE WITH PERMISSION FROM P. GOLDSTEIN AND PAL).
TABLE 14. CUY (GUINEA PIG) REMAINS (COPROLITES AND BONE) AS RECOVERED IN EXCAVATED CONTEXTS.
TABLE 15. THE FOUR SCALES OF INTRA-SETTLEMENT RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITY AS IDENTIFIED AT CERRO SAN ANTONIO AND THEIR EQUIVALENTS AT THE CENTER OF TIWANAKU AND AT THE TIWANAKU ENCLAVES IN THE MIDDLE OSMORE DRAINAGE.
TABLE 16. TABLE WITH COUNTS OF TIWANAKU-AFFILIATED CERAMICS (PLAINWARE AND REDWARE) IN ALL SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION UNITS.
TABLE 17. TABLE WITH COUNTS OF FAUNA-RELATED MAERIALS (ANIMAL BONE AND MARINE SHELL) COLLECTED DURING SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION. 835
TABLE 18. TABLE WITH COUNTS OF LITHIC-RELATED MATERIALS COLLECTED DURING SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTIONS.
TABLE 19. SYSTEMATIC SURFACE COLLECTION UNIT TOAL CERAMIC COUNTS - USED AS PROXY FOR OVERALL SURFACE MATERIAL DENSITY FOR POPULATION ESTIMATE.
TABLE 20. TABLE WITH MATERIAL DENSITIES OF SELECTED MATERIAL CATEGORIES AS RECOVERED INTHE FIVE (5) MAJOR 2018-19 EXCAVATION BLOCKS. DENSITIES ARE GRAMS OF MATERIAL PEREXCAVATED AND SCREENED LITER (1) OF SEDIMENT.850
TABLE 21. MATERIAL DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER OF EXCAVATED SEDIMENT) FOR AREAS WITHIN EXCAVATION BLOCK L1L-2019-1.

TABLE 22. MATERIAL DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER OF EXCAVATED SEDIMENT) FOR AREAS WITHIN	1
EXCAVATION BLOCK L1L-2019-3.	.859
TABLE 23. MATERIAL DENSITIES (GRAMS PER LITER OF EXCAVATED SEDIMENT) KEY USED IN	
BIPARTITE NEWORK VISUALIZATIONS.	.860

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

It is difficult to know where to begin an acknowledgments section for a project that has taken over a decade to complete. It feels like a lifetime ago, that I had the good fortunate to make a trip to the middle Locumba Valley to visit the site of Cerro San Antonio for the first time. So much has happened since, that I know I will make the misstep of forgetting some very critical people and their contributions to this dissertation, but I want to do my best to acknowledge as many as I can here.

First, I want to thank those directly connected to this thesis document and the final product, my doctoral committee. First and foremost, here, Paul Goldstein, the chair of my committee and my academic adviser throughout graduate school, has been most intensively involved in this thesis. Paul introduced me to the world of southern Peruvian archaeology, and through his mentorship I have built this thesis around my work there. As the lead director of the Proyecto Arqueologío Locumba (PAL), all work presented here was completed under his direction and I truly couldn't have completed this project without him.

My other committee members have also provided me with a significant amount of guidance throughout my thesis development as well as my graduate career more broadly. Guillermo Algaze has always been generous with his time, willing to read important drafts, including any number of grant proposals for funding this work. His seminars were always some of the most thought provoking and his macroscale perspectives on the ancient world had a huge impact on my own ideas developed here. Geoff Braswell has always been willing to provide honest feedback, and his comments on my work have always compelled me to improve. In addition, having been a TA for several of Geoff's undergraduate courses his enthusiasm and well-crafted lectures certainly inspired my own approach to teaching archaeology. Christine Hunefeldt was one of my strongest advocates in graduate school and her seminars on the Inca and broader Andean history always provided a breath of fresh air to old narratives. Elizabeth

xlii

Newsome also always provided thought provoking seminars and allowed me to pursue creative avenues of my research and really delve into new interesting aspects of the art of the ancient Americas. Finally, Bruce Owen has provided some of the most detailed comments on this document, which were more-than-appreciated, and his extensive knowledge of the southern Andes and particularly the Valles Occidentales has been a major asset to the development of this thesis.

I'd like to thank the University of California, San Diego (UCSD) and particularly the Department of Anthropology for my graduate school experience. While full of ups and downs, I have truly valued the opportunity to pursue my graduate degrees and develop my pedagogical skills. In addition to those professors on my committee, a number of other faculty in my home department at UCSD provided interesting seminars and very useful guidance throughout my graduate career, particularly: Jonathan Friedman, Shirly Strum, Rupert Stasch, Margarete Schoeninger, Nancy Postero, and Tom Levy. In addition, so many of my fellow grad students at UCSD, both within Anthropology and other departments, gave me such critical support over the years. This could range from professional interactions in seminars to letting off steam at the Lewis Street house, but all of it made the difference through the dregs of grad school. Again, I am sure to miss a few, but some of the closest UCSD grad support came from Andrew Somerville, Ben Ellerby, Corina Most, Ben Van Overmeire, Kari Hansen, Doruk Beyter, Amrita Kurian, Shane McClain, Keven Henner, Michael Berman, Misha Miller-Session, Sowbi Balaswaminathan, Kyle Knabb, Nancy Peniche May, Jimmy Daniels, and Matt Howland.

I need to give extra thanks to my fellow lab mates in the UCSD South American Archaeology Lab – again, directed by Paul Goldstein. This is where I spent most of my time on campus, and my colleagues and friends in the lab made some of the biggest impacts on my graduate school career and especially my development as an Andeanist. My lab mates here include Sarah Baitzel, Alicia Boswell, Beth Plunger, Giacomo Gaggio, Ariana Garvin, Brandon Gay, Andrew deLeon, Juliana Santillian-Goode, and Ulli Green. I owe so much, in particular to

xliii

the mentorship and friendships of Sarah and Alicia, who always looked out for me.

Finally, my last years on-campus at UCSD were spent honing my teaching skills as an instructor in the Muir College Writing Program (MCWP). I felt my pedagogical approach made more progress in my three years here than any time before or since and I am truly obliged to the director Carrie Watsal and the rest of the MCWP team for how they run their program.

Reaching even further back on my academic path, I wouldn't be where I am today without having come through one of the strongest archaeological undergraduate programs out there. The Department of Archaeology & Anthropology at the University of Wisconsin, La Crosse (UWL) is where I took my deep dive into the world of archaeology and I couldn't think of a better place to have done it. Not only the student-focused department but the Mississippi Valley Archaeology Center provided such a strong and immersive experience in both academic and applied sides of the field. Within the department I took many foundational courses from Joe Tiffany, James Theler, Dave Anderson, and Susana Lloyd. Particularly important faculty influences at UWL were Tim McAndrews and Christine Hippert. Both Tim and Christine imparted their passions of Andean culture, past and present, to me, and their joint field school in Cochabamaba, Bolivia was my first experience traveling to the Andes and one that changed my life. Tim was also pivotal in helping me navigate applications and find the right graduate program to take the next step in academia.

As noted above, one of the resources that sets the UWL archaeology program apart is the Mississippi Valley Archaeology Center (MVAC). At MVAC I was introduced to the field of cultural resource management and had endless opportunities to work directly with archaeological materials from around the Upper Midwest. Kathy Stevenson, Connie Arzigian and the rest of the MVAC staff were always patient and willing to answer questions and issue corrections to an over-eager undergraduate. I feel my time volunteering at and later being employed with MVAC is when I actually became an archaeologist and for that I will be forever grateful.

xliv

Finally, my first steps into higher-ed were actually completed at Winona State University (WSU). Here I have to highlight the superb program that was the Northern Great Plains Experience (NGP), led by professors Rob Brault and James Reidy. This program took us out across the Great Plains and introduced us to the culture and history of the Lakota and Northern Cheyenne. This trip was another profound life experience and ultimately one that would prime my life of anthropology. In addition, one individual at WSU, who in some ways impacted my academic path into archaeology more than anyone else, was Cathie Logan. After a one-credit obligatory orientation course during freshman year, Cathie really took interest in my academic future and not only first showed me the brochure to the UWL Archaeology Program, but ultimately advocated for my transfer from WSU to UWL – this small act of kindness on her part would change my life.

One of the most significant long-term changes that rippled from my discovery that archaeology was a pursuable career, was spending a significant portion of every year in the Central Andes. While first spending time in Bolivia, particularly around Cochabamba and La Paz, I would ultimately find myself in the far south of Peru. I really can't say how grateful I am for my time in the southern Peruvian valleys of the Osmore and Locumba drainages. I consider the cities and towns of the far south, particularly Moquegua, Arequipa, Villa Locumba, and Tacna, to be some of my favorite places and I am so grateful for the never-ending hospitality of so many people I have met there.

My first days in Peru were spent in Moquegua and after that I made sure as many of my days as possible would be spent there. I consider Moquegua a home-away-from-home and so many of my fondest memories of the past ten years can be found there. Professionally, like most archaeologists who have passed through Moquegua in the last 35 years, I am forever grateful to the Museo Contisuyu and every single staff member there (past and present), particularly Paty Palacios, Yamilex Tejada, Antonio Oquiche, Julio Pinto Vera, Rocío del Carmen Tejada, Marco Quea, Raúl Linares, Raúl Menaut Huacan, and Luciano Santos

xlv

Gutierrez. Here at the museo, out in the field, and elsewhere in Moquegua I also had the good fortune of many great conversations over pisco and good music with many archaeologists from around the world. In particular, Sarah Baitzel, Allisen Dahlstedt, Nikki Sharratt, Rosalia Choque Gonsalez, Matthew Biwer, Sofia Chacaltana, Giacomo Gaggio, Macelo Maaldonada, Raquel Monscoso, and Sara Beker were re-occurring characters in my Moquegua archaeological experience and it wouldn't have been the same without them. Huge thanks specifically to Allison Davis, who really showed me the ropes of living in Andes during my early days in Peru. Finally, I received some of my strongest professional support from the four archaeologists who really form the core of the archaeological community in Moquegua: Mike Mosley, Donna Nash, Susan deFrance, and Ryan Williams. All four have supported me since my first days on the Moquegua scene and have provided useful and often essential advice and encouragement ever since. Mike, Susan, Donna, and Ryan – thank you!

Other friends from around Moquegua, who were always willing to help include Betty and Roberto de Olazabel, German Zapata, Yeremy Maquera Fernandez, Andy Badoino, and all the gentleman down at the Club Moquegua. However, here more than anyone I need to thank my closest friend in Peru and one of the most interesting and generous people I have ever met, Andrew Mitchell. Andrew's home at Estación el Conde in the Moquegua Valley was truly my home-away-from-home for many field seasons. Andrew is without-a-doubt one of the most giving people I know and was always willing to open his doors to me and my family. Here at Conde, the late, great Ina and neighbors Vidal and Candelaria were always patient with the North Americans that would enter their lives for a handful of months each year. Andrew's family David, Marie, Sara, and Patrick were also frequently willing to help me and my wife while in Lima and I owe them a huge thanks as well!

I had the pleasure of working in various capacities for several field schools based in Peru. In 2011 and 2012 I worked for Proyecto Omo and Paul Goldstein's return to excavating the Omo Temple in Moquegua. I met so many superb Peruvian field excavators during this time,

xlvi

including Gumercindo, Flora, Elia, Eva, Nico, Rosalia, Cesar, Justina, and Dina. In regards to field schools, I also want to thank Abby Levine for letting me tag-along on her Institute for Field Research field school in Taraco. While just one season, it was great to put in some time in the highlands generally and the northern Titicaca Basin specifically.

Moving on to those that directly assisted with the project detailed in this dissertation. As noted above, all work completed for this thesis was conducted under the broader Proyecto Arqueologío Locumba (PAL), which is directed by Paul Goldstein and Antonio Oquique Hernani. I am extremely grateful to both of them for guidance through the process of developing and writing propuestas and informes and getting the big picture logistical issues under control. I owe more thanks than I could possibly put into words here to Sarah Baitzel and Arturo Rivera Infante. They helped in multitudes of small ways and a fair share of big ways, but they were always willing and almost always able to help – I couldn't have done this without them! In terms of logistical assistance, I would like to thank the knowledgeable staff and professional archaeologists, based at the Ministerio de Cultura office in Tacna, particularly Rosana Revilla for helping me navigate the official business.

Here is a good place to acknowledge the various sources that very generously provided funding for my work at Cerro San Antonio and this dissertation. My largest source of funding came from the National Science Foundation in the form of a doctoral dissertation improvement grant, but I also received very generous grants from the American Philosophical Society and the San Diego chapter of the Explorers Club. In addition, I received great support from various organizations within my home university, UCSD. These included small, but critical, grants from the Office of the Dean of Social Science, the Center for Iberian and Latin American Studies, the International Center, and of course, my home department, the Department of Anthropology.

In terms of the field work itself, I want to thank those who took the time to help make initial site visits to Cerro San Antonio when this project was still just a dream. Paul Goldstein Herber Cahuana, Alex Sicos, Sarah Baitzel, Gacomo Gaggio, David Neiss, and Kat Huggins all

xlvii

helped me find my way. Early advice and info about local archaeology in Locumba and Tacna came from Colleen Zori, Carlos Vela, Adan Umire, and Jesus Gordillo. I want to highlight the work input made on-site by both the 2015 and 2016 UCSD Archaeological Field schools as well as supervisors for those field schools, such as Giacomo Gaggio, Jordan Dalton, and Brandon Gay. At various times, critical pieces of field equipment were generously loaned to me, particularly from Donna Nash and Paul Goldstein.

I must thank the municipality of Villa Locumba for their hospitality during my many months of field work in their little community. The municipal hotel was often host to our field schools and other local institutions like the Pequinita Market and the restaurant Rosarios, kept me fed and well-supplied. A number of people in Locumba would provide above-and-beyond support for my work and would ultimately become close friends, I owe a special debt of gratitude to Pastora Nieto, Percy Medina, Angelica Condori Calla, and Bartoleme Apaza. However, I owe the biggest thanks to Jhon Ortega as well as his family, for not only hosting my wife and I during the final big push of field work, but for being a close friend with a huge heart – thank you Jhon!

During writing the last few years I have had the good fortune of finding my way into academic teaching as well as back into the world of cultural resource management. I want to thank Deb Gold and the Department of Anthropology at St. Cloud State University for having kept me employed and my pedagogy honed the past few years. More recently, I have been employed at Bolton & Menk Inc., and am incredibly grateful to Jammi Ladwig and the rest of the cultural resources team for getting me back into the field in the Midwest.

Finally, I want to thank those who have supported me long before my days in archaeology and continue to be the foundation of everything in my life, my family. I am lucky enough to have been raised in a close-knit family with many aunts, uncles, and cousins who are too numerous to list here, but each played their part. However, I do want to highlight all four of my grandparents: Mike and Mary, Harriet, and Gordon – each of whom influenced me in their own way. I am again so lucky to have three siblings, Alex, Ellie, and Ben, who are my closest

xlviii

friends. I am so proud of who they have become and hope they know that even though I'm the oldest, I often find myself looking up to them. Finally, my parents, Jerry and Karla, to whom I owe more than I could ever possibly say. They have always been supportive and have always encouraged me to chase my wildest dreams, while also managing to keep my feet on the ground.

The final person to acknowledge, is also the person who played the single most profound role in this project and certainly my life the past ten years, my wife, Kat. Kat has been with me nearly every step of the way, from initial site visits in 2014 to my final days of field work in 2019. In fact, Kat was my primary co-excavator during 2018-19 excavations and my only assistance in the major material analysis that followed. She has been my travel companion and professional collaborator, my best friend and my muse. I owe Kat so much for her support along this process, I don't quite know where to start and certainly don't know where it ends. Now as we set out in parenthood together, I look back and can hardly believe where we have been and can only imagine just where we might go. Thank you, my love! VITA

Education

2022	Ph.D. – <i>Anthropology</i> – Department of Anthropology, University of California San Diego (UCSD).
2013	M.A. – <i>Anthropology</i> – Department of Anthropology, University of California San Diego.
2010	B.S. (with honors) – <i>Archaeological Studies</i> , minor <i>Anthropology</i> – Department of Archaeology & Anthropology, University of Wisconsin, La Crosse (UWL).

Other Professional Affiliations

Register of Professional Archaeologists (RPA #: 4699)

Member of the Society for American Archaeology (Member Since: 2010)

Employment

2021-present	Cultural Resources Technician – Bolton & Menk, Inc. – Burnsville, MN
2019-2021	Adjunct Faculty- Department of Anthropology – St. Cloud State University (SCSU)
2015-2019	Field Director and Project Coordinator - Proyecto Arqueológico Locumba (PAL). Locumba, Peru.
2015-17	Instructor – Muir College Writing Program – University of California San Diego
2015-16	Program Coordinator and Lead Supervisor – UCSD Undergraduate Archaeological Field School, Peru – Locumba, Peru. Directed by Dr. Paul Goldstein (UCSD).
2013	Field Supervisor – Institute for Field Research (IFR) Field School Program – Taraco, Peru. Directed by Dr. Abigail Levine (UCLA).
2012	Program Coordinator and Supervisor – UCSD Undergraduate Archaeological Field School, Peru – Moquegua, Peru. Directed by Dr. Paul Goldstein (UCSD).
2011-15	Teaching Assistant – Department of Anthropology – University of California, San Diego.
2011-15	Research Assistant – South American Archaeology Lab, Department of Anthropology – University of California, San Diego.
2011	Field Supervisor – UCSD Undergraduate Archaeological Field School, Peru – Moquegua, Peru. Directed by Dr. Paul Goldstein (UCSD).

Honors and Awards

2020	Adjunct Faculty Improvement Grant (SCSU)
2020	Anthropology Dissertation Fellowship, Department of Anthropology (UCSD)
2019	George Haydu Prize for the Anthropological Study of the Interaction of Culture, Behavior and Human Values (UCSD): Essay Title: <i>Community Ecology: a deep-</i> <i>time perspective on the emergence of middle-range sociality</i>
2018-19	National Science Foundation (NSF) – Doctoral Dissertation Improvement Grant (Award #1841909)
2018	Lewis and Clark Field Scholar – American Philosophical Society
2018	Exploration and Field Research Grant - Explorers Club (San Diego chapter)
2017-18	F.G. Bailey Fellowship (Dept. of Anthropology, UCSD)
2017	Friends of the International Center Scholarship (UCSD)
2016	Dean of Social Sciences Travel Grant (UCSD)
2015	Tinker Dissertation Grant - Center for Iberian and Latin American Studies (UCSD).
2014	Dean of Social Sciences Travel Grant (UCSD).
2013	Center for Iberian and Latin American Studies (CILAS) – Travel Grant (UCSD).
2012-13	Mel E. Spiro Anthropology Fellowship, Department of Anthropology (UCSD).
2012	Dean of Social Sciences Travel Grant (UCSD).
2010	Department of Archaeology & Anthropology Honors. (UWL).
2009	Undergraduate International Research Grant (UWL).

Publications and Presentations

<u>Journal Articles</u> 2022	Tiwanaku Sealings and Signet Rings: authority transmission in the ancient Andes. Paul Goldstein, Kathrine Davis, Sarah Baitzel, & Matthew Sitek. Latin American Antiquity (completing final revisions).
2018	Plazas and Processional Paths in Tiwanaku Temples: convergence, divergence, and encounter at Omo M10. Paul Goldstein & Matthew Sitek. Latin American Antiquity (29)3:455-474.

2010	Household Archaeology at the site of Pirque Alto: Cochabamba, Bolivia. Matthew Sitek. Journal of Undergraduate Research Volume XIII: University of Wisconsin-La Crosse.
Book Chapters	
(in-press)	Un Enfoque Holístico del Entorno Construido: un ejemplo de la arquitectura provincial Tiwanaku en Moquegua, Perú. Matthew Sitek & Paul Goldstein. Arqueológica del Sur: Museo Contisuyu después de 25 años, Moquegua, Peru.
Conference Presentat	ions
2022	Moquegua, a Tiwanaku Hub: better understanding Tiwanaku's multimodal community network in the Valles Occidentales. 87th Annual Meeting of the Society for American Archaeology, Chicago, IL.
2021	Investigación Reciente en el Sitio del Cerro San Antonio (L1) en el Valle Medio de Locumba, Tacna, Perú. La región olvidada de la arqueología peruana: 10 años de investigación en Tacna (virtual roundtable). Instituto Francés de Estudios Andinos.
2021	Communities in the Campo: household excavations at a Tiwanaku frontier settlement in the middle Locumba Valley, Peru (ca. AD 500-1100). 86 th Annual Meeting of the Society for American Archaeology, San Francisco, CA.
2020	Comunidades en el Campo: excavaciones domésticas en un asentamiento fronterizo de Tiwanaku en el valle medio de Locumba, Perú (ca. 500-1100 dC). Primer Seminario de Arqueología Transnacional entre Perú, Bolivia y Chile, Tacna, Peru.
2019	Un Enfoque Holístico del Entorno Construido: un ejemplo de la arquitectura provincial Tiwanaku en Moquegua, Perú. Matthew Sitek & Paul Goldstein. Seminario Arqueológica del Sur 2019: Museo Contisuyu, Moquegua, Peru.
2018	Finding the Middle Ground: community networks and their role in archaeological interpretation. Matthew Sitek. UCLA Cotsen Institute of Archaeology 7 th Biennial Graduate Conference.
2017	Tiwanaku colonization and the greater reach: preliminary results of the Locumba Archaeological Survey. Paul Goldstein & Matthew Sitek. 82 nd Annual Meeting of the Society for American Archaeology, Vancouver, BC, Canada.
2015	Second-Hand Spaces: abandonment and reoccupation during the final stages of a Tiwanaku provincial temple (Omo M10A). Matthew Sitek, Sarah Baitzel, Kathleen Huggins, and Paul Goldstein. 80 th Annual Meeting of the Society for American Archaeology, San Francisco, CA.
2014	Liminal Plazas, and processional paths in Tiwanaku temples: Divergence, convergence and the rule of three at Omo M10. Paul Goldstein and Matthew Sitek. 79 th annual meeting of the Society for American Archaeology, Austin, TX.
2010	Ethnographic Analogy: A Study of Household Life in Highland Bolivia, Past and Present. Matthew Sitek. Latin American Modernities: A Workshop on Collaboration, Research and Service, Viterbo University, WI.

Conference Posters	
2016	Preliminary Research into the Presence of Tiwanaku at the Site of Cerro San Antonio in the Middle Locumba Valley, Peru. Matthew Sitek & Paul Goldstein. 81 st Annual Meeting of the Society for American Archaeology, Orlando, FL.
2015	From Trash Pile to Temple Wall: the distribution of Formative Period sherds in adobes at the Omo M10A Tiwanaku temple. Kathleen Huggins, Matthew Sitek, and Paul Goldstein. 80 th annual meeting of the Society for American Archaeology, San Francisco, CA.
2015	Preliminary Research at the Site of Cerro San Antonio in the middle Locumba Valley, Peru . Matthew Sitek and Paul Goldstein. 55 th annual meeting of the Institute of Andean Studies, Berkeley, CA.
2014	Building on Ancient Ground: excavations at a Formative Period sunken court complex in the northern Titicaca Basin. Matthew Sitek and Abigail Levine. 79 th annual meeting of the Society for American Archaeology, Austin, TX.
2014	<i>Taypi</i> , Why the Middle Matters: duality and mediating space in provincial Tiwanaku architecture. Matthew Sitek and Paul Goldstein. 54 th annual meeting of the Institute of Andean Studies, Berkeley, CA.
2013	The Middle Court - liminal space in provincial Tiwanaku monumental architecture. Matthew Sitek and Paul Goldstein. 78 th annual meeting of the Society for American Archaeology, Honolulu, HI.
2010	Household Archaeology at the Site of Pirque Alto, Bolivia. Research in the Rotunda – University of Wisconsin Celebration of Undergraduate Research. Madison, WI.
Reports	
2021	Phase I Archaeological Survey for County Road 1 Improvements, Norway Lake and Arctander Townships, Kandiyohi County, Minnesota (submitted to the Minnesota State Archaeologist). Jammi Ladwig, Danielle Kiesow, & Matthew Sitek.
2021	Phase I Archaeological Survey for County Road 119 Improvements, Whitefiel and Fahlun Townships, Kandiyohi County Minnesota (submitted to the Minnesota State Archaeologist). Jammi Ladwig, Danielle Kiesow, & Matthew Sitek.
2019	Reconocimiento Sistimatico del Valle Central de Locumba: patrones de asentamiento y migración en los Andes Antiguos, etapa 3 (2018-19) (submitted to the Peruvian Ministerio de Cultura). Paul Goldstein & Antonio Oquiche.
2016	Reconocimiento Sistimatico del Valle Central de Locumba: patrones de asentamiento y migración en los Andes Antiguos, etapa 2 (2016) (submitted to the Peruvian Ministerio de Cultura). Paul Goldstein & Antonio Oquiche.
2010	Phase I Archaeological Survey for Timber Parcels Proposed for Harvest in the DuBay Flowage (FERC License No. 1953), Portage and Marathon Counties, Wisconsin (submitted to the Wisconsin State Archaeologist). Constance Arzigian, Michael Straskowski, & Matthew Sitek.

Theses	
2022	Community Networks at the Edge of Ancient Andean States: a view from the Tiwanaku frontier, Locumba, Peru (ca. AD 500-1100). Doctoral Thesis (Ph.D.) – UC San Diego
2013	Taypi, a View from the Middle (Court): analysis of liminal space in provincial Tiwanaku monumental architecture (Omo M10A). Matthew Sitek. Master's Thesis (M.A.) – Department of Anthropology, UC San Diego.
2010	Household Archaeology at the site of Pirque Alto: Cochabamba, Bolivia. Matthew Sitek. Honors Thesis (B.S.) – Department of Archaeology & Anthropology, UW La Crosse.
Invited Cuest Lecture	
2019	A New Archaeological Tool Kit: GIS, UAVs ("drones"), and Photogrammetry in the Field. For UWL Archaeology Club talk series – UW La Crosse.
2016	<i>Understanding Inca Statecraft.</i> For HILA 123 – the Incas and their Ancestors, Prof. Christine Hunefeldt. Department of History – UC San Diego.
2015	A Brief History of Archaeological Thought , Archaeological Field Methods (2 <i>lecture series</i>). For ANTH 3 – World Prehistory, Prof. Thomas Levy. Department of Anthropology – UC San Diego.
2014	<i>World Systems Theory and Empires – the Inca (Peru) and Qin (China)</i> <i>Compared</i> . For POLI 123 – Politics of Empire, Prof. John Lejeune. Department of Political Science – UC San Diego.

- **Development of Complexity in the Oaxaca Valley (Mexico)**. For ANTH 53 the Aztecs and their Ancestors, Prof. Geoffrey Braswell. Department of Anthropology UC San Diego.
- **The Archaeology of Andean South America** (3 lecture series). For HILA 123 the Incas and their Ancestors, Prof. Christine Hunefeldt. Department of History UC San Diego.
- **An Introduction to Archaeology**. For ANTH 1 Introduction to Culture, Prof. Jana Fortier. Department of Anthropology UC San Diego.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Community Networks at the Edge of Ancient Andean States: a view from the Tiwanaku frontier, Locumba, Peru (ca. AD 500-1100)

by

Matthew J. Sitek

Doctor of Philosophy in Anthropology

University of California San Diego, 2022

Professor Paul S. Goldstein, Chair

This dissertation develops a community ecology framework, which utilizes methods

developed through network-analysis and the broader study of complex adaptive systems. Unlike

most models of state growth that have tended to support either top-down, macroscale

explanations, or bottom-up or more microscale-focused perspectives to connect between state

and individual, my approach privileges the mesoscale, considering the community as the pivotal middle ground. I focus on Tiwanaku, one of the first state-level societies to expand in the Middle Horizon of the Central Andes, (ca. AD 600-1100), using results from several seasons of archaeological research at the Tiwanaku occupation of the Cerro San Antonio (L1) site, in the middle Locumba Valley on the far south coast of Peru. This work included survey and mapping, systematic surface collection, and extensive household archaeology excavations and material analysis. Using the community ecology framework, I synthesize these data to reconstruct the culture history of the site, understand the daily lives of Cerro San Antonio's Tiwanaku residents, and delineate the role this node played in Tiwanaku's dynamic multimodal community network on its western frontier. In doing so I shed light on the nature of Tiwanaku statecraft and contribute to the anthropological understanding of how individuals, communities, and institutions operated within nascent states of the past.

INTRODUCTION

One of the key issues facing the world today is how to balance the political, economic, and social tensions that arise as individuals, communities, and institutions become integrated into increasingly complicated interaction networks in which commodities, information, and of course people flow between borders. While the contemporary scale of these phenomena is unprecedented, the roots of the processes driving what is collectively known today as globalization and the emergence of the Anthropocene, reach deep into prehistory. Firstgeneration states of the ancient world were, by definition, the first sociopolitical organizations to formally integrate culturally diverse and economically differentiated regions into interconnected networks that must be conceptualized as globalized systems. During the Middle Horizon (ca. AD 600-1100) Tiwanaku was the first state-level polity to emerge in the South-Central Andes and is a crucial case study for understanding the processes that lead to these prehistoric periods of increased exchange and interconnectivity. This dissertation investigates the development of early globalized networks in the Tiwanaku realm from the perspective of colonial encounters. Differently put, I am exploring how individuals living on the frontier of the Tiwanaku state negotiated their potentially varying roles in local, regional, and supraregional multi-modal community networks. In turn, this will inform our understanding of how long-term local and transregional interactions evolved in the Andean region and inform broader anthropological questions which seek to understand the ever-emerging globalized systems of the present.



Figure 1. Map of the South-Central Andes: Schematic map of the south-central Andes with important Tiwanaku sites indicated.

Throughout the Middle Horizon, but particularly from ca. A.D.800 to A.D. 1100, the nascent state of Tiwanaku influenced much of the South-Central Andes (Figure 1). The coastal river valleys of southern Peru and northern Chile formed the western frontier and one of the focal points of Tiwanaku influence. Previous research has shown that Tiwanaku's colonial

footprint in this region was not uniform, and the different forms that highland influence took in the Osmore (southern Peru) and Azapa (northern Chile) drainages demonstrate the crucial role that scale, timing, and distance may have had for understanding the choices and constraints faced by populations at the Tiwanaku frontier. In this sense, the research presented here is particularly important as it centers on the site of Cerro San Antonio (L1), located in the Locumba Valley which is geographically situated between the more well-studied regions of northern Chile and southern Peru. My dissertation research at the site between 2012-2019 shows that the Middle Horizon occupation of the site comprises three residential sectors and associated cemeteries with Tiwanaku material assemblages, covering over 25 hectares (Figure 2).

Ancient states were by definition expansive and inherently transregional, globallyoriented institutions. It is crucial to determine how these early polities were able to expand and to what degree this expansion involved strategies of direct control or more hegemonic forms of integration. Frontier-based perspectives on this issue are particularly important. Frontiers are places of sociopolitical contact, where cultural differences are formalized through alterity and where new cultural forms emerge through hybridity and other processes of ethnogenesis. These frameworks, which emphasize the potential for intensified cultural and socio-political change at the intersection of multiple cultures, highlight the need for more nuanced, localized understandings of how complex societies operate from the bottom-up. As one of the primary settings for the foundational practices of daily life, the material remains of households and other domestic contexts are sensitive indicators of community affiliation and outside influences, and act as particularly potent material remains for engaging with the past. Through methods developed primarily under the heading of household archeology, I utilize these domestic remains at the site of Cerro San Antonio as my primary form of evidence for investigating this well-preserved frontier site.



Figure 2. The archaeological site complex of Cerro San Antonio (L1) in the middle Locumba Valley in southern Peru with Tiwanaku-affiliated sectors displayed. (insert) Cerro San Antonio's general location in the broader Locumba drainage.

While I approach the issue of Tiwanaku statecraft using this fundamentally bottom-up approach, complex adaptive systems, as exemplified by macro-level institutions like the state, must also be understood from top-down perspectives. Indeed, in the final analysis the transregional processes associated with state expansion must be understood as the emergent result of local interactions between individuals (bottom-up), but these interactions are always constrained by global conditions of the broader networks in which they take place (top-down). Informed by complexity science and drawing heavily on multiple schools of network analysis I synthesize data collected through archaeological survey, excavation, material analysis, remote sensing, geographic information systems, and ethnographic research to explore how daily life, community dynamics, and broader processes of state expansion unfolded at Cerro San Antonio at micro-, meso-, and macro-scales.

In order to grapple with the complexity inherent in this approach I have developed a robust middle-range framework which I use to bridge the gap between the micro and macro. I use the term community ecology to define this framework as I feel that communities are the natural emergent result of human social engagement and as such are the true intermediary between the local world of individual experience and the global realm of institutions. I ground this community ecology framework to the socio-geographical context of the Andes through the indigenous Andean concept of ayllu - a term with substantial intersections to my definition of community. Therefore, it is my community ecology framework viewed through the lens of ayllu that forms the central theoretical thrust and informed my research questions and the hypotheses I composed to test those questions.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

My project harnesses the fine resolution gained from detailed household context investigations while maintaining a globally-oriented focus, by investigating to role of Cerro San Antonio in the broader Tiwanaku network as a multiscalar issue.

At the *microscale*: What types of activities defined the everyday lives of individuals living at Cerro San Antonio during the Middle Horizon? How were specific spaces within and between domestic structures used and is any specialization present? What connections can be made between materials recovered in these hyper-local contexts and the broader Tiwanaku realm?

At the *mesoscale*: How did households at the frontier site of Cerro San Antonio in Locumba coalesce into residential communities? Were there substantial differences within and between sectors? Was there specialization present at the settlement level? Finally, how were these settlements then articulated into the Tiwanaku state?

At the macroscale: Does this settlement represent a diasporic colony with separate

community ties than those that have been traced to the Osmore drainage or is Cerro San Antonio an outgrowth of the successful Osmore provincial center? Alternately, is the Locumba settlement more like those observed in northern Chile, with indigenous populations that restructured themselves due to contacts and trade with Tiwanaku? What can the role of the Locumba node tell us about the topology of broader Tiwanaku network? Do the settlements in Locumba confirm strategies of a centrifugal political force compelling highland communities to establish new enclaves or that of a centripetal force, drawing distant communities in via exchange of goods and ideas?

I spend Chapter 1 and Chapter 2 of this dissertation contextualizing and further advancing these questions. Similarly, at the end of Chapter 4 (see *4.3*) I present a detailed account of my primary hypotheses, their archaeological correlates, and anthropological implications, but I also wanted to present them here at the fore to help guide this discussion from the onset.



Figure 3. Graphic display of the primary hypotheses tested in this study. (above) Summary of my three primary hypotheses and their variants: Hypothesis 1 (H1), Hypothesis 2 (H2) and its two variants (H2a and H2b), and Hypothesis 3 (H3) and its two variants (H3a and H3b). (below) Network and map-based visualizations of the three hypotheses.

Again, these hypotheses will be further contextualized and explained in later chapters

(see 4.3). Of course, the results to this hypothesis testing and my interpretations of those results

are also presented, in detail, in later chapters and summarized in the formal Conclusion.

Document Organization

Finally, I want to end this introduction with a brief outline of the organization of this

thesis. This will only highlight the most essential aspects of each major section and subsequent chapters.

Section 1 contains the chapters that discuss the broader research context in which this study is situated. This includes extensive literature review, synthesis, and the introduction of some of my own formulations for understanding human sociality and the archaeological record. Section 1 also provides detailed descriptions of the materials and methods employed in this study.

Chapter 1 provides the primary theoretical context for my approach to understanding human sociality and the archaeological record. This discussion begins necessarily by introducing the field of complexity science and the study of complex adaptive systems, before moving on to how I situate the anthropological study of the human condition into this complexityinformed perspective. Here I focus on middle-range sociality and propose a framework based around an ecology of communities. I then turn to how this community ecology approach can be used to help interrogate long-standing archaeological inquires. Here my main focus is on exploring the phenomena of increasing sociopolitical complexity in human societies worldwide and specifically the evolution of the state.

Chapter 2 situates the theoretical issues discussed in Chapter 1 in the sociogeographical context of the Andes. This extensive chapter covers a number of important topics. First, I review some features of the Andean natural environment and geography, critical for understanding sociocultural development in the region. In order to provide a longue durée perspective for my specific study in Locumba I also provide a brief history of the development of sociocultural complexity in the Andes from peopling to present day. Next, I discuss the indigenous Andean concept of *ayllu* and its intersections with my community ecology approach. Finally, I end this chapter by reviewing the archaeological understanding of Tiwanaku, the sociopolitical phenomenon that is the focus of this study.

Chapter 3 introduces the setting and materials used for this study, namely the middle

Locumba Valley on the far south coast of Peru and specifically the archaeological site complex of Cerro San Antonio (L1). Here I provide a basic description of the broader Locumba drainage, its natural environment and its place in the broader South-Central Andes. I highlight the drainage's known prehistory, history, and modern demographics. I then turn to describing the site of Cerro San Antonio itself. Chapter 3 contains a relatively detailed characterization of the site and its internal divisions or sectors. Here there is a sector-by-sector walk-through of the site and a discussion of other important features.

Chapter 4 is the central methods chapter of this thesis. Here I present all methods used in data collection, secondary analysis, as well as the middle-range methods used in my final interpretations. I outline the procedures I employed during field work at the site of Cerro San Antonio as well as the techniques I used in analyzing the artifacts and other data collected during this field work. I give detailed explanations for the secondary data processing techniques I have selected for mapping and statistical analysis. Chapter 4 also contains a detailed overview of the network-based approach I have adopted for connecting archaeological data to the complexity-based perspective I discuss in Chapter 1. I highlight the multiscalar approach to organizing my final interpretive analysis - showing how my data collected in Locumba is most effective when viewed as informing analyses at micro-, meso-, and macro-scales. Finally, I return to my primary hypotheses (introduced above) and review how my methods will work to engage the research questions these hypotheses generate.

Section 2 contains all data and results from my work at Cerro San Antonio and all subsequent analysis. This section is only meant to present the basic results with more advanced synthesis and interpretation reserved for Section 3.

Chapter 5 presents the results from initial and on-going reconnaissance field work at Cerro San Antonio. I use the term reconnaissance here to categorize a number of relatively non-intrusive data collection methods, most of which focused on generating spatial data regarding the site for the development of maps to guide future field work.

Chapter 6 targets the results generated from systematic surface collection at L1. This systematic form of collection-based survey targeted the primary Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors. Here I largely present the data as heat-maps, an effective way of displaying material density and spatial distributions.

Chapter 7 offers the results from the most extensive form of field-based data collection, excavations. These excavations again targeted the three Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors -Sectors A, L, and U. Excavations took place in two major phases: in 2016 when initial test excavations were completed and in 2019 when large-scale excavations were undertaken. Here I present data from each of the ten excavated contexts separately with only initial comparisons noted. Again, the more synthetic, comparative analysis is reserved for Section 3.

Chapter 8 presents the results from the variety of post-field lab-based analyses conducted on materials recovered from archaeological field work. Each of the 16 major material types used in this study received different forms of analysis, many of which vary quite considerably. Here, I again present the raw data and initial comparisons, with each material type discussed in its own subsection.

Section 3 contains the more advanced and multivariate forms of analysis as well as my broader anthropological interpretation of the resultant data. These chapters are organized around the multiscalar approach I define in Chapter 4 - synthesizing the data presented throughout Section 2 into scales of analysis at the micro-, meso-, and macro-scale. Ultimately, the goal of Section 3 is to illustrate the impact of this dissertation by showing the contribution a better understanding of the Locumba node plays in understanding the broader story of Tiwanaku and the emergence of the state in the ancient Andes.

Chapter 9 takes a microscale perspective and works to define what daily life was like for the occupants of Cerro San Antonio during the Middle Horizon. Focusing largely on data collected during excavations I use this chapter to define specific activity areas within individual structures to highlight the types of activities that individuals in Locumba undertook. This

microscale, house-centric view gives an intimate look into how Tiwanaku these Middle Horizon residents really were.

Chapter 10 takes an intermediary or mesoscale approach to the Locumba data set. Here is where I do the majority of comparing and contrasting different individual domestic spaces explored through excavations as well as the sector-wide data sets collected from surface collection and other survey work. I utilize a variety of network-informed approaches to highlight the clear continuities but significant differences that defined the lifestyles of the various occupants of Cerro San Antonio during the Middle Horizon.

Chapter 11 zooms-out to the macroscale and works to situate Cerro San Antonio and the middle Locumba drainage into the broader context of the South-Central Andes. Here, I largely treat Cerro San Antonio as a single node and use it to help investigate the topology of the broader Tiwanaku network. However, I also zoom-in and make connections between specific contexts and even specific finds at L1 and explain how they can inform the broader Tiwanaku narrative.

One of the true fulcrums of human history is the development and proliferation of the state. As such, understanding how such enterprises arose has been the one of the primary aims of anthropological archaeology. My project builds on this broad and diverse body of research. In an academic environment where heterarchy is increasingly evoked, my community ecology approach moves beyond acknowledging this diversity and can explain differences within a given society as historically situated practices and strategies for processing information in a myriad of individual interactions. By engaging with global questions through investigations into local processes, community ecology can build upon prior research from both top-down and bottom-up approaches to understanding expansive polities and colonial encounters in the ancient world. I work to translate these discordant case studies into a common framework, while maintaining a focus on the elements that make case studies unique.

In addition to making studies of ancient social networks comparable across geographic

space, this approach also allows for these archaic case studies to inform the study of contemporary social networks. Today the relatively rigid nation-state is ubiquitous, and the formal, directed movements of populations and institutions of the past has largely given way to more informal processes of economic institutional expansion and sociopolitical community diffusion across borders - transnationalism has come to define the fundamentally cosmopolitan, global political economy. While the contemporary scale of these processes is unprecedented, I suggest the origins of these processes have roots which reach deep into prehistory, when the earliest state sponsored populations were moving across the landscape. Through engaging Tiwanaku community networks with a multiscalar approach, this dissertation contributes to a better understanding of nascent states, migration, social interaction at the mesoscale, and sheds light on the origins of the globalized processes that define the world today.

SECTION 1 - RESEARCH CONTEXT

In Section 1 I provide a thorough description of the context for the research completed in this dissertation. Generally speaking I start as broadly as possible and work towards more specific contextual aspects of this research through four chapters.

Chapter 1 provides a description of the theoretical context for this project. This includes a basic theoretical framing for my analysis and delineates the various schools of social scientific and broader philosophical thought employed in my interpretations. Ultimately my goal in Chapter 1 is to put forward my community ecology approach which draws on complexity science, ecology, and various models developed in understanding the evolution of social complexity via anthropological archeology.

Chapter 2 works to contextualize my theoretical discussion in the social and historical context of the Andes. In order to do this, I provide a basic overview of the Andean environment and culture-history. I also provide a detailed discussion of the indigenous Quechua/Aymara concept of *ayllu*, which represents an essential analog for my community ecology approach. Here I also synthesize the known research regarding the development, expansion, and collapse of the Tiwanaku polity during the Middle Horizon Period (ca. AD 500-1100).

Chapter 3 presents the case study for this dissertation - the multi-component archaeological site of Cerro San Antonio (L1) in the middle Locumba drainage in southern Peru. This includes a general introduction to the geology, environment, and culture-history of the broader Locumba drainage. I provide a detailed description of the archaeological site complex of Cerro San Antonio (L1), including each of the site's component sectors.

Chapter 4 outlines the various methods I employ in this dissertation. This includes tracing the data collection techniques I relied on in my archaeological field work and later laboratory material analysis. In addition, I review the various methods I have used to synthesize in order to test my hypotheses. This includes a broader discussion of the network approaches that inform almost all advanced methodological approaches I use in my broader interpretations.

Finally, I diagram my hypotheses and their archaeological correlates and interpretations.

Chapter 1 - Theoretical Context

In this chapter I detail the broader theoretical foundation for this study. This discussion will orbit around two primary concepts: *community* and *the state*. In addition to outlining how these concepts have been defined in the broader social scientific literature I will explore how these forms of sociopolitical organization both emerged from the human condition and came to define it. However, first I make a case for why the evolution of human sociality must be viewed through the lens of *complexity* to fully understand how and why immensely complicated complex institutions, such as the state, may have developed in the remote past.

1.1 Situating Human Sociality: how to understand complexity

While *Homo sapiens* are not unique in their capacity for highly social behavior (Wilson 2012), it is only our species which has utilized this capacity to fill (or at the very least fundamentally affect) every niche on the planet and even beyond. This is in no small part because of our species' immense cognitive prowess which seems to have been fully activated sometime in the Upper Paleolithic, at least 45,000 years ago (Gamble 2007). Our cognitive abilities were of course facilitated by the unprecedented relative size of our brains and the complicated organization therein. When all things are considered, the functioning human brain is arguably the most complex bounded biological system that we yet know of in the universe (Baianu and Poli 2010; Deacon 2011). It is for this reason that any investigation into the development of human social processes will be greatly aided by incorporating a formal complexity perspective. Here I define complex adaptive systems, the focus of attention in complexity studies, and argue that frameworks for understanding these systems can be effectively synthesized into archaeological frameworks for understanding past social processes.
Complex Adaptive Systems

While the term complexity is often used in common parlance it is actually the focus of one of the most important burgeoning interdisciplinary scientific fields¹ (Boulton, et al. 2015; Miller 2016; Mitchell 2009). The focus of complexity studies are *complex systems*, which include any system based on non-linear interactions and emergent properties; summarized well by the often-evoked, simplified definition, *a system whose whole is more than the sum of its parts*. Complex systems come in two major varieties, complex physical systems (CPS) and complex adaptive systems (CAS). *Complex physical systems* are governed entirely by fixed physical laws, whereas *complex adaptive systems*, while constrained by the same fixed physical laws, are largely composed of interacting agents which can adapt to their surroundings in a variety of ways (Holland 2006:13-23). While most of their foundational defining features are the same, complex adaptive systems will be the focus here.

Like many projects framed by ecology or systems perspectives, those studying complex adaptive systems have been forced to abandon the reductionism inherent in many other positivist projects (P. W. Anderson 1972; Crumley 2007; Gentili 2018; Miller 2016). Instead, complexity studies focus on the interactions between agents and the phenomena which emerge from those interactions. A major aspect of the complexity perspective is noting the oftenparadoxical relationship that forms as the emergent global phenomena generated from the local interactions between agents come to constrain and even transform the local agents, while at the same time remaining dependent on those same local interactions (Deacon and Cashman 2012; S. Johnson 2002). A familiar example here is the global financial market - a global phenomenon (literally in this case) that is generated by the multitudes of actions and reactions of billions of individual buyers, sellers, renters, and lenders; however, the possible actions of these individual

¹ The epicenter for this field is the Santa Fe Institute which since the 1980s has focused on bringing together scholars from all fields interested in understanding complex systems. Much of how I frame complexity here is influenced by their collective work (https://www.santafe.edu/).

agents are greatly constrained if not explicitly directed by at least some aspect of the global financial marketplace. In this case specific locations, notably the New York Stock Exchange, revolve around live status readouts regarding the global financial market that is both generated by and directly effects how those same individual traders invest in individual companies around the world. It is for this reason that understanding CAS, like the global financial marketplace, always eschew simple top-down or bottom-up approaches (Miller 2016).

While examples of complex adaptive systems range greatly, there are a number of characteristics that are common to most which I have split into two broad (though not mutually exclusive) categories. The first is *CAS Dynamics* or how these systems operate through their interacting agents. The second are common characteristics of *CAS Organization* or structure. I have outlined prevalent characteristics in both groups in Table 1.

Table 1. List of frequent characteristics of CAS. This list is not meant to be exhaustive, and these features are not necessarily present in all CAS. This list is synthesized from a number of other, similar lists (Miller 2016; Mitchell 2009; Weiss and Buchanan 2009; Weiss, et al. 2011:7). I use these terms both in quantitative methods and qualitative descriptions throughout this thesis.

	Characteristic	Simple Description	
Dynamics	Emergence	The aggregate of interactions within a CAS generate properties that cannot be attained by the simple summation of those interactions.	
	Feedback	In bounded systems composed of interacting agents, every action of an agent has some type of impact on the system. These impacts often cause chain-reactions among other agents which can, depending on the nature of the system, either bring about system stability or instability.	
	Self-organized criticality	Thresholds at which relatively stable systems reach a certain breaking point, which once crossed, leads to cascades of reactions within the system and rapid change.	
	Inheritance with Memory	Interacting agents within a CAS are often able to pass along basic information to other agents, including temporally, from one generation to the next - often through arbitrary coding.	
	Randomness and Contingency	Much of what agents within a system encounter is probabilistic and without set direction – agents tend to respond to these current conditions and are inherently limited by their current characteristics.	
	Competition and Cooperation	Interactions between agents within a CAS can often be characterized as competition, that is competing directly or indirectly for the same resources as other agents; or as cooperation where agents work together, either directly or indirectly to accomplish a common goal.	
	Decentralized decision making	Production of organized patterns and behaviors at the system level, based entirely on undirected, localized interactions between individual agents within the system.	
Organization	Hierarchy and heterarchy	CAS are inherently hierarchical, with the interaction of lower-order agents leading to higher-order processes. However, many networks of lower-order agents are heterarchically organized.	
	Modular organization and sequestration	Agents and other components within CAS are at least partially isolated from one another – this often allows for variation and even specialization.	
	Networks	Actions of agents are fundamentally interdependent on other agents within the system; connected by linkages which form relational ties and allow for the transfer of information and resources.	
	Nested systems	CAS relate with other CAS in a number of ways, but are often found nested within each other - frequently the agents that compose a CAS are themselves bounded CAS.	
	Scaling laws	Fundamental constraints lead to patterns in the way components of a given CAS operate at various scales of both operation and analysis.	

Formal complexity studies have utilized and developed a suite of mathematical models and computational approaches to quantify and categorize these various features of CAS. Understanding chaos dynamics, the study of thermodynamics, and information theory have all played a central role in the development of complexity studies (Gell-Mann 1995; Mitchell 2009; Shannon and Weaver 1949). Some of the most robust models for understanding these systems can be found in network approaches (Boccaletti, et al. 2006; D. J. Watts 2004). Network approaches and their influence on the methodology of this study are discussed in Chapter 4 (4.2). However, it is important to highlight from the start that all network approaches emphasize the interconnected nature of complex systems. It is through these interconnected networks that feedback occurs leading to the suite of other complex systems dynamics such as essential thresholds of self-organized criticality and decentralized decision making (Jervis 1998). Ultimately, network approaches help quantify, map, and further visualize these complex interactions.

However, while network and other quantitative approaches help delineate these complex systems, they also frequently reveal just how complicated these systems are. In fact, a philosophical and indeed methodological distinction has often been made between complex systems and complicated systems (Andersson, et al. 2014; Strum and Latour 1987). As defined above, complex systems are defined by non-linear and emergent properties whereas *complicated systems* are generally simply composed of a large number of components (Holland 2006:3-5). A separate but related arena of study, often filed under the heading of *general systems theory*, has long been working to delineate these complicated systems through a variety of reductive techniques (Boulding 1956; Skyttner 2005; Von Bertalanffy 1972). Of course, these are not mutually exclusive classifications, many of the most intensively studied CAS are defined by both complex and complicated characteristics. These systems, often composed of multiple interacting complex systems, are referred to as supercomplex, ultracomplex, or even "wicked systems" (Andersson, et al. 2014; Baianu and Poli 2010; Orange

2019).

Any environmental niche on planet Earth (let alone the global biosphere taken as a whole) is a good example of a supercomplex system, with countless networks of biological agents conducting nearly endless combinations of interactions at any scale of analysis. This example also brings to the fore another confounding dimension in understanding these systems - time (Olivier 2011). Understanding complex, and particularly, supercomplex systems always involves understanding how these systems *evolve*, that is change over time. Of course, in his monumental synthesis, in which he provided the fundamental mechanisms involved in the evolution of life on earth, Charles Darwin himself acknowledged, "The mind cannot possibly grasp the full meaning of the term of a hundred million years; it cannot pass up and perceive the full effects of many slight variations, accumulated during an almost infinite number of generations." (Darwin 1859:426). For this reason, even with this arsenal of important reoccurring features and a robust toolkit of approaches to study them, complex adaptive systems often (and supercomplex systems always) extend beyond the comfortable reach of formal quantitative models.



Figure 4. Graphic illustrating the relationship between complexity and complicatedness and the purview of complexity science and systems studies (Andersson, et al. 2014:149). Also illustrated are the angles from which quantitative and more qualitative approaches approach these issues. Finally, also plotted are different major types of systems and areas of study and where they fall in terms of complexity and complicatedness.

As Figure 4 illustrates, as complex systems become more complicated, they fall further and further outside the ability to model through traditional mathematics and even advanced computing. As will be discussed below (*1.2*), this is particularly true of human sociality, which due to a number of factors, including our ability for symbolic thought and communication, proves to be the most wicked of all CAS yet encountered. Providing a coherent explanation for these supercomplex systems always incorporates some level of qualitative approach, often rooted in developing what is best described as a narrative (Andersson, et al. 2014; Teixeira de Melo 2020). This is of course where grounded epistemology of the scientific method meets the abstracted ontological realm of philosophy and even religion. Volumes have been filled discussing the nature of this overlap, where scientifically observed data merge into philosophic musings (Thomas 1978; Whitehead 1947), and understanding the social implications of this conversion is one of the primary arenas of science studies (Hess 1997; Jasanoff, et al. 2001) and the postmodern project more broadly (Foucault 1982; Ricoeur 1980). However, while there will always be corrosive strands of power in synthesizing narratives and bias is impossible to completely eradicate, it is my position here that developing a robust middle-range framework based around the proper analytical subunits can help avoid the increasingly fruitless hermeneutic doldrums that define the majority of postmodern perspectives that have come to dominate the study human sociality².

1.2 Building It Up & Breaking It Down: finding the proper subunits

This subsection outlines my approach to understanding human sociality through the lens of complexity. This is based on a fundamentally multiscalar approach which identifies social subunits at three scales of analysis - micro (individuals), meso (communities), and macro (institutions). In this analysis, each higher order unit is an emergent property of interacting units at the level below (i.e. communities emerge from interactions between individuals, institutions emerge from interacting communities). I focus particularly on developing the mesoscale, what I define as the realm of middle-range sociality. Specifically, I describe my model of *community ecology*, that is a framework which works to identify and analyze the consequences of multi-modal community interaction.

Scales of Analysis: individuals, communities, institutions

While most are not explicitly rooted in formal complexity science there has been an

² I include in this most applications of intersectionality and related Critical frameworks. Like many forms of multivariate sociological analysis, intersectionality focuses on areas where certain demographic affiliations overlap, and the challenges faced (or not) by those groups (e.g., Crenshaw 1990; Walby et al 2012). However, by relying on concepts like mutual constitution and failing to fully incorporate emergence (i.e., the non-linear nature of complex systems) these studies don't actually offer "an explicit theoretical framework for exploring the relationship between individual lived experience, multiscalar identities, and broader systems of inequality" (Knudson et al 2020:186), but instead represents a relatively rigid rubric that seeks to sort the quality of individual lived experience (or even the legitimacy of human suffering) based on static and essentialized identity categories and politically-oriented terms like privilege and oppression.

ongoing trend in anthropology to incorporate more multiscalar modes of analysis (Mueller 2016; Romano, et al. 2020; Weiss, et al. 2011; Williamson 2015; Xiang 2013). Archeology is no different, with a number of recent studies explicitly utilizing some form of a multiscalar framework in their analysis of the archaeological record (Bevan and Conolly 2006; Birch 2014; Chamblee and Williams 2015; Covey 2015; Knappett 2011; Mills, et al. 2015; Peelo 2011; Torres-Rouff and Knudson 2017). However, it is also important to be explicit about not just the scales involved in a multi-scalar approach, but which dimensions of the human social experience these scales measure (i.e. the subunit(s) of the study). For my multiscalar model, I rely on three arbitrary but essential scales, being macro, meso, and micro, as well as three significant and wide-ranging dimensions, being the spatial, temporal, and social dimensions of human experience (Table 2).

Table 2. Chart of scales used in my multiscalar approaches, and the different dimensions of human sociality which they generally correlate with, as well as how these scales manifest in archaeological interpretations of past societies.

	Spatial	Temporal		Social	Archaeological Theory
Macro	Regions	Longue durée (evolutionary)	G Ir	Global - nstitutions	Social Theory regarding the sociocultural dynamics of past societies
Meso	Localities (sites)	Diachronic (historical)	C	Communities	Middle Range?
Micro	Specific Contexts (activity areas)	Lived-experience (moment-to-moment)	L	.ocal - ndividuals	Archaeological record

In this approach, the boundaries between micro, meso, and macro scales shouldn't

necessarily be seen as arbitrary but in reality, they also are not truly discrete³. These scales are

³ For instance, there is increasing evidence for the legitimacy of considering the biological individual organism as an emergent but objectively bounded unit able to process information (Krakauer et al 2014).

hierarchically related, but with the social dimension in particular, are more appropriately visualized as a nested set of systems, the higher-order scales emerging from the interactions of the lower-order scales. Likewise, the dimensions of analysis are also not mutually exclusive, but intimately entangled with one another in a variety of ways. This is especially true in human social groups, which by definition include the tremendous variety of positions and experiences of each individual. Again, while I tap into each of these dimensions and scales of analysis throughout this dissertation, here my discussion will center of the mesoscale dimension of human sociality. The next sections interrogate how this mesoscale concept of community has been used in anthropological interpretation as well as put forth my new model for understanding this important concept.

<u>Community</u>

The concept of community has been central to interpretation in anthropology and the social sciences since the formation of these disciplines (Hillery 1959, 1982), however despite this long-standing ubiquity, or perhaps because of it, the term community suffers from multiple definitions and contradictory uses (A. P. Cohen 1985; Creed 2006; Rapport 1996). Indeed, despite its apparent role as a primary social category or unit, very little consensus exists on what exactly constitutes a community, and the term is often used superficially to refer to any number of group types. I hope to show that there is good reason for both this complex understanding of community and the longevity of its use in social theory. Borrowing methods and models developed in complexity and ecology studies, I will demonstrate that the plasticity of the concept of community is what makes it the ideal term for middle-range frameworks and, crucially, that this adaptability is essential for delineating the often-paradoxical relationship between "the local" and "the global," as frequently encountered in any study of human values and sociality.

Communities Under Review

In the last 20 years there have been a number of excellent studies that grapple with the concept of community and how it can/should be used in archaeological and broader anthropological interpretation. Some of the central studies utilized here include Canuto and Yaeger's now foundational edited volume on the archeology of communities in the New World (Canuto and Yaeger 2000), Creed's more critique-oriented 2006 edited volume (Creed 2006), MacSweeny's review of community concepts in her study of communities in Western Anatolia (Mac Sweeney 2011), and Harris' review of community studies in archeology (Harris 2014). Each of these reviews delineate several trends, as well as strengths and weaknesses of community studies in archeology and the social sciences within their own frameworks, past and present. However, several points of agreement are worth noting here, namely:

1) Each of these reviews point out what they see as the perpetuation of the original use of the term community in the social sciences. That is, defining community as the unit of social organization under traditional societies, or the natural product of co-residence or continuous face-to-face interactions (Murdock 1949; Redfield 1956). They argue that this structural-functionalist framing of community is still the default in the use of this term. This definition is also tied up in what many of these authors see as a romanticizing of the term; for instance, juxtaposing this idea of community as the intimate and natural mechanism for social cohesion against the new forms of social organization, especially of the maturing industrial revolution at the turn of the 20th century. Many foundational social science scholars (Durkheim 2014 [1893]; Simmel 1964; Tönnies 1887) saw the loss of these traditional community forms as a serious (and possibly fatal) issue for Western society. In addition to each of these reviewers denying such a "natural"

aspect of community formation, they all point to the fact that romanticizing the term leads to perceptions of communities as homogeneous organizations characterized as free of social tensions and power dynamics.

- 2) Even with the historical-developmental school of community studies in mid-20th century (Wolf 1957), which shifted communities from isolated social units, to units articulated within broader economic and historical systems, it wasn't until the 1980s that "community" received a serious revamp in anthropological theory, under the growing influence of practice theory (Bourdieu 1977; Giddens 1984). A. P. Cohen explicitly injected the idea of identity into community studies with his influential suggestion of a symbolic basis for community formation (A. P. Cohen 1985), and B. Anderson's work introduced the concept of the imagined community (B. Anderson 1983) as an almost purely cognitive construct. Both studies rejected the idea that communities were the natural social unit, one which developed out of residential proximity. Furthermore, these studies sought to redefine communities as socially constructed groups that were largely defined by both collective identity as well as those definition-establishing social fields which shaped the categories of "us" and "them" and form the basis of ethnicity (e.g. Barth 1998).
- 3) Finally, although these reviews indicate that in the last 30 years the theorizing of community has not moved substantially past this shift in defining community as identity group, several trends and advances are noted:
 - a. A focus on communities being the result of local agency and practice (i.e., J. R. Allison 2008; Bhattacharyya 1995; Canuto and Yaeger 2000; T. Moore 2007; Pauketat 2008).
 - b. A continuation of the idea of the imagined community or the idea that communities extend far beyond that of face-to-face interactions (i.e.,

Isbell 2000; Knapp 2003; Mac Sweeney 2011; Varien and Potter 2008).

- c. A new shift in attention to affective or emotional aspects of community formation, maintenance, and transformation (Harris 2014; Tarlow 2012; Whittle 2003).
- d. An understanding that communities operate at multiple and varied scales that can be overlapping or nested and often involve heterarchical and relational modes of power (i.e., DeMarrais and Earle 2017; Knappett 2013; Robb 2007; M. Watts 2007).
- e. And, an incorporation of non-human actors (plants/animals, objects, etc.) into an understanding of community networks (i.e., Gell 1998; Law 2009; Van Oyen 2015).

So where does this leave us – how have these new theoretical advancements changed the definition of community? Below are four definitions of community from the previously mentioned reviews:

- Yaeger and Canuto define community as, "an emergent social institution that generates and is generated by supra-household interactions that are structured and synchronized by a set of places within a particular span of time" (Canuto and Yaeger 2000:5).
- Creed defines community as a socially and politically charged "notion" that often incorporate "1) a group of people, 2) a quality of relationship, and 3) a place/location." (Creed 2006:2).
- MacSweeny defines community as, "an identity bearing social group... [who share a] conscious sense of collective belonging" (Mac Sweeney 2011:32)
- 4) Harris defines community as a, "particular set of assemblages that operate at a range of specific scales and always involve human beings." (With assemblages defined as the emergent consequences of affective relationships between actors,

being humans and non-humans.) (Harris 2014:91).

Clearly, each of these definitions touch upon important aspects of communities, and overlapping use of the above-mentioned dimensions (spatial, temporal, and social) are immediately apparent. From here I synthesize these definitions in a new conception of community, one which now incorporates both these multi-dimensional aspects as well as a multiscalar approach.

Re-situating Community

At the most basic level, I define community as <u>a group of individuals who rely on one</u> <u>another in the production and reproduction of a way of life, and in turn share some repertoire of</u> <u>behaviors and beliefs</u>, and as such, <u>communities are the natural, emergent, socio-organizational</u> <u>result of individuals coping with the complexity presented by a variety of shared local problems</u>. Again, while this is not radically different than the previously cited definitions of community, I will build on this below and begin to embed it within a new ecological framework.

As my first point of elaboration, I must highlight one major point of departure in my definition from those cited above: I suggest a return to the concept of community to its "natural" state (so-to-speak). By situating community within a deep time and explicitly evolutionary context, these social configurations can be seen as the fundamental *natural consequence of human social engagement*. In defining this deep time perspective of community I follow a number of studies, but particularly Foley and Gamble's 2009 publication on the major transitions in the evolution of human sociality (Foley and Gamble 2009). I suggest that one of the fundamental aspects of early hominin social traits was the tendency to live in multi-male, multifemale groups, as it is with almost all extant populations of primates, including, humans. Foley and Gamble refer to these groups as "communities" (2009:3268) and convincingly argue that they represent the basal hominin social group. Extending from this, Foley and Gamble suggest that it is likely that ancient hominin communities operated most commonly through male residence and female transfer and, based mostly on chimpanzee communities, the authors

argue that there would have been a fair amount of intra-group conflict – often resulting in violence (Chapais 2011; De Waal 2007; Van Schaik 1996). Effectively this is the setup for the entire human social project, and it centers on communities.

Importantly, the size and dynamics of these early hominin communities would be greatly influenced through continuous fission and fusion practices (2009:3268). Fissioning would occur both on a daily level, involving small groups splitting off for foraging, grooming, and other activities, as well as on a more permanent level (i.e., fission events due to an intergroup conflict). Fusion would occur daily in the evening, primarily for protection during sleep, as well as on more intermittent occurrences as fissioned factions joined to form new community configurations. Like many species of primates these groups would be highly flexible with the ability to fluctuate in concert with various ecological conditions (Amici, et al. 2008; Aureli, et al. 2008; Sussman and Garber 2007). Fission-fusion sociality is another truly basal trait in human social organization and underscores why a robust theory of communities is so important. Coping with both daily and more permanent forms of fission and fusion events catalyzed an evolutionary ratchet effect in the hominin genera Homo, eventually leading to the cognitive prowess and hyper-sociality in *Homo sapiens* (Aureli, et al. 2008; Foley and Gamble 2009; Grove, et al. 2012). While even a brief review of this evolutionary process is a daunting topic in of itself, the table below (Table 3) outlines five of the major transitions in the evolution of human sociality based on community organization and fission-fusion dynamics.

Table 3. Chart of the five major transitions in the evolution of sociality in hominin species (afterFoley and Gamble 2009:3276).

<u>Transition</u> (years before present)	Hominin Species	<u>Major Adaptation</u> (biological-behavioral)	Change in Community-Based Sociality
1 6 - 4 million	Australopithecus sp.	Bipedalism, extended territorial ranges	Development of fission-fusion sociality and the initial residential-sustainable community networks
2 2.6 - 1.6 million	Early <i>Homo sp.</i>	Early tool-use, meat eating	Prolonged female-male bonding and more investment in residential-sustainable community boundaries.
3 800 - 700 thousand	H. heidelbergensis	Controlled use of fire, cooking	Nested community structures form and the initial local symbolic communities structures emerge (kinship-family)
4 400 - 300 thousand	H. neanderthalensis, Early Homo sapiens	Extremely large relative brain size, hunting	Exploded fission-fusion - regional sustainable community networks form as locally-oriented symbolic communities begin connecting.
5 200 - 10 thousand	Homo sapiens	Domestication of plants and animals	<u>*Release from Proximity*</u> Globally-oriented symbolic communities proliferate as many face-to-face constraints were largely lifted

Each of these major transitional moments obviously represent major shifts in our remote past, however the monumental moment for *Homo sapiens* came with our "release from proximity" (Gamble 1998), when our propensity for fission-fusion sociality would propel the species across the planet. Humans did this through the externalization of action and complex information into language and material culture. As Gamble explains:

The release from proximity, which finds its spatial expression in an unbounded social landscape, produced the externalization of memory which transferred the properties of people to objects. Once instituted, the components of the personal network were transformed by the symbolic resources. This was the route by which social relations were stretched. It is externalization of creative rhythms that marks out social evolution in the Paleolithic (1998:443).

At long last, the requirement for face-to-face interactions, a condition which had shackled human sociality since our nascent hominid traits that emerged millions of years earlier, was cracked. *Homo sapiens* had developed a suite of bio-cognitive behaviors which allowed for the dissemination of knowledge more efficiently over space and through time, overcoming the ephemerality of individual experience. This was the emergence of culture. In essence, the release from proximity opened the temporal dimension to the meso- and macro-scale, giving human communities access to their histories and allowed for the identification of meso- and macro-historical trends. At the heart of this development, communities were the primary venue in which these behaviors evolved, and from the point of release from proximity, communities themselves continued to diversify as human societies mined their newfound pasts to plan for better futures.

Modes of Community

To contend with the inherent complexity within these diverse and ubiquitous human community configurations I rely on three different modes of community: residential communities, sustainable communities, and symbolic communities. While I expand below, these are modes by which a community manifests based in a) spatial fixity, b) subsidence and exchange, and c) negotiations of meaning or value. I have largely adapted the basic terminology of this framework of communities from Carr and colleagues and their work on the Hopewell culture of North America (Carr 2008; Carr and Case 2005; Ruby, et al. 2005). Table 4. Modes of Community as discussed below in the text – including common examples of sociocultural expressions of these modes of community and examples of possible archaeological correlates at three different scales (micro-meso-macro). Note these examples of scamples (and references) are by no means exhaustive.

	Archaeological correlate exp.	-bounded settlements -settlement clusters (Bandy 2004)	-long-distance material (exotic) (Blanton and Feinman 1984; Renfrew 1977)	-shared lifeways (dress, cooking practices/cuisine) (Jones 1997, Reycraft 2005)	-regional iconographic suites -administrative architecture and other infrastructure (Cchreiber 2001)
Macro-scale	Sociocultural exp.	-village -city -region	-Regional exchange network -World-system	-Ethnicity	-Religion -Regional polities
	Archaeological correlate exp.	-plaza groups (Goldstein and Sitek 2018) -bounded compounds (Smith et. al 2010)	 Centralized community storage features (Earle 2010) Household craft specialization (Costin 1991) 	-gender specific spaces (i.e. men's houses) (Bowser and Patton 2004)	-public spaces (plazas, buildings) (Moore 1996)
Meso-scale	Sociocultural exp.	-Neighborhood -Barrio	-Village resource/labor pooling -local markets or specialization	-Gender/age-based social groups	-Village sodalities/cult groups
	Archaeological correlate exp.	-closely articulated material scatters (activity areas) (Kent 1990)	-task-differentiation in activity areas (i.e. gendered spaces) (Conkey and Spector 1984)	-local-specific technological choices in production (i.e. ceramic paste recipes) (Roddick 2009)	-domestic figurines/icons (Brown et. al 2002)
Micro-scale	Sociocultural exp.	-House-dwelling	-Household division of labor	-Communities of practice	-household ritual
				Locally- oriented	Globally- oriented
		Residential	Sustainable	Symbolic	

Importantly this multi-modal concept of community helps get around relatively sticky anthropological concepts like identity. The hyper-simplified schematic illustration in Figure 5 is meant to demonstrate just how complex any given individual's community affiliation network can be. Embracing the paradoxical nature of complex systems, we can see that as much as communities are the emergent result of the interaction between individuals, it also becomes clear that an individual's "identity" is actually the emergent result of their community affiliations.



Figure 5. Simplified schematics illustrating the nested nature of each mode of community. The hyper-simplified schematic on the right illustrates just how complicated a given individual's multi-modal community affiliation network can be.

As will be demonstrated throughout this dissertation, in this way the community ecology model described here helps dismantle any type of "black box" mode of analysis (Clarke 1972) at every scale of analysis - from the microscale of individuals to the macroscale of institutions.

Residential Communities. These communities are simply defined by close if not coresidence (Carr 2008:44). As such, these modes tend to overlap with the more commonly used definitions of community. Rereading the definitions suggested in the review articles outlined above, it is clear that place is central to all conceptions of community, and it is for this reason that residential communities tend to anchor the other modes of community. Residential modes of community have been present since the initial hominin communities and can even be said to exist in most social animal species, though they are particularly important to human development as definitions of space relate to territoriality, resource availability, and areas for diachronic reunion.

For instance, central place foraging and the development of home-bases has often been proposed as a key element in the social evolution of hominins (Kroll and Isaac 1984), and while this has not gone without criticisms (Potts, 1984), this model still has a significant explanatory value in exploring the evolution of hominin sociality and cognitive capabilities. Many animals build forms of proto-housing based on a variety of criterion: sustenance, safety, environmental comfort (sleep), social connection/separation, sanitation, or some combination (James III 2010); nest building is one of the most ubiquitous habitual behaviors (McGrew and Feistner 1992), and great apes build up to 13,000 nests in their lifetime (Fruth and Hohmann 1996). However, as pointed out by J. Moore in his analysis of human categories of "home", while many species build shelters, including our closest genetic relatives, only humans build homes (J. D. Moore 2012). Stated otherwise, "functionally the nests of apes have taken on aspects of home but only for one night" (Groves and Pi 1985:44). So, what led to the complexity of human residential communities?

Central to human home-base models is the process of childrearing. Gamble introduces the concept of childscape, "where our identity is created, and its metaphorical basis established through references to emotional, material and symbolic resources" (Gamble 2007:229), and convincingly argues that anthropology, and specifically archeology, is critical to developing

methods and theoretical models to better understand this aspect of hominin life history. Utilizing results from studies undertaken with human infants (Kuhlmeier, et al. 2004), Coward and Gamble suggest that material, not linguistic categories are first understood by developing infants and children. Emotions frame these early experiences but they are embodied in the environment in which these relations are based (Coward and Gamble 2008:1971). In this model the material world in which an infant develops is crucial. Whether a natural rock shelter used for a season by Upper Paleolithic hunters, or a permanent adobe structure constructed by a family in the Neolithic, the built environment played a crucial role in facilitating the long post-utero gestation required for human development. In this way "home-bases became an ecological breakthrough by relaxing some ecological constraints and selective pressures for hominid populations" (Rolland 2004:270). Therefore, beginning with the initial home-base formations in the remote past and continuing to today residential modes of communities have played a basal role in community formations.

However, far from being the simple location of residence, residential communities can become quite complicated as individuals tend to affiliate with and be affiliated with multiple and often nested sets of this mode of place-based community (Table 4). For instance, a person living in the past may first and foremost identify with those immediate kin who share their main domestic dwelling, however this single domestic residence is almost certainly articulated with a house cluster or neighborhood, which is then certainly part of a larger village, hamlet, or even city (Bevan and Conolly 2006; Binford 1980; Flannery 1976; Garcia and Vale 2017). Some of the clearest examples of nested residential communities are found in the earliest cities. One of the most distinct cases is Teotihuacan, the urban capital of the ancient Mesoamerican polity of the same name, which for the better part of a millennium was the largest settlement in the Americas (Cowgill 1997). At its peak, around A.D. 400 the city was composed of some 2000 apartment compounds, spread out over twenty square kilometers which could have housed up to 200,000 people (Millon 1973). The primary residential community unit at Teotihuacan came in

the form of walled residential compounds. These larger compounds were then internally divided into apartment compounds centered on small patios - likely housing semi-autonomous, multi-family groups (Manzanilla 2004; M. E. Smith, et al. 2019). The larger residential compounds were also clustered into broader groups, forming what has been referred to as neighborhoods or barrios (M. E. Smith and Novic 2010; Widmer and Storey 2012). Therefore, an individual living in the city of Teotihuacan was likely associated with a nested set of at least four distinct residential communities (apartment < walled compound < barrio < city), each with literal walls demarcating the community boundaries. These built environment-based expressions of residential communities are well trodden territory for archaeologists (Bowen and Gleeson 2018; Carballo 2011; Drennan and Peterson 2008; Flannery 1976; Gerritsen 2006; Kolb and Snead 1997; Mac Sweeney 2011; Pacifico and Truex 2019). When sites are particularly well-preserved, archaeologists have been advancing methods to detect, image, excavate, reconstruct, and otherwise map past residential communities of all scales. Additionally, social geographers, civil engineers, and anthropologists interested in community layout also widely recognize the importance of residential modes of community.

Sustainable Communities. Sustainable Communities also fall within familiar archaeological (and broader social scientific) territory, as they may be broadly defined by exchange networks, both local and (sub)regional, through which material or demographic resources are regularly exchanged (Carr 2008:76; Ruby, et al. 2005). These communities form to offset and buffer against local demographic variations and subsistence productivity (Earle 2010; Plog and Braun 1984). Like residential communities, sustainable communities can be said to exist in most social animal species, and certainly existed in our remote hominin past, largely as hyperlocal foraging groups and broader demographic exchanges of mates. However, with our release from proximity human sustainable communities have developed into a diverse and complex field of exchanges. Of course, today any individual person's range of affiliated sustainable communities may span the globe ten-times over, with many interactions taking

place digitally (and anonymously). In prehistory most of these exchanges took place between people in local contexts, but of course that is not to say that all parties involved were always present. While prehistoric examples of sustainable communities were still dense networks, they can be a bit simpler to delineate than those of today.

Sustainable communities have been investigated in a myriad of ways. Sustainable communities were the primary focus of much of the anthropology which centered on culture areas and culture-history in the first half of the 20th century (Kroeber 1939; Trigger 1989:211-313). In fact most studies whose central study is political economy, trade, or demography are primarily focused on measuring and tracing the dynamics of sustainable communities (R. M. Adams 1974; Caldwell 1962; Hassan 1981; Oka and Kusimba 2008; Polanyi 1944; Sahlins 1972), and thus these studies can range from any number of scales (Table 4).

At the micro-level, both in time and space, individuals of the past would have participated in basic shared daily tasks, with some sort of division of labor, as evidenced in the archaeological record by spatially discrete activity areas in domestic tasks (Hendon 1996; Kent 1984). These hyperlocal sustainable communities scale up, correlating with residential communities, as can be seen in shared neighborhood or village storage systems and household-based specialization (Blitz 1993; Costin 2001), and could even span entire regions resulting in regional trade networks and marriage alliances (Esterhuysen 2008; Knudson, et al. 2014). The dominant mechanisms of exchange in these regional sustainable communities are often used to define ancient economies, which may range from reciprocal or redistributive economies to tributary systems and various forms of market exchange (Braswell 2010; Dillian and White 2010; Earle 2010; Hirth 1996; Schortman and Urban 1992). The direction and velocity of materials and people moving through networks of sustainable communities can also help define broader economic systems, such as the distributed networks found in more egalitarian systems or the more centralized networks under dendritic or world-systems (Algaze 2005; Blanton, et al. 1992; Chase-Dunn and Hall 1991; Kajsa Ekholm and Friedman 1982b;

Hall, et al. 2011; Peter Peregrine 2000; Wallerstein 1993). In addition to being grounded by residential communities, sustainable communities, at all scales, require some amount of shared understanding by the individuals involved.

Symbolic Communities. Symbolic communities represent the most fluid and diverse mode of community. Broadly speaking symbolic communities are the social venues for the articulation of meaning. Generated from repeated interaction and a need for shared understanding, these communities produce, transform, and breakdown hierarchies of value, hence articulating systems of knowledge that define what things are and more importantly how to competently act. These communities may be explicitly self-identifying, however, many symbolic community types are pervasive, both generating and resulting from widespread similarities in daily domestic practices (habitus) and define cross-cutting sociocultural categories, such as age, gender, and ethnicity. These are the social arenas in which consensus is reached and coalitions are forged (DeMarrais 2016). Participation and practice in symbolic communities can differ internally. These variants are referred to as local symbolic communities (Ruby, et al. 2005:76). In fact, all symbolic communities begin locally and only after some duration become globally oriented enough and spatially dispersed to allow for local variants to form (Table 4). Again, these symbolic modes of community have deep evolutionary origins, and relatively complex social competency is passed along in many of our fellow social primates (Richerson and Boyd 2008; Strum and Latour 1987), however it was with our monumental release from proximity that these modes of community took center stage in our sociality and set humans apart.

As noted earlier, one of the primary ways in which *Homo sapiens* were able to achieve this release from proximity was our ability to externalize memory and knowledge into material culture. This is the primary thesis of M. Tomasello, who argues that material culture allowed for, "some cultural traditions [to] accumulate the modifications made by different individuals over time so they become more complex, and a wider range of adaptive functions is encompassed –

what may be called cumulative cultural evolution or the 'ratchet effect'" (Tomasello 2009:37). He focuses a significant amount on the act of learning and teaching. For Tomasello:

The argument is that cumulative cultural evolution depends on two processes, innovation and imitation (possibly supplemented by instruction), that must take place in a dialectical process over time such that one step in the process enables the next (2009:39).

In this way traditions or, using Gamble's terms, rhythms can be passed faithfully from one generation to the next. However, these traditions do acquire modification as they travel over space and through time – resulting in an amplified product with a cultural "history" of its own (Tomasello 2009; Weiss, et al. 2011). Facilitating these learning arrangements were likely the first function of local symbolic communities.

As stated in the quote above, cumulative culture hinges on sociogenesis, or the ability to invent and imitate - essentially creative behavior as well as goal-oriented focus. For Tomasello there are two main types of this sociogenesis. The first involves an individual which using his/her given cultural resources must adapt to a novel situation or environment – a form of virtual collaboration. The second involves cooperation between individuals, or actual collaboration, where the two individuals develop a novel solution for a novel problem (Tomasello 2009:41-42). Through both types of collaboration novel new tools were invented to deal with novel new problems or conversely novel new ways were developed to use old tools. Once the creative and concentrated focus of *Homo sapiens* was applied to material culture it began to diversify and complexify exponentially (Coward and Gamble 2008; Knappett 2020). Soon tools were developed with the purpose of being used to make other tools, and entire sustainable communities, complete with their own inventory of material goods, developed around these material-based symbolic communities.

Of course, a mastery over material culture was only one part of this story and it rapidly became densely entangled with a series of other mechanisms that facilitated our release from proximity. One of the primary other mechanisms was language. Like material culture, verbal and

other embodied forms of communication greatly facilitated not just actual collaboration between individuals in a novel situation, but the preservation and proliferation of knowledge. This communication likely began with simple forms of imitation and play, as it still does in human infants (Boyd and Richerson 2005; Piaget 1951) as well as can be observed in many social animals (Lewis 2000). However, coupled with the material culture ratchet-effect, *Homo sapiens* developed more episodic forms of memory allowing for more abstracted practices of ritual and other forms of drama (Peterson 1999:69-71). The power of ritual was not in its ability to unify the consciousness of all individuals involved, where there were (and are) always certain levels of ambiguity, dissonance, and resistance (Bell 1992; DeMarrais 2016), but in its ability to anchor the collective identity of the symbolic community in collective action and performance (e.g., DeMarrais 2014; Durkheim 1959 ; Inomata and Coben 2006; Swenson 2015; Tambiah 1985; Turner 1969). Ritual in humans can be said to have crossed a threshold when the highly structured nature of these practices came to signal, "not just cultural conventions but conventionality itself" (Parmentier 1994:133).

These early forms of ritual channeled the affective energy that likely governed early symbolic communities (James 1904; Whitehead 1926), and eventually gave way to narratives which spanned generations. At the onset, these narratives likely described individuals in residential communities who were successful at building, maintaining, and transforming sustainable communities (Bloch 2008; Boyd and Richerson 2005; Langley 2013; Peterson 1999; Sugiyama 2001). However, stories were codified in language, material, and even cognitive structures (Descola 2013; Lévi-Strauss 1978), and those which were brought to life in shared ritual came to transform symbolic communities from repertoires of shared behaviors to constellations of shared beliefs.



Figure 6. Schematic of levels of abstraction (Peterson 1999:73), which illustrates interacting behaviors through which symbolic communities operate.

Utilizing ethnographic data from various groups, Australian Aboriginal dreamtime stories in particular (Ingold 2002), Coward and Gamble (2008:1973-1974) provide an interesting hypothesis as to how "imaginative geographies," developed through relational maps and narrative (including song), may have been used in child rearing and early forms of acculturation. Accordingly, they suggest that these imaginative geographies allowed for the rapid dispersal of human communities between 100,000 and 15,000 years ago:

These narratives contribute to the transmission of these skills by associating the landscape, its paths, tracks, denizens and the temporality and skills that structure it with known mythical persons, such that knowledge of it becomes personal, a question of relationships between individuals (Coward and Gamble 2008:1973).

With access to narrative, and eventually more symbolically loaded mythic archetypes, these kinds of symbolic communities became the powerful social configurations which acted as both centripetal and centrifugal forces; essentially fission-fusion engines, propelling humans across the planet (Turnbull 2007).

Importantly, as symbolic communities became increasingly adroit at abstraction (Figure

6) and globally-oriented, they maintained practices that engaged lower levels of abstraction as well. For instance imitation of adaptive behavior is central to communities of practice (Lave and Wenger 1998), in which situated learning gave way to very specific modes of production and other embodied forms of knowledge⁴ (Creese 2016; Dorland and Ionico 2020; Roddick and Stahl 2016). Even as the level of abstraction took on religious forms, involving dense networks of articulated hierarchies of value, ritual and dramatic performance maintained their importance in sustaining all scales of symbolic communities (Lévi-Strauss 1988). In this sense this formulation avoids the pitfall of assuming symbolic modes of community are purely cognitive constructs, as they are often portrayed in studies utilizing imagined community and other concepts often associated with the ontological-turn in the social sciences.

Community Ecology: the complex dynamics of middle-range sociality

As with the more recent complexity studies mentioned above, ecological-oriented studies have been very successful at avoiding the reductionist tendencies while maintaining the scientific rigor of their more positivist-oriented counterparts (Bateson 1972; Crumley 2007; Gibson 1979; Guattari 2000; Hutchins 2010; Ingold 2012; McGraw and Krátký 2017; Sahlins 1963a; Steward 1968; Szabó 2015). While ecological approaches vary widely, they regularly share two important characteristics: 1) They insert the phenomena they are studying into a broader network of other related phenomena, especially the natural environment. 2) They are inherently relational, seeing phenomena not as static structures or systems, but constellations of people, places, and practices, transitioning through time. Here I layout the case for an ecological framework for the middle range, by further delineating the complex social dynamics that underwrite the modes of community described above.

Communities on the Ground. An ecological approach to communities situates these

⁴ Because of this new bioarcheological methods are being developed to test for these modes of community in skeletal and other bodily markers (Becker et al 2017).

emergent social configurations within the natural world. It is the position taken here that all modes of community are only truly realized in practice, and while it's not a strictly determinant relationship, the natural environment acts as a primary constraint on the possibilities for successful communities (Trigger 1991). This includes even the most abstracted, cognitively-based forms of symbolic community, as many lines of evidence suggest that cognition is not simply, "an abstract symbolizing process but fundamentally structured by the inescapable fact that the biological processes constituting 'mind' are part of a body which is constantly interacting with the world" (Coward and Gamble 2008:1970; Deacon 2011). As has already been noted, in this view, even "imagined communities" must be, at some level, grounded.

It should be noted that as defined here, multi-modal communities are a uniquely human socio-organizational response to the material world, and I disagree with many forms of actornetwork theory that claim non-human elements have equivalent agentive power as their human counterparts (Latour 2005). However, that does not preclude non-human actors and other elements from playing active roles in all modes of community. With our release from proximity and externalization of memory, material actors, from tools and architecture to entire landscapes have become deeply entangled with the generation, maintenance, and transformation of communities (Table 4). Not only is the human mind embodied in a biological body, but the mind, "routinely spills out into the environment, enlisting all manner of extrasomatic objects and artifacts in the conduct of its operations" (Ingold 2012:438). But even more durable materials, imbued with clear symbolic value, must be activated by an embodied human mind, and carries no active agency of its own.

Of course, other biological organisms can be far more dynamic in their agentive power and has already been noted, many social species can be said to form both residential and sustainable modes of community. Some primate groups may even have what is appropriately termed proto-symbolic communities (Whiten 2000). However, whether the difference is in kind or simply in degree both at the individual and community level even our closest extant primate

relatives cannot begin to grapple with the supercomplex community systems and institutions that emerge from and underwrite human sociality (Povinelli and Ballew 2012).

Interacting Modes of Community. An ecological approach is also essential because, while distinct modes, residential, sustainable, and symbolic modes of community are not mutually exclusive categories and are never found in isolation; rather they are continuously interacting, overlapping, supporting, and transforming each other. At the most basic level, sustainable communities demand some shared understanding of the value of what is being produced, consumed, or exchanged, which in turn necessitates knowledge drawn from multiple symbolic communities, with both modes of community being grounded in residential communities. Using these interacting modes of community as analytic subunits can help delineate complex and often overly abstracted social phenomena. For instance understanding the political economy, or how the sociopolitical structures effect how wealth is allocated in a given economic system, is a major field of inquiry in anthropological archeology (D'Altroy and Earle 1985; Earle 1997; Hirth 1996; Humphrey and Hugh-Jones 1992; Polanyi 1944; Santley and Alexander 1992; Stanish 2014), and has often suffered from getting bogged down in dichotomous top-down or bottom-up models. Armed with the idea of emergence the community ecology model can incorporate both perspectives, seeing the political economy as fundamentally an emergent property of symbolic communities forming within as well as encompassing sustainable communities. While not radically different from many of the cited political economy examples the multimodal community model provide a useful grounding.

Importantly, it is at the intersection of these communities where higher-order institutions emerge (Jost 2005). Here, following S. Abrutyn, I define *institutions* most broadly as emergent macro-level sociocultural spheres (Abrutyn 2013:11). Institutions have their own set of ecological dynamics far too extensive to define here (Abrutyn 2013:68-97; Hughes 1936). However, a few important examples are worth highlighting here. Some institutions are relatively ephemeral and only occur in specific instances - these include all manner of reoccurring events

and instances (Handelman 1998). However, some institutional modes are far more durable and ubiquitous. Like communities, these durable forms of emergent institutions can manifest in different modes and at different scales. A well-studied macro-institutional manifestation is the state, which is discussed in detail below (1.3).

The most ubiquitous micro-institutional manifestation is the household. Generally considered to be a behavioral group, representing the smallest scale economic system, households may also be conceptualized as the smallest scale institutions to emerge from community interaction. Based in place and almost always around some form of domestic architecture, households are fundamental representations of residential communities and, as the basic locus for most material and biological forms of production, consumption, and reproduction (Netting, et al. 1984; Wilk and Rathje 1982), households are also sustainable communities. Finally, household are both held together and internally divided by the symbolic community affiliations being practiced by their members. The interaction of these symbolic community affiliations are frequently some of the most implicit, internalized and intimate, symbols in an individual's life; however, they can also be explicit, manifesting in practice as various forms of cooperation, competition, and even resistance. The durable and ubiquitous institutional manifestation of households offer the ultimate micro-scale perspective of the development of social complexity (P. M. Allison 1999; Nash 2009; Steadman 2016). Further, as political forms of hegemony begin through those localized dynamics inherent in factional competition between local symbolic communities (Blanton and Fargher 2012; Brumfiel 1994; Carballo, et al. 2014; Clark and Blake 1994; Dietler 2001; Stanish 2017), "ultimately, in all societies, the domestic economy of households is the source of the resources directed towards political ends" (D'Altroy and Hastorf 2001:16). In essence, the household is both the result and locus of accumulative political actions at different scales. This is of course roughly in line with standard formulations of what households are (as cited above), however in some ways it also runs counter to these prior explanations. Here, households represent microscale institutions that

emerge as communities interact, and not the other way around⁵.

Community Topography. Finally, an ecological framing is necessary to highlight the topography of community networks in both time and space. Almost all communities have some sort of core or an area of influence and control. Residential communities are directly tied to specific places, while sustainable communities may spread over and even connect entire regions, center on locations of resources, both material and demographic. Even symbolic communities which may not be as tightly restricted to time/place as the other community modes, still tend to form and manifest around residential communities.

Even relatively stable community configurations will ultimately transition through cycles of periodic centralization and dispersion. For much of human history, most community configurations would expand and contract, centralize and decentralize with the seasons. Some of the clearest examples are highly-mobile hunter-gatherers. As with our early hominid ancestors, band-level hunter-gatherers rely heavily on fission-fusion social dynamics. These community types would often be organized as small, widely dispersed residential communities which doubled as fully self-sufficient sustainable communities. However, during seasons of plenty these groups would fuse with other micro-residential communities (Marcus and Flannery 1996; Theler and Boszhardt 2005). Often meeting in the same place, year after year, normally dispersed local symbolic communities would engage one another to exchange all modes of symbolic capital (Henry and Barrier 2016). It is through the repeated seasonal cycles like these, built around central places (Stanish 2017:168-171), that we can understand how incredible monumental centers, like Göbekli Tepe, could have manifested thousands of years before the first permanent settled villages and agriculture (Dietrich, et al. 2012). Some of these centralization cycles were based more on punctuated needs, such as defense or periods of

⁵ A recently published study provides a good example - they use the term institution to refer (roughly) to my category of local symbolic community (Holland-Lulewicz et al 2020), which I believe results in misunderstanding the order and scale in which these aspects of human sociality emerge.

environmental stress, while others took hundreds of years to cycle through (Frank and Gills 1996; Friedman 1979; Kondratiev 1925; Marcus 1998; Willey 1991). E. R. Leach's modeling of the concepts gumsa-gumlao in highland Burma as an oscillatory model in which the normally anarchistic network of Kachin villages would band together as a cohesive political entity (Leach 1954) is a particular rich example of this type of punctuated community topographic cycling.

Remembering the aforementioned importance of political action within even the smallest scale community unit, the household, these periodic amplifications of larger community units highlights how dynamics such as power work under this framework. The multiple modes of community offer a more diverse and realistic way to see the flow of power in ancient societies, as there are multiple avenues for aggrandizing individuals or entrepreneurial local symbolic communities to seek influence. Here, we can eschew our reliance more essentialist models that see power only as a quest for dominance over others and continue to develop more relational models for power in the past (Crumley, et al. 1995; J. D. Moore 2004; Schortman and Urban 2012). For instance, I argue that there is good evidence that the earliest modes of power were decided along lines of competence within symbolic communities, whereby symbolic rather than purely economic modes of capital are more valued.

This perspective helps illustrate how some of the earliest state-level societies likely formed around ritual modes of production (Spielmann 2002), with capital largely drawn from symbolic modes of community. All ancient incipient states were segmentary in nature, and at least some of the earliest states likely operated as, what Geertz termed theater states, in which, "the state, even in its final gasp, was a device for the enactment of mass ritual. Power served pomp, not pomp power" (Geertz 1980:13), with only subsequent generations of states and empires being driven by more materialist or economic modes of production and central control (Fargher, et al. 2011; Goldstein 2015; Southall 2000; Stanish 2017). This community-based, bottom-up perspective also clarifies processes of hypercoherence and eventual collapse (Flannery 1972; Tainter 1990, 2006; Yoffee 2019) in these complex institutions as well as

patterns of balkanization and resilience (Faulseit 2012; Folke 2006; Perego, et al. 2019) in symbolic communities in the aftermath of collapse, when more centralized forms of institutional constraints are released.

In the next subsection I discuss in detail how my framework of community ecology can specifically help delineate many facets of the rise and fall of archaic states.

1.3 The Birth, Life, & Death of Archaic States

One of the primary goals of this dissertation is to contribute to one of anthropology's most persistent inquiries - that is understanding the development and proliferation of what is most frequently called *the state* (Gailey 1985; Lull and Micó 2011). The bounded nation-state has formed the basis for global geopolitics for the entirety of the modern era. While of course this was not always the case, neither is the institution of the state a purely modern invention. Today's hyper-complicated nation-states are only the most recent manifestations of a millennia-old emergent macroscale institution. In this section I work to synthesize my community ecology framework with the robust body of anthropological and related research that has worked to understand this important institution. Specifically, I trace the trajectory of archaic states from their initial emergence through their eventual collapse using my complexity-inspired framework described above (1.2). However, first I contextualize this discussion by highlighting how the concept or category of *the state* has developed throughout the history of modern archaeological thought.

The Evolution of the State in Archeology: of stages & systems

Almost all modern archaeological approaches to understanding the state can be tied to what is most appropriately termed an evolutionary perspective. This term, evolution, is always entangled with its best-known manifestation - biological or Darwinian evolution. There is of

course good reason for this, Darwin's magnum opus, <u>On the Origin of Species</u>, reoriented the zeitgeist of the Western world, and has developed into one of the most rigorously investigated realms in the history of science. However, in the broadest sense evolution simply refers to change over time within a bounded system. By definition, all complex adaptive systems change or evolve over time through the adaptive behavior of their constituent components. It is important to remember that Darwinian evolution is a specific suite of mechanisms to explain change within biology at the macroscale (Weiss and Buchanan 2009; Weiss, et al. 2011), and while human sociality is fundamentally constrained by that biological system, it is governed by its own complex dynamics and can't simply be explained away using these biological mechanisms. Here I provide a brief outline of some of the most influential models for defining and understanding the state in the archaeological record using this evolutionary perspective.

While the state has been a topic of socioeconomic studies since the Enlightenment (Engels 1891; Hobbes [1651]1970; Locke [1689]1947; Maine 1861; Weber [1904]2002), its origins as the center of modern anthropological debate can be traced to the influential publication, *Evolution and Culture* in 1960 (Sahlins and Service 1960). In this ambitious book, M. Sahlins and E. Service attempted to rectify issues arising from conflicting paradigms of the day - rooted in L. White's energetics-based model of cultural evolution (White 1943) and J. Steward's multilinear cultural ecology models (Steward 1953, 1968, 1972). The authors did a remarkable job synthesizing these models, situating each as differing modes of related evolutionary processes (a point which will be raised later). However, what has proved to be the most impactive aspect of their work was the formulation of four stages of cultural progress. Based on the criteria of degree of social segmentation and intensity of integration these general evolutionary stages range from simple *bands*, to segmented *tribes* and hierarchical *chiefdoms*, ultimately culminating with highly developed *states* (Sahlins and Service 1960:36-37). Whether building upon or dissenting from this formulation of cultural progress, these stages have served as the groundwork for all later archaeological discourse of social complexity and will act as the

foundation from which this discussion will build.

For Sahlins and Service the state represented the highest level in a series of stages through which any given society could advance. Broad structural progress of this kind characterized *general evolution* – a measure of a society's overall adaptability to its environment (Sahlins and Service 1960:23-38). Understanding sociocultural progress in these generally Darwinian evolutionary terms of was not new to anthropology – models of this kind had been central to anthropology since its inception as a discipline. However, the poor-handling of value-laden stages like savagery, barbarism, and civilization employed in the unilenear evolutionary models of early anthropologists (Morgan 1877; H. Spencer 1860, 1892; Tylor 1870) often gave way to concepts of cultural superiority with obvious political implications. These complications led to widespread abandonment of progress-based models for cultural change in the early years of the twentieth century. This new holistic anthropology, rooted in *historical particularism*, had little need for comparative categories like the state, as all cultural progress was framed as being relative (Boas 1896; Kroeber 1935).

Eventually comparative directionality would return as the focus to understanding cultural change with the work of V. G. Childe. Working mainly in the Near East, Childe sought to explain the vast transformations he saw in the way in which political economies manifested throughout the archaeological record. In a series of seminal publications Childe defined two profound periods of transformation or what he would term revolutions (Childe 1944, 1950, 1951, 1957). The first revolution was a shift from food gatherers to food producers, what he termed the *Neolithic Revolution*, and the second was a shift from village farming societies to what he termed, civilizations – the *Urban Revolution* (Childe 1950). In addition to outlining several of the mechanisms which may have led to these cultural revolutions, Childe's work reinserted the idea that cultural change was directional and would eventually reach thresholds in terms of social complexity (Childe 1951; Flannery 1994; Trigger 1980). Childe saw these thresholds as rooted in the political economy and therefore tied to a society's technological capacity and readily

expressed in material culture and settlement planning - which made archeology ideally suited for identifying and isolating these processes in the deep past.

The work of Childe led directly to the evolutionary emphasis within which Sahlins and Service's evolutionary framework was developed (Fried 1960; Sahlins 1960; Sahlins and Service 1960; Steward 1953, 1968, 1972; White 1943; Wittfogel 1955). Childe's focus on evolutionary processes would also influence the *New Archeology* of the 1960s and 1970s (Binford 1962; Clarke 1968). With a new positivist emphasis archaeologists worked to systematize the evolutionary processes which led to transformations in social complexity (Binford 1965; Flannery 1973). These early *Processual Archeology* projects employed new technological advancements in the natural sciences to begin systematically documenting the evolving relationship with the natural environment as societies began to grow in size and complexity (Watson, et al. 1971). These studies focused on looking for *prime mover* explanations to Childe's revolutions, focusing on major phenomena like population pressure, trade, and warfare (R. M. Adams 1974; Braidwood 1960; M. N. Cohen 1975; MacNeish, et al. 1972; Price and Sanders 1968). It was during this time that the evolution of the state took center stage in archaeological studies (Carneiro 1970, 1973, 1988; Flannery 1972; Flannery and Marcus 1976; Friedman 1979; Wright 1984; Wright and Johnson 1975).

K. V. Flannery has completed some of the most comprehensive studies using evolutionary frameworks to delineate the relationship between sociocultural processes and the archaeological record (Flannery 1972, 1976, 1995, 1998, 1999, 2002; Flannery and Marcus 2012). Flannery built directly on the work of Sahlins and Service and identified two scales of evolutionary change – what he termed cultural evolution and social evolution. *Cultural evolution*, correlated to what Sahlins and Service called specific evolution, and involved a society's historically situated adaptations to a given environment. *Social evolution* aligns with Sahlins' and Service's general evolution and refers to the structural and systematic reorganization of a society leading to a greater stage of complexity (Flannery 1995:3-4; Marcus
2008). Focusing on the level of systematic segregation and centralization of sociopolitical institutions and economic inequalities Flannery also developed a system of stages by which different societies' level of complexity could be compared.

Flannery's stage-based model contains many of the same stages as Sahlins' and Service's model – including bands, chiefdoms, and states. However, Flannery included additional stages of *autonomous villages* and *ranked societies* as additional intermediaries between bands and chiefdoms, as well as the additional stage of *empire* beyond the state. It is important to note for Flannery these stages are meant to "provide us with shorthand references to common types" at the broader scale of social evolution (Flannery 1995:22), and not exact molds to which every society must conform. Also, while certainly not alone (Doran 1970; G. A. Johnson 1980; Salmon 1978), Flannery was an early advocate for the use of systems-based frameworks for modeling culture change and particularly for simulating the rise of the state (Flannery 1968, 1972). While not built specifically on complexity studies, Flannery's systemsbased models rely on feedback dynamics and are particularly compatible with the the multimodel community ecology model I use for explaining the rise of the state below.

Riding the general postmodern movement in the social sciences, the 1980s and 1990s saw an increase in particularistic frameworks for understanding the archaeological record (Hodder 1985, 1991; Shanks and Tilley 1982). These new interpretive approaches brought a much-needed humanistic perspective to the understanding of past social dynamics, including a new focus on new concepts like gender, class, and other major identity formations (Brumfiel 1992; Conkey and Spector 1984; McGuire 1992). Interestingly, these studies often framed themselves as in opposition to some of the macroscale perspectives of Flannery and many others, when in reality they were complimentary (Hegmon 2003) - generally just focused on delineating patterns in social behavior at the micro and meso scales instead of the macro.

However, even during this time a number of studies maintained a focus on macroscale comparative categories, like the state (Algaze 1993; Carneiro 1993; Chase-Dunn and Hall 1991;

Crumley 1995; Earle 1993; Feinman and Marcus 1998; Haas 1982; Peter Peregrine 1990; C. S. Spencer 1990). While there is still a contingent of archaeological theory that is critical of almost any use of directional or evolutionary categories (Pauketat 2001, 2007), there is also a large component of comparative-focused research (M. E. Smith and Peregrine 2012). Many of these studies have continued to advance the use of evolutionary frameworks, at both the general-social and specific-cultural levels (Bondarenko, et al. 2002; Claessen 2000; Marcus 2008; Prentiss 2019; Richerson and Boyd 2008; C. S. Spencer 1997; C. S. Spencer and Redmond 2001; Stanish 2017). Some more recent studies have even explicitly brought in concepts and methods from complexity theory (Bentley and Maschner 2003, 2008; Chapman 2003; Kohler 2012). While still using the state as a comparative category, based on a directional understanding of evolutionary change, these more recent studies do more to incorporate micro-and meso-scale behaviors and activities in their models for understanding the state (R. M. Adams 2001; Blanton and Fargher 2007; Fukuyama 2011; Goldstein 2015; Goldstone and Haldon 2009; Murphy 2016; Routledge 2013; Scott 2017; M. E. Smith and Schreiber 2005; Southall 2000; C. S. Spencer 2010; Yoffee 2005).

While I discuss the nuances, exceptions, and contradictions to these definitional elements below, here I define the state as emergent macroscale socio-spatial institutions that always involve some combination of:

- Structural socioeconomic inequalities in regard to access to different sectors of the broader sustainable community network (i.e., the formation of true class-based symbolic communities).
- 2. Hierarchical or dendritic settlement patterns in regional residential community networks including the development of urban centers.
- Logistical ability to assert authority often involving monopoly over violence and other punitive practices through militarized local symbolic communities.
- 4. Institutionalized sustainable and symbolic community specialization including craft

production and religious-bureaucratic information processing.

Below I draw on this complicated history of understanding the state as a critical comparative concept in archaeological theory. I use my community ecology framework as a middle range theory to articulate these aforementioned models and illustrate how and why these complex institutions emerged repeatedly in many parts of the ancient world.

Before the State: egalitarianism, ranked societies, and network formation

States were not the first institutions to incorporate socioeconomic inequality and political modes of authority. These attributes had been present in human communities and institutions for millennia before the first states emerged. In fact, it is important to remember that the egalitarian nature ethnographically observed and archaeologically inferred in many band-level hunter-gatherer groups was actually an evolved trait (Ames 2010; Boehm 2009; Kurzban, et al. 2015; Trivers 1971). For instance, while there is variation and overall, cooperative behaviors outrank antagonistic ones, the social hierarchies of our closest extant primate relatives are far from egalitarian and it is unlikely that those of our hominin ancestors, even the earliest *Homo sapiens* were either (De Waal 2007; Dunbar, et al. 2014; Sussman and Garber 2007).

As has already been noted, developing, maintaining, and transforming hierarchies of value is essentially the base-level purpose of symbolic communities, and even in egalitarian societies of the deep past, certain individuals would have been better suited to carry out these activities. Age and experience were always major factors in this, and whether based in physical coordination, endurance, or cognitive aptitude, natural abilities also played a role in early community leadership, even in egalitarian societies (Davis and Moore 1945; Peterson 1999). In fact, some have argued that egalitarian societies are actually just structured around what are best considered reverse dominance hierarchies or competitive altruism (Boehm, et al. 1993; Bowles and Gintis 2013). Even if this is not quite the case, it is clear that broader sustainable

communities organized in an egalitarian mode require constant intervention from local symbolic communities in order to ensure that prestige, defined along any grounds, is not hoarded and free-loaders aren't allowed to drain the broader sustainable community resources without contributing (Ames 2010; Blanton and Fargher 2007; Boyd, et al. 2003; Stanish 2017; Wiessner, et al. 2002).

In these pre-state egalitarian societies reciprocity defined the vast majority of sustainable community material exchanges as well as the exchange of value in symbolic communities. While much of reciprocal exchange, especially of material goods can be immediate and ephemeral, our break from proximity facilitated deferred forms of reciprocity as well. One of the defining features of humans was our ability to articulate local symbolic communities across entire regions by exchanging symbolically loaded objects (Gamble 1998). This was first formally identified in the famous ethnographic example of the Kula Ring exchange, documented by B. Malinowski (Malinowski 1922) and later expanded on by M. Mauss in *The Gift* (Mauss 1954). This cultural phenomena was interpreted as an exemplary example of *deferred reciprocity* as the obligatory relationships produced by the exchange of high-valued, sacred objects, helped maintain long distance connections in the Melanesian islands in the South Pacific. In other words, the exchange of items valued only in symbolic communities helped maintain essential connections in broader sustainable community networks. It has been argued that it is in this type of deferred reciprocity that the seeds for inequality lie as all forms of this delayed payback develop a hierarchical scenario of *debt* (Graeber 2011). However, in spite of this, relatively durable forms of reciprocity-based egalitarianism appear to have been an enduring politicaleconomic mode for much of human prehistory.

Breaking Chayanov's Rule

One of the ways in which the enduring cycle of reciprocity-driven egalitarianism was broken was by certain individuals and communities tapping into the inherent unused labor

potential of households and other microscale socio-spatial institutions. This was first observed by M. Sahlins in his seminal publication, *Stone Age Economics* in which he defined and dissected the idea of the *domestic mode of production* (Sahlins 1972). In community ecology terms the domestic mode of production looks at the ability of individual residential communities to produce for local and broader sustainable communities. Relying heavily on quantifiable data collected by Soviet social scientist A. V. Chayanov (Chayanov 1966), Sahlins made the assertion that small-scale sustainable communities where relatively unarticulated residential communities comprise the primary production units, will always possess a significant amount of untapped labor potential (Sahlins 1972:86-92). Said another way, the relatively independent or locally-oriented, residence-based sustainable community production units will consistently under-produce unless otherwise motivated.

Based on this trend of underproduction, which Sahlin's called *Chayanov's Rule*, he argued that these residential community-based sustainable communities were actually ripe for manipulation by enterprising individuals. However, even with this productive potential he noted, "[t]he great challenge lies in the intensification of labor: getting more people to work or people to work more" (Sahlins 1972:82). Some have argued that the first option, getting more people to work, was likely the route pursued most successfully as the second option, getting people to work more, "requires the leadership to intervene directly in the daily work schedules of individual households and villages" (C. S. Spencer 1998:6).

However, C. Stanish has provided an elegant third option for how to break Chayanov's rule, that is "getting...people to work differently in a more efficient labor organization" (Stanish 2003:25). In the community ecology model this mean reorienting local symbolic communities to intervene in the scheduling of sustainable community activities. One of the most well documented examples of relatively minor reallocation of labor receiving major productive returns is through labor specialization. Economic division of labor, or what could be called inter-sustainable community specialization, has of course been a well-studied economic principle

since the work of Adam Smith (A. Smith 1776). Importantly, even in this early work Smith noted the emergent nature of specialization, what he called the productive powers of labor, whereby coordinated specialization within a sustainable community produced emergent results, that is they produced more than the sum of the individuals' labor had they remained independent (A. Smith 1776:5). The power of a specialized division of labor was also emphasized in the foundational social scientific work of E. Durkheim as he argued that increasing specialization in division of labor led to increased modes of organic solidarity, which lessened the influence of mechanical forms of solidarity (Durkheim 2014 [1893]). Again, in community ecology terms under Durkheim's model, as sustainable communities become more specialized the importance of symbolic communities was diminished, at least in terms of their explicit role in social solidarity.

The Role of Individuals

From the complexity perspective it is perfectly reasonable to see socioeconomic inequality resulting from the increase in specialization as a slow grinding process that eventually led to positions of prestige developing. This is essentially the position of early evolutionary models of social stratification which argued that certain tasks and specifically tasks of increased specialization would naturally carry prestige based on the scarcity of individuals with the natural aptitude to perform the task and/or the costly and extensive training need to gain the skills to complete a task (Davis and Moore 1945:247; Fried 1960:109-111; Friedman and Rowlands 1977). Under the community ecology model this would translate to local symbolic communities forming around an increasing number of specific sustainable community roles. The formation of these new local symbolic communities would result in increasing venues in which individuals can compete for prestige. As these local symbolic communities continue to proliferate, interact, and even compete for resources they develop new emergent realms of *institutional autonomy*, which amongst other things, increase the types of goals individuals believe are worth pursuing

(Abrutyn 2013:23).

However, while much of the road to institutionalized inequality and the rise of the state may have been gradual, evidence suggests that there were clearly periods of punctuated change (C. S. Spencer 1990), and while it is difficult to trace the actions of individuals in the archaeological record the historical and ethnographic records are bursting with examples of individual agency having broad societal effects (Flannery 1999; Flannery and Marcus 2012). As has already been noted, most models of how to overcome Chayanov's Rule pivot on the actions of motivated individuals intervening in sustainable community organization. In their study of how ranked societies first developed in ancient Mesoamerica, Clark and Blake outline six procesually-linked conditions which lead these enterprising individuals into increasingly apparelized reloc of leaderchip:

generalized roles of leadership:

 Egalitarian social systems contain the seeds of permanent social inequality in their structure of age, kin, gender, and aptitude distinctions.
The development of permanent social inequality is an unanticipated consequence of individuals pursuing self-interests and personal aggrandizement.
Temporary positions of prestige become hereditary and legitimate positions of authority under limited social and natural environmental conditions.
These changes result from the purposive actions of individuals pursuing individual strategies and agendas within the structural constraints of their cultural system.
The engine of change is competition for prestige – constituted as public recognition of states, rights, and responsibilities – among a network of aggrandizers.
Effective competition within one's community requires that aggrandizers traffic outside their respective communities and establish enduring ties with individuals elsewhere (Clark and Blake 1994:28-29).

Clark and Blake nicely delineate something already discussed above, that is how relatively locally-oriented symbolic communities become more globally-oriented by articulating into relational networks, led by competing aggrandizers. Here symbolic communities are analogous to *factions*, which are defined as "structurally and functionally similar groups which, by virtue of their similarity, compete for resources and positions of power or prestige" (Brumfiel 1994:4). While it is clear that these factions would often be in direct competition over material resources (Brumfiel 1989, 1992; Brumfiel and Fox 2003), there is also growing evidence that the earliest factional competition was likely grounded in the competitive generosity that defied the preceding

egalitarian systems (Blanton 2016; Blanton and Fargher 2007; Carballo, et al. 2014; DeMarrais and Earle 2017; Stanish 2017). Again, it is here in the realm of competing and cooperating symbolic communities in which the agency of individuals can result in major institutional change or in scalar terms where the actions of individuals in the moment-to-moment of the microscale can determine the course of mesoscale historical trends and even conceivably have an impact at the level of general evolution at the macroscale.

Pathways to Power

There is little doubt that coercion, in the form of physical force or violence, played a role in the strategies of some of the earliest aggrandizers, especially as they competed for followers (Carneiro 1992). However, more persuasive strategies, in which those giving up some laborbased autonomy received something in return, likely created the more lasting forms social inequality which would eventually lead to the emergence of the state (Stanish 2003:25-26). While any successful aggrandizer likely employed varied approaches for cultivating followers and climbing the hierarchy of any given symbolic community network, there are clear patterns that can be identified in the types of strategies used repeatedly in the past. To structure this discussion I rely on the *dual-processual theory* which separates these strategies into two broad, but useful categories: exclusionary and corporate (Blanton, et al. 1996), although of course there are other ways in which these strategies can be grouped (Peter Peregrine 2012). As always, while these strategies represent useful comparative types, they were likely never found completely separate from one another.

Exclusionary Strategies. *Exclusionary strategies* include any strategy in which aggrandizers attempt to monopolize sources of power (Blanton, et al. 1996:2), and while this always involves some form of abstracted value, it frequently revolves around controlling material resources. In other words, exclusionary strategies represent aggrandizers using their influence over symbolic communities to directly intervene in sustainable communities. These exclusionary

strategies rely on there being "bottlenecks in resource flows" which provide nascent symbolic community aggrandizers "opportunities to mobilize surplus and the investments of the resources into alternative sources of power" (Earle 2011:242). While these strategies can scale-up to complex bureaucratic states, at smaller scales these strategies result in patron-client-style relationships between aggrandizers and their constituents. At the very least, all exclusionary strategies are also roughly built around redistributive dynamics, by which some individuals (or communities) acquire more control over who gets what and when (Earle 1977; Polanyi 1944).

One of the principal resource flow bottlenecks available to early aggrandizers are points at which local sustainable communities connect to neighboring sustainable communities. These critical points of connection are where exotic goods can be acquired and their distribution controlled, conversely they are also areas where the value of local goods can become more highly valued in trade (Friedman and Rowlands 1977; Helms 1992). By luck or strategic selection some symbolic communities were anchored by residential communities that were located along critical "natural corridors of trade and communication" (Hirth 1978:43). It was in these gateway communities (or transit communities) that early aggrandizers probably had the easiest time inserting themselves in these early prestige-good exchange systems (Bandy 2004b; Hirth 1978; Northrup 1978). Long before the distinct core-periphery asymmetrical exchange networks of early polities, there were likely similar unequal flows of easily transportable, but highly valued prestige goods (Chase-Dunn and Hall 1998; Kajsa Ekholm and Friedman 1982b; Frankenstein and Rowlands 1978; Peter Peregrine 2000; Schneider 1977). The transferable wealth generated from these *prestige-good* exchanges could allow aggrandizers to break Chaynov's Rule by simply paying to mobilize labor through gift giving and other redistributive measures.

Another way in which aggrandizers could insert themselves directly into critical points of sustainable communities was through marriage and other form of kinship manipulation, or what has been called *patrimonial rhetoric* (Blanton, et al. 1996; Weber [1922]1978). One of the most

critical aspects of sustainable communities was not just offsetting material needs but demographic ones as well (Ensor 2013; Rapp 1977). Meeting, acquiring, and exchanging viable marriage partners were likely some of the first sustainable community activities to become deeply entangled with the first emergent symbolic communities. These early symbolic communities around this aspect of sustainable communities defines broader kinship systems, which always incorporate some way to grapple with descent and lineage. Explicit lineages allowed aggrandizers clear avenues to connect themselves with important ancestors and other forms of relations (Arnold and Hastorf 2016; Rakita 2009). By inserting themselves, and likely their symbolic-residential community in-group, into critical points in broader sustainable community demographic networks, aggrandizers could "dampen the free migration of faction members between competing network strategists in what otherwise would be a more openly fluid, competitive social landscape" (Blanton, et al. 1996:5). By inserting themselves directly in the sustainable communities which controlled not just the flow but reproduction of people, aggrandizers could again break Chayanov's Rule by getting (or creating) more people to work.

A final exclusionary strategy in which individual aggrandizers and their constituent local symbolic communities could insert themselves directly into sustainable communities was through competitive generosity, most frequently through hosting feasting events. The importance of *feasting* as an essential and ubiquitous practice in the development of social inequality has been increasingly emphasized by archaeological studies (Bray 2003; Dietler 2001; Dietler and Hayden 2001, 2010; Hastorf 2016:194-203; Hayden and Villeneuve 2011; Stanish 2003:26-28; VanDerwarker 1999). Feasting represents explicit examples of conspicuous consumption and can include any matter of food or drink (Dietler and Hayden 2001). While feasting and other competitive generosity can certainly be examples of corporate strategies, enacted to specifically to deter exclusionary strategies (see below), here I use the concept of growth spiral to illustrate how feasting led to direct aggrandizer interventions in sustainable communities and therefore represent exclusionary strategies.

The term *growth spiral* refers to the process by which one type of wealth is converted into another, in turn resulting in increasing size and complexity of a group. In their extensive anthropological work on feasting dynamics M. Dietler and B. Hayden provide a lucid example that illustrates how competitive feasting can actually engage strategies rooted in control over prestige-good and kinship exchanges as well. In the Samia society in eastern Africa, enterprising aggrandizers would invest large amounts of wealth in orchestrating work-party feasts, in which they would invite neighboring residential communities (Dietler 1990:367). The hosting aggrandizer would provide copious amounts of food, drink, and an overall festive atmosphere. During this time guests would also be working, in the Samia case, extracting small amounts of ore from local sources. After the feast, the aggrandizer would work within his local symbolic-residential community to convert the ore into highly valued iron agricultural implements. Aggrandizers would invest this new prestige-good wealth in acquiring more marriage partners, thus also intervening in demographic sustainable communities. Increased marriage partners inherently also meant more children, and more children meant increasingly more members of the labor pool the aggrandizer could rely on (Dietler and Hayden 2001:249-256). In complexity terms these growth spirals represent feedback loops by which the aggrandizing host increasingly receives more wealth while his constituent guests increase their negative or owed wealth. As noted above, while exclusionary strategies could induce these growth spirals many of the mechanisms underlying more lasting examples of feedback were catalyzed by more corporate-based strategies.

Corporate Strategies. Another suite of strategies employed by would-be aggrandizers are more relational in terms of the modes of power they tap into. These *corporate strategies* develop directly out of the pro-egalitarian modes of community interaction discussed above and in many cases can be interpreted as directly opposed to exclusionary strategies (Blanton, et al. 1996:2). It is for this reason that these strategies have seen a recent refocus in the field of collective action theory (DeMarrais and Earle 2017). Here under the community ecology

framework, I consider these strategies through which the actions of aggrandizing individuals result in their local symbolic community becoming the center of new, emergent sustainable communities. However, despite these strategies being less focused on direct control over material resources, they still utilize exclusionary strategies in regard to their control of knowledge and other important abstract elements of value in the venue of local symbolic communities. It is for this reason that these corporate strategies have been said to be based on *knowledge-based political economies* (Blanton, et al. 1996:3).

As has been noted, any given sustainable community network is governed by the rules and norms defined by local symbolic communities. Conversely many local symbolic communities developed specifically to generate, maintain, and disseminate critical information regarding sustainable communities. As with material flows through sustainable communities, the flow of information through symbolic communities has natural points of concentration as well as critical junctures where local networks connect to outside networks. Whether by natural development or strategic choice, specific local symbolic communities develop around these critical junctures in information flows (Artemova 2000). But again, as has already been emphasized, symbolic communities, while based around abstraction and cognitive categories, were always realized in practice. While information and knowledge were and still are transferred through language and symbolic media, one of the primary ways in which this knowledge was articulated, formalized, and enacted was through ritual and other forms of performance (Inomata and Coben 2006; Stanish 2017).

Authority in symbolic communities can and certainly did fall into manipulative strategies, whereby aggrandizers set out to capitalize on symbolic community knowledge flows. However, it is more likely that most early leaders in local symbolic communities are better seen under a *cohesive-devotional* rubric, whereby ritual leaders are true believers so to speak and working as system-serving agents (Flannery 1972; Rick 2004:77-78). As with roles in sustainable communities, individuals would be naturally suited, or temperamentally inclined to specialize in

ritual knowledge and action. In addition, many leadership positions actually carry a high risk, especially those having to do with regulating or otherwise scheduling sustainable community activities, and it is not unlikely that many of these early leadership positions were obligations as opposed to major advantages. As will be discussed below in direct reference to the earliest state formation, as ritual performance become more important or elaborate it actually "demands work" in the form of costumes, food, drink, and other necessary elements (Spielmann 2002:197). It is in this way that local symbolic communities actually can become the center of their own emergent sustainable communities (Stanish 2017:80-90).

Of course, these corporate strategies of ritual specialists also included explicit individual aggrandizing behavior. For instance, in her excellent ethnography detailing the power of ritual specialists (*shamans*) in Indonesia, J. Atkinson notes how:

The immediate neighbors of a prominent shaman stand to benefit most from his skills. Their advantage is not only logistical but also political. Established shamans use their reputations to attract people to their settlement, for only those who live nearby have primary claim on a shaman's services...A powerful shaman can serve as an enticement and a justification for residence choice (Atkinson 1992:271).

This example makes clear that established leaders in important symbolic communities can have effects on not just sustainable communities but residential community configurations as well. In this way it is helpful to see these leaders as essential elements in defining *places* in which local symbolic communities choose to pool their collective symbolic capital. Importantly, the residential community to which these successful symbolic community aggrandizers could become important central places in of themselves (Stanish 2017:168-171).

Creating Unequal Community Networks

While the way in which power is distributed across various communities often differed greatly between exclusionary and corporate strategies, both would eventually lead to the formation of increasingly unequal flows of materials and knowledge. Most of these exchanges

resulted in sustainable communities that would operate primarily through redistribution or at the very least asymmetrical reciprocity. Under exclusionary strategies aggrandizers would gradually come to control more aspects of the flow of materials and people through sustainable communities. Eventually these aggrandizers may even possess the ability to demand tribute in the form of materials or labor. Likewise, under corporate strategies aggrandizers come to influence an increasing number of aspects of society through their control of knowledge. As entire multi-modal community networks began to pivot more on the leadership of individuals, certain levels of inequality shifted from ephemeral positions enacted in specific times and at specific places, to more accepted hierarchical organization both within and between communities - this effectively represents the emergence of *elites*. Particularly successful aggrandizers were able to pass prestige to those in their local symbolic and residential communities and eventually to their children. Community systems based around these successful aggrandizers with some ability of hereditary wealth transfer are often called big men societies or *chiefdoms* (Earle 1997; Kirch 1989; Sahlins 1963b), and while they may be able to carry out macroscale spatial behavior they generally lacked lasting temporal power.

Becoming the State: prime movers, institutional leadership, and network consolidation

Above I explained how the actions and interactions of individuals at the microscale lead to emergent inequality at the level of community at the mesoscale. Here I explain how community action and interaction at the mesoscale leads to emergent institutions at the macroscale, and specifically the state. K. V. Flannery has again provided one of the most eloquent models for simulating the rise of the state in these terms (Flannery 1972). Below I outline how Flannery's evolutionary simulation is still very pertinent to understanding state emergence and couples well with my community ecology model, but first I highlight some of the underlying socio-environmental mechanisms that likely acted as the catalyst for these major

changes in social organization.

Socio-environmental Stresses & Prime Movers

For Flannery and many others broad or lasting transformations in any level of sociocultural organization, particularly those that led to the emergence of new complex institutions like the state, were always caused by significant socio-environmental stresses. Some of these stresses were likely sustained (e.g., and extended drought) or they could be relatively acute (e.g. a devastating flood), but all demanded human action for survival. It is important to view these stresses as not truly deterministic but rather as constraints, primarily to sustainable communities (Trigger 1991). The archaeological record has shown that there are clear patterns in the way societies respond to these stresses - Flannery calls these *prime movers* (Flannery 1972:405-408; Haas 1982; Wright 1986).

I've already discussed a few common prime movers, including extended trade networks, marriage alliances, and developing specifically-tuned symbolic communities for managing sustainable community activities, and while these were still certainly central to the rise of general inequality, here I note a few more prime movers that become particularly pertinent in the development of state-level stratification. Each of the three prime movers described below assume some permanent level of inequality already exists, even if only in certain sectors of society. Also, all three assume that residential communities had shifted to permanent modes (villages) and sustainable communities were beginning to circulate primarily on domesticates. While it is beyond the scope of this dissertation to comprehensively break down this pivotal transformation, as the prime movers below make clear, the transition to permanent village life caused permanent shifts to how communities operated at every level (Bandy and Fox 2010; Marcus and Flannery 1996:70-75).

Irrigation. While forms of social inequality may have existed in all human societies, even in small hunter-gatherer bands, nowhere in the ancient world did the state emerge before the

widespread adoption of agriculture. Whether its acceptance was gradual or punctuated, farming completely transformed the way sustainable communities operated. While sources of water were obviously always important to human societies, agriculture demanded humans learn to manage and transport water through irrigation techniques. It was for this reason that in one of the first comprehensive models for the rise of the state, K. Wittfogel focused exclusively on large-scale irrigation (Wittfogel 1955). Effectively, Wittfogel argued that the complex nature of water management would necessitate the formation of powerful and likely permanent managerial positions in the symbolic communities developed to plan, construct, and manage irrigation projects (Wittfogel 1955:166). Some ethnographic and archaeological examples have criticized this theory, showing examples whereby relatively heterachically organized symbolic communities manage complex irrigation systems (W. Adams, et al. 1997; Leach 1959). Others have even argued specifically the opposite, claiming complex institutions like the state must exist before complex irrigation projects could be orchestrated (R. M. Adams 1966; Carneiro 1993). As always, it certainly differs case by case, but it is clear that as sustainable communities relied increasingly on domesticates the development of new specialized symbolic communities were needed, providing more venues for potential aggrandizers to compete (Billman 2002; Davies 2009; Lees 1994).

Population Pressure. Another major transition that went hand-in-hand with sustainable communities shift to agriculture was residential communities shift to permanent settlements. While in some areas permanent residential community settlements certainly predated the adoption of agriculture, once agriculture became the primary means of production in sustainable communities permanent residential settlement became necessary. These initial permanent settlements completely restructured how the various modes of community could interact, resulting in the emergence of two important institutions - the household and the village. These represent the first two emergent institutions that were fundamentally anchored to a specific location on the landscape. Again, while population growth may have predated and even caused

sedentism (Boserup 1965), these new geographically stagnant residential community modes and agriculturally-oriented sustainable communities always facilitated and even provided incentives for increased populations (Carneiro 1970; Drennan and Peterson 2008; Sanders, et al. 1988; Wilk and Netting 1984).

However, the new geographically-anchored residential community structure retarded one of the primary mechanisms that symbolic communities had developed for dealing with intracommunity conflict, that could lead to fissioning. Mobile modes of residential community facilitated fissioning - when individuals or entire local symbolic communities were in conflict they could simply split off and either join another group or start their own (G. A. Johnson 1982; Rappaport 1968). Permanent modes of residential community and the agricultural sustainable communities that supported them required significantly more labor to establish. The combination of permanent settlements, growing populations, and less ability to fission led to an increase in scalar stress and necessitated a need for new symbolic communities to diffuse these intracommunity issues (Bandy 2004a; Bandy and Fox 2010; G. A. Johnson 1982). However, even when it was possible for fissioning to occur, geographic circumscription and the carrying capacity of the local ecosystem would also restrict how often these new residential communities could fission (as it always had) (Carneiro 1988; Kirch 1988; Norton 2007).

Warfare. A final prime mover surrounds intra-community conflict and violence. This suite of direct violent or conflict-based behaviors is often grouped together as warfare, but these also include all manner of raiding, slave capture, and territorial invasion. Violent confrontations between individuals within communities as well as between communities has likely always been part of community formation and transformation (Knauft, et al. 1991). Even egalitarian huntergatherer and other small-scale societies are known to engage in relatively extensive and complex violence-based practices (Allen and Jones 2016; Macfarlan, et al. 2014). However, again with the widespread adoption of sedentary residential community configurations, raiding and destruction of sustainable community resources became more prevalent. The most ardent

supporter of the warfare prime mover hypothesis is R. Carneiro (Carneiro 1970, 1978, 1988, 1992, 1994, 2012). While Carneiro has been adamant that warfare was always involved in state formation, he also acknowledges that it was always combined with other socio-environmental stresses as well. Specifically, Carneiro's frameworks suggest that as population pressure increased, the scalar stresses described above propelled an increase in intra-community conflict. This was especially true in regions that were particularly circumscribed by environmental factors - such as occupying a fertile river valley in an otherwise arid desert (Carneiro 2012). For Carneiro it was leadership in militarized symbolic communities that led to eventual institutional leadership and the state.

Simulating Institutional Emergence

Any one or combination of these prime movers could engage the series of evolutionary mechanisms described below that increase social complexity and result in the state. For Flannery, the complexity of a given society is measured by two primary characteristics – segregation and centralization. *Segregation* refers to the degree of internal differentiation and specialization of social subsystems, whereas *centralization* indicates the degree of internal between these subsystems (Flannery 1972:408). Subsystems generally fall into two categories: *lower-order subsystems*, which have a specific purpose within the political economy and are generally inflexible whereas *higher-order controls* are generally more sociopolitical in nature, flexible and "set reference values of the output of lower-order subsystems" (Flannery 1972:423). In community ecology terms lower-order subsystems generally associate with sustainable communities whereas high-order subsystems correlate with modes of symbolic community.

This macroscale process of centralization and segregation are generally initiated by the aforementioned prime movers. However, while the socio-environmental stresses catalyze this process it is through the emergent social mechanisms of promotion and linearization that new

institutions actually emerge. *Promotion* effectively occurs when symbolic communities or microscale institutions increase their importance within the system. Often this means a specific symbolic community becomes more general in its purpose. This can also occur when a segment of a symbolic community transforms into an institution in its own right, increasing segregation. The mechanism *linearization* occurs when lower-order subsystems, generally symbolic communities regulating specific tasks within sustainable community activities, consistently fail and are bypassed by higher-order symbolic community manifestations (Flannery 1972:413).

The basic simulation proceeds beginning from a relatively small-scale society, where there are mostly very specific-purpose symbolic communities managing different aspects of the broader sustainable community. As linearization occurs in response to some socioenvironmental stress(es), buffers are weakened between symbolic community components, leading to simplification within the broader multi-modal community network. To maintain this general-purpose simplification more management is needed, often leading to the emergence of higher-order symbolic communities. As new socio-environmental stresses are encountered these increasingly general-purpose symbolic communities can fissure through promotion, leading to greater segregation. Coordination between these new symbolic communities necessitates new or more effective information processing symbolic community formulations. These new communities are inherently more specific in function and therefore efficient, but as they develop, these communities also tend to become more general purpose and self-serving which causes more stress on the system. This creates a feedback loop as new institutions emerge to cope with this stress. When centralization and segregation have crossed a certain threshold within an articulated network "the state can be said to exist" (Flannery 1972:423).

Peer-Polity Interaction

While Flannery's model provides a useful sequence through which high-order institutions emerge from lower order community interaction within a specific network or society, it is

important to remember that no multi-modal community network is ever found in isolation. This is a factor emphasized in C. Renfrew's peer-polity interaction model (Renfrew 1996; Renfrew and Cherry 1986). This model is useful here as it traces broad connections between community networks and their emergent institutions at the macroscale. This model added nuance to longstanding models of diffusion by acknowledging that across the ancient world it appears "when a significant organizational change, and in particular an increase in complexity, is recognized within one polity, it is generally the case that some of the other polities in the region will undergo the same transformation at about the same time" (Renfrew 1996:7). As has already been noted, it is often at the linkage between two largely independent community networks that aggrandizers find the most success as these linkages are where new information and materials can be exchanged.

In many instances this peer-polity interaction resulted in increased complexity through direct competition as described by Carneiro (Carneiro 1993). However, Renfrew notes that through a process he calls symbolic entrainment, there is a "tendency for a developed symbolic system to be adopted when it comes into contact with a less-developed one with which it does not strikingly conflict" (Renfrew 1996:8). In other words, more highly developed symbolic communities tend to subsume less developed ones, especially if they provide novel solutions for common issues. Some recent studies have even suggested that this form of peer-polity interaction, even in highly competitive manifestations, resulted in early urban-style settlements before centralized states emerged, as the primary residential communities of the competing networks converged geographically (Jennings, et al. 2016:476-478).

Consolidating Community Networks

While these meso- and macro-scale evolutionary mechanisms sound abstract they fit nicely with the more micro- to meso-scale aggrandizing strategies described above. As has already been noted, these aggrandizing behaviors are the very prime movers that kick off this

feedback loop of linearization and promotion. Importantly, as symbolic communities become more general purpose in function, they provided new avenues of power for aggrandizers to pursue, and if a system was able to sustain certain levels of centralization these avenues could lead to almost any node in the community network. These new emerging leadership roles did not just carry prestige for the individual aggrandizer but came to be essential for the functioning of society - this led to these symbolic community aggrandizing roles becoming *institutionalized leadership positions* that needed to be filled, even if an individual aggrandizer was lost (Vaughn, et al. 2010). These new emerging general-purpose symbolic communities exceeded the abilities of single aggrandizers which would lead to them delegating to their closest symbolic-sustainable community in-group, often their direct kin. It was in this way that these institutional leadership roles led to hereditary inequality and eventually the society wide stratification that define the earliest states. Importantly, as the formation of this hereditary stratification across multiple modes of community is definitional to the formation of the state, this means that, more often than not, "state formation is a multi-generational process" (Jennings, et al. 2016:485)

Being the State: systems of control, integration, & network globalization

The question of the threshold of the state is not an easy one to answer. State-level societies have now existed for some time – no one would suggest that the modern geopolitical states of the 21st century are the same of those arising in ancient world. Most models of social complexity, especially those in the neoevolutionary or systems projects, have defined at least two types of states. Sahlins and Service (1960) distinguished between archaic states and the modern nation-state; likewise, Flannery (1995) has separated archaic states or kingdoms from more expansive empires. As is always the case with evolutionary models, there is a temporal assumption here, that is earlier states are expected to be less complex than ones that emerge later. Building on this, here I target what some of the dynamics of pristine or first-generation

states may have been. I then describe how the fundamentally stratified flows that are definitional to states are best seen as a variety of core-periphery relations.

First-Generation States

With all the previously described general principles and limitations in mind; how would we expect the very first states to have operated? The higher-order controls of symbolic communities developed to cope with increasingly segmented and specialized multi-modal community networks often must center exclusively on information processing - effectively specializing in "reflexive communication" (Blanton 1998:162-163). As will be noted below, while control of material resources and their sustainable community features were always part of early statecraft, it was the information processing ability of their symbolic communities that separate them from more ephemeral chiefdoms and other manifestations of ranked societies (Wright 1977). In many ways this stands in stark opposition to many Marxist or materialist perspectives, which more often than not, relegate symbolic community behavior to mere epiphenomena, used to mask purely sustainable community aspirations to dominance and total control (Althusser 2006; Gramsci 2011). However, in addition to not always representing dedicated systems of oppression, as has already been mentioned, the corporate strategies of aggrandizers were often geared more towards regulating knowledge-based wealth in symbolic communities than controlling material wealth of sustainable communities, and it was likely these strategies that led to the earliest forms of centralization and segmentation that define the multi-modal community networks from which the initial pristine or first-generation states emerged.



Figure 7. Hypersimplified schematics of different models of state formation described in the text, represented using the modes of community (as represented in Figure 5).

It is likely that the earliest forms of symbolic community centralization to reach the level of the state, that would have been tolerated by relatively egalitarian-oriented populations would have been for scheduling lower-order activities needed for sustainable community exchanges. It has already been described how ritual and other knowledge-specialists could become powerful aggrandizers, capable of transforming and even generating new residential and sustainable communities. As these symbolic communities became more globally-oriented and came to control more aspects of society it is likely that the new burgeoning sustainable communities that funded the performances central to *long ritual cycles* defined the first multi-modal community networks centralized and segmented enough to be considered a state. A. Southall and others have argued that this *ritual mode of production* was likely at the foundation of first-generation or

what he called *segmentary states* (Goldstein 2015; Southall 1956, 1988, 1991, 2000; Spielmann 2002; Stanish 2017). As such, the sociopolitical and economic reach of these polities was likely quite limited and its control heterogeneous in which "political sovereignty was confined to the central, core domain." Under this segmentary state model, power was rooted in its "ritual suzerainty" which "extends widely toward a flexible, changing periphery" (Southall 2000:239).

C. Geertz made some of the first explicit insights into the type of state-level polity in which power was held and expressed more via ritual suzerainty than in political sovereignty. Using the historic and ethnographic observations from the Balinese state, Geertz outlined his model of the *theater state*, in which:

Court ceremonialism was the driving force of court politics; and mass ritual was not a device to shore up the state, but rather the state, even in its final gasp, was a device for the enactment of mass ritual. Power served pomp, not pomp power (1980:13).

However, while political heterogeneity and ritual pomp may have defined the higher-order controls of the earliest states, at their foundation these processes were also involved in managing and indeed controlling lower-order subsystems of production, consumption, and interregional exchange that define sustainable communities. This aspect of control always incorporated territorial control and even expansion (C. S. Spencer 2010). Defining the limits and overall topology of all forms of community network flows, symbolic and material, is essential to understanding these earliest states.

Core-Periphery Systems

Interregional interaction has been part of human sociality at every stage of complexity. Interaction spheres and long-distance trade networks, even ones composed of only loosely integrated symbolic and sustainable communities, always had centers of gravity - natural aspects of the socio-environmental landscape that led to certain unequal flows of goods and ideas (Caldwell 1962; Hirth 1978; Schortman and Urban 1992). However, as discussed above,

the formation of increasingly higher-order forms of stratification in multi-modal community networks fundamentally changed the topologies of this interaction. One of the most useful formulations for conceiving of these unequal flows, especially with the emergence of complex institutions like the state, are core-periphery models. These models are particularly useful at tracing these macro-level flows of the state, effectively looking for patterns in a regional-level division of labor (Hall 2000:4; Santley and Alexander 1992; Wallerstein 1993:294).

I. Wallerstein's *world-systems theory* (Wallerstein 1974) has provided the foundation for the broader core-periphery framework discussed here. Under world-systems theory there are three primary geo-social components to a macroscale regional division of labor: cores, peripheries, and semi-peripheries. *Cores* are the dominating and driving force in the worldsystems model. They are at the peak of social complexity (for the system), having highly centralized political organization. Cores control, both directly (e.g., military force - colonization) and indirectly (e.g., hegemonic control), all forms of long-distance trade to-and-from peripheral regions, and accumulate all surpluses (Wallerstein 1974). Technological development is also concentrated in the core regions of the system, with highly diversified production economies and highly specialized labor institutions (Hall 2000:5).

At the other end of the spectrum, *peripheries* are seen in Wallerstein's model as producers for the core region. These peripheral zones see very little profit and certainly no concentration of surplus or general wealth (Wallerstein 1974:302). Specialized production in peripheral areas is rare, focusing instead on the production of bulk goods (e.g. agricultural products) and the collection of other raw materials (e.g. mining). These raw goods are then imported into the cores, as either tribute or forced extraction, with finished or manufactured goods often exported back to the periphery for additional profits to the core (Wallerstein 1974:102-103). Finally, *semi-peripheral* areas, as the term indicates, represent regions that were in-between cores and peripheral areas; acting as buffer zones, economically and geographically, between the core and peripheral areas. The role of these intermediary zones

can be dynamic and relative as "[semi-peripheries] act as peripheral zones for core countries and in part they act as a core country for some peripheral areas" (Wallerstein 1979:97), and as such these regions are generally more evenly balanced in terms of the concentration of profits, technological advancements, and diversity of production.

Wallerstein originally formulated world-systems theory to explain the meteoric rise and spread of capitalism. Originating in what he called "the long sixteenth century" (ca. AD 1450-1640), Wallerstein detailed the emergence of this new economic system at the hands of a few western European nations that formed the core. The rise of a merchant class in need of bulk goods, raw materials, labor, and external markets, in turn, led to the colonization and peripheralization of much of the world (Wallerstein 1979, 2011). Wallerstein's model was primarily economic, focusing on the reproduction of this exploitative core-periphery mode of production at the macroscale. In addition, for Wallerstein, a true world-systems manifestation necessitated the modern technological capabilities to transport bulk goods from distant peripheries, disqualifying most prehistoric sociopolitical formations. However, in spite of this many scholars immediately saw the usefulness in this model for explaining how economies as well as broader complex social systems, like archaic states, operated in the deep past (Chase-Dunn and Hall 1993; Chirot and Hall 1982; Kajsa Ekholm and Friedman 1982b; Frank and Gills 1996; Frankenstein and Rowlands 1978; Friedman and Rowlands 1977).

In order to broaden the applicability of this model other case studies, the primary alteration to world-systems theory was that this core-periphery relationship in regional networks expanded far beyond purely economic modes of production, and instead applied to any modes of accumulation, exchange, and even broader modes of social reproduction (Chase-Dunn and Hall 1991; Kajsa Ekholm and Friedman 1982b; Frankenstein and Rowlands 1978; Friedman 1979; Friedman and Rowlands 1977; Peter Peregrine 2000; Schneider 1977). C. Chase-Dunn and T. Hall offer four broad modes of exchange which defined premodern world-systems; 1) trade in bulk goods; 2) political and military exchanges; 3) luxury, preciosity, or prestige-good

exchanges; 4) and information exchanges (Chase-Dunn and Hall 1997). With each mode of exchange the scale and strength of its boundary can be expected to outreach the preceding boundary. However, they also see world-system boundaries as extremely dynamic and "pulsating" geographically over time (Hall 2000:11). Many of the dynamics of these processes, including the role of prestige goods and information were described above. In addition, by the time a society approached the complexity of state, there was always an element of bulk-good control, in addition to the other modes of exchange.

More important for understanding archaic states is examining the ways in which cores relate to peripheries. Under the original world-systems formulation cores dominated their peripheries in almost every respect, but certainly economically (Frank 1966; Wallerstein 1974). Here peripheries were completely reliant on cores for all economic activity. However, many studies have shown that, particularly in nascent states, the logistic inability of cores to directly control many aspects of peripheries made these areas "zones of cultural interfaces in which cross-cutting and overlapping social units can be defined and recombined" (Lightfoot and Martinez 1995:472; G. Stein 1999). In fact, because of their contact with a developed core, many peripheral populations could actually find advantages and sometimes transform quite rapidly (Algaze 2005; Chase-Dunn and Grell-Brisk 2016; Donnan and Wilson 1994; Kasja Ekholm and Friedman 1985; Feuer 2016; Green and Costion 2017; Kohl 1987; Parker 2006; Upham 1992).

As has already been noted, the boundaries of different spheres of exchange or control likely shifted over time, even during the life of an archaic state. In times of centralization and core strength, "dominant core strategies" were predominant, and typical hierarchical, core-periphery systems would develop - however, in periods of decentralization, "boundary strategies would prevail" (Blanton, et al. 1992:422-423; Kristiansen 1994; Marcus 1998). The logistical limitations of first-generation states have already been discussed, however below I use this general core-periphery framework to describe patterns in how each of modes of community may

have manifested under the unequal flows that defined the macroscale institutions of archaic states.

Archaic State Residential Communities

One of the classic hallmarks of archaic states are the development of stratified residential community settlement patterns. This stratification generally expresses in both population size and complexity of institutions present in settlements (Wright and Johnson 1975). The ideal state-level settlement pattern is often depicted as a fixed solar system composed of a four-tier hierarchy - a large primate center in the middle of a core area of influence, orbited by progressively smaller and less complex settlements, from secondary centers, to large villages, and finally hamlets (Billman 2001; Marcus 2008:259; Plog 1976). Of course, as discussed above, this was not a uniform spread; constraints, from environmental to preexisting sociocultural systems, provided advantages and disadvantages to state expansion and control (Crumley 1979; S. C. Smith and Janusek 2014; G. Stein 1999). However, at the macroscale all first-generation states were certainly based in primary residential communities from which the central symbolic communities expanded their influence and control.

Urban Cores. The development of the first urban centers or cities has been central to understanding the state. This has been true since V. G. Childe first coined the Urban Revolution to mark the general emergence of complex societies (Childe 1950). While it may be true that population agglomerations large enough to be considered urban centers likely predated, and even may have operated on sociopolitical processes that depressed state-level centralization in some areas (Jennings, et al. 2016), it is clear that the earliest states were centered on large urban centers (Cowgill 2004:526). Like a household or a village, a city represents a specific socio-spatial institution under the community ecology framework - that is they represent more than large, complex residential communities and instead are specific locations in which specific sustainable and symbolic communities are anchored in residential communities (Cowgill 2004;

Glaeser 2011; Jacobs 1961; Storey 2006). A useful distinction has recently been made between urban types: economic cities - centered on sustainable community behavior and political cities centered on symbolic community aggrandizing behavior. This recent survey by Smith and Lobo argued that most emergent urban centers likely centered on the intentional actions of aggrandizers and their constituent symbolic communities whereas most modern cities fall more into the economic city category (M. E. Smith and Lobo 2019). However, in another recent study G. Algaze emphasizes that the brutal living conditions of all premodern cities would have essentially demanded consistent influx of immigrant populations to sustain themselves, necessitating an economic drive (Algaze, et al. 2018; see also Nichols 2006).

While households likely remained important socio-spatial institutions at the microscale within macroscale socio-spatial institutions like the first cities (e.g., Marcus 2009; Ur 2014), new intermediary forms of residentially-oriented community formations began to emerge as well. In several recent studies the term *neighborhood* has become particularly emphasized to describe these new urban residential community manifestations (see Arnauld, et al. 2012; Hutson 2016; Pacifico and Truex 2019; Stone 1987). While house clusters and other forms of intermediary residential communities had certainly been present in village formations (Bandy and Fox 2010), neighborhoods represent a new emergent form in the hyperdense population centers of emerging cities. While these new socio-spatial institutions manifested differently in different urban settings, they appear to be a relatively ubiquitous feature of urban settlements from their first formation (Storey 2006). Sometimes literally walled off, but always physically demarcated in the built environment these spaces were used to house and more importantly socially integrate local symbolic community affiliation in an otherwise globally-oriented symbolic community settlement (Hutson 2016; Pacifico 2019; any chapter in Manzanilla and Chapdelaine 2009). Finally, sometimes neighborhoods are also seen as nested in larger intercity intermediary forms like precincts, barrios, or districts (M. E. Smith and Novic 2010).

Colonized Peripheries. Another way in which the first states fundamentally altered

residential community formations was through the formalization of various colonization practices (G. Stein 2005:12-13). As always, there is great variability in these residential community manifestations, but G. Stein offers a comprehensive conceptualization that grapples with this diversity, defining a colony as:

An implanted settlement established by one society in either uninhabited territory or the territory of another society. The implanted settlement is established for long-term residence by all or part of the homeland...and is both spatially and socially distinguishable from the communities of indigenous polity or peoples among whom it is established (G. Stein 2002:30).

Stein goes on to explain how these new forms of implanted residential communities were motivated by various sustainable and symbolic community manifestations (G. Stein 2005:11). Along these lines he argues that functionally a colony can be:

- a center of higher-order symbolic communities centered on administrative or military goals - *direct colony*
- 2) a center of higher-order symbolic communities centered on religion mission colony
- 3) a new residential community for refugees diasporic colony
- 4) a new residential community for settlers due to demographic pressures settler colony
- 5) a new residential community for forcibly resettled populations *displaced colony*

Obviously, these different roles of colonies are not mutually exclusive and the function of any given colony likely shifted over time. However, the main point here is that these new implanted residential communities are another ubiquitous feature of even the earliest states. That said, while they may have been ubiquitous, the limited logistical ability of archaic states would have affected just how far direct colonial methods could be applied (G. Stein 1999:62). Instead, various versions of settler colonies and even diasporic colonies likely defined the earliest colonial manifestations. These settler-diaspora colonies maintained their symbolic community

practices but often only had tenuous direct contact with the homeland (G. Stein 2005:47). However, they manifested, these colonies were by definition located at the extents of state control and characterized important regions called frontiers or borderlands.

As has already been noted these frontiers or borderlands represent dynamic areas of culture contact (Barth 1998; Feuer 2016; Green and Costion 2017; Lightfoot and Martinez 1995; Parker 2006; G. Stein 2005). Sometimes this dynamic landscape appears to have resulted in the fusing of various symbolic community practices and beliefs through various forms of emulation and other forms of symbolic entrapment, resulting in hybridity and even ethnogenesis (Card 2013; Van Dommelen 1997; Weik 2014). However, sometimes it was in these areas of cultural contact where symbolic community affiliations were accentuated and even aggressively projected (R. Cohen 1997, 2008).

Archaic State Sustainable Communities

The rise of the first archaic states, including the emergence of the first urban centers necessitated intensification of sustainable community activity in every dimension. I have already discussed at length a number of ways in which aggrandizers and increasingly entire higher-order symbolic communities would intervene, both directly and indirectly, in sustainable community organization. This includes everything from managing irrigation projects and other infrastructural projects to increase agricultural productivity to co-opting long distance trade relationships. While centralization was of course a part of this shift under archaic states, segregation may have been even more powerful as is evidenced by increased specialization in all aspects of sustainable community roles.

Craft Production. Nowhere in the sustainable community networks of archaic states is specialization more evident than in craft production. The production of crafts, from tools to clothing and from pots to figurines, is a fundamental part of the human condition and talented specialists likely existed at any level of social complexity. However, it was under states that

entire symbolic communities developed to maintain the skill-base necessary to complete increasingly specialized sustainable community tasks involved in this craft production (Costin 1996; Patterson 2005; Schortman and Urban 2004; G. S. Stein and Blackman 1993). Again, while they may have existed prior, it was under the state that full retainer workshops, or entire communities who worked full-time to complete crafts commissioned by higher-order elites, were first developed (Costin 1991:9). This type of specialized craft production can be indicated in a number of ways but often includes standardization and increasing levels of precision expressed in the final products (Costin 1991, 2001). Importantly, G. Algaze has recently used the concept import substitutions, by which aggrandizer-funded workshops would mass produce formally high-valued imports, to explain how this early specialization would have been one of the primary catalysts for driving the often paradoxical cycles of urban growth (Algaze, et al. 2018).

Archaic State Symbolic Communities

The centralization and segregation of increasing social complexity under archaic states certainly had repercussions in sustainable and residential modes but they primary took place in symbolic community manifestations (Conrad and Demarest 1984; Knapp 1988). As has already been noted, if nothing else, a state truly specialized in reflexive modes of communication (Blanton 1998). Much of this communication involved decision making, which under archaic states meant the need for symbolic communities that were: "both externally specialized with regard to the local processes [they] regulate, and internally specialized in that the central process[es] are divisible into separate activities which can be performed at different places at different times" (Wright 1977:383). The highest-order symbolic communities were occupied by true elites who, like leaders of modern nation-states, ultimately acted as the delegater-in-chief, relying on leaders of their constituent symbolic communities to regulate lower-order sustainable communities (Huber and Shipan 2006). Purely bureaucratic symbolic communities became important for maintaining records for sustainable community tributes and other purposes of

production and exchange. Militarized symbolic communities became important for enforcing laws in residential communities as well as securing resources for burgeoning sustainable communities (Carneiro 1992; Schreiber 1987; Valdés Guía 2019). However, arguably more important for many archaic states were specialists who worked to regulate the articulating systems of value which allowed for complex institutions like the state to be be sustained (Conrad and Demarest 1984).

Priests. As has already been noted, first-generation states in particular likely hinged on the ability of local symbolic community leaders to generate, maintain, and transform knowledge and other systems of belief (Southall 2000). While this role may have fallen to individual aggrandizers in pre-state formations, as centralization and segmentation both allowed for specialization as well as broadening authoritative power, entire communities were needed to carry out these central integrating activities. The class of specialists geared towards managing higher-order forms of symbolic wealth are best defined as *priests* (VanPool 2009; Winkelman 1992). As these symbolic communities were promoted and became more general purpose they also became more self-serving, in that a great amount of resources, material and symbolic, were needed to sustain them (Flannery 1972:413). Temples and other higher-order symbolic community infrastructure often formed essential and central portions of urban settlement built environments as well of the broader sustainable community (Kajsa Ekholm and Friedman 1982a; Stanish 2017). Again, these symbolic community manifestations often were ables to spread much further and integrate much deeper than other forms of state influence.

Globalizing Community Networks

The debate of whether states represent qualitatively new institutions or simply ones defined by quantitative difference is still alive and well, there is no question that they are defined by a marked increase in centralization and segregation. As a macroscale emergent institution, the state would manifest in specific ways in specific times and places, but was always more

than the sum of the multi-modal community networks whose interaction generated them. Even first-generation, largely segmentary states, acted as centers of gravity in expanding networks of control and influence. This new regional-level network centralization is best seen as a form of globalization. Following studies of the modern planetary globalization process that defines the Anthropocene (Chase-Dunn 1999; Friedman 1995; Tomlinson 1999; Trouillot, et al. 2001), an increasing number of studies project this idea into prehistory to describe periods of intense centralization and integration in past networks (Kajsa Ekholm and Friedman 2008; Jennings 2010, 2016; Knappett 2016; LaBianca and Scham 2006). While globalized networks are defined by increased connectivity between all modes of community they are particularly emphasized in increasingly interconnected symbolic community belief systems. These symbolic homologies, in broad swaths of a network, can actually generate phenomenological effects that act to compress space-time - essentially making formally disparate locations feel more alike (Jennings 2016:13-20). However, globalized networks can also have the opposite effect, actually instigating the re-embedding of local symbolic communities as forms of general symbolic community conservatism and even active resistance (Scott 1990; Yoffee 2016). Far from monolithic, the community ecology framework coupled with Flannery's systems-based state simulation helps illustrate how not just centralization, but institutional segregation defined archaic states.

Breaking the State: resiliency, collapse, and network balkanization

Of course, states were not static entities but rather precarious emergent institutions reliant on multitudes of multi-modal community network interactions. Like all complex adaptive systems, states relied on constant feedback between interlocking subsystems both composed of and controlled by increasingly centralized and segregated symbolic communities (R. M. Adams 2001). In his simulation for the rise of the state Flannery also explains how the

processes of promotion and linearization that lead to centralization, segregation and the emergence of the state, are also subject to fatal internal pathologies that induce eventual collapse (Flannery 1972). Promotion of symbolic communities can easily fall victim to *usurpation* in which they turn aggressively self-serving, draining capital from the system instead of generating it. Likewise, by their basal nature, processes of linearization increasingly cause higher-order symbolic communities to circumvent and often break-down intervening, better established buffer systems.

Both of these issues can lead to *hypercoherence* in which critical symbolic communities or internal institutions take on too many roles. When these hubs within the network falter or fail it can lead to cascades of other failures - the entire system becomes a house of cards (Flannery 1972:420; Yoffee 2019). Effectively if these critical higher-order symbolic communities fail they lead to thresholds of self-organized criticality in which rapid feedback leads to the collapse of the entire system (Tainter 1990; Yoffee and Cowgill 1991). As with understanding their emergence, most frameworks for understanding the dynamics of complex societal collapse begin with socio-environmental stresses. These may be gradual or prolonged (extended drought) or punctuated (e.g. major flood), and of course include all manner of human induced ecological issues (e.g. environmental degradation due to over exploitation or warfare) (Diamond 2010; Tainter 1990, 2006).

A growing number of studies using panarchy theory have provided one of the more robust frameworks for understanding how complex emergent institutions like the state can be both fragile and prone to collapse as well as resilient, capable of maintaining coherent cultural projects for centuries (Folke 2006; Gotts 2007; Holling and Gunderson 2002; Kinzig, et al. 2006; Redman 2005). The panarchy framework is geared towards understanding the adaptability or resilience of a given system (in this case the state) to the socio-environment in which it is situated - particularly the ability of the system to "absorb" socio-environmental stresses without fundamental reorganization (Holling and Gunderson 2002:28). Under this model the adaptive

cycle is made of four primary stages: exploitation, conservation, release, and reorganization. The *exploitation* and conservation phases are about a system seeking out/developing surrounding resources to exploit and consolidating/developing resources for accumulating surplus. The *release* stage roughly aligns with aspects of hypercoherence when the system reaches fragility thresholds and eventually can collapse. A final stage of *reorganization* occurs when the system is reconstituted - sometimes in the image of the predecessor system and sometimes something new (Holling and Gunderson 2002:33-35).

Importantly the panarchy framework is a multiscalar model that sees various, interlocking adaptive cycles occurring simultaneously (Holling and Gunderson 2002). These systemic cycles are nested within each other and depending on their scale, move through the adaptive cycle at different rates. For example, macroscale institutions and higher-order symbolic and sustainable communities tend to move through the cycle relatively slowly with substantial changes accruing over generations. Conversely, microscale institutions and local symbolic communities may move through the process relatively rapidly, with periods of creative destruction occurring many times during the life of an individual. The interlocking nature of these different cycles are ripe for feedback and periods of self-organized criticality. For instance, *memory* generated from the conservative macroscale societal systems can actually generate stability for lower-order systems, even during times of change. However, the faster cycling lower-order systems can actually accumulate to generate *revolt* and rapid periods of change in even conservative higher-order systems (Redman 2005:73-74).

Balkanizing Community Networks

Many archaic states appear to have lasted for generations and even centuries, however many also appear to have suffered relatively rapid collapse - it is clear that both elements of resilience and fragility defined these early macroscale institutions. However, even the most resilient archaic states would eventually collapse leading to major decentralization and
balkanization in multi-modal community networks. The collapse of macroscale institutions almost always meant significant reorganization in all modes of community. Residential communities that defined urban cores often dissipated entirely (Tainter 2006). Colony populations were often cut-off from their homelands and left living in diaspora - interestingly these can represent some of the last vestiges of former state symbolic community manifestations (R. Cohen 1997; Owen 2005). However, it is important to see the collapse of a complex adaptive system, like the state, less as a collapsing building, reduced to rubble, and more of a series of interlocking solar systems release from their orbit around a black hole. Said another way the collapse of an archaic state, while often rapid and even occurring through violent revolt, did not result in the subsequent system(s) starting from scratch. In fact, periods of collapse often lead to periods of intense regeneration and even increased complexity (Faulseit 2016; McAnany and Yoffee 2009; Schwartz and Nichols 2010).

In fact, it is only after a state has developed and collapsed that macroscale institutions like empires can form. Here I define empires as aggressively territorially expansive states, that have often conquered or otherwise incorporated neighboring states (Doyle 1986; Sinopoli 1994; M. E. Smith and Schreiber 2005). The reason empires were often able to form quickly was by reconstituting community networks originally forged by proceeding states (Chase-Dunn and Grell-Brisk 2016; Chase-Dunn and Hall 1997; Hall, et al. 2011:251). These geopolotical landscapes of competing or peer-polity states in which empires could form only appear to have occurred after the rise and collapse of a number of first-generation archaic states.

1.4 Chapter Summary

Chapter 1 has detailed the theoretical perspectives and frameworks on which this dissertation attempts to build-on and work within.

1.1: I make the argument that to properly understand any aspect of human sociality a

formal complexity approach is necessary. Here I introduce complex adaptive systems and the reoccurring features that define them.

1.2: Here I explain how any complexity perspective necessitates a multiscalar and multidimensional approach. Most importantly, in this subsection I introduce my community ecology approach as an essential middle-range framework for bridging the gap between the local and the global.

1.3: In this final subsection I work to synthesize the community ecology framework with the wide body of research that has worked to understand the birth, life, and death of archaic states.

Next: Chapter 2 contextualizes this largely theoretical discussion in the context of Andean South America and specifically the Tiwanaku case study in the south-central Andes.

Chapter 2 - Socio-Geographical Context

In this chapter I contextualize the theoretical discussion outlined in Chapter 1 within the socio-geographical context of the Andes. To do this I provide a basic introduction to Andean South America by surveying the history and prehistory of this diverse region as well as reviewing some of the ways in which this history has been understood. This includes highlighting the role archeology and ethnography have played in this process as well as the study of the Inca and other contact period groups from Colonial-era documents. I hone-in specifically on the indigenous concept of *ayllu* as an essential feature of Andean social life. I draw extensive connections between the present and historic use of the concept of *ayllu* in many parts of the Central Andes with the multi-modal community networks I defined in Chapter 1. Finally, this section ends with a detailed account of the Middle Horizon Period (ca. AD 500-1100) in the south-central Andes. This discussion centers on situating Tiwanaku as an archaic state and reviewing current archaeological understanding of how this polity formed, expanded, and eventually collapsed.

2.1 A (Very) Brief History of Understanding Social Life in the Andes: a macroscale view

The western coastline of South America is marked by hyperarid coastal dessert punctuated by modest river valleys; narrow oases watered by alpine runoff. Then rise the rugged Andes, whose snow-capped, often volcanically active peaks reach heights of 4000 meters above sea level. On the eastern slopes the range gives way to cloud forests and eventually the tropical lowland expanse of the Amazon Basin. In much of western South America, just a single week of walking could bring one from the Pacific, across the expanse of the Andes, and into the humid jungles of the Amazon. This land of compressed ecological extremes was the locus for one of the truly independent developmental trajectories of human

societies in the deep past. As with the Near East, North Africa, East Asia, and Mesoamerica, investigating the processes involved in the development of social complexity has been one of the central themes driving Andean archaeological research since its beginnings (Bennett 1946; Lumbreras 1981; Moseley 1992a; Stanish 2001a; Willey 1953). Likewise, archaeological research conducted in the Andes has been central to advancements in theoretical and empirical understandings of social complexity more broadly (Carneiro 1988; Spencer 2010; Steward 1972; Tantaleán 2016).

In this subsection I review how the study of the Andean past has developed since the turbulent sixteenth century when the Andes and the rest of the Americas were brought into contact with the Old World societies of Africa, Asia, and Europe. This discussion centers largely on the development of archeology and ethnohistory in the twentieth century and how these burgeoning disciplines were applied in Peru, Bolivia, and to a lesser extent Chile, and other neighboring nations. I then provide a schematic overview of the processual culture-history these studies have produced, highlighting significant trends in regional sociopolitical development and horizon-based system that has long defined our understanding of Andean prehistory. However, first I supply some additional geographical context by presenting information about the defining environmental and geological features of the Andes.

The Andes: an environmental overview

The Andean Cordillera represents the longest continuous mountain range in the world spanning the entire north-south length of the South American continent or approximately 7000 kilometers. The range is the result of subduction tectonic activity as the Nazca Plate underlying the eastern Pacific Ocean slides beneath the South American continental plate. The Andes touch portions of seven modern nations - from Columbia in the equatorial north of the continent to the Patagonia region of Chile and Argentina in the south. However, here my discussion

targets the Central Andes portion of the range which primarily falls within Peru and Bolivia and is bound by southern Ecuador in the north and northern Chile and northwestern Argentina in the south. The Andes represent one of the prominent regions in the Pacific Ring of Fire, and as such is subject to frequent and often intense earthquakes and contains numerous active volcanoes (Barazangi and Isacks 1976; De Silva 1989). The particularly volcanically dense southern Andes contain the highest elevation volcanic peaks in the world (Cembrano and Lara 2009).

Like most alpine-based environments, differences between specific ecozones in the Andes are largely oriented vertically, based on elevation. This is made particularly extreme in the Andes as the range is located often just twenty kilometers from the Pacific Ocean. This ecological complexity is again compounded as the chain interacts with warm, moist air from the southern Atlantic in the east and the cool, dry air which wells up from the cold, deep waters of the Humboldt current along the Pacific coastline (Garreaud 2009). The result of this is an extreme rain shadow effect, whereby moisture is trapped east of the Andes, resulting in the well-watered Amazon Basin and more importantly for this study, it creates a hyper-arid strip of coastal desert, trapped between the Pacific and the Andes (Houston and Hartley 2003). In a now classic study, J. P. Vidal used indigenous Quechua terms to label eight primary environmental zones that define the Central Andean portion of the chain (Vidal 1987). These zones begin along the western coast and move eastward across the cordillera and end with the Amazon basin in the east, with boundaries between zones defined by vegetation, topography, precipitation, and of course, elevation (Figure 8).

8-EcoZones of the Central Andes		ECOZONE	Elevation m.a.s.l.	average temperature range (degrees centigrade)	defining features	commonly cited natural resources	commonly cited domesticates
Yun	a O	<u>Chala</u>	0 -500		coastal lomas and hyperarid desert broken by intermitent river	fish, marine birds	fruits, peppers,
Su Pu	ni O na	Yunga-W	500-2300	8 - 33	seasonal fog hyperarid, rocky hillsides dissected by deeply incised valleys	guano fertalizer crayfish, algarobba and molle fruit,	maize, beans, squash maize, beans,
Jan	ka O Rupa O	Quechua	2300-3500		relatively smooth fluvial steppes adjacent to intermontain valleys.	wild camelids and	maize, beans, tubers (potatoes, oca), chenopods
	gua U	<u>Suni</u>	3500-4000	11 - 16	frequent frost line high-relief topography, marked by narrow steep quebradas, frequent	wild camelids and	llamas, alpacas,
and the second sec		<u>Puna</u>	4000-4800	7 - 10	frosts low-relief grassland plains, frequent	deer, wild tubers wild camelids and deer, vicuña, wild tubers and chenopods,	tubers (potatoes, oca), chenopods (quinoa), Ilamas,
	14	Janca	4800+	0	high-mountain peaks - above the vegetation line, permanent frosts	X	X
		<u>Yunga-E</u>	2300-1000	11 - 35	forested slopes, steep topography, and narrow quebradas	various wild plants and animals	maize, squash, beans, coca
		<u>Rupa Rupa</u>	1000-400	22 - 25	semi-topical, cloud forest	timper, fruits, various wild plants, animals	maize, squash, fruits, beans, peppers
		<u>Omagua</u>	400-50	23-30	Well-watered swamps, humid tropical rainforest	hallucinagenic plants, fruits, gold, feathers, monkeys	maize, fruits



Figure 8. The eight primary ecozones of the Central Andes according to J. P. Vidal's model (Vidal 1987:24). Includes: map depicting the distribution of environmental zones across the Central Andes (top-left), chart providing basic information⁶ regarding each ecozone (elevations, average temperature range, and basic descriptions of the topography and wildlife) (top-right), and an idealized cross-section of the environmental zone distribution (bottom).

⁶ Most of this information was drawn from Vidal (Vidal 1987) but I also supplemented with information from other sources as well (particularly, Thomas and Winterhalder 1976; Troll 1968).

While there have been modern updates and new micro-climates defined (Hazzi, et al. 2018), Vidal's general zones are still particularly useful as they are based explicitly on generalized indigenous conceptions⁷ and use of the Andean landscape. As will be discussed in every subsection below, grappling with these often very condensed vertically-oriented environmental zones is a central theme to traditional Andean social life and the anthropological understanding of it (Murra 1985; Pease 1985; Platt 1986). I refer to these zones (Figure 8) throughout my discussion of general Andean culture-history below and provide much greater detail to how these zones are specifically distributed in the south-central Andes subregion (see 2.3).

While these general environmental zones likely defined the broader Andean environment for a significant portion of human occupation, there have been some significant changes over the millennia worth noting. The truly ancient glaciers of the Central Andean highlands and long-standing alpine lakes, particularly the massive Lake Titicaca, have provided ideal conditions for long-term paleoclimatic sampling, which have provided exceptional climactic clarity for the Andes (Abbott, et al. 1997; Abbott, et al. 2003; Grosjean, et al. 2001; Seltzer, et al. 2000; Thompson, et al. 2000). As with the rest of the Americas, Andean South America was first definitively colonized sometime during the Pleistocene, at least 13,000 years before present (Dillehay 2008). Here, at the tail end of the last Ice Age, much of the highland zones were glaciated, though the coastal zones likely would have been well-watered and suitable for habitation. However, this period was likely marked by drastic and lasting climactic change as glaciers receded and ocean levels rose (J. A. Smith, et al. 2005). As coastal zones shrunk, new habitats opened up in the former permafrost-locked and glaciated highland zones (Hansen, et

⁷ However, it is important to note that some groups use some of these terms in a relative sense. For instance, a single intermontane valley may be said to contain *suni* (valley bottom), *puna* (mid valley slopes), *janca* (valley ridgetops), while technically the entire valley would fall within Vidal's *quecha* zone according to elevation (see Mayer 2007:244-245).

al. 2003). By the mid-Holocene, between 9000 and 3000 years ago, climactic conditions were actually warmer than present in much of the Central Andes (Geyh, et al. 1999), with environmental and overall precipitation levels reaching those roughly of modern conditions at the terminal mid-Holocene some 2000 years before present (Sandweiss and Richardson 2008:98). Of course, these climactic conditions varied greatly over time and in specific places - again, this will be explored specifically in relation to the south-central Andean subregion below (see *2.3*).

El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO)

A significant global climactic effect which greatly affects the general Central Andean ecozone trends listed in the table included in Figure 8, is the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO). While the ENSO plays out globally, it has particularly focused effects in the Andes. During ENSO events a shift in the Pacific Ocean trade winds brings warmer waters to the normally cool eastern Pacific (Enfield 1989). This suppresses the Humboldt current and brings nutrient poor coastal waters and rains to the normally hyperarid coastal *chala* and *yungas* along the western Andean slopes. Conversely, drier winds from the north bring more arid conditions for typically well-watered portions of the Andean *quechua*, *suni*, and *puna* highland zones. ENSO events appear to consistently occur in cycles of two to seven years and last for periods of up to several months (Enfield 1989). These events bring damaging flooding along the coast and drought conditions in the higher elevation zones, which have and continue to cause serious complications to human activities (Dillehay and Kolata 2004; Moseley 1999).

Despite their relatively regular occurrence, ENSO can still be very unpredictable as they come in up to four major varieties of greater and lesser intensity (Sandweiss, et al. 2020). While they vary locally there appear to have been Andean-wide ENSO-triggered occurrences of catastrophic flooding along the coast and prolonged drought in the highland zones which have affected the overall trajectory of Andean civilization (Dillehay and Kolata 2004). These intense

ENSO events occur sporadically but roughly occur every 50, 100, and 500 years (Keefer and Moseley 2004; Magilligan and Goldstein 2001; Moy, et al. 2002). The 500-year events represent truly environment-transforming climactic patterns and have likely only occurred a handful of times since the onset of ENSO events in the mid-Holocene about 5000 years ago (Sandweiss, et al. 2020; Sandweiss and Richardson 2008:100; Sandweiss, et al. 1996; L. Wells, et al. 1997). However, whether once-in-a-generation or a standard ENSO, flooding events could have relatively profound changes in the resources available to early agriculturally-based communities in the coastal quebradas of the western Andes (Goldstein and Magilligan 2011; Manners, et al. 2007; Sandweiss and Quilter 2008; Van Buren 2001; L. E. Wells 1990). Likewise, even modest drought events could cause significant problems to nascent agricultural and pastoral communities in the highlands (Binford, et al. 1997; Moseley 1999; Ortloff and Kolata 1993; Rodbell, et al. 1999; Shimada, et al. 1991; P. R. Williams 2002).

A History of Archaeological Thought in the Andes

Before delving into how social life unfolded in the Andes, it is important to highlight how this social life has been studied and articulated into a historical narrative. In the Andes, like any given *Homo sapiens*-occupied locale on the planet, all human societies have been focused on delineating certain aspects of their past. As will be noted later (see *2.2*), many Andean cultures have had particularly central symbolic communities based around grappling with the past through ancestor worship and other mortuary-based activities (e.g., Gose 2008; Hastorf 2003; Isbell 1992; Lau 2008). In both formal and informal ways, Andean societies have reused or reoccupied buildings or landscapes which had been central to previous cultures - this was actually an important feature of Inca imperial strategy (Yaeger and López Bejarano 2004). Furthermore, after Spanish conquest many early chronicles made astute observations regarding pre-Inca ruins and settlements (Cieza de Leon 1976[1553]). However, here my focus will be on

how modern anthropological, and specifically archaeological paradigms formed beginning at the eve of the twentieth century (Trigger 1989). As noted above, my discussion targets how these disciplines developed in and were applied to studies in Peru and to a lesser extent Bolivia, Chile, and the other surrounding modern Andean nations.

In the Central Andes the first formal manifestations of the Western antiquarianism that would form the initial impetus for archeology can be credited to the Peruvian M. E. Rivero (Tantaleán 2016:24-28). Just over two decades after Peruvian independence was declared from Spain, Rivero formed what would come to be Peru's first national history museum as well as publishing the first formal publication centered on Andean antiquities - Antiqüedades Peruanas (Rivero 1851). Shortly after this, prominent foreign travelers also began to publish on findings in Peru, including the detailed sketches of E.G. Squire from the United States (Squier 1877) and even initial excavations by German (Stübel and Uhle 1892) and French teams (Wiener 1880). While some of these later studies were remarkably systematic for their time, they were still geared more towards collecting interesting curiosities, than delineating any form of articulated history. More than this, the War of the Pacific would bring the majority of the Central Andean nations into direct conflict for much of the late nineteenth and early twentieth century and cause serious disruptions in any sort of social scientific study. That said, this antiquarianism-oriented period would culminate in the sensational successes of American explorer H. Bingham in his National Geographic-funded discovery of Machu Picchu (Bingham 1930) and the ultimately tragic exploits of British Col. P. H. Fawcett in his search for lost cities in the Bolivian Amazon (Fawcett 1910).

The modern archaeological framework for understanding Central Andean prehistory can clearly be traced to German archaeologist M. Uhle (Linares Málaga 1964; Menzel 1977; Rowe 1954; Tantaleán 2016:43). In addition to providing the first comprehensive chronology for the region, Uhle would also petition for and coordinate some of the first formal federal protections of cultural patrimony in Peru, Bolivia, and Chile. Uhle used seriated materials from surface

collections and excavations at dozens of important sites in Peru, Bolivia, Argentina, and Chile to define pan-Andean horizon styles. Using the Inca as a base-line Uhle was the first to assert there had been previous horizons of stylistic unification in the Andes (Uhle 1902). Again, while there have been significant revisions to these stylistic horizons, they were often quite accurate and provided the first evolutionary framework for understand cultural development in the Andes. Uhle would also come to run the prehistory department in Peru's initial Museo de Historia Nacional, founded Chile's Museo de Etnología y Antropología, and petitioned for formal protection of Bolivia's important site of Tiahuanaco (Martínez 1998; Tantaleán 2016:39-43). It should be noted that while Uhle certainly represents the foundational figure during this period, other rigorous archaeological work was also being conducted by others in the region, particularly A. Bandaleir's detailed archaeological and ethnographic work, funded by the American Museum of Natural History in highland Bolivia (Bandelier 1905, 1910).

However, in the growing nationalism that defined the early twentieth century, Peru found its own founding father of archeology in J. C. Tello (Astuhuamán Gonzáles and Daggett 2006; Burger 2009). Like Uhle, Tello would work at many important Andean archaeological sites and was instrumental in establishing infrastructure for cultural patrimony protections in Peru (Tantaleán 2016:54-55). Within the diffusionist framework that defined early twentieth century anthropology (i.e., Boaz 1924; Kroeber 1940), Tello sought to identify Peru's mother culture - a deep cultural root through which all Peruvian culture could be grounded (Tello 1929, 1930). He found this mother-culture at the important Andean center of Chavín de Huántar, the epicenter of a clear progenitor style to Uhle's Tiahuanaco and Inca horizons (Tello 1943). Similarly, across the border in Bolivia, Austrian born-turned-Bolivian national, Arthur Posnansky would find a similar mother culture at Tiahuanaco. While earlier researchers, like Uhle and Bandelier had identified Tiwanaku as pre-Inca, Posnansky went further, arguing Tiwanaku was actually the center of the earliest civilization in the world - destroyed by a pre-Biblical world-wide flood (Posnansky 1945). Back in Peru, the nationalistic approach of Tello was further amplified by the

indigenismo movement which, inspired by new Marxist-oriented histories (Basadre 1937; Basadre and Puccinelli 1931; Mariátegui 1934), sought to establish firm foundations for indigenous-led social movements (Tantaleán 2016:56-57). This was exemplified in the work of L. Valcárcel, who conducted some of the first systematic work in the Peruvian *altiplano*, identifying important links between the highlands and coast and insisting that "one had to explain Peruvian society from within" (Tantaleán 2016:68; Valcárcel 1945, 1949).

As World War II forced the world into the modern era, Central Andean archeology was also largely transformed during the early mid-twentieth century. It was during this period that foreign researchers, largely based in the United States, would again come to greatly impact archeology's trajectory in western South America. The first post-war project, largely funded by the U.S. government's Bureau of American Ethnology and directed by a leading voice in the emerging post-Boasian neoevolutionary school of anthropology, J. Steward, was <u>The Handbook of South American Indians</u>. This multi-volume encyclopedic report compiled all known information regarding the current and prehistoric peoples of South America - including some of the first systematic ethnographic and linguistic work in remote areas of the Andes and the Amazon (Steward 1940). An important member of Steward's team and later a leading researcher for the American Museum of Natural History, was W. C. Bennett, whose work would come to redefine much of the primary Central Andean cultural sequence (Bennett 1943; Bennett and Steward 1946). Like Uhle and Tello before him, Bennett would work at many crucial archaeological sites across Peru and Bolivia, as the first to employ largely modern archaeological methods and techniques (Bennett 1946, 1948, 1950).

Both contemporaries and immediate successors of Bennett would largely follow his lead into the culture-history school of anthropology which focused on delineating increasingly finetuned cultural sequences (Bennett and Bird 1964; Kroeber 1926; Murdock 1951). One of the earliest concerted archaeological efforts in this regard was the Virú Valley Project, directed by G. Willey based at Harvard University. The Virú Valley project was the first to carry out a

comprehensive settlement pattern study in the Andes, using detailed stylistic seriation to detail the entire cultural sequence of the valley (Strong and Evans 1952; Willey 1945, 1953). This type of work was bolstered by the extensive collections and sequencing of Peruvian archaeologist R. Larco Hoyle on Peru's north coast (Larco Hoyle 1948), which represented some of the first systematic work on the Moche and Chimu cultures.

This period of Central Andean archeology would climax with the work of J. H. Rowe (and his University of California-Berkeley students) in his coordination of the Ocucaje master sequence based on systematic collections in the Ica Valley (Hammel 1969; Menzel 1964a; Patterson and Lanning 1964; Rowe 1945, 1962). This period of the late 1950s and into the 1960s would be relatively tumultuous for the Central Andes politically speaking, with military coups and sweeping peasant land reforms occurring in Peru and Bolivia. This was of course inline with the broader global geopolitical environment, in which the Cold War had entered its initial peak period. This tense political milieu would shape the way in which the Andean societies were interpreted, particularly in regard to the Inca. For obvious reasons the Inca had been the focus of historical studies since initial antiquarianism pursuits (Prescott 1847), but Rowe and his students actually conducted some of the first formal excavations in Cuzco and other important Inca sites, developing an initial chronology for Inca imperial emergence (Menzel 1959; Rowe 1944, 1946, 1956, 1967). However, it was also during this period that the use of ethnohistorical methods would become crucial in delineating the Andean past.

While many of the chronicles of early Spanish conquistadors and officials as well as other historical documents had already been translated and utilized by researchers, it was under the work of J. V. Murra that this ethnohistoric approach took center stage. Murra, well-steeped in the politics of the day having served the communist forces in the Spanish civil war, brought a new perspective to published histories, and more importantly unpublished colonial era legal documents, arguing among other things that the Inca represented a unique case of an expansive state governed by non-market exchange forces (Murra 1956, 1962, 1968, 1980).

However, far from being an arbitrary application of popular socialist perspectives of the day, Murra used the newly emerging substantivast school of economics to argue for a case of Andean exceptionalism, that would come to be known as *lo Andino* (Tantaleán 2016:99-102). *Lo Andino* was effectively a new expression of historical particularism, and while not without its complications (Gade 1999:31-41; Jamieson 2005), would come to influence much of the study of social life in the Andes throughout the 1960s and 1970s. Again, this was particularly evident in the work of ethnohistorians and anthropologists who utilized to relied on primary historical documents to highlight the particular ways in which Inca statecraft represented a uniquely Andean way of social organization (Murra 1985; Pease 1965; María de Diez Canseco Rostworowski 1953; Salomon 1978; Zuidema 1964, 1977).

The 1970s and 1980s would see a major increase in the sheer number of archaeological and ethnographic projects in the Central Andes. Materialist focus would continue to dominate many aspects of Peruvian-led archaeological projects (Choy Ma; Lumbreras 1974; Mujica, et al. 1983). Likewise, ethnographic projects in the Andes at this time also took largely materialist or ecology perspectives in their study of Andean peasant communities (Long and Roberts 1978; Mayer 1974; Thomas 1976). Major multi-year, multi-component research projects, largely in the spirit of the Virú Valley project would proliferate during this time. These new projects would aggressively employ the new processual focus of archeology in North America, relying on a suite of new scientific techniques for sampling archaeological sites and the broader environment (Flannery 1973; Watson, et al. 1971). These projects, including the Chan Chan-Moche Valley Project on the Peruvian north coast (Moseley and Day 1982; Ravines 1980), the Upper Mantaro Valley Project (Earle, et al. 1980; Horton 1984; Morris and Thompson 1970) and Ayacucho Basin Project (MacNeish 1981) in the central Peruvian highlands, the Programa Contisuyu on the far south coast of Peru (Watanabe, et al. 1990), and the Wila Jawira project in highland Bolivia (Kolata 1996a; Ponce Sanginés 1976) would come to bring dozens of new researchers, largely from the United States and western Europe to the Central Andes, and greatly impact the

intellectual landscape of the region.

In the last thirty years, archaeological research in the Central Andes has increased exponentially. In Peru, competing university programs, largely based at Pontifcia Universidad Católica del Perú and Universidad Nacional Mayor de San Marcos, have generated their own internal debates and methodological approaches to studying cultural patrimony since the 1980s (Higueras-Hare 2008; Tantaleán 2016:126-135). Similarly, foreign researchers have continued to lead extensive projects throughout the region, bringing the ever-changing repertoire of interpretive approaches and technological techniques to studying the Andean past. These emerging perspectives and modern data sets are far too varied and extensive to comprehensively review here; however, I do incorporate them into my general outline of Andean culture-history below.

An Andean Culture-History: from peopling to present

While never complete and constantly updated, the archaeological and broader anthropological research described above has produced a relatively detailed sequence for how Andean social life has developed over the past 15,000 years. This history is of course far too extensive and unnecessary to comprehensively review here, however a basic orientation to how complex society has developed, from start to finish, is necessary to provide context for understanding Tiwanaku and the Middle Horizon. As has already been alluded to above, developing culture-history frameworks, even ones based on varying processual criterion, have limitations. Horizon-based schema have become particularly entrenched in understanding Andean prehistory (Lorandi 1986; Willey 1945), and while their diffusion-centric beginnings have been largely dismantled, they still have limited how conceptions like time and progress have been applied in understanding the Andean past (Swenson and Roddick 2018). I generally use contemporaneity, or general temporal periods, for guiding this discussion, but obviously also

use additional criteria including developmental stages (Rowe 1962). This of course guarantees underplaying significant differences in local cultural manifestations and even in broad local developmental sequences (Carmichael 2019; Moseley 2013; Roddick 2018). However, this is meant to be a fundamentally macroscale perspective, only targeting the broad trends in the social through the longue durée. I then pivot to a more meso- and even micro-scale view of Andean social life in subsequent subsections (see *2.2* and *2.3*). However, with these limitations in mind here I present a basic overview of Andean culture-history, beginning with the first peopling of the region at least 13,000 years ago and ending with a discussion of the region as it stands today (J. D. Moore 2014; Moseley 1992a; Quilter 2013; Silverman and Isbell 2008).



Figure 9. Map depicting major Central Andean subregions as referred to in the text and schematic of major periods/stages of Central Andean culture-history as discussed in the text.

For reference I have included a map which illustrates the primary subregions I refer to throughout this discussion⁸. As has already been noted, I focus on what can generally be referred to as the Central Andes. This geographic region encompasses the modern nations of Peru, Bolivia, and Chile, but also includes portions of Ecuador and Argentina. However, to minimize the bias of using modern borders I tend to use more general geographic subregion designations in the discussion below. The Central Andes are composed of eight primary

⁸ While these divisions are my own - they match most closely with those outlined by C. Stanish (see Stanish 2001).

subregions - the northern highlands, the north coast, the central highlands, the central coast, the south-central highlands, the south-central coast, the southern highlands, and the south coast. As will be noted, cultural developments in the Central Andes also depended on interactions with additional subregions also depicted in the map (Figure 9). Again, I provide a more detailed look at the development of social life in the south-central highlands and south-central coast later in this chapter (see *2.3*).

First Peoples & Archaic Communities

Debates and controversy have always surrounded the exact timing of the first human migrations into the Americas (D. G. Anderson and Gillam 2000; Fiedel 2000), and the initial peopling of the South American continent is no exception (Borrero 2016; T. F. Lynch 1990). However, an increasing amount of archaeological data and new genetic mapping methods have provided increasing resolution on exactly how the first humans spread throughout South America and specifically the routes these early migrations took through the Andes (Dillehay 2008; Lavallée 2000; Sutter 2020). While some researchers persist in claiming sites dating to before 20,000 years before present in northern Brazil (Boëda, et al. 2014), the most widely agreed upon figure is that South America had been colonized certainly by ca. 13,000-11,500 BC and possibly by as early as ca. 16,500-12,500 BC (Dillehay, et al. 2015; Sutter 2020:39). These first colonizing populations likely moved relatively rapidly down the from the isthmus of Panama along the Pacific coast. Some subpopulations of these initial migrations likely did move inland via river valleys, but the highlands were colonized up to 1000 years after the coast (José M. Capriles, et al. 2016; Rademaker, et al. 2016). These groups were composed of highly mobile residential communities with sustainable communities geared exclusively for hunting and gathering wild game and flora. However, these strategies did range - from generalized foraging in the interior to more specialized maritime foraging strategies employed on the coast (deFrance, et al. 2009; Dillehay 2008:35-40; Sandweiss 2008).

By approximately 10,000 years before present the Central Andes, from the coasts to the highlands, were occupied by humans - this marks the onset of the Archaic Period (ca. 8000-3000 BC) (Aldenderfer 1989). While most expressions of residential communities were still highly mobile and fluid, sustainable community strategies had become far more specialized in exploiting micro-niches found in each ecological zone (Aldenderfer 2008). This was particularly true of the highland subregions, where the harsh conditions of the *suni* and *puna* environments necessitated careful resource scheduling (Aldenderfer 1998, 2006; Camacho and Marcos 2019; José M Capriles and Albarracin-Jordan 2013; Rick 1980). However, groups living along the coast in the *chala* zone, able to rely on the extremely bio-diverse littoral were quickly beginning to develop more sedentary configurations of residential communities (deFrance, et al. 2009; Lavallée, et al. 2011).

Some of these semi-sedentary groups would show some of the first clear expressions of significant investments into symbolic community affiliations. One of the most iconic examples of this symbolic community development were in the elaborate mortuary practices of the Chinchorro. The Chinchorro complex refers to the first semi-sedentary group to occupy much of the *chala* region in the south coast subregion, which included the earliest examples of artificial mummification in the world (Arriaza, et al. 2008; Standen 1997). However, until the Late Archaic, even with the rising complexity on the coast, the broader sustainable community networks of highland and coastal groups appear to have remained largely independent (Aldenderfer 1989:152).

Initial Complexity & the Maritime Hypothesis

Sometime after ca. 3000 BC, the trend of residential communities becoming increasingly sedentary and more complex in terms of symbolic community manifestations would accelerate exponentially - this defines what is generally referred to as the Late Preceramic Period (ca. 3000-1800 BC). Along the north coast subregion of the Central Andes, communities began

erecting substantial non-domestic structures. Especially in an area referred to as Norte Chico, centered on the Supe Valley, a number of sites would come to feature truly monumental architecture in the form of massive mounds and large platforms. Originally believed to be centered at only a few sites like Aspero and Caral in Norte Chico (Engel 1957; Feldman 1980; Moseley and Willey 1973; Shady Solis 2006) and El Paraiso a little further south (Quilter 1985), this monument construction now appears to have taken place a at least 30 locations in the region (Haas and Creamer 2006). Interestingly, these monumental structures required significant organization and yet the cultures who constructed them had not yet invented or adopted technologies like ceramics and early evidence showed a general lack of domesticates (Bird 1948). This observation led M. Mosley to purpose the *Maritime Hypothesis*, which suggested that the abundant resources provided by the fisheries along the Pacific coast released ecological constraints for these coastal sustainable communities which allowed for their modes of symbolic communities to flourish (Moseley 1974, 1992b). While domesticated cultigens, particularly cotton for fishing nets, were essential and indeed substantial portions of sustainable communities at this time (Beresford-Jones, et al. 2018; Dillehay, et al. 2007; T. Pozorski and Pozorski 1990), the rich maritime subsistence base clearly facilitated these impressive, early symbolic community expressions in the built environment.

Formative Foundations: farming, herding, & village life

While the sustainable communities that underwrote the monumental constructions of the coastal Preceramic Period may have been largely based on wild marine resources, by ca. 1000 BC domesticated plants and animals would come to command the diets of most Central Andean communities (Pearsall 2008). As has already been noted, even in the early centers of Norte Chico, non-dietary domesticated plants, like cotton and bottle gourds, were essential for the fishing practices that drove their sustainable communities. However, even here dietary domesticates like peanut, manioc, squash, and quinoa were present in small amounts

(Dillehay, et al. 2007), and by the end of this period the range of domesticated crops was quite rich, with at least fifteen species present (Dillehay 2011; Pearsall 2008:113). Many native Andean domesticates, like sweet potato, jack bean, squash, and cotton were likely domesticated on the western and eastern slopes of the northern highlands and further east in the amazonia subregion (Piperno and Pearsall 1998). On the other hand, starchy tubers, like potatoes and oca, as well as pseudocereals, like quinoa, were domesticated south in the central and south-central highland subregions (Bruno 2014; Spooner, et al. 2005). Finally, maize, the most important non-Andean dietary domesticate likely arrived in Columbia from southern Mexico by ca. 6000 BC and had reached the Central Andes by at least ca. 4500 BC (Freitas, et al. 2003; Pagán-Jiménez, et al. 2015; Pearsall 2008:133). Importantly, the stimulant coca which was likely domesticated around ca. 2000 BC in coastal Ecuador, would become (and remains) central in many Central Andean symbolic community practices (Plowman 1984). Again, while their spread was uneven, crops like maize, potatoes, legumes, peppers, and squash would come to define not just the foundation for sustainable communities but increasingly hold sway over the expression of residential and symbolic community arrangements throughout the Andes (Hastorf 1999).

In a similar time frame, domesticated animals would also come to fundamentally transform many aspects of Central Andean community expressions (José M Capriles and Tripcevich 2016; Stahl 2008; Wheeler 2012). Sustainable communities operating in the Andean highlands, particularly in the central and south-central subregions, had generally relied equally on wild deer as much as they did on wild camelids (guanaco and vicuña) (Lavallée 1988). This changed beginning after ca. 4000 BC as several sites in the central, south-central, and southern highlands subregions show increasing reliance on camelids, including evidence for husbandry in the form of sharp increases in fetal camelid bones in archaeological assemblages (Wheeler 1995:279-281; Hugo D. Yacobaccio and Vilá 2016). However, exactly when and where the domesticated camelids, llamas and alpacas, formally emerged as new species from their wild

counterparts continues to be a matter of debate (Bonavia 1999; Rick 1980) - especially given the similarities in morphology between wild and domesticated species as well as their ability to interbreed⁹ (Wheeler 1995:282). However, like domesticated plants, there is good evidence that pastoralism, based around herding domesticated llamas (likely alpacas as well), had come to define the orientation of many sustainable communities throughout the Central Andes by at least ca. 1000 BC (Browman 1989; K. M. Moore 2016; Hugo D Yacobaccio 2004). An additional important animal to be domesticated in the Andes was the *cuy* or guinea pig. While also difficult to distinguish from its wild relatives¹⁰, the guinea pig is believed to have been domesticated sometime before ca. 3000 BC and widespread by at least ca. 1000 BC (Stahl 2008:123-126).

As has already been noted, as agricultural and pastoral lifeways came to define the sustainable communities of Central Andean societies residential and symbolic modes of community were also drastically transformed. Agricultural infrastructure such as irrigation canals, hillside terraces, and raised fields as well as storage facilities necessitated increased sedentism and the formation and widespread adoption of the mesoscale institution of the village. In addition, while they had been in-use in places like the *yungas* of Ecuador and in parts of *amazonia* for centuries (Roosevelt 1999; Zeidler 2008), with the widespread adoption of agriculture, ceramics and related high-temperature technologies finally became widespread in both highland and coastal subregions (Burger 1995:58-60). These new sustainable community agricultural infrastructure and related technologies also necessitated increasingly focused symbolic community intervention to organize and maintain them (Hastorf 1999; Pearsall 2008). As will be discussed below, the complex push and pull dynamics of new institutional emergence

⁹ Recent genetic testing has seemed to clear up some of the relation between llamas, alpacas, and wild camelids - this recent work seems to confirm long-held assumptions that llamas descend from wild guanaco whereas alpaca were domesticated from wild vicuña (Kadwell et al 2001).

¹⁰ Again, recent genetic testing has helped delineate some of these issues inherent in morphological studies - broadly speaking these suggest *cuy* were domesticated at least twice - once in Peru and once in Columbia (Lord et al 2020).

coupled with new subsistence strategies, population growth, and individual aggrandizing practices (as defined in Chapter 1) began to play-out throughout the Central Andes.

While not driving quite the same sedentary residential community manifestations, pastoralism would also greatly effect broader community organization (José M Capriles 2011; Nielsen 2016). While domesticated camelids certainly provided a significant source of dietary protein, their most important resource for Central Andean communities was wool. Wool and the woven textiles produced from processed wool would become some of the most highly valued goods for symbolic communities throughout the Central Andes, which necessitated extensive sustainable communities for support (Dransart 2003; Murra 1962). In addition, camelids, particularly llamas, were also used as draft animals. While not particularly effective (when compared to Old World quadrupeds) and rarely used in agriculture (plowing, etc.), they still came to transform broader sustainable community exchange networks with the development of caravan routes that connected much of the central, south-central and southern Andean subregions (Browman 1974; Nielsen 2000). Importantly these caravans would provide the logistical edge needed for the vertical complementarity that would come to define broader Andean community networks in later periods (Browman 1984; T. F. Lynch 1983).

Interregional Interaction & Globally-Oriented Symbolic Communities

By ca. 1800 BC most sustainable communities operating throughout the highlands and coastal subregions of the Central Andes had transitioned to domesticates. While certain manifestations of sedentism had emerged in the coastal Preceramic centuries earlier, now most residential communities had transitioned to fully sedentary configurations - the basis for the new institution of the village. New craft technologies of ceramics and woven wool and cotton textiles would both bolster sustainable communities and create new venues that required and allowed for symbolic community embellishment (Burger 1995:57-127; S. Pozorski and Pozorski 2008:614). Finally, increasing use of llamas as pack-animals allowed for much greater

extension in how much and how far goods could be transported (Browman 1975). All these new sociocultural features primed multi-modal community networks for both the exclusionary and corporate strategies of aggrandizers (see *1.3*) and the development of truly regional forms of interaction. This developmental stage is generally referred to as the Initial Period (ca. 1800-900 BC) in the northern and central coastal and highland subregions and the Formative Period (ca. 2800 - AD 400) in the south-central and southern highland and coastal subregions.

Along the north and central coast subregions, where manifestations of symbolic community interactions had already resulted in the often-monumental public architecture constructions during the Preceramic Period, settlements would reach new levels of scale in terms of both population size and complexity. Now with fully developed, agriculturally-oriented sustainable communities, supplemented with the continuous source of marine resources from the Pacific, these already large coastal centers would erupt into the first true urbanized settlements in the Andes (Makowski 2008; T. Pozorski and Pozorski 2018). Multiple sites in the Casma Valley in particular, like Pampa de las Llanas-Moxeke and Sechín Alto likely held populations in the thousands (S. Pozorski and Pozorski 2002, 2008). While this coastal complexity still appears to have largely orbited around the corporate strategies of symbolic communities (Burger 1995:75), evidence such as the clear depictions of violence and subjugation at sites like Cerro Sechín, make it clear that more exclusionary strategies were also being deployed (S. Pozorski 1987).

Importantly, regional symbolic communities become evident in this period, most clearly expressed in the spread of the U-shaped and sunken, circular court architectural traditions (Moseley 1992a:136-142; Von Hagen and Morris 1998). Beginning on the coast, the spread of these architectural traditions suggests that symbolic communities were becoming more adept at transferring complex forms of information across space (Stanish and Haley 2004). This tradition would spread from the coast and into the central highlands, where already well-established symbolic community manifestations, like the Kotosh Tradition would incorporate these new

coastal constructions into their built environment repertoire (Burger 1995:104-127).

This period of growing symbolic community complexity would culminate in the rise of Chavín de Huántar and the spread of the first globally-oriented symbolic community motifs that would come to influence most of the Central Andes, and define what is known as the Early Horizon (ca. 900-200 BC) (Burger 1995; Kembel and Rick 2004; Tello 1943). Located in the *quechua* zone of the central highlands subregion, Chavín de Huántar would eventually grow to a size of approximately fifty hectares and house up to 3000 occupants (Burger 2008:683). However, more impressive was its ceremonial core which covered almost ten hectares and was centered on a series of intricate temple and sunken court complexes (Lumbreras 1989).

Symbolic communities at Chavín would first utilize the U-shaped platforms and circular sunken court architectural styles that derived from the coast, but quickly would develop their own built environment style, including the use of labyrinth-like passages within mounds and elaborate stone carvings (Kembel and Rick 2004; Rick 2004). Importantly, with the full use of the highly visual mediums of ceramic, textiles, and low-relief stonework, symbolic communities at Chavín developed a new aesthetic mode of symbolic community expression, based on a suite of largely exotic and otherworldly motifs (Cordy-Collins 1977; Miller and Burger 1995; Rowe 1964). Importantly, ceramics and especially textiles represent particularly mobile modes of symbolic communication, which allowed for many of Chavín's motifs to be adopted by symbolic communities throughout the Central Andes (Burger 1995:195-203).

Peer-Polity Interaction & the Emergence of States

There is still a significant amount of debate regarding when the first states emerged in the Central Andes (Stanish 2001a). Some place the crossing of this institutional threshold as early as the Late Preceramic (Haas and Creamer 2006; Shady Solis 2006), others the Initial Period (T. Pozorski and Pozorski 2018), and as criteria are often changing, it is unlikely that a definitive consensus will ever be reached (see *1.3*). However, beginning after ca. AD 200 with

the development of the Moche, there can be little doubt that by almost any criteria state-level institutional complexity had formally emerged in the Central Andes (Stanish 2001a). The Moche were actually a series of peer-polities, which clustered into three primary groups centered in the Moche, Jequetepeque, and Lambayeque Valley systems in the north coast subregion (Bawden 1995; Castillo Butters and Castillo 2008; Chapdelaine 2011; Larco Hoyle 1948). Through a variable combination of strategies, from managing extensive sustainable community endeavors like agricultural irrigation projects (Billman 2002) to providing significant investments into crafts like ceramics and metallurgy (Bernier 2010; Bourget and Jones 2009; Shimada and Wagner 2001), Moche aggrandizers quickly developed relatively large constituent of symbolic community followers.

In a similar fashion as earlier Chavín, Moche symbolic communities would utilize multiple extant stylistic trends to innovate their own emergent artistic styles (Donnan 2004; Quilter 1997; Trever 2016). While extreme exclusionary strategies, including organized raiding and warfare, had likely been utilized on the north coast for millennia, Moche aggrandizers would employ slave capture as well as human sacrifice as primary avenues to expand their control over sustainable communities and consolidate their power within their local symbolic communities (Billman 1997; Quilter 2002; Sutter, et al. 2005; Swenson 2003). At their height, the competing Moche peer-polities would develop complex settlement patterns (Billman 2002; Chapdelaine 2002), centered on monumental architectural precincts, like the truly massive adobe pyramids of the Huaca de la Sol and Huaca de la Luna in the Moche Valley (Hastings and Moseley 1975; Uceda, et al. 1998). Finally, these polities were unambiguously stratified with clear expressions of elite rulers, evidenced by some of the most elaborate royal burials of the ancient Americas, such as the famous Lord of Sípan burials in the Jequetepeque Valley (Alva 2001).

Further south in the south-central highlands and central coast subregions new levels of community network complexity was also emerging at the same time as Moche in the north. In the central coast subregion, the Lima culture developed in the *chala* region of the Rímac and

Lurín valleys, most notably constructing impressive adobe brick platform mound architectural complexes (Mauricio 2018). The most substantial complex, at Pachacamac, would become a primary epicenter for symbolic community activities for over a thousand years, as the site would be co-opted by later Wari and Inca expansive states (Eeckhout 2013; Uhle 1903). Further south still in the *chala* zone of the Ica and Nazca drainages in the south-central coast subregion, competing aggrandizers that would form the basis of the Nazca culture (Proulx 2008) would develop some of the most enigmatic symbolic community manifestations of the ancient world - the Nazca Lines (Reinhard 1985; Silverman and Browne 1991). These often-massive geoglyphs are the result of processional paths, among other large-scale symbolic community practices that anchored burgeoning sustainable communities based on increasingly complex agricultural infrastructure and elaborate craft production (Aveni 1986; Seglins, et al. 2017; Vaughn 2004).

To the east in the south-central highlands, surrounding the massive alpine lake, Lake Titicaca, increasing cultural complexity was accelerating even more quickly than on the coast. Here significant symbolic community imprints in the built environment had already initiated at centers like Chiripa in the southern Titicaca Basin as early as ca. 1500 BC (Hastorf 2008). However, by ca. AD 200 the center of Pukara had emerged as the leading center in an increasingly crowded region of competing aggrandizers and their constituent communities (Klarich and Bustinza 2012; Stanish 2003:137-145). How this process played out during the Late Formative Period in the Titicaca Basin is discussed in much greater detail below (see *2.3*).

The peer-polity interaction that defined the Moche and other previous societies drew on interregional ties and involved some expansive strategies - even some examples of true colonization (Hubert 2015; Wilson 1983). However, most direct interventions made by aggrandizers and their factions in these nascent complex community networks were relatively localized - focused on drawing (or forcing) sustainable and symbolic community resources inward as opposed to expanding their residential community networks out-wards. After ca. AD 500 this would shift as true expansive statecraft would directly effect huge swaths of the broader

Central Andean system - this marks the onset of the Middle Horizon (ca. AD 500-1100) (W. H. Isbell 2008; Stübel and Uhle 1892). Again, this period is the focus of this dissertation and will be discussed in detail below (see *2.3*), but a few points are necessary to highlight here.

The Middle Horizon is centered on the emergence, expansion, and collapse of two statelevel polities - the Wari in the central highland subregion and the Tiwanaku in the south-central highland subregion. Both polities would emerge from long-standing localized peer-polity interactions in their own subregion, and come to influence not just their respective subregion, but most surrounding subregions as well. In addition to each synthesizing their own local styles, as true peer-polities, Wari and Tiwanaku would come to share remarkably similar set of iconographic styles and other visual media in grounding and expanding their symbolic community networks (Conklin 2013; W. H. Isbell, et al. 2018). While following similar overall trajectories, each polity developed within different local community interaction circumstances and utilized very different strategies in expanding their influence (Goldstein 2013; P. R. Williams 2005).

Centered in the Ayachuco area of the central highlands subregion, the Wari would develop relatively rapidly from fierce competitions between local aggrandizers (W. H. Isbell 1997b; W. H. Isbell and Cook 2002). These early community interactions appear to have relied heavily on raiding and other, often violent, direct intervention strategies (Tung 2007), suggesting the emerging Wari aggrandizers relied significantly on exclusionary strategies throughout the Middle Horizon (Tung 2012, 2014). Wari would directly establish distant residential community colonies, complete with examples of the type of administrative architecture used in exclusionary strategies and direct sustainable community interventions (W. H. Isbell and McEwan 1991; Nash and Williams 2004; Schreiber 1992, 2001). These Wari colonies can be found in a number of locations throughout the north, central, and northern south-central highland subregions as well as the north, central, and south-central coastal subregions (Bélisle 2015; Jennings 2010; McEwan 2009; Schreiber 2004; Topic and Topic 1983; P. R. Williams, et al. 2005).

Conversely, Tiwanaku would emerge as the result of local peer-polity interactions that had been cycling through periods of complexity within the Titicaca Basin for millennia (Bandy 2013; Stanish 2003). As noted above, just prior to the Middle Horizon, the polity centered at Pukara in the northern Titicaca Basin held sway over the broader south-central highlands. However, by the Middle Horizon the central site of Tiwanaku in the southern Titicaca Basin would house tens of thousands - the center of a truly massive interregional network of increasingly hierarchically-ordered sustainable and symbolic communities (Browman 1984; Janusek 2006, 2008; Kolata 1993a; Stanish 2013). Tiwanaku would also establish limited strategic colonies to more directly control distant sustainable community resources (K. Anderson 2013; Goldstein 2005, 2015). While there are still only limited examples of direct or sustained conflict or cooperation between these two polities (P. R. Williams, et al. 2001), their interaction is again clear in their shared suite symbolic media, which developed a true pan-Andean "international" or global symbolic community network (W. H. Isbell 2008; W. H. Isbell, et al. 2018).

Initial Collapse & Regional Development

The influence of the burgeoning states of Wari and Tiwanaku, while by no means uniform or complete, would come to fundamentally transform the Central Andes, both during their growth and ultimate collapse. The increasingly globalized networks of these highlandbased polities lasted an incredible length of time, however community organization issues, likely arising from hypercoherence were leading to sociopolitical stresses in both states (Finucane, et al. 2007; Janusek 2004a). These organizational issues would eventually collapse as these weakened institutional and higher-order community networks encountered a particularly prolonged ENSO-driven drought beginning just after ca. AD 1000 (Ortloff and Kolata 1993). As underlying symbolic community superstructure deteriorated, formally articulated networks of sustainable communities began to drift apart and directly compete (R Alan Covey 2008b; Zovar

2007). This spurred increased use of exclusionary strategies and particularly raiding a warfare (E. N. Arkush 2012; E. N. Arkush and Tung 2013). This is particularly evident in shifting settlement patterns of residential communities. In subregions like the south-central highlands, the former core of the Tiwanaku state, defensive hillforts become common residential community manifestations (E. N. Arkush 2008, 2011).

While localized regional development and warfare defined much of the former highlands cores or Wari and Tiwanaku, some subregions would see a coalescing of communities into new complex networks at this time (Dulanto 2008). For instance some subregions on the south coast (Conlee 2004; Nigra, et al. 2014) as well as portions of the northern highlands (Church and Von Hagen 2008; Guengerich 2017; Toohey 2011) would see levels of complexity not yet achieved for those subregions. However, it was again on the north coast that the greatest level of sociopolitical complexity could be found (Vogel 2018). Here centered at the urban site of Chan Chan, in the former core of the southern Moche, the Chimù would emerge as a new state-level polity (J. D. Moore and Mackey 2008; Moseley and Day 1982; Silverman 1991). As with their antecedents, Chimù aggrandizers would invest huge amounts of resources into agriculturebased sustainable community systems as well as advancing craft-based sustainable communities, developing advanced artisan-based symbolic community networks (Mackey and Klymyshyn 1981; Topic and Moseley 1983; Tschauner 2006). The Chimù would also develop extensive built environment facilities from which they would focus their control over sustainable community resource flows (J. D. Moore 1992; Pillsbury and Leonard 2004; Topic 2003), as well as territorial strategies through residential community expansion (Boswell 2016; Cutright 2009; Keatinge 1975; Vogel 2012).

Tawantinsuyu & Andean Empire

In the *quechua* zone of the southern portion of the central highlands subregion, centered in the Cuzco intermontane valley system, a new polity would emerge that would define the final

period of Andean prehistory. The Inka would transform from a relatively modest locally-oriented. if not dense network of community-level aggrandizers into the first and only true empire to develop in the Andes (R Alan Covey 2008a). The Inka would call their empire Tawantinsuyu or the "the four parts together" - referring to their quadripartite organization structure for dividing their ever-growing provincial network (Yupangui 2005[1570]). By the time the infamous Spanish ships carrying Pizarro and his men arrived on Andean shores in AD 1532. Tawantinsuyu covered over one-million square kilometers and likely maintained at least ten million subjects¹¹ (D'Altroy 2014). In their century of imperial growth and consolidation, like many true empires (Alcock 2001), the Inka applied every aggrandizing strategy discussed above (see 1.3), and were particularly adept at tailoring their strategies to local community network configurations (D'Altroy 2005). While full of their own built-in biases and limitations (Burns 2010; Julien 2000). chronicles and other written documents created during the initial years of Spanish invasion have provided researchers with exponentially more primary information regarding the nature of Inka statecraft than those that preceded it (Betanzos 1987[1551]; Cabello Balboa 1945[1586]; Cieza de Leon 1976[1553]; Cobo 1979[1653]; Garcilaso de la Vega 2009[1609]; Guamán Poma de Ayala 1980[1562]; Sarmiento de Gamboa 1988[1579]). Needless to say a comprehensive overview of the Inka is impossible to provide here (R Alan Covey 2008a; Pease 1994; Maria de Diez Canseco Rostworowski 1999; Rowe 1946). In addition, below I discuss what we know about aspects of Inka social life in more meso- and micro-scale perspectives (see 2.2). However, as the Inca represent the apogee of the development of Andean social complexity, a few important points must be reviewed here.

Sometime after ca. AD1200 the Inka would emerge as a state-level society and the primate polity within their network of locally competing aggrandizers and their constituent

¹¹ These population figures are estimates and populations in Andean South America (as with the rest of the Americas) may actually have been much lower by AD 1532 due to widespread European disease (e.g. Mann 2005).

communities (R Alan Covey 2018). The leaders of the early Inka state employed a complex set of aggressive exclusionary strategies, using raiding and forced marriage alliances to directly intervene in neighboring sustainable communities and expand and consolidate their control over local symbolic community networks (Bauer and Covey 2002; McEwan 2010). Inka imperial propaganda and Spanish ignorance has made determining the exact chronology of Inka imperial expansion a particularly difficult task (Bauer and Smit 2015; Ogburn 2012; Rowe 1945). However, it is clear that through concerted expansion efforts from ca. AD 1400-1525 the Inka state would manage to conquer or incorporate the entirety of the Central Andean region. Again, while archaeologists are still working to confirm the stories collected in the sixteenth century it appears likely that the majority of Inka imperial expansion and the development of fundamental strategies they employed for incorporating their ever-growing subject population did occur rapidly¹², under the reign of Pachakuti Inka Yupanki and his son Thupa Inca Yupanki in the later half of the 16th century AD (ca. AD 1438-1493) (R Alan Covey 2018; D'Altroy 2002).

Important in explaining how this unprecedented expansion could occur in the course of a single generation is the geographic location of the Inka core in Cuzco, which is situated at the margin of the central and south-central highland subregions or the former core areas of influence for the prior Wari and Tiwanaku states. In fact, the broader Cuzco region had been directly colonized by Wari residential communities (R. Alan Covey, et al. 2013; McEwan 1996, 2009) and maintained long-standing sustainable and symbolic community connections with the broader Titicaca Basin and even Tiwanaku itself (Bauer 1999; Pärssinen and Siiriäinen 1997). Whether they were aware of it or not, the Inka were able to capitalize on their position between these formally globalized regional-scale community networks to rapidly expand from Cuzco into the central and south-central highland subregions (D'Altroy 2002:66). In world-systems theory

¹² In fact, newly collected/re-calibrated 14C dates show evidence that Inca forces has invaded areas as far north as the northern highlands and as far south as the southern highlands by as early as ca. AD 1450 (see Ogburn 2012).

terms the Inka are a classic case of a marcher state - a polity which erupts from the periphery and rapidly engulfs formerly articulated systems (Chase-Dunn and Grell-Brisk 2016:213-215).

Again, while the exact timing of Inka imperial expansion is still to be determined, it is clear that by the time Wayna Qhapaq, the final uncontested ruler of the Inka, took the throne in AD 1493 the Inka had a significant foothold in every subregion of the Central Andes. To accomplish this the Inka relied heavily on domination by force via extensive military campaigns, often using siege warfare tactics to cut-off core residential communities from their extended sustainable community networks (E. N. Arkush and Tung 2013:337-340; D'Altroy 2014:321-350). As will be noted below, a key Inka strategy was to invest significant sustainable community resources in military infrastructure, particularly constructing storehouses and roadways for provisioning large-scale forces (D'Altroy 2018; Hyslop 1990; Murra 1980). In extreme cases, to intervene in particularly rebellious or well-organized community networks, the Inka would actually relocate entire residential communities to new, often distant locations in a colonization practice known as *mitmaqkuna* (Cieza de Leon 1976[1553]:56-57; D'Altroy 2005; Espinoza Soriano 1969, 1993; Rowe 1982) - true cases of forced displacement colonies.

However, as ethnohistorian F. Pease aptly noted, despite their expansive territorial empire the primary success of the Inka was not found in their "domination over lands and men in general, but rather over organized systems of resource production" (Pease 1972:42). To accomplish sustained control over systems of production the Inka utilized a diverse suite of strategies to re-orient all modes of community to ultimately serve Cuzco by striking at the core of local institutions but often leaving many other aspects of their local community structures intact (Rowe 1982). One of the primary ways Inka would co-opt sustainable communities was through a rotating corveé-type labor tax, called *mit*'a, in which all male heads-of-household were required to participate in state-run projects, from military campaigns to road construction (D'Altroy 2002; Murra 1980). Importantly, the Inka scheduled their labor extraction in-sync with down periods in agricultural and pastoral seasonality - simply adding service to the state as a

position in the annual cycle of sustainable communities (Julien 1988; Murra 1965).

The Inka would also re-orient local symbolic communities by identifying their central elements - this could be a place, an item, or even a person - and then incorporate them directly into the broader Inka symbolic community (Conrad and Demarest 1984; Silverblatt 1987). One of the clearest examples of this is the *Ceque System*, an elaborate symbolic community network in which the Inka articulated hundreds of locations, sacred to local symbolic communities throughout the provinces (Bauer 1998; Cobo 1979[1653]:14-61; Zuidema 1964). This system was conceived of as lines radiating from the central Qoricancha temple in Cuzco across the landscape literally tethering the core of local symbolic communities to Cuzco (Bauer 2016). This system preserved lower-order, locally-oriented symbolic communities while linking them to a globally-oriented one in which the Inka reigned supreme (Conrad and Demarest 1984:166-167; Silverblatt 1988). This strategic hijacking of institutional cores could take many additional forms but ultimately the Inka's success was in developing a series of entangled globally-oriented multimodal community networks into which almost any local community manifestation could be integrated without being destroyed.

By ca. AD 1500, in its final decades Tawantinsuyu was one of the most institutionally complex state-level societies on the planet - a true expansive empire (D'Altroy 2014). While the Inka were well-practiced in bringing to bear all the violent methods of warfare and other extreme exclusionary tactics, their primary potency as an imperial force would be in their suite of network-based strategies used to bring all multi-modal community networks into the orbit of Cuzco. The entire Tawantinsuyu imperial project was undergirded by a substantial infrastructure in terms of social organization and the built environment (D'Altroy 2014; Hyslop 1984; Julien 1988; Urton 1998). Over 40,000 kilometers of roads, hundreds of waystations, and thousands of storehouses connected at least fifty-one Inka enclaves (D'Altroy 2018; Hyslop 1984, 1990; T. Y. LeVine 1992). The nature and function of these enclave nodes depended on their placement in the broader provincial network (Alconini 2008; Garrido 2016; Jenkins 2001; Malpass and

Alconini 2010; Niles 2004; Stanish 2001b), with some representing hubs for sustainable community activities, such as provisioning military campaigns and providing room and board for mit'a laborers when on the job, and even state-sponsored craft workshops (Costin 1996; D'Altroy 2005; Morris 1982; Zori, et al. 2017). Others would act as symbolic community hubs; regional stand-ins for the true network-wide core in Cuzco (Coben 2006; Morris and Thompson 1970). This globally-oriented but locally-based distributed mode of production allowed for the Inka to mobilize large amounts of resources in terms of both manpower and materials to almost any portion of the empire and facilitate what some have called a true top-down command economy (D'Altroy and Earle 1985; Jenkins 2001; D. E. La Lone 1982; M. B. La Lone and La Lone 1987).

Spanish Colonization & the Great Restructuring

Years before a Spaniard ever set foot in the Central Andes, Old World diseases had begun to ravage South American populations (Roberts 1989), wreaking havoc on community networks at every scale. By the time Wayna Qhapaq, the sitting Inka emperor died from smallpox in AD 1428 Cuzco's center of gravity had already weakened as the emperor began establishing a new imperial center in northern highlands to deal with the growing tensions (Bray 2015-339; Cieza de Leon 1976[1553]:263). Civil war gripped Tawantinsuyu from Wayna Qhapaq's death until the exact week Spanish forces formally entered the Central Andes (Rowe 2006). This monumental coincidence of timing, along with other historical circumstances (Diamond 1999) would allow the small group of Spanish to commandeer what remained of the empire and eventually come to embed themselves throughout the Central Andes.

Of course this process was not simple, it would take four years for the Spanish to gain control of Cuzco, and Spanish infighting would quickly lead to the assassination of Pizzaro and many of the other early conquistador leaders (MacCormack 1985a; MacQuarrie 2008). In addition, the remnants of the Inka ruling class would establish a rebel-state centered in the *rupa*

rupa subregion east of Cuzco (Bauer, et al. 2015). During this time Spanish forces would apply aggressive exclusionary strategies, working to reformat sustainable communities with themselves at the center (Ramírez 1986). This involved the use of slave-labor in the new residential community-based *encomienda* system as well as industrial style mining operations (Mayer 2007:94-99; Wiedner 1960; Yeager 1995). After three decades of disease, civil war, and foreign invasion the multi-modal community network configuration of Tawantinsuyu would largely disintegrate (R Alan Covey 2020; Wachtel 1977).

In spite of the collapse of Tawantinsuyu and the exponential increase in Spanish and other foreign presence, it wasn't until AD 1572 that the nature of Central Andean community networks would be fundamentally transformed (Mumford 2012). It was in this year that Tupac Amaru, the final leader of the Inka guerrilla state was captured and executed in Cuzco and the newly appointed viceroy of Peru, Francisco de Toledo would initiate his Reducción General de Indios (Julien 2007; Markham 2010). Toledo's Reducción campaign set out explicitly to restructure every mode of Central Andean community structure. Scattered residential communities were relocated to new, centralized locations (Gose 2003; Wernke 2012). These new settlements were built along a classic Spanish-plan, around central plaza-church complexes, geared towards both literally and symbolically re-orienting local symbolic communities around newly imposed Christianity (Fraser 1990; MacCormack 1985b; Redden 2015). These new centralized communities were also used to tax, mobilize, and otherwise control the actions of sustainable communities. While the initial Spanish conquests may have caused disarray in the community networks of the Central Andes, the Toledan reforms would come to introduce a new, and fundamentally different order (Klein 1993; Scott 2006; VanValkenburgh 2017; Wernke 2007).

From Independence to Modernity: the development of contemporary Andean nations While there would be substantial indigenous-led rebellions (Campbell 1976), Central
Andean communities would continue to suffer under Spanish colonial rule for over two centuries as the Viceroyalty of Peru. However, as Napoleon took control of western Europe, including deposing the Spanish monarch, Andean South America would break free from colonial orbit. Two major military movements began under different circumstances, but would prove extremely effective, as José de San Martín of Argentina began moving his forces north up the Pacific coast from Chile and Simón Bolívar moved his forces south down the coast from Venezuela. Meeting in Peru these two forces would join other movements in liberating the Central Andes from Spanish rule - forming Chile (AD 1810), Peru (AD 1821), Ecuador (AD 1822), and finally Bolivia (AD 1825) (J. Lynch 1973).

From this period of independence onward each Andean nation followed its own messy trajectory into nationhood in what is generally called the Republican Period (Hunefeldt 2001). These paths have been intertwined, most notably in the War of the Pacific, in which Bolivia and Peru battled Chile, primarily over territorial disputes along the south-central coast subregion (Farcau 2000). The twentieth century would bring major economic interventions to the Central Andes by burgeoning international powers, particularly the United States, as Andean nations grappled for a place in the new fully industrialized global landscape (Galeano 1997). Modernity has fundamentally transformed, altered, and otherwise changed the nature of multi-modal community networks in the Central Andes. Like all contemporary people, individuals in Andean society associate with multitudes of different community modes. However, in-spite of being part of the globalized present there are still dense threads of continuity that can be traced into the past and help us understand how multi-modal community networks may have been configured in the deep past.

2.2 Communities in the Central Andes: understanding ayllu

In this subsection I work to further situate my framework for modeling multi-modal

community networks within the unique setting of the Central Andes. Here, while still highlighting macroscale trends, I focus my discussion on the mesoscale dynamics of community life in the region as it has been delineated through ethnographic observation and ethnohistoric analysis. Specifically, I build this discussion around the indigenous Andean concept of *ayllu*. As will be explained, the concept of ayllu is as complicated as it is complex both in its implementation in Andean life and the anthropological understanding of it. However, in the broadest sense, I argue the Quechua and Aymara use of *ayllu* is roughly equivalent to the definition of community I utilize in this study (see 1.2).

I approach this topic cautiously, with the express understanding that Central Andean communities are diverse and dynamic and conceptions of *ayllu* emerge differently across space as they certainly have through time. I hope to show how approaching *ayllu* with my community ecology perspective helps to side-step some of the pitfalls that have been identified under the *lo Andino* critique, namely that: 1) ethnographic analogy in studies of Andean prehistory have led to a view of an unchanging and monolithic indigenous social substructure and 2) privileged focus on the unique characteristics of Andean society and broader ecology has limited comparative studies (Beaule 2016; Cahill 1990; Deere 1990; Kojan and Angelo 2005; Salman and Zoomers 2003; Sillar and Joffré 2016; Van Buren 1996)¹³. By identifying *ayllu* as various interacting expressions of residential, sustainable, and symbolic modes of community I am able to facilitate many of the often-contradictory applications of this term in both time and space as well as opening up this fundamentally Andean expression of the social for cross-cultural study. As Basso noted in his study of Apache place-making in the American southwest, true anthropological understanding of phenomena "can be grasped only in relation to the ideas and practices with which it was accomplished," and while I will never be able to directly observe the

¹³ Some have gone further to argue that ethnographers biased by the *lo Andino* perspective were blinded to the growing terrorist movement Sendero Luminoso, that first percolated up in the well-studied central highlands subregion in the 1980s (Starn et al 1994).

complicated lives of individuals as they unfolded living in Locumba during the Middle Horizon, I think these densely documented indigenous Andean conceptions of community are a clear place to start (D. Y. Arnold 1997). As such, I rely heavily on this subsection later in my synthesis and discussion (see Chapter 11).

Ayllu in Andean Studies

In the broader academic realm of Andean Studies there are few indigenous terms that have been utilized as much or as long as *ayllu* (Basadre 1937; Saavedra 1903). It has been used as a fill-in for almost every trending anthropological term from corporate group to subaltern (Weismantel 2006). Like most prevalent and amorphous terms in many ways the majority of definitions are correct, or at least not entirely wrong. In rather predictable academic fashion, the dynamic nature of the term *ayllu* has led to more disagreements regarding its application than agreements. Here, before systematically dissecting *ayllu* using the multi-modal community ecology framework laid-out in Chapter 1, I want to review¹⁴ some of the general ways in which this term has been observed and inferred in the ethnographic present and past.

The term *ayllu* was in widespread use throughout the Central Andes, specifically the central and south-central highland subregions, at the time of Spanish arrival in AD 1532. As will be noted below, the Inka and many of their constituent bureaucratically-oriented symbolic communities utilized *ayllu* as a demarcation for taxation and other demographic recording purposes, likely greatly impacting its use and distribution. Indeed, in spite of its ubiquitous use in Aymara dialects, increasingly detailed historical linguistics has shown *ayllu* to be one of the 566

¹⁴ As always, I am interested here on identifying useful patterns in the "wheat" as opposed to stewing in the particulars of the "chaff."

lexical items to come definitively from the ancestral language of Quechua¹⁵ (Emlen 2017:345). In one of the earliest Colonial attempts to systematically document the Quechua language Dominican Friar Domingo de Santos Tomas would identify *ayllu* as a term simply denoting "lineage, generation, or family" (Santo Tomás [1560]1947:107v), a definition echoed by other early linguistic documentation efforts (Ricardo [1586]1951). Importantly, as has been noted by others (Rasnake 1986:49-50; Spalding 1984:29; Urton 1985:278-279), the more extensive, early 17th century dictionary of D. González Holguin (González Holguin [1608]1989:56) provides additional uses for the term and suggests a far more pervasive reach for the concept of *ayllu*.

¹⁵ Quechua and Aymara are the two most widespread indigenous languages spoken in the Andes - each have approximately 7 million speakers and multiple dialects. In spite of their diversity there is significant overlap in their lexicons - including the term ayllu. The relationship between Quechua and Aymara is still a debated topic with some arguing they share a single root language. However most convincingly argue that while these languages have a complicated and archaic history of interaction, they appear to derive from two separate languages that converged and not vice-versa: proto-Aymara and proto-Quechua (Adelaar 2012; Emlen 2017).

Table 5. Chart listing the Quechua terms and phrases that include the term ayllu or its related root aylluy¹⁶ in González Holguin's 17th century Quechua dictionary (González Holguin [1608]1989). Table includes Quechua and Spanish quoted directly from source, English translations (my own), and finally the page number from source. Terms listed above the double line are those that most clearly relate to human kinship/social organization whereas the terms below the line refer more generally to relatedness and other similarities.

Quechua	Spanish	English	Page #
Ayllu	Parcialidad genealogia linage, o parentesco, o casta	Partial genealogy lineage, or kinship, or caste	56
<u>Ayllu</u> maciy	Mi pariente de mi linage, o de mi nacion	My relative of my lineage, or my nation	56
<u>Ayllo</u> pura	Los de vn linaje, o parientes	Those of one lineage, or relatives	56
<u>Ayllu</u> chani.	Diuidir gente por sus parcialidades, y ordenar vn exercito, o poner en sus lugares differentes	Divide people by their biases, and order an army, or put in their different places	56
<u>Ayllu</u> chacuni	Hazerse de vn linaje.	Becoming a lineage	56
<u>Ayllu</u> yruna, o <u>ayllu</u> maciy	De mi nacion, o liuaje, o pariente.	Of my nation, or language, or relative	56
Aylluymaçi, o llacta maciy runa	Hombre de mi patria, o conterraneo	Man of my country, or earthly	56
<u>Ayllu</u> maçiy tucuc	El que se haze, o finje de mi linaje.	The one that is made, or pretends to be of my lineage.	56
<u>Ayllo</u> nnac mana <u>ayllo</u> yoc	El que no tiene parientes	He who has no relatives	56
<u>ayllu</u> ymi	es mi pariente de mi linage	He is my relative of my lineage	101
<u>Ayllu</u> y huauque	Dize el varon a los de su patria, o linaje	The man says to those of his country, or lineage	140
Kapac <u>ayllu</u>	De la cassa, o familia real, o noble	Of the house, or royal family, or noble	109
Yahuarinnak <u>ayllu</u> cuna	La padrastria y affinidad, o affines.	Stepfather and affinity, or related.	235
<u>Ayllu</u> suti.	Apellido de linage	Lineage surname	262
<u>Ayllu</u> macipura	Parientes a fines	Relatives at the end	262
Caylla <u>ayllu</u>	Parientes cercanos	Close relatives	262
<u>Ayllu</u> (2)	El genero, o especie en las cosas.	The genera, or species of things.	56
Huc <u>ayllu</u> hacha	Los arboles de vna especie	The trees of a kind	56
Huc huc <u>ayllu</u> m camatahua chaqui yoccuna	Los animales son de diferentes especies, y generos	Animals are of different species, and genera	56
Angel cunam yzcum chacuchacu <u>ayllo</u>	Los angeles son de nueve choros distinctos	The angeles are nine distinctive classes	56
<u>Ayllo</u> ntin	Todos los ayllos, o linajes	All ayllus, or lineages	56
<u>Ayllo</u> pura, o aillo <u>ayllu</u> cama huñunacuni.	luntarse los de vn linaje, o cosas de vn genero.	Join those of a lineage, or things of of genera	56
<u>Ayllo</u> çapatiay, o <u>ayllo</u> cama	Sentaos cada ayllo por si.	Sit down each ayllu for yourself.	57
Patachani runacta <u>ayllu</u> ncama	Distinguir y apartar por si los de cada ayllo o parcialidad	Distinguish and separate if they are of separate ayllu or partiality	190

¹⁶ Importantly, some modern Quechua dictionaries define *aylluy* as "to assemble, gather, collect" or "to warm, cover with a blanket"

As illustrated in Table 5, *ayllu* does not appear to have simply been a bureaucratic category of the recently implemented Inca census, but rather it had extensive reach into the Quechua lexicon surrounding kinship, lineage, and other forms of social organization. Importantly, it appears that at least in some contexts *ayllu* actually represented a general category of relatedness or even an acknowledgment of similarity (i.e. "*Huc ayllu hacha*" - "The trees of a kind"). This point becomes particularly pertinent below when I discuss aspects of the symbolic community dimension of *ayllu*. However, even just focusing on the most commonly used social dimension of the use of *ayllu* still reveals a fair amount of variability.



Figure 10. Visualization of Godoy's survey of ayllu definitions in 29 colonial-era and 20th century ethnographic accounts - (left) Central Andean subregions in which accounts were made and (right) frequencies of ten terms used most commonly in ayllu definitions (Godoy 1986:726-728).

As illustrated in Figure 10, reviewing many of the mid-20th century ethnographic-based definitions (as well as a few Colonial-era sources¹⁷), R. Godoy targeted ten terms that were

¹⁷ Nineteen (19) of Godoy's 29 examples are from ethnographic-oriented studies from the 20th century (Godoy 1986).

used most frequently used to characterize *ayllu* (Godoy 1986). Seven of these terms refer to classic anthropological aspects of kinship, including descent and marriage restrictions. Three terms diverge from this trend - community, totemism, and the most commonly used trait of all, territorial (used in 41% of definitions). The criteria of community would appear to broaden *ayllu* beyond kinship to refer to a general social group and totemism and territorial suggest defining criteria based on some form of shared belief and co-residence. While all ten terms are clearly central, these last three begin to expose how even in the realm of the social, *ayllu* went beyond the standard arena of kinship. As will be raised again below, while birth-rights and lineages were certainly part of the inner workings of these groups, *ayllu* membership was ultimately about the willingness and ability to take on the responsibilities involved in the complex suite of practices that were needed in their maintenance and reproduction (Rasnake 1986:60-63; Spalding 1984:28-30, 52).

Ayllu Organization

Since the 1970s rigorous ethnographic observation and systematic ethnohistoric review of colonial-era documents has provided a much more comprehensive picture of what ayllus are and how they have been expressed in different places throughout the Central Andes (the following are some of the most influencial for my own work here: Abercrombie 1998; Allen 1986b; D. Y. Arnold and Hastorf 2016; Bastien 1985; Bode 1989; Bolin 1999; Brush 1977; Choque and Mamani 2001; Ferreira 2012; Godoy 1985; Harris 1978; B. J. Isbell 1978; Izko 1986; Mayer 2007; Meyerson 1990; Murra 1985; Platt 1982a; Rasnake 1986; Rivera Cusicanqui 1991; Salomon and Urioste 1991; H. O. Skar 1982; Spalding 1984; Urton 1985; Yampara Huarachi 2001). While I provide my own working definition below, I will start from a formulation presented by K. Lane in which he argues an ayllu, "comprises a social, economic, and political unit united and re-affirmed through seasonally organized rituals and responsibilities" (Lane 2007;78). I think this broad definition does an effective job conveying the scope of the concept,

however below I hope to show how the term can be more systematically delineated. Before delving into the specifics of how ayllu maps onto residential, sustainable, and symbolic modes of community, there are two primary organizational aspects of ayllu that permeate most dimensions of the concept: recursive-hierarchy and dualism.

An essential characteristic of ayllu is that it actually refers to organization at multiple scales - from relatively small, localized groups to (sub)regional-level social arrangements. These different scaled groups are best visualized as a nested-structure with multiple smaller groups forming the larger groups (Izko 1992-80; Platt 1986:81; Rasnake 1986:53-60; H. O. Skar 1982; Spalding 1984:51-52). Therefore any individual living within an ayllu organization belongs to multiple scalar-ayllu formations, and as will be explained, even multiple ayllus at the same scale - forming an often complicated network of ayllu affiliations that could be "activated" strategically (Rasnake 1986:53; Urton 1985:253). Each level group generally has some kind of leadership, and while these positions vary greatly, they form relatively clear recursive, hierarchical chain-of-command for directing various aspects of ayllu decision making (Abercrombie 1998:370-371; Spalding 1984:53). This makes the broader ayllu social structure effectively a classic segmentary social structure (Lane 2007:79-83; Sahlins 1961). While the terms utilized to describe these positions and scale of ayllu can differ from place to place, some key trends are worth highlighting here before heading into more specific aspects below.



Macha (after Platt 1986 231)

Figure 11. Schematic visualizations of ayllu organization.

The smallest scale ayllu, generally referred to as a *minor-ayllu*, is a social unit which most closely aligns with many of the colonial-era definitions noted above, as they are based on some form of consanguineal-based kinship with explicit ancestral connections. These ayllus are composed of multiple family units which formed residence-based hamlets, frequently called *estancias* or *cabildos*. Today these small *estancias* are often represented by nominal hyperlocal

leaders, often referred to as *alcalde*¹⁸. In particularly complex ayllu formations, *estancias* might first form into smaller *micro* or *minimal-ayllus* as intermediaries before coalescing into true minor-ayllus (Platt 1986:230-231). Minor-ayllus are headed by individual leaders, called *jilaqata* (aymara) or *jilanqu* (quechua), who meet as councils to settle inter-ayllu disputes and make other important decisions (Spalding 1984:32-40).

Minor-ayllus can then align into larger coalitions, called *major-ayllus*. As will be noted below, the major-ayllu groups are those most frequently dually ordered through *moieties*. Finally, the two major-ayllu moieties, under certain circumstances and when faced with certain choices, can conglomerate into a *macro-* or *maximal-ayllu*. These major- and maximal-ayllus are headed by leaders generally called *mallku* (aymara), *kuraka* (quechua) and increasingly Spanish-based *segunda mayor* (Klein 1993:59-61). While still subject to the approval of their constituency these upper-level ayllu leadership positions are often drawn from a select number of elite micro-ayllu groups, and at times in the past were clearly hereditary positions, making them particularly attractive positions for would-be aggrandizing individuals (Abercrombie 1998:162; Mayer 2007:266-270; Platt 1986; Spalding 1984:33). Importantly, smaller-scale ayllu leadership like that of *jilaqata/jilanqu* and *alcalde* tend to be elected or even obligatory positions that, along with other lesser-managerial positions would rotate on a set basis, forming a cargobased system (Fernández 2018).

Another, ubiquitous structural element of overall ayllu organization is *duality*. In spite of not being an indigenous term, the concept of duality has been central in anthropology projects of all types in the Andes (Anders 1986; Astvaldsson 2000; Beaule 2016:605-607; Duviols 1973; Gelles 1995:715-718; J. D. Moore 1995; Paerregaard 1992; Palomino 1971; Turner 1993; Webb 2012). While duality and other forms of complementarity pervade many aspects of Andean

¹⁸ Depending on their specific role and the nature of the ayllu, many of these ayllu leadership positions are increasingly referred to as *alcalde*, *cobrador*, and other Spanish-based terms (e.g., Abercrombie 1998; Godoy 1985).

social life, duality expresses in ayllu organization most explicitly in the widespread use of moiety divisions (Urton 1993; Zuidema 1989). As noted above, the moiety division is most frequently recognized at the level of major-ayllu, but percolates down through the rest of the scales of ayllu as well. Moiety divisions can mark some of the most distinctive differences within broader ayllu networks and often frame certain relations both between and within ayllus at various scales (Flores 1984; Paerregaard 1992), even dictating what determines exogamous versus endogamous marriage (B. J. Isbell 1978:132-134; Platt 1986; Rasnake 1986:63-64; Urton 1993). Significantly, these major moieties were always considered complementary, but generally not equal. Most moiety names denoted one as "upper" and one as "lower." These terms came along with all manner of connotations that played out not just abstractly in symbolic community understanding but would actually determine role and access to sustainable community resources as well as built environment manifestations in residential communities (Bauer 1987; Bouysse-Cassagne 1986; Gelles 1995; J. D. Moore 1995; Pärssinen 1992:351-362).

Below I outline how these organizational principles of recursive-hierarchy and dualism frame ayllu manifestations in multi-modal community networks. While residential, sustainable, and symbolic modes of ayllu formation are discussed separately below, it is critical to remember that these modes of community were never expressed independently, but in practice were not just co-occurring, but co-dependent - truly entangled phenomena.

Ayllus as Residential Communities

One of the clearest ways in which any community manifests is through settlement patterns and other expressions of the built environment that mostly closely connected to residential modes of community. As noted in Figure 10 territory was and is the most used criteria in defining ayllu, and for this reason the settlement patterns of ayllus have been one of

their most heavily discussed aspects. Importantly, ayllus at every scale have been found to hold particularly dispersed settlement patterns, which far from random, represent a strategic exploitation of particularly condensed vertically-oriented environmental zones of the Central Andes (Mayer 2007; Murra 1975; Platt 1986; Spalding 1984:16-23). The practice of vertically oriented ecological exploitation through direct residential occupation, formed the basis for J. Murra's hugely influential, largely economically-oriented vertical complementarity or vertical archipelago model for understanding the Inca political economy (Murra 1956, 1975, 1985). While the movement of materials may be the purview of sustainable community networks, their accumulation on the landscape result from where people live, making them pertinent to residential communities as well.

At the smallest and most localized level, ayllus are composed of individual households which consist of closely related, extended families (Spalding 1984:24-26). Small plots of land, for field or pasture, are directly exploited by this family as a core corporate group (Klein 1993:60-61). While modern residency patterns are extremely diverse, most historically observed ayllu family formations seem to have followed patrilocal residence, whereby newly married couples would often occupy the house of the husband's father before fissioning off to establish their own dwelling (Abercrombie 1998:340-344; Platt 1986:79; Urton 1985:253; Van Vleet 2002:90). These family-based residential communities would be based around house-structures (dwellings), corrals, storage facilities, and generally some kind of communal exterior patio. Depending on the broader residential context some of these domestic architectural suites would be walled forming discrete compounds, others would remain open and more spatially dispersed (Figure 12) (Abercrombie 1998:332-335; Allen 1986b:41; Barada 2017:56-57; Tomasi and Rivet 2011).



Figure 12. Examples of traditional domestic structure configurations in the contemporary southcentral highlands subregion as well as from Inca-era contexts in the central highland subregion.

Under the community ecology framework, it is critical to remember that households, in this case these individual domestic compounds and their constituent family members, represent concrete institutions, or manifestations of community interaction, in this case between different minor and major ayllus. So as much as these domestic units form the basal social components of the broader ayllu network, they must also be understood as emergent products of the interaction amongst those same *ayllus*. This is made clear in the centrality of individual house-making ceremonies in grounding broader ayllu symbolic communities throughout the Central Andes (D. Y. Arnold 1991). Both establishing new houses as well as completing necessary maintenance tasks, like re-thatching roofs, are deeply embedded in sustaining ayllus at the local

and even more global scales (Abercrombie 1998:332-334; Gose 1991; Platt 1986:82-83; Sillar 2000:50-58; 2013; Spalding 1984:60). This is exemplified in C. Allen's intensive investigations into Andean place-making, as she argues,

An ayllu is created when *runa* [indigenous community members] build a house or houses on a named place. The ayllu does not consist simply of the group of coresidence individuals, nor of the named place itself: it exists only when these entities - people, houses, the place - are brought into relation with each other" (Allen 1986a:41).

Here we see the built manifestations, in this case the house, as primary pivot-points for broader ayllu practices - a point elaborated-on below.

Some contexts required these domestic compounds to be isolated, however most are found in clusters, equivalent to a hamlet often referred to with the Spanish term estancias. Generally the layout of estancias lack central planning and represent localized growth and domestic fissioning from single households (Platt 1982b:43-47). Even today many of these hamlets can still lack substantial central infrastructure with some still only accessible by foot paths (Abercrombie 1998:54-55; Barada 2017). These informal hamlets and their constituent households form the basis for a micro- or minor-ayllus - the smallest scale of formal ayllu. As noted above, at most scales of ayllu, kinship is more about how an individual acts within the context of ayllu responsibilities than strictly who their ancestors are, but at the level of minorayllu biologically-oriented kinship is central. Even at the scale of minor-ayllu lineage the residential community settlement patterns could be quite dispersed, with constituent estancias occupying pockets of land across huge swaths of territory, often in multiple ecological zones (Platt 1982b:30-35; Spalding 1984:37-39). Again, the motivation for this form of dispersed residential pattern is believed to be primarily the result of a vertical complementarity strategy used by Andean communities for exploiting the highly diverse Andean ecozones (Murra 1985). Importantly, these micro-ayllu estancia residential installments are not always permanently occupied and may represent seasonal residential bases for micro-ayllu members during specific sustainable community-oriented tasks (Abercrombie 1998:73-74).

In similar cyclical process micro-ayllus can also conglomerate in more nucleated villages residential settings¹⁹. These minor-ayllu settlements are generally oriented around public plaza spaces which are orbited by residential compounds utilized by specific *estancia*-based households when the village is occupied. Often these centralized villages are almost completely vacant²⁰, but spring to life during specific expressions of minor-ayllu sustainable and symbolic community practices (Abercrombie 1998). Some of these villages would also act as central places for broader major-ayllu and even maximal-ayllu configurations. Often the arena of major-ayllu conflict and cooperation, these settlements called *marka*, while also often largely vacant could pulse in population, reaching ephemeral, but urban-sized aggregates (Alarcon 2001:452-453; Choque and Mamani 2001). Ultimately, despite the seasonal nature of many ayllu residential situations as well as the ephemeral nature of major-ayllu aggregations, over time *markas* could result in substantial built environment manifestations in the broader sociopolitical landscape.

Ayllus as Sustainable Communities

One of the principle features of ayllu sustainable communities has already been mentioned - that is their tendency to use direct exploitation methods to take advantage of the diverse, often vertically-stacked, ecozones that define the Central Andes (Brush and Guillet 1985; Fonseca 1973; Paerregaard 1992). As discussed above, this frequently would manifest in minimal-ayllu's establishing residences in multiple locations, occupied permanently, or more

¹⁹ During the Toldedo *reducciones* in AD 1572, villages were forced to resettle into largely nucleated villages - some newly establish, others built on previously existing minor or even major ayllu residential centers. This process certainly has affected the residential patters of ayllu formations, but most evidence suggests some substantial continuity as well (see Rasnake 1988; Wernke 2007, 2012).

²⁰ For instance, in his ethnographic work with the ayllu-community of K'ulta in western Bolivia in 1979, T. Abercrombie observed that of the 13 domestic units in his hamlet only 6 were occupied at any one time and the neighboring minor-ayllu village, with upwards of 120 domestic structures was almost entirely vacant except for punctuated events (see Abercrombie 1998).

often seasonally by closely affiliated kin (Murra 1972; Pease 1985). In the broadest terms these *verticality* strategies were constrained by the natural environmental and climactic factors - some plants are extremely sensitive to temperatures and some resources are only found in specific locations (Brush 1977). Some of these vertical archipelago networks can be quite general, only targeting broad climactic regions, such a lower-elevation settlements in the *yungas* regions in order to grow maize, fruits, coca, and other temperate crops and pasturelands for camelid herds and agricultural fields for tubers and high-elevation pseducereals. However, most were far more complex, actually targeting more specific micro-ecozones within the broader zones (Göbel 1998; Harris 1985; Platt 1986:79-80; H. O. Skar 1982; Spalding 1984:30).

The work of E. Mayer has been essential at highlighting that zonal complementarity is not a passive process of simple occupation on the part of the ayllu, but active procedures of generating and gaining access to production zones (Mayer 1985, 2007). For Mayer these production zones are, "a communally managed set of productive resources in which crops are grown in distinctive ways" and include infrastructural features (such as walls separating and pathways connecting various estancia-held plots), specifically tuned systems for rationing resources (specifically, water-irrigation and pasture access), and a leadership apparatus as essential elements (Mayer 2007:245). Under the community ecology rubric this makes production zones mesoscale institutions - the materialized emergent result of focused multimodal community interaction. Importantly, these production zones, while certainly constrained by the climactic factors and available resources, would eclipse these limitations of the natural environment and become formalized landscapes both fine-tuned for sustainable community needs as well as saturated with meaning for symbolic communities (Platt 1986:79). Production zones are fundamentally built on practices of cooperation, through construction and maintenance of shared irrigation canals and herding trails, as well as shared major- or maximalayllu affiliation. However, as representatives of their respective minor-ayllus the relationship between production zone estancias can be fraught with tension, frequently revolving around

land disputes, that can percolate up resulting in conflict and even fissioning at major- or maximal-ayllu level (Abercrombie 1998:97-98, 288-289; Platt 1982b:47).

Some avilus employ more permanent estancia residential patterns in specific production zones, developing agriculturally-oriented specializations within their broader sustainable community networks (Mayer 2007:249-251). However, the most intensively studied sustainable community specialization regarding base-level subsistence in ayllu configurations, pastoralism, were actually more transient in their residential patterns, leading to differing dynamics within ayllu sustainable community networks (Browman 1974; José M Capriles and Tripcevich 2016; Grant and Lane 2018; Kuznar 1995; Nielsen 2000). Pastoral specialists managing large herds of llamas and alpaca, raised as much for their wool as their meat, would largely be based in the high-elevation *puna* pasture lands, but would migrate seasonably to bring their herds down to the lower elevation quechua, yunga, and even chala zones²¹ to take advantage of the seasonal lomas bloom (Browman 1974, 1989). While some herding specialists are and would have been part of formal ayllu sustainable community networks, modern accounts show that sometimes these groups struggle to gain formal membership to more agriculturally-oriented, land-owning ayllu groups; instead forming alliances with individual micro-ayllus or even individual households (Kuznar 1995:49; Mayer 2007:263-264). Annual grazing circuits of pastoralists inherently connect various environmental regions, naturally disrupting self-contained ayllu sustainable community networks (Flannery, et al. 1989; Kuznar 2016). This interzonal articulation is capitalized on by pastoralists who have developed substantial caravan routes to gain access to resources they require but also transporting a variety of good between locations as well (Browman 1974; Nielsen 2000).

Ayllu sustainable community networks are not simply focused on base-level subsidence, but crafts and other made-goods as well. Often ceramics, textiles, baskets, and other essential

²¹ Permanent pastoral residence in these lower-elevation zones has become more common in many areas as camelids have been replaced by goats, sheep, and cattle since the Colonial-era (Kuznar 1991).

quotidian goods would be made at the level of household, on an as-needed basis and dictated by other seasonal sustainable community needs (Bolin 1999:119-120). However, both presently and in the past specific estancias and even minor-ayllus are known to specialize in specific crafts (Rasnake 1986:60). While some craft-based ayllu specialization today is clearly tied to the well-established modern tourist trade, many of these goods still circulate widely in more traditional ayllu-oriented sustainable communities as they certainly did in the past. Ceramic specialization has been particularly well-studied in the Central Andes, and illustrates how even relatively microscale specialized institutions, like potters' workshops, necessitate extensive sustainable community networks (D. E. Arnold 1998; Bell 2017; Ramón 2014; Ramón and Bell 2013; Sillar 2000). Transporting these specific goods, manufactured in specific locations would also drive llama caravans and other supra-ayllu sustainable community connections (Bell 2017:25-42).

An incredibly important underlying mechanism in ayllu sustainable community networks, at any scale, is the dynamic of *reciprocity* (Alberti, et al. 1974; Guillet 1980; Wachtel 1981). Another well-trodden concept in the anthropological literature, in the broadest terms reciprocity represents some form of direct exchange of goods and services (Mauss 1954; Polanyi 1944). However, far from simple, reciprocity can manifest in all manner of ways, ranging from informal, largely symmetrical exchanges, to more rapacious exchange relationships leading to institutional inequalities. Again, the work of E. Mayer has developed some of the most rigorous attempts to categorize the variability in Andean modes of reciprocal exchange (Mayer 1974; 2007:105-142; Salomon 1985). Mayer identifies three primary expressions of reciprocity that permeate sustainable community networks, each with a more informal embodiment used for household and minor-ayllu exchanges and a more formal, impersonal mode used for major- and maximal-ayllu exchanges, and of those outside the broader ayllu network. The three primary modes of reciprocity include: *voluntad* exchanges which are fundamentally dictated by the relationship between those making the exchange, *waje-waje* or *ayni* in which the terms of

exchange can be spontaneous and flexible, and *minka* which refer to set exchange relationships, generally manifest as requests (or demands) for labor in exchange for a set amount of goods in return (Mayer 2007:110-111). Exactly which modes of these reciprocal exchanged could range dramatically, some being evoked seasonally for specific sustainable and symbolic community tasks, forming periods defined by personal and relatively low-stakes exchanges and others in which more hierarchical relationships could be enacted and directed towards larger-scale community projects (Gose 1991; Schaedel 1988; S. L. Skar 1995). As will be emphasized below, this complex reliance on reciprocity goes far beyond economic exchanges of materials and labor in sustainable communities but dictates the dynamics of symbolic communities as well.

Ayllus as Symbolic Communities

I have already referenced or alluded to some of the ways in which symbolic communities underlie or are entangled within residential and sustainable community networks. Here I want to touch on some of the ways in which symbolic communities have manifested as more formal religious and political institutions and highlight roles that individual leaders have played in this process at multiple scales of ayllu.

Before delving into specific instances of ayllu-based symbolic community manifestations, it is necessary to elucidate some of the underlying trends that have been noted for Central Andean ontologies. In one of the most recent anthropological attempts at a grand structural synthesis, P. Descola hashed out a new framework through which the cognitive structures of most ontological systems could be categorized (Descola 2013). Using the central highland subregion as his primary example, he classifies Central Andean societies as rooted in analogism, the most complex of his four fundamental types (Descola 2013:201-230). In Descola's framework *analogism* has two fundamental implications about the way in which many

Central Andean people understand the world around them. The first is that different types of things (humans, animals, landscape features, etc.) are fundamentally dissimilar in physicality (Descola 2013:233). This results in cognitive schema and corresponding symbolic community practices that emphasize analogy and correspondence, resulting in a dense lattice of relations based on dualistic complementarity between opposites, often nested in multiscalar hierarchies (Urton 1985). This fundamental role of dualism in ayllu organization has already been noted and will be elaborated on below.

The second critical feature of cognitive structures based on analogism is that different types of things are also dissimilar in interiority (Descola 2013:233). This means all types of things (humans, animals, landscape features, etc.) also have fundamentally different essence and even intentionality. Framed in the community ecology model this means that under the general Central Andean ontological framework, non-human beings are not necessarily part of human symbolic communities²², but rather have symbolic communities of their own. These non-human symbolic communities have logics and languages of their own as well, as F. Salomon eloquently relayed regarding the contemporary symbolic communities he observed in the central highlands: "they feel they inhabit a universe full of incompletely understood relationships, some of them dangerous" (Salomon 2018:57). Summed up even more succinctly by C. Allen, Central Andean symbolic communities operate in a landscape in which "the whole world is watching" (Allen 2015).

However, adding even more complexity is the fact that many underlying Andean cosmologies maintain a tripartite dimensional structure, generally composed of upper-celestial and lower-underworld dimensions, separated by the intermediary dimension in which humans operate (Kolata 1996b; Platt 1986:242; Qespi 1994). While many non-human beings, like those of mountain peaks, may have physical representations in our dimension, their symbolic

²² In Descola's framework this differs from animism and totemism, in which differing being can share interiority and therefore co-exist in human symbolic communities.

communities largely reside in the other dimensions. These non-human symbolic communities are seen as holding important influence over resources needed for human sustainable community survival, necessitating humans learn to communicate and perform the appropriate actions to gain access to these foreign realms (Allen 1986b; Bolin 1999; De la Cadena 2015; Mannheim and Salas Carreño 2015). In general, one of the primary methods in which humans can penetrate the symbolic communities of these important other beings in analogism-based mentalities is through acts of sacrifice (Descola 2013:212) - a trend that certainly holds true for ayllu symbolic communities.

At the most localized-level ayllu symbolic communities manifest as intimate kinship relations and the negotiation of roles based on age, gender, and general capability (Abercrombie 1998:340-344; Bolin 1999:120-123; Van Vleet 2002, 2009). As in most societies, one of the focal points for these localized symbolic communities is marriage or the union between man and woman (chachawarmi). Not only does this practice bring about new potential ayllu sustainable community connections, but it represented a fundamental manifestation of complementarity or productive emergence from bringing together opposites (D. Y. Arnold and Yapita 2006:126-131; Platt 1986; Van Vleet 2009:129-160). Households and estancias would generally orbit the eldest married couple, who would often serve as the defunct leaders of household institutions. In fact, age acted as a primary constraint on the roles in which individuals could play and the agency they could enact in ayllu practices at these localized scales (Guamán Poma de Ayala 1980[1562]; Urton 1985:265). Gender also plays a formidable role at this local level, often dictating the types of sustainable community tasks individuals are expected to carry-out. However, far from simple manifestations of standardized age and gender roles, ayllu symbolic communities at this hyperlocal scale could also serve as venue's for aggrandizement. For instance, C. Allen and others have noted how through drawing on a suite of iconic globally-oriented symbolic community elements, talented storytellers represent essential and well-respected actors, both in connecting local families to their more expansive

connections as well as anchoring and reproducing symbolic community behavior at the local level (Abercrombie 1998:113; Allen 1993, 2011).

Symbolic community leadership positions at the level of hamlet and minor-ayllu rotate and are technically voluntary. In reality they are often expected of certain individuals and effectively mandatory for maintaining standing in the ayllu - roles holding great prestige but also representing heavy burdens (Allen 1986b:92-96; Urton 1985:265). These positions can represent roles geared for coordination of specific sustainable community tasks, such as managing irrigation cleaning or the planting communal minor-ayllu fields (B. J. Isbell 1978:138-151). However, as noted above, these small-scale networks collate on individual leadership roles, often titled alcalde or *jilagata/jilangu* (Abercrombie 1998:86-90). These positions represent obligatory representative roles in which male minor-ayllu members would settle disputes within their own minor ayllu and stand for their minor-ayllu in larger-scale ayllu matters (Klein 1993:61-62). One of the most important aspects of this role would be allocating and assigning land to estancias and coordinating meticulous record-keeping the various reciprocal transactions that underwrote all ayllu exchange. Generally, only men of a certain age and means are allowed to maintain these roles as they required substantial sustainable community investment (Urton 1985:265). Local leaders are often charged with not just coordinating but largely sponsoring seasonal and annual ritual celebrations (Abercrombie 1998:370-374). However, these roles can also come with express access to particular minor-ayllu sustainable community resources, such as lands and labor, both allowing for but also obligating current leaders to focus on their higher-order symbolic community responsibilities (Platt 1986; Spalding 1984:32).

These more politically-oriented ayllu symbolic community formations would scale-up to the level of major- and maximal-ayllu. Leaders of major-ayllus or moieties, called *mallku* or *kurakas*, would serve similar roles as those at lower levels acting as dispute mediators within the major ayllus and the primary representative of their constituent major-ayllu (Abercrombie

1998:86-90). Unlike the hamlet or village-based residential community formations of households and minor-ayllus, *kuraka* leaders are expected to host major festivities at more established *marka* settlements as well as coordinate more substantial community projects. It is at these maximal-ayllu gatherings in which major-ayllus and moieties would come together for both integrating festivities and but also violent confrontation. This is epitomized in the ritualized *tinku* battles in which individual representatives from disputing major- and minor- ayllus fight, often quite viciously in hand-to-hand combat (Alarcón 2004; Juan San 2002). Other, ritual-based processions and even settlement within *markas* will be patterned along dualistic moiety divisions as well as more atomized into minor ayllu groups. Despite this maintenance and even emphasis of boundaries between subdivisions of the maximal ayllu, these settings also provided mediating space where broader ayllu affiliations and roles could be negotiated and transformed (Aedo 2018). This is exemplified in the language used to refer to broader ayllu affiliations, in which close kinship terminology is evoked, even when addressing high-level *kuraka* leaders, bounding ayllu relations at all scales in the familiar framework of family.

However, far from representing a level playing field, the broader topology to the maximal-ayllu symbolic community network was always hierarchical, even broad dualistic level of moiety divisions. As has already been noted, whether in Quechua or Aymara speaking ayllus the nomenclature used to refer to moiety divisions are almost always some distinction between "upper" and "lower." These upper and lower terms had complex connotations that touch on any number of complementary, but fundamentally unequal dualisms in ayllu symbolic and even sustainable communities (Bouysse-Cassagne 1978; Duviols 1973; Webb 2012).

Importantly, one kuraka is generally selected, whether by vote or by a set cargo-rotation to act as lead and the true head of specific maximal-ayllu affairs. Like lower-level leadership positions this lead kuraka acted as an essential gatekeeper and repository for the economic and symbolic capital of their constituent communities (Abercrombie 1998; Spalding 1984:39-41). As has already been noted, while many more recent Central Andean ayllu's select kurakas through

more democratic means, there are numerous documented examples, particularly in ethnohistorical cases, in which the position of kuraka, and even lesser-ayllu roles were hereditary (Abercrombie 1998:117-120). In these scenarios major and maximal-ayllu kuraka leadership was selected from only a few competing micro-ayllu networks (Spalding 1984:32-33).

These positions of power and leadership were further emphasized through common iconic materializations. Staffs (*vara*) are common accessories indicating the roles of ayllu leadership at various scales (D. Y. Arnold and Hastorf 2016:121-123; Rasnake 1988). These staffs can be both passed between elected leaders or other times are inherited when leadership positions are hereditary (Rasnake 1988:216). Likewise disembodied human heads also represent particularly potent symbols of symbolic community power. D. Arnold and C. Hastorf have detailed how actual curated skulls, of both ancestors and enemies, served as particularly powerful elements in symbolic communities at every scale - used to signal the authority of *mallku* in maximal-ayllu proceedings and ordering hyperlocal household ritual (D. Y. Arnold and Hastorf 2016:107-121). In fact, the curated bodies of revered individuals would be curated as mummies, used as essential grounding points, particularly for minor-ayllu lineage formations (W. H. Isbell 1997a; Spalding 1984:61-70).

However, ayllu symbolic communities also had to manage relationships with the symbolic community networks of a diverse array of non-human beings. As noted above, the primary manner of communication between these distinct social realms was through sacrifice. Sacrifice was central in ayllu symbolic community ritual at every scale (Abercrombie 1998:375-382; Bolin 1999:53-57). Llama fetuses, coca leaves and guinea pigs were and are deposited below entry ways and in specific corners were frequent components of establishing new domestic structures (Platt 1986:82-83). Most dwellings contained small altars (*misas*), loci for sprinkling libations (*ch'alla*) or placing coca leaves, as deposits leveraging success in future sustainable community activities (Abercrombie 1998:333). Similarly, plazas on which hamlets and minor-ayllu villages were centered would also contain altars to which sacrifices could be

made (Abercrombie 1998:334). Sacrifice could be made in terms of time, as it is through pilgrimage, another common rite across Central Andean ayllu formations (Abercrombie 1998; Bauer and Stanish 2001; Radcliffe 2009; Sallnow 1981; H. O. Skar 1985). Ayllu symbolic communities can be distilled in certain individuals, who like the more politically oriented *kuraka* and *mallku*, would act as essential ayllu leaders (Abercrombie 1998:113; B. J. Isbell 1978:201-202). These ritual specialists, most commonly called *yatirl*²³, represent those best suited and practiced at tapping into the foreign symbolic communities of the non-human beings. The most powerful of these actors are represented on the landscape as mountain peaks, fresh-water springs, and glaciers (Alderman 2015; B. J. Isbell 1978:151-157). Similar landscape features as well as human constructed elements can also represent *wa'kas*, another complex indigenous term that generally refers to specific loci of ruptures between different symbolic communities (Bray 2009, 2015). Using particularly ordered verbal recipes, often combined with a suite of material sacrifices, the *yatiri* attempt to engage these often unstable non-human symbolic communities (Abercrombie 1998:346-351; Mannheim and Salas Carreño 2015:60-63{Salomon, 2018 #2852).

Ayllus: now & then

The discussion above only represents a superficial overview of how ayllu is and has been used in the Central Andes. This incomplete inventory largely draws on ethnographic examples from ayllu groups from across the Central Andes observed over the past fifty years, and of course, none of the ayllu configurations and other characteristics described above can be found in any one place or time. Like most forms of Central Andean social order, ayllu organization was radically altered when it collided with the Old World, through Spanish

²³ There are numerous accounts of *yatiri* assuming these specialized roles after surviving being hit by lightning or even hail stones (Bolin 1999; Kolata 1996b).

invasions - first violently commandeered by the early-Colonial hacienda system and later systematically besieged during the sweeping Toledan reforms (Klein 1993). Specific national policies and other recent histories have led to different ways in which Central Andean communities and their various ayllu schema were allowed to advance into the modern era (Godoy 1986:723; Izko 1986; Larson 2004). For instance, the Peruvian comunidad indigena land reform movements in the early twentieth century made individual land ownership the norm, undermining many ayllu sustainable community functions. In Bolivia, ayllus were able to maintain many of their high-order regulatory functions, allowing for ayllu to remain "a more inclusive principle of social order" (Rasnake 1986:12). Importantly, ayllu continues to develop as a living social concept in the Central Andes, even forming the basis for substantial indigenous social movements.

However, the main focus of this dissertation is to delineate multi-modal community networks in the deep Central Andean past, so the question remains - how long can ayllu be said to have defined social life in the Central Andes? As stated from the onset, it is well documented that by AD 1532 ayllu was an established, Quechua-based term that was used to describe any manner of relatedness between similar beings. It was used most extensively as an organizational principle to describe a recursive-hierarchy of human social arrangements, from microscale household institutions to regional-level federations. The Inka used ayllu in this way both for their own internal social organization as well as for demographic and tribute-based purposes (Julien 1988; Rowe 1946, 1982; Zuidema 1964, 1989). The Inka imperial co-option of existing ayllu networks and their implementation of ayllus when they did not exist certainly affected their distribution and the way in which they operated. Like the Spanish, the Inca colonial process would often transplant particularly troublesome groups and were known to install strict hierarchical leadership, in order to motivate would-be aggrandizers to facilitate Inka rule (D'Altroy 2005; María de Diez Canseco Rostworowski 2005).

Yet both Inka and early Spanish accounts suggest that truly inclusive use of ayllu, like

those described above, were already pervasive in Aymara-speaking groups in the south-central and southern highland subregions when incorporated into Tawantinsuyu, suggesting a more archaic adoption of the term (Bouysse-Cassagne 1986, 1987; Julien and Collier 1982). Focusing exclusively on the propensity for certain minor-ayllu symbolic communities to curate mummies of important lineage members, W. Isbell traces ayllu further back, arguing that some form of above-group mortuary complex is a fundamental feature of ayllu (W. H. Isbell 1997a:139). Using this as his index-artifact Isbell suggests that ayllu surfaced as a pervasive organizational concept in the north coast subregion during the development of the Moche, as a bottom-up response to the emergent top-down hierarchies imposed by nascent states (W. H. Isbell 1997a:212-213). He even goes on to argue that the spread of institution of ayllu may have led to the collapse of the later Middle Horizon states of Wari and Tiwanaku (W. H. Isbell 1997a). However, others have conversely argued that ayllu is actually an essential term for understanding these same Middle Horizon polities formation and spread (e.g. Albarracín-Jordán 1996, 1999; Blom 2005; Goldstein 2000b, 2005, 2009, 2015; Janusek 2004c:27-53; 2008:35-65; 2013; Janusek and Blom 2006; Kolata 2003a:456-457; McAndrews, et al. 1997). In my final synthesizing interpretation of the Tiwanaku phenomenon and specifically the Locumba case study (see Conclusion), I use this momentum and employ this dynamic indigenous concept to help situate my community ecology approach into the unique setting of the Andes.

2.3 Tiwanaku: culture-history & archaeological interpretation

In this subsection I discuss specific aspects of the Tiwanaku polity, the diverse range of multi-modal community networks from which it emerged and eventually came to transform, as well as the broader Middle Horizon Period (ca. AD 500-1100)²⁴ it has come to represent. Here I

²⁴ Of course, Tiwanaku was not the only nascent state on the rise during this period, and I make sure to note how and when Wari would intersect with the Tiwanaku story as it progressed and influenced community networks from its core in the central highland subregion to the north.

bring in macro-, meso-, and micro-scale perspectives, synthesized from the substantial (and growing) bodies of evidence collected by archaeological investigations that have explored Tiwanaku's sociocultural imprint in the South-Central Andes and beyond. My goal is to provide a clear sketch of Tiwanaku's trajectory as an emergent macroscale institution, most appropriately termed a state. While I draw on archaeological evidence from any and all contexts available (settlement patterns, mortuary contexts, material analyses, etc.), I focus most on hyper-local, microscale household contexts and other features that comprise the domestic sphere. Using the community ecology scheme as a middle-range framework I hope to delineate some of the principal processes that led to the dynamic and lasting cultural florescence we now call Tiwanaku. As always, this is not meant to be a complete review of Tiwanaku, but rather provide a foundational context and base-line comparison for the present study (see Janusek 2004c, 2008; Kolata 1993a). Ultimately, I hope to illustrate how a better understanding of the everyday lives of those living in the middle Locumba Valley during this time, can assist in strengthening our grasp on this important period in Andean prehistory. First, I highlight some of the ways archaeologists and other outsiders have understood the site of Tiahuanaco and provide a bit more detail regarding the broader environmental particulars of the South-Central Andean context.

Understanding the Trajectory of Tiwanaku

Like most prehistoric societies, polities, civilizations, and widespread cultural fluorescence, the closer we look at Tiwanaku the more difficult it becomes to define simply. The

epicenter of the Tiwanaku phenomenon was the site of the same name²⁵, located in the southern Titicaca Basin, just 20 kilometers from the lake's edge. Particularly because the impressive ruins of its ceremonial core stand in stark contrast to the windswept plains surrounding them, the site of Tiahuanaco has always represented an alluring symbol of the past to those who visit from afar (Janusek 2008:3-17; Kolata and Ponce Sanginés 2003). This has included the Inka from the neighboring central highlands, who over four hundred years after their abandonment would famously co-opt the ruins of Tiahuanaco (Yaeger and López Bejarano 2004), incorporating them into one of the more prominent versions of their primary creation myth (Cobo 1979[1653]:141). Just over a decade into Spanish colonial rule, the ethnographicallyoriented soldier, Pedro de Cieza de Leon would be the first non-indigenous person to transmit their first-impressions of site. Like most, Cieza de Leon admired what little of the site remained, assured that the monoliths and other stonework were "beautifully carved, so much so that they seem the work of great artists or masters" (Cieza de Leon 1976[1553]:283). Importantly, when Cieza de Leon inquired if the Inca were responsible for the site, local informants laughed, suggesting while they weren't sure who constructed them, they had been there since long before the Inka invaded the southern Titicaca Basin (Cieza de Leon 1976[1553]:458).

Beginning in the late 19th century, modern era documentation at and about Tiahuanaco followed the general trends outlined above (see 2.1), as archeology began to formalize as a discipline out of more colonial-driven antiquarianism. Due to its impressive stonework as well as its location just 55 kilometers from Bolivia's modern capital city of La Paz, Tiahuanaco would be visited by many of the first established foreign and indigenous archaeologists and historians in

²⁵ In this thesis I primarily use the spelling *Tiwanaku*. For example, I use Tiwanaku to refer to the archaeological material culture, the polity, and the broader cultural phenomenon that Tiwanaku represents. However, I use the spelling *Tiahuanaco* to describe the archaeological site and the former settlement it represents. The modern town that sits directly adjacent (and overlying) the site is spelled Tiahuanaco and some have argued the latter spelling is more appropriate for the prehistoric polity as well (Nair and Protzen 2013), but for consistency with most other recent sources I use the former spelling here in most instances.

the region. The site was documented by well-known trips made (separately) by American E. G. Squier and German naturalist A. Von Humbolt during the mid-19th century (Squier 1877; von Humboldt 1878). However, most early visits by foreigners would still garner relatively outlandish and often racist interpretations of the ruins²⁶ (particularly regarding the indigenous Aymara and how they could not have played a role in its creation) (Castelnau 1851; Mitre and Miranda 1879).

Looting and stone-borrowing would continue to chip-away at the preserved sections of the site, with a major blow occurring in the early years of the 20th century as a new rail line to La Paz was built directly through the site. Workers systematically mined ashlars for railway buildings and even destroyed larger stone elements to create gravel fill. Worse yet, this destruction led a well-meaning French scientific team, led by G. Crequi-Montfort to intervene with a major conservation and excavation project at the site (Créqui-Montfort 1904), that would ultimately do more damage than it prevented. Finally, research at Tiwanaku in the first decades of the 20th century would be dominated by the eclectic Austrian-born naval officer, Arthur Poznansky. Having become enamored with the ruins at Tiahuanaco, while visiting La Paz on business, Posnansky would devote most of his life to documenting the site - promoting his vision of Tiwanaku as the progenitor of a global-scale civilization in the deep past. While, like many of his contemporaries, Posnansky would hold racist views of indigenous populations ultimately relegating his broader interpretations of Tiwanaku to be irrelevant, he did produce four substantial volumes (Posnansky 1945), recording significant details about the aspects of the site and materials recovered there that have since been lost due to modern development and looting (Marsh 2019).

The 20th century would also bring more scientifically-informed and anthropologicallyoriented archaeological studies to Tiwanaku and its area of influence. This would include M.

²⁶ Regrettably these types of interpretations have continued today and have even gained some pop culture notoriety (e.g., Hancock 1996; von Daniken 1968).

Uhle who would first come to the site in the final years of the 19th century. Building on his museum-based seriation work (Stübel and Uhle 1892), Uhle would conduct test excavations at Tiahuanaco and throughout the southern Titicaca Basin, to develop the first culture-history for the south-central Andes. This seriation-based chronology building would be elaborated on by other influential researchers, W. C. Bennett, A. Kidder II, and S. Rydén, all of which excavated mostly small test units to hash out basic chronological sequences using ceramic styles as their basis. While all of these early archaeological endeavors conducted systematic work, they would all falsely conclude that Tiahuanaco was some form of vacant ceremonial center - a pilgrimage site for a polity seated somewhere more environmentally hospitable (Bennett 1948; Bennett and Bird 1964:138; Bennett and Lazarte 1956; Kidder 1956; Rydén 1947:158-160; Uhle 1902).

One exception to this interpretive trend was A. Bandeleir, who having traveled extensively throughout the southern Titicaca Basin, would correctly surmise that Tiahuanaco was likely also a large population center, only obscured now because of the ephemeral nature of house construction materials (e.g. unfired adobe and grass thatch) (Bandelier 1905, 1910). The culture-history models of Uhle and Bennett would be very influential in Rowe's master sequence, which used Tiahuanaco Style for its pan-Andean Middle Horizon marker (Rowe 1945). By the mid-twentieth century it was determined that Tiahuanaco Style actually represented material correlates for two peer-polities - Wari in the central highlands and Tiwanaku in the south-central highlands (Lumbreras 1974; Menzel 1964b; Wallace 1957).

The site of Tiahuanaco would take on the role of national icon through the efforts of C. Ponce Sanginés. Ponce would harness the agitated nationalistic enthusiasm that swelled during and after the Agrarian Reform movements that swept much of the Central Andes at this time to create a new Bolivian archeology (Ponce Sanginés 1978). This movement was integral in modernizing archaeological techniques at the site as well as developing and maintaining protections for the site, but it also hampered almost any form of international research collaboration. However, beginning in the 1980s Ponce would begin facilitating more cooperative

research situations, teaming up with A. Kolata in the formation of Project Wila Jawira. Continuing into the 1990s Project Wila Jawira would coordinate extensive multidisciplinary studies that completed excavations, settlement pattern studies, and a suite of more environmental-based research to develop an impressive dataset from which to study Tiwanaku and the broader Middle Horizon (Kolata 1996a, 2003b). Importantly, this was the first project to detect and study the extensive domestic contexts at the site (Bermann 1996; Janusek 1994, 2003a). Through this work both Ponce and Kolata would support interpretations of Tiwanaku as a true centralized state - a political force capable of raising significant military forces and controlling a well-integrated agricultural hinterland. Both researchers also saw the capital of Tiahuanaco as a true *axis mundus* - the cosmological center for a vast religious order (Kolata 1993a, 2004; Kolata and Ponce Sanginés 1992; Ponce Sanginés 1969b, 1976).

In the last 25 years studies investigating Tiwanaku have multiplied exponentially (Janusek 2004c, 2008; Vranich and Stanish 2013; Young-Sánchez 2004, 2009). These have included important work at the center of Tiahuanaco and associated Pumapunku complex, often working to delineate some of the more destructive excavations noted above as well as non-invasive remote sensing work (Koons 2013; Vella, et al. 2019; Vranich 2006). This has also included more studies of peripheral areas of the site - particularly domestic contexts (Janusek 2009; Marsh 2012a, Rivera 2003). The broader Titicaca Basin has been host to numerous surveys and excavation projects, which have both supported and challenged ideas put forward by Ponce and Kolata (Aldenderfer, et al. 2005; W. H. Isbell and Burkholder 2002; La Favre 2016; A. R. Levine and Vranich 2013; Stanish 2003; Vranich, et al. 2012). More environmental and agroecology projects within the immediate Tiwanaku hinterland, have also injected nuance and uncertainties to more centralized conceptions of the political dimension of Tiwanaku (Erickson 1992; Janusek and Kolata 2004; Kolata and Ortloff 1989; Stanish 2002). However, more recent research has also illustrated just how widespread Tiwanaku's influence was throughout the South-Central Andes (Browman 1997; Goldstein 2007). Yet again, Tiwanaku's

overall imprint in these distant regions shows great variability in different places and at different times (e.g., K. Anderson 2013; Berenguer and Dauelsberg 1989; Goldstein 2015; Goldstein and Owen 2001). Furthermore, the site of Tiahuanaco has not lost its potency as an icon of cultural patrimony. It continues to act as a grounding place for the state²⁷ as well as for Aymaraspeaking communities of southern Titicaca Basin (Sammells 2012, 2013). Since AD 2000 Tiahuanaco has been recognized as a UNESCO World Heritage site and preservation and documentation of the site has increased (Margottini 2013; Yates 2011).

Below I work to synthesize these new and varying accounts of Tiwanaku into one coherent narrative. As always, this is a practice in futility as the reality of Tiwanaku, even in the macroscale, was never just one thing, but rather a hyper-complex sociocultural phenomenon which emerged from the interactions within and between the multitudes of multi-modal community networks that defined the south-central Andes. However, in order to accommodate as much of the variability of Tiwanaku as possible, I split my discussion into four, sequential macroscale temporal categories²⁸, covering: 1) a brief review of the extensive, proceeding Formative Period (ca. 1500 BC - AD 500), 2) the Early Middle Horizon when Tiwanaku emerged as a polity (ca. AD 500 - 750), 3) the Late Middle Horizon as Tiwanaku transformed into a true state (ca. AD 750 - 1000), and 4) the Terminal Middle Horizon and the beginning of the Late Intermediate Period marked by the passing of the Tiwanaku phenomenon (ca. AD 1000-1200).

In addition, I also split my discussion of each macroscale temporal period into three macroscale spatial segments. In general, these spatial distinctions tease out patterns as they played out in 1) Tiwanaku's core area of influence in the Titicaca Basin of the south-central

²⁷ The most notable event in recent history was the choice of Evo Morales, the first indigenous president elected in Bolivia, to hold his 2006 inauguration at the site (Howard 2010; Postero 2010).

²⁸ While this discussion largely traces trends in the macroscale, to provide clearer connections to the more relatable level of ego-based lived experience, I follow the lead of colleges (see Marsh et al 2019), and often translate these macroscale time periods into generation lengths of 30 years (Fenner 2005).

highlands, 2) the western valleys of the south-central coast, and 3) multiple locations in the northern and eastern margins of the southern highlands.

The South-Central Andes

While its impact would be felt throughout the Central Andes, Tiwanaku's primary area of influence was centered squarely in the south-central highlands subregion with eventual extensive spread into the south-central coast and southern highlands subregions as well. Taken together these three subregions are generally referred to as the South-Central Andes (Figure 13). The general ecozones that comprise these subregions align with those described above (Figure 8) but do have important unique distributions worth stressing here.



Figure 13. Map of the South-Central Andes, with inserts of important subregions discussed in the text - 1) the south-central highlands, 2) the south-central coast, and 3) the southern highlands.

South-Central Highlands

The south-central highland subregion represents the widest section of the broader Andean cordillera - reaching a maximum width of approximately 450 km (from western to eastern *yunga* regions). This subregion also contains the most area covered in the *puna* ecozone type, which encompasses the majority of the south-central highlands and extends well into the southern highlands subregion. This expansive highland plain is known as *the altiplano* and is generally separated into the northern *altiplano* (portion in south-central highlands) and the southern *altiplano* (portion in the southern highlands subregion). The *altiplano* is a broad windswept grassland, with only occasional significant topographic disruptions. The general ground cover is tough bunch grass and other hardy scrub brush. However, streams, lakes, and highland wetlands (*bofedales*) are well distributed and facilitate well-watered niches, in an otherwise marginal environment. These freshwater locales represent resource-dense areas where freshwater fish, waterfowl, and aquatic plants and algae can be found seasonably (Yaranga 2020). While there are frequent frosts (especially in the months May - August) and low average temperatures, a whole suite of highland domesticated tubers and pseudocerials can be grown seasonally here. The altiplano also represents ideal seasonal pasture lands for native domesticated camelids, llama and alpaca, where massive herds were supported in the past. Likewise, the *puna* represents a natural habitat for wild camelids (vicuña and guanaco) as well as deer and small mammals, particularly rodents.

The northern altiplano is centered on the massive highland lake, Lake Titicaca (Figure 14) - the highest elevation navigable lake on the planet (average elevation: 3800 m.a.s.l.). Lake Titicaca covers approximately 8400 km² at current water levels - though, as will be noted below, it has been documented to fluctuate significantly with climactic shifts. The lake is technically composed of two sublakes, connected by a narrow channel (the Straights of Tiquina) when water levels are at their maximum. The northwest lake, Lake Chucuito, covers 7000 km² and makes up most of the lakes total area. This deep, cold lake is dotted with islands of various size, the largest being the Island of the Sun and associated Island of the Moon, just off the Copacabana Peninsula in the southeast. The southeastern portion of the lake, often called Lake Wiñaymarka, covers approximately 1300 km² and is documented to have dried up almost entirely in periods of aridity. Importantly, while technically a freshwater lake, Lake Titicaca is highly saline and is not considered potable for humans and can cause serious complications for crops of all types. Even so, the lake is a significant source of freshwater fish, waterfowl, amphibians, and aquatic plants, like reeds and other sedges.


Figure 14. Satellite-based imagery (GoogleEarth) map of Lake Titicaca and the surrounding Titicaca Basin.

The lake sits in a broader basin that covers the majority of the northern altiplano (approximately 57,000 km²) and the broader south-central highland subregion. Significantly, much of the Titicaca Basin falls into the lower elevation *suni* ecozone - allowing for a variety of wild and domesticated species²⁹ to be successfully exploited in the basin, not available in the surrounding *puna*³⁰. The northern Titicaca Basin is dissected by several small rivers³¹ which

²⁹ Importantly this can include certain varieties of maize and legumes.

³⁰ This is particularly true within a few kilometers of the lake where average temperatures can be multiple degrees (c) higher than the surrounding area.

³¹ Some of the most significant being the Azangaro and Ramis Rivers.

release into the north edge of the lake. The basin extends north, ending along with the *altiplano* in the steeper and narrower central highlands subregion. The southern Titicaca Basin extends over 100 kilometers beyond the lake, following the Desaguadero River valley south, eventually ending as the river continues, emptying in the large alpine lake, Lake Poopó, 300 km to the southeast. The eastern extent of the Titicaca Basin is marked by a relatively steep descent through the *yungas* into the more subtropical and tropical ecozones of the *rupa rupa* and *omagua*. The southernmost extent of the south-central highlands is bordered by the particularly extensive and temperate Cochabamba-Mizque intermontane river systems.

South-Central Coast

The western margin of the south-central highlands region is marked by more gradual descent through the *quechua* and *yunga* foothills eventually ending in the hyperarid coastal *chala*, along the Pacific Coast. This region (from the lower elevations of the *quechua* to the coast³²) demarcated the south-central coast subregion, represents the northern extent of the Atacama Desert³³, and is marked by true hyperaridity³⁴. While the *chala* zone here has direct access to the immensely rich fisheries and other marine resources offered by the Pacific Ocean, the rest of the landscape can be relatively barren, except for annual blooms along coastal dunes, facilitated by dense coastal fogs. These seasonal *lomas* draw wild camelids, deer, and other animals to these coastal areas.

³² I use the measurable reach of the coastal fogs (*grau*) to demarcate between the highlands and coastal subregions.

³³ Technically, the Atacama Desert is a political demarcation and end with the Chilean border.

³⁴ Less than 2mm of measurable precipitation annually.



Figure 15. Map of the south-central coast subregion with the drainage systems that comprise the Valles Occidentales labelled (note: dots indicate some major Tiwanaku-affiliated sites).

The only permanent disruption to the hyperarid coast are relatively modest river valleys that act as drainage for snow-melt and alpine springs at the higher elevations. These drainage systems generally begin as steep, rocky canyons in the *suni* and upper *quechua*, before giving way to wider, more even valleys in the *yungas*, before passing through the *chala* and emptying into the Pacific (Figure 15). The south-central coast is defined by seven such drainages: the Tambo, Osmore, Locumba, Sama, and Caplina in southern Peru and the Lluta, and Azapa in northern Chile. These valleys and their associated drainages represent effective oases in the otherwise hyperarid desert, drawing seasonal wild camelids and deer in the upper elevations as well as migrating birds like duck and ibis. The rivers themselves, while often quite shallow, could support small freshwater fish, crustaceans (crayfish), as well as large stands of reeds and other freshwater grasses. These valleys could also host small stands of molle, algarroba, and other small hardy trees. Most domesticated crops (apart from some cold-weather tubers and

pseudocereals) thrive in these valleys, provided they can be watered. This subregion is the true focus of this dissertation and is discussed, in detail, as it pertains to the Locumba drainage below (see 3.1).

Southern Highlands

Back in the highlands - as the *altiplano* continues south beyond Lake Poopó, it enters the southern highlands subregion. Much of the northern portion of the southern highlands is like the southern south-central highlands - defined largely by highland *puna* grassland. However, continuing south this region is marked by much steeper topography as well as much more extensive volcanic and geothermal activity. This harsh region is rich in mineral and metal deposits as well as encompassing extensive highland salt flats, like the Salar de Uyuni. Despite the aridity, intermontane river valley systems in places like San Pedro de Atacama, represented desert oases, the only biodiverse or resource-rich areas to be found before the southern highlands break to the well-watered eastern *yunga* foothills and *pampa* grasslands in the southeast (Pfeiffer, et al. 2018; Santoro, et al. 2017).

The Formative Period (ca. 1500 BC - AD 500): the emergence of hierarchical institutions in the South-Central Highlands

The 2000 years of the Formative Period would bring massive changes to sustainable communities in the widespread adoption of domesticated plants and animals and the suite of technologies that their maintenance required (Hastorf 1999). Likewise, residential modes of community would also fundamentally shift to sedentary manifestations and institutions like the village would emerge (Bandy 2004a). While this extensive and varied period is not the focus of this study, outlining some of the critical transformations in multi-modal community network configurations during the Formative is necessary for understanding the later Tiwanaku phenomenon. Here I highlight how these fundamental shifts in residential and sustainable

community manifestations would allow for the first regional-level symbolic community networks as well as truly hierarchical institutions to form in the Titicaca Basin and eventually the rest of the south-central Andes. The Formative Period³⁵ in the south-central Andes is generally separated into three subdivisions: the Early (Upper) Formative (ca. 1500-800 BC), the Middle Formative (ca. 800-250 BC), and the Late (Lower) Formative (ca. 250 BC - AD 500), which I use to frame my discussion below.

The Early Formative (EF) (ca. 1500-800 BC) is defined by the relatively sweeping shift from mobile modes of residential community formations to more settled forms³⁶ as well as the pivot of sustainable communities to a central reliance on domesticates and the emergence of agriculturally- and pastorally-oriented configurations. (Bruno 2014; Hastorf 2008:548; BrieAnna S Langlie, et al. 2011; Marsh 2015). Villages would emerge as a ubiquitous mesoscale institution, founded on new dynamics involved in sedentary modes of residential communities and the novel forms of cooperation needed in sustainable communities to maintain domesticated fields and herds (Bandy 2004a, 2006; Hastorf 1999). These EF sustainable community networks appear to have remained relatively localized and autonomous, however evidence for limited long-distance exchange in the form of relatively isolated exotic goods (obsidian, marine shell, sodalite beads), suggest some far reaching network connections (Bandy 2005:95; Browman 1981; Stanish 2003:106-108). Important technologies like ceramics also became central to sustainable community activities as well as a new media for symbolic community expression (Stanish 2003:102-104). Significantly, while sedentism did prevail during this period, evidence suggests that permanent fissioning still played an essential role in

³⁵ The Formative Period (ca. 1500 BC - AD 500) encompasses the later portion of the Initial Period, the Early Horizon, and the Early Intermediate Period as used in much of the Central Andes.

³⁶ Recent research in the Titicaca Basin has started to illuminate this previously poorly understood transition - these studies have confirmed the high mobility of Late Archaic residential communities, but also suggest frequent re-occupation and evidence for surprisingly long-distance sustainable community connections (see Craig 2011; Haas, R. and Llave 2015).

residential community and broader village institutional dynamics. M. Bandy has used systematic settlement data from the Taraco Peninsula in the southern Titicaca Basin to illustrate how, on multiple occasions, the largest villages of the EF would fission, developing two (or more) new settlements after each event (Bandy 2004a:328-330); developing a complicated and quickly compacting network of village-based community networks (Bandy 2001:103-111).

The Middle Formative (MF) (ca. 800-250 BC) is marked by a cessation of this broader village-based fissioning that defined the EF, and the emergence of the first truly globallyoriented symbolic community networks in the region (Bandy 2004a:330-331). Often framed as the first religion in the Titicaca Basin, the Yaya-Mama tradition represents the emergence of a suite of practices and material manifestations that could be drawn on by local symbolic communities in order to integrate the growing residential community populations resulting from the shifting sustainable community configurations adopted in the EF (Chávez 2004). These elements included the construction of the first public architecture - most notably rectangular and trapezoidal sunken courts built into natural hillsides and artificial mounds accompanied by lowrelief stelae and other stone sculpture (Chávez and Chávez 1975; Cohen 2010). The Yaya-Mama tradition also carried with it a suite of ritual paraphernalia, including finely decorated ceramics and musical instruments (most notably ceramic trumpets). Most of the new ceramic styles were finely decorated serving bowls used for the consumption of liquids, which coupled with paleobotanic evidence, suggests the MF is when the production of alcohol was introduced to the region (Goldstein 2003; Logan, et al. 2012; Whitehead 2006). All of these material signals of the Yaya-Mama global symbolic community have been interpreted as facilitating ritual practices that harnessed novel forms of spectacle to smooth-out issues of scalar stress and anchor symbolic communities in place through substantial investments in the built environment (Hastorf 2003; Roddick and Hastorf 2010).

The MF sustainable community networks would both extend and consolidate at this time, as suggested by growing importance of long-distance trade, craft production, and the

centralization of wealth. While present in the EF, long-distance trade would increase dramatically in the MF, including the spread raw materials used for more utilitarian goods (Bandy 2004b:95-96; Burger, et al. 2000). Importantly, during the latter half of the Middle Formative water levels in Lake Titicaca were extremely low, which fundamentally altered transportation routes throughout the basin. In a definitional case of gateway (or transit) communities, it has been argued that this shift in transportation routes gave some residential communities a privileged position in these new configurations, and allowed for wealth to begin concentrating within specific communities (Bandy 2004b; La Favre 2016:204). This resulted in the formation of settlement clusters within residential community networks, whereby small residential sites would be established outside larger central residential communities. Several residential communities, like Chiripa on the Taraco Peninsula (Hastorf 2003; Hastorf, et al. 1999) and Qaluyu in the northern Titicaca Basin (Plourde and Stanish 2006; Stanish 2003:112-115) would emerge as hubs in these expanding multi-modal community networks. These increasingly interconnected, regional networks provided numerous avenues for aggrandizing individuals to apply both corporate strategies, as indicated by the relatively integrating quality of most elements involved with the Yaya-Mama tradition, as well as exclusionary strategies through the control of emerging sectors of sustainable communities surrounding trade and crafting (Hastorf 2008:549-553; Stanish 2003:109-136).

By the Late Formative (ca. 250 BC - AD 500)³⁷ the initial settlement clusters that had formed in the MF began transforming into more hierarchical and autonomous residential community networks, with primary sites acting as true centers of gravity for growing orbits of smaller secondary and tertiary sites (Stanish 2003:137-142). New higher-order symbolic communities were necessary as these central residential communities began playing a more

³⁷ In most recent chronologies of the southern Titicaca Basin the broader Late Formative Period is divided into four sub-periods: The Initial Late Formative (ca. 250 BC - AD 150), Late Formative 1 (ca. AD 120-240), Late Formative 2 (ca. AD 240-420), and the Terminal Late Formative (ca. AD 420-590) (see Marsh et al 2019).

focused role in large scale sustainable and symbolic community networks. This process of promotion resulted in increasingly generalized leadership roles as higher-order symbolic communities came to intervene in more aspects of sustainable communities (Roddick and Hastorf 2010). Symbolic community expressions in media like ceramics and textiles would begin to diverge into increasingly distinct styles (Bennett 1948; Steadman 1995), suggesting more balkanized organization in the broader symbolic community network (Stanish 2003:140-142). This was also reflected in built environment projects that, while retaining elements like public sunken courts and plazas, would also add more exclusive elements, suggesting more centralized control in symbolic communities that regulated the rituals that were centered there.

Importantly, while some exclusionary strategies involving violence may have been present in the proceeding EF and MF, it is in the LF that clear signs of raiding and warfare are evident in increased intentional residential community razing and even symbolic community expressions emphasizing violence and domination (Stanish and Levine 2011). This period of initial factional competition in the early LF would culminate at the center of Pukara, where after a sustained campaign of raiding against its nearest competitors would come to control much of the northern Titicaca Basin (A. Levine 2012; A. Levine, et al. 2013). The site of Pukara would boast impressive public architecture including multiple sunken courts, substantial stone-lined terracing, and it would project a suite of novel iconographies elements, spread through ceramic, textile, and stone sculpture - reaching areas as distant as the south-central coast subregion (Haeberli 2001; Klarich 2005; Klarich and Bustinza 2012; Stanish 2003:144-146). Likely due to issues of hypercoherence as aggrandizers took direct control of too many sustainable and symbolic community networks, by ca. AD 200 Pukara would wane as a primary center as the core of the broader Titicaca Basin multi-modal community network would shift to the southern basin (Hastorf 2008; Stanish 2003:158-159).

This collapse of Pukara in the north occurred as major transformations were also occurring within the southern basin as centers on the Taraco Peninsula, like Chiripa and Kala

Uyuni, which had served as regional population centers for generations, began to empty, shifting to the settlements in the valleys south of the lake (Bandy 2001:162-198; Bandy and Hastorf 2007; Janusek 2004d). This major migration of residential communities seems to coincide with a shift in sustainable community practices in the widespread adoption of raised field agriculture. Likely catalyzed by the dramatic shifts in lake levels since the MF, raised field agriculture used built-up tracks of well-drained mounds, separated by dug-out canals to harness the fluctuations in lake levels as well as mitigate other environmental issues, like unpredictable frosts (Erickson 1985, 1992; Erickson and Chandler 1989). Centers in the the wide, marshy valleys south of the lake, like Khonko Wankani, Lukurmata, and Tiahuanaco, were much better positioned to develop and coordinate wide tracks of this new agricultural infrastructure and facilitate many of the former Taraco Peninsula populations (Bandy 2005; Bermann 1996:103-130; Janusek 2004d, 2015; Janusek and Kolata 2004; Marsh 2012b; Stanish 1994).

Newly refined dating and ceramic stylistic sequences have illuminated how symbolic communities grappled with these major shifts in residential and sustainable community modes, as the formally widespread LF Kalasasaya styles give way to the more locally-specific Qeya styles that define the Terminal LF (ca. AD 420-570) (Marsh, et al. 2019:812-813). These more variable Qeya styles used novel and more symbolically-dense imagery and motifs, implying symbolic communities that were vying for the attention of communities on the move (Marsh, et al. 2019; Roddick 2009). Ultimately, it would be the symbolic communities at Tiahuanaco that could provide the most effective, or at least most attractive, strategies for integrating the increasingly dense community networks in the southern Titicaca Basin (Janusek 2004d).

Formative Changes Elsewhere in the South-Central Andes

The extensive Formative Period would also see major changes to community networks elsewhere in the South-Central Andes. In the macroscale, many of the basal shifts in residential

and sustainable communities would mirror those already noted for the Titicaca Basin, including the widespread emergence of sedentary village institutions and the adoption of domesticates. For instance, just southeast of the Titicaca Basin in the expansive and temperate intermontane Cochabamba-Mizque Valley systems, agriculture would spread quickly, and while regional symbolic communities would form coherent regional styles, such as Quillacollo and Tupuraya. However, very little centralization appears to have occurred until the terminal LF as connections with the Titicaca Basin polities began to increase (Brockington and Rocha 1989; Gablemann 2012; Pereira, et al. 2001). In the southern *altiplano* in the broader Lake Poopó Basin sedentary village institutions would also come to frame community life. However, the local Huancarane communities here would orient themselves around pastoralism than some of the more agriculturally-oriented Formative Period sustainable communities elsewhere (José M Capriles 2016; McAndrews 2005). Further south still, in the relatively isolated highland intermontane oases in San Pedro de Atacama, residential communities appear to have adapted only semi-sedentary lifeways until late in the Formative, and focused significant sustainable community investments in establishing long distance camelid caravan networks (Agüero and Uribe 2011).

Similar Formative Period transformations were also occurring in the lower elevation zones of the broader South-Central Andes. In the river valleys of the south-central coast subregion, most domesticated crops could be grown year-round, and this agricultural productivity would support a dense network of small, village-based community networks spread relatively evenly through valley bottoms. Variations did occur, with residential communities in the *chala* closer to the coast maintaining sustainable community practices largely oriented on marine resources (deFrance, et al. 2009; Owen 2009), and communities located higher in the *yunga* and *quechua* zones of the valleys would rely more on pastoral sustainable community formations (Vining 2016). In these western valleys most Formative symbolic communities did not invest significant amount in public architecture, however burial mounds (*tumulos*) were ubiquitous features, suggesting changing symbolic community investment in shared lineages

(Romero, et al. 2004). Again, while not as severe as the highland transformation, social inequalities did develop in these valleys - frequently evidenced by unequal distribution of exotic trade goods (Goldstein 2000a). While forming similar overall community network formations, each of the south-central coastal valleys would develop its own broader community networks - the best defined Formative manifestations being the Huaracane in the middle Osmore drainage (Costion 2009, 2013; Goldstein 2005:122-134), the Algodonal in the coastal Osmore drainage (Owen 1993, 2009), and the Alto Ramirez tradition in the middle Azapa drainage (Iván Muñoz Ovalle 1987, 2004; Iván Muñoz Ovalle 1983).

The Early Middle Horizon (ca. AD 500-750): the formation of Tiwanaku as a centripetal center

In the competitive milieu that defined the Terminal Late Formative (ca. AD 420-570), Tiahuanaco would be established as the primary center in the broader Titicaca Basin. As has already been noted, the Late Formative was a time of great change throughout the basin, as Pukara would falter in the north and shifting environmental conditions and sustainable community transformations led to major residential community migrations in the southern basin (Janusek 2004d). In just ten generations the Tiwanaku Valley would go from being relatively unpopulated³⁸ to hosting the highest population density in the South-Central Andes. Far from incidental, the major growth of residential communities and re-orientation of sustainable community formations resulted from and came to transform the broader multi-modal community networks in the southern Titicaca Basin and beyond. This period has traditionally been called Tiwanaku IV or Tiwanaku 1, but here I use Early Middle Horizon (ca. AD 500-750) to refer to this

³⁸ Originally, systematic survey in the Tiwanaku Valley suggested several residential community settlement clusters within the valley at the onset of the LF (e.g., Albarracín-Jordán 1996; McAndrews et al 1997; Bandy 2013).

initial period of growth at Tiahuanaco.



Figure 16. Map of site of Tiahuanaco.

The site of Tiahuanaco (Figure 16) was likely established sometime in the early Late Formative (sometime after ca. AD 100), including the first iteration of the site's primary sunken court (Ponce Sanginés 1969a). At this point Tiahuanaco was like many of the other centers in the southern basin and was substantially smaller than multiple sites on the Taraco Peninsula and even Khonko Wankani in the neighboring Desaguadero drainage to the south (Bandy and Hastorf 2007; Janusek 2015; Janusek, Vranich, et al. 2013). As the Late Formative progressed Tiwanaku would grow in population, which largely concentrated in residential sectors in the Kk'araña and Akapana East 1 sectors (Marsh 2012a, 2012b). This was also a period of symbolic community elaboration at the site as some of the earliest residential sectors were leveled and the construction of Kalasasaya platform complex was initiated. The Kalasasaya platform complex coupled with the older sunken court would form the beginnings of the site's impressive ceremonial core precinct (Kolata 2003c). As noted above, in the final two centuries of the LF Tiahuanaco would grow drastically, from a large 20 hectare village to a booming 100 hectare settlement (Mathews 1992; McAndrews, et al. 1997). However, even this substantial growth would be dwarfed by the dramatic changes at the site in the Early Middle Horizon. For perspective, by the end of the Early Middle Horizon, ca. AD 700, just four generations after populations began to shift to Tiahuanaco, the site sprawled over some 6.5 kilometers of area - a true urbanized settlement.

Now residential communities occupied several large sectors in and around the ceremonial core precinct of the site (Janusek 2004b:193-195). Most of these residential sectors would expand eastward, overlaying but largely abandoning Late Formative domestic structures in Akapana East 1 and forming new discrete sectors - Akapana East 1M and Akapana East 2. Further east still, the sector of Ch'iji Jawira would form one of the more peripheral residential community contexts at the site (Rivera Casanovas 2003). In the north, early established residential sectors like Kk'araña would be largely abandoned (Marsh 2012b), and new sectors like La Karaña and Muru Ut Pata would be established (Janusek 2004b; 2013:202). Similarly, to the south of the ceremonial core sectors like the Mollo Kontu became well-established (Couture 2003), closely associated with a system of qochas or artificial wetlands (Verzijl and Quispe 2013), used for some irrigation but often for watering herds of camelids (Janusek 2008:183-184). Finally, within the ceremonial core itself more elaborate residential spaces were founded in the Putuni and Kerikala sectors (Couture and Sampeck 2003) - these would be closely associated with the broader Kalasasaya complex. The monumental precinct would receive other major changes - early in this period existing public architecture, like the sunken court and Kalasasaya platform would be modified and the major monumental complexes of the Akapana Pyramid in the ceremonial core and the more peripheral Pumapunku complex would be initiated (Vranich 1999, 2006). The substantial increase in residential community space as well as the boom in monumental constructions clearly shows quantitative growth in the Tiahuanaco

settlement, but this still begs the question - what qualitative factors drew populations to Tiahuanaco and led to this unprecedented growth?

One factor that certainly played a critical role in Tiwanaku's rise has already been mentioned - the adoption and expansion of raised-field agriculture in sustainable community formations. Raised-fields have long been recognized to have played a primary role in the Tiwanaku political economy - approximately 1200 square kilometers of relic raised-field systems have been identified in the Titicaca Basin, and most appear to have been in use during the broader Middle Horizon (Kolata and Ortloff 1996:112). Early studies of these field systems stressed their important ability to mitigate drought, flooding, and frost, and suggested that they represented an attractive, hyper-productive agricultural technology either harnessed or imposed by emerging elites centered at Tiahuanaco (Erickson 1985, 1992, 2006; Janusek and Kolata 2004; Kolata 1986, 1991; Kolata and Ortloff 1989). However, more recently M. Bandy has convincingly argued that in reality the raised-field systems produce lower yields than more traditional rain-fed agricultural methods that had already and continued to be used in the basin (Bandy 2005). This was particularly true when labor investments for construction and maintenance was considered. However, the climate-mitigating gualities of raised-fields did allow one major advantage - they could be planted earlier and harvested later than other farming methods available in the altiplano. Bandy argues that it was this factor that allowed enterprising aggrandizers at Tiahuanaco to develop staggered sustainable community production schedules, in which surpluses could be generated with minimal impact on pre-existing sustainable community activities (Bandy 2005; 2013:141-143).

The surplus yields generated through staggered sustainable community practices allowed the aggrandizers at Tiahuanaco to capitalize on already well-established strategies of conspicuous consumption. Feasts, involving the large amounts of food and alcoholic beverages, had been a central symbolic community practice throughout the Titicaca Basin since the Middle Formative. However, in the Late Formative a clear shift occurred in how these events were

carried-out, as large communal serving vessels gave way to more individualized serving bowls. This has been interpreted as a general transformation in how commensality was configured, from relatively equitable exchange events among the broader symbolic community to events which were hierarchical or at the very least based on exchanges in which the quantity and quality of what was being exchanged was fundamentally unequal (Bandy 2013:136-140; Goldstein 2003). At Tiahuanaco this mode of feasting would reach new levels of scale and significance as indicated by the ubiquitous presence of dense middens with feasting debris throughout the site. Symbolic communities at Tiahuanaco would quickly develop new ceramic forms to reinforce their hospitality-based influence, epitomized in the rapid spread of new decorated serving vessels, the *kero* and *tazón*. These red-slipped, well-fired vessels, along with textiles, would become powerful portable media to project the suite of motifs that would come to signify the influence of Tiwanaku's core symbolic communities throughout the region (Augustine 2019; Janusek 2002, 2003b, 2005a; Villanueva Criales 2015).

The feedback loop driven by this seasonal cycle of raised-field surplus production reciprocated by aggrandizer-sponsored feasting events, resulted in an aggressive growth spiral which appears to have thrust Tiwanaku symbolic communities into generalized roles as sustainable community managers at the macroscale (Browman 2004; Janusek 2006; Kolata 2003a; Seddon 2013). This is best understood as a point of self-organized criticality, a threshold of promotion and linearization that led to the accelerated emergence of higher-order symbolic communities as well as institutions - all tethered to Tiwanaku. For instance, the modifications in the Kalasasaya complex appear to have developed an accurate solar observatory - used to gauge critical seasonal junctures (Benitez 2009; Janusek 2008:114-116; 2012:123-125). However, while Tiwanaku was certainly growing in size and complexity, this force was largely centripetal in nature, drawing the orbit of multi-modal community networks inward.

Here I feel it is useful to employ E. Mayer's concept of production zone (Mayer 1985) to frame Tiwanaku's position in the region. As Tiwanaku's influence spread, the seasonal

festivities hosted by symbolic communities at the site became essential for broader social reproduction in the south-central highlands (Browman 1978, 1981). Local symbolic communities from throughout the southern basin and beyond, would likely send representatives to set-up seasonal residential community locations to the site in order to engage in these increasingly important activities. Said another way, Tiahuanaco itself, from the raised fields and monumental architecture to the power of the elite symbolic communities that were centered there, became a production zone that needed to be actively maintained.

Early Middle Horizon Microscale Institutions: households in the core

Households had first emerged along with the mesoscale village as the primary institutions framing domestic life for sedentary populations beginning in the Early Formative, and this would continue to be the case at Tiahuanaco as the Middle Horizon unfolded. The primary built environment manifestation of these microscale institutions at Tiahuanaco were open-air, walled compounds, containing any number of internal structures and other domestic features and facilities. These bounded compounds shared a number essential features, but also "represented the most salient unit of social differentiation" within the broader urban settlement (Janusek 2002:43).

Compounds excavated in the Akapana East 1M, Akapana East 2, Ch'iji Jawira, La Karaña, and Mollo Kontu have all had similar built environment configurations (Escalante 2003; Janusek 1994; 2004b:193; Rivera Casanovas 1994; Vallières 2012:155-160). This included a thick outer compound wall, which was almost always oriented approximately 8 degrees east of north. These walls would most frequently be constructed using a course of roughly cut ashlars or cobbles with an adobe brick superstructure. Interior to compounds would be at least one multi-room, roofed structure, often used for sleeping, as well as a number of other constructions including rectangular or circular storage bins (Janusek 2004b:193-195; 2005b). The materials used in these interior structures could vary, from the use of finely cut ashlars and field stone for

wall foundations to locally collected sod and informal adobes bricks for superstructure³⁹. Almost all interior spaces in these compounds had prepared clay floors with any roofing constructed of thatching, likely made from local bunch grass. All compounds also had an open patio space where a variety of domestic activities appear to have taken place. Other ubiquitous features would include subsurface storage and refuse pits - these could be formally lined with stones or plaster, but were most frequently informal and filled with refuse and large amounts of ash (Janusek 2005b:150). Most compounds have had identifiable kitchen spaces, centered on one or more hearths, that served as primary food preparation areas. As noted above, formally occupied sectors like Akapana East 1 and Kk'araña would be largely abandoned and covered in sheet middens and dotted with informal refuse pits, suggesting they were used largely for refuse disposal by the more recent occupants (Escalante 2003; Janusek 2003a, 2009; Marsh 2012a:364-430).

Many of the base-level manifestations of community interaction within these microscale institutions would be relatively similar. Some of these similarities were the ubiquitous features common of most ancient households - all Early Middle Horizon domestic compounds appear to be locations where people slept, cooked, ate, and disposed of refuse. However some practices, like the uniform orientation of compound walls, also show clear signs of more specific shared symbolic community engagement. This is also indicated by the ubiquitous presence of Tiwanaku ceramic serving wares. While these decorated redware vessels would not share the conformity of the Late Middle Horizon iconographic suite, the vast majority of serving vessels at this time adopted the Tiwanaku kero and tazón forms and draw on the same body of iconographic elements (Alconini 1995; Augustine 2019; Janusek 2002). All compounds show at least some use of these vessels, normally in the open patios, which suggest engagement in some form of household-level consumption and libation practices (Janusek 2005b). A final

³⁹ Some walls were even simple *tapia* style - constructed using layered layers of mud, often with no foundations (Janusek 2005b; Rivera Casanovas 2003).

overlapping feature common to most investigated compounds is the presence of interred offerings which could range from camelid fetuses and guinea pigs to human remains. Most examples of human remains are intentional interments, buried under floors or specific architectural features, but are only partial individuals, suggesting household-based symbolic community ritual as opposed to standard practices for disposing of the dead (Blom and Janusek 2004:132-133).

Despite these base-level similarities in function and broader symbolic community engagement, the differing distribution and density of most material types recovered from these domestic compounds⁴⁰ suggest that these emergent households at Tiahuanaco also differed quite acutely from one another (Janusek 1999, 2005b). Diet and other culinary practices appear to have been very compound-specific with different quantities of highland and lowland crops, protein sources, and cooking techniques suggesting different sustainable community access and symbolic community preference (Berryman 2010; Vallières 2012; Webster and Janusek 2003; Wright, et al. 2003). Some compounds and even groups of compounds appear to have specialized in specific facets of the broader sustainable community network as well. For instance, at the sector of Mollo Kontu the high prevalence of camelid remains as well as its close proximity to the maintained *qochas* suggests strong ties to pastoralism (Couture 2003; Vallières 2012, 2016). This trend of broad conformity in globally-oriented symbolic community practices but maintenance of more household-specific community affiliations is most pronounced in the peripheral Ch'iji Jawira sector (Rivera Casanovas 2003). Here evidence suggests that while they shared the same general orientation as elsewhere at the site compounds were generally of a lower quality, with stone foundations almost completely absent from most walls and structures (Rivera Casanovas 1994:130-139). Interestingly, a high density

⁴⁰ I discuss these excavated assemblages (as well as others mentioned in this chapter) in more detail in conjunction with my own analysis in Section 3, particularly Chapter 11.

of ceramic production tools and refuse, as well as evidence from locally interred human remains suggest that multiple compounds in Ch'iji Jawira specialized in the production of utilitarian ceramic vessels (Becker 2016; Janusek 1999:113-115; Rivera Casanovas 2003).

A final distinction to be noted here is the existence of inequalities between different sectors at the site that permeated down to the microscale of households. By the end of the Early Middle Horizon a large canal or moat had been established that separated the ceremonial core precinct and inner-domestic sectors from more peripheral domestic sectors⁴¹ (Kolata 1993a; Kolata and Ponce Sanginés 1992). Some general differences between the inner vs outer sectors that have already been mentioned. For example the quality of domestic structure construction was generally lower in Akapana East 2 and Ch'iji Jawira when compared to compound architecture in Akapana East 1M (Janusek 2005b:164-165). However, these were only slight differences when compared to the households which occupied the true core ceremonial precinct. The principle example⁴² here is the Putuni architectural complex that was established early in this period (Couture 2004; Couture and Sampeck 2003). This complex housed multiple domestic compounds that used finely cut ashlars for much of the construction, adorned with painted-plastered adobe walls. A system of subsurface drainage canals illustrate that this was a pre-planned complex, initially established with a significant amount of community investment. A large specialized kitchen space suggests more substantial expressions of feasting and libation ceremonies than in other residential contexts (Couture and Sampeck 2003:234). Finally, contained within the Putuni complex adjacent to the domestic compound was a mortuary architectural component. This included several accessible stone-line cists that

⁴¹ In fact, recent remote sensing-based work east of the Akapana Pyramid has revealed a more elaborate built environment than previously understood - it now appears that underlying Akapana East M1 and Akapana E1 are substantial platforms that were likely constructed to further augment the scale of the Akapana itself (Vella et al 2019).

⁴² It is likely that the adjacent Kherikala architectural complex was also occupied at this time by similar high-status household manifestations as those described for the Putuni (Couture and Sampeck 2003).

appear to have be the focus of repeated offerings and other symbolic community practices (Couture and Sampeck 2003:238-243). Overall these were clearly households that were central to the burgeoning Tiwanaku phenomena, likely occupied by principle aggrandizers and their constituent core communities that occupied increasingly generalized leadership positions across increasingly centralized community networks throughout the region (Kolata 2003a).

The Early Middle Horizon Abroad: Tiwanaku's influence in the South-Central Andes

Tiwanaku's meteoric growth was both caused by and led to extensive migrations within the southern Titicaca Basin. A few other neighboring sites, particularly Lukurmata in the Katari Valley less than 20 km to the northwest, would also grow substantially (Kolata 1996a). Importantly, while certainly entangled within Tiwanaku's growing web of influence, in this early period, Lukurmata and other nearby sites like Iwawi, show evidence that they maintained their own local symbolic communities that only selectively drew on elements being projected from Tiahuanaco (Bermann 1996, 1997; Burkholder 2001; W. H. Isbell and Burkholder 2002). Similarly, throughout the Early Middle Horizon Tiwanaku seems to have only been able to strategically tap into certain sustainable community networks in the important Desaguadero drainage - one of the most critical transportation corridors in and around the southern Titicaca Basin (S. C. Smith and Janusek 2014). Other modest but centralized community networks that had been established in the Late Formative in the western and northern Titicaca Basin also appear to have largely maintained their autonomy with only specific sustainable and symbolic community networks being drawn into Tiwanaku increasing centripetal force (Schultze 2008; Seddon 2005; Stanish 2003:180-189; Stanish, et al. 2005).

In spite of its lack of direct control within its broader hinterland, by the end of its initial phase of growth, Tiwanaku's influence could be detected throughout the South-Central Andes. Like the Tiwanaku imprint in the Titicaca Basin, this influence abroad would not be in the form of complete local transformation, but rather a strategic co-option of pre-existing community

networks. One of the principal ways in which Tiwanaku likely first injected itself into these distant community networks was through llama caravan trade (Browman 1978, 1981, 1984). Since at least the Middle Formative, entire sustainable community networks had developed around long-distance exchange, largely carried out by itinerant traders who traveled seasonally in llama caravans. This was particularly true in the expansive altiplano which greatly hindered highland based communities ability to directly access the resources of other altitude-based ecozones through residential community colonization (Berenguer 2004; Nielsen 2000). This reliance of trade via llama caravans has been referred to as the *altiplano mode of production*, in which bulk-good crops (like maize or tubers) were transported along with finished products (like textiles or ceramics) as well as exotic items (like feathers or marine shell) (Browman 1981:414-415).

As Tiahuanaco developed into an essential production zone for both sustainable and symbolic community networks, it likely became a necessary stop for a number of caravan routes - particularly those that connected to the southern altiplano and the broader southern highlands subregion (Beaule 2016:610; Berenguer 2004; Browman 1997). This is supported by evidence for early, but limited connections in the temperate Cochabamba Valley, where the local Illataco Phase is defined by the influx of imported Tiwanaku decorated ceramics (K. Anderson 2009; 2013:92-95). Further south still in the intermontane desert oases system of San Pedro de Atacama local aggrandizers began including Tiwanaku-style textiles as well as drug paraphernalia in their grave goods at a similar time, in what has been defined as the Quitor Phase (Oakland 1992; Salazar, et al. 2014; Stovel 2001; Torres-Rouff 2008; Torres and Conklin 1995). Both examples illustrate a situation of strong connections but weak control - whereby the increasing value of the Tiwanaku symbolic community became useful inroads into profitable sustainable community networks.

Tiwanaku influence would differ in the western Pacific valleys of the south-central coast subregion. Here, highland communities with definitive ties to Tiwanaku would not just infiltrate

local sustainable and symbolic community networks but would establish their own network of residential communities (Goldstein 2015). This was first acutely expressed in the middle Moquegua Valley of the Osmore drainage (Goldstein 1989b, 2005, 2013; Goldstein and Owen 2001). Arriving sometime soon after ca. AD 600 these initial residential outposts were clearly associated with llama caravan routes - set-back from the agriculturally productive valley floor near well-used pathways and often marked with hillside geoglyphs⁴³ (Goldstein 2005:150-160). These early sites were well-established village formations with dense middens suggesting long-term use. Sites were planned with a clearly demarcated nested set of residential communities - with domestic structures clustered around open plaza spaces which were then clustered into villages (Goldstein 1993a, 2005).

However, almost all domestic structures were relatively ephemeral; constructed of loosely spaced framing posts, which likely held vegetable-fiber mats or skins resulting in tent-like constructions (Goldstein 2005:195-197). This combination of long-term use of relatively ephemeral construction types suggests repeated seasonal-use. This form of settlement was also coupled with its own distinct material suite, known collectively as the Omo-style, which included the use of distinctive polished blackware ceramics, a relatively rare ware type in other Tiwanaku contexts, as well as a relatively fine-line mode of iconography in its decorated redwares (Goldstein 1985, 2005; 2009:282-286). Importantly, these initial Omo settlements would settle areas that were uninhabited by the indigenous Huaracane populations and likely only recently viable due to recent ENSO flooding events that shifted spring locations in the valley (Goldstein and Magilligan 2011; Magilligan and Goldstein 2001). The initial Omo villages established in middle Moquegua Valley represent the first substantial accumulation of the convergence of fully Tiwanaku residential, sustainable, and symbolic community networks

⁴³ While difficult to date, these hillside geoglyphs in Moquegua are almost always associated with Middle Horizon contexts. The most frequent images depicted are camelids however there are also plants, keros, and anthropomorphic images displayed as well.

outside the Titicaca Basin and a key precedent for Tiwanaku's transformation from a centripetal center to a centrifugal polity.

The Late Middle Horizon (ca. 750-1000): the transformation to Tiwanaku as centrifugal polity

The Late Middle Horizon or Tiwanaku V Period represents the height of centralization and influence for the polity - a period where Tiwanaku was definitively an archaic state (Stanish 2013). While much of the growth of Tiwanaku as a population center would be completed before the end of the Early Middle Horizon, this later period would be no less transformative. The site itself would see major remodeling events that would completely re-configure the city and the way it was experienced, from macroscale monuments to microscale domestic compounds. Importantly, Tiwanaku's influence abroad would increase in breadth and depth as community strategies and activities in the core required more input from external networks (Janusek 2008:243-249; Kolata 1993b). Ultimately, this period would be Tiwanaku's climax, when its longstanding position as a regional focal point for multi-modal community networks became crystallized, but also cracked.

It is quite likely that monumental construction and remodeling was a constant activity at Tiahuanaco, however by ca. AD 800 all major constructions were in use (Kolata 2003c; Vranich 2006). The Pumapunku complex to the southwest of the primary site likely acted as a gateway to the city - an impressive series of plazas and platforms which visitors would pass through before continuing to the monumental core (Vranich 1999). In the core itself, the completed Akapana pyramid would represent the most subordinating structure, standing over seventeen meters in height (Janusek 2008:113-118). At this time a large plaza was established at the pyramids western base where hundreds could stand and wait to ascend or watch those who did (Augustine 2019:73-75; Koons 2013). The Akapana itself was elaborated with structures occupying the summit along with multiple sunken courts and evidence for activities along a

number of its terraces (Alconini 1995; Manzanilla 1992; Vranich 2001). To the east of the Akapana, the Kantatayita precinct likely supplemented the complex of ritual activities that were continuing to be undertaken in the adjacent primary sunken court and Kalasasaya platform complex (Escalante 1994; Janusek 2008:125-126). Whether these monumental buildings were used as part of a single, complex procession by visiting pilgrims or acted as anchoring points for specific symbolic communities at specific times, by the Late Middle Horizon the core precinct was an impressive suite of monumental constructions (W. H. Isbell and Vranich 2004; Kolata and Ponce Sanginés 1992).

Stone working was an essential feature of Tiahuanaco's built environment (Nair and Protzen 2013). This was not a new phenomenon as stone sculpture had played a central role in symbolic communities in the Titicaca Basin since the Middle Formative (Janusek 2004d). Monoliths, were fundamental in anchoring the built environments utilized in the rituals of the Yaya-Mama tradition. The Late Formative center Pukara would also rely heavily on low-relief stonework as a primary medium to display their distilled symbolic community messages. Tiwanaku would continue this momentum from its founding and by the Late Middle Horizon would be composed of an impressive array of monumental stone works. All monumental constructions were encased in finely cut ashlars, often punctuated with massive stone columns. Platforms and other structures featured elaborate gateways which were used to emphasize the thresholds of monumental spaces - accentuating the transition from profane to increasing sacred spaces. Stone sculptures, and specifically monoliths depicting human-like figures, were central elements to most built spaces⁴⁴ (Janusek 2008:128-130). These human monoliths, like the stone tenoned effigy heads that adorned the walls of the primary sunken court (Janusek 2008:110-111), likely represented important ancestral figures. While the stonework clearly

⁴⁴ Recent studies of Tiwanaku-era monoliths show that they likely served an expanded role across the broader ritual landscape - acting as permanent symbolic community member presence at important resource locations like springs (Janusek and Bowen 2018).

illustrates a huge investment into symbolic community activities, the crafting necessary for such work also implies the existence of well-established and likely full-time sustainable community specialists (Janusek, Williams, et al. 2013). Some of the largest blocks at the site have been sourced to quarries over 50 kilometers away, requiring boats to cross Lake Wiñaymarka (W. H. Isbell and Burkholder 2002; Janusek et al. 2013), again highlighting the huge investments being made in facilitating the symbolic community activities in Tiwanaku's core.

One of the primary processes driving early symbolic community promotion and linearization at Tiwanaku was their successful ability to synthesize pre-existing ritualized exchange and symbolic media into new novel practices and representations (Janusek 2006, 2013; Seddon 2013). As noted above, one of the principle foci of this burgeoning symbolic community energy was in scheduling a broadening network of sustainable communities (Kolata 2004; Kolata and Ponce Sanginés 1992). By the onset of the Late Middle Horizon, Tiahuanaco had served as the principal center of gravity for any number of crucial sustainable community networks for several generations - scheduling agriculture, pastoral, lascurine, and any number of crafting industries (Janusek 1999, 2013; Kolata 2003a). The leadership of the most important symbolic community agglomerations to permanent elites at the center of increasingly hierarchical and segregated institutions.

This transformation was particularly conspicuous in the re-modeling of monumental structures in the core. While Tiwanaku ritual architecture had always utilized gateways and platforms to emphasize transition through different spaces, these features reached an apex during this later period. Most new structures and additions to old buildings, appear to emphasize exclusivity - closed off locations where important rites could be conducted and staging for more public performances could take place privately. This increasing centralization is also reflected in the overall topology of how the site of Tiwanaku was configured. Again, while the monumental precinct had always formed the center of the settlement, residential sectors would now form a

clear "concentric gradient of social status that diminished with distance from the core" (Janusek 2008:156). This expression of social status differences in residence was not simply based on relative location but would manifest in the microscale as households were reconfigured during the Late Middle Horizon.

Late Middle Horizon Microscale Institutions: from households to neighborhoods

Some of the clearest examples of the changing nature of Tiwanaku social stratification is found in the microscale domestic contexts within the ceremonial core. While certain residential communities had always occupied this central location, during the Late Middle Horizon these privileged compounds would be remodeled into true monumental palaces (Kolata 2003c). Again, the best understood of these palaces is the Putuni (Couture 2004; Couture and Sampeck 2003). Here, the long-occupied Early Horizon compounds would be formally razed and a large platform containing a restricted courtyard would form the primary new structure with the residences moved to attached architectural suites. The new courtyard complex would cover over 3500 square meters and feature a number of niches, that evidence suggests were likely gilded and contained the mummified remains of significant figures from symbolic community lineages (Couture and Sampeck 2003). The residences themselves would now be constructed almost entirely of finely cut ashlars which were plastered and painted with bright pigments (Couture and Sampeck 2003). The broader Putuni Palace, along with the associated Kerikala complex served as the residences for the principle elite of Tiwanaku, likely with deep ties to the founding lineages of the now, regional-level polity (Bandy 2013; Janusek 2008:157).

However, these elite palaces weren't the only manifestations of microscale household institutions in the core ceremonial precinct. Atop the Akapana a number of relatively small, but well-constructed roofed-structures were established (Manzanilla 1992:55-70). The overall content and distribution of associated materials suggest that these structures served, at least in part, as residences (Janusek 2004c:207-208). This has led some to suggest these structures

may have acted as the base of operations of priests, who now literally occupied the peak of an elaborate hierarchy of symbolic community specialists and resided over the myriad of ritual practices that underwrote the broader Tiwanaku phenomena (Alconini 1995; Janusek 2006).

Mesoscale patterns in residence outside the ceremonial precinct would also shift again. Formally abandoned residential sectors, like Akapana East 1, would be re-occupied and previously expanding sectors, like Ch'iji Jawira, would ultimately contract, with large portions used for disposing of domestic refuse. In most sectors the walled, open-air compound would remain the foundational microscale expression of households, though they too would see some major changes (Janusek 2003a). Excavations in two of the compounds to re-occupy Akapana East 1 illustrate a shift in how compounds were internally organized and collectively associated. Instead of representing manifestations of largely self-contained household institutions, compounds now appear to have been linked into more elaborate neighborhood configurations.

Specifically, one partially excavated compound, while still possessing many standard domestic features, also contained a well-constructed sunken court associated with high proportions of sumptuary goods, particularly serving vessels (Janusek 2004b:199-200). Directly to the south, a separate compound was oriented around an outdoor kitchen complex that included at least twelve hearths and a well. Internal structures in this compound were crudely-made sod and informal wall foundations, unlike those constructed with cobble foundations and formal adobes in the compound to the north. This pattern seems to suggest that some of the ways in which the built environment was manifested in the ceremonial precinct was being reproduced at smaller scale in the residential sectors (Janusek 2004b:200; 2008:156). In particular, higher status individuals and their associated households began occupying the loci of important symbolic community ritual. In this case, microscale domestic compound sunken court complexes. In other words, the urban renewal during the Late Middle Horizon would shift the true microscale institutional expression from the domestic compound of households to more extensive neighborhoods.

The Late Middle Horizon Abroad: Tiwanaku's expansive strategies

The city of Tiwanaku had served as the primate center in the broader Titicaca Basin since the onset of the Early Middle Horizon - easily the largest population center in the region. Yet, with few exceptions, its growth and direct influence remained largely centered at the site itself. Its main strategies of influence relied on drawing community networks in, as opposed to extending their networks out-wards. This would change in the Late Middle Horizon as the urban center required greater and greater input from outside networks, resulting in more direct strategies of influence and control. Many sites in the southern basin⁴⁵ that had largely maintained their own symbolic community autonomy during the Early Middle Horizon, like Iwawi, appear to have been fully embedded in Tiwanaku networks at this time (Burkholder 1998; W. H. Isbell and Burkholder 2002). Much of the southern Titicaca Basin (Figure 17), particularly the lower and middle Tiwanaku, Katari, and Desaguadero Valleys would have formed Tiwanaku's primary hinterland - a dense landscape of raised fields, gochas, and increasing overall populations (Janusek and Kolata 2004; Kolata and Ortloff 1996; McAndrews, et al. 1997). Significantly, this hinterland would continue into the lake as Tiwanaku established a number of settlements on major islands, like the Island of the Sun and Island of the Moon as well as smaller islands, like Pariti (Korpisaari and Pärssinen 2011; Stanish and Bauer 2004). While much of the hinterland was geared towards sustainable community needs and projects, offerings found underwater in the Khona Reef illustrate how the entire landscape, including the lake itself, was integrated into Tiwanaku broader multi-modal community network (Delaere, et al. 2019).

⁴⁵ The largest neighboring site, Lukurmata would reach its peak in terms of size and impact at the end of the Early Middle Horizon but would remain firmly linked to close-by Tiwanaku (Bermann 1996, 1997).



Figure 17. Map of the southern Titicaca Basin with major Tiwanaku sites discussed in the text.

Similarly, while Tiwanaku had greatly influenced the broader Titicaca Basin for generations, by the Late Middle Horizon their strategies of influence seem to have shifted to strategies of control (Janusek 2008:217-220; Stanish 2003:180-189). This does not mean that Tiwanaku acquired a complete monopoly of force or a true totality of control in the basin, but rather that they found ways to tap directly into community networks. Extensive archaeological survey throughout the western and northern Titicaca Basin have delineated settlement patterns that indicate several centers had formed throughout this portion of the basin around the same time as Tiwanaku, in wake of Pukara's collapse during the Late Formative Period (Plourde and Stanish 2006; Schultze 2008; Stanish and Bauer 2004; Stanish, et al. 2005). As Tiwanaku experienced a meteoric rise during the Early Middle Horizon, most of these sites would continue operating as the centers in their own community networks, participating in Tiwanaku's web of influence but also maintaining their own symbolic community practices and stylistic expressions.

Yet, by ca. AD 800 Tiwanaku had established over 100 sites in the western and northern basin. These could range drastically, some representing small Tiwanaku villages, often associated with raised field systems and other lake resources (Stanish 2003:180-189). However, Tiwanaku would also establish more substantial settlements which included clear signs of their most iconic symbolic community expressions, most frequently represented in the built environment as sunken courts and in the material record as significant amounts of Tiwanaku redware serving vessels (Stanish, et al. 2005:106-108). Importantly, some of the most elaborate Tiwanaku settlements were built adjacent to already established centers, which continued to exist, suggesting continued negotiation as opposed to true domination. Finally, while far less-intensively studied archaeologically, the eastern Titicaca Basin has also revealed evidence for a mixed Tiwanaku goods have been found eastward into the *rupa rupa* and even *omagua* ecozones along the steep slopes down to the Amazon Basin (Becker and Alconini 2015; José M Capriles 2002).

As Tiwanaku developed the broader Titicaca Basin into an extended hinterland, its primary centrifugal force would be directed southward across the southern altiplano. Tiwanaku's furthest, substantial reach⁴⁶ would remain the highland desert oases system of San Pedro de Atacama. While Tiwanaku sustainable communities had connected with this region since early in the Early Middle Horizon, during this time (the local Coyo Phase) community leaders in San Pedro appear to have relied significantly on Tiwanaku symbolic community media in their aggrandizing strategies. However, there is still little evidence that Tiwanaku ever established residential community outposts here, with most connections remaining centered on the long-distance llama caravan exchange networks which articulated much of the southern highlands.

⁴⁶ There is good evidence that sustainable and symbolic communities as far as northwest Argentina were also influenced by the expanding Tiwanaku state.

The symbolic community practices requiring hallucinogenic plant consumption appear to have been particularly potent in this region as snuff tablets and other paraphernalia have been found with some frequency in San Pedro de Atacama⁴⁷. A particularly well-preserved bundle, clearly belonging to a ritual specialist was recently found in southwestern Bolivia, illustrating that this was a practice that extended beyond the desert oases (Albarracin-Jordan, et al. 2014). It appears likely that Tiwanaku also directly influenced symbolic community networks in this region through symbolic community specialists in the form of traveling shaman and other ritual practitioners.

Closer to the Tiwanaku homeland in the temperate intermontane valleys of the eastern cordillera, the broader Cochabamba region would also shift in their relationship to the highland polity (K. Anderson 2013; Rivera Casanovas 2016). Locally, the Piñami Phase aligns with the Late Middle Horizon and is marked by the ascendance of a single Tiwanaku-influenced style that comes to be represented in most symbolic community manifestations. Importantly, the multi-modal community networks centered in the Cochabamba and neighboring Mizque valley systems would develop their own local interpretation of Tiwanaku symbolic media - particularly evident in distinct form variations in important serving vessels⁴⁸. However, far from simple sustainable community exchange relationships, the Late Middle Horizon in this area is defined by an overall shift to more deep-set Tiwanaku lifeways. Settlement patterns in the region at this time confirm that Tiwanaku did not substantially re-organize the broader residential community configuration, but they did directly enter into it (Higueras-Hare 1996, 2012; Rivera Casanovas 2016). This can be observed in the establishment of fundamentally Tiwanaku institutions in

⁴⁷ Interestingly, these materials are only been recovered in a few contexts in other areas of Tiwanaku influence, including the capital itself. However, snuff tablets and other iconographic references to hallucinogenic plant consumption is depicted prominently is Tiwanaku monoliths and other symbolic media.

⁴⁸ This primary local style is known as CVCT (Central Valley Cochabamaba Tiwanaku) and its most common (and iconic) example is the challendor-style kero - a variation of kero with an extremely restricted, funnel-like base (see Anderson 2013).

microscale household and mesoscale village contexts. Microscale institutions are most clearly seen in true Tiwanaku domestic architecture. One investigated site, Pirque Alto, shows clear evidence of a Tiwanaku-style domestic compound (Figure 18), that was occupied by a household whose activities are defined mostly by diagnostically Tiwanaku materials (Green 2009; McAndrews 2007; Rivera Casanovas 2016:209-212; Sitek 2010). Similar to the strategy employed in the western Titicaca Basin, here in Cochabamba Tiwanaku residential communities were often founded alongside previously established settlements.



Pirque Alto, Bolivia – Tiwanaku domestic structure (after McAndrews 2007:8)

Figure 18. Schematic plan view of domestic compound partially excavated at Pirque Alto outside of Cochabamba, Bolvia (McAndrews 2007; Sitek 2010).

Tiwanaku's footprint outside the Titicaca Basin would be greatest in the south-central coast subregion - focused most acutely in the coastal valleys or *valles occidentales* (Chacama 2004; Goldstein 2005, 2009). As with the Early Middle Horizon, the Osmore drainage and specifically the middle Moquegua Valley would be the focal point of this influence. However, during the Late Middle Horizon, Tiwanaku influence would distribute throughout the surrounding drainages as well. Some Tiwanaku interaction in this area remained strictly relegated to sustainable community activities (Vining and Williams 2020). A likely example here is the Chivay obsidian source in the upper reaches of the Camana-Majes drainage. Obsidian from this source was well-represented at Tiwanaku (and elsewhere), but the source location itself shows no

evidence for direct Tiwanaku control, suggesting a simple sustainable community connection (Tripcevich 2010; Vining and Williams 2020).

However, most of the other drainages, including Tambo, Osmore, Locumba, Sama, Caplina, and Azapa, all show evidence for more substantial Tiwanaku community investment (Baitzel and Rivera Infante 2019; Browman 1997; Goldstein 2007, 2015; Szykulski, et al. 2014). Late Middle Horizon contexts from many of these valleys show clear evidence for sustainable and symbolic community connections with the highland state. Like San Pedro de Atacama, some of the clearest examples of this increased influence can be found in burials in the form of Tiwanaku ceramic and textile grave goods. Some drainages, like the Tambo and Caplina, have still only revealed diagnostically Tiwanaku materials in these types of mortuary contexts (Gordillo Begazo 1993; Szykulski, et al. 2014:75-80; Szykulski, et al. 2016:75-83). Other drainages, like Locumba (see Chapter 3), Sama, and Azapa show evidence for more embedded forms of community engagement, including the establishment of villages and other sustainable community infrastructure (Baitzel and Rivera Infante 2019; Goldstein 1995). Most coastal valley settlements, outside the Osmore drainage, appear to have been established late in the Late Middle Horizon and don't appear to have greatly impacted pre-existing community formations. Importantly, it has even been suggested that what formal residential community outposts may have been settled in drainages like Locumba, Sama, and Azapa, may have been derived from the burgeoning Moguegua enclaves in the Osmore drainage (Uribe Rodríguez and Agüero Piwonka 2004).

The Osmore Enclaves. As has already been noted, the broader Osmore drainage, and specifically the middle Osmore or Moquegua Valley would represent a Tiwanaku presence of a completely different sort than the rest of the south-central coast subregion. Here, the already significant Omo-style settlements in the valley would be joined by a new and significantly larger wave of migrants, defined as following the Chen Chen-style. These new Chen Chen populations would establish new villages, also organized around clear nested residential community

formations, with unrestricted plazas centering clusters of domestic compounds. Importantly, almost all major Chen Chen settlements would be established in close proximity⁴⁹ to the previously established Omo settlements. Most Chen Chen-style domestic structures were constructed using a wattle-and-daub construction technique, known locally as *quincha*. Quincha-style walls were generally constructed using evenly cut lengths of river-cane, planted into shallow trenches and bolstered by more substantial posts, set at particular intervals⁵⁰ (Goldstein 1989a:180; 2005:212-214). Floors in most structures were compacted clay and mud in relatively thin layers. Walls would frame rooms of various sizes that tended to form relatively rectangular structures, as opposed the more rectilinear configurations of Omo-style dwellings. However, while Chen Chen structures were not structurally uniform, most appear to have employed a similar orientation (Figure 19), suggesting at least some broader settlement planning (Goldstein 1993a). Dense refuse concentrations suggest an intensive and likely permanent, and unlike their Omo counterparts these residential patterns suggest year-round occupation in the Chen Chen villages.

⁴⁹ Chen Chen settlements tended to be closer to the valley edge and were almost always established to the southwest of Omo sites.

⁵⁰ Some Chen Chen-style domestic structures used posts set in the center of structures to support roofing (Goldstein 2005).



Figure 19. (left) Schematic map of Tiwanaku Chen Chen village Omo M10 in middle Osmore drainage - including primary domestic sector (shaded) and domestic plazas, the Omo Temple, and the 14 associated cemetery sectors (Goldstein 2005:162). (right) Simplified schematics of Chen Chen-style domestic structures excavated at M10 (Goldstein 2005:213).

In addition to these differences in residential community configurations the Chen Chen colonists also appear to have had a completely different focus in sustainable community activities. As opposed to the pastoral or caravan focus of the Omo colonists, Chen Chen villages appear to have been particularly geared towards large-scale agricultural endeavors. This is indicated by a significant amount of sustainable community infrastructure, including extensive valley-bottom canal systems, centralized village storage-pit facilities⁵¹, and high frequencies of stone foot-plow blades and a variety of ground stone tools for processing grains (Goldstein 2005:212-225). Similar to patterns occurring in the rest of the Tiwanaku sphere, the

⁵¹ Chen Chen storage pits were stone-lined and often plastered with mud. While some storage pits are found associated with individual domestic structures, often they were clustered together in-between structures. Evidence suggest these storage-pit clusters were even roofed.

local Chen Chen symbolic communities would be defined by more generic, often geometric Tiwanaku iconography in all media, but particularly ceramics (Goldstein 1985, 2000b, 2009). Finally, more recent biological studies indicate that while Omo and Chen Chen groups were not completely endogamous, these major community differences did define reproductive relationships and the micro-institutional manifestations of family and broader macro-institutional logic behind kinship (Johnson 2020). Taken together, 1) the planned and permanent nature of residential communities, 2) the sustainable community focus on lowland agriculture, and 3) the more generic symbolic community media all suggest that the Chen Chen colonists represent a more deliberate extension of Tiwanaku that differed in almost every dimension from their Omo counterparts.

Another significant feature of the Tiwanaku occupation of the middle Osmore drainage was the establishment of the Omo Temple. Built adjacent to the largest Chen Chen-style village (site M10), the Omo Temple is the only Tiwanaku monumental architecture constructed outside the Titicaca Basin. While smaller than the Akapana or Kalasasaya the Omo Temple possessed many of the definitive features of Tiwanaku ritual architecture, including spaces to facilitate both public and private symbolic community gatherings and ritual (Goldstein 2005:269-305). Extensive excavations of the structure indicate that the overall layout and specifically the access patterns were designed to emphasize the movement from public to increasingly exclusive spaces, with architectural features that emphasized the transition between these major dimensions of space (Goldstein 1993b; Goldstein and Palacios 2015). Importantly, the temple was used by both Omo and Chen Chen colonists and represents a critical place where these two distinct groups would come to both accentuate their complementary differences as well as reaffirm their mutual highland affiliations (Goldstein and Sitek 2018; Sitek 2013).

Wari: peer-polity interaction during the Middle Horizon

Tiwanaku was not the only polity to develop and expand during the Middle Horizon.
Centered approximately 700 kilometers to the northwest in the central highlands subregion, the development and expansion of the Wari⁵² polity would also come to define the Middle Horizon. Similar to Tiwanaku, the Wari had origins in the Middle Formative (or Early Horizon), when populations began coalescing into more permanent forms of residential communities as sustainable communities were re-purposed to focus on agriculture and pastoralism. Later, during the Early Intermediate Period, these formative village societies in the broader Huamanga and Huanta intermontane drainage systems would begin to cohere into more centralized settlements, the principle being West Huarpa in the Ayacucho Valley. This burgeoning village would eventually transform into the urban settlement of Huari and serve as the epicenter of the expansive Wari state (W. H. Isbell and Schreiber 1978; Schreiber 1992). While Wari is not the focus here, its development and expansion clearly impacted the trajectory of Tiwanaku, so a few points are worth highlighting.

During the Early Middle Horizon⁵³ the site of Huari would emerge from what was West Huarpa, as the settlement grew rapidly in population and overall size (W. H. Isbell 1997b; Lumbreras 1981). Aggrandizer focus on the centralization in symbolic community formations is indicated by the investment in new ritual architecture, including sunken courts and walled plazas (Bragayrac 1991; Brewster-Wray 1990). Like Tiwanaku, it appears initial growth at Huari occurred as various community networks were drawn inward, with growth occurring without centralized planning. Early aggrandizers at Huari were able to tap into well-established community networks further south in the central highlands as well as on the central coast and northern south coast subregions (Knobloch 2005).

However, during the Late Middle Horizon⁵⁴ the nature of Wari's influence would shift,

⁵² Here I use: *Wari* - to refer to the polity and broader cultural phenomenon and *Huari* - to refer to the central settlement, city, and archaeological site in the Ayacucho Valley.

⁵³ This overlaps with Epoch 1 - Phase A and B in the classic Wari culture-history sequence (Menzel 1964b).

⁵⁴ This overlaps with Epoch 2 in the classic Wari culture-history sequence.

signaled most clearly in the core as the settlement of Huari would dramatically transform into a true planned city (W. H. Isbell 1986). At this time the urban center was reconfigured and the more open symbolic community built environment elements were replaced with a more rigid town plan, rooted most extensively in exclusivity (W. H. Isbell 1997b; W. H. Isbell and Vranich 2004; Nash and Williams 2004). This is most evident in the orthogonal cellular architecture that came to define a significant amount of Wari settlements and particularly domestic architecture. Most residential community expressions within the city of Huari during the Late Middle Horizon appear to have been cramped, apartment-style domestic structures, often multiple stories in height (W. H. Isbell 1997b; Nash 2016). New forms of architecture also began to punctuate the broader symbolic community built environment (Ochatoma and Cabrera 2000). This included the D-shaped temple structures that were specifically designed as the arenas for exclusive rituals and possibly even human sacrifice. Elaborate mortuary components, in the form of underground mausoleums and tomb complexes suggest that some of the most potent symbolic community elements remained rooted in lineages and other symbolic communities that dealt with kinship as institutions within Wari continued centralizing (W. H. Isbell 2004; Tung and Cook 2006). Eventually sprawling over 3-4 kilometers in area the city of Huari was a true urban center, and like Tiwanaku, would require ever increasing input from outside community networks (Schreiber 1992).

From relatively early in their development, the aggrandizing individuals and their constituent communities centered at Huari would rely on aggressive exclusionary strategies in their expansive reach (Schreiber 1992, 2001; Tung 2012, 2014). These strategies appear to have included raiding and other practices of direct conflict with neighboring groups (Tung 2007, 2008; Tung and Knudson 2010), but would also rely on more hegemonic and bureaucratic forms of control as well (Jennings 2006, 2010; P. R. Williams, et al. 2005). Unlike Tiwanaku, which outside of the Moquegua enclaves would only establish limited village-level institutions, Wari would invest far more sustainable community resources into developing planned settlements

outside their core hinterland (W. H. Isbell and McEwan 1991). By the Late Middle Horizon the Wari had established several substantial colonial enclaves, articulated by an established road system (Glowacki and Malpass 2003; Schreiber 1992). These sites could be found as far north as the north-central highlands and as far south as the south-central coast (Figure 9) (Edwards 2010; McEwan 2009; Schreiber 2004; Topic and Topic 1983; P. R. Williams 2001). While these colonial enclaves would vary considerably, centers like Pikillacta in the in the southern central highlands, displayed impressive examples of settlement planning in extensive constructions based around the orthogonal cellular architectural suite developed in the Wari core (W. H. Isbell and McEwan 1991; McEwan 1990; Nash 2016). Importantly, while sites like Pikillacta show clear evidence for the ability of the Wari to channel substantial resources and logistically coordinate these efforts across vast areas (McEwan 1990; Schreiber 2001), settlement research done around these impressive centers illustrate only minor reconfigurations in pre-existing community networks (Bélisle 2015). As with the Tiwanaku, Wari were able to tap directly into distant networks, but appear to have operated within some of the more established local community configurations.

Despite being centered at urban centers hundreds of kilometers apart, Tiwanaku and Wari were more than just contemporaneous state-level societies - they were true peer-polities⁵⁵ (Janusek 2008:280-288). It is important to remember that this peer-polity interaction does not mean that these two societies relied on close or consistent connections at the micro- or meso-scales, but rather that the macroscale institutions and particularly symbolic media used in maintaining and expressing these institutions would converge to form a pan-regional, globally-oriented symbolic community. For the case of Wari and Tiwanaku their main symbolic engagement was a suite of iconographic elements that represented some of the most stable

⁵⁵ It should be noted that in addition to Tiwanaku, Wari would also interact with the remnants of the largely collapsed Moche polities in the north coast subregion as well as the newly emerging center of Pachacamac in the central coast subregion (Castillo Butters et al 2012; Eechhout 2013; Kaulicke 2000).

expressions of the symbolic communities that formed the core of the higher-order state-level institutions (Cook 2004). This globally-oriented suite of Middle Horizon visual media has been referred to as the Southern Andean Iconographic Series (SAIS) (W. H. Isbell 2008:734-738; W. H. Isbell, et al. 2018), and was found most commonly on portable media like ceramics and textiles, but was expressed in low-relief stone carving and architectural elements as well (Conklin 2013; P. R. Williams, et al. 2019). While most Wari-Tiwanaku interaction appear to have been relegated to the macroscale sphere, there were particular points in which these polities would directly interact.

Evidence for direct interaction between the two major Middle Horizon polities is restricted to the south-central coast subregion, almost exclusively in the Osmore drainage. As has been discussed, the middle Moquegua Valley in the Osmore drainage represents the most concentrated Tiwanaku presence outside of the Titicaca Basin, but it was also here that they would most intensively interact with Wari. In the upper valley of the Osmore drainage the Wari would establish their southernmost colonial outpost. The Wari presence in the Osmore drainage included a number of village-level sites which included residential community manifestations but also substantial sustainable community infrastructure, namely agricultural terracing and canal systems. However, the most impressive Wari settlement complex here would be the mesa-top citadel site of Cerro Baùl and the adjacent Cerro Mejia (P. R. Williams 2001, 2005; P. R. Williams, et al. 2001). Cerro Baùl possessed clear signs of Wari symbolic community architecture, including a D-shaped temple, a number of platform-based precincts, and a specialized brewery for making molle-based chicha (Moseley, et al. 2005; Nash 2002; Nash and Williams 2004).

The exact nature of interaction between the neighboring Tiwanaku settlements in the middle Moquegua Valley and the Wari colonists in the upper valley has been debated (Goldstein 2013; P. R. Williams 2013). There are clear signs for sustainable community interaction in the form of isolated Tiwanaku goods in Wari sites and vice-a-versa (Goldstein

2013; Owen and Goldstein 2001). There is also some evidence for limited intermarriage and even a rustic-version of the Omo Temple built along the slopes of Cerro Baùl (P. R. Williams 2005). Yet given the proximity of these two major colonial outposts in the Moquegua Valley for at least twelve generations, the lack of substantial integration within residential and symbolic community modes suggests that they retained their separate respective highland identities⁵⁶ for the majority of their co-occupation of this south -central coastal context. Ultimately, Wari would follow Tiwanaku's downward trajectory into collapse in a period that is increasingly referred to as the Terminal Middle Horizon.

The Terminal Middle Horizon into the Late Intermediate Period (ca. AD 1000-1400): collapse & the impact of the post-Tiwanaku diaspora

Beginning just after the end of the first millennium of the Common Era (ca. AD 1000), after at least fourteen generations as the most influential center in the south-central highlands, Tiwanaku would falter and eventually fail. Collapse would not occur all at once, as certain institutions and higher-order symbolic communities appear to have failed before others (Janusek 2004a). Major residential sectors were abandoned beginning at the end of the Late Middle Horizon, suggesting the centripetal pull of the center had already began to wane (Janusek 2009). At about the same time, most stonework production and architectural remodeling would cease, suggesting the disbandment of some of the most specialized sustainable communities at the city (Nair and Protzen 2013; Vranich 1999).

Evidence for more acute examples of institutional failure in the center is found in the clear deliberate destruction of the Putuni Palace, suggesting a true revolt against central elites (Couture 2004; Couture and Sampeck 2003). Likewise, Important monoliths and other

⁵⁶ Importantly, there is able evidence that unlike the Tiwanaku, the Wari in the Osmore drainage did substantially interact with the pre-existing Huaracane communities (Costion 2013; Green 2015; Green and Goldstein 2010).

architectural elements also show evidence for intentional desecration (Janusek 2004a; 2008:294-295; Protzen and Nair 2012). While the significance of built spaces like the Akapana would show resilience, the symbolic communities maintaining them would also slowly diminish and disperse (Alconini 1995; Vranich 2001). Settlement pattern shifts clearly show that populations began to fill the broader Tiwanaku Valley as well as neighboring valleys as Tiahuanaco began to empty (Albarracín-Jordán 1996; La Favre 2016; Mathews 1997; McAndrews, et al. 1997). By ca. AD 1000 it is likely that Tiahuanaco was only 3% its peek size (Janusek 2008:294).

The causes of Tiwanaku collapse are likely as varied and complex as the processes through which the polity first developed (Erickson 1999; Janusek 2004a; P. R. Williams 2002). However, there are some clear root causes for the inevitable collapse of some of Tiwanaku's most resilient institutions. The most critical factor is that a long-term drought, beginning just before ca. AD 1000, likely wreaked havoc on the broader Tiwanaku political economy (Binford, et al. 1997; Janusek and Kolata 2004; Kolata and Ortloff 1996). In particular, the raised field systems that had represented some of the most uniquely Tiwanaku and essential sustainable community formations throughout the Middle Horizon suffered greatly at this time (Stanish 1994). Even with the substantial ritual mode of production that had come to drive Tiwanaku's broader political economy could not make up for losing the vital subsistence base provided by the raised field systems throughout the Tiwanaku hinterland (Erickson 1999; Janusek and Kolata 2004; Kolata 2004; Kolata, et al. 2000). In a classic case of hypercoherence, as lowerorder subsistence community networks began to falter, the hyper-centralized, higher-order symbolic community networks that had developed in the Late Middle Horizon could no longer fund the massive seasonal events that had defined the city for centuries (Janusek and Kolata 2004). This would effectively deactivate both the push and pull factors that had globalized the South-Central Andes, causing a general balkanization of the community networks of the

region⁵⁷.

In the wake of Tiwanaku's collapse the broader Titicaca Basin would once again fraction into a number of largely independent, but closely linked polities. However, unlike the Formative Period that preceded the Middle Horizon, the multimodal community formations of the Late Intermediate Period would retain some of the hierarchical expressions that had developed through Tiwanaku statecraft (Janusek 2004a:194-199). Certain community leadership roles still offered aggrandizers and their constituent communities tenuous avenues to circumscribed positions of power. While there is still evidence for some feasting, the Tiwanaku focus on ceramic serving vessels as primary symbolic media was largely abandoned (Janusek 2008:292-296). The widespread adoption of above-ground burial towers, called *chullpas*, suggest that the dead would remain essential members of community life, particularly in anchoring symbolic communities to the landscape (Stanish 2012).

The newly distributed nature of residential communities following the abandonment of Tiahuanaco would completely destabilize the symbolic communities that had formally regulated who and how many aggrandizers could seek power and led to an increasingly volatile political landscape (Janusek 2004a). Violence, in the form of raiding and warfare would become consistent strategies in inter-community competition and conflict (E. N. Arkush 2008). The institution of the village would transform, moving from lakeside and valley bottom settlements to hill and ridge-top fortresses - known locally as *pukaras* (E. Arkush and Ikehara 2019; E. N. Arkush 2011; Mullins 2016). In spite of the centralized leadership required for concerted warfare and raiding, some essential sustainable community endeavors appear to have remained quite decentralized, illustrating the limited reach of many positions of power (BrieAnna S. Langlie 2018). Yet, by the time the Inka began pressuring the community networks of the south-central highlands from their center in Cuzco in the late fourteenth century, the Titicaca Basin polities

⁵⁷ Similar patterns would take place in the central highlands subregion as Wari collapsed at approximately the same time.

had formed into relatively cohesive networks capable of banding together for defense as well as maintaining sustainable community connections in some of the relatively distant locations engaged by earlier Tiwanaku (E. N. Arkush 2011; Bouysse-Cassagne 1987; Murra 1968; Pärssinen 2015; Stanish 2003:204-235).

Tiwanaku Collapse Abroad: communities in diaspora

With the collapse of Tiwanaku, the process of balkanization in multi-modal community networks would take hold throughout the South-Central Andes (R Alan Covey 2008b). Llama caravans would continue to articulate much of the southern highlands (Berenguer 2004; Nielsen, et al. 2019), however the shift of residential communities and broader village institutions to hilltop *pukaras* signals that defense had also become a primary concern here as well (Alvarez Larrain and Greco 2018). Yet, there was great variability in exactly how these pukaras would manifest in the southern highlands, suggesting different roles in sustainable community networks that remained relatively diverse. Importantly, evidence suggests that after the fall of Tiwanaku, raiding and warfare became such essential aspects to the broader sustainable community networks that they were likely seasonal practices - anticipated events in the broader political economy (Nielsen 2018). Closer to the Tiwanaku core, the eastern Cochabamba Valleys would also see a general shift in settlement patterns, including targeting defensive locations for new village locations. However, here there would be more symbolic community continuity as the Central Valley Cochabamaba Tiwanaku (CVCT) style would continue to define non-domestic ceramic wares (K. Anderson 2009:188-190; Céspedes Paz 2000). While certain traces of Tiwanaku influence would continue to be found and certain longdistance network connections remained in the southern highlands, it wasn't until the Inca imperial system was enforced in the 15th century that this region would be widely articulated again (Pärssinen 2015).

Tiwanaku's collapse would be most intensely expressed abroad in the Osmore enclaves

(Owen and Goldstein 2001). Significantly, the Omo Temple, the most substantial expression of Tiwanaku monumentality outside the Titicaca Basin, would be at least partially destroyed. Some of the most exclusive areas of the temple appear to have been ransacked and the vast majority of the walls were toppled (Goldstein 2005). Chen Chen-style villages were also intentionally razed. This destruction involved a concerted effort of tearing down guincha walls, digging shallow pits, and piling up domestic debris into substantial mounds (Goldstein 2005:225-226). Interestingly, none of the typical indicators of outside violence, like widespread burning or the presence of high frequencies of weaponry, have been recovered at these destroyed Chen Chen villages. This would suggest that this systematic destruction came from the residential communities themselves, which along with the temple's desecration, appear to suggest a complete rejection of the institutional manifestations associated most closely with Tiwanaku proper. However, it is important to note that while the temple and major Chen Chen villages were largely abandoned there was a small contingent of residential communities that remained, including some who re-occupied the last standing architectural elements of the Omo Temple complex. These remaining communities would retain many elements of the Tiwanaku lifeways that defined the Late Middle Horizon (Goldstein 2005:214-216; Owen 2005). This Terminal Middle Horizon continuity illustrates that collapse, even in relatively sweeping manifestations, like in the Moguegua enclaves is almost never complete.

As centralized residential communities established in the Osmore began to lose their sustainable and symbolic community tethering to the highlands, they would diffuse throughout the south-central coast subregion (Owen 1993). In Moquegua, these Tiwanaku communities living in diaspora are called Tumilaca. Tumilaca multi-modal community networks would retain a significant amount of the attributes that defined earlier Chen Chen communities, but reject a number of the symbolic elements most closely associated with the state (Goldstein 2005:227-228; Sharratt 2011, 2016; Sharratt, et al. 2009; Sharratt, et al. 2015). Importantly, newly refined dating sequences indicate that the earliest Tumilaca villages were likely established in the Late

Middle Horizon, suggesting they represented early fissioning events in which Chen Chen colonists sought independence from the highland polity. That said, most Tumilaca-style settlements and material culture appear to derive from post-ca. AD 1000 and state collapse (Sharratt 2016; Sharratt, et al. 2009; Sharratt, et al. 2015).

In the middle valley village contexts, Tumilaca households would continue using quincha-style architecture; though they would use a free-standing wall technique that relied less on substantial posts for architectural support (Goldstein 2005:229-232). Microscale institutional household contexts would be different in Tumilaca villages established in former-Wari upper valley contexts in the Osmore drainage. Here domestic architecture would rely heavily on field stone for most super-structure elements (Bawden 1993; Sharratt 2019). Both middle and upper valley village contexts would also be defined by similar features such as above-ground, rectangular storage bins and new emphasis on site defensibility (Goldstein 2005:228-229; Sharratt 2019). The refugees of the abandoned Tiwanaku enclaves in Moquegua would disperse to the coast and further south as well. Contemporaneously with the abandonment of the primary colony settlements in the middle valley, small Tumilaca-style settlements would be established along the *chala* zone of the Osmore drainage (Owen 1993, 2005).



Figure 20. Schematics of domestic structures dating to Tiwanaku-affiliated terminal Middle Horizon and early LIP contexts in: (top-left) upper Osmore drainage, middle Osmore drainage, and (lower-left) lower Osmore drainage contexts as well as a Chiribaya affiliated domestic structure from the middle Osmore.

Further south in the Azapa Valley where Tiwanaku had only established minor residential community settlements (Goldstein 1995), a different post-collapse pattern would emerge. Here a local emulative ceramic style, known as Cabuza, had been developing for generations (Iván Muñoz Ovalle 2019). Cabuza ceramics were crude versions of Tiwanaku serving vessel forms as well as simplified versions of their more geometric motifs (Dauelsberg 1972; Uribe Rodríguez 1999). Sorting out the chronology for when the local San Lorenzo culture began developing this clearly emulative style of Cabuza, when the Tiwanaku residential communities in Azapa were occupied, and when later truly Late Intermediate Period styles first emerged has been difficult (Berenguer 1998; Cassman 1998; Focacci 1983). Nonetheless, recently headway has been made and it appears that Cabuza pottery began being produced by local communities in limited contexts sometime in the Late Middle Horizon, likely when any truly Tiwanaku residential communities in the valley were also occupied (Korpisaari, et al. 2014; Iván Muñoz Ovalle 2019). However, it wasn't until the collapse of Tiwanaku and the spread of the Tiwanaku diaspora that Cabuza would spread. After ca. AD 1100 Cabuza would spread north and be adopted selectively by communities throughout the Caplina, Sama, Locumba, and coastal Osmore drainages (Baitzel and Rivera Infante 2019; Owen 1993, 2005; Vela Velarde 2014), many of them likely decedents of the original Tiwanaku colonies in Moquegua (Sutter 2006; Sutter and Sharratt 2008). Lasting until after ca. AD 1200 Tumilaca and eventually Cabuza would represent the final manifestations of this truly Tiwanaku symbolic media (Sharratt 2019).

As the Terminal Middle Horizon eroded into the Late Intermediate Period, the last vestiges of Tiwanaku in the Tumilaca and Cabuza styles would fade, and a number of new community formations would emerge to take their place. Developing during Late Middle Horizon in out of the Maytas tradition in the Azapa drainage, the Chiribaya would quickly spread up the *chala* ecozone and become the dominant cultural manifestation throughout the south-central coast subregion; spreading as Tiwanaku influence waned⁵⁸ (Dauelsberg 1972; Jessup 1991; Kołomański 2016; María Cecilia Lozada and Buikstra 2002). Many basic microscale institutional manifestations of the Chiribaya would be similar to those of the Tumilaca and other Terminal Middle Horizon communities, including quincha-style domestic structures⁵⁹ and a sustainable community base relying on mixed agricultural and pastoral lifeways (Knudson, et al. 2007; Maria Cecilia Lozada, et al. 2009; Owen 1993:96-98; Reycraft 2005; Zaro and Umire Alvarez 2005). At the same time Chiribaya communities were moving to higher elevations from the coast,

⁵⁸ Significantly, a well-established network of Chiribaya communities occupied the lower Osmore drainage and appear to have affiliated with later Tumilaca-affiliated groups (Owen 1993, Owen 2005).

⁵⁹ While they used similar technology, it should be noted that Tumilaca-Cabuza and Chiribaya domestic structures were generally quite different. One consistent difference was that typical Chiribaya domestic structures were bound by a thick compound wall (all made of quincha), whereas Tumilaca-Cabuza houses were typically free-standing *quincha* with no compound wall (Owen 1993).

Estuquiña communities would begin moving into lower elevations from the highland drainages. Estuquiña communities would establish defensive villages in many of the same locations formally occupied by Tumilaca communities (Bawden 1993; Sharratt 2019:6-8), employing similar strategies to those observed at the same time in the south-central and southern highland subregions (Conrad 1993; Stanish 1991).

Chiribaya and Estuquiña communities would come into contact, though maintain distinct settlement patterns in the middle Moquegua valley of the Osmore drainage. Finally, from the Azapa drainage further south additional newly developed community styles would begin influencing populations throughout the south-central coast. The San Miguel and later Pocoma-Gentilar styles would be the most pervasive and represent a complete separation from the stylistic elements that had long defined Tiwanaku communities (Uribe Rodríguez 1999; V. I. Williams, et al. 2016). As with the Tiwanaku heartland in the south-central highlands, this region would not see globalized community network formations until it was integrated into Tawantinsuyu, under the Inka sometime in the late 14th century.

2.4 Chapter Summary

In this chapter I situated the theoretical frameworks discussed in Chapter 1 within the social and historical context of the Andes.

2.1: In this subsection I provide a basic *longue durée*, or macroscale, overview of the development of social life in western South America. This includes a basic introduction to the complicated geology and broader natural environment of the Andes, a brief sketch of how archeology and the study of the past has advanced in Peru and Bolivia, and finally a review of some of the broad trends in the development of complex society, from peopling to present, in the Andes.

2.2: Here I describe the indigenous Andean term ayllu through a review of ethnohistoric

and ethnographic research. I argue that the way in which Quechua and Aymara speakers did and do use the term ayllu overlaps nicely with my definition of community and is an essential term for framing any study of Andean communities in the deep past.

2.3: Finally, I provide a relatively detailed summary of the social development that occurred during the Middle Horizon Period (ca. AD 600-1100) in the South-Central Andes. Specifically, I discuss the development, spread, and eventual collapse of the Tiwanaku state and the socio-cultural phenomena that surrounded it.

Next: In Chapter 3 I introduce the Locumba drainage. I provide a basic overview of the natural environment, social history, and previous archaeological work in the drainage. Finally, I introduce the true case study for this dissertation the archaeological site complex of Cerro San Antonio (L1) in the middle Locumba Valley.

Chapter 3 - Materials

This chapter lays out the primary materials used in this study - namely the archaeological remains at the site of Cerro San Antonio (L1). However, I begin by introducing the broader setting for my study, the Locumba drainage on the far south coast of modern Peru. While I have already outlined the broader prehistory of the south-central Andes and have highlighted some of the archaeological research and anthropological interpretations that underpin our understanding of that prehistory (see Chapter 2), here I detail more specific research conducted in and around the Locumba drainage which directly set the stage for my dissertation research. This includes introducing the broader project under which my doctoral dissertation research has taken place, Proyecto Arqueológo Locumba (PAL) and its main objectives in surveying the Middle Valley zone of the Locumba drainage. While I delve into more detail below in the results (Section 2) here I provide a basic orientation of Cerro San Antonio (L1) and the archaeological sectors that are delineated there.

3.1 Setting the Stage: the Locumba Drainage & the Cerro San Antonio case study

This subsection sets the stage for the primary research project reported on here by providing a basic description of the setting of the study. While I have already described the broader environmental composition of the south-central Andes, here I highlight the specific geological and hydrological characteristics that define the Locumba drainage. This initial section also provides an overview of the current state of the valley in terms of modern demographics and industry. I also review the limited, but important, formal archaeological research that preceded my dissertation research in the valley. I end this subsection with a detailed description of the site of Cerro San Antonio (L1), including a sector-by-sector tour of the archaeological sectors defined there and the other cultural resources at the site.

The Locumba Drainage

As with each of the coastal river valleys that define Peru's Pacific coastline, the broader Locumba drainage acts to channel the snow melt, spring water, and rains that flow from the high *puna* grassland and snowcapped peaks of the western Andean cordillera. The Locumba drainage transports this essential fresh water across a narrow stretch of hyperarid desert, before emptying into the Pacific Ocean. In pre-modern times the Locumba drainage covered an area of approximately 5,742 square kilometers and likely discharged well-over 50,000 cubic meters of water in any given year (Cotrina Chávez, et al. 2009; Vargas Edwin, et al. 2018). Here, I provide a brief orientation of the Locumba drainage and its underlying geology.



Figure 21. Map of the Locumba drainage of the far south coast of Peru (see insert). This map displays major geographical features, including all major tributaries, lakes, and volcanic peaks mentioned in the text. Also indicated are the major elevation-based environmental zones, including important topographic markers (500, 1500, and 4000 meters above sea level).

While the Locumba drainage ends its journey to the Pacific as a single-channel river, it bifurcates several times as it descends approximately 5000 meters in elevation, along its 170-kilometer path from its highland sources. These various bifurcations can be viewed as two primary tributaries - the western Cinto tributary and the eastern Salado tributary. The eastern Locumba headwaters begin around 5000 meters above sea-level as the first tributaries drop down from the volcanic peak of Yucumane, which also feeds the neighboring Sama Valley to the southeast (ONERN 1976). From here the eastern headwaters pool in the natural alpine lake, Lake Aricota⁶⁰. Below the lake, natural springs bolster the flow of water and at the former site of the modern town of Mirave⁶¹ these waters are joined by another prominent tributary. This other tributary flows by the modern town of Ilabaya to the north and is fed directly from snow melt from the slopes of the Tutupaca volcano. After Mirave, the primary Salado tributary of the Locumba drainage is said to begin.

Similarly, the western headwaters of the Locumba drainage ultimately begin around 5000 meters above sea-level, fed from the same snow melt, natural springs, and the large alpine lake, Lake Suches, which feed the headwaters of the broader Osmore (Moquegua) drainage to the west (ONERN 1976; Pagador Moya, et al. 2010; Vargas Edwin, et al. 2018). However, unlike the eastern Locumba headwaters which still flow along their natural route, the western headwaters just below Qubrada Honda, have been dry for over fifty years. Beginning in 1959, the then U.S.-owned Southern Copper Corporation completely dammed the western Locumba headwaters in the establishment of the large, open-pit copper mine, Toquepala. Since then only subterranean water flows through the broader Cinto tributary system (Ferrer Rivera 2020). However, by all accounts pre-1959 the western Cinto tributary flowed year-round, similar

⁶⁰ A hydroelectric plant was constructed at the town of Curibaya in 1967, which moderates all water flowing in/out of the lake - it likely lowered the overall volumetric discharge of the Locumba drainage by up nearly 20,000m3 (Vargas et al. 2018).

⁶¹ In 2019 after a devastating flash flood destroyed much of the town of Mirave, the regional authorities decided to relocate the entire town.

to the eastern Salado tributary. The Cinto and Salado tributaries join at approximately 570 meters above sea-level, directly between the modern town of Villa Locumba and the site of Cerro San Antonio (L1). From here the Locumba River flows as a single channel for over 35 kilometers, before emptying into the Pacific at the modern town of Ite (Figure 21).

Like much of the south-central Andean coastline, the underling geology through which the Locumba drainage cuts, is quite varied⁶². However, the general make-up of the middleelevation zones of the valley can be defined by upper Tertiary-era uplifted and often faulted fluvial deposits (Tejada Bedoya 2007). Strata of clays and sandstone conglomerates can be seen in most cut-banks and cliff-sides. There are also large quantities of various pyroclastic materials, especially tuffs and flows of andesite and granite, resulting from the significant volcanic history of the region. Deposits of copper alloys, gypsum, and various sulfides have been identified throughout the drainage. Naturally occurring arsenic is found in dangerous levels in the eastern tributary system of the drainage⁶³ (de Esparza 2009; Morales Cabrera, et al. 2018). There are also large deposits of rock salt in the flat *pampas* surrounding the valley. While the alluvial plains in valley-bottoms are often defined by rich, if not shallow organic soils, much of the natural sediment of the drainage is defined by fine silts and other eolian deposits as well as heavier sands, gravels, and cobbles transported by past flooding events (ONERN 1976; D. S. Rice 1989).

The broader Locumba drainage can be split into three primary zones, based largely on elevation: the Upper Valley (1500+ m.a.s.l.), the Middle Valley (500-1500 m.a.s.l.), and the Lower Valley (0-500 m.a.s.l.) (Figure 21). The steep and narrow canyon-systems of the Upper

⁶² These deposits include igneous, sedimentary, and metamorphic-heavy rock deposits with strata laid down from the Pre-Cambrian all the way through the mid-Quaternary (ONERN 1976; Tejada Bedoya 2007).

⁶³ Found at levels upwards of 500 ppb As, this arsenic in the waters of the eastern tributary likely originates from natural deposits along the slopes of the Yucame volcano (de Esparza 2009).

Valley tributaries give way to more gradual and far-wider valley walls in the Middle Valley tributaries. Finally, a single river, the Lower Valley alluvial basin expands to its widest point⁶⁴ before narrowing slightly again and releasing into a relatively constrained delta-piedmont and into the Pacific. All zones are considered arid, but coastal fog hydrates the *lomas* in the Lower Valley and rains bring seasonal water⁶⁵ to the Upper Valley zone (D. S. Rice 1989). However, while the Middle Valley zone receives some moisture from coastal fog between May and September⁶⁶, there is little-to-no measurable precipitation in any given year. At around 18.7 degrees centigrade (ONERN 1976), the mean temperature⁶⁷ for the Lower and Middle Valley zones situate them in roughly the subtropical desert ecosystem typical of the western *yungas*.

Before the widespread implementation of agriculture in prehistory, the river valley in these zones likely sustained limited riverine vegetation, including various species of cane, cactus, and a limited number of molle and willow trees. The much cooler Upper Valley zone climbs from a lower montane desert ecosystem in the lower elevations and climax in the high *puna* tundra in the upper elevations. River fauna would include a variety of small fish and crayfish in the lower zones, and all zones would have been seasonally home to migrating ibis and other birds. While wild camelids and deer were likely found in the Upper Valley zones for much of the year, they too would likely migrate to lower elevations during the seasonal bloom of the coastal *lomas*. Finally, from fish to marine mammals and birds as well as a variety of mollusks and marine flora, the Lower Valley littoral served as the most biodiverse area of the

⁶⁴ The widest point in the broader drainage is in the upper portions of the Lower Valley (just north of the modern Panamericana highway), at approximately 0.92km in width.

⁶⁵ These rains tend to be concentrated between the months of January and April (ONERN 1976).

⁶⁶ Based on readings from Ite on the coast (~30 m.a.s.l.) and Ilabaya at the lower Upper Valley zone (1500 m.a.s.l.) the Middle Valley zone likely accumulates between 16-18mm of moisture a year from these coastal fogs (ONERN 1976).

⁶⁷ Seasonal high temperatures tend to average around 21 degrees centigrade, between January and March. Seasonal lows tend to average around 14 degrees centigrade, between June and August (ONERN 1976).

broader drainage (Cotrina Chávez, et al. 2009; ONERN 1976).

As has already been noted, paleoclimatic data for the south-central Andes have grown substantially in recent years. This new data frequently confirms the overall trends that have been observed in the foundational data from the Quelccaya glacier ice cores (Thompson, et al. 2000) and the various sediment cores from Lake Titicaca (Abbott, et al. 1997; Abbott, et al. 2003). However, newer studies (e.g., Vining, et al. 2018) have also shown how there was actually a great amount of variability throughout the microclimates that define the broader Andean ecozone. While no studies have been conducted directly in Locumba, it is likely that the climatic history of the drainage follows the continuing trend of general warming and drying that began in the early Holocene (ca. 10,000 years before present). While the overall trend of climactic conditions may have been towards aridity, the Locumba drainage has also been subject to continuous, if not irregular, flooding due to the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO). These major climactic events cause a general aridity in the normally seasonably wet highlands and bring precipitation to the usually hyperarid coasts. These events are felt particularly acutely in the narrow tributaries where flash flooding can occur after minimal rainfall (see Magilligan and Goldstein 2001; Satterlee, et al. 2000). As will be highlighted below, these ENSO events have shaped not just the geological formation of the Locumba drainage but have fundamentally constrained how human history has unfolded in this specific place.

Local Histories & Modern Demographics

Human history in the broader Locumba drainage likely began as the first people moved south along the Pacific coast as well as inland, skirting along the permanent snow-covered zone at 3500 meters above sea level, during the waning centuries of the last glacial maximum, around 12,000 years ago. These small hunter-gatherer groups would have specialized in hunting both big and small game found inland as well as exploiting the wide variety of marine

resources offered by the Pacific. By the onset of the Archaic Period (after ca. 10,000 years before present) local populations would have begun developing strategies for exploiting specific microclimates throughout the drainage (Aldenderfer 1989, 1991). By as early as 5000 years before present, Locumba populations likely began exploiting domesticated plants as well as adopting new pastoral modes of life with domesticated camelids. During the Formative Period (ca. 3000 BC - AD 500), as domestics took hold of local economies and settled village life became the norm, populations in Locumba appear to have followed similar sociocultural trends to what has been observed in the neighboring Osmore drainage, including the construction of communal burial mounds (tumulos). At this time populations along the coast would have continued to exploit marine resources, including the exploitation of massive quantities of bird guano, which was used for agricultural fertilizer. As agricultural and pastoral systems began to intensify, population clusters began to form throughout the drainage, and likewise political economies likely shifted to more hierarchical forms of organization (see Goldstein 2000a, 2003). Like the other far south coastal valleys, Locumba was likely incorporated into regional llamacaravan trading routes and other forms of socioeconomic vertical complementarity (Browman 1984).

Sometime after AD 600, during the Middle Horizon, the Locumba drainage saw its first major influx from highland people (Goldstein 2000b, 2009). Like the neighboring Tiwanaku settlements in the Osmore drainage, the initial impetus for highland migration to the drainage is likely to have been, in part, an ENSO flooding event that changed critical hydrological resources in the Middle Valley zone (Goldstein and Magilligan 2011; Manners, et al. 2007). As Tiwanaku's sociopolitical influences dissipated and the region entered the Late Intermediate Period (ca. AD 1200), the Locumba drainage again experienced a migratory influx from populations that likely originated on the coast (Chiribaya/Maytas) as well as further south in what is now northern Chile (San Miguel, Gentilar) (Dauelsberg 1972; Lozada and Buikstra 2002; Owen 2005; Sutter 2006).

Again, major ENSO events⁶⁸ likely shaped the timing of the movement of these new populations.

Finally, sometime after AD 1450 the valley was brought into the fold of the expanding Inca Empire. Under the Inca, the Locumba drainage was firmly in the *Contisuyu* province, that included the rest of the neighboring drainage systems (Tambo, Osmore, Sama, Caplina, Lluta, Azapa) (Rowe 1946). Further Inca provincial divisions, called *warangas*⁶⁹, placed the Locumba drainage in the *Tarata* province, along with the Sama drainage (P. M. Rice 2014:82-84). While the Inca established a large hilltop settlement at the site of Moqi in the Upper Valley tributaries and Colonial documents show good evidence for economic incorporation of communities along the Lower Valley coast, there is little evidence for major Inca occupation in the Middle Valley zone (Covey 2000; Gordillo Begazo 2013). However, it has been shown that the Qhapaq Ñan (Inca Road system) did pass through the Middle Valley (Díaz Rodríguez 2005) and it is quite possible that the primary Inca settlement is under the modern town, Villa Locumba.

With Spanish contact, subsequent invasion, and the fall of the Inca Empire, the Locumba drainage went through severe culturally transformational periods as former sociopolitical systems were both inadvertently altered and intentionally destroyed, and new domesticates and the brutal hacienda system came to redefine the broader economy. As with the rest of *Tawantinsuyu*, local populations were likely restructured as colonial rule shifted from Inca to Spanish control. The first European observations of the Locumba drainage during the Colonial era were made by a Spanish friar, Antonio Vázquez de Espinoza as he traveled along the Peruvian coast in 1618. He passed south from Moquegua, and noted while measurably smaller, the Middle Valley zone of Locumba still produced fruitful yields of wheat, corn, and pimentos (Vázquez de Espinosa 1968[1620]:513-514). He also noted the seasonal rounds still observed

⁶⁸ One event in particular - the Miraflores event in AD 1300 - fundamentally altered many valleys in coastal Peru (Van Buren 2001).

⁶⁹ In Inca administrative rule, the ideal *waranga* represented 1000 male taxable subjects (Julien 1988).

by herders, moving between the Upper Valley tributaries and the blooming *lomas* of the coast that came with the seasonal fogs. Vázquez was amazed by the bountiful harvest from the coast, particularly in February and March, when major anchovy runs would attract massive quantities of seabirds, whales, and other fish, resulting in staggering amounts of exportable food. He even noted the ubiquitous nature of edible salt rock deposits (Vázquez de Espinosa 1968[1620]:519-420).

Vázquez's observations also give us some insights into how the region was articulated politically and economically. While he does not name them, he clearly references both Villa Locumba at the confluence of the Cinto and Salado tributaries in the Middle Valley as well as the town of Ilabaya in the Upper Valley zone - he appeared impressed that both towns held regular mass on feast days (Vázquez de Espinosa 1968[1620]:513-514). He later notes, that Locumba and neighboring Sama, were politically administered by a single deputy, assigned by the regional Corregidor of Arica to the south (Vázquez de Espinosa 1968[1620]:615). However, he notes elsewhere that Locumba, along with Sama and Tacna, were part of the Diocese of Arequipa to the north (Vázquez de Espinosa 1968[1620]:517). A number of times Vázquez highlights the continuous exchange caravans that moved guano and fish from the coast and fruits and other crop yields from the valleys up into the sierras. He comments on how a new burgeoning silver mine, San Felipe de Austria along the Potosi King's Road, was completely supplied by products from these lower valleys - noting specifically *uchu* peppers from Locumba (Vázquez de Espinosa 1968[1620]:619).

Importantly, even 400 years ago, Vázquez noted how most of the Locumba Valley lacked the fruitful vineyards and bodegas that neighboring valleys possessed, due to the likelihood that the waters passed over "alum or sulfur deposits" (Vázquez de Espinosa 1968[1620]:514). However, he did note a single vineyard, owned by a Capt. Garcia de Castro, which was able to produce large amounts of wine as well as other fruits due to being located on a natural spring (Vázquez de Espinosa 1968[1620]:514). To date I have not been able to locate

Capt. Garcia de Castro in land records, so it is difficult to know if this vineyard was located on a spring in the Salado valley or if it was located in the Cinto tributary. The Cinto tributary did not suffer from the same high arsenic levels that the Salado tributary, and as is evident by the remains numerous Colonial-era bodegas, many still with large *tinaja* wine jugs in situ, grapes can be fruitfully grown there. In fact, later during the Republican Period (after AD 1871), an English merchant named Mariano Adrian Ward, established a productive vineyard in middle Cinto tributary. He created a profitable export business to Europe, that lasted through the War of the Pacific (1879-1884), but eventually failed during the subsequent Chilean occupation (Ferrer Rivera 2020). Today, the well-preserved ruins of the bodega represent an important local landmark.

Today, the broader Locumba drainage is almost entirely included in the province of Jorge Basadre, which is part of the Peruvian department of Tacna (along with the Sama and Caplina drainages). The province of Jorge Basadre is divided into three districts, that roughly align with the elevation-based valley zones outlined above. The town of Ite acts as the center for the coast and Lower Valley zone and Ilabaya is the district center for the Upper Valley zone. The town of Villa Locumba is both the center for the Middle Valley district as well as the locale for the broader Jorge Basadre provincial municipal government. The province of Jorge Basadre is home to just under 10,000 people⁷⁰, and while there has been increase in the population densities (i.e. number of people residing in the primary population centers), there has been a decline in overall population in the past twenty years (INEI 2008). While the official language spoken today is of course Spanish, over 17% of residents claimed Aymara as their first language in the last census (INEI 2008). Independent agriculture makes up an estimated 42%

⁷⁰ If the province of Candarave, which includes some portions of the Upper Valley tributaries, is included this population number raises to 17,422 people (Vargas et al 2018:666).

of the municipality's industry, with an estimated 7554 hectares under cultivation⁷¹ (Vargas Edwin, et al. 2018:665). As has already been noted, the types of crops grown in the eastern Salado tributaries are limited, due to the mineral content of the water. Therefore, crops in the Salado tend to focus on specific varieties of maize, wheat, as well as alfalfa for grazing cattle, horses, and goats. However, the Cinto tributary, known locally for having sweet water (*agua dulce*⁷²), can sustain a much wider variety of other crops. Here, all variety of fruiting trees (avocado, *chirimoya*, peach), grapes, melons, and a variety of other crops are grown successfully. However, because the headwaters of the Cinto had been dammed by the Toquepala mine since the 1950s, the fruitful tributary had been largely abandoned by agricultural industry for over forty years (Ferrer Rivera 2020).

That said, in the last twenty years the municipality and local farmers have worked to reopen and install new pumps for groundwater wells and have reestablished a flourishing agricultural trade. The Locumba Valley has become particularly known for its onions, maize, the spices of oregano and paprika, as well as for various fruits. Even vineyards have returned to the Cinto tributary in recent years, and as with the majority of the bodegas of southern Peru, they have focused their production on distilled piscos, instead of traditional wines. The valley is also home to Fort Locumba, one of Peru's southernmost military instillations, as well as one of the largest police academies in southern Peru.

The town of Villa Locumba and the broader drainage are best known today for hosting one of the largest Catholic-based pilgrimage celebrations in all of southern Peru. The Señor de Locumba festival centers on a Catholic idol - a large painted, wooden crucifix, complete with a

⁷¹ It is estimated that up to 70% of this may only be growing alfalfa and/or used for animal grazing at any one time (Vargas et al. 2018).

⁷² Throughout the *chala* and *yungas* region of the coastal Central Andes, river valleys are known as having either sweet water or salt water - each having their own qualities for agriculture and other activities (Alvarez 2014).

crucified Christ, that is believed to hold particularly potent connections to God and specifically possess healing powers for the sick and injured. For the week leading up to the principal festival day on September 14th⁷³, tens-of-thousands descend on the small town. These pilgrims participate in walking the stations of the cross into town, numerous catholic masses, and public confessions. Like many Catholic celebrations in the Andes, there is a strong component of residual (and newly formed) indigenous spiritual practice. *Yatiri* and other indigenous healers host a variety of activities on the large hill behind the central church. Regional religious and community dance troupes also come to participate from all over the south-central Andes. For approximately four continuous days (day and night) these dance troupes, accompanied by a local band, march a procession through the central church (where the idol is kept), through the central plaza, and loop around the outside of town.

In addition to the impressive scale of the modern celebration, by all accounts this is also one of the longest-lasting Catholic ceremonies of this type in the southern Andes. The first indirect reference to the Señor de Locumba idol was made in Colonial inventories of the local church in 1655 and 1729, but seems to be confirmed in an account of a local hacienda owner in 1749 (Guadalupe Inga and Tapia Condori 2018:32-39). While there are references to the idol throughout accounts made in the late 18th and early 19th centuries, after the War of the Pacific there are clearer accounts of the growing festival being found in local and regional newspapers. The modern church and the current mode of the festival appear to have taken hold in the 1950s and 1960s (Guadalupe Inga and Tapia Condori 2018:39-69), with attendance growing steadily ever since.

Previous & Ongoing Work

Previous archaeological work in the Locumba drainage had been relatively minimal,

⁷³ The festival has a minor component that occurs in May.

particularly in the Middle Valley. However, some important work has been completed, laying the foundations for this project. While I have alluded to some of the findings of these studies above, here I specifically highlight this work and what they have found. While some of the earliest scientific archaeological expeditions to pass through this region (Ishida 1960; Trimborn 1975) made stops and even undertook excavations in the neighboring Osmore, Azapa, and even Sama drainages, most do not include more than a single line about Locumba. One exception is G. Vescelius, who traveled the region in the late 1950s. While largely unpublished, his notes indicate the presence of what he believed to be a large Inca site (or sites) at the conjunction of the Cinto and Salado, he denoted as Locumba I and Locumba II (Covey 2000:125). While he could be referring to a site since destroyed by the expansion of the modern town, it is likely Vescelius was referring to Cerro San Antonio (L1). While our more recent work at L1 has only revealed a minor Inca-period component, the significant Late Intermediate Period domestic sector (most accessible from the modern town of Villa Locumba), could easily be mistaken for a Late Horizon era settlement.



Figure 22. Map displaying the some of the most intensively investigated archaeological sites in the broader Locumba drainage.

As archaeological research in the western coastal valleys intensified in the 1990s and early 2000s, numerous studies targeted the littoral region of Locumba and neighboring drainages. These studies included a systematic survey, led by A. Covey and A. Umire (Covey 2000), that targeted prominent coastal quebradas, between the mouths of the Locumba and Osmore drainages. Interestingly, this survey revealed very early as well as rather late prehistoric deposits. One location, Quebrada Tacahuay revealed significant evidence for what were likely some of the earliest Paleoindian hunters to enter the region as well as a small, but well-established Inca outpost, called Tambo Tacahuay. While the survey also revealed a number of occupations dating to the Late Intermediate Period (mostly San Miguel and Gentilar), there were only limited finds associated with Tiwanaku or the Middle Horizon (Covey 2000:131). Excavation projects directed by S. deFrance and A. Umire, again near Quebrada Tacahuay, completed deep, stratigraphic excavations which revealed the remains of early Archaic Period seasonal settlements (deFrance, et al. 2001). These remains show clear evidence of heavy marine resource exploitation in the form of dense middens of shell and fish bone. These excavations also revealed a number of significant ENSO flooding events that appear to have completely covered some of the earliest occupations (deFrance, et al. 2009; deFrance, et al. 2001). Slightly earlier excavations in the nearby Quebrada de los Burros also revealed Archaic Period domestic remains with clear evidence of marine resource-centered life-ways (Lavallée, et al. 2011).

Modern archaeological investigations have also been conducted in the Upper Valley zone - again largely targeting both very early and relatively late Prehispanic cultural contexts. In some of the highest tributaries of the drainage, rock shelters and cave painting sites, most dating to the Archaic Period, have been documented and even excavated. Some of the earliest and most striking cave art in the southern Andes are found at the Toquepala cave site in the western tributaries, shared with the headwaters of the Osmore drainage (Aldenderfer 1989). A number of general surveys have been carried out in the Upper Valley tributaries as both academic research and contract archeology projects hired by private or state industry (Cardona Rosas 1997; Herrera Corrales 2007; Oquiche Hernani 2014). The upper tributaries have also been partially surveyed by the official Qhapaq Ñan Project⁷⁴, which documented a number of Inca-related sites (Díaz Rodríguez 2005). One of the most intensively studied sites in the entire drainage is the Inca site of Mogi. Mapping and excavations, directed by C. Zori and J. Gordillo,

⁷⁴ The Qhapaq Ñan Project, coordinated by the Peruvian Ministerio de Cultura, works to delineate, restore, and protect surviving segments of the Inca Road system and their associated sites.

illustrated that this high-altitude site was an important regional node in the broader Inca road system (Gordillo Begazo 2012, 2013).

Until very recently, work in the Middle Valley zone of the drainage had been much more limited. While there were a number of earlier studies and regional histories (mostly centered around Tacna) that reference and even offer useful descriptions of a few of the more prominent archaeological sites in the mid-valley zone (Ayca Gallegos 2006, 2010; Vela Velarde 2014), no real systematic work had been conducted. However, useful for my study, Cerro San Antonio is almost always one of the few sites mentioned in these reports, and while often brief these descriptions offer a nice diachronic view of the state of L1 over time. One exception was S. Palumbo, who while doing survey work in the Upper Valley zone, completed some preliminary GIS-based viewshed analysis of ability to see prominent snow-covered peaks from a few select locations at L1 (Palumbo 2004:41-43). There have also been a number of more recent contract and salvage projects that have been carried out in the Middle Valley as new roads are paved and municipal facilities are constructed. One of the most prominent of these salvage projects was to rescue several Tiwanaku-era burials from the site of Sagollo in the Saldo tributary just a few kilometers north of L1.

Additional focus has been paid to one of the most regionally well-known archaeological features of the middle Locumba Valley, numerous sites with petroglyphs. In Locumba, petroglyphs are frequently found on medium-sized boulders at prominent points along the valley's edge and include images of anthropomorphic beings, animals, and geometric shapes. While these archaeological features had been a point of local pride for some time, it wasn't until 2013 that A. Umire documented each known petroglyph site in the Middle Valley; which included some of the first truly systematic work conducted at Cerro San Antonio (Umire Alvarez 2014).

The last five years have seen a general increase in the amount of systematic work completed in the valley as well as community interest in protecting the archaeological resources

of the drainage. A local museum has been established in Locumba, and while it largely focuses on more recent history and ethnographic accounts, it brings attention to the depth of local history. Also, as will be detailed below, significant looting events (especially at the site of Cerro San Antonio) have focused regional concern on the state of cultural patrimony in the area. Due in part to these recent looting problems, the Tacna departmental office of the Ministerio de Cultura registered the first sites in Middle Valley zone in 2013. Cerro San Antonio was one of these registered sites, and since then (in 2016) the Ministerio de Cultura has placed perimeter markers and large display signs formally signaling the protected sites boundaries. Since 2015, the primary work in the Middle Valley has been completed as part of the broader Proyecto Arqueologío Locumba.

Proyecto Arqueologío Locumba (PAL)

Established in 2015, by directors Dr. Paul Goldstein (University of California, San Diego) and Lic. Antonio Oquiche (Identidad Cultural Inc.) the Proyecto Arqueologío Locumba (PAL) is a multiyear archaeological survey of the Middle Valley zone of the Locumba drainage (between 500-1000 m.a.s.l.). The overarching goal of the project is to systematically survey habitable land along the central tributaries of the Middle Valley and document all premodern occupation. The majority of field work in the PAL survey has involved reconnaissance through systematic pedestrian survey, and mapping and collection at multiple sites in the Locumba drainage. The PAL project with the UCSD Archaeological Field School also conducted the general reconnaissance of Cerro San Antonio in 2015, and surface collection units and test household excavations in Sector A in 2016 that are reported here. To date the survey has completely covered the Middle Valley portion of the Cinto tributary and have nearly completed documenting the Salado tributary as well. While these initial project findings are still in the process of being published, I can report that the survey has revealed occupations from the Formative through Inca times, with numerous sites dating to the Late Intermediate Period. All work conducted at

Cerro San Antonio (L1) and reported on here has been part of the broader PAL survey. As is detailed below (see 3.2), my dissertation work at L1 was a central aspect of activities completed under the PAL survey.

3.2 Cerro San Antonio (L1)

Here I provide a basic description of the site of Cerro San Antonio (L1) and each of the 28 archaeological sectors that define the broader archaeological complex contained within the site. Later (see Chapter 4), I provide details into the methods and techniques I used to delineate these sectors and in Section 2 I provide deeper insights into nuances in their cultural affiliation and even basic purpose (see Chapter 5). While the focus of this dissertation are the Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors, understanding the site as a whole is essential, so here I review all sectors from all time periods.

The primary western and eastern tributaries of the broader Locumba drainage meet at approximately 570 meters above sea level (m.a.s.l.). Here, just 35 kilometers from the coast, the Cinto and Salado rivers converge to form the single-channel Locumba River. Just 300 meters east of this confluence, Cerro San Antonio (L1) occupies the articulated series of blufftops and dissected plateaus that rise sharply from the broad alluvial plain. The site's extents reach to the edge of the valley floor in both the Cinto and Salado and generally widen as the tributaries diverge. This position, occupying the entire interfluve⁷⁵ between the tributaries, gives almost every sector at the site reasonably easy access to both valleys. The brief plateaus step up in elevation, from 570-655 m.a.s.l., as the site parallels the tracks of the tributaries - oriented roughly west-east initially but after approximately one kilometer shifting to a general SW-NE orientation.

⁷⁵ This is the formal term denoting the land area between two converging river tributaries - sometimes also called a *doab*.

Quebradas separate most of the planar landforms with a series of particularly pronounced quebradas acting as the primary access points in and through the site. All landforms incorporated in the site's area are subject to extreme wind- and solar radiation-based erosion and general weathering. Bedrock and clay deposits are visible in most exposed blufftops and plateaus with heavier sandy sediments collecting in wind-protected areas and quebradas. Water-worn cobbles and gravel litter the surface (as well as subsurface) - these include mostly igneous and non-foliated metamorphic stone types. No part of the site contains any extant vegetation which was almost certainly the case in all periods of prehistoric occupation. In total L1 covers an area of 166.49 hectares (1,664,975.768 square meters) with a perimeter of 6261.416 meters.

Archaeological Sectors

While it is designated as a single site, L1 or Cerro San Antonio, is actually an archaeological complex. It comprises 28 distinct archaeological sectors which occupy mutually exclusive areas. While there are some archaeological features that fall outside these sectors, all primary domestic or mortuary-style sectors received their own perimeter and sector designation.



Figure 23. Map of Cerro San Antonio (L1) displaying all 28 archaeological sectors dating to all pre-modern culture-history periods. Also depicted are some of the major pre-modern pathways that connected the pre-modern occupations.

As will be described more below, most of the deposits at L1 follow what we refer to as "horizontal stratigraphy." This means while individual sectors may have depth and even multiple cultural strata, the majority of occupations appeared to have largely targeted previously uninhabited or unused sections of the site, resulting in relatively simple depositional itineraries.

TION	1																											
TERTIARY CULTURAL AFFILIA			LIP - GENTILAR				LH - INCA																					
TERTIARY FUNCTION			DOMESTIC				DOMESTIC																					
ONDARY CULTURAL AFFILIATION			LIP - SAN MIGUEL	LIP - GENTILAR		LIP - GENTILAR	LIP - SAN MIGUEL							HISTORIC	LIP - GENTILAR													
SECONDARY FUNCTION SEC			DOMESTIC/MORTUARY	DOMESTIC		MORTUARY	DOMESTIC							DOMESTIC	DOMESTIC													
PRIMARY CULTURAL AFFILIATION	MH - TIWANAKU	MH - TIWANAKU	LIP - CHIRIBAYA	LIP - CHIRIBAYA	LIP - CHIRIBAYA	LIP - SAN MIGUEL	MH - TIWANAKU	FORMATIVE	MH - TIWANAKU	COLONIAL	MH - TIWANAKU	MH - TIWANAKU	MH - TIWANAKU	COLONIAL	LIP - SAN MIGUEL	LIP - ESTUQUINA	MH - TIWANAKU	LIP - SAN MIGUEL	MH - TIWANAKU	LIP - GENTILAR	MH - TIWANAKU	MH - TIWANAKU	MH - TIWANAKU	MH - TIWANAKU	LIP - CHIRIBAYA	MH - TIWANAKU	HISTORICAL	LIP - GENTILAR
PRIMARY FUNCTION	DOMESTIC	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	DOMESTIC	MORTUARY	DOMESTIC	MORTUARY	DOMESTIC	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	DOMESTIC	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	MORTUARY	DOMESTIC	MORTUARY
 PERIMETER (meters)	2370.08	539.17	1401.34	301.13	726.71	495.46	308.92	400.92	247.34	359.93	202.67	1087.44	282.85	379.27	166.79	48.9	200.84	674.55	79.07	234.02	1235.7	175.65	189.38	293.1	311.34	85.32	180.81	257.84
AREA (hectares)	13.23	0.62	6.44	0.27	0.93	1.13	0.57	0.68	0.09	0.47	0.11	4.02	0.27	0.93	0.11	0.01	0.14	1.08	0.03	0.18	6.87	0.13	0.24	0.19	0.47	0.04	0.17	0.25
SECTOR	A	в	C	D	н	н	Ŀ	Н	I	I	К	Г	W	N	0	Ρ	δ	R	S	Г	Ŋ	Λ	Μ	X	Υ	Z	AA	BB

Table 6. List of archaeological sectors at Cerro San Antonio (L1). Here primary, secondary, tertiary refer to the temporal sequence, not the intensity of occupation.
Below I provide a brief description of each sector as well as associated archaeological features which fall outside the formal sector perimeters.

Sector A

Covering over thirteen hectares, Sector A is the largest sector at L1. It occupies an expansive plateau at the far south end of the site, bordering the Cinto Valley. The north extent of the sector is largely defined by the large *quebrada* that acts as the primary western access to the entire site as well as dividing the large planar surface that Sector A occupies from the large planar surface and associated blufftop that is occupied by Sector C. A narrow *quebrada* also borders the southwest side of the sector, separating Sector A, from the steep slope leading down to the valley floor - this quebrada is occupied by the Sector B cemetery. Sector A can be accessed from a number of locations, but there are clear natural pathways up the steep slopes leading from primary site access points to the west and south - these appear to have been used in prehistory as well. A cleared pathway also emerges for the central *quebrada's* eastern end and into the eastern portion of Sector A. In addition to these access points several footpaths also cross through the center of the sector.

Like the rest of the site, there is no natural relief from the sun or wind - both of which can be quite severe, especially around midday. This consistent wind has resulted in minimal sediment accumulation, leaving the natural geological surface littered with small boulders, small to medium cobbles, and gravel. On clear days, the snowcapped volcanic peak of Tutupaca in the northeast can be seen most positions in the east half of the sector and the very tip of the peak of Yacamane can even be seen at a few points in the east of the sector as well.

Culturally, Sector A is defined as a Tiwanaku domestic sector. The sector's surface cultural deposits are extensive and often quite dense but also very deflated due to the wind/solar exposure. Domestic occupation is indicated by the presences of small clearings and

low rockpiles which were created as the prehistoric occupants cleared away the naturally occurring stone to make way for domestic structures and other activity areas. These low rockpiles also served as domestic middens, and while cultural materials are not restricted to these piles, they are found in much higher densities. To complicate matters, instead of simply representing primary deposits, at least some of these rockpile-midden deposits appear to have been disturbed upon large-scale site abandonment. As will be discussed later, similar Tiwanaku abandonment patterns have been observed in the neighboring Osmore drainage (Goldstein 2005:225-226). These deposits range in density. The western side of the sector is very dense with many areas containing up to 30 sherds per square meter. These deposits taper off as the eastern portion of Sector A becomes much sparser, eventually resulting in very low densities of material (less than one sherd per square meter)⁷⁶. Despite the extensive domestic refuse only a few small segments of *quincha*-style cane wall foundation and two associated posts were located on the surface.

While much of the sector is covered by relatively undifferentiated rockpile-middens and small, poorly defined clearings, there are a few orienting features in Sector A. The most identifiable feature is a large plaza space located in approximately the center of the dense surface scatter that covers the western portion of the sector. The plaza is quadrangular, measuring approximately 25 x 35 meters, and is oriented roughly along a NW-SE axis. While there are no surviving superstructural elements to this plaza, the rectilinear clearing is quite stark compared to the dense deposits surrounding it and the exposed pavement is far more compact than any surrounding surface area. In addition, looters have revealed that in the direct center of the plaza was a subsurface offering of at least one adult camelid⁷⁷ - now strewn about

⁷⁶ As is noted later - this lower density is likely due, at least in part, to modern/recent historic activities.

⁷⁷ A few decorated Tiwanaku redware sherds found in the backdirt of the looters pit suggest some additional ceramic offerings. The deflated nature of the looting backdirt pile suggests the looting may have taken place in Colonial times or perhaps earlier.

the surface.

Approximately 75 meters to the southeast of the central plaza is an additional plaza-style clearing. This secondary plaza is irregularly shaped and only approximate 15 meters across. This small plaza is associated with a slight rise that appears to be artificial, made by simple mounding of locally gathered sediment. Finally, approximately 130 meters, due south from the central plaza is the foundation of a small square structure (approximately 1.95 x 1.95 meters). While this structure was also looted in the distant past, we excavated this structure in our 2016 test excavations (Special Structure L1A-1), and is discussed in greater detail in Section 2.

As one of the primary Tiwanaku domestic sectors, Sector A was subject to intensive investigation for this study, including: systematic surface collection and extensive excavations.

Sector B

Sector B is a relatively narrow mortuary sector which stretches almost 400 meters across a relatively wide and shallow, sandy-bottomed quebrada. The quebrada runs roughly NE-SW and represent a natural southeast border of Sector A. Sector B is a Middle Horizon-era mortuary sector and as it was badly looted, both prehistory as well as recently, many of the subsurface tombs that make-up this cemetery are now exposed. Over forty (40) tombs have been exposed through looting with an estimated 50 left undisturbed⁷⁸. The tombs here range in form - while a few may have originally possessed modest, cobble-stone collars all are subsurface cist-style tombs. Approximately two-thirds of the looted tombs appear to have been stone-lined with the remaining being constructed as simple cists. While unfortunately they are often destroyed by looters, most interments seemed to be a seated-flexed position, with bodies wrapped in various textiles and bound with vegetable-fiber cord. Some offerings, mostly

⁷⁸ This estimate as well as all following undisturbed tomb counts are made using low-altitude UAV photos and ground-truthed when possible.

ceramics, were left or accidentally destroyed by looters - these include both redware style serving vessels as well as more standard plainware *ollas*⁷⁹. All diagnostic materials recovered in Sector B (including ceramic sherds, textile fragments, wooden spoon fragments) fall within the Tiwanaku functional-stylistic canon.

Sector C

Sector C is the most culturally and stratigraphically complicated sector at Cerro San Antonio, with archaeological remains pertaining primarily to the Late Intermediate Period. Covering 6.44 hectares the sector is situated on a relatively expansive plateau that covers the northwest section of the site, outlooking the Cinto tributary. Moving eastward, the plateau ends with a punctuated blufftop peak before dropping down into a wide, sandy saddle, which leads up to another blufftop (occupied by Sector F). The large plateau surface of Sector C is covered by a particularly dense amount of medium to large cobbles as well as gravel, and while the position of this rocky ground cover has been greatly altered by cultural activity (see below) the overall density is likely to be natural. This 2-hectare planar surface is bordered to the south by the central quebrada - this also separates Sector C from Sector A. To the north the sector is demarcated by steep cliffs down to the Cinto valley floor which give way to a more gradual sandy slope to the east.

The blufftop rises about fifteen meters above the natural plateau surface, with easy access found on the west and south sides. Some of the most pronounced clay deposits at L1 can be found eroding out of the southwest slopes of the Sector C bluff. The top of the bluff is also relatively flat and allows for excellent views, both up the Cinto tributary and down the central Locumba valley as well as of the snowcapped volcanic peaks Tutupaca and Yucamane. Protected from wind between the two blufftop peaks, the saddle that represents the easternmost

⁷⁹ One (1) narrow-necked olla abandoned by looters was found to contain the remains of at least four (4) large frogs.

area within Sector C, contains a few small boulders, but is generally significantly sandier than the rest of the sector.

Sector C is one of the few sectors at Cerro San Antonio that shows evidence of true stratigraphic cultural deposits. This sector is also one of only two sectors at the site which shows evidence for both substantial domestic and mortuary components. As the sector does not appear to include Tiwanaku remains, I have not conducted excavations for the current project, and have only sampled the surface materials at Sector C. However, one small silver lining from the recent destructive looting events, many of which have been conducted in Sector C, is they have revealed a glimpse into the stratigraphic sequence that defines this sector. Here, I describe the cultural sequence from the suspected earliest occupation to the most recent.

The earliest use of this sector appears to have been as a cemetery with clear affiliations to the Chiribaya-Maytas material tradition. These early Late Intermediate Period cemetery components seem to be found in clusters around the western, northern, and eastern slopes as well as on top of the Sector C bluff. There are likely at least 100 tombs associated with this cemetery component.

Most of these tombs are circular cist-style tombs, with the majority being lined with cobbles. These cists were roofed with cut sections of timbers⁸⁰, most approximately 1.5 meters, laid in a single direction across the mouth of the tomb. While most of the visible tombs with associated Chiribaya-Maytas material are circular, at least three (3) of the tombs were rectangular - the cobble masonry in these rectangular tombs appear to have been much more carefully carried out. While most of these tombs are found at a standard depth (the mouth or collar of the tomb located just below or at ground surface), some of the tombs, especially those found on the top of the bluff and down the western slope are buried at incredible depths - some

⁸⁰ In-field observations suggest these likely derive mostly from molle and algarroba trees.

over three meters below the ground surface⁸¹. Most bodies appear to have been interred as seated-flexed burials. Items broken or abandoned by looters reveal a wide variety of ceramic offerings, some representing examples of fine Chiribaya-Maytas decorated serving vessels, but most representing a variety of plainware narrow-necked *ollas* as well as bowls. Most of the ceramics appear to have been filled with substantial amounts of molle pepper berries. Other intraceramic offerings appear to have been complete maize cobs (with kernels) and small hollowed-gourd vessels. Other diagnostic grave offerings⁸² recovered included decorated Chiribaya textiles (including multiple *chuspa* coca bags) and other personal implements such as combs and wooden spoons. Like other documented Chiribaya-Maytas mortuary settings (see Atwood 2007; Focacci 1990; Owen 1993; Wylde 2017), there were also a significant amount of animal offerings recovered here. Importantly, at least four dog burials have been exposed by looters as well as a number of caches of camelid feet⁸³. This cemetery in Sector C is closely associated with additional Chiribaya-Maytas cemeteries in the nearby Sector D, Sector E, and Sector O.

The second phase of use in Sector C was also mortuary, this time by populations associated with the San Miguel material tradition. The burial contexts associated with San Miguel offerings appear to be far more limited than the Chiribaya-Maytas cemetery. Like the earlier burials, the San Miguel tombs are also spread across the slopes and top of the Sector C

⁸¹ While some of the overlaying sediment may have accumulated, it is likely that these tombs were dug over 2.5 meters below the ground surface.

⁸² One of the largest looters caches, recovered by local Locumba authorities in 2016, were likely removed from this cemetery in Sector C. While an inventory of these items can be found in Appendix XX, these items included: musical instruments (panpipes, drums), precious metal adornments (gold bracelet and diadem), and a variety of other unique items.

⁸³ These camelid feet offerings could include anywhere from two to seven individual articulated feet (generally include the carpals/tarsals, phalanges, and hoof). Sometimes these appear to have been in the tombs with individuals but at least few cases appear to have their own small cists constructed adjacent to tombs.

blufftop. All San Miguel tombs are constructed as subsurface, circular cists. The vast majority appear to be at least partially lined with overlapping courses of cobbles. Also, like the Chiribayastyle tombs, most of these San Miguel burials are roofed with one course of timbers. Based on what is exposed, there are likely between twenty-five (25) and fifty (50) San Miguel-associated⁸⁴ tombs in Sector C. This middle Late Intermediate Period cemetery is likely directly associated with additional San Miguel cemeteries in Sector F and Sector R.

Overlying both the Chiribaya-Maytas and San Miguel mortuary components was the third and final component, a substantial domestic occupation with most identifiable decorated ceramics associated with the Gentilar material tradition. While the earlier mortuary components were restricted to the blufftop, the late LIP domestic component covers the entire 6.44-hectare extent of Sector C. There are three primary areas to this domestic component. Extremely dense material remains can be observed throughout the western plateau portion of the sector. Here, the final occupants constructed a series of domestic platforms by piling the locally available cobbles. They appear to have used a cribbing-style of construction method - creating raised bins with cobbles and filing those in with sediment and gravel. These rectangular field stone platforms gradually step up in elevation as they approach the steep drop-off down to the Cinto valley floor - forming a broad stepped set of nested platforms. The lowest platform is approximately 0.5 meters above the natural plateau surface with the highest surfaces approximately two meters above the natural ground surface. Interestingly, these platforms appear to have been destroyed upon abandonment - it is difficult to determine the nature of this destruction. While these platforms are in poor condition a few segments of quincha-style cane wall foundations as well as a single post.

Moving eastward across the sector, the domestic scatter continues and encompasses

⁸⁴ While San Miguel material culture can be difficult to distinguish from later Gentilar styles, we identified San Miguel based on their exclusive and frequent use of black-on-cream decorated ceramics (Uribe Rodríguez 1999).

the Sector C blufftop - these are the deposits that directly overlie the earlier cemetery components. Covering the top of the blufftop and along the more gradual, sandy northwestern slope leading to the valley bottom are relatively dense domestic material scatters. There are a number of small portions of quincha-style cane wall foundations throughout this area of the sector, and at the northeast edge of blufftop is the well-preserved and complete foundation of a rectangular quincha-style domestic structure. Along the steeper bluff slopes to the north, west, and south are covered in extremely deep midden deposits. In addition, along the southern slope, projecting both southwest and southeast are two artificial walls. These appear to have been created by piling field stone - domestic-refuse deposits on the wall have since bolstered its size. These may have originally acted to restrict access to the blufftop peak occupations. All diagnostic materials appear to fall well-within the Gentilar stylistic canon⁸⁵ (Uribe Rodríguez 1999:213-218).

The final area of the Gentilar occupation in Sector C is located in the sandy saddle, located between the Sector C blufftop and Sector F blufftop. While Gentilar domestic deposits continue, the primary feature in this area is a formal plaza space. Oriented roughly along a direct N-S axis the rectangular plaza is framed by a single course of medium-sized cobbles, with an additional row of cobbles down the center of the plaza. Before construction, the plaza space was clearly prepared by building up low areas and leveling the entire area by compacting the sediment. Additional cobbles along the eastern side of the plaza suggest associated built spaces may have existed adjacent to the open plaza space. This is an interesting feature as the overall dual-nature of this plaza construction is similar to those observed in Inca architectural styles (Hyslop 1990:234-243). While no diagnostically Inca materials were recovered here, this could suggest an Inca-affiliated component here.

⁸⁵ It is of course possible that the earlier LIP cemetery components (Chiribaya, San Miguel) had associated domestic components, that were covered by the later Gentilar occupation.

Sector D

Sector D is a small mortuary sector situated directly adjacent to the southeast border of Sector C. Perched between Sector C and the central quebrada edge, Sector D only contains approximately 25 tombs. Interestingly, while these tombs are all associated with the earlier LIP Chiribaya-Maytas tradition, the Sector D cemetery did not get covered by the dense Gentilar domestic refuse like the Chiribaya-era cemetery components underlying Sector C. All exposed tombs in this sector are circular, cist tombs. All Sector D tombs also used the cobble lining and were topped with a row of timbers. Most materials associated with these burials fall into the Chiribaya tradition, although the decorated serving ware offering, associated with some of the nearby Sector C Chiribaya burials were absent here. Interestingly, two different boot-pot⁸⁶ ceramic vessels have been found associated with Sector D - these pots are most frequently associated with the Estuquiña material tradition, found most commonly in the Upper Valley of the Osmore drainage (Stanish 1991).

Sector E

This mortuary sector occupies a low ridge that begins along the southern slopes of the Sector F blufftop and eventually juts out to the west, into the central quebrada. Covering just under one hectare, Sector E is large for a mortuary sector, but still dense with tombs (approximately 50 tombs). Here all tombs appear to be circular cists and while some are stone-lined, the majority are simple cists⁸⁷. While only some of the exposed tombs had recoverable materials, all diagnostic materials suggest Sector D was exclusively a Chiribaya-Maytas period cemetery. Like the Chiribaya-era cemeteries in Sector C, there were also animal-related

⁸⁶ These are believed to be used for roasting maize and other grains.

⁸⁷ Along this ridge, sediment is particularly thin, resulting in many of these tombs being partially carved into the soft sandstone bedrock.

offerings in Sector E, including at least two dogs and one offering of camelid feet.

Sector F

Covering 1.13 hectares Sector F is the largest mortuary sector associated with the Late Intermediate Period. This sector occupies the blufftop just east of Sector C, with tombs located on all sides of the blufftop, but particularly concentrated on the west and north facing upper slopes. Like the other cemeteries which have been heavily disturbed by modern looting, many of the exposed tombs do not have any diagnostic material associated. However, most diagnostic ceramics suggest this was primarily a San Miguel era settlement with a possible later (and much more minor) Gentilar component. This cemetery likely contains at least 75 individual tombs. All tombs in Sector F appear to be circular cists with the vast majority lined with cobbles. Interestingly, while most of the tombs were roofed with a row of but timbers, a few of the tombs in Sector F appear to have been capped with unshaped sections of local limestone. Evidence shows some engagement with this sector during Colonial times; in addition to looting there was at least a single offering of a silver coin next to some burnt candle wax.

Sector G

Sector G is a complicated, multicomponent sector located at the westernmost end of Cerro San Antonio. While Sector G (along with Sector H) occupies the lowest elevation portion of the broader site it still has an excellent viewpoint southwest down the central Locumba valley. The sector is complicated as it shows evidence for definite domestic and probably mortuary use, and diagnostic ceramics have been found which represent almost every pre-historic material tradition. Low altitude photos and a single disturbed context suggest that much of the sector is covered with circular subsurface features. Ground-truthing these types features at L1 has almost always revealed cist-style tombs. However, while the single disturbed example at Sector G does appear to be a stone-lined cist it appears to have been used a storage or refuse pit in

prehistory. Only excavation will reveal if this is an anomaly or if this is indeed a relatively expansive storage location. The cultural affiliation of the Sector G is also difficult to determine. Overall, surface scatter is relatively light, but most ceramics observed and collected are diagnostically Tiwanaku plainware. However, we have also noted Formative Period sandtempered ceramics, LIP-era San Miguel decorated cream-on-black sherds, as well as some of the only diagnostic Inca sherds recovered at L1. As noted above, it is likely subsurface sampling is necessary to delineate the cultural sequence at this sector. One final feature of note in Sector G is a rectangular plaza space in the southern portion of the sector. This plaza is 20 x 40 meters and roughly oriented on a NW-SE axis.

Sector H

Sector H represents the earliest prehistoric use of L1, and the only sector to be affiliated exclusively with the Formative Period. In an area of 6.7 hectares there are eight artificial, earthen mounds. These mounds, known as *tumulos*, are well-known features that were used by Formative Period populations as burial mounds. While these mounds are well-documented in a number of locations from the neighboring Osmore drainage to the north (Goldstein 2000a; 2005:125-127) and Azapa to the south (Muñoz Ovalle 1987, 2004). However, only a limited number of these *tumulos* have been systematically excavated; making it very difficult to estimate the how many burials or other offerings these mounds contain. Each mound is irregularly-shaped and they vary greatly in size. The northernmost *tumulo* is the largest (1823m²) and also isolated from the rest. Interestingly, there are three think posts clustered in a triangular orientation⁸⁸ in the southeast corner of this larger mound. The other seven mounds also vary in shape and size (range from 71 to 580m²) but are all clustered together. Some of these smaller mounds may have originally held a more regular, conical shape, but millennia of

⁸⁸ It is unclear if these represent a structure that the mound was constructed around or posts for a structure built on top of the mound.

deflation have made them slump. While these *tumulos* are affiliated with the Formative Period there were no diagnostic materials recovered on the surface. Finally, sharing the lowest elevation plateau at the far western extent of the site with Sector G, these burial mounds in Sector H look southwest and have a view kilometers down the central Locumba valley.

Sector I

Sector I is one of three narrow *quebrada*-cemeteries found directly adjacent to the north side of Sector A. Likely containing twenty-five (25) tombs, Sector I covers only 0.09 hectares. Like the other *quebrada*-cemeteries this narrow gully is relatively sheltered from the elements as it cuts into a steep slope. At least eight (8) of these tombs have been looted; however, these disturbance events appear to have taken place in antiquity. All tombs appear to be stone-lined, circular cists. Unlike other cemeteries all of these tombs appear to have also had above-surface stone collars. All materials, including a near complete *kero*, are diagnostically Tiwanaku. Interestingly, this sector lies at the end of one of the bifurcations of the prehistoric pathway that leads directly through the primary *quebrada*.

Sector J

Sector J is the primary Colonial-era sector at Cerro San Antonio. Directly abutting the Cinto valley bottom, on the northern margin of the site, Sector J is composed of the ruins of a Colonial-era bodega and associated features and scatter. The primary bodega structure is built with adobe bricks, and while the roofing and much of the superstructure is collapsed or absent a significant portion of the lower walls and foundations remain. The bodega is composed of four primary rooms: the main *tinaja* storage area, the *lagares* (crushing tanks), and two additional

rooms⁸⁹. The primary storage room still has seven medium-sized Colonial wine *tinajas* largely in situ as well as remarkably well-preserved sections of the plumbing which would transport wine from the *lagares* to the storage *tinajas*. Overall this bodega is a relatively simple version of a integrated-linear plan; a layout seen utilized in Colonial wine haciendas in the neighboring Osmore (Rice 1996:191-192). Unfortunately, none of the *in situ tinajas*⁹⁰ found at L1 have been inscribed with a date. However, being used as a property marker in a nearby field is a *tinaja* with the date 1699, and while not definitively from the Sector J, this does suggest this bodega was in operation before 1700.

The primary bodega structure is surrounded by typical Spanish Colonial-era domestic refuse: various stoneware and porcelain ceramics, glass bottle fragments and beads, metal horseshoes and binding for barrels, peach pits and cow bones. Directly associated with the bodega to the northeast is what appear to be a filled-in well; although this could be the base for a circular kiln or a mount for a *falca*. Finally, built directly onto the rugged bedrock that rises quite sharply to the southeast of the bodega are the adobe brick foundations of an additional rectangular structure. Based on extensively studied bodegas in Moquegua, this structure likely swerved as a temporary residence for bodega owners when visiting their fields or it could have served as a country chapel.

Sector K

Sector K is another narrow quebrada-based mortuary sector, directly associated with the Sector A Middle Horizon domestic sector. This sector occupies the quebrada directly east of Sector I. Ancient looting events have exposed 10 tombs, with a likely 15 total tombs in the entire

⁸⁹ One small room, directly adjoining the tinaja storage room and the *lagares* was small and likely used as a work/staging area. The other room is larger, including a large doorway to the exterior and may not have been roofed - this suggests this room may have been a loading area where horses and mules would be kept and loaded with products.

⁹⁰ It should be noted, detailed observations of the tinajas have been limited as a current, neighboring farm owner keeps several beehives in amongst the Colonial era vessels.

sector. All exposed tombs are circular cist-style tombs. While all have at least one course of stones as collar, it is unclear if they are stone-lined. All collected materials are diagnostically Tiwanaku.

Sector L

Covering just over four hectares, Sector L occupies the northernmost plateau at Cerro San Antonio. The planar surface of the Sector L plateau is oriented roughly NE-SW and is tapers off onto a narrower ridge at the southern end. Unlike other blufftop plateaus at L1, Sector L is dissected by a network of shallow quebradas. These quebradas provide shelter from the afternoon winds that sweep through the valley. While Sector L can be access from pathways that wind down to both the Cinto and Salado valley bottoms, it is the most defensible domestic sector at the site simply based on its location. Sector L also has the clearest sightlines to the volcanic peaks Tutupaca and Yucamane to the north. While there are still significant amounts of medium-small cobbles and gravel, overall, the natural geologic ground cover on Sector L is less dense than other sectors. Large natural clay deposits define the southwestern cliffsides along the sector's southwestern perimeter.

Sector L is a Middle Horizon-era domestic sector. Like Sector A, Sector L is defined largely by rockpile-midden deposits interspersed by irregular, generally small, clearings. However, the different orientation and narrow quebrada system that define the Sector L surface have provided far more protection from wind deflation. This wind protection has allowed for the preservation of dozens of segments of quincha-style cane wall foundations and architectural posts, giving us a far more detailed view of the plan of this domestic sector. This excellent material preservation carries over to other cultural materials. Materials are found in high densities across the sector, with higher densities found in the rock-pile middens. An additional dense midden is located along the steep northwestern slope of the sector. All collected materials fall within the general Tiwanaku stylistic canon. Interestingly, there does not seem to

be the abandonment pitting, as observed in Sector A.

As one of the primary Tiwanaku domestic sectors, Sector L was subject to intensive investigation for this study, including: systematic surface collection and extensive excavations.

Sector M

Sector M is located along the northeastern facing slope, just below the Sector L and above the Sector U domestic sectors. This is another Tiwanaku-affiliated cemetery and contains approximately 70 tombs. All tombs appear to be circular cists with at least one to two courses of cobbles as simple collars. Sector M is one of the few Middle Horizon-era cemeteries with a view of the snowcapped peaks of the Upper Valley. This sector has clear evidence for looting, likely in antiquity, but little evidence for modern disturbance.

Sector N

Sector N is located on a ridge along the northwest edge of L1, overlooking the Cinto valley bottom. The sector is centered on a Colonial or possibly early Historic-era structure and its associated scatter. The structure was made of adobe bricks and while the roof is now absent, some rubble suggests it may have had a *mojineta*-style roof, a specific to this region. It is possible that this structure is directly associated with the bodega in Sector J, though it seems this structure was occupied for some time after the bodega. Modern agriculturalists have built structures along the same ridge as Sector N, so their domestic refuse has mixed with the historic scatter, making it difficult to delineate systematically.

Sector O

Sector O is a mortuary sector found at the western extent of the Sector C plateau. This cemetery was exposed only recently by modern looting events, which exposed ten (10) tombs.

Some of this sector is likely covered by domestic refuse from Sector C. All tombs appear to be stone-lined, circular cists with no above-ground collars. Most materials recovered here appear to be affiliated with Chiribaya-Maytas material styles, though no decorated ceramics have been recovered.

Sector P

The smallest sector by area, Sector P is composed of the remains of four (4) *chulpa* burial towers at the westernmost edge of the Sector C plateau. All appear to have been relatively small, with base diameters of approximately 1 to 1.25 meters. These structures were largely composed of adobe but appear to have a single course of fieldstone as their foundation. All four structures are in poor condition, largely consisting of their foundations and a course of largely melted adobes. These types of burial towers are mostly closely associated with the Estuquiña, late Late Intermediate Period culture (Stanish 2012). Only a handful of ceramic sherds were found associated with the *chulpas*, and while none are diagnostic, all fall within general LIP plainware traditions. Importantly, the location of these structures gives them a ten-kilometer vista south, down the central valley.

Sector Q

Sector Q is another small, quebrada-bottom mortuary sector. Located just below the southeastern edge of domestic Sector L, Sector Q likely holds thirty (30) individual tombs. All tombs appear to be circular cists with cobbles used to form above-ground collars. Almost all materials are diagnostically Tiwanaku. However, we also collected multiple Colonial-era olive jar fragments, suggesting Colonial-era looting.

Sector R

Sector R is a Late Intermediate Period cemetery located at the western end of L1. This sector occupies a brief planar just below the northwestern perimeter of Sector A and continues down eastward through the central quebrada bottom and slopes. There are an estimated forty (40) burials included in this perimeter. Tombs here are circular cists, often using large boulders as above-ground collars as well as further subsurface lining. While this sector has seen some recent looting, most disturbance appears to have occurred in prehistory. All diagnostic materials observed in Sector R are associated with the San Miguel material tradition.

Sector S

Sector S is a particularly small sector (totaling 0.03 hectares), located between Sector A and Sector L. This is a sector unique in that it is centered on a single (1) ambiguous feature, and a few collected ceramic sherds. The feature appears to be a roughly circular subsurface feature - it is assumed to be a tomb but only excavation will confirm this. The ceramic sherds collected are examples of particularly well-crafted Tiwanaku decorated redware.

Sector T

Sector T is a small mortuary sector located on a high ridge overlooking the Cinto Valley in the central portion of the site. In total there are likely fifteen (15) tombs in the Sector T cemetery. This sector is also located directly adjacent to one of the primary quebrada pathways that allows for site access from the north side. All tombs here appear to be circular cists with larger cobbles used as collar stones. All materials affiliated with Sector T appear to date to the late Late Intermediate Period and the Gentilar material tradition.

Sector U

The northernmost sector at Cerro San Antonio, Sector U covers a number of sandy

slopes and hilltops overlooking the Cinto tributary. The sector begins just below the north perimeter of Sector L and expands north and eastward, covering 6.87 hectares. Due to the sector's overall orientation and location at a hook in the Cinto tributary, Sector U has been protected from the wind, which has resulted in more accumulation of sand and silt. There are a number of clusters of medium to small-sized boulders in the north and east areas of the sector.

Sector U is defined as a Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sector. Compared to all other domestic sectors at the site, Sector U's surface scatter is quite sparse. However, even with low densities materials can be found throughout the sector. Apart from a single location, there are not the rockpile-midden deposits that define the Tiwanaku domestic sectors elsewhere.

As one of the primary Tiwanaku domestic sectors, Sector U was subject to intensive investigation for this study, including: systematic surface collection and limited excavations.

Sector V

Sector V is a small mortuary sector, located just north of Sector A and directly outside the Sector I quebrada cemetery. This cemetery appears to be composed of twelve (12) tombs. These tombs all appear to be circular cist-style tombs with the majority having some form of stone collar. While there are very few materials found directly associate with these tombs, diagnostic sherds suggest a Tiwanaku affiliation.

Sector W

Sector W is a Tiwanaku affiliated mortuary sector located on a planar surface just below the steep western slope of Sector A. Hard hit by recent looting events, there are currently fortysix (46) tombs exposed in Sector W, with a likely 100 left undisturbed. With just under 150 documented tombs, Sector W is the largest Tiwanaku-affiliated cemetery so far identified at L1. All tombs exposed here appear to be circular cist-style tombs - most have a single-course cobble collar. Interestingly, in addition to the standard circular collar, some of the tombs are

further framed by a rectangular course of cobbles. Many examples of exposed human remains suggest most burials were interred in a seated-flexed position. Bodies were wrapped in a variety of textile garments and bound with vegetable-fiber cords. There appear to have been a variety of grave goods, including decorated redware ceramics, foodstuff (particularly maize), and wooden spoons.

Sector X

Sector X is a narrow quebrada mortuary sector. Like the neighboring Sector I and Sector K, Sector X is directly north of Sector A and the central quebrada pathway. There are likely less than ten (10) tombs located in this sector. All tombs are circular cists and use small boulders for above-surface collars. Only a few diagnostic materials have been found here and all are affiliated with Tiwanaku and the Middle Horizon.

Sector Y

Sector Y is the southernmost sector at Cerro San Antonio. The sector occupies a very brief planar surface that juts out halfway down the steep rocky slop which leads from the Sector A plateau to the Salado valley bottom below. There are likely a total of twenty-five (25) circular cist tombs in Sector Y and while very few materials have been found, diagnostic ceramics suggest a Chiribaya-Maytas affiliation.

Sector Z

Sector Z is a small mortuary sector located at the base of the southern slope leading down from the Sector F blufftop. Sector Z only contains four (4) circular cist-style tombs, making this one of the smallest Tiwanaku-affiliated mortuary sectors. This Tiwanaku affiliation was determined by a single Tiwanaku tazón sherd.

Sector AA

Sector AA is a small early-Historic Period material scatter. This scatter is located at the southern margin of the site at the base of a clear pathway and one of the few access points to the Salado valley bottom. The Sector AA scatter includes fragments of glass bottles, stoneware and porcelain ceramic sherds, as well as peach pits and goat bones.

Sector BB

Sector BB is a Gentilar-affiliated mortuary sector along a ridge line overlooking the Cinto tributary and just east of Sector T. Tombs at Sector BB are constructed as circular cists, using small boulders and large cobbles for above-surface collars. It appears that Sector BB holds fifteen (15) individual tombs.

Other Archaeological Features

While the vast majority of archaeological features fall within the officially delineated sector perimeters, there are a few reoccurring features that do not. While the features described below are important archaeological resources, their continuous or scattered nature made them difficult to include in sector boundaries, so they were cataloged in other ways.

Valley Access & Pathways

One critical set of features are the various natural access points and associated pathways which connect the above-mentioned sectors to the valley below as well as to each other. As has been noted, the vast majority of Cerro San Antonio's over six-kilometer perimeter is composed of sandstone cliffs and steep rocky slopes. Access to the site directly from the river must be made from one of seven primary access points which lead out to the valley bottoms.

Three of these access points can be found along the southern and southeastern site boundary, leading to the Salado, and three can be found on the north and northwest site boundary leading to the Cinto. The fifth and likely one of the primary access points to the site during most prehistoric periods can be found at the western end of L1, roughly leading directly to the confluence of the two tributaries and the central Locumba Valley. This access point leads directly to and from the central site quebrada.



Figure 24. Map of Cerro San Antonio depicting all documented premodern pathways and primary points of access between the valley bottom and the occupied areas of the site.

The central site quebrada acts as one of the primary (and only) transportation corridors through the site. This deep, wide quebrada separates the large plateaus of Sector A (to the south) and Sector C (to the north) and smaller but clearly demarcated pathways lead directly up to these domestic sectors as well as some of the associated petroglyph locations. While the central quebrada contains some tombs and associated human remains from cemeteries in Sector R in the west and Sector E further east, for the most part it is relatively clear of cultural debris. Some of the petroglyph boulders (see below) are also concentrated near the western mouth of the quebrada. The central pathway follows the quebrada bottom for almost a kilometer before it opens into the eastern portion of the Sector A plateau. Here the pathway continues east, clearly demarcated by the clearing of all large stones. Finally, this path bifurcates, one path leading northwest and ending in the Sector I⁹¹ quebrada cemetery, the other continues east eventually tapering off in the easternmost portion of Sector A.

There are also several demarcated footpaths along the eastern site of the Sector L plateau. One network of pathways connects Sector L, the Sector U and the Sector Q quebrada cemetery, before eventually leading to the Salado access point near Sector AA. Interestingly, these paths show signs of several much smaller paths running parallel with the main path - this pattern has observed being left by herders as the flock follows/is led by the herder. There are additional ways to access the broader landform, occupied from L1, especially from the north. Just beyond the northern boundary of the site is an old Colonial road which connect to the modern road about five kilometers up the Cinto tributary.

Petroglyphs

One of the best documented archaeological features at Cerro San Antonio (L1), before the start of this work, were its petroglyph-covered boulders (Umire Alvarez 2014). At least 109 individual boulders, containing thousands of individual pecked images and design elements can be found throughout the site. While there is some variability in the mode of these petroglyphs, the majority were made by pecking away the patina of small, medium, and large boulders - likely using a variety of different locally available hammer stones. Most igneous and metamorphic

⁹¹ I first identified the Sector I cemetery by simply following this clearly demarcated path to the mouth of this otherwise tucked-away quebrada.

based boulders at the site have a relatively dark patina (of varying colors of grays, browns, pinks, and greens) and there did not seem to be a preference in which were selected for petroglyphs. Clearly important in boulder selection was location. There are five primary petroglyph clusters with a number of scattered isolated petroglyph boulders as well. The vast majority of the petroglyph boulders are found in three clusters at the western end of the site. There are 89 boulders in the L1 Western Cluster found at the westernmost margin of Cerro San Antonio. One of the densest clusters of boulders (30 petroglyph boulders) as well as the boulders most densely illustrated with petroglyphs are found in the L1 Salado West Cluster. The L1 Central Quebrada Cluster (41 petroglyph boulders) is found throughout the western portion of the central quebrada - found densest just 100 meters into the quebrada and along the slopes amongst the tombs in the Sector R cemetery. Finally, there are two additional, small petroglyph clusters, L1 Salado Central Cluster and L1 Salado North Cluster, at the Salado valley bottom access points in the northeast portion of the site.

As has already been noted, the 109 petroglyph boulders across the site hold thousands of individual images. A comprehensive description, let alone any form of analysis, is beyond the scope of this thesis. However, a breakdown of boulders and their design elements as well as a number of example images are found in Appendix XX. However, here it can be noted that the images and motifs can be broken down into four standard rock art categories: geometric, zoomorphic, phytomorphic, and anthropomorphic. Geometric images range from nested boxes and circles, square and rectilinear designs, and a variety of straight and wavy linear motifs. The vast majority of zoomorphic images seem to depict camelids, dogs, foxes, and deer; however birds and fish are also depicted. Most animals present were likely local species, with the exception of a clear depiction of a monkey, which could only be found on the eastern slopes of the Andes and the Amazon Basin. The most common phytomorphic motifs seem to be some kind of cactus or other plant, but these are often quite abstract. Finally, anthropomorphic images range from depicting humans doing standard activities - often relating to animals (herding llama,

hunting deer). Anthropomorphic images also appear to depict superhuman beings or at the very least humans in headdresses or other regalia. Some boulders only contain a single image, while others are extremely dense with imagery, to the point of being near illegible with overlapping images. Likewise, sometimes just a single side of a boulder was used as a panel, while other time almost every available surface was used for imagery.





Unless clear diagnostic motifs are employed petroglyphs and other rock art are notoriously difficult to date and affiliate with specific cultural traditions. Based on regional studies, the vast majority of motifs present on the Cerro San Antonio petroglyph boulders could be affiliated with Archaic through Late Horizon periods. However, new finds under the PAL survey in 2019, suggest some many motifs and styles of petroglyphs at L1 may be affiliated with Tiwanaku occupations.

Other Features

There are a few other unique cultural features at Cerro San Antonio. Of particular note are two related features at the far western extent of the site. This includes an adobe wall with cobble foundations situated approximately 15 meters on the slope above the valley bottom. Directly below this wall, cut into the slop about five meters above the valley floor is an old canal. Given the elevation and slope of this canal it was almost certainly fed by the Cinto tributary and has likely been out of use since the late 1950's. These features both likely date to the Colonialera and are associated with the bodega in Sector J.

Disturbances

Situated directly across the Cinto-Salado confluence and within sight of the modern town of Villa Locumba, Cerro San Antonio (L1) has long been subject to disturbances, mostly caused by human activity. Here I briefly highlight some of the more disruptive practices that have taken place at the site and how they have impacted the archaeological record there.

Development

Most evidence at L1 suggests that, from at least the Formative Period almost every new group to occupy the Middle Valley of the Locumba drainage has had some impact on the site.

The prehistoric sectors dating to the first agriculturalists in the Formative, Middle Horizon, various times in the Late Intermediate Period, and again with the Spanish in Colonial times, attest to the importance of this location. While these occupations did tend to avoid one another (i.e., most sectors were only occupied once), later occupations likely borrowed usable stone for architecture and other useful items that could be salvaged from abandoned occupations. This is to say; the development of these prehistoric and historic settlements were the first disturbances at the site, and they certainly effected the archaeological deposits.

However, more modern developments (post ca. AD 1900) have also left a serious mark on the site. Immediately observable in aerial photos are a number of car tracks. Other than to service a set of power lines that cut across the far west margin of the site, there is little reason to drive across most to the site, and most of these disturbances appear to be punctuated events (i.e., not re-used roadways). However, the nature of the local sediment and erosion processes means once the fragile surface patina is broken, any disturbance becomes extremely noticeable⁹². In the northwest section of L1 there are also several small piles of garbage left by local farm owners over recent decades (1950s-present). This modern debris is particularly dense at the northwest Cinto access point where modern farm workers have set up residence, just adjacent to Sector N. There are also a few places where individuals have used locally available cobbles to write messages on hillsides - these generally are only a minor disturbance.

In this hyperarid region of Peru, it is common to attempt to claim land or at the very least demarcate property boundaries using the widely available cobbles and field stones, sometimes stacked into kurins, placed in a single line. There are a number of places, where over the years, individuals, and likely even official municipal projects, have demarcated various sections of the site, especially in the southeastern portion. For the most part these stone lines are not terribly

⁹² For this reason, in important, relatively undisturbed sectors (such as Sector L) we tried to minimize our own foot traffic and always attempted to establish walking paths in quebrada bottoms where they would cause the least disturbance.

intrusive, and often draw their stones from quebradas outside the demarcated cultural sectors.

However, related to one of these sections of demarcated space, that falls within the eastern extent of Sector A, I observed an interesting phenomenon. I found four separate piles, each composed of hundreds of Tiwanaku plainware ceramic sherds, tucked away behind some boulders in nearby *quebradas*. The ceramic piles are almost certainly not the work of looters and no archaeological account mention anything about making collections like this. The most probable current explanation is that whenever the stone demarcations were made⁹³, the ceramics that fell within were collected so no complications could be raised due to it being an archaeological site. More formal, often painted stone markers as well as rebar and wooden posts can be observed at a few locations along the site's valley-side margins - these have been used for a variety of municipal road and survey projects.

Looting

Disturbances caused by modern and historic development pale in comparison to the destruction caused by modern and historic looting at the site. These looting events, while particularly intense in the recent decade, have likely occurred at the site for millennia. Every mortuary sector, from every cultural period, has been subject to looting. Extremely deflated and weathered backdirt piles in some cemetery sectors suggest pre-Spanish looting - this is particularly true in the Formative (Sector H) and Middle Horizon-era cemeteries (especially Sector B, Sector I, and Sector M). Later looting events can be tied to Spanish Colonial-era populations as indicated by the presence of Colonial-era goods in the Tiwanaku cemetery in Sector Q and the San Miguel blufftop cemetery in Sector F.

However, modern looting, taking place in the last ten years have been particularly

⁹³ In our low-altitude drone photos I noticed a large marker, written in stones on a hill directly adjacent to this specific demarcated area – while almost illegible, it likely says "PTAR a IIo, Ano 1955" - PTRA seems to refer to a water resource project (Plantas se Aguas Residuales) based out of the neighboring port city of IIo back in the mid-1950s.

destructive to mortuary deposits at L1. Between 2014 and 2017 a team of looters exposed, sacked, and largely destroyed at least 200 individual tombs, primarily across seven sectors. The hardest hit contexts, included Sector D, Sector E, and Sector P in 2014, Sector B, Sector C, Sector F, and Sector W in 2016, and Sector C again in 2017. Most of the hardest hit cemeteries were affiliated with the Middle Horizon and Late Intermediate Period.

In addition to destroying irreparable archaeological contexts and stealing and often breaking important artifacts, the looting of mortuary contexts is particularly disturbing as the perpetrators disrespectfully destroy human remains. At the peak of looting in 2015 human remains were strewn about, covering around one hectare of the surface in total. In 2016 PAL and this project worked with the Tacna regional office of the Ministerio de Cultura to document what was salvageable and rebury many of the human remains out of respect. There have also been more aggressive deterring measures taken in recent years. In 2014 two looters were cited for illegally being on the site⁹⁴ and in 2016 there was a municipal organized arrest, in which two looters were caught with over 200 individual artifacts⁹⁵ they were preparing for sale. This last arrest event was made quite public and has in some sense put Cerro San Antonio in the spotlight for new regulations in protecting cultural patrimony in Peru. As of 2019, L1 received special protection status from the Ministerio de Cultura which diverts resources for developing site protection.

Bioturbation

While there is truly no vegetation to speak of anywhere on the site, there are a number of animal-based disturbances that have affected some archaeological deposits. Some of the

⁹⁴ This only occurred because on our two-day site visit in 2014 we witnessed looters on site, in the act, and were able to provide the authorities photos.

⁹⁵ These items are kept in the regional museum, Las Peañas in Tacna Peru - some documentation can be found in Appendix XX.

more minor disturbances come from birds - vulture guano covers a number of the petroglyph boulders and burrowing owls have been observed in some of the quebrada tombs and Colonial adobe structures. Invasive Argentine hares are found throughout the site. They use both tombs and rockpile-midden deposits for temporary burrows at night. In particular, their burrows in the rockpile-midden deposits can create confusing patterns, that might otherwise be interpreted as cultural. In a few select locations there has been evidence for rodents (likely field mice) using organic materials midden deposits for nests. Finally, in many locations there are, sometimes quite dense, deposits of land snails (or at least their shells). Importantly, these dense snail shell deposits are always associated with domestic midden deposits. However, as will be discussed in the excavations results in Section 2, these are not ubiquitous among midden deposits.

3.3 Chapter Summary

In Chapter 3 I reviewed the basic materials used in this study. This refers primarily to the archaeological site of Cerro San Antonio (L1) and the archaeological data collected there.

3.1: Here I provided geological, ecological, and historical context for the broader setting of my study - the Locumba drainage in the southern Peruvian department of Tacna.

3.2: This subsection is a detailed overview of the principal locus of my study, the multicomponent archaeological site of Cerro San Antonio. This includes a sector-by-sector description of the individual archaeological components delineated at the site.

Next: Chapter 4 defines the various methods and other techniques I utilized for my study at Cerro San Antonio. This includes an extended explanation of my approach to data collection, archaeological analysis, and ultimately anthropological synthesis.

Chapter 4: Methods

In this chapter I outline the methods I have utilized to carry out my dissertation research in both the field and laboratory, including a brief timetable of my entire dissertation process. I walk-through each of the primary categories of archaeological field strategies I undertook in my work at Cerro San Antonio: Reconnaissance, Systematic Surface Collection, and Excavation. Here, I also detail the laboratory-based techniques I selected for cataloging and analyzing the materials collected during field work. The findings and results of these methods are provided in Section 2 (Chapters 5-8).

This chapter also introduces the basic analytic and interpretive structures I use to synthesize my data into a broader anthropological discussion. Here, I build on the discussion of Chapter 1, and explain how I frame this study, and specifically the network-based approaches I employ to bridge the data collected on-the-ground to the broader meaning and implications of those findings. I outline my multiscalar framework and explain how the methods described above can inform analysis of multi-modal community networks at three separate scales: microscale, mesoscale, and macroscale. The final product of this analysis is the subject of Section 3 (Chapters 9-11).

Finally, this chapter further outlines the three primary hypotheses (and their variants) I developed to guide my research at Cerro San Antonio (L1). Establishing effective methods for engaging these hypotheses shaped my broader strategies throughout the dissertation research process. While first presented in the Introduction, my discussion here outlines my three primary hypotheses as well as their likely archaeological correlates and how the methods described here worked to collect that data. I also highlight some of the implications of each hypothesis to the broader Tiwanaku story, were it supported by the data collected. I weigh the validity of these hypotheses throughout my discussion in Section 3.

4.1 Data Collection: field & laboratory methods & procedures

In this section I describe the methods and procedures employed during data collection, both in the field and in post-field laboratory analysis. This field work and material analysis took place across three primary field seasons but supplemental work was completed during four additional seasons (Table 7).

<u>Season</u>	Work Completed	<u>Peruvian Ministerio de Cultura Permits</u>
2012, 2013, 2014	Initial site visits, reconnaissance, and logistical setup	
2015	Systematic pedestrian survey and sector mapping	#00359-2015/DGPA/VMPCIC/MC
2016	Systematic surface collection, test excavations	#0319-2016/DGPA/VMPCIC/MC
2017	Laboratory material analysis	#076-2016-GM-A/MPJB
2018-19	Large-scale excavations, laboratory material analysis	#0388-2018/DGPA/VMPCIC/MC & #0199- 2019/DGPA/VMPCIC/MC

Table 7. Major phases of field and laboratory work discussed in the text.

2012-2014

I made my first visit to the middle Locumba Valley and the site of Cerro San Antonio (L1) in April of 2012.⁹⁶ This initial site visit allowed me to locate the site in relation to the modern town of Villa Locumba and begin noting the cultural affiliation of diagnostic materials found on the surface. However, this was just a day trip and time at the site was limited.

⁹⁶ This visit was made on May 6, 2012 with Dr. Paul Goldstein and two Peruvian archaeologists Alexander Sicos and Herber Cahuana.

I returned to the site the following year in August of 2013.⁹⁷ While still just a day trip, we were able to explore the site more extensively - including locating one of the primary Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors (Sector A).

In 2014 I made my final initial site visits and was able to initiate logistical connections in Locumba and the department capital of Tacna. During these visits we contacted municipal officials in Locumba as well as notifying officials in the local office of the Ministerio de Cultura in Tacna of our plans for a formal project.⁹⁸ I made a separate two-day visit to the site of Cerro San Antonio where I was able to conduct further reconnaissance and prepare for formal survey.⁹⁹

<u>2015</u>

2015 represents the first formal season of field work conducted at Cerro San Antonio, as a component of the broader Proyecto Arqueologío Locumba (PAL).¹⁰⁰ Field work at L1 was conducted over approximately seven weeks in August-September of 2015. During the 2015 season our crew consisted of myself, two other graduate student supervisors, twelve UC San Diego undergraduate field school students, and the two project directors. The primary objectives of PAL in the 2015 season focused on systematic pedestrian survey of the Cinto branch of the Locumba drainage. During this initial season we did not collect, instead photographing and drawing artifacts in the field and on locating and delineating boundaries for new sites and

⁹⁷ This visit was made on August 2, 2013, with Dr. Sarah Baitzel, Giacomo Gaggio, and David Neiss.

⁹⁸ This visit was made on August 6, 2014, with Dr. Paul Goldstein and Lic. Antonio Oquiche. This visit would form as the foundation for the development of Proyecto Arqueologíco Locumba (PAL).

⁹⁹ This visit was made between August 21-22, 2014, with Kathleen Huggins.

¹⁰⁰ This work was conducted within the PAL project under permit #00359-2015/DGPA/VMPCIC/MC issued by the Peruvian Ministerio de Cultura to Dr. P. Goldstein and Lic. A. Oquiche.

sectors. This no-collection policy included the 2015 work at Cerro San Antonio, so no collections of any kind were made in 2015. With the full seventeen-person crew we worked for over two weeks at Cerro San Antonio, conducting systematic pedestrian survey and working to delineate individual sectors within the expansive site - documenting surface materials, but leaving artifacts *in situ*. I was able to invest an additional five weeks of work at L1, further fine-tuning sector boundaries and mapping major surface features.

<u>2016</u>

In 2016 we returned for the second season under PAL in the middle Locumba Valley for a more extensive field work, lasting for approximately 8 weeks, from late July-September of 2016.¹⁰¹ This work was conducted with myself, three other graduate student supervisors, ten UC San Diego undergraduate field school students, and the two project directors. Broader PAL objectives for this season included completing the systematic pedestrian survey of the Cinto branch and initiating systematic survey of the Salado branch of the middle Locumba Valley. This season we had arranged for appropriate storage facilities locally in Villa Locumba, so we initiated systematic surface collection-based field strategies. Work at Cerro San Antonio included the continued delineation and mapping of sectors within the site and initiating systematic surface collection units in the Tiwanaku domestic sectors (primarily Sector A and Sector U). We were also able to initiate excavation at L1 during the 2016 season with five test excavations in Sector A at Cerro San Antonio. Finally, we were able to initiate material analysis, completing initial cataloging of all materials collected during the 2016 season.

¹⁰¹ This work was conducted under custodia permit #0319-2016/DGPA/VMPCIC/MC issued by the Peruvian Ministerio de Cultura to Dr. P. Goldstein and Lic. A. Oquiche.

<u>2017</u>

2017 was a lab-based season for Proyecto Arqueologío Locumba and for my work specifically at L1. I was able to complete secondary analysis of materials collected during the 2016 season,¹⁰² including selecting and preparing a batch of materials for exportation to and analysis in the United States.

<u>2018-2019</u>

The final season of PAL consisted largely of work conducted at Cerro San Antonio was completed over three separate segments: from July-October of 2018, January-May of 2019, and July-August of 2019. As with the prior field seasons this work was conducted as part of the broader PAL survey project.¹⁰³ Most work over this extended field season was conducted with a smaller crew (often just myself and a single volunteer), focused exclusively on my research at Cerro San Antonio. During the first segment of the field season in 2018 we completed the systematic surface collection units in the Tiwanaku domestic sectors at L1 and prepared the locations of excavation units. During the second segment of field work in the first half of 2019 we completed extensive household excavations at select locations at Cerro San Antonio as well as completing most analysis of materials collected. In the third segment during the 2018-19 field season in the summer of 2019, we excavated a final unit at L1, and I completed analysis of all materials collected and participated in the Locumba valley survey.

In the section that follows I divide my discussion of methods and materials employed during the work outlined above into four primary subsections: Reconnaissance & Aerial Photography, Survey & Systematic Surface Collection, Excavations, and Material Analysis. The

¹⁰² This lab work was possible under custody of materials via permit #076-2016-GM-A/MPJB.

¹⁰³ This work was conducted under permit #0388-2018/DGPA/VMPCIC/MC and extension permit #0199-2019/DGPA/VMPCIC/MC issued by the Peruvian Ministerio de Cultura to Dr. P. Goldstein and Lic. A. Oquiche.

results from this work can be found in Section 2 (Chapters 4-7).

Reconnaissance

Here I describe methods and strategies employed for initial surface-based work at Cerro San Antonio (L1). All of these methods are relatively non-destructive surveying techniques and did not involve the systematic collection of any archaeological materials.

Aerial Imagery

As noted already in this chapter (3.1), while some previous archaeological investigations had touched on Cerro San Antonio, little systematic work had been done at the site or throughout the broader middle Locumba Valley. Therefore, one of the first tasks, even before initiating fieldwork, was assembling images and generating maps that could assist in guiding initial fieldwork. As with most modern archaeological projects, we first went to the open source platform of GoogleEarth. Generated using frequently updated satellite and ground-based imagery, GoogleEarth has become a powerful tool for archaeological projects. Not only is it a free platform with relatively high-resolution imagery, but it also includes basic measurement tools as well as the ability to view imagery taken at different times. Areas with little to no vegetative or other type of ground cover are particularly ideal for using this type of imagery as low-profile and even subsurface features can be quite visible (often more-so than what can be seen when on the ground).

In addition to the satellite imagery, I was also able to acquire high-altitude aerial photos from the Peruvian Servicio Aerofotografico Nacional (SAN), which catalogs and sells declassified aerial photos from the Peruvian Airforce. While this area appears to have less areal coverage than other localities in Peru, there was a single photo,¹⁰⁴ from a military flyover in

¹⁰⁴ SAN Photo: 455-97A
1997, that showed L1 is some detail. For more detailed topographic data I also relied on the 1:100,000 scale topographic maps produced by the U.S. Defense Mapping Agency¹⁰⁵ as well as ASTER digital elevation maps provided by NASA.¹⁰⁶ These maps help translate the detailed imagery found on GoogleEarth into more quantifiable spatial-based data. The maps generated from the synthesis of these various data were essential for every step of the project, but of particular use in expediting initial survey by assisting in identifying important areas to target in initial reconnaissance.

Another way in which aerial imagery played an important role in this project was through my use of an unmanned-aerial vehicle (UAV), more commonly referred to as a drone, for lowaltitude photography. UAVs have become relatively affordable and relatively compact, making them extremely useful tools for archaeological field work (Fernández-Hernandez, et al. 2015). We used a Mavic Pro¹⁰⁷, which was relatively light and compact yet had good stabilizing capabilities and most importantly came equipped with a 35mm camera (equivalent). For this project, I used the drone for two primary tasks: 1) broader site/sector mapping (discussed here) and 2) overhead photos for excavations (discussed below). In addition to providing essential visual documentation these low-altitude site and sector photos were used for developing three-dimensional models of important surface features as well as the site as a whole.

Photogrammetry and structure-for-motion digital programs have quickly become important elements of any archaeologist's tool kit. These programs have the ability to stitch

¹⁰⁵ Cerro San Antonio (L1) falls onto three separate maps: 2735-Locumba(36-U), 2736-Moquegua(35-U), and 2836-Tarata(35-V). High resolution scans of all topographic maps from this series (J632) in Peru are generously hosted on the University of Texas Libraries website (<u>http://legacy.lib.utexas.edu/maps/topo/peru/</u>).

¹⁰⁶ The ASTER (Advanced Spaceborn Thermal Emission and Reflection Radiometer) files are elevation models developed by NASA and their collaborators through satellite imagery based on global thermal readings. These are also available online for free (<u>https://asterweb.jpl.nasa.gov/gdem.asp</u>).

¹⁰⁷ In our 2018 pilot research with the drone I used a Mavic Pro owned by Dr. Paul Goldstein and the PAL project. In my 2019 excavations and mapping I used my own personal Mavic Pro.

together mosaics of sequential photographs and generate three-dimensional point clouds, which can then be meshed and textured, generating relatively accurate three-dimension models of outdoor contexts. These models can provide essential context information post-fieldwork and are excellent for later presentation purposes. An important feature of the Mavic Pro camera is that each photo is geotagged with a reference point, which allow these models to be georeferenced and utilized for more advanced mapping purposes.¹⁰⁸ For additional spatial accuracy I relied on permanent reference points we placed strategically throughout the site as well as the southwest corner nails and datums of excavation units. Each of these points had been shot in using a differential GPS (process described below) and were therefore accurate up to 1-3 centimeters. By capturing these reference points in our flyovers, we were able to increase the accuracy of our georeferencing.¹⁰⁹

To generate the high-definition models and imagery discussed above, a significant and relatively consistent overlap was needed between each overhead photo.¹¹⁰ To achieve this we had to develop a strategy that would allow for automated, systematic flyovers. After some trial-and-error, our final solution involved incorporating three separate programs: the DJI Fly application, Litchi Mission Hub, and ArduPilot Mission Planner.¹¹¹ Briefly, we would use ArduPilot to map out our given survey area and generate a basic flight plan, then we would use the DJI Fly app to sync and calibrate the compass of the drone itself, and finally use the Mission

¹⁰⁸ For instance, these models can be reformatted into two-dimensional TIFF images, which can be used for incredibly high-definition aerial images of important sectors in maps.

¹⁰⁹ In order to see these reference points (often rebar or even nails) we used small plastic cones (used in children's sports) - these are flat, come in a variety of colors, and are exactly 20cm in circumference. In addition, we used brightly-colored flagging tape to mark the location of wall foundations and other features.

¹¹⁰ Based on the work of others and my own trial-and-error a 40-60% overlap between photos seems to be ideal.

¹¹¹ This combination of programs was first suggested to me by Dr. Bruce Owen.

Planner flight plan loaded through Litchi Mission Hub to actually complete the photo survey in the field.¹¹²

Pedestrian Reconnaissance

Much of the initial as well as ongoing work at Cerro San Antonio involved simple on-theground observation, which I refer to here as pedestrian reconnaissance. While some of this reconnaissance work was done in a systematic fashion, I separate it from the systematic surface collection (discussed below) as it did not involve the systematic collection of any materials. Pedestrian survey could involve simple informal walks across the site looking for important surface features, material scatters, or disturbances (i.e., looting) but did also involve more systematic coverage and even limited opportunistic material collection. The results of this work are presented in Chapter 5.

Informal pedestrian reconnaissance involved initial site visits in 2012-2014 as well as almost anytime team members crossed through the site during more intensive fieldwork (2015, 2016, 2018-19). Initially we used this informal technique to find the major sector boundaries - literally observing where material scatters began and ended on the surface. During our 2015 season we engaged in a more systematic survey technique at Cerro San Antonio. Following standard PAL survey practice, we would use teams of 5-10 people and pace-off in even intervals (depending on terrain, 10-20 meters apart), and then use basic compass headings to systematically walk transects over the site. The main goal of this systematic pedestrian survey was to define pre-modern occupations through locating and mapping material scatters on the surface¹¹³. When pre-modern materials or features were identified the team would then pace off

¹¹² We used an iPad with data-capabilities in the field - this allowed us to load multiple models in Litchi (which needs an internet connection) as well as edit flight plans if necessary.

¹¹³ We would estimate the density of surface materials (ceramics in particular) and features, but any nonculturally sterile surface was delineated as a sector.

from the find to determine if it was isolated or part of a more substantial material scatter. If found to be an articulated scatter, a perimeter would be defined and delimited using a handheld GPS (see below). Through this method we were able to complete 100% coverage of the site and delineate a detailed site map of sectors.

In addition, more specialized and focused systematic survey methods sought to define spatial distribution patterns of specific material types in specific loci. While a number of such studies were initiated, the only one that was completed and is reported on here is a systematic survey of the distribution of ground-stone lithic materials in Sector L. To conduct this survey an area was demarcated with pin-flags and systematically walked by a single crew member. This crew member identified every ground-stone lithic tool within the area, recording its location with a handheld GPS, photographing it, and finally recording several attributes, including its type within our developing typology. The typology and this survey are discussed in greater detail below (see Chapter 5 and Chapter 8).

While materials were not systematically collected in this mode of work, on occasion we would locate an important, diagnostic, or delicate item on the surface and collect it for preservation and future analysis. These materials, called "Spot Finds,"¹¹⁴ can be important for recording and preserving important artifacts that fall outside systematic surface collection or excavation units. However, to preserve *in situ* contexts for future research we would collect these spot finds sparingly, often deciding to photograph items in the field instead of collecting. Spot finds were recorded, photographed, or drawn in situ during the initial visits and 2015 PAL season, and collected in the 2016 and 2018-19 seasons.

All pedestrian reconnaissance work was guided using handheld GPS devices¹¹⁵. The handheld GPS units have up to three-meter accuracy and are sufficient for initial reconnaissance purposes. Waypoints were recorded to mark sector boundaries (see below),

¹¹⁴ When referring to these items in Spanish, we use the term "Especiales" or "Specials."

¹¹⁵ We used Garmin etrex x20 and Garmin etrex x30 for all survey work.

important features, and the location of spot finds. In addition, photos were also taken of all important contexts and finds for additional documentation.

Mapping

A third major mode of non-intrusive reconnaissance field work was mapping. Of course, mapping was important at almost every stage of field work and analysis, and it is discussed as it pertains to those specific tasks in each individual subsection. However, here I highlight some of the more important general procedures we followed in collecting spatial data and programs used in generating maps.

A variety of techniques and instruments were utilized for field mapping. Our most basic and ubiquitous instrument was a standard magnetic compass. Compasses were used for basic orientation during survey and mapping as well as for laying out initial units. We utilized handheld GPS units for most reconnaissance-based work - especially delineating the sector boundaries. Once an initial material scatter or feature was identified during reconnaissance a GPS waypoint was marked and a pin-flag was placed. Then, the survey crew would gather at that point and pace off (often in cardinal directions, but this depended on the terrain), placing another pin-flag once they covered approximately twenty meters without identifying any additional material or features. Once the basic extents of the sector were confidently identified, one team member would walk between the flags, marking GPS waypoints in 5–20-meter intervals. We also used handheld GPS units to map most perimeters of major surface features such as plazas, mounds, and looted tombs. However, in a few instances we used more detailed surface mapping instruments. In 2016 we used a traditional plane table mapping method, using an alidade, to map a few of the most badly looted cemetery sectors as well as a total station in 2018 for some mapping of the Tiwanaku domestic sectors.¹¹⁶ A final survey/mapping instrument we used was a

¹¹⁶ Both the alidade-plane table setup and Topcon GTS 102N Total Station were loaned by Dr. Paul Goldstein.

differential GPS¹¹⁷ - far more powerful than handheld GPS units, this instrument can provide accurate readings down to 1-3cm. The differential GPS was used during the initial portion of the 2018-19 season to shoot-in precise coordinates for: 1) previously excavated 2016 test excavation units (SW corner nail) and 2016 datums, 2) 2019 excavation units (initial SW corner nails) and their datums, and 3) permanent reference points in each major area of the site.

All of the mapping data collected for this project uses the Universal Transverse Mercator (UTM) system for assigning geographic map coordinates. In the zone-based system that defines UTM, Cerro San Antonio (L1) and the wider middle Locumba Valley fall into Zone: 19K (south). The UTM system relies on the 1984 World Geodetic System for all navigation standards (WGS 84) and uses a *northing* for its latitudinal (y) coordinate and an *easting* for its longitudinal (x) coordinate. In this text and throughout the figures the UTM northing and easting coordinates are often indicated simply by a *N* and *E*, followed by their respective coordinates. Different measuring and survey instruments produce different levels of accuracy in terms of these coordinates - for instance our handheld GPS units had an accuracy down to +/-3 meters whereas the differential GPS we used can get down to 1–3-centimeter accuracy. In the text and figures I always report the complete coordinate reading, whether it includes one decimal place or three. All coordinate and other measurements reported are metric. One final important mapping note, at this southern latitude the declination can be quite extreme¹¹⁸ and while most of our digital instruments were calibrated for this, we did have to make sure to set declinations on all standard compasses.

I also utilized a suite of digital mapping, or geographic information systems (GIS), programs for this project. As has already been noted, for initial pre-field mapping and planning we utilized open-source GoogleEarth as well as digital versions of the USDMA topographic

¹¹⁷ This Trimble DGPS unit was generously loaned for use by Dr. Donna Nash.

¹¹⁸ For our locality the average declination between 2015-2019 was 5.74° west of True North.

maps. However, once we were working with data collected in the field, we needed more advanced programs to manage and analyze the data. To manage waypoint data collected by handheld GPS units I mainly used ExpertGPS. While not open-source, this program is an extremely useful tool for organizing and displaying spatial data collected from handheld GPSs as well as converting waypoint data into a variety of other formats. For more advanced spatial analysis and mapping I have utilized Esri's ArcGIS, but eventually shifted to using QGIS - an open-source geographic-information-system platform that can complete the same functions as more expensive platforms. Using a combination of ExpertGPS and QGIS I have generated most of the final maps displayed in this thesis - including most of the kernel-density and heat maps presented in Section 2. Finally, to meet Peruvian Ministerio de Cultura requirement, all major maps have also been converted to AutoCAD.

One of the most important initial mapping tasks, especially pertaining to the systematic survey work at the site (described below), was implementing a site grid. Starting at the even UTM coordinate that fell closest to the southwestern-most corner of Cerro San Antonio's perimeter (N8051150 E313300), I developed a site grid composed of 50x50m units. Due to the irregular nature of the Cerro San Antonio (L1), some of the units in the broader grid fall outside the site perimeter and therefore were obviously not counted towards site units. Each unit was given an alpha-numeric unit name -beginning with 1A and ending with 31NN.

Systematic Surface Collection

One of the important intermediary modes of field work, between the non-intrusive reconnaissance and destructive techniques of excavation, is systematic survey, involving the collection of materials. This work was based exclusively off the site grid and was defined exclusively by surface collection units.

Surface Collection Units

We utilized the broader site grid (described above) to implement a systematic sampling strategy for our surface collection units. For this strategy, in every 50x50 meter (2500m²) unit of our general site grid we would collect the southwestern-most 10x10 meter (100m²) unit. This results in a 4% overall coverage of the sectors sampled.¹¹⁹ As time did not permit me to cover the entire site, I mostly targeted sectors deemed in reconnaissance to be affiliated with Middle Horizon period domestic occupations (Sector A, Sector L, Sector U).

My procedure for surface collection units would be to select site grid units that were to be sampled for that day and upload their southwest corner coordinates into handheld GPS units. We would then use the waypoint-finder function to locate the units in the field. The 10x10 meter units would be measured using 50-meter tape measures and standard compasses. Pin-flags would be placed in the corners and strings (or the 50m tapes) would be used to demarcate the unit boundaries. Then a team of 2-10 individuals would systematically walk the unit collecting all materials believed to be cultural in nature.¹²⁰ Materials were collected and sorted in the southwest corner of the unit. Even with the excellent organic material preservation of the area, the vast majority of surface materials encountered and collected were inorganic durable materials (in some units) and the overall number of surface collection units we completed, we only collected diagnostic artifacts.¹²¹ For ceramics this meant only collecting rims, bases, handles, and decorated sherds. Also, if we encountered multiple or extra-large lithic artifacts

¹¹⁹ This may seem rather small but the sectors targeted had very dense material deposits, in some cases a single unit resulted in thousands of individual artifacts. Also, this 4% coverage is comparable to other similar surface collections in the region (Goldstein 1989).

¹²⁰ This precise strategy would depend on the number of crew members, time of day (shadow), and the nature of the terrain/deposits.

¹²¹ This limited collection strategy is also meant to lessen the burden of storage on local Peruvian infrastructure.

(namely large ground stone tools, like *manos*) we would only collect an example specimen. However, even if not collected, all materials from collection units (including non-diagnostic ceramics) were analyzed and counted, weighed, and photographed, before being left in the field. 10x10m units that fell onto a steep slope or something of that nature were written off and marked as "not-collected."

Excavations

Excavations at Cerro San Antonio were conducted during two separate field seasons: 2016 and 2018-19 (Table 7). These excavations targeted sectors deemed to be both predominately domestic in function and Tiwanaku in cultural affiliation through initial reconnaissance and confirmed through systematic survey and surface collection. All excavations were conducted after the sector being sampled was fully mapped and systematic surface collection units were completed.

2016 Test Excavations

In 2016 we excavated five 2x2m² test units in Sector A at Cerro San Antonio (L1A) for a total of 20 square meters excavated. These excavations were used to determine the depth and complexity of deposits in Tiwanaku domestic occupations at Cerro San Antonio and help gauge the extent of our future excavations at the site. The locations of these five units were selected based on results from the systematic pedestrian survey and surface collection of the sector. Each unit was excavated by a separate team, composed of one supervisor and approximately three undergraduate students.

While locations for each unit had been preselected, units were located and placed using handheld GPS units. Once we had reached the approximate location of our preselected units, we would place a 10cm nail (blue-flagging). We would then take between 5-10 additional

handheld GPS waypoints on the nail - using the average of these waypoints as the official UTM for the southwest corner of the unit. As with our surface collection units, the southwest corner acted as the primary point of reference for all units as well as excavation areas and subareas (when possible).¹²² Additional flagged nails (orange-flagging) were placed at the final three two-meter intervals, using standard three-person measuring tape-compass triangulation methods.

Excavations followed standard archaeological procedures. Each 2x2m unit was excavated in one-meter quadrants until surface features indicated natural or cultural area divisions. Excavation levels were dictated by changes in sediment consistency and color as well as by materials and features encountered.¹²³ While level depths could vary, most levels did not exceed 5cm and many were as shallow as 1cm deep. Standard Marshalltown trowels (pointing, 5 x 2.5" blade) and broad, fine-bristle brushes were used for most sediment removal. The fine-grained nature of most sediments encountered mandated that sediments were swept directly into dustpans and removed immediately, otherwise the sediments often scattered and smeared, masking important features. Any materials or architectural features which appeared to be close to locations of original deposits were left in situ until they could be photographed and mapped. All features were first bisected (when possible), so internal feature profiles could be documented. Excavations were considered complete when culturally sterile deposits were reached.¹²⁴

Excavated sediment would be piled into buckets, with each bucket filled to a marked fillline, ensuring each bucket held approximately the same volume - 10 liters. All removed

¹²² Unlike our systematic surface collection units, the location of our excavation units did not (and were not intended to) align with even intervals in the broader UTM-based site grid.

¹²³ Standard geological terms were used for sediment descriptions with Munsell color charts being used to determine color of sediments and other deposits.

¹²⁴ In most units a 1m² sounding unit was excavated down between 25-75cm in order to confirm no deeper deposits were present.

sediments were sifted through 1/4" wood-framed screens, with contexts deemed to be near occupational floors ("*superpiso*") and features sifted through fine-screen mesh (~ 1mm screen). All materials collected were put into bags for post-field sorting. Materials mapped as in situ spot finds were bagged separately.

Once an entire unit reached the base of an excavated level, the unit would be photographed and mapped. Local datums were used for elevations.¹²⁵ For subarea mapping nomenclature we used lower-case lettering for initial quadrants (e.g., *quad. c*), upper-case lettering for formal subareas (e.g., *Area B*), and features received sequential numbers for each unit (e.g. *Rasgo 2*). Once completed profiles were mapped for all unit profiles. Every excavated context received an individual field form which documented all pertinent context info (See Appendix XX). Photos were also taken of every context, including overhead photos at the base of every major excavation level.

2018-19 Household Excavations

The scope of excavations during the 2018-19 season were far greater than the test excavations of 2016 and therefore our approach was also quite different. However, for continuity we attempted to follow similar procedures to those outlined above, when possible. In total, five excavation blocks were completed in the 2018-19 season - two in Sector A (L1A), two in Sector L (L1L), and one in Sector U (L1U), totaling 176 square meters of excavated area. Almost all 2018-19 excavations were completed by myself and a single trained volunteer.

My overarching strategy for these excavations conform to what has become an archetypal set of archaeological techniques and perspectives, known collectively as *household archeology* (Parker and Foster 2012). As detailed above (see 1.2), my theoretical formulation of

¹²⁵ We used 1/2" iron rebar, set ~30cm into the ground for three of our datums (Datums: L1A-1, L1A-2, L1A-4), and marked points on large boulders for the other two (L1A-3, L1A-5). UTM and elevations were first ascertained by the handheld GPS triangulation method described above and were later shot in using a differential GPS.

the social unit of household differs slightly from many of the traditional definitions that have guided the household archeology approach. However, the fundamental field sampling strategies, first outlined in household archeology studies, were central to my approach in the 2018-19 excavations.

In addition to turning the gaze of archeology away from the sacred precincts of exclusive temples and breathtaking offerings of elite burials and towards the domestic contexts that defined everyday life for past populations, this change in perspective came with a set of approaches for how to best delineate these domestic contexts; namely exposing complete domestic structures along with their associated features through wide-area excavations. The goal of these wide-area excavations is to expose spatially associated clusters of materials which through various analytic techniques (described below in 3.3), can be hypothesized to represent possible domestic *activity areas* (Kent 1990).

To expose complete activity areas, the final area of excavations in the 2018-19 season were determined by the nature of deposits and associated features we encountered and as such were often not regular in dimensions. Therefore, I often refer to these individual excavation locations as *excavation blocks* here in the text, but they still often appear as *excavation units* in figures, tables and supplemental materials. Excavation blocks were initiated as 4x4m units, composed of four 2x2m quadrants (labeled a-d). These 2x2m quadrants served as the initial excavation subareas unless visible architectural features on the surface dictated otherwise. The initial 4x4m units would be expanded in 2x2m unit expansion units; again, depending on what was encountered. The location of the initial 4x4m units were determined by varying criteria - depending on the sector being sampled. Most units were selected to further expose architectural elements already visible on the surface. These were often segments of wall foundations and the base of posts. However, locations for units in Sector A also worked to expand a few of the more promising test excavations opened in 2016. Once selected the unit locations were marked by a flagged nail (orange-flagging) - this nail served as the southwest

corner of the initial 4x4m unit (quad. a). These excavation block southwest corner nails were shot-in using a differential GPS unit which provided UTM information with sub-meter accuracy. Additional flagged nails (orange-flagging) were placed at all two-meter intervals in the initial 4x4m units and in the corners of all 2x2m expansion units, using standard three-person measuring tape-compass triangulation methods. Additional unit nails (yellow-flagging) were placed a one-meter intervals once the first occupational levels (*superpiso*) were encountered.

As with the 2016 test excavations, all 2018-19 excavations followed standard archaeological procedures. Each 4x4m unit was excavated in two-meter quadrants until surface features indicated less arbitrary unit subarea divisions.¹²⁶ Initial 2x2m units (and when possible subsequent expansion 2x2m units) were first excavated in an alternating checkerboard pattern in order to preserve profiles for inspection. Excavation levels were dictated by changes in sediment consistency and color as well as by materials and features encountered. While level depths could vary, most levels did not exceed 5cm and many were as shallow as 1cm deep. Standard Marshalltown trowels (pointing, 5 x 2.5" blade) and broad, fine-bristle brushes were used for most sediment removal. The fine-grained nature of most sediments encountered mandated that sediments were swept directly into dustpans and removed immediately, otherwise the sediments often scattered and smeared, masking important features. Any materials or architectural features which appeared to be close to locations of original deposits were left in situ until they could be photographed and mapped. All features were first bisected (when possible), so internal feature profiles could be documented.

Excavated sediment from all 2018-19 contexts would be piled into buckets, with each bucket filled to a marked fill-line, ensuring each bucket held approximately the same volume - 5 liters. All excavated contexts were sifted through fine-screen mesh (~ 1mm screen). All materials collected were put into bags for post-field sorting. Materials mapped as in situ spot

¹²⁶ Level 1 in every 2x2m unit was treated as a surface collection unit (*superficie*) - after being photographed and mapped, all materials visible on the surface were collected.

finds were bagged separately. However, because these excavations were completed by a team of just me and a single volunteer we were able to control the rate of work-flow and achieve far more detailed contextual control in 2018-19. For levels deemed to be on or near occupational surfaces architectural areas were further subdivided, often based on cardinal directions (i.e., Area A - South, Area E - Southeast), in addition to the use of arbitrary 1x1 meter superpiso subunits for extra contextual control. In fact, areas deemed particularly well preserved, the location of every bucket removed on sketch maps; in some instances, providing the location of material concentrations down to 10cm²¹²⁷. All context information collected in the field was recorded directly on field forms as well as in personal notebooks.

Detailed plan maps would be drawn once each area and subarea reached the base of an excavation level. Elevations were measured from local datums,¹²⁸ which were also shot-in using a differential GPS. We used the same nomenclature as 2016 for naming/mapping areas and subareas - with initial 2x2m quadrants labeled with lower-case lettering (e.g., *quad. c*). All 2x2m units used to expand excavation blocks were considered amplifications of the four quadrant units of the initial 4x4m unit and were labeled as such (e.g., *quad. d AMP SW2*). Upper-case lettering was used for formal architectural areas once encountered (e.g., *Area F*). If rooms or other architectural areas were expanded on the expansion would be labeled using cardinal directions (e.g., *Area B EXT W*) and if the final area proved to be larger than approximately 2x2 meters then they were permanently divided into subareas, also labeled using cardinal directs (e.g., *Area D-SW* or *Area A-S*). All features received sequential numbers for each unit (e.g., *Rasgo 2*). Once completed profiles were mapped for all unit profiles. Every excavated context received an individual field form which documented all pertinent context info

¹²⁷ Materials were sorted and recorded in the field as separate bucket lots, but were ultimately cataloged together by area/subarea.

¹²⁸ We used 1/2" iron rebar for all new datums set and used for the 2018-19 excavation blocks (Datums: L1A-6, L1A-7, L1L-1, L1L-2, L1L-3, L1L-4, L1U-1).

(See Appendix 3).

In addition to hand drawn maps and profiles, every context was documented extensively through photography. Aerial overhead photos were taken at the base of every major excavation level using the DJI Mavic Pro drone described above. These aerial photos would include a series of shots of the entire unit block (often between 20-30 meters above ground surface) from 90° as well as a series of lower altitude (often between 2-10 meters above ground surface) 90° detail shots. Also using the drone, we would take a series of angled (~45°) aerial unit photos in-the-round which would document profiles and the other three-dimensional aspects of the context. We would also document all contexts, both completed and in-process, using traditional handheld cameras.¹²⁹ In addition to providing essential visual documentation of our excavated contexts we also used these photos for three-dimensional modeling.

Locus Number

Every individual context, no matter the way it was encountered or investigated, was given a locus number. This includes major sectors as wells as individual spot finds. This unique number is used to index each individual context in our relation database as additional analysis.

Material Analysis

All materials collected during field work underwent some form of analysis. The extent and form this analysis took depended on the material category that was being analyzed. Here, I outline the strategies and techniques I employed in analyzing these materials. Almost all of this analysis is considered preliminary as there is still a significant amount of data each of these material types can produce given more time and more analysis. Some materials, like ceramics, underwent multiple stages of analysis and documentation, and others, like camelid coprolites,

¹²⁹ Our standard field camera was a Panasonic Lumix DC-FZ80

were only subject to basic counts and weights. I provide basic descriptions of these analyses below, but to avoid redundancies, I supply more methodological detail in conjunction with the results (see Chapter 7). However, whatever the material type, initial analysis always involved cleaning the artifacts and preparing them for long-term storage - these procedures are also described as they pertain to each material category below. The results from all material analyses described below can be found in Section 2 (Chapter 7).

Initial Sorting & Specimen Numbers

No matter the collection style (spot find, systematic surface collection, or excavation¹³⁰) all materials were sorted into the same major material types, largely dependent on the majority composition of the object. While these material types are described in some detail below as well as in Section 2, it is important to note that we utilized 16 material types in our initial sorting. These 16 material types, can be usefully divided into four broad material classes, as illustrated below.

¹³⁰ As described above, all the materials collected via excavation methods were collected from sifted sediment - these screen sizes ranged from ¼ inch to 1 millimeter, depending on the year and context - therefore all materials discussed here are considered macro-materials.

Table 8. The 16 material types into which all materials collected in the field were sorted. These types are organized into four broad material classes: Artifacts, Ecofacts, Samples, and Human Remains.

ARTIFACTS		ECOFACT	5	SAMPLE	<u>s</u>	<u>HUMAN</u> <u>REMAINS</u>	
CERAMIC	Any material made from fired-ceramic technology - ceramic vessels	FAUNA - HARD	Any remains deriving from animals (vertebrates and invertebrates), composed of largely durable and even inorganic materials (bone, shell)	ARCHITECTURE	Sample collected composed of architecture materials (adobe brick fragments)	HUMAN REMAINS	Any remains deriving from humans (bone, hair)
LITHIC - FLAKED	Any stone object made through percussive- reductive technology	FAUNA - SOFT	Any remains deriving from animals, composed of largely soft organic material (coprolites, fur, skin)	MINERAL	Sample of an inorganic mineral (or other substance)		
LITHIC - GROUND	Any stone object made through grinding- reductive technology	BOTANICS	Any remains belonging to any plant species.	SOIL SAMPLE	Unsifted sample of sediment collected from excavated contexts for micro- and other future analysis		
TEXTILE	Fabrics and any other objects derived from natural fibers (wool, cotton)			C14	Sample collected specifically for carbon-dating purposes		
BASKETRY	Any object made from vegetable-fiber materials						
METAL	Objects made from any form of metal						
BEADS	Perforated materials used for adornment and other decorative purposes – made from a variety of materials (stone, shell, bone)						
ARTIFACTS	Includes any finished tools or multi-material, composite object.						

The *Artifact* material class contains material types that represent clear human-made or manipulated materials. The *Ecofact* material class represents any material types deriving from plants or animals (both human-influenced and naturally occurring). The *Samples* material class represent subsamples of more substantial deposits encountered in the field - these are often collected for future analysis. Finally, *Human Remains*, or any remains deriving from the human body, represents its own material class.

The cataloging system for recording these material types was based on a *Specimen Number*. For every specific context we documented, all encountered materials would be grouped into one of the material types and then assigned a specimen number.¹³¹ Therefore, sometimes a specimen number only represents a single ceramic sherd and other times it represents a bag of over 1000 sherds. The specimen log is a sequential list onto which all material types were recorded - no matter the collection method (spot finds, surface collection, excavation)¹³². A specimen number from Cerro San Antonio is always prefaced by the site number, L1 (i.e., L1=3124). Every specimen logged would receive a tag, including the specimen number and essential context information.

Ceramics

The material type Ceramic received some of the most intensive post-field analysis. This took the form of a multi-stage sorting and documentation process. While several complete ceramic vessels were recovered in almost every mode of field work, most Ceramic specimens are sherds (fragments of ceramic vessels). I have relied on multiple texts and studies to form my

¹³¹ Note: each material type (i.e., Ceramic, Textile, Botanic, etc.) would receive a specimen number not the broader material classes.

 $^{^{132}}$ We did decide to begin the different collection methods at different stages of the list. Spot find specimens begin at L1=1, systematic surface collection specimens begin at L1=2000, and excavation specimens begin at L1=3000. While these will eventually merge, it was an easy way to avoid confusion while conducting different tasks in the field.

general ceramic documentation and analysis strategies (Rice 1996a, 1996b; Sinopoli 1991).

However, before conducting any analysis, ceramic sherds had to be thoroughly soaked, washed, and dried. The high salinity of local sediments required that sherds soaked for up to 48 hours to leech out these minerals. The sherds would soak in plastic basins, with the water changed once every 24 hours, and scrubbed with toothbrushes to clean away all non-ceramic materials. Then sherds would be dried in the sun in shallow plastic baskets.¹³³

The first stage of analysis for all Ceramic specimens was to sort by *cultural-temporal affiliation*. Of course, sometimes isolated sherds or non-diagnostic body sherds were not possible to assign confidently to a cultural-temporal affiliation. However, prehistoric ceramic styles were distinct enough in this region, that the majority of ceramic sherds received a broad cultural-temporal affiliation. Also, because the present study targeted sectors believed to have had Tiwanaku domestic affiliations, the majority of the ceramics discussed here fall within the broader Middle Horizon period ceramic stylistic suite.

The second stage of analysis, the *ware analysis*, was only conducted on ceramics deemed to be affiliated with Tiwanaku contexts. In this case a ware refers to a constellation of features, largely centered on the technological approach used to create the vessel and the overall appearance of the final product (e.g., overall composition, firing technique, and finishing style), that can allow ceramics to by sorted into broad categories. For the case of Tiwanaku, there are three broad ware types, into which almost all ceramic vessels can be sorted: Plainware, Redware, and Blackware¹³⁴.

The third stage of analysis for all Ceramic specimens was to sort sherds into groups of *diagnostic vs. non-diagnostic*. Diagnostic sherds refer to any sherd including elements that can

¹³³ I used a color-coded system - matching colors of soaking-basins, drying-baskets, and plastic clips used to attach specimen tags - to avoid any confusion, when washing high volumes of sherds.

¹³⁴ These ware types are almost always referred to by their Spanish equivalent: *Llana*, *Rojo*, *Negro*.

identify a vessel's primary form (primarily rims, bases, and handles) as well as any sherd that includes decoration (paint, modeling). Non-diagnostic sherds are almost entirely composed of body sherds from plainware vessels. As noted above, during excavation both diagnostic and non-diagnostic sherds were collected, but only diagnostic sherds were collected in surface collection contexts.

The fourth stage of ceramic analysis was only completed for ceramics collected via excavation.¹³⁵ During this stage of analysis a variety of attributes of each diagnostic sherd was documented, including maximum/minimum dimensions, weight, modifications, and decoration motifs. A standard vessel diameter chart was used to measure rim/base dimensions of sherds. For Plainware rim sherds I took an additional metric of rim type (described in Chapter *8.1*). For decorated sherds, the motifs and paints used would be described, recoded, and coded. Even non-diagnostic sherds were weighed, with ranges for thickness and other dimensions recorded. The other primary goal of diagnostic analysis was to determine the form of the vessel each sherd belonged to. As with cultural-temporal affiliation, here I relied on information compiled from other studies in the region to determine the most likely forms and motifs represented by sherds (Alconini 1995; Augustine 2019; Goldstein 1985; Janusek 2003; Owen 1993; Rivera Casanovas 2003; Uribe Rodríguez 1999).

A fifth and preliminary stage of analysis was a more detailed, *visual paste analysis*¹³⁶. Time did not permit a comprehensive, sherd-by-sherd paste analysis, so we selectively subsampled all excavated and surface collected sherds to report the major paste types reported here. These types are considered preliminary and working to both confirm and clarify these is one of the next major steps in this project.

¹³⁵ I had hoped to complete diagnostic analysis for ceramic specimens collected during systematic surface collection but did not have time to complete and included here.

¹³⁶ We used both handheld magnifiers and a digital microscope for this analysis.

While all diagnostic sherds were documented through photography, a subset of important sherds went through the additional process of illustration. These often included decorated Redware sherds that include complete or previously unknown motifs and decoration styles. These sherds would be drawn in profile and in plan view and later digitally traced and shaded.

As noted above, while the vast majority of ceramic specimens collected for this project were sherds, we did encounter and collect a number of complete or near-complete vessels.¹³⁷ These were treated much as any diagnostic sherds - they were photographed and when pertinent roll-out tracings were made of motifs.

All Ceramic specimens were bagged and tagged and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

Lithics

As a general term lithics refer to any object, made from stone, modified by humans. Like ceramics, lithics, are some of the most ubiquitous material types in the archaeological record, and as such, there are many texts to choose from for lithic analysis. I have drawn on a number of these, especially lithic-based studies conducted in the Andes. Here, lithics actually constitute two separate material types: Lithic-Flaked and Lithic-Ground.

Lithic-Flaked. Flake-stone materials are any stone object made by percussive or impact-based methods or technology. Most prehistoric populations used a combination of percussion-flaking (i.e., using a hammer stone to knap flakes from a core) as well as pressure-flaking (i.e., using bone or antler to chip off small flakes by applying direct and sustained pressure). As such, after cleaning these artifacts, the first step of analysis was to group them into three primary categories based on this production: tools, debitage, and hammer stones.

¹³⁷ I was able to photograph and document a number of vessels captured from looters in 2015 as well as a few vessels held and displayed by the local Villa Locumba municipality.

Tools were any flaked-stone object (or fragment) that represents a final product or a tool in the state of manufacture. Tools would be grouped by tool type (e.g., projectile point, hoe, scraper etc.) - each would be photographed, measured, and weighed. Debitage represents any byproduct of lithic tool manufacture that was not later reused for any purpose. Debitage was split into two general categories - flakes and cores. These would be counted, based on raw material type and photographed. Hammer stones were simply weighed and measured.

While a few of the more delicate projectile points we recovered were given an extra layer of plastic wrapping all Lithic-Flaked specimens were bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

Lithic-Ground. Ground-stone materials are any stone object made by a grindingreductive method or technology. These ground-stone objects can be tools that are produced through grinding and then used for another purpose (e.g., ax, *bola*-stone). However, many ground-stone tools are tools made through grinding that are then in turn used for grindingrelated purposes (e.g., *manos* and *metates*) - most of the specimens documented here fall into this latter category. This method of stone tool manufacture does not generally create the debitage that flaked-stone technology does, so for the most part Lithic-Ground materials were generally completed tools that were simply cleaned, photographed, and weighed. One exception was the tool-type, *mano* - because these were so common and variable, we utilized some comparative studies to develop a typology for our collections at L1. It is also important to note, due to their size and weight, several Lithic-Ground specimens were documented but ultimately left in the field.

All Lithic-Ground specimens were bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

Textiles

The Textile specimen material type includes any form of fabric (woven or otherwise)

composed of natural fibers (wool or cotton) as well as loose threads, twisted cords, and un-spun fibers. In many parts of the world, including in much of the Andes, the remains of textiles from archaeological contexts are exceedingly rare. While we often only recover small fragments, our relatively robust Textile specimen collection, make this one of the more important material types reported on here. Of course, as the basis for much of clothing and many other useful implements, textiles have long been one of the most important material technologies for humans. However, in many parts of the ancient Andes clothing, textiles and the art of weaving took on particularly potent cultural significance. As with the other material types noted here, the social significance of textiles is discussed in greater detail elsewhere in this thesis, however because of this central importance in Andean society, there are a wide-array of texts to draw on in shaping our textile analysis (Arnold and Espejo 2015; Cason and Cahlander 1976; Oakland 1992; Plunger 2009).

The initial sorting involved in textile analysis was to separate the articulated fragments of fabric from the other textile-related materials. Fragments of textiles would be carefully cleaned using air bulbs and fine-bristled brushes. Textile fragments would be sorted into rough categories of *course* and *fine* - referring to the overall style of weave and the weight of the threads used. Analysis would begin by attempting to locate diagnostic indicators on the fragment (border/selvage, decoration, etc.) to help identify what the fabric may have been used for (clothing, bag, etc.). We would document basic attributes of the fabric - material used/color of threads in both the weft and the warp, any design/motif present, and the weight. We also collected more textile-specific attributes, including thread counts and basic spin/ply observations. All textiles/fabric fragments were photographed, wrapped in acid-free paper, bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage. A few of the more complete or delicate textile fragment specimens were given an additional layer of wrapping and given their own small boxes for protection.

Other Textile specimens were sorted based on overall function and raw material. Most of

these materials were byproducts of textile manufacture, repair, or simply parts of formally woven fabrics. The most common materials in this category were twisted cords (2-5-ply), individual thread fragments, and raw wool and cotton fibers (in various states of spinning). Basic attributes of each would be recorded, including count, weight, color, and raw material. These items would be photographed, bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

Basketry

Here the material type of Basketry refers to any objects made from vegetable fiber - this of course includes baskets (woven, vegetable-fiber containers) but also included several different types of twisted vegetable-fiber cord and rope. These materials were treated similar to textiles. They were carefully dry-cleaned used brushes and air-bulbs. The specimens would be divided into basketry fragments and cord/rope. Basket fragments would receive similar attribute analysis as the textile fabric fragments - including color, raw materials, and construction method. We used a few different sources to assist with the proper terminology for basket weaving in the Andes and throughout the ancient world. All Basketry specimens were photographed. For vegetable-fiber cord and rope we would record the weight as well as the ply. Most Basketry specimens were wrapped in acid-free paper, bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

Metal

Metal specimens include any object made of metal. This included both finished objects, debitage, and other fragments. All metal items were cleaned by dry-brushing, counted, weighed, and raw material determined. We used a variety of local metallurgical studies to determine the form and function of any metal objects. All metal items were photographed. All metal items were wrapped in acid-free paper, bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-

term storage.

Beads

The Bead material type includes all perforated objects meant for adornment or decoration. If needed, beads would be cleaned by dry-brushing. While there were exceptions, most beads recovered at Cerro San Antonio were quite small; the majority falling into the general seed bead size-range. However, all beads were still measured and weighed. In addition, the color and raw material were determined. All Bead specimens were wrapped in acid-free paper, bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

Artifacts

The Artifact specimen type includes the widest array of objects and materials. For the most part, the Artifact material type designated objects made from a variety of materials that were unique, completed tools (e.g., a wooden spoon, a cactus-spine needle, or a fragment of a leather sandal). Artifact specimens were also sometimes multi-material composite objects (a ceramic spindle whirl with wool thread still attached or feather adornments with leather bindings). Because each of these objects were unique the method of cleaning, cataloging, analysis, and storage was different for each and is discussed more with the results (Chapter 7). However, all Artifact specimens were weighed with major attributes documented. All Artifacts were photographed and wrapped in acid-free paper, bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

Fauna

Here, the Fauna material category refers to an recovered materials that represent byproducts of animals - both vertebrates (e.g. mammals, birds, fish) and invertebrates (e.g.

mollusks, crustaceans). Zooarchaeology, or the study of animal remains from the archaeological record (Reitz, et al. 1999), is a robust specialization and I only scratched the surface in terms of the analysis we were able to complete on our faunal materials. I drew on both general texts as well as more regionally specific studies in developing my strategy outlined here. The broader category of Fauna was separated into two material types: Fauna-Hard and Fauna-Soft (described below)¹³⁸.

Fauna-Hard. Materials which fall into this material type are animal remains composed of durable organic and some inorganic (mineral agglomerations) materials. The first step of post-field analysis for Fauna materials was to sort the remains by overall material type - the most common at L1 were animal bone, marine shell, crustacean exoskeleton, terrestrial land-snail shell, and coral. When possible, I would further sort these groups into more specific taxonomic groups (i.e., *order*, if not *genus* and *species*). Again, while time and resources did not permit me to conduct more advanced zooarchaeological analysis (MNI calculation, bone measurements, age, sex etc.), I was able to record basic counts and weights for all individual types, effectively calculating accurate NISP. Finally, for certain specific types, for example camelid bone, I completed additional sorting and recorded additional metrics (see 8.7). Only a limited number of unique or complete Fauna-Hard specimens were photographed, but all were bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

Fauna-Soft. This material type is composed of animal remains or byproducts composed of largely softer organic materials. These organic materials could include animal remains (fur, skin, feathers), but also included organic animal byproducts - namely dried animal dung.¹³⁹ For the most part analysis of Fauna-Soft materials only involved the recording of counts, weights,

¹³⁸ It should be noted that in a number of places (particularly the master Specimen List and field forms), Fauna-Hard materials are often simply referred to as Fauna and Fauna-Soft materials are referenced as Organics.

¹³⁹ These are not technically coprolites as they are simply preserved from dehydration as opposed to being fossilized.

and other basic attributes when pertinent (color, etc.). These materials were simply bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

Botanics

Materials falling into the Botanic material type were simply any and all plant remains (including any carbonized remains and charcoal). Paleoethnobotany is another robust specialization within archaeological studies and I drew on a number of general texts as well as more Andean-specific texts for my overall methodological strategy. Due of the excellent preservation conditions in Locumba, uncarbonized Botanic materials were ubiquitous and often quite dense, providing an extensive botanic collection. Like all materials the Botanic specimens were largely considered macrobotanical remains. However, during our 2018-19 field work we utilized a fine-screen (1mm mesh) to sift all excavated contexts and systematically sorted the heavy fraction - this method revealed seeds often only recovered through microanalysis (e.g. *quinoa* seeds), which are also included in the general Botanics category. While some larger Botanic specimens (like maize cobs) were cleaned by dry brushing, due to their delicate nature, most Botanic specimens were lightly cleaned with an airbulb.

Analysis of Botanic specimens would begin with sorting the remains into as specific of groups as possible - sometimes these would be general (e.g., wood) others were groups were specific to the species (e.g. *Zea mays*). For plant identification, especially of domesticates, I utilized a locally compiled comparative collection¹⁴⁰ as well as several reference texts. After sorting each group would be counted, weighed, and any other pertinent attributes documented. Unique, complete, or unidentifiable fragments were photographed for future reference. All Botanic specimens were bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

¹⁴⁰ This comparative collection was compiled by Giacomo Gaggio and was used with his permission.

Soil Samples & Microanalysis

Soil Samples refers to samples of unsifted sediment from important excavated contexts and represents the most common form of material subsampling employed on this project. For every individual floor context, feature, or other important context excavated we removed an unsifted sample of sediment for micro and other future analyses. During excavation we would use a standard plastic measuring cup to remove the sample - emptying directly into the material bag. While there are a few exceptions, the standard soil sample size was 1 liter for our 2016 test excavations and 0.5 liter for our 2018-19 excavations.

The primary form of secondary analysis conducted on these samples was standard micro-sorting, via a digital microscope. While the primary focus of this microanalysis was microbotanical remains, all non-naturally occurring sediments were sorted, counted and weighed¹⁴¹. Due to the hyperaridity of the region and the general lack of organic-based soils at Cerro San Antonio, general flotation or wet-screening was not necessary to process our samples¹⁴². Instead, the soil sample would be sifted through series of geological screens (2mm, 1mm, 0.5mm, and 0.2mm) - each size-grade being bagged separately. Each size-grade would then be sorted with all remains separated individually. Most important microbotanic and microfaunal finds were counted and weighed and eventually stored in glass vials for future analysis and long-term-storage.

Other Samples

While soil samples were our primary form of subsampling material analysis a few other,

¹⁴¹ All microbotanical analysis was conducted by Ariana Garvin and while some of the more significant findings are reported here, more detailed results can be found in her MA Thesis (Garvin 2021).

¹⁴² While studies have compared and debated the effectiveness dry vs. wet methods of processing soil samples (Chiou et al. 2013), we found that the risk of damaging microbotanical specimens from wet-screening is not worth the risk.

much more limited sampling material types do exist. These often involved sampling locally occurring minerals or extremely dense or large cultural deposits or elements that could not feasibly be collected. These are described below.

Architecture. These specimens were defined as permanent or large architectural elements that could not be collected or had to remain in situ. In the case of my investigations at L1, the only material to be classified in this material type were fragments of sun-dried adobe bricks. While we could not recover any complete bricks, we collected samples for future compositional analysis. All Architecture sample specimens were bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

Mineral. The sample material type of Mineral included largely naturally occurring minerals and other geological deposits. These could be concentrations or deposits (e.g., calcium-carbonate deposit, volcanic ash lens) or simply a reoccurring element from the broader excavated matrix that we wanted for future reference. The nature of the deposit and the specific material would determine exactly how much of the specimen was collected and how it was cleaned and analyzed. However, all Mineral specimens were bagged, tagged, and stored in boxes for future analysis and long-term storage.

C14. C14 samples refer to specimens, of a variety of carbon-based organic material, collected specifically for future export to the United States for radiocarbon dating analysis. Most specimens that have been selected for radiocarbon dating were selected from other material specimen types (e.g., Botanics). However, a few specimens, encountered in the field were deemed ideal for this form of analysis and were specimened as C14. These samples were carefully removed from their in-situ context and immediately either deposited in a sealable whirl-pack bag or wrapped in tinfoil and bagged.

Human Remains

Any remains deriving directly from the human body constituted their own material type,

Human Remains. While most work at Cerro San Antonio targeted non-mortuary contexts we did work to document and sometimes sample Human Remains from looted cemetery contexts. With the exception of a few Human Remains specimens recovered from excavated contexts, the vast majority were collected as spot finds and therefore did not need to be sorted. Most Human Remains specimens were human bone. These were carefully dry brushed for cleaning. Age and sex of the represented individual were determined when possible and all Human Remains were photographed. The primary purpose for collecting human bone was for eventual export to the United States for various stable-isotope analyses.

4.2 Analysis & Interpretation: middle-range frameworks

Here I discuss the data processing, analysis, and interpretive strategies into which I synthesize the data collected through the methods described above. These are effectively the middle-range methods I utilize to connect the data collected in the field and lab to the theoretical models I described in Chapter 1. Here I explain how my ecological approach to communities can be operationalized into a set of strategies for engaging the archaeological record at multiple scales. Each scale relies on network approaches, which range from the use for formal network approaches (FNA) derived from mathematics to more humanistic network approaches (HNA) which applying a network perspective to help visualize anthropological interpretation.

Approaching Complexity with Networks

From the broader environment in which they are living to the social hierarchy they are resisting or the thoughts they are thinking, complexity and complex adaptive systems permeate every aspect of the human experience. As outlined in Chapter 1, while the mode in which complex systems manifest are extremely varied, they tend to share a number of properties at both the operational level (dynamics) and at the organizational level (see Table 1). One of the

most critical characteristics of complex systems, that effects both the dynamics and organization, is that the agents or components of the system are interconnected - their actions have some impact to other agents as well as to the emergent properties of the system as a whole. While the processes of *feedback* and *self-organized criticality* explain some of the dynamics by which this interconnectivity plays out, it is through *networks* that complex systems organization is best visualized and understood (Mitchell 2009:227-273).

In the simplest sense, a network is defined as a set of items with connections or ties (Newman 2018; Watts 2004). What these items are and how these connections are defined can vary wildly. However, standard networks are always composed of two primary elements - nodes and links. *Nodes*, often called vertices, represent the agents or components of a system. *Links*, also called edges, represent the connections between the nodes. While links can represent almost any type of connection, they tend to fall into four primary categories - interactions, relations, flows, and node similarities (Borgatti, et al. 2009). Links can also be categorized based on their temporal nature. *State-types* represent sustained (not necessarily permanent) connections and *event-type* network connections represent discrete interactions, whether reoccurring, sequential, or merely ephemeral (Borgatti and Halgin 2011:1170). As will be elaborated on below, utilizing networks have numerous methodological advantages, that are thoroughly reviewed in several works (Brughmans 2010, 2013; Knappett 2011; Peeples 2019), but there are four points that are particularly relevant to archaeological data: 1) Networks are relational by nature - they help avoid simplified, reductionist strategies, 2) Networks are also spatial in nature - they assist in identifying the topology of systems, 3) Networks are effective at articulating various scales of phenomena and analysis, 4) Networks can incorporate both physical things and abstract ideas, as well as people and objects (Knappett 2011:57-58).

The use of networks in social scientific research has an extensive past with a number of starts and re-imaginings (Newman, et al. 2006). Even within archeology network approaches have a relatively extensive and varied past, and while I cannot provide an exhaustive review of

the history of network approaches here (see Brughmans 2010, 2013; Collar, et al. 2015; Knappett 2011; Peeples 2019), a few anchoring contextual points should be made about some of the leading methodological frameworks built around networks. There are a number of ways in which network approaches can be lumped or split, however following others (see Braswell 2019; Van Oyen 2015), I find it most useful to separate network approaches into two broad camps: Formal Network Approaches and Humanistic Network Approaches. Rooted in graph theory and computational mathematics, Formal Network Approaches offer robust methods for quantifying what are often thought to be fundamentally qualitative phenomena. Conversely, Humanistic Network Approaches tend to utilize network visualization to illustrate the qualitative messiness of what are often assumed to be straight-forward quantifiable phenomena. For this current study I attempt to draw on methods developed in both camps and highlight some of their more foundational threads.

Formal Network Approaches

Formal Network Approaches (*FNA*) are extremely varied and can be traced back into the history of mathematics as an offshoot of graph theory (Barnes and Harary 1983). However, FNA became particularly useful for the social sciences with the development of *Social Network Analysis* (*SNA*). Emerging from the development of the *sociograph* (Moreno 1937), SNA would eventually provide the basis for some of the most powerful quantitative and computational approaches to social analysis (Freeman 2000; Wasserman and Faust 1994). Nodes in SNA network studies can be individuals, communities, or institutions, but always represent fundamentally human social units.

Critical for my network approach is that SNA (and many other FNA) utilize community as a fundamental concept (Coscia, et al. 2011; Leicht and Newman 2008; Mucha, et al. 2009). In these models community is defined by *clustering* or modularity, that is nodes who share closer links with each other (within the community) than they do with others (outside the community)

(Coscia, et al. 2011:512). There are numerous ways that this community-based network clustering can be defined (Newman 2006), but some of the most common include: 1) density-based definitions = node in the community share more links, 2) node similarity-based definitions = nodes share common attributes, 3) action-based definitions = nodes perform similar actions within the network, 4) influence propagation-based definitions = nodes act in similar way based on actions of a lead node (Coscia, et al. 2011:514-515). Understanding the dynamics of how both individual nodes interact within communities as well has how community clusters interact, is one of the most important areas of study for SNA and essential for understanding how broader social-based complex systems evolve and persist through time.

One of the first and still most significant SNA models, termed *the strength of weak ties* (Granovetter 1977), provided foundational discoveries regarding both inter- and intra-community dynamics (see Figure 26). The first premise is that intra-community structure is defined by node similarity and the likelihood that if one node (A) shares very strong ties with a second node (B), and that node (B) shares strong ties with an additional node (C), then node A and node C are likely to share at least a weak tie. A second premise further emphasizes the importance of weak ties by arguing that the important binding ties between community clusters are likely defined by weak ties (Granovetter 1983:200-203). These inter-community connections represent essential sources of novel information (or whatever the links represent in the network) and often the origin of major network transformations.



Figure 26. Visualization of the strength of weak ties and structural hole theory in social networks.

Taken together these premises suggest that communities with an abundance of strong ties tend to have strong local cohesion but weak global cohesion whereas communities defined by more weak ties will have much stronger global cohesion (Granovetter 1983). This results in a somewhat counterintuitive notion when it comes to social contexts - communities defined by weak ties often have more social capital to act within the broader network as well as more resilience to collapse. Building directly on this idea was *structural hole theory* (Burt 1992, 2000), which also emphasized how nodes with weak links to multiple communities can be much more central to the overall functioning of a network, even when compared to nodes with many strong intra-community links.

Again, much of SNA has worked to quantify the centrality of a given node or even of entire network structures. These range from *degree centrality* which simply quantifies the number of links to a given node, *closeness centrality* which averages the shortest path lengths from one node to all others, to *betweenness centrality* which determines the integration of a given node by quantifying the number of times a node acts as a bridge between other nodes in the system (Freeman 1978). More complex analyses are employed to also determine a nodes

eigenvector centrality which gauges a given nodes influence over other nodes (Bonacich 2007). Any given network can possess nodes of each type of centrality, sometimes nodes are truly central, dominating all centrality metrics, however some network structures allow for different nodes to occupy the different modes of centrality (Figure 27).



Figure 27. Example of a single network in which each of the primary modes of node centrality is exhibited by a different node.

SNA models have also helped illustrate the sometimes-unbelievable interconnection within social networks. Made famous by the catchy phrase *six degrees of separation* (Watts 2004), SNA models help to show how almost any two people on the planet can be said to connect through their social networks in six degrees or less. This network assumption was fleshed out in the important finding of *small-world networks* (Watts and Strogatz 1998) which effectively showed how community clustering naturally occurs in complex social networks. Small-world networks possess traits of both ordered (non-random) as well as random networks, proving these were not mutually exclusive classifications. However, as found in the real world these small-world networks are far from balanced. In the real world these social networks tend to have *scale-free* qualities (Barabási and Albert 1999), which lead to high degrees of disparity

in degree distribution and often result in hubs¹⁴³. *Hubs* have high degrees of centrality and as described above can become critical to the functioning (or failure) of a given network.



Figure 28. Schematic representation of different types of network configurations.

It should be noted that as SNA was taking hold in sociology during the latter half of the twentieth century, a parallel focus on quantitative approaches as well as the nascent strength of computational power was taking place under the heading of systems theory, which had major components throughout the social sciences. As has already been noted (see 1.1), archeology and other studies of history were no exception (Clarke 1968; Doran 1970; Flannery 1973) and much of the language that I used in my discussion of the evolution of *the state* in Chapter 1 (see 1.3) derives from these systems approaches (Flannery 1972). While this systems theory in archeology drew more on energy flows developed in biological and ecological studies much of the methodology, they used was the same; including the use of the essential node-link format. Again, the ultimate goal of both systems and network approaches was to render the complexity inherent in the social, simple - or at the very least quantifiable.

¹⁴³ This network approach was able to help explain what had been known as the Pareto Curve or the Matthew Principle in social economics (e.g., Backhause 1980): summed by the oversimplified, "the rich tend to get richer and the poor poorer." When applied to networks and complex systems more broadly this phenomenon came to be known as *preferential attachment* (e.g., Vázquez 2003).
Humanistic Network Approaches

Unlike FNA, Humanistic Network Approaches (HNA) have utilized networks to emphasize the messy complexity inherent in relationships or phenomena often thought to be simple or independent. Many of these HNA are more appropriately defined as new philosophical framings to social scientific questions, although some do not always shy away from more quantifiable methodology (Hodder and Mol 2016). Nevertheless, even some of the more abstract HNA provide useful new ways of thinking about what can define a node, the nature of the relationships that link nodes, and especially how to conceive of the network as a whole.

As FNA tends to be centered on Social Network Analysis, the HNA are anchored by the approach developed as Actor-Network Theory (ANT). Again, like SNA, ANT has a variety of starts but its primary thread developed as a form of material semiotics in historical sociology and science studies (Callon 1999; Latour 2005; Law 2009). One of the most important contributions of ANT is lifting the restrictions on what can define a node. Instead of representing exclusively humans (whether individuals, communities, or institutions), ANT nodal definitions can include material objects (artifacts, architecture, landscape elements) as well as all manner of affective or abstract elements (ideas, emotions, concepts). While conceiving of objects in place of formally human behaviors is not all that radical for archaeologists (Reid, et al. 1975; Schiffer 2016), true ANT models hold adamantly to the "generalized principle of symmetry" which insists that not only can materials and abstract ideas act as nodes in these models but they hold equal capability for transformative agency within the network as their human actor counterparts¹⁴⁴ (Latour 1994). While the idea of material agency, whether considered a form of secondary agency or true generalized symmetry is often debated (Dornan 2002; Gell 1998), providing a network approach in which non-human elements play an active role has been important for archaeological network studies (Donnellan 2020; Knappett 2011; Schortman and Urban 2012).

¹⁴⁴ For this reason, Latour and others use the term *actant* to encompass all node types, avoiding what they feel is the restrictive anthrocentric term, *actor* (Latour 2005).

A similar emphasis on the central role of non-human elements can be found in archaeologist I. Hodder's *entanglement theory* (Hodder 2012). In entanglement theory Hodder specifically targets the interdependence of humans and things (or even things and things). This theory uses network visualizations, what Hodder has termed *tanglegrams*, to illustrate the complex web of engagements humans become committed to in their reliance on things. These tanglegrams are representations of what Hodder argues are matrices of human-thing relationships (H-T and T-H) as well as human-human (H-H) and even thing-thing engagements (TT) (Hodder and Mol 2016:2). Additional HNA archaeological approaches take this further (back into the realm of ANT) by including all manner of gestures and abstractions such as signs and symbols, especially those which drive affective action. These approaches prefer to use the term assemblage instead of network, but use similar framing to take more dynamic, relational approaches in their spatial analysis of the archaeological record (Harris 2014; Jervis 2018).

The most poetic HNA-related approach rooted in archeology and a deep time perspective is T. Ingold's concept of *meshwork* (Ingold 2007). However, unlike other HNA Ingold actually rejects the node-link framework altogether, and drawing particularly on the phenomenology of Merleau-Ponty (Merleau-Ponty 1968), instead envisions meshworks as a messy web of lines without end, through which "materials flow and bodies move" (Ingold 2012:435). Again, the importance of these HNA is they bring complexity back to the fore and constantly interrogate the emergent paradoxical nature of complex adaptive systems - the local generate the global, but the global fundamentally constrain the local.

A Multiscalar Network Approach

All data used in this thesis comes from the archaeological record, meaning none of my initial nodes and links directly represent communities, institutions, or even individual human actors, but rather materials and fixed locations. At every scale of analysis, the known points that

my interpretations are anchored to are these non-human elements. As has already been noted above, each of these data types, materials and investigated contexts, received their own unique sequential number. Each encountered context within the bounds of L1 received a unique *locus number*. This included all surface contexts (ranging from an entire twelve-hectare sector to a single fixed point representing a collected spot find) and excavated contexts (ranging from an entire excavation block to a small post mold feature). Clearly some of these contexts indexed with locus numbers are contained within other indexed contexts, often resulting in a nested set of locus numbers. In addition, each material type collected in a single context (see above for more detail) received a unique *specimen number*. Specimen numbers are always tied to a locus number (often a nested set of locus numbers). These two associated lists of indexed numbers form the basis for the relational database¹⁴⁵ from which all other methods described below draw their data. It should be noted from the onset that relational databases use a fundamentally network-based format to relate data, emphasizing why embracing a network approach can be so prudent.

¹⁴⁵ For this project I utilized the Microsoft Office suite for most data entry and validation. Initial data entry generally done in standard Excel datasheets, but were also input in digital forms generated in Access. Microsoft Access was used as the base relational database where datasheets were combined and queries could be run.



Figure 29. The fundamental relationships between context and material data types - based on indexed Locus and Specimen numbers in a relational database.

While there are some who find the FNA and HNA approaches to be incommensurable (Latour 2005:21-26), a growing number of archaeologists have been quite successful at synthesizing some of the more effective aspects of each approach into their study of the past (Braswell 2019; Hodder and Mol 2016; Knappett 2011). Here I follow their lead, drawing on both FNA and HNA methods in developing my own multiscalar network approach. Specifically, I show how integrating this multiscalar network approach with the community ecology framework I outline in Chapter 1, can help to effectively detect and reconstruct the sociocultural dynamics that defined the everyday lives of prehistoric populations from the fundamentally non-human elements that define the archaeological record. Specifically, I tailor this method to analyze the Middle Horizon domestic contexts at Cerro San Antonio (L1) at three different scales - micro, meso, and macro.

Microscale: defining activity assemblages

My primary goal at the microscale is to use the spatial distribution and density of material finds to help identify specific locations in which specific tasks occurred in and around domestic structures. While I do draw on data collected at all stages of field work for my microscale

analysis, the majority is derived from excavated contexts as they provide the most contextual control. As I have noted elsewhere, defining activity areas in domestic settings is the focus of one of archeology's more advanced methodological domains, household archeology (Carballo 2011; Douglass and Gonlin 2012; Nash 2009; Steadman 2016). Since its initial development the goal of household archeology has been to gather and advance methods and techniques for more accurately defining the tasks, activities, and other material-behavioral connections that defined the everyday lives of past populations (Ashmore and Wilk 1988; Blanton 1994; Flannery 1976; Hirth 1993; Wilk and Rathje 1982). At this scale of analysis, I am hyper-focused on the local - any global implications of these local activities are considered at other scales of analysis. At the level of microanalysis each excavated context represents its own isolated domain - all comparisons are localized to what was exposed in that unit. The strategies for excavations are described above (see 3.2) and the contexts themselves are described in Chapter 7, however it should be noted here that in total nine separate contexts were excavated providing nine separate sample sets for microscale analysis.

Before attempting to infer specific local activity areas my goal was to both quantify and visualize the spatial distributions and densities of each material type¹⁴⁶ within each sampled space. Of course, weights and counts of all material types were collected as part of initial cataloging, so quantifying totals, frequencies, and even weighted densities for all defined areas in each unit was relatively straightforward and often very informative. However, in addition to basic distribution tables and charts I also generated heat and kernel density-style maps to help visualize these material distributions. For this process, excavation level and feature base planview maps were scanned and digitally traced¹⁴⁷. These base maps would be brought into the open source geographic information platform QGIS where it would be georectified using

¹⁴⁶ Here material type includes broad material type categories (i.e. Plainware ceramics) or more specific subcategories of materials (i.e. Plainware ollas w/ rim type-3).

¹⁴⁷ I use the open-source platform Inkscape (operated by Google) for most map digital tracing.

waypoints collected with the differential GPS. In QGIS polygon shapefiles were generated for each archaeological area, subarea, and feature defined in the field. As noted in above (see 3.2), local preservation conditions and our excavation strategy allowed for subarea lots to be defined down to 10cm² for important floor contexts. This detailed contextual control, coupled with the visualization of the mapping techniques allowed for the detection of "hot spots" (e.g. areas of very high relative density) as well as "cold spots" (e.g. areas of low relative density) even within subroom areas. When overlaid, these material density heat maps allow for the visualization of material co-occurrence.

Another way in which I visualize excavated domestic area material inventories is by employing a relatively simple FNA model, called a bipartite or affiliation network (Knappett 2011:46-48, 53-57). This type of network analysis draws connections or affiliations between one class of node, by showing their shared connections with a second class of node (Figure 30). At the microscale of analysis my goal is to draw affiliations between different architecturally defined rooms or other spaces by showing their shared connections to various material types.



Figure 30. Example bipartite network drawing affiliations between hypothetical Areas (top) by showing shared connections with material types (below) - strength of relationship between areas and materials further emphasized by the weight of the links (thin = weak connection, thick = strong connection).

Both the density heat maps and the bipartite network allow for more accurate and

detailed visualization of the co-occurrence of materials that defined each individual excavated

area as well as to compare material assemblages between areas. This provides excellent

footing for the next step in analysis at the microscale which is extrapolating behaviors and activities that may have led to those material deposits. Here I take essentially a behaviorist view, using classic chaînes opératoires (also called behavioral chains) models to look for functional connections between materials and define activity areas (Kent 1990; Lemonnier 1976; Schiffer 2016). However, far from viewing these material associations as static representations of past activity, I take an active assemblage approach which acknowledges the dynamic interactions between human behavior and the materials that come to define the archaeological record (Harris 2014; Jervis 2018; Marsh 2016). Some compound activity areas have well-defined material co-occurrence assemblages in designated spaces. For instance, kitchens, have strong co-occurrence of edible plant and animal-based (often with signs of preparation of cooking), cooking ceramics and other utensils (stone blades), high densities of charcoal or ash, as well as fixed features like a hearth. Of course many spaces were the locale for a variety of overlapping activities, many while not functionally related, nonetheless had great effect on how the other played out (Hodder 2012; Schiffer 1975). This step of course necessitates drawing heavily on the ethnographic record as well as cross-cultural archaeological comparisons (see Chapter 2). I use these previous studies from the Andes and elsewhere around the world to frame the spatio-density patterns observed in excavated contexts at L1.

When possible, I apply an additional network-based mode to look at the connections between spaces at the microscale. This built environment-focused approach is one of the primary methods developed in spatial syntax, which like SNA has developed robust methods for translating the built environment into quantifiable node-link networks (Hillier 2010; Hillier and Hanson 1984). Most spatial syntax techniques rely on network centrality metrics (Bafna 2003). This method is extremely effective when detailed architectural plans, especially regarding access patterns, are available. Only two of my nine excavated contexts have architectural plans detailed enough for these spatial syntax methods, so their discussion here is limited.

The final step is contextualizing this hyper-local view at the microscale of analysis within my ecology of communities. It is important to remember in this framework, households are viewed as the smallest, cross-cultural socio-spatial institution, which is actually a higher-order social process than communities. In this view the social group of *household*, anchored in coresidence, are the emergent result of residential, sustainable, and symbolic community interaction. Of course activities that took place at Cerro San Antonio during the Middle Horizon were defined specifically by that time and place; however I do attempt to categorize these activities based on ubiquitous modes of activities recognized in cross-cultural household studies, namely: production, distribution, transmission, and reproduction (Nash 2009; Wilk and Rathje 1982). However, many of these activity areas, especially as they pertain to broader community practices, are incomplete as they are fundamentally tied to activities that occurred elsewhere. Similarly, many patterns at this microscale only come into focus when they can be compared - drawing connections between these excavated rooted data sets is one of the primary goals of the second level of analysis - the mesoscale.

Mesoscale: tracing inter/intra-community patterns

The primary goal of analysis at the mesoscale is to compare and contrast material assemblages of specific loci throughout Cerro San Antonio in order to trace both inter- and intracommunity patterns. All analysis at the mesoscale is restricted to contexts at L1, discussion of broader connections is reserved for the macroscale of analysis. Like the microscale, this level of analysis also utilizes data from excavated contexts but draws heavily on other data collected through surface collection methods as well. While I do bring these two data sets together, in order to keep the datasets comparable, I largely treat the excavation and surface collection data as separate.

Before jumping into the realm of the social, my first step in mesoscale analysis is to draw connections between my excavated contexts. To better visualize connections between unit

inventories I employ the bipartite network analysis as described above in the microanalysis. However, for the mesoscale, instead of within-unit architectural areas, each affiliation node being compared is defined by an entire excavated context. Again, this method helps visualize the data that can also be quantified in frequency and relative density tables. While this allows for useful comparisons between excavated contexts and provides a nice snap-shot into differences between domestic sectors, a more detailed view of excavation context material assemblage differences can be detected through a statistical technique that has been adapted specifically for archaeological seriation, called the Brainerd-Robinson Coefficient of Similarity (Brainerd 1951; Cowgill 1990; Robinson 1951) or simply the B-R Coefficient.

The B-R Coefficient is a similarity coefficient that helps gauge the similarity between two archaeological assemblages by providing a metric that "compares the similarity in the proportion of values of attributes" (Athenstädt, et al. 2018:64). For this study I use the B-R Coefficient to compare the relative proportion of major material types in assemblages from select major excavated contexts (e.g., entire test units or excavations blocks). This generates a pair-wise matrix of similarity coefficients that range between 0-200, with 200 being a perfect similarity. Following several recent SNA-influenced archaeological approaches (Giomi and Peeples 2019; Golitko, et al. 2012; Mills, et al. 2015; Peeples and Roberts Jr 2013), I then translate the B-R Coefficients matrix into a simple network format using network visualization software¹⁴⁸.

While not providing as much depth as excavated contexts, the data derived from surface collections provide more spatial breadth. Using the same process described for the intra-unit microscale analysis, I generated density-based heat maps for each of three Middle Horizon domestic sectors. While this surface collection material data is largely restricted to ceramics and lithics, these relative density maps still offer insights into the broad patters that occurred across these sectors. As noted above, while the ephemeral building materials and abandonment

¹⁴⁸ I have been using Peeples' R-Script to compute my BR-Matrices (Peeples 2011) and UCINET 6 for Windows (Borgatti et al. 2002) to generate my initial network visualizations.

destruction processes in the Middle Horizon domestic sectors at L1 did not allow me to generate a detailed, structure-by-structure town plan, some surviving architectural features as well as my excavations allowed me to estimate the type of residential communities the patterns observed in these maps may have been grounded in.

A final stage of analysis at the mesoscale is comparing the sectors as a whole. Here, I again repeat my bipartite affiliation network technique for the three Middle Horizon domestic sectors for a final visualization of material assemblages at the largest possible node size at this intra-site level of analysis. I also conduct a basic spatial syntax analysis of the sectors, exploring how their geographic location, in relation to contemporary cemeteries, and valley bottom access can also reveal important factors that constrained cultural action at the site.

Finally, I work to synthesize these excavation comparisons, sector-wide material surface distributions, and broader spatial analysis to discuss patterns that may reveal important loci of action for residential, sustainable, and symbolic communities. As with the microscale, I also specifically look to categorize these mesoscale activities in terms of the ubiquitous behavioral categories of production, distribution, transmission, and reproduction. With the broader sector-wide views I can more completely trace behavioral chains and other, more extensive activities. For example, at the mesoscale I work to detect manifestations of residential communities at multiple scales - specifically I work to situate my excavated contexts in their broader residential community context (house cluster, neighborhood, etc.). I identify locations in which critical tasks were completed for broader sustainable communities. I use public architecture (i.e., plazas) and evidence for large-scale community action (i.e., feasting), how local symbolic communities at Cerro San Antonio may have engaged more globally-oriented symbolic community action.

Macroscale: identifying broader connections

My primary goal at the macroscale is to identify relations that connect Cerro San Antonio to the broader Tiwanaku sphere. This level of analysis draws on data collected at all stages of

field work and draws on the well-developed archaeological topics of interregional interaction, frontier-borderland studies, and collapse (Chase-Dunn and Hall 1991; Feuer 2016; Stein 1999; Tainter 1990) to discuss Cerro San Antonio's position and role in the Tiwanaku network. What I identify here as macroscale is also what most archaeological applications of FNA have focused on (Braswell 2019; Knappett 2013, 2016; Mills, et al. 2013; Mills, et al. 2015; Schortman and Urban 2012).

Some of my analysis at this level is very top-down - taking a full interregional perspective on the broader Tiwanaku area of influence. At this level L1 becomes a single node with links drawn to other documented Tiwanaku-affiliated sites throughout the south-central Andes. Here I present a variety of different network models using site size, proximity, and a variety of other linkages based on site material assemblages to explore the topology of Tiwanaku influence. Timing is also of critical importance to defining the position of the L1 node - here I bring in five radiocarbon dates to provide a preliminary idea of the dating of Middle Horizon deposits at L1. I use network centrality measures to help quantify each of these linkages. I connect this systems perspective to other useful framings in the FNA corpus, from the strength of weak ties to smallworld networks. I contextualize these true macroscale network perspectives in the broader systems theory perspectives that have that have developed robust methods for modeling the life and death of the emergent institution of the state (Algaze 1993; Flannery 1972; Haas 1982; Yoffee 2005). Specifically, I discuss how these models should be seen a prehistoric modes of network globalization (see 1.3).

However, the macroscale of analysis also connects back the the hyper-local contexts exposed in excavations. At this local contextual level I attempt to trace global connections by identifying practices that may connect to those observed at other Tiwanaku-affiliated sites. Drawing on more localized studies of frontiers and borderlands I look for practices that may be conserved from former homelands as well as for examples of new emergent cultural practices or ethnogenesis that often occurs in these dynamic regions (Green and Costion ; Lightfoot and

Martinez 1995; Parker 2006; Stein 2002). I also highlight non-local or exotic goods which also suggest long-distance linkages. This level of material inventory analysis again allows for the observation of similarities as well as major differences in the practices that defined each of these excavated areas.

4.3 Hypotheses: archaeological correlates and implications

In this final subsection of Chapter 3, I outline the three primary hypotheses (and their variants) that the methods, techniques, and broader approaches I have outlined above seek to test. These hypotheses are framed in the macroscale, that is they use Cerro San Antonio as the primary node of interest. These hypotheses are also framed in terms of the known culture-history surrounding Tiwanaku and the broader south-central Andes detailed in Chapter 2 (see 2.3), specifically as it has been defined in the western valleys. Figure 31 displays simplified versions of these hypotheses in two different forms of network visualizations.



Figure 31. Simplified network visualizations of the three primary hypotheses that lead guide this study: H1 (*top*), H2a and H2b (*left*), and H3a and H3b (*right*).

However, for each hypothesis I also outline some of the most significant correlates and implications and explain how these macroscale hypotheses connect to the data collected at L1 and must be inferred from all three scales of analysis. While they do reference all scales of analysis, these correlates and implications are presented in broad strokes. It is important to note that these hypotheses are not considered mutually exclusive. For instance, the relationship between populations in Locumba and the nascent Tiwanaku polity may have changed, even dramatically, throughout the six-hundred-year span of the Middle Horizon. It is also considered that different sectors or even different excavated residential units may have adhered to one of these hypothesized relationships. The nuances and validity of all aspects of these hypotheses is weighed in the discussion in Section 3.

Hypothesis 1 - Primary Tiwanaku Enclave

H1: The Middle Horizon-era settlements at Cerro San Antonio (L1) represent direct Tiwanaku enclaves, deriving from southern Titicaca Basin communities.

Archaeological Correlates: Evidence supporting H1 would show clear and sustained connections with those observed in the highland Tiwanaku core. At the *microscale* individual excavation unit assemblages should be dominated, if not completely composed of Tiwanaku style materials used in Tiwanaku-style activities. This should be particularly true of consumption practices by of course applies to production, transmission, and reproduction-based activities as well. These patterns should scale up to the *mesoscale* where broader residential sustainable, and symbolic community patterns should have clear correlates in those observed at Tiwanaku as well as in known highland migrant populations in the middle Osmore. At the *macroscale* Middle Horizon populations at Cerro San Antonio should show evidence for strong direct connections to highland Tiwanaku core - this should be evident in examples direct exchange. The timing of the L1 Middle Horizon deposits should align with the hight of Tiwanaku influence in the highlands and elsewhere. If similar to those in the Osmore drainage, for H1 domestic occupations in Locumba should be quite dense, likely representing multi-generational, sustained settlements.

Implications: With a multi-component enclave in Locumba, largely independent of the major enclave in the middle Osmore, emphasis would shift to the settler diaspora model as less of an exception and more of a possible strategy of Tiwanaku statecraft. This would suggest a more centralized but less integrated frontier network during the Middle Horizon, and support interpretations that suggest that the burgeoning Tiwanaku political economy acted as a centripetal force - projecting highland communities into more productive agricultural regions like the Locumba drainage.

Hypothesis 2 - Secondary Tiwanaku Enclave

H2: The Middle Horizon-era settlements at Cerro San Antonio (L1) represent secondary Tiwanaku enclaves, deriving from communities centered at the provincial center in the middle Osmore drainage.

There are two variants to to this hypothesis (H2a and H2b). Both clearly center on the Osmore drainage as a primary intermediary between the communities at Cerro San Antonio and Tiahuanaco in the highlands. The primary difference in the variants of Hypothesis 2 are based on the timing of the L1 Middle Horizon settlements.

H2a: The secondary enclaves were outgrowths of a burgeoning provincial center in the middle Osmore drainage.

Archaeological Correlates: Evidence supporting H2a will strong and sustained between the domestic contexts at L1 and the large Tiwanaku enclaves in the Osmore drainage. While there may be some evidence for connections with the highland all Tiwanaku variants should fall within those seen as defining the Omo and Chen Chen traditions in the middle Osmore. At the *microscale* individual excavation unit assemblages should be dominated, if not completely composed of Tiwanaku-style materials used in Tiwanaku-style activities. This should be particularly true of consumption practices by of course applies to production, transmission, and reproduction-based activities as well. These patterns should scale up to the *mesoscale* where broader residential sustainable, and symbolic community patterns should have clear correlates in those observed at Tiwanaku-affiliated sites in the Osmore drainage. Again, at the *macroscale* Middle Horizon populations at Cerro San Antonio should show evidence for strong direct

connections to the Osmore drainage. The timing of the L1 Middle Horizon deposits should align with the height of Tiwanaku influence in the highlands and the Osmore drainage. In H2a while the L1 occupations should be contemporary with those in the middle Osmore they should be shorter-lived (smaller/less-dense middens) as they definitionally would have been established after the Osmore settlements.

Implications: Identifying L1 as an offshoot of the Osmore enclaves would elevate the larger neighboring enclaves to that of a true secondary provincial center. While this might suggest a more hierarchical network arrangement for the Tiwanaku frontier, it also suggests a more decentralized network structure with the middle Osmore colonies acting as an intermediary between Tiahuanaco and the western valleys. This would situate Cerro San Antonio as a tertiary node in the Tiwanaku frontier network.

H2b: The secondary enclaves represent diasporic settlements, refugees from Moquegua, after collapse of the Tiwanaku center in the highlands.

Archaeological Correlates: Evidence supporting H2b with also show a strong connection to Tiwanaku-affiliated material traditions developed in the middle Osmore. These may also be similar to the Omo and Chen Chen Moquegua traditions but may also align more closely to those observed in the later Tiwanaku-affiliated material tradition known as Tumilaca. Very similar to that of H2a, evidence for H2b at the *microscale* individual excavation unit assemblages should be dominated, if not completely composed of Tiwanaku-style materials used in Tiwanaku-style activities. This should be particularly true of consumption practices by of course applies to production, transmission, and reproduction-based activities as well. These patterns should again scale up to the *mesoscale* where broader residential sustainable, and symbolic community patterns should have clear correlates in those observed at Tiwanaku-

affiliated sites in the Osmore. Again, at the *macroscale* Middle Horizon populations at Cerro San Antonio should show evidence for strong direct connections to the Osmore drainage. However, the timing of the L1 Middle Horizon deposits should fall after the collapse of the Tiwanaku polity in the highlands and associated collapse-related events in middle Osmore and instead align with Tumilaca occupations in the upper and lower drainage.

Implications: Identifying L1 Tiwanaku-affiliated populations in Locumba as terminal or even post-Middle Horizon refugees would align with patterns observed elsewhere in Pacific coastal valleys after Tiwanaku collapse. Locating an additional post-collapse Tiwanaku settlement complex in Locumba would obviously negate state-contemporary colonization and instead confirm the presence to a loosely articulated, but distributed regional network comprised of a far-flung post-Tiwanaku diaspora.

Hypothesis 3 - Exchange & Emulation

H3: The Middle Horizon-era settlements at Cerro San Antoni (L1) represent largely local populations with Tiwanaku material assemblages largely deriving from exchange and other forms of interregional interaction.

There are also two variants to the final hypothesis (H3a and H3b). Both of these variants are based on the idea that Tiwanaku residential communities were minimal or absent at L1 and instead all Tiwanaku materials derive from the indirect interaction between sustainable and symbolic modes of communities. It should be noted that while these hypotheses were seriously tested, they are also viewed as effective null hypotheses. Initial visits to Cerro San Antoni showed extensive evidence for direct Tiwanaku highland occupation. However, far from irrelevant these hypotheses proved important in defining the broader Middle Horizon story at L1.

H3a: There is a small-scale presence of elite highland populations, with all other Tiwanaku-related materials produced locally as emulation-based variants.

Archaeological Correlates: In this scenario evidence should show a small, but clearly defined residential communities of highland Tiwanaku populations. However, these residential communities would be either nested within or closely associated with locally derived communities. At the *microscale* when Tiwanaku-based lifeways are present they should be restricted to these specific Tiwanaku-affiliated residential communities. At the *mesoscale*, there may also be examples of new Tiwanaku-related or hybrid styles developing as local symbolic communities begin emulating those centered at Tiwanaku. These hybrid styles are most likely restricted to more globally-oriented symbolic community practices and materials, but may encompass other community domains as well. For H3a L1 deposits should date to a period contemporary with the height of Tiwanaku influence during the Middle Horizon.

Implications: If the Tiwanaku affiliated components at L1 prove to hold this elite status this would suggest a more direct and centralized form of Tiwanaku statecraft. This approach would involve conform to many traditional models in which centralized states occupy their peripheral territories to extract a variety of resources.

H3b: There is no presence of highland Tiwanaku populations and all observed Tiwanakuderived materials derived from exchange, local emulation, and other forms of interregional interaction.

Archaeological Correlates: This would entail there being no clear evidence at any scale for Tiwanaku residential community development at Cerro San Antonio. This would be all activities, again at every scale of analysis, would suggest local, non-Tiwanaku community practice. Any Tiwanaku-related materials would derive from trade or perhaps locally produced hybrids. For H3b the timing of L1 Middle Horizon occupations would likely align with the height of Tiwanaku influence in the South-Central Andes.

Implications: The absence of Tiwanaku residents would imply that local populations were acquiring Tiwanaku goods through exchange. The nature of these sustainable community-based arrangements could vary from the directed patron-clientage relationships as suggested for the northern Atacama valleys or more indirect forms of locally controlled exchange as suggested for the San Pedro de Atacama Desert oasis region further south. Either way, this would suggest that apart from the enclaves in the middle Osmore, the western valleys formed a relatively distributed frontier network, with an influx of Tiwanaku goods moving through largely preexisting sustainable-symbolic community interaction routes.

4.4 Chapter Summary

Chapter 4 presented a description of the suite of methods and techniques I have employed for carrying it out this dissertation.

4.1: I outline my data collection methods. This includes my strategies employed in the field, including reconnaissance, systematic surface collection, and excavation. I also describe my material analysis and other laboratory-based data collection methods.

4.2: I provide a description of my analytical strategies which provide the middle-range methods for connecting the archaeological record to important anthropological questions. Here I explain how my strategies are largely rooted in a variety of school of network-based analysis and visualizations.

4.3: Finally, I layout my three primary hypotheses (and their variants) which have framed

this study.

Next: Section 2 presents the data collected from the methods and techniques described in 4.1.

SECTION 2 - DATA & RESULTS

Section 2 is a presentation of the results compiled from data collected during archaeological field work and subsequent material analysis completed for my doctoral research. The methods and techniques employed to collect this data are described in detail in Section 1 -Chapter 4. All of these data were collected from contexts at the archaeological site complex of Cerro San Antonio (L1) in the middle Locumba drainage on the far south coast of Peru. As described in Chapter 3, the site contains over two dozen discrete archaeological sectors, affiliated with a number of different culture-history periods. Here I focus almost exclusively on the contexts deemed to be affiliated with the Middle Horizon Period (ca. AD 500 - 1100) and Tiwanaku, though raw data from sectors deriving from other periods are reported on when pertinent as well as in the appendices. While I do synthesize different data sets here, most articulating analysis and all interpretive discussion is presented in Section 3.

Chapter 5 presents the results gained through reconnaissance data collection in the field. This category of data collection includes a number of different methods and tasks, but all are relatively non-destructive field techniques used for generating maps and other forms of spatial-based data analysis.

Chapter 6 covers data collected through systematic surface collection field methods. This chapter presents the raw results of systematic surface collection as well as a variety of ways to visualize this data through material density heat-maps.

Chapter 7 presents the results from excavation within the three Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors (Sectors A, L, and U). Here these results are presented unit-by-unit and cover detailed architectural and broader spatial data regarding these well-preserved domestic contexts.

Chapter 8 lays out all data derived from post-field material analysis. Depending on the material type or and modes of analysis employed these results vary quite drastically in both depth and breadth.

Chapter 5 - Reconnaissance

In this brief chapter I present the results generated from initial and ongoing reconnaissance at Cerro San Antonio (L1). This work included both remote, photo-based mapping as well as initial on-site, pedestrian-based survey (see 4.2 for a description of these methods). Essentially, results included here all revolve around the non-intrusive data collection used for generating maps which define a number of dimensions of the site, particularly regarding the spatial nature of its cultural occupations. A number of these maps were already presented in Chapter 3 with the introduction of L1, but here I provide more depth. I separate these results into four primary subsections: Initial Reconnaissance, Systematic Pedestrian Survey, Spot Find Collections, and (on-site) Low-Altitude Photography.

5.1 Initial Reconnaissance

This subsection relays the results of the initial reconnaissance that took place at Cerro San Antonio. The two main tasks undertaken in this category of data collection were: 1) collating existing remote imagery and previous studies for mapping and 2) initial visits to the site, in which logistical access to the site was assessed, and previously noted sectors of the site were confirmed on the ground. As noted in Chapter 3 (see 3.1), due to its close proximity to the modern town and its extensive archaeological remains, a number of researchers had visited Cerro San Antonio in the past. However, prior to 2012-2015, there were only a few preliminary maps and sketches that provided any indication to internal site sectors or even the boundaries of the broader site (Ayca Gallegos 2010:107; Palumbo 2004:98). Therefore, the most essential product of this stage of work was developing a usable site map, which would provide the basis for all future work.

The first map I was able to generate, before even visiting the site, was a simple topographic map, which I generated using ASTER DEM satellite imagery from NASA (see 4.1).

By overlaying this with the relatively high-resolution, open-access satellite imagery from GoogleEarth I was able to generate useful maps to guide the initial reconnaissance work.



Figure 32. Topographic contour map (5 meter spacing) generated using ASTER DEM imagery from NASA, background imagery from GoogleEarth. *Note*: my original map did not include the formal L1 site boundary.

As with most previous archaeological studies that visited Cerro San Antonio, my initial reconnaissance visits targeted the western end of the site. These earliest visits largely confirmed what the previous visitors had observed - a large Late Intermediate Period domestic occupation with associated mortuary components in the north portion of the site, a large Tiwanaku-associated domestic component with at least one mortuary component in the south, and Formative Period burial mounds (*tumulos*) on the western end of the site, closest to the modern town. These initial visits were completed without the use of handheld GPS and all documentation was done with photography and note-taking. I used the topographic maps and

downloaded GoogleEarth imagery for general orientation and base-maps to sketch in findings (see Figure 33).



<u>2012</u>

- Brief day visit to determine the logistics of the site
 Identified:
 - The colonial bodega (Sector J) (1)
 - The primary LIP domestic sector (Sector C) (2)
 - A number of the LIP mortuary sectors (Sector D, E, F, P) (3, 4, 5, 6)
- Modern looting minimal

<u>2013</u>

- Follow-up brief day visit
- Walked from town and entered the northwestern corner of the site
- Identified:
 - Formative tumulos (Sector H) (1)
 - (Re-walked) LIP sectors from 2012 (Sectors (C, D, E, F, P)
 - Tiwanaku domestic sector (Sector A) (2)
 - Tiwanaku mortuary sectors (Sector B) (3)
- Modern looting minimal

2014

- Two day full-day visits
- Walked from town and entered the northwestern corner of the site (both days)
 - Identified:
 - Mixed sector domestic/mortuary (Sector G) (1)
 - (Re-walked) LIP sectors from 2012 (Sectors C, D, E, F, P)
 - (Re-walked) Tiwanaku sectors from 2013 (Sectors A, B)
 - Additional LIP mortuary sectors (O, R) (2, 3)
 - Southern petroglyph fields
- Extensive modern looting (documented active looters onsite) (looting site #1 (4), looting site #2 (5))

Figure 33. Maps displaying the initial reconnaissance trips I undertook at Cerro San Antonio (L1) between 2012-2014. The numbers on each map correspond with the findings summary to the right.

Significantly, between my 2013 and 2014 visits the site of Cerro San Antonio was

formally registered as an archaeological site with the Tacna office of the Ministerio de Cultura by

archaeologist Adan Umire and Rosanna Revilla (Revilla 2013). This site declaration involved the definition of a formal site boundary, which first illustrated the immense size of the site complex. While my 2014 visits would still target the western portion of the site, this new delineation map provided a formal site boundary (including UTM-based coordinates). Notwithstanding the site registration, however, in 2014, we witnessed and documented looters actively looting on-site and provided photographic evidence to the local authorities and the local Ministerio de Cultura.





In a sense, informal reconnaissance would continue every time work was conducted at the site. New features and materials were observed all the time and often simply recorded in field notes. However, as work advanced we would also use handheld GPS units to record the location of important features and other spatial aspects of the site. In total over 2000 individual waypoints were collected to this end. This informal reconnaissance would continue to inform more formal, advanced forms of data collection and therefore results from this work is included where pertinent elsewhere.

5.2 Systematic Pedestrian Survey

The formal site boundary facilitated more systematic forms of pedestrian survey. Using handheld GPS and more substantial survey crews, this systematic pedestrian survey resulted in identifying important geological topography of the site and delineating all inter-site sectors. True transect-based pedestrian survey was undertaken in 2015 by the UCSD archaeological field school, where 25 major, full-crew transects were completed. The transects targeted the eastern portion of the site where reconnaissance had yet to explore and would ultimately result in 100% coverage of the 166.49 hectares of the site.



Figure 35. (top) Map depicting all major pedestrian survey work - initial reconnaissance routes (pale yellow) and systematic pedestrian survey transects. (bottom) Map displaying all sectors delineated from informal reconnaissance and systematic pedestrian survey - shaded areas represent areas with pre-modern cultural material and perimeter waypoints (GPS) are marked in green.

Again, much of the data collected at this stage of research, especially in regards to to major sector attributes were presented in Chapter 3 with the initial sector descriptions (see 3.1). However, in addition to major characteristics like perimeter length, total area, and cultural affiliation, additional sector attributes were recorded. Here, I note the additional information regarding the Middle Horizon-affiliated sectors (with other sector information reported on in the appendices - see Appendix 5).



Figure 36. Map of Cerro San Antonio (L1) depicting all Tiwanaku-affiliated sectors as well as pre-modern access routes and pathways.

The initial pedestrian survey documented fourteen sectors with cultural affiliations to Tiwanaku and the broader Middle Horizon Period. This included three domestic sectors (Sectors A, L, U), ten mortuary sectors (Sectors B, I, K, M, Q, S, V, W, X, Z), and a final sector with mixed functions (and likely cultural affiliations) (Sector G¹⁴⁹). In total these sectors cover 26.55 hectares, with over 90% (24.12 hectares) of that area deriving from the three domestic sectors. The systematic pedestrian survey also revealed a number of pre-modern pathways that allowed access between the sectors and to the site in general. In total over three kilometers of premodern pathways have been identified within the site boundaries of L1. Almost every premodern pathway has some direct connection to one of the primary Tiwanaku domestic sectors (Figure 36). Significantly, based on the site's internal topography and overall proximity, the Tiwanaku-affiliated sectors fall into two separate groups: the South Group and the North Group.

The South Group is centered on the largest domestic sector on-site (Sector A) and also contains seven of the ten mortuary sectors (Sectors B, I, K, V, W, X, Z), covering a total of 14.65 hectares. The vast majority of this area is from Sector A, which covers over 13 hectares of area. While subject to high winds and extreme sun exposure the expansive plateau that Sector A encompasses is the only contiguous landform on site on which a settlement population could have comfortably housed hundreds of individuals. Most of the cemeteries are relatively small and are tucked into narrow quebradas to the north and south of Sector A. The South Group straddles the primary quebrada pathway and had efficient access to three valley bottom access points, leading to the Salado Valley as well as the central Locumba Valley. Recent looting and more historic disturbances have damaged most sectors in this group.

The North Group is composed of the two domestic sectors, Sector L and Sector U as well as the three remaining mortuary sectors (Sectors M, Q, S) and covers 11.33 hectares.

¹⁴⁹ As noted in the Chapter 3 initial sector descriptions (see 3.1), Sector G is quite complicated and diagnostic ceramics and other materials from every cultural period have been recovered here. For this reason, Sector G is often excluded from this study, until future investigations provide more clarity on these observations.

Almost 11 hectares of this area is from Sector L (4.02 hectares) and Sector U (6.87 hectares). Sector L occupies a flat blufftop which overlooks Sector U which covers the sandy slopes below. Sector L is the best-preserved domestic sector on-site and contains numerous examples of preserved architectural foundations and dense material scatters. Conversely Sector U is the sparsest of the Middle Horizon domestic sectors with almost no preserved features or other substantial remnants of occupation. These two sectors could conceivably be considered a single continuous domestic sector, but the difference in topography and material density was justification to separate them into separate sectors. Associated most directly with Sector L are three mortuary sectors, which like the South Group, are mostly found tucked away in narrow quebradas. The North Group has direct access to three of the site's valley bottom access points, the two most closely accessible points lead to the Cinto Valley.

Ground-Stone Pilot Survey

An important pilot study targeting ground-stone lithics was completed within Sector L and initiated in Sector A - the two most prominent Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors. While far more limited and focused than the work described above, this ground-stone study was nonintrusive and did not involve material collection so also falls under the heading of systematic pedestrian survey. Conducted during the 2018-19 season, this survey was meant to supplement a typology for ground-stone tools developed from excavated samples recovered at L1. The typology itself is discussed in greater detail in later chapters (see 8.2), but it included (eleven 11) ground-stone tool types. Most of which fall into the broad categories of mano or metate - the primary tools used for grinding, crushing, and other domestic tasks¹⁵⁰.

Here I will only report the findings of the completed ground-stone pilot survey within

¹⁵⁰ As discussed more in Section 3 most of these tasks revolve around foo preparation, but can also include a variety of other tasks.

Sector L. The Sector L ground-stone survey area encompassed 5230m² along the western edge of the sector. This area was selected for a number of reasons. One of the primary reasons was that this area contained the highest density of exposed domestic wall foundations. While limited and very fragmentary these architectural segments provided considerable contextual data regarding the location of domestic structures and even internal architectural patterns of individual structures. Additionally, as can be noted in Figure 37, the pilot study area for the ground-stone study intentionally encompassed L1L-2019-Unit 3. This allowed me to incorporate the ground-stone and architecture exposed and collected in the unit with the surrounding area.



Figure 37. Map projecting the plotted finds in the ground-stone pilot study. Also depicted are segments of quincha wall foundation segments.

The ground-stone survey identified 123 ground-stone specimens (including fragments) and with an additional 13 ground-stone specimens identified and collected from excavation block L1L-2019-3, there were 136 specimens to work with for this pilot study. Again, the typology into which we organized these finds will be described in greater detail below, but I provide a brief sketch of the typology and initial results here.

We identified four primary categories into which all ground-stone specimens could be

organized, based primarily on function: manos, metates, hammerstones, and other. *Manos* are largely hand-sized cobbles used primarily for grinding a variety of materials on top of another ground-stone implement (metate). *Metates* tend to be significantly larger than manos and are generally used as the foundation or anvil, on which various materials are ground or pounded with manos. *Hammerstones* are technically a percussive-based lithic technology but many we identified also appear to have be partially ground and as they are also not technically made via flaking, I include them here. Finally, the limited category of *Other* contains all miscellaneous ground-stone specimens that don't fall in the other categories. Most major categories of ground-stone contained multiple subtypes, largely based on form. Again, more depth is provided regarding these subtypes and other ground-stone attributes in later chapters (see 8.2), but a few important trends are worth noting here.

5.3 Spot Find Collections

The only semi-intrusive tasks included in the reconnaissance category of work were surface spot finds. As described in Chapter 4 (see 4.2), this non-systematic material collection strategy was employed to retain important materials encountered on the surface that we did not wish to leave in the field. These were often diagnostic artifacts, essential for defining the cultural-temporal affiliation of sectors as well as materials we feared were at risk due to preservation or theft if left in the field. Here I present the basic results of spot finds recovered from in or around the Tiwanaku-affiliated sectors at L1. I include a brief summary of the composition of these findings and their general distribution here, but provide a more detailed description of the materials collected in the material analysis chapter (see Chapter 8).



Figure 38. (*top*) Map displaying the distribution of all Spot Finds associated with the Tiwanakuaffiliated sectors. (*bottom*) Chart illustrating the number of Spot Finds associated with each major material type (Total: n=253).
In total, 253 individual surface spot finds were collected from in and around the thirteen sectors with primary Tiwanaku affiliations (Sector G is excluded here). These spot finds would fall into almost all of the material categories described in Chapter 4, including: Ceramics, Basketry, Beads, Flaked and Ground Lithics, Textiles, and Metals as well as Fauna and Organics, Botanics, and Human Remains. Ceramic and Flaked Lithic materials made up almost 67% of all spot finds (46.6% and 20.1%, respectively). Diagnostic ceramics, and particularly decorated redware sherds, were the most common specific material type, often targeted for their clear presentation of iconographic elements and value in comparative studies. Since Spot Finds collections were opportunistic and not systematic there is no point in analyzing their distribution, but below I provide maps of both the North and South Group to give a clearer idea as to how these collected materials were these materials were collected. It should be noted that we collected at least one diagnostic spot find (almost always ceramic sherds) from every Tiwanaku-affiliated sector in order to confirm their affiliation.



Figure 39. Maps plotting the Spot Finds from the North Group (top) and South Group (bottom Tiwanaku-affiliated sectors at Cerro San Antonio.

As can be noted in Figure 39 the vast majority of Spot Finds were collected from Sector A and Sector L. This was for two reasons: 1) these two sectors were defined by extremely dense surface scatters and 2) we spent significantly more time in these sectors than others at L1. Again, while these finds cannot necessarily be used for any systematic spatial analysis they can be essential for assisting in defining broader issues regarding affiliation. I discuss this use of these materials in later sections.

5.4 Low-Altitude Photography

The final form of data collection included in the non-intrusive reconnaissance category is low-altitude photography through the use of an unmanned-aerial vehicle (UAV), commonly referred to as a drone. While the UAV was utilized for a number of other specific tasks, such as excavation photos, it was most extensively used in general reconnaissance and site mapping. As with the other tasks reported on in this chapter, many of the maps and models generated from the low-altitude photos and other UAV data are just the first step in more advanced forms of analysis which are reported on in later chapters. Therefore, here I only present some of the more general results from this work.

The primary use of general low-altitude photos was for generating high-definition orthomosaic photos as well as three-dimensional models of sectors and even of the entire site. These photo-based maps can be annotated and used to supplement standard two-dimensional maps in various spatial and other context-based analysis. As described in Chapter 4, these maps and other models are generated using a method called photogrammetry, which digitally stitches together overlapping photos, in this case taken using the UAV. While all photos taken with the Mavic Pro drone we utilized were geotagged, we still relied on our on-site permanent reference points to more accurately georeference these generated models and images. As noted in Chapter 4, these permanent reference points were cemented rebar, strategically

342

established around the site, and shot-in with a differential GPS.



Figure 40. Map showing the six permanent reference points established at Cerro San Antonio.

For the general mapping photos, we would fly both standardized transects as well as more free-form flyovers. Each flight would fly at a consistent elevation, but these elevations would vary between flights - ranging from 20 to 90 meters above the ground surface.



Figure 41. Map which displays all 1,970-individual low-altitude photos taken with the UAV with the purpose of general mapping during the 2018-19 season.

In total 1,970 individual photos were taken with the UAV for the purpose of general site mapping and modeling (Figure 41). While coverage of the site writ-large was not 100% complete, all delineated sectors were documented and approximately 70% of the broader site's surface was captured in these photos. Consistent with the focus of this dissertation, coverage favored the Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors, particularly Sector A and Sector L where we spent the vast majority of on-site time in 2018 and 2019. To this end, over 50% (1,008) of the individual photos targeted the Middle Horizon era sectors (Figure 42).



Figure 42. Maps of the North and South Groups of Tiwanaku-affiliated sites at L1 - blue dots indicate individual overhead UAV photos (taken at various elevations: 20-90 m.a.g.s.).

The thorough coverage of Sector A and Sector L allowed for full coverage at multiple elevations. Each of these sectors would receive systematic, full-coverage fly-overs at elevations 40, 60, and 90 meters above ground surface in addition to multitudes of more limited and often

simply advantageous¹⁵¹ overhead flyovers. For Sector A and Sector L flyovers on many different days also meant getting photos with different lighting/shadow conditions, which assisted in later modeling using the images.

The most detailed structure-for-motion models and orthophotos were generated for Sector A and Sector L - the two best-preserved Middle Horizon domestic sectors. Again, these models are primarily used to support more advanced analysis that is presented in later chapters, but Figure 43 and Figure 44 show the primary orthophotos generated for Sector A and Sector L respectively as well as some of the features visible in these types of high-definition, low-altitude aerial photo-based models.

¹⁵¹ A good example here is that most every day we would bring the UAV to the field to conduct completed/in-process overhead photos of excavation blocks. Once the drone was calibrated and, in the air, we would always take additional overhead shots of neighboring sectors and other areas of the site.





The model of Sector A presented in Figure 43 illustrates a number of results that can be extracted from this low-altitude photography and subsequent processing. The top of the figure provides some images of the structure-for-motion workflow (for more on this see *4.1*) used in generating the georeferenced orthophoto below. The other inserts in Figure 43 are meant to demonstrate how useful the extreme high-definition of the orthophoto can be in locating unidentified features as wells as for later analysis and presentation purposes.



Figure 44. Orthophoto mosaic of Sector L with inserts of important details that can be observed in the structure for motion model. This includes exposed *quincha* wall foundations of Middle Horizon era domestic structures (*top left*) and an example of the useful perspective offered by the 3D structure-for-motion models (*lower right*).

Figure 44 is very similar to Figure 43, in that it is centered on the highest-quality orthophoto generated from modeling Sector L. The inserts here present an example as to how fine-grained details of sectors, like barely visible segments of cane wall and posts, can be captured and mapped through UAV photography (*upper left*). The other insert (*lower right*) depicts the three-dimensional qualities of these mosaic images - depicting the network of quebradas that cross the L1L surface.

5.5 Chapter Summary

Chapter 5 has presented the results derived from the largely non-intrusive data collection methods, termed here Reconnaissance. While the methods used to collect these results are quite varied, they all orbited the goal of generating useful maps and other tasks facilitating more advanced work to be done later.

5.1: Here I outlined my initial reconnaissance work surrounding the pre-modern occupation of the site of Cerro San Antonio. This involved generating maps from existing sources as well as my initial, largely informal site visits.

5.2: This subsection reviewed results of more systematic forms of pedestrian reconnaissance. This work involved completing organized transects with formal field crews. The primary result here was the delineation of formal inter-site sectors.

5.3: This reviewed just the basic results of Spot Find collections. This data collection method involved collecting diagnostic, delicate, or otherwise important materials encountered on the surface for later study.

5.4: Here I covered initial results of low-altitude photography via a UAV and the photogrammetry-based model-building processing work undertaken with the photos.

Next: Chapter 6 presents the results gathered from systematic collection methods.

350

Chapter 6 - Systematic Surface Collection

In Chapter 6 I present the results of extensive systematic surface collections undertaken at Cerro San Antonio. This systematic form of collection-based survey targeted the primary Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors (Sectors A, L, U) as identified and documented in the reconnaissance work described in Chapter 5. However, unlike the reconnaissance mode of data collection, the results presented in this chapter are primarily from the single task of systematic surface collection.

6.1 Surface Collection Units

The systematic surface collection utilized the broader site grid which is based on 50x50 meter (2500m²) units. In total the full L1 surface grid contained 1304 50x50 meter units, however only 741 of these fell within the formal site boundary. As described in Chapter 4, the systematic surface collection strategy employed here is a stratified sub-sampling method in which a 10x10 meter (100m²) unit was collected in the southwest corner of each sampled 50x50 meter grid unit.



Figure 44. Orthophoto mosaic of Figure 45. Map of the 50m² L1 site grid with on-site units labeled.

In total 145 surface collection units were sampled at Cerro San Antonio, which is just under 20% of the total on-site surface units. The vast majority of these were collected in 2016 (n=127) with the remaining sampled in 2018 (n=18). Of these sampled units 140 were directly associated with the Tiwanaku domestic sectors: Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U. This resulted in complete, 100% surface coverage of these three sectors. Again, as noted in Chapter 4 the sampling strategy¹⁵² employed at Cerro San Antonio resulted in 4% actual areal coverage, meaning 4% of all surface materials have been collected from these three sectors.

¹⁵² Again, this sampling strategy roughly matches that employed by Goldstein in the Moquegua Archaeological Survey (MAS) project in the middle Osmore drainage (Goldstein 2005:189-190).





The systematic surface collection produced 181 separate specimens containing thousands of individual material fragments (see Appendix XX for unit inventories). Despite the preservation qualities of the local hyperarid climate, the most ubiquitous materials found during surface collection were typical durable, non-organic material types. Ceramic specimens were by far the most ubiquitous and numerous material type - a total of 20,210 individual sherds, were collected in the Tiwanaku affiliated surface collection units. All ceramics were sorted, counted, and weighed in the field, however due to logistical constraints, only diagnostic sherds were curated for future analysis and undecorated body sherds were left in the field (see Chapter 4 for more detailed description).

With these restrictions we collected 92 Ceramic specimens totaling 1,668 individual diagnostic ceramic sherds. The second most common material type was durable, mostly inorganic animal byproducts, categorized here as Fauna. 56 Fauna specimens were collected totaling 648 grams. The most ubiquitous Faunal material type found in the surface collection was marine shell, mainly from the species *Choromytilus sp.* and *Oliva peruviana*. Also recovered in the Fauna specimens were small amounts of camelid bone as well as fragments of coral. 30 specimens collected in these surface collection contexts were Lithics, with the vast majority of these belonging to the Flaked Lithic sub-material category. While many of the Flaked Lithic specimens were simple debitage (flakes and chunks) there were a number of projectile point fragments, side-scrapers, and hoes. While only 4 Ground Lithic specimens (containing 5 ground-stone fragments) were collected, an additional 23 were documented and left in the field due to logistical constraints. The remaining 3 specimens that fall outside these mentioned material categories were likely out of context or intrusive materials¹⁵³.

¹⁵³ This included a colonial-historical shell button (ART), a maize cob (BOT), and an unidentified mineral sample (MIN).

6.2 Material Density Distributions & Heat-Maps

Cerro San Antonio is an ideal locale for the type of surface collection strategy described here as there is absolutely no natural vegetative ground cover, very little sediment accumulation, and (at least in the three domestic sectors discussed here) relatively minimal human disturbance. This is not to say that the materials documented in this systematic surface collection were necessarily always in situ; some portions of these sectors had complicated depositional sequences and that is reflected in surface material distributions. However, the maximal material surface exposure and relatively undisturbed contexts have yielded useful distribution maps, particularly of the more ubiquitous material types. In the remaining sections of this chapter, I present initial results from these surface distribution mapping efforts, focusing primarily on ceramic materials but also incorporating lithic and faunal distributions. Here the results are presented for each sector individually, and while I provide some initial inter-sector comparisons, I save most of this discussion for my more substantial synthesis in Section 3.

Sector A

In total 65 systematic surface collection units were completed in or directly associated with Sector A. Reconnaissance observations had already identified some clear patterns in terms of material culture distribution within this sector. While very little architecture (quincha wall foundations, etc.) is still evident on the surface today, extremely dense scatters of cultural material coincided with extensive rockpiles throughout the western portion of the sector. These rockpile-middens are well-known features of Tiwanaku domestic contexts in the Moquegua enclaves to the northwest. These represent both¹⁵⁴ primary domestic middens and house clearing lots as well as remnants of abandonment site destruction events. Relatively central to

¹⁵⁴ See 3.2 for a more extensive general description of L1A and see 2.3 for a description of these types of contexts in the middle Osmore drainage.

this dense western portion of Sector A is the only definitive, extant architectural feature in the sector, the central plaza. Moving eastwards material scatters are continuous but they begin to taper off sharply and rockpiles are absent beginning approximately halfway across the sector. While the surface collection largely confirmed these initial observations, some far more nuanced patterns have emerged from this systematic work.

Ceramics were the most ubiquitous material type in Sector A, with only 2 of 60 units containing no ceramic sherds. Ceramic sherds were also extremely dense in Sector A, with single 10x10 meter collection units sometimes containing thousands of sherds. This density, coupled with the overall large area of the sector resulted in over 75% of recovered sherds (n = 15,548) coming from the 60 units collected in Sector A.



Figure 47. Heat-maps of Sector A visualizing the density of ceramics collected during systematic surface collection. (*top*) Map of density of all ceramic sherds collected. (*middle-left*) Map of density of plainware ceramic sherds and (*middle-right*) map of density of redware ceramic sherds. (*bottom*) Map includes background heat map of all ceramics as well as overlay of pie charts illustrating relative frequencies of Plainware vs. Redware sherds recovered in each collection unit.

As can be seen in the topmost heat-map in Figure 47, the overall ceramic density distribution largely confirms the patterns described above. In fact, even when broken down into plainware and redware this pattern remains - the western half of the sector is exponentially denser that the eastern half. However, far from uniform, the heat-map helps identify truly discrete areas of high-density clusters or "hot-spots." The most notable density cluster is located in the area extending west from the central plaza. With an average of over 1500 sherds per 100m², this area was the densest single area in the entire sample set. Significantly, the detailed heat-map helps recognize a true "hot-spot" directly adjacent to the southwest of the central plaza and largely restricted to the south and east of the primary N-S and E-W pathway crossroad just to northwest.

The middle heat maps as well as the frequency chart map on the bottom of Figure 47 clarify the differences in distributions between the Tiwanaku ceramic ware types that were recovered in the surface collection. As noted in Chapter 4, these ware types can be described most broadly as plainwares representing largely utilitarian vessel forms and decorated redwares (and more rarely blackwares) representing mostly serving or other ceremonial vessel forms. Clear similarities can be noted between the plainware and redware distributions, primarily that they both reflect the combined (total) distribution map and show a clear hot-spot just to the southwest of the primary plaza and more generally high densities in the western portion of the sector. However, clear differences can be noted as well. While the plainware distribution map largely mirrors the combined (total) map with extremely dense concentrations in the west, gradually tapering off, but with some scattered density clusters in the eastern portion of the sector, the redware is far more restricted in its distribution. This is most stark the eastern portion of the sector where redware is effectively absent, but even in the relative high-density western portion of the sector, redware is still very restricted when compared to plainware. In fact, the density clusters of redware are tied, almost exclusively, to the spaces directly surrounding the central plaza.

359



Figure 48. Heat-map of density distribution of flaked lithic debitage as recovered during systematic surface collection at L1A. Also indicated (*yellow dots*) are Flaked Lithic tools (projectile points, side-scrapers, re-utilized flakes) recovered as Spot Finds during reconnaissance.

Clear distribution patterns emerge in the heat-maps of other material types recovered most frequently in the systematic surface collection as well. The heat-map of debitage (flakes and chunks) left from the production and maintenance of flaked lithics shows start distributional patterns. For this material type there is extremely limited distribution with only a few density clusters to the west and south of the central plaza and a third hot-spot in the far eastern portion of the sector. Also noted in Figure 48 are the locations of flaked lithic tools collected as spot finds. Again, while not systematic completed flaked lithic tools were always collected when encountered so these points are displayed here to give at least some indication where these items were most frequently encountered.



Figure 49. Heat-map of density distribution of marine shell as recovered from surface collection units in Sector A.

As noted above, marine shell was by far the most ubiquitous non-artifact material type recovered during surface collection and the only real proxy for substance remains. As with the other material types, marine shell shows clear high densities in the western portion of the sector, with an extreme spike in density, directly adjacent to the southwest of the central plaza. However, unlike other material types marine shell shows some more density clusters in the northwestern section of the sector as well as some less-dense clustering in the far eastern portion of the sector.

Sector L

In Sector L 38¹⁵⁵ 10x10 meter surface collection units were completed. As with Sector A, observations made during reconnaissance had given some solid impressions of the general distribution of surface materials across L1L. Rockpile-midden features were also present here, but unlike the sprawling nature of those identified in the western side of L1A, in Sector L they are largely restricted to the network of shallow quebradas which dissect the blufftop the sector occupies. The planar surfaces that sit above the quebradas are conversely relatively clear of rockpiles and appeared to contain significantly less overall cultural debris. These patterns would be largely confirmed through the systematic survey, but interesting deviations were also present.

¹⁵⁵ Six of these units were well outside the established eastern boundary of the sector, but were used to ensure this perimeter was indeed correct.



Figure 50. Heat-maps of Sector L visualizing the density of ceramics collected during systematic surface collection. (*top*) Map of density of all ceramic sherds collected. (*middle-left*) Map of density of plainware ceramic sherds and (*middle-right*) map of density of redware ceramic sherds. (*bottom*) Map includes background heat map of all ceramics as well as overlay of pie charts illustrating relative frequencies of Plainware vs. Redware sherds recovered in each collection unit.

Like Sector A, ceramic sherds were also the most ubiquitous material type collected during the systematic surface survey in Sector L. 4,295 total sherds were gathered in the collection units associated with L1L; however, only 25 specimens containing 573 individual sherds were collected for future analysis from these contexts. Importantly, when mapped out in the spatial heat-map format, ceramic sherd distributions do not necessarily conform to the observations made during reconnaissance. Primarily, ceramic sherds were not restricted to the quebradas, and while there were some hot-spots, the overall distribution of sherds, when taken as a whole, were relatively even throughout the central portion of the sector (Figure 50).

However, when broken down into major ware types some more uneven patterning becomes apparent within the ceramic assemblage. The plainware heat-map illustrates how while the majority of the sector had moderate and relatively evenly dispersed plainware sherd densities, there are higher densities found along the northern and western boundaries of the sector (Figure 50). The heat-map of the redware distributions show an extremely distinct distribution pattern. There are two clear density clusters of redware - one in the northwest portion of the sector and the other in the southeastern area of the sector (Figure 50). While both redware hot-spots have high densities, the frequency pie chart map in Figure 50 shows that redware made up a higher proportion of the ceramic assemblage in the southern hot-spot. Finally, there is a clear gap between these two hot-spots, suggesting truly discrete activity areas.

364



Figure 51. Heat-map of density distribution of flaked lithic debitage as recovered during systematic surface collection at L1L. Also indicated (yellow dots) are Flaked Lithic tools (projectile points, side-scrapers, re-utilized flakes) recovered as Spot Finds during reconnaissance.

Non-ceramic material types recovered in Sector L were far more restricted, in terms of quantity, ubiquity, and overall spatial distribution. Figure 51 shows how flaked lithic debitage was quite limited, with 88% of the debitage (by weight) deriving from a single collection unit (22EE), located in a quebrada bottom on the eastern edge of the sector.



Figure 52. Heat-map of density distribution of marine shell as recovered from surface collection units in L1L.

The distribution of marine shell is more in-line with the initial observations of L1L. These fauna materials were found almost exclusively in the surface collection units that coincided with the rockpile-midden features in quebrada bottoms. Again, while preservation did not preserve remnants of other subsistence goods (foodstuffs, etc.) on the surface, as a proxy marine shell does suggest typical domestic, midden-based deposition patterns.

Sector U

Sector U is defined by continuous but sparse material surface scatter and lack of rockpile midden features which made its boundary difficult to delineate, even through more intensive forms of reconnaissance. It is for this reason that L1U was the the only major Tiwanakuaffiliated domestic sector in which the systematic surface collection helped define its final perimeter. In total 37 surface collection units were completed within or directly associated with Sector U. Again, while this systematic collection largely confirmed initial observations it also shed light on features of the sector not readily detectable in reconnaissance.



Figure 53. Heat-maps of Sector U visualizing the density of ceramics collected during systematic surface collection. (top) Map of density of all ceramic sherds collected. (middle-left) Map of density of plainware ceramic sherds and (middle-right) map of density of redware ceramic sherds. (bottom) Map includes background heat map of all ceramics as well as overlay of pie charts illustrating relative frequencies of Plainware vs. Redware sherds recovered in each collection unit.

While ceramics were still the most ubiquitous material type collected only 14 of the 37 collection units in L1U contained any ceramics at all, and these were in very low numbers. Relatively restricted and very sparse density clusters can be seen in the western and eastern edges of the sector (Figure 53). When separated into major ware types, it is evident that the majority of the L1U ceramic assemblage comes from plainware, as the redware density map barely even registers on the heat-map index. However, in spite of this low density, the systematic surface collection actually revealed a greater material surface imprint than would have been anticipated after reconnaissance.



Figure 54. Heat-map of density distribution of flaked lithic debitage as recovered during systematic surface collection at L1U. Also indicated (yellow dots) are Flaked Lithic tools (projectile points, side-scrapers, re-utilized flakes) recovered as Spot Finds during reconnaissance.

One of the most striking results of the entire systematic surface collection at Cerro San Antonio came from the flaked lithic assemblage from Sector U. As reflected in the L1U heatmap in Figure 54, lithic debitage was found in very high densities in several locations within Sector U, but particularly the northeastern section. Present in over 27% of the L1U collection units, not only did Sector U have the strongest hot-spots, but the highest ubiquity of lithic debitage. In addition to this, while there were some projectile points and other finished tools (or tool fragments) recovered, these types of spot finds were far rarer in Sector U.



Figure 55. Heat-map of density distribution of marine shell as recovered from surface collection units in L1U.

Finally, unlike the other material types marine shell aligned with the observations made during reconnaissance. That is to say it was found in very few units and in extremely low quantities, barely appearing on the heat-map register (Figure 55).

6.3 Chapter Summary

In Chapter 6 I presented the results from the systematic surface collection at Cerro San Antonio (L1). This category of data collection involved the single task of using the site-wide grid to systematically sample the surface materials within each of the three Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors. *6.1*: Here I relayed the basic results from the overall systematic sampling strategy employed at L1. This involved collecting all materials within a 10x10 meter subunit for each sampled 50x50 meter grid unit.

6.2: In this subsection I presented the initial results from using the materials systematically collected in the field to produce heat-maps which help visualize the distribution of these surface materials.

Next: In Chapter 7 I cover the extensive results garnered from the various excavations that I undertook within these same Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors.

Chapter 7 - Excavations

This chapter lays out the results for the excavations completed at Cerro San Antonio (L1) for this dissertation research. Excavations targeted and were completed exclusively in the three (3) Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors: Sector A (L1A), Sector L (L1L), and Sector U (L1U). Here in this chapter, I focus almost entirely on context-based data collected from these excavations, and while I do provide some basic results of the materials recovered in those contexts, I reserve most of that information for Chapter 8 - Material Analysis. Excavations were conducted during two field seasons - 2016 and 2019¹⁵⁶. Excavation strategies employed during these two seasons were quite different, with 2016 representing simple test excavations and 2019 representing extensive household archeology-style excavations. However, ultimately 243 major contexts (loci) were investigated across ten (10) primary test units/excavation blocks. As with other sections here I largely present data in discrete, context-based sections, with major comparisons and interpretation reserved for Section 3¹⁵⁷.

7.1 Test Excavations (2016)

During the 2016 field season¹⁵⁸ five (5) 2x2 meter (4m²) units were excavated in Sector A (L1A) with the UCSD Archaeological Field School. These were test excavations in the sense that they were arbitrarily 2x2 meter units with no amplifications or extensions and their primary function was to gauge logistics of future, more extensive excavations at the site. This included determining issues such as the standard depth of deposits and the quality of preservation in

¹⁵⁶ Most of these blocks were actually plotted and even some surface features mapped during the 2018 portion of this field season, so in some places these excavation blocks may be referenced as 2018-19 excavated contexts.

¹⁵⁷ Additional raw data (digitized field forms, specimen lists, additional excavation base-maps, etc.) can be found in Appendices XX and where otherwise noted in the chapter.

¹⁵⁸ All results here are in the publicly available informe submitted to the Peruvian Ministerio de Cultura.

subsurface materials and features. The location of these units was not random or arbitrary and excavations did target areas of interest within Sector A. These areas were determined through the reconnaissance and systematic surface collection described above (*Chapter 5* and *Chapter 6*). More information regarding the methods used in these test excavations can be found in Chapter 4 (see *4.1*). Below I go unit-by-unit providing basic context overviews and detailed descriptions of important, specific findings. However, here I wanted to highlight some of the commonalities between the units and results of the units when taken as a whole.



Figure 56. Map of the five test excavations completed during the 2016 field season. All five units are located in the western portion of Sector A (L1A).

All five test units were excavated in the western half of Sector A and fell within the dense concentration of rockpile-midden deposits centered there. As noted above, all five units were 2x2 meters in dimension and did not receive any formal amplification, therefore the total

excavated area during 2016 was only 20m². While completed unit base-level depths would vary, all five units were relatively shallow with deposits never exceeding one meter below the local ground surface¹⁵⁹. In total 950 liters (0.95m³) of sediment were excavated and sorted from 35 major loci in the five test units. Only six true features were identified and excavated within these units with only one clear example of in situ architecture located. However, material preservation, including that of organic materials, were quite good and 178 specimens representing 12 of the 16 major material categories were collected for future analysis (see *4.1* for more on material categorization).

Sector	Test Unit	SW corner (N)	SW corner (E)	Total Area (m²)	Total volume excavated & fine-screened (liters)	Total Specimens	Major Structures included
Α	L1A-2016-1	8051422	314102	4	101.25	27	-
	L1A-2016-2	8051425	314183	4	61.25	66	-
	L1A-2016-3	8051486	314115	4	122.50	38	Special Structure L1A-2
	L1A-2016-4	8051540	313920	4	55.00	19	-
	L1A-2016-5	8051335	314105	4	135.00	28	Special Structure L1A-1

 Table 9. Basic information regarding five test units excavated during the 2016 field season.

In sum these test excavations largely confirmed initial assumptions that deposits in L1A, and likely in the majority of the site, were quite shallow and represented only a single period of occupation. This is not to say that there was no stratigraphy or other markers of diachronic occupational patterns, but rather that in no tested context did there appear to be superimposed strata deriving from different major cultural periods. All features and materials documented in these units held exclusive affiliation with known Tiwanaku forms and styles. However, each unit did produce relatively disparate assemblages and the final contexts revealed were at times quite

¹⁵⁹ As noted in Chapter 4 (*4.1*) each unit used its own localized datum - there were either place rebar or markers on local boulders.

different.

Below I present the basic results from each of the five test units separately, targeting their specific contexts and major material findings. Each unit description is effectively organized into three subsections: the initial context description, surface and initial excavation observations, and then a area-by-area breakdown of the specific contexts defined in each test unit.

Unit: L1A-2016-1

This 2x2 meter unit was placed, as closely as possible to the center of the L1A rockpilemidden density cluster, directly south of the central plaza (Figure 57). While the results from systematic surface collection presented in Chapter 6 were not available, data drawn from the initial reconnaissance (see Chapter 5) helped select this location. However, in addition to this general location selection, the specific placement of the final L1A-2016-Unit 1 location was to sample what appeared to be a rectangular clearing bordered by rockpile-midden deposits.


Figure 57. Detailed orthophoto indicating the location of test unit L1A-2016-1 which set to sample a particularly regular-shaped domestic clearing, bordered by deflated rockpile-midden deposits. (*insert*) indicates L1A-2016-1's location in the western portion of Sector A, including rough locations of ceramic densities.

Not only was this clearing a bit larger than most others, it also appeared to have more of a rectangular form compared to the more irregular clearings amongst the neighboring rock-pile midden deposits. I chose to place the 2x2 meter test unit in the southwestern corner of this clearing - making sure to also include small portions of the bordering rockpile-middens (Figure 57). Unit L1A-2016-1 utilized a single datum (Datum: L1A-1) which was a looped rebar set approximately 50cm to the south of the southwest corner nail.



Figure 58. Unit level base-map for test unit L1A-2016-1. This is the base of excavation Level 1 (note: elevations are cm below local datum: L1A-1).

Two distinct areas were apparent from the initial establishment of this unit. The deflated rockpile-midden deposits which formed the border around the above-mentioned clearing ran along the entire western and southern edge of the unit (Figure 58). This area is defined by low-lying rockpiles, composed primarily of small cobbles and field stones as well as high concentrations of smaller angular gravel and other natural geological debris. These rockpile deposits also contained the vast majority of materials visible on the surface - almost these materials were almost entirely non-diagnostic Tiwanaku plainware ceramic sherds and three small fragments of marine shell. Conversely, an area relatively clear of debris defined the the

northeastern portion of the unit (Figure 58). The exposed ground surface of both of these areas were ultimately defined by a thin, well-weathered patina crust formed through a combination of fog moisture and high levels of wind and sun exposure.

For Unit L1A-2016-1 the first level of excavation involved collecting all surface materials and completing a shallow scrape to remove the surface patina - this was kept to under 1cm in depth when possible. The 2x2 meter unit was excavated as a single context and all materials were kept together. This initial subsurface exposure confirmed what initial observations suggested. An approximately one-meter wide strip of rockpile-midden deposits ran along the western and southern portions of the unit, with a distinct area clear of stones and cultural debris defining the northeast corner of the unit (Figure 58 and Figure 59-a). Significantly, this initial subsurface exposure also confirmed that the rockpile deposits did intersect at roughly a 90degree angle, giving further credence to the initial observation that the clearing being sampled was indeed an intentional domestic feature. Moving forward these two areas, Area A - the rockpile-midden deposits and Area B - the clearing, would define the excavations in this test unit moving forward.

Area A

Most of the unit fell within Area A, which designated the rockpile-midden deposits. After the initial Level 1 scrape, Area A received two more excavation levels: Level 2 and Level 3 (superpiso). In Level 2 all cobbles and cultural debris were removed from the deposits. There were no clear stratigraphic layers represented within the rockpile deposit, with most of the larger cobbles appearing on the same original ground surface or even piled directly on top of each other. Including rocks and sediment removed in this layer, the rockpile-midden features appear to have been approximately 15-25cm in height (see example of a profile in Figure 59-c).

Cultural materials were predictably also quite dense in this primary rockpile-midden removal layer. 4479 grams of cultural materials were recovered in the 90 liters of sediment

removed in Level 2. The majority of this weight was from the 495 ceramic sherds (3827 grams). Sherds were predominately non-diagnostic Tiwanaku-style plainware with the few diagnostic sherds suggesting ollas were the most common vessel type represented; however, a small amount of decorated redware was also recovered from this context. There was also significant amounts of camelid bone and marine shell (288 grams) present. Botanics were also well represented and a particularly variable material category (265 grams), containing large amounts of consumable botanics (maize cobs, gourd fragments, and various seeds) as well as architecture-derived botanics (cane and wood). There were also small amounts of coarse-weave wool textile fragments, lithic flakes, and organics like camelid coprolites, animal fur, and feathers recovered in this rockpile removal level.

Level 3 in Area A removed a final organic lens which was exposed after removing the rockpile-midden deposits. While this level contained far fewer materials than the previous level, the organic lens was certainly the result of fine-scale debris that had filtered through and leeched out of the lager fragments of domestic refuse in the midden above. Also exposed here was a small, circular stain feature, likely representing a simple ash lens (Feature: R-1). No additional architectural features were identified under the rockpile-midden deposits.

Area B

As the portion of the unit defined by lack of cultural material or even stones, it is not surprising that Area B revealed very little cultural material in the single excavation level (Level 2) following the Level 1 scrape. After the surface patina was removed the underlying sediment was extremely loose silt, almost certainly wind-blown sediment that had collected over the centuries. No compacted or semi-compacted surface was encountered.



Figure 59. Selected photos of important features of test Unit L1A-2016-1. (*a*) Photo of the entire unit after the Level 1 scrape, (*b*) feature R-2 in Area B after the east 1/2 had been bisected - note maize cobs and other domestic refuse protruding from center profile, and (*c*) the southern profile of unit after completion, illustrating the depth of the deflated rockpile-midden deposit.

A significant find here in Area B was an informal pit feature (Feature: R-2) (Figure 59-b). The feature was quite small (0.58x0.7cm) as well as quite shallow (18cm). The base of the feature and one of the sides were bordered by bedrock, which like much of the site is often only centimeters below the ground surface, and likely explains why the pit was so shallow here. Some semi-compacted sediment along one corner of the pit may have been the remnants of some more formal pit preparation. The pit contained small amounts of wool cord, plainware ceramic sherds, camelid bone, and marine shell. However, most materials recovered from R-2 were botanic remains. Significant amounts of maize cobs and beans were recovered as well as moderate amounts of wood and charcoal.

Unit: L1A-2016-2

Test Unit L1A-2016-2 was placed approximately 75 meters due east of Unit L1A-2016-1 and was intended to sample the eastern extent of the dense rockpile-midden that defined the western half of Sector A. The final placement of the unit was relatively arbitrary, but it did contain three deflated rockpile-midden deposits. For this unit a medium-sized, but deeply planted boulder located just 0.5m from the south edge of the unit was used as the local datum (Datum: L1A-2).



Figure 60. Detailed orthophoto indicating the location of test Unit L1A-2016-2 and its location at the eastern extent of the rockpile-midden deposits which define the western portion of Sector A.

Test Unit L1A-2016-2 contained small portions of three separate rockpile-midden deposits. Each of these deposits intersected the 2x2 meter unit in different corners - the northwest, southwest, and southeast (Figure 60). These piles were relatively distinct from the clear space that separated them, but they were nonetheless extremely deflated, rising less than 10cm above the modern ground surface.



Figure 61. Unit level base-map for test unit L1A-2016-2. This is the base map for the surface (superficie) before excavation (note: elevations are cm below local datum: L1A-2).

Unlike the prior unit in this unit we used area divisions beginning immediately in Level 1.

For L1A-2016-2 we used four areas for the initial patina scrape (Figure 61 and Figure 62 - a, b) -

Area A (rockpile-midden in southwest corner), Area B (rockpile-midden in northwest corner),

Area C (rockpile-midden in southeast corner), and Area D (is the clearing separating the rockpiles).

Area A

Area A was the rockpile-midden deposit which entered the unit in the southwest corner. While extremely deflated, we still excavated this area in two separate levels - Level 1 and Level 2. Overall, Area A was quite dense with cultural material. For instance, in the 10 liters of soil removed in the initial patina removal and surface clearing during Level 1 we recovered 118 ceramic sherds, 50 grams of macro-botanics, and a variety of other domestic refuse. Level 2 yielded fewer materials and largely involved removing small cobbles and gravel. Interestingly, once the rockpile-midden was fully removed a relatively compacted surface was exposed. This was excavated as a possible floor feature (Feature: R-2), however it is more likely that the compacted surface represents a laminated surface, generated by the formally overlying rockpile-midden deposit.

Area B

Area B covered almost the entire northwest quadrant. This rockpile-midden deposit was also quite deflated and contained a depression along the northern edge, leading out of the unit. Unlike Area A, Level 1 in Area B revealed only small amounts of cultural material. However, Level 2 revealed significant amount of domestic refuse. In just 10 liters we recovered over 200 ceramic sherds, 54 grams of macro-botanics - maize cobs and wood fragments in particular, and a large number of camelid bone and marine shell fragments. Again, unlike Area A, no compact surface was exposed once the rocks and cultural material had been removed. We excavated the shallow depression at the north edge of the rockpile as a separate area/feature (Area E/Feature: R-3). While this area did contain a significant amount of cultural material, it was generally similar to the surrounding Area B and was extremely shallow.

Area C

Area C was located in the southeast corner of the unit and as with Area A and Area B was an extremely deflated rock-pile midden deposit. Also like the other areas, Area C was excavated in two levels - Level 1 and Level 2. Here the upper level, Level 1, contain the majority of cultural material. Tiwanaku-style plainware ceramic sherds were the most heavily represented type though small amounts of decorated redware sherds, plain-weave wool textile fragments, and lithic flakes were also recovered. Again, like the other midden deposits, there were large amounts of macro-botanic materials recovered (wood, maize cobs, gourd fragments, cane) as well as some camelid bone, crustacean fragments, and marine shell. Level 2 was only a shallow scrape of the organic materials underlying the rockpile and yielded similar but far fewer domestic refuse.



Figure 62. Selected photos of important features in test Unit L1A-2016-2. (a) overhead photo of original unit surface (superficie) before excavations, (b) overhead photo of unit after Level 2 hard been completed and rockpile deposits had been removed - note the organic staining, (c) shallow pit feature R-1 which was exposed under the Area C rockpile - note concentration of marine shell (olive shells) as pictured in post field catalog photo (d).

At the western edge of Area C, a distinct organic stain was noted at the base of Level 2. This feature was designated R-1. The pit was only 9cm at its greatest depth and only produced moderate amounts of refuse. Interestingly, no ceramic fragments were found and most collected materials were macro-botanics and camelid bone. However, an interesting find was made at the base of the feature, where a cluster of five well preserved olive shells (Figure 62 - c, d). While these marine shells are common within the broader assemblage at L1, the size and

preservation of the specimens collected in R-1 are noteworthy.

Area D

Predictably Area D, which was the area relatively clear of both cultural and geological debris (Figure 61) did not produce much material. Only trace amounts of fauna, botanics, and some camelid coprolites were recovered here. Once all rockpiles were removed Area D was incorporated into a full 2x2m unit excavation level¹⁶⁰ that confirmed we had reached a culturally sterile base level.

Unit: L1A-2016-3

The primary goal of test Unit L1A-2016-3's placement was to test the area directly adjacent to the central plaza feature. The unit was approximately five meters north of the plazas poorly-defined northern edge. As described later (see *7.2*), while unknown before it was selected, this location turned out to be ideal as it sampled what would be the northern profile of a small mound feature¹⁶¹. The single local datum for this unit (Datum: L1A-3) was a large, deeply-set cobble, just south of the southern unit edge.

¹⁶⁰ This is referred to as Area F in the notes and field forms.

¹⁶¹ This feature would be targeted for extensive excavations during the 2019 excavations - Block L1A-2019-2.



Figure 63. Overhead drone photo of the location of test Unit L1A-2016-3, just north of the central plaza feature of Sector A. Also depicted is the Middle Horizon-era pathway which crosses roughly due east-west across the center of the sector and directly through the plaza.

A portion of L1A-2016-3 was covered with a poorly defined, deflated rockpile-midden feature. The deposit covered the entire northwest quadrant of the unit and spilled into the remaining three quadrants as well. Medium to large cobbles were scattered throughout the 2x2m test unit with two clear clusters in the western half of the unit (Figure 63). As with the previous unit, in this test unit area distinctions were made from Level 1 onwards.



Figure 64. Unit level base-map for test unit L1A-2016-3. This is the base map for the base of Level 1 (except still superficie in Area C) before excavation (note: elevations are cm below local datum: L1A-3).

Three areas defined the excavations in L1A-2016-3: Area A - the slight slope in the southern portion of the unit that represents of the north edge of the mound feature, Area B - the main portion of the rockpile-midden feature which is largely restricted to the northwest quadrant.

Area A

Area A covered the entire southern third of the test unit and was composed of a surface relatively clear of debris and sloping downward to the north. Five large and several medium-small cobbles protruded from the subsurface in the western part of the area (Figure 64). This area was excavated in two primary levels: Level 1 and Level 2. While the patina crust present in most units was not as pronounced in this specific area, Level 1 was still a relatively shallow scrape. Level 2 was far more substantial, and ultimately 85 liters of sediment were removed to

reach culturally sterile soil. In Level 2 we also removed some of the large cobbles that were in the more superficial levels. The base of Area A would be marked by a relatively compacted, but culturally sterile surface.

While not as dense as a typical rockpile-midden deposit, Area A did produce significant quantities of cultural material. 253 ceramic sherds were collected in the Level 1 and Level 2 specimen lots. Significantly, a few of these sherds would contain some of the clearest examples of Tiwanaku iconographic elements produced in the 2016 test excavation collections (see 8.1). The Level 1 and Level 2 excavations in Area A would also yield significant amounts of botanic material which was comprised mostly of small fragments of wood as well as a large number of maize cobs. Camelid bone, marine shell, and coarse-weave wool textile fragments were also found in moderate quantities.



Figure 65. Selected photos from test Unit L1A-2016-3. (a) Overhead photo of the base of excavations (base of Level 2 in most areas)- note: the mound feature extending from the southern unit wall. (b) A photo of the southern profile of the unit - clearly visible are complete and fragmented adobe bricks, protruding from the mound feature (Special Structure L1A-2).

The most important find in Area A and in test Unit L1A-2016-3 more generally, was primarily exposed in the south unit profile. This finding was multiple adobe bricks and several large brick fragments protruding from the mound feature to the south. While only small amounts of fragments and no complete bricks were exposed in the unit itself, the positioning of the bricks in the south profile wall did suggest some of the bricks may have been in situ (Figure 65 - b). This finding suggested that instead of representing a standard rockpile-midden feature, the mound directly adjacent to Unit L1A-2016-3 was likely the remains of a more substantial architectural feature (Special Structure L1A-2). This mound feature would be the primary target for more extensive excavation in 2019 and was the location of excavation Block L1A-2019-2 (see 7.2).

Area B

This area represented the rockpile-midden deposit that covered the entire northwest quadrant of the unit. Area B would be excavated in three levels: Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3. Level 1 was the most substantial level where we attempted to remove the bulk of rocks and cultural debris. Domestic refuse was quite dense here with 328 ceramic sherds collection and over 250 grams of faunal remains. Levels 2 and 3 were also relatively dense with cultural material but each level was about half the depth of Level 1. Overall, Area B was similar to the deflated rockpile-midden contexts excavated elsewhere in Sector A.

Area C

Area C was the area separating Area A from the Area B rockpile-midden, that was relatively clear of any ground debris. This area was excavated in a single level (Level 2), and while some materials were recovered, culturally sterile soil was reached relatively quickly.

Unit: L1A-2016-4

Test Unit L1A-2016-4 was placed with the intention of probing the edge of the Sector A rockpile concentration. It was placed as far in the far northwestern corner of the sector as possible, while still falling in the area with some evidence of domestic activity.



Figure 66. Detailed orthophoto of the northwestern corner of Sector A, indicating the location of test Unit L1A-2016-4.

Overall, this unit proved to be as expected. Deposits were far less dense, particularly in terms of cultural debris, in spite of its peripheral location did still contain some materials. The surface of this unit was defined to two areas: Area A - an extremely deflated rockpile-midden feature and Area B - an area relatively clear of any debris. Level 1 was excavated as a full 2x2 meter unit excavation level - a light scrape of the surface patina. The areas each received an separate area level excavation (Level 2) and Area A received a final excavation level (Level 3). In total only 110 liters of sediment were removed for this entire unit.



Figure 67. Base map of test Unit L1A-2016-4 before excavation (superficie).

While far less dense than the rockpile-midden deposits excavation in the previous three units, Area A did produce some moderate amounts of typical domestic debris, including: plainware ceramic sherds, camelid bone, marine shell, plain-weave wool textile fragments, and a variety of macro-botanics.



Figure 68. Overhead photo of final base level (Level 3 - Area A, Level 2 - Area B) of test Unit L1A-2016-4.

Only of the only notable aspects of Unit L1A-2016-4 was the significant presence of powdery white mineral throughout the unit (Figure 68). This is almost certainly a form of naturally occurring calcium-carbonate that has leached-up from the bedrock below.

Unit: L1A-2016-5

Unit L1A-2016-5, was the most specifically placed of the 2016 test units. This final 2x2 meter test unit was placed to further expose a relatively small but clear architectural feature visible on the surface. The feature was composed of medium-sized angular field stones and some more rounded cobbles set into the ground in a rectangular formation. It was unclear from the exposed portions on the surface whether this formation represented a collar of a rectangular subsurface feature or the foundation of walls for a super-structure. However, ultimately it would be decided that this feature represented the foundation of a larger structure, eventually

designated Special Structure L1A-1. Finally, as will be elaborated more below, the feature had clearly been disturbed in the past with clear evidence for an intrusive pit in the center of the feature with a back dirt pile directly adjacent. However, based on inspection of other disturbance and looting features throughout the site, the patina covering the back dirt pile would suggest pre-modern timing for the disturbance.



Figure 69. Detailed orthophoto indicating location of test Unit L1A-2016-5 in relation to other test units and identified features in Sector A.

The feature was located along the southern edge of Sector A, overlooking the quebrada which contains the Sector B cemetery just a few hundred meters to the northeast. Significantly, this feature was directly aligned, along a north-south axis to the central plaza feature, which is

approximately 130 meters due north. However, the plaza and the architectural feature in Unit L1A-2016-5 are oriented in opposite directions, with the plaza oriented approximately NW-SE (40° west of north.) and the architectural feature oriented roughly NE-SW (10° east of north).



Figure 70. Base map of test Unit L1A-2016-5 at the base of excavations. Clearly visible is the uneven disturbance pit which damaged the entire interior of the feature.

Due to the small size of the architectural feature and the disturbed nature of the overall context, this unit was excavated in three basic areas: Area A - the feature's interior, Area B - the exterior of the feature, and Amplification 1 (AMP 1) - the back-dirt pile left from the disturbance, which partially fell outside the western boundary of the 2x2 meter unit (Figure 70 and Figure 71 - a, b).

Area A (Special Structure L1A-1)

Area A was the interior of the architectural feature. This space was approximately square with roughly equal dimensions of 1x1 meter. As noted above, this area was extremely disturbed with a large and uneven pit dug right in the center and encompassing most of interior. As such, the vast majority of sediment removed from Area A represented loose wind-blown sediment that had naturally deposited after the disturbance event took place. This sediment was removed in just two excavation levels. Level 1 was a relatively shallow level in which the main goal was to remove several medium-sized cobbles that were sitting in with the wind-blown sediment. Very little cultural material was recovered in this initial layer, consistent with the deposition pattern expected of a post-use disturbance pit.

Excavation Level 2 was more substantial, with 40 liters of sediment removed. Far more cultural material was present in this level as well. While not as dense as several of the rockpilemidden deposits described above, there was a fair amount of domestic debris found in this lower level. Tiwanaku-style plainware ceramic sherds and camelid bone were the two best represented examples of this debris. Interestingly, over 150 grams of charcoal was also recovered from this level. In fact, charcoal flecks and staining made up a substantial portion of the matrix in Level 2 as well.



Figure 71. Selected photos from test Unit L11A-2016-5. (a) Overhead photo of unit surface (superficie) before excavation. (b) Both overhead and oblique angle photos of Unit L1A-2016-5 architectural feature (Special Structure L1A-1) after excavations. (c) Copper artifacts recovered from Area A and the AMP back dirt removal.

In addition to the more typical domestic refuse, a number of more unique material finds were made in this area as well. First, four sherds of miniature vessels were recovered. As will be discussed later (see 8.1) these miniature vessels (minis) almost always took typical plainware vessel forms and could range from low-fired pinch pots to more formally made, fired ceramics. The other significant unique find was four fragments of metal artifacts. Two fragments belong to a single artifact, a *tupu* pin - used for keeping clothing or hairstyles in their desired place. An additional two fragments were also recovered an could have originally derived from a similar

item. All four fragments show various signs of being intentionally destroyed - the two fragments from the *tupu* appear to have been snapped clear and one of the other fragments has been intentionally rolled-up (Figure 71 - c). All materials appear to be made of the same metal with oxidation indicating copper as the dominant alloy. Again, the implication of these unique findings will be discussed in later chapters (see Section 3).

The excavations revealed that the field stones and cobbles were set into the ground surface forming an inner and outer course (Figure 71). Most of these courses were still in situ, however much of the northern course was largely destroyed. Ultimately, other than the disturbance pit feature, no architectural features or subdivisions were exposed within Area A. However, based on the lack of any evidence for formal subsurface features, it would seem that the stones composing this feature likely represent the foundation for walls as opposed to the collar of some subsurface structure.

Area B

This area was all areas of the unit that fell outside of the architectural feature. This was effectively just a narrow strip of area in the southeast portion of the unit and an additional small area in the northwest corner. This area was excavated in a single excavation level (Level 1). As with Level 1 in Area A, the majority of material removed here in Area B were dislodged cobbles and field stones. Just ten liters of sediment were removed and relatively small amounts of typical domestic refuse. However, also recovered were small amounts of the unique materials found in Area A, including sherds from mini ceramic vessels and two small fragments of copper.

AMP - Back Dirt

Finally, this unit also incorporated systematically removing and sifting the back dirt pile, associated with the disturbance feature. This was unique for the 2016 test units as the majority of this feature fell just outside the unit boundaries. The deflated and weathered back dirt pile

covered approximately 3x1 meters of area directly outside the western unit wall. This feature was removed in a single, large level. In total this back dirt pile was composed of just over 200 liters of sediment. Both the matrix of the sediment in the pile and the materials recovered clearly confirmed that this sediment did indeed come from the disturbance pit. Significantly, two more substantial fragments of metal (copper) were recovered from this disturbance feature.

7.2 Household Excavations (2018-19)

In the multi-year field season lasting from 2018 through 2019, extensive excavations were completed in each of the three Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors. Unlike the 2016 excavations in which just five arbitrary 2x2 meter units were excavated, these 2018-19 excavations took more of a household archeology approach. As explained in Chapter 4 (see *4.1*), these excavations sought to open large areas in order to expose any surviving architectural plans as well as articulated material scatters. It is for this reason that in this section, as opposed using the terms "unit" or "test unit" to refer specific excavation blocks was to delineate a comprehensive view of the spaces and activities that, at least partially, defined daily life for individuals and their encompassing communities at Cerro San Antonio. As with the previous subsection, here I go block-by-block and describe each major area in its own terms. Also, like the previous section, here most data presented are context-oriented with most discussion regarding materials recovered reserved for the following chapter (Chapter 8) and major comparisons and other synthesis held for the final section of this thesis (Section 3).

During the 2018 portion of the season the location of the excavation blocks were selected and their base parameters were established. During this time base nails were set at 2meter intervals for the 4x4 meter units that formed the starting-point for the excavation blocks. Each of the three sectors being sampled (Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U) had multiple

excavation block established, though only some of these would actually be excavated. In total eight (8) blocks were established with five (5) eventually being excavated (Figure 72).



Figure 72. Map displaying the locations of (*red*) completed 2018-19 excavation block locations, as well as the (blue) location of blocks not pursued in 2019 excavations and (*black*) location of the completed 2016 test units in L1A.

In the end, two of the three excavation blocks in Sector A (L1A-2019-2 and L1A-2019-3), two of three excavation blocks in Sector L (L1L-2019-1 and L1L-2019-3), and one of two blocks in Sector U (L1U-2019-1) were completey excavated (Figure 72).

Sector	Excavation Block	Original SW corner (N)	Original SW corner (E)	Total Area (M ²)	Total volume excavated & fine-screened (liters)	Total Specimens	Major Structures included
А	L1A-2019-1	8051422.18	314103.76	not excavated	-	-	-
	L1A-2019-2	8051483.23	314114.53	24	635	251	Special Structure: L1A-2
	L1A-2019-3	8051480.50	314045.80	8	242.4	88	-
L	L1L-2019-1	8052294.25	314809.46	64	988.75	334	Domestic Structure: L1L-1
	L1L-2019-2	8052180.06	314711.92	not excavated	-	-	-
	L1L-2019-3	8052180.03	314686.75	60	945.4	313	Domestic Structure: L1L-2 & L1L-3
U	L1U-2019-1	8052570.23	314867.17	16	180	52	-
	L1U-2019-2	8052578.21	314868.28	not excavated	-	-	-

Table 10. Table of important information of all excavation blocks completed during the 2018-19field season.

In total 176 square meters of area were excavated in five (5) separate excavation blocks across the three (3) sampled sectors (L1A, L1L, and L1U). Each of the five (5) excavation blocks' final area was different and the total area excavated in each sector would also be unequal (Table 10). The exact reasons for final block dimensions are explained for each individual excavation block below.

Block: L1L-2019-1

Excavation Block L1L-2019-1 was the largest single area excavated during the 2018-19 season¹⁶². In total 68m² were exposed revealing the remains of a single, multi-room domestic structure and its associated features. Here approximately 988.75 liters of sediment were

¹⁶² Overall, L1L was the least disturbed sector investigated at the site and contained a significant amount of surviving architectural elements and *in situ* material deposits. It is for this reason that significantly more area was exposed here (and similarly in the other excavation block in Sector L - L1L-2019-3), as compared to blocks in Sector A and Sector U.

removed and fine-screened, with all cultural and non-sediment-based natural materials collected and sorted for subsequent analysis. Ultimately 334 material specimens, composed of thousands of material fragments were cataloged from this block.



Figure 73. Detailed orthophoto showing broader context of Block L1L-2019-1 and associated surface features at the northern edge of Sector L.

This excavation block was located at the northern end of the relatively level blufftop plain that forms much of the Sector L surface, just 20 meters from the steep slope that marks the boundary of the sector. The specific location for Block L1L-2019-1 was selected due to a concentration of small segments of wall foundations. Like most architecture exposed in Sector L these walls were made using a wattle-and-daub construction style, known locally as *quincha*. The specific manifestations of *quincha* will be described in detail when pertinent below, but its important to note from the start that when quincha wall foundations are referred to here, this is generally referring to short (normally less than 5cm) segments of cane protruding from the ground surface in a linear formation. In the case of L1L-2019-1, multiple linear segments appeared to be roughly perpendicular in orientation, suggesting the remnants of multiple walls. In the original 4x4m unit that formed the starting point for the block contained three (3) separate segments of wall foundation, with an additional six (6) segments located on the surface in the various 2x2m expansion units.

Due to the size of the excavation block, two local datums were necessary. Datum L1L-1, located just to the west of the block, was a well-set rebar loop that was shot-in with a differential GPS. Datum L1L-4 served as a secondary datum and was located just northeast of the block and was exactly 10.31cm above Datum L1L-1 in elevation. While architectural areas would ultimately dictate the way in which excavation blocks were subdivided, standard practice for the more extensive excavation blocks was to complete initial surface collection (Level 1) and even the initial patina scrape level (Level 2) in arbitrary 2x2m sub-block units (see *4.1* for more details). This strategy was only partially followed for Block L1L-2019-1, which was eventually composed of 17 arbitrary 2x2m sub-block units, as the presence of wall foundations allowed for early division into architectural areas for Level 2.



Figure 74. Plan map of (*left*) the surface (superficie) of excavation Block L1L-2019-1 - red box indicates the initial 4x4m unit that formed starting-point for the block and (*right*) the base of excavation Level 2.

Level 1 was simply used as surface collection - only materials sitting directly on the exposed surface. This level did use the arbitrary 2x2m subunits as the contextual control. Materials collected here were almost entirely relegated to plainware ceramic sherds, all falling within the typical Tiwanaku variations. Sherds were found in the highest quantities in the southern half of the unit with concentrations in the eastern and southeastern sub-areas - a pattern that would continue in subsurface levels. Significantly in the easternmost extension 2x2m unit a large fragment of a metate was exposed on the surface and was left in situ (Figure 74).

Similar to the 2016 test excavation strategy, here excavation Level 2 was geared specifically towards removing the thin patina that was ubiquitous throughout the block. However, in some areas of Block L1L-2019-1 this excavation level was relatively deep due to the presence of loose fill and gravel in some areas. In total 141.25 liters of sediment were removed and fine-screened for cultural material. Broadly speaking, materials recovered here aligned with

typical domestic refuse. The highest density material types recovered included plainware ceramic sherds, camelid bone, marine shell, and a variety of macrobotanical remains. Significantly, large amounts of camelid coprolites were recovered throughout the block, but particularly in a shallow, roughly circular depression, situated in the center of the block. As noted above, due to the prevalence of wall foundations Level 2 was excavated in preliminary areas that worked to align with possible architectural spaces and not in the arbitrary 2x2m subunits.



Figure 75. Major areas of excavation and features within excavation Block L1L-2019-1 (note: subareas in gray).

In total seven (7) primary architectural-based spaces (Areas A-G) defined the context of Block L1L-2019-1 - I use these excavation areas to organize the rest of the data presentation

below. For each of the seven areas I review the general findings from the Level 2 patina scrape through the Level 4 superpiso level, in which the best-preserved strata were delicately excavated. Any additional features or associated contexts are also presented where pertinent. As always, here each area is largely presented as an independent context, with most comparisons and additional interpretive synthesis reserved for Section 3. However, here I wanted to highlight a few of the block-wide similarities in each major excavation level before breaking off into an area-by-area discussion.



Figure 76. Plan view of the base of excavation Level 3.

Following Level 2 and the exposure of a few more architecture-based area distinctions,

Level 3 would remove an additional, sometimes quite thick, deposit of wind-blown sediment. This level would ultimately remove and fine-screen 173.75 liters of largely silt-based sediment. Like Level 2, Level 3 would reveal more spatial distinctions, based on newly exposed segments of quincha wall foundations. Materials recovered fell within typical domestic refuse, however findings became more variable from area to area. In particular, this level would also expose extremely dense deposits of domestic debris and organic staining in the south portion of Area A and Area E as well as dense deposits of charcoal and ash throughout Area F (see below). Five 0.5-liter soil samples were collected from select contexts for future microanalysis (see 8.10). All features were left to be excavated with the subsequent Level 4-superpiso.



Figure 77. Level 4 - superpiso summary basemap for Block L1L-2019-1 - indicating major areas as well as subareas. Also projected here are the 1x1 meter units (note: displayed UTMs are abbreviated to last 4 digits for the northing (N 805XXXX) and 3 digits for the easting (E 314XXX)).

Based on the increasing occurrence of dense domestic refuse deposits and a number of

exposed features, Level 4 was designated a superpiso level. As explained in Chapter 4 (see

4.1), the superpiso designation was reserved for excavation levels deemed to have a high likelihood of being associated with primary activity deposits and even architectural floors. In addition to being guided by the subareas designated in Level 3, Level 4 would also restrict excavations to 1x1 meter subunits. In total 68 1x1s split between 14 subareas and combined with 8 formal floor-associated features, resulted in a total 93 individual contexts within the Level 4 superpiso.



Figure 78. Base plan map and UAV photo of the base of Level 4 in Block L1L-2019-1. This was the superpiso level, associated with primary architectural use and the final full block excavation level.
The complicated suite of contexts that comprised Level 4 are presented in the area breakdowns below. However, ultimately 582.5 liters of sediment were removed during this excavation levels. The sediment matrix differed greatly from subarea to subarea, but fine windblown silt mixed with sand defined much of the block. Materials would again be found in variable amounts, but all fell within documented Tiwanaku domestic styles and forms. Sixty 0.5liter soil samples were collected from select for future analysis. The primary eight features of the block were all excavated in direct associated with Level 4. For much of the block Level 4 would be the final level. However, in a small portion of Area E (see below), a compacted lens of domestic refuse led to an additional superpiso excavation level - Level 5. This limited superpiso II - Level 5 would only produce 27.5 liters of sediment for fine-screening.

Below I provide a more in-depth contextual description of each major Area delineated in Block L1L-2019-1. Here, I also introduce each area's more interpretive designation¹⁶³ where I distinguish between architectural rooms (e.g., *Room XX*) associated with Structure L1L-1 and non-architecturally bound spaces (e.g., *Exterior*).

Area A (Structure L1L-1 - Room 1)

Area A was an architectural area located on the southwestern side of Structure L1L-1. In the final architectural layout that defined this structure, Area A was likely only walled on three sides and may or may not have been roofed, however it is designated Room 1 (see 9.1). As with most areas in Block L1L-2019-1, this area was excavated in three separate levels (Level 2, Level 3, Level 4-superpiso). These excavations would produce 211.25 liters of sediment for finescreening, ultimately yielding 66 major material specimens. There were two main contextual distinctions made within Area A, Area A - North (A-N) and Area A - South (A-S), as well as two of the formal floor features (R-3 and R-4).

¹⁶³ Again, these designations are discussed in greater detail in Chapter 9 in Section 3.

Area A - North (A-N) was the more architecturally complex portion of the area. Quincha wall foundations framed the southwestern, northwestern, and northeastern boundaries of the relatively small (3.75m²) area and separated it from Area D (Room 2) to the north and Area E (Room 3) to the east. In addition, the final excavation levels revealed an additional segment of quincha wall foundation protruding to the northeast from the southern end of the southwestern wall segment - effectively forming a partial partition between the northern (A-N) and southern (A-S) portions of Area A. Most sediment removed here were relatively loose, wind-blown silts with some sand and low amounts of gravel. A number of small, extremely thin semi-compacted patches were exposed in the Level 4-superpiso level, but these appear to be laminates left from moisture accumulation as opposed to surviving segments of prepared floor. Overall, domestic debris was relatively light in A-N with small amounts of Tiwanaku plainware ceramic sherds, camelid bone fragments, and various macrobotanical remains being the best represented material types. During the excavation of the Level 4-superpiso, six (6) 0.5-liter soil samples were collected from selected 1x1m subunits, for microanalysis.

Area A - South (A-S) was less constrained by quincha wall foundations and therefore less architecturally complex than the northern portion of the area. However, A-S was a bit larger (5.82m²) and far more complex in terms of features and other material deposits. Several small remnants of quincha wall foundation bordered the northwestern side of A-S and separated it from Area E (Room 3) to the east. A portion of this broken stretch of quincha wall foundation may have acted as a doorway into Area E and the main room of the structure. The southern extent of A-S entered the southern excavation block profile. In the northern portion of A-S or what would be the direct center of Area A there were a number of intersecting strips and patches of an ashy lens. While similar to A-N, excavated matrix of A-S would contain more sand as well as higher gravel content. Cultural materials were also far denser in A-S, and while the highest concentrations would be associated with the formal features (see below) the standard A-S matrix contained higher concentrations of plain ware ceramics, camelid bone, and

macrobotanical remains. However, one significant isolated find here was multiple sherds from a single miniature olla-shaped vessel what contained a very simplified face modelled into the neck of the vessel (see *8.1* for more on ceramic finds). Finally, eight (8) unsifted soil samples were collected from selected 1x1m subunits for microanalysis.

R-3. Rasgo 3 in Block L1L-2019-1 was a relatively large but shallow pit feature exposed in the southern portion of A-S. In order to observe any internal stratigraphy, the feature was first bisected, with the eastern half excavated first. The feature entered the southernmost excavation block profile so the entire area could not be determined but the portion exposed in A-S was approximately 1.28m and 12cm below the excavated ground surface a its deepest extent. Both the perimeter and base of R-3 were very uneven and showed no signs of formal preparation. Interesting, the base of a moderate-sized post (max width: 5.37cm) was found still in situ in the eastern portion of the feature. The matrix was generally quite loose with a significant organic component. This correlates with the high amounts of domestic refuse, particularly macrobotanical remains and charcoal. A single 0.5-liter soil sample was collected for future microanalysis.

R-4. Rasgo 4 in Block L1L-2019-1 was a small, roughly circular hole, situated almost directly in the center of Area A-S. Originally, appearing a dark, circular stain underlying a small, rounded cobble, R-4 was ultimately 0.06m² and just over 9cm below the excavated ground surface. While small, R-4 was still bisected, with the south half excavated first. The primary contents of the feature were several large sherds of a small, heavily charred olla. The other primary contents of the feature were interestingly several complete (and uncharred) cotton leaves as well as some matted (unspun) cotton fiber and fragments of the more brittle boll. A single (1) 0.5-liter sample of unsorted sediment was collected for analysis.

Area B (exterior)

Area B was a non-architectural space, representing the exterior to the southwest of

Structure L1L-1. Area B only required two excavation levels (Level 2 and Level 3) which produced 32.5 liters of sediment for fine-screening. This exterior space had less dense concentrations of materials when compared to most interior spaces, but still produced 20 major material specimens, including moderate amounts of Tiwanaku plainware ceramic sherds and camelid coprolites.

Area C (exterior)

Area C was another non-architecture, exterior space, this time located to the northwest of Structure L1L-1. Only two excavation levels (Level 2 and Level 3) were needed to complete Area C producing 26.25 liters of sediment for fine-screening, which would yield just 15 material specimens. Materials were relatively sparse here with small amounts of plainware ceramic sherds and some botanics representing the best represented material classes. However, a small scatter of lithic debitage, including two bifacial core fragments were recovered up against the quincha wall foundation separating Area C from the interior Area D (Room 2).

Area D (Structure L1L-1 - Room 2)

Area D represents an architectural area on the western side of Structure L1L-1, designated Room 2. This room was walled on four sides, as indicated by well-preserved quincha wall foundations and was almost certainly roofed. At approximately 4.75m, Area D was also a relatively small space. Three excavation levels were employed to clear this area (Level 2, Level 3, Level 4-superpiso), producing 122.5 liters of sediment for fine-screening. This screening yielded 44 major material specimen collections. Lower levels in Area D utilized two subareas for better contextual control, Area D - Southeast (D-SE) and Area D - Northwest (D-NW). Additionally, a single formal floor feature (R-2) was associated with Area D excavations.

Area D - Northwest (D-NW) would sample the entire interior length the intact quincha wall foundation that framed the northwestern and northeastern sides of Area D. Significantly,

this small subarea (2.1m²) would effectively sample the northern and western interior corners of this room. Absolutely no intact floor was exposed here. In fact, the fill matrix encountered in all levels was far less compact and had substantially less gravel content than other interior areas. Approximately 52.5 liters of sediment were removed and fine-screened with 16 separate specimens identified and collected for analysis. While there were some clusters of larger plainware ceramic sherds the overall domestic refuse content was much lower here than others. However, an important reoccurring find here was debitage left from decorative/ornamental stonework, specifically bluestone (likely turquoise). Additionally, three (3) half-liter soil samples were collected for post-field work analysis.



Figure 79. Detail photo (center) of Area A (Room 1) and Area D (Room 2) in Structure L1L-1. Also includes inserts depicting: (upper-right) bluestone bead manufacture debitage from Area D, (lower-right) textile-related items (spool for thread, ceramic rueca (spindle whorl), and cactus spine needle) from Area E, and (lower-left) a detail of Rasgo 4 before excavation (with mano and ceramic sherds protruding) from Area A.

Area D - Southeast (D-SE) was just a bit larger than D-NW at 2.67m². This subarea was composed of the interior of the quincha wall foundation that framed the southwest side of the room as well as the more fragmentary stretch of quincha wall fragments of the southeastern wall. Like its counterpart this portion of Area D also had no discernable intact floor and a generally loose, gravel-free matrix. However, D-SE was significantly denser with materials, particularly large amounts of plainware ceramic sherds and interestingly camelid coprolites. A total of four (4) 0.5-liter soil samples were removed from select 1x1m subunits for microanalysis and other future analysis. Finally, bordering the northeastern side of this subarea, directly along

the fragmented quincha wall foundation dividing Area D from Area E to the east was feature R-2.

R-2. Rasgo 2 in Block L1L-2019-1 was a relatively shallow pit feature that interrupted the quincha wall foundation that divided Area D and Area E. At 0.45m² the feature was also relatively small, only producing about five liters of soil for screening. The base of the feature was relatively uniformly compacted, suggesting this was an informal feature, possibly for refuse disposal, with some ashy pockets in the matrix suggesting dumping of hearth refuse. While general refuse was low in R-2 there were a significant amount of plainware ceramic sherds recovered as part of the three major material specimens collected.

Area E (Structure L1L-1 - Room 3)

Area E, ultimately designated Room 3, was the largest architectural area in Block L1L-2019-1, at just over 23m2. Surviving segments of quincha-style wall foundations and staining, indicating former locations of walls, indicate that this area was a fully-enclosed architectural space. The room was relatively open, in terms of architecture, with the exception of a short segment of quincha wall that protruded from the southeastern wall, effectively dividing the southeastern portion of the room into two spaces. Additional evidence (post molds) suggest that at least the southern part of this relatively large interior space was roofed. Most of this area was excavated in the standard three (3) subsurface excavation levels (Level 2, Level 3, Level 4superpiso), but one subarea, Area E-C was the only context in this block to receive a secondary superpiso excavation level (Level 5-superpiso II). 401.25 liters of excavated and fine-screened sediment would produce 118 major material specimens from Area E and associated features. For increased contextual control, this larger room would be divided into four arbitrary subareas: Area E - North (E-N), Area E - Central (E-C), Area E - Southeast (E-SE), Area E - Southwest (E-SW). Three (3) of the block's formal floor features were excavated within or directly associated with Area E. Finally, twenty-nine (29) 0.5-liter unsifted soil samples were collected for future

analysis.

Area E - North (E-N) was the northernmost 5m² of the architectural space. E-N was bound in the north by the nearly complete stretch of quincha wall foundation that separated Area E from structure exterior (Area C). There was only a small portion of this section of wall that was absent. Significantly, this break in the northern wall is directly where the wall, which presumably had been present to separate Area E from Area F (see below), would have coupled. Dark staining and the presence of significant amounts of charcoal flecks and other burnt debris in the matrix suggests that fire damage may be responsible for the absent wall here. The entire southwestern edge of E-N was also marked by a complete section of guincha wall foundation. Importantly, this section of quincha wall, which separates Area E from Area D to the west, articulates with the northern quincha wall, forming the interior northwestern corner of Area E -Room 4, and ends in the shallow pit feature - Rasgo 2 (R-2). The slight incline on which Block L1L-2019-1 was positioned was most pronounced in E-N. This resulted in less wind-blown sediment accumulation and higher coarse sand and gravel in the matrix. While there was some standard domestic refuse recovered here, there was significantly less material in E-N than other subareas in Area E. 100 liters were removed and screened in E-N, producing only 11 specimens.

Area E - Central (E-C) represented the entire central portion of the room (12.9m²), with arbitrary boundaries between E-N in the north as well as E-SW and E-SE in the south. However, the western and eastern edges of E-C were bound by articulated sections of quincha wall foundation; the walls separating Area E from Area A in the west and Area F in the east, respectively. In the center of this subarea was a slight depression (~ 0.8 x 0.6 meters), that had been apparent since initial surface observations. This depression was likely a postabandonment feature, and the recovery of significant amounts of camelid coprolites in initial excavation levels indicated that this area may have been used as a temporary corral for camelids sometime after the primary structure occupation. However, more significant for the

primary occupation were three circular stains, that likely represented post-molds. These stains were located almost exactly one meter apart from each other, almost perpendicular to the quincha wall segment which subdivided the southern portion of the area. This location may suggest that at least the southern portion of the relatively large and open Area E was roofed.

The matrix and material culture content of the northern portion of E-C was much like E-N, but the southern portion E-C would shift significantly. Here, there was an exceptional amount of domestic debris, particularly in the southeastern portion of the area, where E-C met E-SE. The three southeasternmost 1x1 meter superpiso units required a secondary superpiso level (Level 5 - superpiso II). This was the one location in the structure where there was a clear occupational surface. Instead of a prepared floor, it was only apparent in the highly compact nature of the upper superpiso level. Eventually, a shallow and uneven pit feature, designated Rasgo 7 (R-7) would underlie this secondary superpiso surface. This patch of dense, trampled refuse was quite diverse in content, but the best represented materials were Tiwanaku-style plainware ceramic sherds, plain-weave wool textile fragments, camelid bone, and a variety of macrobotanical remains. Ultimately, 125 liters of sediment were excavated from E-C and associated features, yielding the bulk of materials from Area E, with 45 major specimens collected.

Area E - Southeast (E-SE) would extend directly off of the dense southeastern portion of E-C. While no section in E-SE required a secondary superpiso level, materials were also very dense here. In fact, a significant portion of the overall matrix encountered in E-SE was entirely pulverized botanic material, mostly wood, cane, and grass - all architectural-associated materials. This subarea was quite small, at only 3.4m², but was particularly thick in terms of sediment and cultural materials. 122.5 liters of sediment were excavated from this small corner with 13 major specimen lots sorted. In addition to this complexity within the matrix, this small subarea also contained the southern subdividing quincha wall segment. There was a clear distinction between deposits recovered from the southwestern side of this room divide, with

deposits far denser on the northeastern side of the wall than the southwestern side.

Finally, Area E - Southwest was the smallest subarea, covering only 1.84m² of the southwestern corner of Area E. While the overall fill here would be relatively loose and homogeneous, multiple small, compacted surfaces were exposed, not floors, but likely trampled surfaces. The quincha wall foundation that is preserved and present just to the north, dividing E-C from Area A, is absent for most of the western edge of E-SW. However, it does pick up in the southernmost portion of the subarea, as well as make a perpendicular turn to the northeast - this divides E-SW from Area G-S. The gap in the western wall may be intentional, representing the primary Structure L1L-1 doorway - from Area E to the exterior. In the end 32.5 liters of sediment were removed, screened, and sorted. This resulted in the identification of 13 major material specimens.

R-1. Rasgo 1 (R-1) was a feature that had actually been present since the initial excavation levels in Block L1L-2019-1, but was ultimately excavated associated with the Level 4-superpiso excavation level in Area E-C. R-1 was a cluster of small cobbles which directly abutted an intact portion of the quincha wall foundation that divided Area E-C and Area A-S. Originally, R-1 was believed to be the remnants of a hearth or other formal feature, and while it clearly was an intentionally laced pile of stones there was not soot, charcoal, or other materials to suggest a hearth feature. While seven (7) material specimens were recovered after excavating R-1. Including some large pieces of lithic debitage, there were not particularly dense amounts of materials here. In the end, just under 15 liters of sediment were removed, as well as 3 liters-equivalent of small-medium cobbles.

R-7. Rasgo 7 (R-7) was an informal and relatively shallow pit feature filled with extremely dense amount of domestic refuse. This is the feature which was exposed after excavating the second superpiso level (Level 5) in Area E-C. Like the overlying strata the materials recovered here were varied but particularly high amounts of plainware ceramic sherds, plain-weave textile fragments, and a whole variety of macrobotanics were recovered. R-7 was likely an informal pit

used to dispose of refuse, with no indication it was used for more formal storage purposes. 2.5 liters of soil were removed from feature and screened, with a 0.5-liter soil sample reserved for analysis later.

R-8. Rasgo 8 (R-8) was a small (0.2 x 0.25 m) particularly dark, circular stain. It was located just to the east of the quincha wall line that separated Area A and Area E-SW. R-8 was specifically located directly in the middle of the gap where there is no quincha still present, and no real evidence for a wall trench stain. It may be that R8 would be a disturbance feature in what was the doorway connecting Area E to Area A and ultimately the exterior (Area B). R-8 contained a significant amount of ash and small fragments of charred camelid bone, but little other materials. This feature would only produce 1 liter of soil for fine-screening.

Area F (Structure L1L-1 - Room 4)

Area F was the second largest room in Structure L1L-1 (8.24m²) and the architectural space with the clearest discrete activity area. Two features, R-5 and R-6 (see below) were multiuse hearths, that almost certainly acted as the primary food preparation (cooking, etc.), dense amounts of charcoal, ash, and associated materials, like plainware ceramic sherds and macrobotanical remains were also found in the densest quantities in Area F as well. The exact architectural layout of Area F, or Room 4, is unknown as it ran up against the eastern excavation block boundary. However, the northeastern quincha wall segment that was exposed within the block suggests that this may be an exterior wall that continues and would have framed in Area F. Only a small portion of the interior wall that divided Area F from Area E to the west is left intact. It was difficult to determine if Area F - Room 4 was roofed or open-air. In total the three excavation levels (Level 2, Level 3, Level 4-superpiso) in Area F would produce 180 liters of sediment for fine-screening, which would yield 37 major material specimens. Two major subareas were employed for contextual control: Area F - North (F-N) and Area F - South (F-S).

The northern 3.9m² of Area F was designated Area F - North (F-N) for the final

excavation levels. The northern boundary of F-N was marked by fully articulated quincha wall foundations, including the northeastern-most corner of the structure. The only break in the northern wall is where Area F meets E-N, which as described above, is defined by significant amount of charcoal and ash, suggesting fire damage. More complex is the southern portion of F-N, which was define by a matrix extremely dense with ash, charcoal, and a variety of charred domestic refuse. This lens covered almost 1m2 and was centered on R-5, an informal, but heavily used hearth. This charcoal and ash lens continued south and ultimately merged with the ash lens surrounding a second hearth, R-6. 77.5 liters of sediment was excavated for fine-screening. 13 material specimens and four (4) 0.5-liter soil samples were collected from F-N.



Figure 80. Detail photos centered on Area F or Room 4 within Structure L1L-1. Both the lowaltitude aerial photo (lower-left) and the oblique angle shot (upper-right) clearly show the two hearth features and extensive ash and charcoal-heavy matrix and surface staining that define the area more broadly. Also visible are the multiple lithic tools that were recovered here, including multiple grinding manos, hammer stones, and a metate.

Area F - South (F-S) represents the remaining portion of Area F. F-S was 4.2m² and was

only bound arbitrarily by the edge of the excavation block in the north, east, and south and by a

short segment of quincha wall foundation in the north separating it from Area E-C to the west.

The southern portion of F-S contained very little cultural material and was marked by gravel.

However, the northern portion of F-N however was a continuance of the dense ash and charcoal

deposit noted for F-N. Here in F-S this ashy lens was centered on F-6, another multiuse

informal hearth. Also, present in the northern portion of F-S was a large fragment of a metate

and five fragments of manos, likely in situ next to the hearth. Ultimately, 47.5 liters of sediment was excavated and fine-screened, producing 13 material specimens with three (3) 0.5 liter unsifted soil samples collected.

R-5. Rasgo 5 (R-5) was an informal hearth located in the southern portion of F-N. While relatively small (0.24m²) with no supporting infrastructure (no rock collar), R-5 was clearly heavily used, with thick layers of compacted ash and charcoal. Charred and even vitrified earth and clay were also present in and around the feature. 5 liters of sediment were excavated and screened with four (4) major specimens collected.

R-6. Rasgo 6 (R-6) was another informal hearth feature. Again, quite small (0.05m²), and the same depth as R-5 (3cm), R-6 was also without any architectural elements (stone-lining), but well-used. Also, like R-5, Rasgo 6 would contain significant amounts of ash, charcoal as well as significant amounts of charred plainware ceramic sherds, camelid bone, and a variety of both carbonized and non-carbonized macrobotanics. 7.5 liters of sediment were removed in R-6.

Area G (Structure L1L-1 - Room 5)

Only a small portion of Area G fell within the boundaries of Block L1L-2019-1, as such, less than 1m2 (0.94 m²) of this area was exposed. Only two excavation levels (Level 2 and Level 3), producing 15 liters of sediment for screening, were needed to fully excavate this area. Area G was separated into two subareas, Area G - North (G-N) and Area G - South (G-S).

Block: L1L-2019-3

Work within Block L1L-2019-3 would result in the second largest single-context area excavated at L1. In total 60m² would be exposed and approximately 945.4 liters of sediment removed and sorted as part of investigations in this block. Like it's neighboring Sector L block (Block L1L-2019-1), the architecture and associated materials would be quite well preserved in

Block L1L-2019-3, with the remains of at least two domestic structures and associated features uncovered.



Figure 81. Orthophoto with the location of excavation Block L1L-2019-3 and associated surface features indicated.

The location for excavation Block L1L-2019-3 was selected in order to sample a domestic structure indicated by the presence of multiple small segments of quincha wall foundation as well as multiple posts. This block was also specifically positioned to sample a small portion of multiple rockpile-midden deposits. Therefore, this block was established just on

the edge of one of the shallow quebradas that cut across the otherwise flat blufftop that defines Sector L. This was also just 30 meters east of the steep slope that defines the western boundary of the sector.

While Block L1L-2019-3 was quite large, only one local datum, Datum L1L-3, was needed for all elevation measurements. This would be a looped rebar¹⁶⁴, which was shot in using a differential GPS. The location of the datum rebar would eventually be subsumed by the excavated block. The position of the datum was preserved by leaving a baulk area of unexcavated area, measuring approximately 50cm².

Arbitrary 2x2m subunits were used for Level 1, which was limited to surface collection. Predictably, only ceramics sherds were recovered in this initial collection. Surface distribution of ceramics was quite sparse, with the exception of the rockpile-midden deposits in the easternmost end of the block. In total, five short segments of quincha-style wall foundations were located on the surface in various parts of the block. While fragmented, it was clear that some of these wall foundation segments were oriented perpendicular in relation to each other. However, despite this¹⁶⁵ it was decided to continue using the arbitrary 2x2 meter subunits for the initial surface patina scrape.

¹⁶⁴ The unit would ultimately surround the datum resulting in a baulked area (~ 50x50cm) surrounding the rebar.

¹⁶⁵ This was also because the potential architectural areas indicated by the quincha aligned closely with the arbitrary 2x2m subunits.



Figure 82. Plan map of (*left*) the surface (superficie) of excavation Block L1L-2019-3 - red box indicates the initial 4x4m unit that formed starting-point for the block and (*right*) the base of excavation Level 2.

The Level 2 patina scrape would produce 187.5 liters of sediment for screening and reveal more architectural remnants. Through these excavations five additional segments and three additional structural posts were exposed. Typical domestic refuse and associated materials were recovered in varying amounts. This included significant amounts of Tiwanaku-style plainware ceramic sherds and limited amounts of lithic debitage and plain-weave wool textile fragments as well as significant amounts of camelid bone, marine shell, and various botanic remains associated with both dietary and architectural uses.



Figure 83. Major areas of excavation and features within excavation Block L1L-2019-3 (note: subareas in gray).

The additional architectural elements exposed in Level 2, allowed for more contextbased excavation areas to be employed for the rest of excavations. In total ten (10) major architecture-based subareas (Areas A-J) were defined in Block L1L-2019-3. These areas will each be described individually below, however, level-wide trends will be detailed first.



Figure 84. Base map of base of excavation Level 3 in Block L1L-2019-3.

The broader goal of excavation Level 3 was to remove remaining wind-blown sediment, pausing just above whatever remained of primary floor-associated deposits for the superpiso excavation level. Approximately 520 liters of sediment were excavated and fine-screened for cultural materials. Again, relatively typical domestic debris was recovered with particularly high amounts of Tiwanaku plainware ceramic, marine shell, camelid bone, and a variety of macrobotanical remains. While there would be a number of different contexts with specific concentrations of specific material types (see below), the most substantial concentration was the rockpile-midden deposits (Area F) in the east end of the block.





Level 4 would be the only superpiso excavation level for Block L1L-2019-3. The primary ten architectural areas and their internal subareas (16 total) would still be the primary contextual

divisions, but following superpiso protocol, 60 arbitrary 1x1 meter subunits were also utilized for additional contextual control. Thus, in total (including the 7 formal features) there would be 92 individual contexts investigated as part of the Level 4 - superpiso excavation in L1L-2019-3.



Figure 86. Base plan map and UAV photo of the base of Level 4 in Block L1L-2019-3. This was the superpiso level, associated with primary architectural use and the final full block excavation level.

As noted above, the architectural remains in Block L1L-2019-3 represent at least two separate structures with at least one additional major context cluster in the rockpile-midden deposit, also already noted above. Preservation throughout the various subareas was variable, there were no formal, prepared architectural floors exposed anywhere. Ultimately, Level 4 produced approximately 237.9 liters of excavated sediment which was all fine-screened. Material inventories for each subarea grouping would differ quite greatly, but typical domestic refuse defined all assemblages. Plainware ceramic sherds, camelid bone, marine shell, crustacean remains, and a whole variety of macrobotanics would dominate the overall assemblage. The highest densities of materials were associated with the rockpile-midden deposits, but other pockets of materials were often identified associated directly with the various quincha wall foundation segments. Finally, 26 0.5-liter soil samples were collected from selected contexts for future microanalysis.

Below I provide a more in-depth contextual description of each major area delineated in Block L1L-2019-3. Here, I also introduce each area's more interpretive designation where I distinguish between architectural rooms (e.g., *Room XX*) associated with Structure L1L-1 and non-architecturally bound spaces (e.g., *Exterior*).

Area A (Structure L1L-2 - Room 1)

Area A, or Room 1, was one of the major architectural areas, associated with Structure L1L-2 in Block L1L-2019-3. Well-preserved quincha wall foundations suggest that Area A was likely not fully walled, but rather had quincha walls on three sides, but despite only being partially enclosed was also roofed. Ultimately Area A would have acted as the back/front porch of Structure L1L-2, facing the shallow quebrada that borders the structure to the northeast. Multiple, small informal pit features here suggest this area was used for a variety of domestic tasks. Just two excavation levels (Level 3 and Level 4-superpiso) were directly associated with

Area A, totaling 76.65 liters of sediment for fine-screening. 55 individual material specimens were collected from these excavations in Area A. In order to provide contextual control, Area A was arbitrarily separated into two subareas: Area A - North (A-N) and Area A - South (A-S).

Area A - North (A-N) comprised the northern 4.5m² of Area A. This northern portion of Area A was less architecturally complex than the southern half but was bound in on the northwestern edge by preserved quincha wall foundation. The quincha wall segment that would frame in A-S were not present here. The eastern edge of A-S would be marked by the rockpilemidden deposit that is designated Area G. Two shallow pit features (R-4 and R-7) were excavated as part of A-N Level 4-superpiso excavations. When compared to A-S (see below) cultural materials were far less dense but just as variable here, in addition to the fill be far more loose with higher sand content. Materials here were typical domestic refuse. Plainware ceramic sherds, marine shell, and various macrobotanical remains were best represented in the 27 material specimens that were cataloged from the 35 liters of sediment sorted for this subarea. Just one (1) 0.5-liter unsifted soil sample was collected for future analysis.



Figure 87. Detail photos centered on Area A or Room 1 in Structure L1L-2.

At 5.2m², Area A - South (A-S) was slightly larger than its northern counterpart (A-N), but far more architecturally complicated. A-S was only partially bound on two sides (the southwest and southeast) by guincha wall foundations, running perpendicular from each other. However, A-S would also include four different posts associated with these guincha wall segments¹⁶⁶: one post (dia. ~15cm) at the northeastern end of the southeastern guincha wall segment, which separated A-S from Area B, one post (dia. ~13cm) at the southernmost end of the southwestern quincha wall, and two more slightly smaller posts (both dia. ~9.5cm) just 10cm apart from each other situated more towards the northern end of the same wall foundation segment. While the matrix encountered in subsurface excavations (Level 3 and Level 4-superpiso) were more compacted to that encountered in A-N there was still no clear examples of preserved floor in A-S. In fact, much of the final excavation level, Level 4-superpiso, was marked by a gravel-heavy sand with relatively little cultural material. Three, shallow and relatively small informal pit features were exposed clustered together just east of the two posts at the north end of the southwestern quincha wall segment. In approximately 41.65 liters of fine-screened sediment 29 major material specimens were collected. As with A-N, these materials represented typical domestic refuse, with plainware ceramic sherds, plain-weave wool textile fragments, fragments of crustacean shell and fish bone, and a variety of macrobotanic remains were the best represented materials.

R-1. Rasgo 1 (R-1) was a small (25x25cm) and shallow (~6cm deep) pit feature located just 30cm east of the southwestern quincha wall. R-1 was also directly associated with R-2, just centimeters to the east and R-3 just 30cm to the south. Rasgo 1 appeared relatively roughly dug, however two medium-sized cobbles situated directly at the upper rim of the feature suggest this pit may have had a partial collar. The fill of R-1 was relatively loose wind-blown sediment with moderate amount of material. In just 2.5 liters of screened sediment 6 major material

¹⁶⁶ All four of the posts would be between 14.5 and 18.5cm from the quincha wall foundations.

specimens were collected, including plainware ceramic sherds, fish bone, crustacean shell, and various botanic remains. One 0.5-liter soil sample was collected for microanalysis.

R-2. Rasgo 2 (R-2) was a small pit feature (10x10cm) just adjacent to the east of R-1. Also, roughly dug and shallow (~7cm deep), R2 was likely used for informal storage or refuse disposal. The matrix of R-2 was similar to R-1 but contained more flecks of charcoal and other carbonized material. Just 1.65 liters of sediment were extracted from R-2 with just four specimens identified, included guinea pig coprolites, marine shell, and botanics.

R-3. Rasgo 3 (R-3) was also part of the pit cluster with R-1 and R-2, located just 30cm to the south. R-3 was also quite small (~20x20cm) but at 13cm in depth, was a but deeper than the other features. This feature contained the least amount of cultural material, with the 2.5 liters of screened sediment only yielding four specimens. However, some of these specimens were relatively unique, including a small feather and multiple Tiwanaku-style redware sherds from a kero.

R-4. Rasgo 4 (R-4) was another shallow pit feature, located in the southwestern corner of A-N, just inside where the southwestern quincha wall foundation, that separates Area A from Area C, would need to cross to meet the perpendicular quincha wall foundation that separates A-N from Area D-N. At 40x40cm, R-4 was a bit larger than the cluster of pits (R-1, R-2, R-3) just 0.75 meters to the south in A-S. In the 2.5 liters that were fine-screened from Rasgo 4, six (6) major specimens were collected, with significant amount of plainware ceramic sherds making up the assemblage. A 0.5-liter soil sample was collected for future micro-sorting and analysis.

R-7. Rasgo 7 (R-7) was the final pit feature associated with Area A. Unlike the other four features found in Area A, R-7 was likely a disturbance feature, involved in dismantling the structure. This was surmised to be the case given R-7 directly interrupts the otherwise well preserved and complete length of quincha wall foundation, that separates Area A-N from Area D-N, also the northmost wall of Structure L1L-2. This 50x60cm roughly dug pit, appears to have been at least partially established to dislodge a large post that likely marked the end of the

original wall segment. This would make the architectural pattern here, similar to that observed in the southern wall segment and associated post that marks the southern boundary of A-S. In the 5 liters of fill sediment removed from R-7 a significant amount of refuse was present, resulting in six (6) major material specimens, including relatively large quantities of plainware ceramic sherds, guinea pig coprolites, crustacean shell, and camelid bone.

Area B (exterior)

Area B was believed to be an exterior area, that showed very little evidence for direct use. This area was separated from Area C to the west by a short segment of quincha wall foundation as well as Area A to the north by a short segment of wall foundation. The 3.5m² area that comprised Area B was largely covered by sections of exposed bedrock¹⁶⁷. Interestingly, the most substantial exposure of bedrock would have interrupted the wall that presumably separated Area B from Area C. In total, only 8.5 liters of sediment was removed from the two excavation levels that were needed to fully complete explorations in Area B. Only nine (9) specimen lots were needed for this area, in which plainware ceramic sherds, fish bone, marine shell, rodent bone, and guinea pig coprolites were some of the most represented material types.

Area C (Structure L1L-2 - Room 2)

Area C was the largest single area (19.9m²) and likely the only fully-enclosed architectural space of Structure L1L-2, exposed in Block L1L-2019-3. Overall, Area C, later designated Room 2, was an open architectural space, and enclosed on three sides (north, east, and south) by quincha walls. Almost directly in the middle of Area C (specifically in C-C) was the primary datum used for Block L1L-2019-3 (Datum L1L-3), so a 50x50cm block surrounding the datum was left unexcavated in this particular area. Approximately 207.5 liters of sediment were

¹⁶⁷ As noted in other locations at L1, this bedrock was a porous limestone. These are often accompanied, as they were here in Area B, with deposits of calcium carbonate and other leaching minerals.

extracted from Area C, which included the collection of 52 major material specimens. Three principal subareas were used for contextual control in the two excavation levels (Level 3 and Level 4-superpiso) that targeted this area: Area C - North (C-N), Area C - Central (C-C), and Area C - South (C-S).

Area C - North (C-N) represented the northernmost 6m² of Area C - bound on the north and east by fragmentary sections of quincha wall foundation. The relatively well-preserved section of quincha foundation that divides C-N from Area A-S contained an interesting feature, a second segment of quincha, running parallel with the other. Interestingly, this supporting segment of quincha, while only 27.4cm in length, is directly opposite the primary quincha wall foundation as the paired posts in A-S. The 72.5 liters of sediment removed in the two excavation levels in C-N was largely a silty sand mix with significant densities of small to medium angular gravel in the lower strata. While cultural materials would taper off significantly in the final superpiso level, a fair number of cultural materials were represented here. In total, 21 major material specimens, including plainware ceramic sherds, fish and camelid bone fragments, marine shell, and various botanical materials. Finally, two (2) 0.5-liter soil samples were collected from select 1x1m units in Level 4 for future analysis.

To the south Area C - Central (A-C) was the largest subarea component of Area C (7.1m²). E-C fell between the present quincha wall segments, so the boundary between Area A-S and Area B to the east. As noted above, Datum L1L-3 and the baulk left around it was located in the center of this subarea. While no formal features were designated here, a clear stain, located along the western edge of the subarea and entering the western block profile, likely represented a temporary hearth location was located here. In the fact the matrix throughout Area C-C contained a significant ash content as well as fragments of burnt and even vitrified sediment. From the 57.5 liters of sediment excavated and fine-screened, 15 specimens were extracted. Of these, charcoal, plainware ceramic sherds, and twisted wool cording. Finally, two (2) 0.5-liter soil samples were collected from select 1x1m units in Level 4 for future analysis.

Finally, Area C - South (C-S represents the southernmost 6.8m² of this architectural area. The final excavation level (Level 4-superpiso) would excavate this subarea as two subareas (Area C - Southwest (C-SW) and Area C - Southeast (C-SE)), but ultimately count all materials together. C-C was separated from Area J to the south and Area B to the east by short segments of surviving quincha wall foundation. Overall, cultural materials were quite sparse here. Fine-screening approximately 87.5 liters only yielded 16 material specimens that each contained relatively few individual material fragments. Just one (1) soil sample (0.5 liters) was collected from subarea C-C.

Area D (alley)

Area D represented a relatively narrow (~1.5m¹⁶⁸) exterior space that separated Structure L1L-2 in the south from Structure L1L-3 to the north. Area D was subdivided into two areas, Area D - North (D-N) and Area D - South (D-S). Both subareas contained very little materials overall, with only 20 specimens collected between both. Area D-N was relatively loose and silty fill. Conversely, D-S, which covered the slight rise that Block L1L-2019-3 more generally occupied, was far sandier with heavy amounts of gravel. Ultimately, 62.5 liters of sediment were removed and fine-screened, with two 0.5-liter soil samples reserved for future work.

Area E (exterior)

Area E was the designation for the exterior space that covered just over 6.5m² of the slight slope that separated Area A and the rest of Structure L1L-2 from the rockpile-midden deposits to the northeast on the slope (Area G) and at the bottom of the shallow quebrada (Area

¹⁶⁸ This narrow alley between these structures ranges between 1.4 and 1.69 meters in width.

F). Area E would ultimately prove to be extremely sparse in terms of material culture. In the approximately 40 liters of sediment removed here, only nine (9) specimens were collected, included a single soil sample (0.5 liter) for future analysis.

Area F (exterior)

Area F represented the dense rockpile-midden deposits that covered the majority of the quebrada bottom that fell within the far eastern end of Block L1L-2019-3. These deposits were composed of hundreds of small to large cobbles and large gravel piled haphazardly over approximately 4.32m² of area. These stones, which all appear to have been collected from the surrounding natural surface liter, were intermixed with extremely dense amounts of material culture. In fact, within these deposits as well as the area directly surrounding them, domestic debris and associated materials made up the majority of the matrix. In total 27.24 kilograms of materials, cataloged into 36 major specimens were collected in Area F. Most materials were typical domestic debris observed elsewhere, just in much higher amounts. Here, this included large quantities of Tiwanaku plainware ceramic fragments, lithic debitage, camelid bone, plainweave wool textile fragments, vegetable-fiver cording, maize cobs, wood fragments, and a whole suite of other macrobotanical remains. More unique finds were also recovered here, including a significant amount of decorated Tiwanaku redware ceramic sherds, a wooden spoon, several fragments of cotton netting, carved wooden net floats, and a small fragment of an embroidered four-cornered hat.

For contextual control Area F was split into two subarea, Area F - North (F-N) and Area F - South (F-S), but there were few internal distinctions noted between these subareas or even within the deposits themselves. The two arbitrary excavation levels here were used to carefully pull away stones, attempting to note any internal differentiation suggesting clear episodes of refuse disposal. While materials had settled with finer fragments, seeds, and other smaller materials sifting to the bottom of the piles, there were no clear depositional strata. This would

suggest either the rockpile middens were deposited all at one or gradually over time. The latter is the most likely scenario given the great variety of materials present. Ultimately 220 liters of sediment and the equivalent of 125 liters of small cobbles were removed from the total of Area F.

Area G (exterior)

Sharing the same gradual hillside as Area E, Area G is a small rockpile-midden deposit. This deposit covered just over 2m² before entering the northern profile of the excavation block. Like the deposits described in Area F, here the medium to small cobble were piled relatively haphazardly, though despite being more deflated, the Area G rockpile was far more discrete than the sprawling deposits that defined Area F. Ultimately the Area G deposit would prove to be domestic refuse that continued to be piled over a filled pit feature (R-6). Area G was excavated in two levels though no stratigraphic distinctions could be made. In total, 40 liters of sediment were removed and fine-screened, and about 17.5 liters worth of small-medium cobbles were also removed. 23 major specimens were located and while this deposit was not as dense with material culture as Area F, there were still very dense amounts of plainware ceramic sherds and botanical remains.

R-6. Rasgo 6 (R-6) was informal pit feature that was exposed under the rockpile-midden deposit that defined Area G. This pit was approximately 65x70cm and 13cm in depth was very roughly dug. The primary purpose for the pit appears to have been refuse dispose. Like the overlying midden deposit here significant amounts of plainware ceramic sherds and botanical remains dominated the five (5) major specimens collected. In total, five liters of sediment and 2.5 liters equivalent of cobbles were removed from R-6.

Area H (Structure L1L-3 - Room 1)

Area H was one of just two very small spaces that were excavated in second structure to

fall within Block L1L-2019-3, Structure L1L-3. Just over 0.5m² of area of Area H or Room 1 was excavated here, representing what would have been the southeast corner of the room. Both the quincha wall foundation segments that separated Area H from the other Structure L1L-3 room exposed, Area I-Room 2, and the segment separating Area H from the Area D alley were almost completely present. Only 8.75 liters of sediment were removed here, producing just 12 specimen collections. Significantly, the faunal assemblage here was dominated by a variety of marine shell species and also included fish bone. A single 0.5-liter soil sample was collected for future microanalysis.



Figure 88. Detail view of Block LiL-2019-3 from the north, looking south. Closest are the two small portions of Room 1 and Room 2 from Structure L1L-3, including an inset of Rasgo 5 (note the olive shell at the base of the feature). Also, clearly depicted are the northernmost portions of the rooms from Structure L1L-2 and the Area D alleyway that separates the structures. **R-5.** Rasgo 5 (R-5) was a small, carefully dug pit feature located in Area H. The pit was generally cylindrical measuring 10cm in diameter and going to a depth of just over 4cm. The fill of the feature was a homogeneous sandy silt that was almost entirely culturally sterile. Significantly, the exception was a single, complete oliva marine shell. Given the presence of marine shell in the primary occupational surface it is difficult to tell discern if this was an intentional offering or not. However, the fact that the shell was found placed evenly on the pit base, combined with the homogeneous fill does suggest intentional placement and covering of the shell.

Area I (Structure L1L-3 - Room 2)

Area I was the second architectural space exposed in Block L1L-2019-3 that was part of Structure L1L-3. Like the neighboring Area H to the west, only a small portion of Area I (0.61m²) was exposed here. This small space would have represented the southwest corner of Room 2, as Area I would be designated. Most of the quincha wall foundations marking the western and southern walls were still present. In the approximately 20 liters of sediment excavated in Area I, 10 specimens were collected. These materials consisted of plainware ceramic sherds, fish bone, marine shell, crustacean shell fragments, and a variety of seeds and other botanic remains. One (1) 0.5-liter soil sample was collected in this area.

Area J (exterior)

Area J was the southernmost space excavated in the block and likely represented an exterior space south of Structure L1L-2. Area J covered 2.3m² of area and was bordered to the norther by a quincha wall foundation segment that separated it from Area C-S. The matrix of Area J was relatively loose and had significant amounts of degraded rock. Cultural materials were relatively sparse, except for right up against the quincha wall segment. Ultimately, 8 specimens were collected after fine-screening 27.5 liters of removed sediment.

Block: L1A-2019-2

At 24m², excavation Block L1A-2019-2 was the largest single excavated context in Sector A. In total approximately 635 liters of sediment were excavated for fine-screening, resulting in the collection of 251 major material specimens across 44 primary loci. Ultimately Block L1A-2019-2 would expose a badly disturbed cobble stone and adobe brick platform likely part of a minimal but formal suite of architectural elements associated with the central plaza at the center of Sector A domestic occupation.



Figure 89. Orthophoto of the central portion of Sector A with Block L1A-2019-2 and associated features and excavation blocks/test units indicated.

Block L1A-2019-2 would be the only excavation block to expand directly on the 2016 test units - extending south from Unit L1A-2016-3. As noted above, while located in the center of the
broader Sector A domestic sector, this block would specifically target a non-domestic context. This context would center on a relatively low-lying (less than 0.5 meters in height) and small (roughly 3x4 meters) mound feature, located just over five meters north of the central plaza in Sector A. As noted above and discussed below, this feature would prove to be severely disturbed. However, from what remained, it appears the feature represents a relatively small cobble stone and adobe brick platform structure, that was almost certainly directly associated with activities that took place in the central plaza.

Because Block L1A-2019-2 expanded directly from the formally excavated test Unit L1A-2016-3, the datum L1A-3 was reused for assessing the elevations in initial excavation levels in the new block. This datum was a large cobble that fell within the block and would ultimately be removed as part of excavations. Datum L1A-3 would be replaced by Datum L1A-6 - another large cobble, but this time outside the block (just to the west of the initial block parameters). In addition, before beginning excavations in Block L1A-2019-2, the backfilled sediment was removed from the southern half of previously excavated Unit L1A-2016-3. This was done to expose the previously excavated unit's southern profile and specifically the adobe bricks that protruded from that profile. This would be used as an essential reference in setting the constraints to excavation levels in Block L1A-2019-2.

Excavation Level 1 in Block L1A-2019-2 would act as a surface collection. Here all materials that were directly exposed on the surface were collected. For this process arbitrary 2x2 meter units were utilized¹⁶⁹ for contextual control. Overall cultural materials were relatively sparse with only plainware ceramic sherds recovered, with the 2x2m units closest to the central plaza and furthest from the adobe feature yielded the highest number of sherds.

¹⁶⁹ As can be noted in the base maps, Block L1A-2019-2 contains rare1x2 meter subunits in the north - this was due to a slight miscalculation of exactly one (1) meter, while establishing the block with the differential GPS.



Figure 90. Plan-view base maps of Level 1 (surface) and Level 2 in excavation Block L1A-2019-2.

From Level 2 onwards context-based areas were used to dictate excavations. In total six areas were initially defined (Areas A-F) with subareas used to further subdivide these areas for more contextual control when needed. As with previous blocks these areas are discussed individually below, but first I highlight some block-wide patterns as they occurred level-by-level.



Figure 91. Basic plan-view of excavation Block L1A-2019-2 with major excavation areas (Areas A-F) indicated (note: sub-areas in gray).

As with other blocks, Level 2 in Block L1A-2019-2 would be the first formal subsurface excavation level. This would be a relatively shallow level - used primarily to remove the relatively thin but ubiquitous sunbaked surface patina. However, the thickness would be quite variable depending on the area. For instance, Level 2 in Area A, which represented the remnants of the architectural feature, would remove less than one centimeter of sediment before hitting a strata of adobe melt. However, most areas would have 1-2 centimeters of sediment removed. Taken together excavations in Level 2 would produce approximately 95 liters of sediments to be fine-screened, which yielded 57 material specimens.





Again, like many of the other excavation blocks, Level 3 in Block L1A-2019-2 would work to remove the most substantial layer of wind-blown sediment. However, unlike other blocks, a significant goal in this block would be to further define the adobe melt and even semi-articulated bricks and chunks associated with the central architectural feature (Area A). In total approximately 330 liters of sediment were removed and fine-screened as well as approximately 5 liters of small adobe fragments and 20 liters worth of small cobbles and large gravel. A number of medium to large cobbles would also be removed - including the cobble used as Datum L1A-3. This would produce 99 material specimens, including some important spot finds, such as a large intricate basket and a significant portion of a textile 4-cornered hat (see below).

A few areas (Area B, Area C-E, Area E) would be completed with Level 3, but all others would receive a Level 4 and even Level 5. While major areas would remain the same for these additional levels, there would be refinements made to their boundaries (Figure 93). In addition, both additional excavation levels would be considered superpiso levels and therefore in addition to area and subarea distinctions, the excavated contexts would also be limited by arbitrary 1x1 meter subunits. Between 12 subareas further subdivided by 24 1x1 meter - 35 individual contexts would be sampled in these superpiso levels.



Figure 93. Level 4 and Level 5 - superpiso summary base map for Block L1A-2019-2 - indicating major areas as well as subareas. Also projected here are the 1x1 meter units (note: displayed UTMs are abbreviated to last 4 digits for the northing (N 805XXXX) and 3 digits for the easting (E 314XXX)).

Level 4 would be quite different for each context which was excavated. It would be the final excavation level in Area D and Area F as well as part of Area C (C-W). In these areas a final layer of wind-blown sediment would be removed. However, in Area A and part of Area C (C-C) the majority of Level 4 would focus on removing all adobe melt, only leaving semi-articulated bricks and fragments which appeared to be on the original occupational surface. Most additional

cobbles would be removed, again only leaving those that appeared to be on the original occupational surface. Unfortunately, even after removing the melt and other debris, there was very little sign of articulated architecture. All together approximately 165 liters of sediment were excavated and fine-screened for materials. In addition to approximately 50 liters worth of small adobe fragments and the equivalent of 7.5 liters of small cobbles and large gravel. A total of 55 major material specimens were collected.





Level 5 would be limited to Area A and part of Area C (C-C) and would almost exclusively involve removing the last remaining adobe chunks, cobbles, and any remaining sediment and cultural debris. This would reveal a heavily compacted surface but no clear indication of a formal architectural foundation for the Area A architectural feature. These limited excavations would produce approximately 45 liters of sediment to be fine-screened and an additional 22.5 liters of adobe fragments. Collectively, 34 major material specimens were collected in Level 5.



Figure 95. Plan view base map of the final excavated surface in Block L1A-2019-2 after the excavation of Level 5-superpiso.

Below I provide a more in-depth contextual description of each major area delineated in Block L1A-2019-2. As noted above, the areas within this block do not correlate with architectural rooms, as the blocks in Sector L, but instead refer to a number of features. The areal coverage of these features, particularly Area A, would shift as excavations proceeded. For this reason, most areas provided for these major intrablock excavation Areas are the maximal extents, unless otherwise noted.

Area A (Special Structure L1A-2)

Area A was the most complicated context excavated as part of the broader 2018-19 excavations. As noted above, Area A had already been partially exposed by test Unit L1A-2016-3 but was fully excavated by Block L1A-2019-2. Ultimately, Area A would prove to be the remnants of a small platform structure, almost certainly directly associated with the L1A central plaza, located just over 3 meters to the south. While a significant amount of architectural debris, in the form of large cobbles and adobe brick fragments, were still present, the structure was badly damaged in the past, both through intentional destruction and bioturbation-based events, making the depositional sequence particularly complicated here as well. In total Area A would involve the removal and fine-screening of approximately 320 liters of sediment as well as the equivalent of 72.5 liters of adobe brick fragments and about 15 liters of small cobbles and gravel. Area A would yield a significant amount of materials, totaling 117 major specimen collections. Many of these materials were standard domestic refuse, but as noted below, a number of unique finds were also found associated with Area A. For contextual control, all four (4) subsurface levels in Area A would be dived among four subareas (Area A (A), Area A -Northeast (A-NE), Area A - Northwest (A-NW), and Area A - West (A-W)). However, because these areas were arbitrary, I will use the depositional sequences to structure the rest of the description of Area A here.

As has already been discussed, the original structure established in this location was a rectangular (possible roughly square) platform that likely measuring no more than 2x2 meters at the base. The foundation of the structure was composed of large cobbles placed onto a heavily compacted and leveled patch of the natural ground surface. The cobbles don't appear to have been formally set or cemented to this surface. Then an estimated 2 to 3 rows of adobe bricks

were placed on this foundation, and possible in a single course surrounding the cobbles. At least a few of the adobe fragments showed evidence that they are covered in a final layer of a light-colored mud plaster. Given the disturbed nature of the structure it was difficult to determine the original height, but it was likely at least 0.5 meters and no more than 1 meter in height. Finally, there is no evidence that there was space "inside" this structure, such as a storage bin or a more ritually oriented small structure (such as Special Structure L1A-1 in test Unit L1A-2016-5 - see above); to the contrary all evidence suggests it was solid, which has led to the designation of what would be Special Structure L1A-2 as a platform.

Significantly, due to the later disturbances, it is difficult to determine how many, if any, of the recovered specimens were directly associated with the primary construction and use of this platform. However, its proximity to the central plaza of this large sector would alone suggest it was in some way associated with the public activities that would take place there. Importantly, while almost no portion of the Special Structure L1A-2 was left in place, the nature of the structure decomposition suggests that the structure was oriented just about 12° west of north - roughly a NW-SE orientation - the same as the central plaza just a few meters to the south.



Figure 88. Detail view of Block Figure Figure 96. Detail of Area A (Special Structure L1A-1), including structure-for-motion 3D model and detail photos of important associated material finds.

While Sector A was still occupied, the platform clearly fell into disrepair and was perhaps even badly damaged. Without careful absolute dating, establishing the exact timing for the sequence of abandonment and destruction of the platform structure would be difficult to determine. However, all material associated with Area A, even after the structure clearly began decomposing, were unambiguously Tiwanaku-affiliated forms and styles. This indicates that the platform was not simply destroyed via looting sometime after the Middle Horizon but abandoned while the sector was still in use. Most of the cultural material recovered in Area A likely derived from this initial period abandonment of the platforms primary function and its decomposition. In fact, 96 of the 117 specimen collections made in Area A were collected from the three excavation levels associated with this depositional period (Level 3, Level 4-superpiso I, and Level 5-superpiso II). It appears the remnants of the platform would become a location for disposing of a variety of cultural materials. A significant portion of this material would fall within typical domestic refuse material types, including large quantities of plainware ceramic sherds, camelid bone, and a variety of macrobotanical remains. However, less common items were also found in higher-than-normal quantities here included camelid hooves, projectile points, and fineweave, decorated textile fragments. Other truly unique finds included a adolescent camelid tail (complete with fur and skin) recovered clustered with multiple camelid hooves as well as a large single deposit of thousands of boiled and mashed maize kernels. The most striking find here was a well-preserved but badly damaged large basket. This hard-frame basket included elements of twisted human hair and a variety of types of reed and cording, and was likely a specialized for carrying human infants (See 8.4).

Two final disturbance events would further transform this structure in Area A. First, and likely contemporary with the secondary use of Special Structure L1A-2, was a bioturbationbased event. Rodents, likely common field mice, occupied the remnants of the platform. This infestation was quite extensive with a network of small nests found throughout the structure remains. This included large quantities of wadded cotton and botanic materials as well as rodent

coprolites. The rodents clearly dragged a variety of refuse material into what had remained of the platform. Finally, a secondary destruction event would be carried out at the structure resulting is massive damage to what remained to the structure. This was an intentional destruction event, in which a clear hole was dug into the center of the platform, destroying any remaining complete bricks, with the cobble encountered cast outside the pit. This disturbance area is given the designation Area B and discussed more below. Ultimately the destroyed structure would further decompose, ultimately resulting in the slight mound, covering just over 9m², as first encountered on the surface in Unit L1A-2016-3 and Block L1A-2019-2.

R-1. Rasgo 1 (R-1) was a shallow pit feature directly adjacent to the west of the primary architectural pile of Area A-W. This feature was likely developed during the secondary, refuse disposal-stage, of the Special Structure L1A-2 sequence. Only 5 liters of sediment were removed to complete the feature excavation and it yielded mostly typical domestic refuse. However, R-1 also contained a large portion of a Tiwanaku vertical stripe-style tunic fragment as well as multiple coca seeds.

Area B

Area B was the designation given to the pit left from the final disturbance event in the center of Area A. As noted above, this pit was the result of a looting event. During this event a pit was dug directly in the center of what was left of the platform after it was first abandoned. Any remaining complete bricks would have been destroyed and the cobbles encountered while digging the pit were discarded along the side of the platform. The pit was very uneven (~ 0.38m² at the greatest extent), with no evidence it was carefully completed. This event could have been done to take cobbles or other building materials, but more likely was completed in search of an offering within the structure. Ultimately, just 35 liters of wind-blown sediment were scooped from this feature with very few materials (20 specimens). The lack of refuse materials, like those found in Area A, seem to confirm the event leading to this pit occurred after the Middle Horizon

Area C

Area C was the designation given to the entire area surrounding the west, south, and east sides of Area A. At its greatest extent this area would cover 8.15m². The matrix and material content of this area would depend greatly on the proximity to Area A. For instance, the easternmost portion of Area C, the subarea Area C - East (C-E) was quite sparse in terms of materials (8 specimens) and only required two (2) excavation levels (Level 2 and Level 3) (50 liters). Conversely, Area C - West (C-W) bordering the west side of Area A would receive three (3) excavation levels (Level 2, Level 3, Level 4-superpiso), yielding 45 liters of sediment for finescreening which produced 14 major material specimens. Finally, Area C - Central (C-C would actually receive four (4) excavation levels (Level 2, Level 3, Level 4-superpiso I, Level 5superpiso II), producing just over 95 liters of sediment and 26 major material specimens. Area C-C, specifically the portion directly south of Area A, would contain a thick layer of adobe melt. left as the adobe bricks which formed the superstructure eroded away. Most of this strata of melt was heavily trampled and compacted, suggesting foot-traffic - again, supporting the interpretation of the secondary use of the structure in Area A after it began degrading. One of the most significant finds of the block was also located here - a large portion (roughly 40%) of a Tiwanaku 4-cornered textile hat was located in C-C within the adobe melt strata.

Area D

Located directly south of Area C and running the entire west-east length of the block, Area D was a very deflated rockpile-midden deposit. Covering 6.26m², Area D would be split into two subareas for contextual control, Area D - West (D-W) and Area D - East (D-E), but was relatively homogeneous. While less dense than other rockpile-midden deposits excavated elsewhere there were still 14 specimens collected here containing significant amounts of

plainware ceramic sherds, grinding stone fragments, plain-weave textile fragments, along with other typical domestic debris.

Area E

Area E was the southernmost strip of Block L1A-2019-2 and represented where the northern edge of the L1A central plaza crossed through the block. Covering less than 1m2 (0.96m²) of area only two (2) thin levels (Level 2 and Level 3), totaling 12.5 liters of sediment were required to complete this area. The surface was quite compact with some gravel, but no clear prepared architectural floor was identified. Very few materials (4 specimens) were recovered in Area E.

Area F

Area F was a very small area located in the northeastern corner of the block. This area was just 0.48m² area represented a extremely deflated rockpile-midden deposit that intersected the block. This space was disturbed as it was the location of the backdirt pile for the 2016 test unit, Unit L1A-2016-3. Ultimately, only 7.5 liters of sediment were fine-screened producing four (4) specimen collection for this area.

Block: L1A-2019-3

Block L1A-2019-3 was the smallest of the 2018-19 excavation blocks. In total this block only exposed 8m² of area - effectively two 2x2 meter subunits. Originally selected to expose the only in situ posts identified in Sector A, Block L1A-2019-3 would expose a number of important features. This included the only formal (stone/plaster-lined) storage pit revealed in excavations as well as a number of posts and quincha wall foundations. While relatively small, excavations in this block would yield 242.4 liters of sediment for fine-screening and 88 major material

specimen collections.



Figure 97. Orthophoto of the central portion of Sector A with Block L1A-2019-3 and associated features and excavation blocks/test units indicated.

Block L1A-2019-3 was in the central portion of Sector A - approximately 60 meters due west from the central plaza and Block L1A-2019-2 (Figure 97). As noted above, the location of Block L1A-2019-3 was selected specifically to further expose two closely associated posts that were visible on the surface. No other architectural features could be observed on the surface in the surrounding area. Significantly, Block L1A-2019-3, and the features that would be revealed inside, were located just 25 meters northeast of the major crossroads of the two central walking paths that would have acted as the primary way into and through the domestic sector during its occupation.

The relatively small size of Block L1A-2019-3 made most measurements and elevations

less complicated than other blocks. Only a single datum was used for this block - Datum L1A-7. For this local datum we used a marked point on a well-set boulder, located less than a meter from the southern border of the block.

Level 1 in Block L1A-2019-3 would work to map the surface features as well as collect any cultural materials exposed on the surface. The two posts first identified in the unit were 2.45 meters apart on roughly a SW-NE axis. Between the posts was extremely deflated rockpilemidden deposits. An additional rockpile-midden deposit intruded into the northwest corner of the block as well (Figure 98). The surface collection was conducted using arbitrary 2x2 meter subunits. These collections yielded high densities of plainware ceramic sherds, mostly relegated to the rockpile-midden deposit contexts.



Figure 98. Plan view base maps of both (*left*) excavation Level 1 (surface collection) and (*right*) Level 2 in Block L1A-2019-3.

The first subsurface excavation level would be Level 2. For Block L1A-2019-3 the arbitrary 2x2 meter subunits would also be used for this level. Here, as with the other blocks, Level 2 would be geared towards removing the thin surface patina that covered most non-

disturbed contexts across the site. This involved a relatively shallow, scrape of the entire block. This was true for the eastern portion of the block (quadrant b), but a number of areas in the western portion of the block (quadrant a) would ultimately remove 3-20 centimeters of sediment from the surface. This would reveal a slightly different configuration of the rockpile-midden deposit than originally appeared on the surface, with more hyper-deflated rockpile-midden deposits connecting the formally discrete features. Significantly, this initial Level 2 scrape would also reveal a short segment of quincha-style wall foundation, just centimeters to the southeast of the post in the northeast corner of the block and running roughly along the same orientation as the posts (SW-NE) (Figure 98 - right). The most substantial deposits, in terms of overall material density, appeared to run north-south through the center of the block. Approximately 35 liters of sediment were removed for fine-screening, in addition to 10 liters worth of small cobbles and large gravel. This would produce 13 major specimen collections. The majority of materials were found associated directly with the rockpile-midden deposits and were generally composed of typical domestic refuse.



Figure 99. Major areas within Block L1A-2019-3 (Areas A-D).

From Level 3 onwards areas were used to direct excavations. These areas were effectively defined by the rockpile-midden deposit that covered much of the central portion of the block (Area B) and the various clear areas that surrounded it to the southwest (Area A), northeast (Area C), and southeast (Area D).



Figure 100. Basemap and overhead photo of base of excavation Level 3 in Block L1A-2019-3.

While it would be slightly different in each area, Level 3 would be the deepest excavation level in all contexts. A total of157.5 liters of sediment was removed and fine-screened. Level 3 would also be an extremely important level that revealed a number of important features. The most significant feature was the formal, stone and plaster-lined storage pit, located in the eastern portion of Area B. While not excavated with Level 3, the stone collar of this important feature was fully exposed and defined at this time. The top of two additional, more informal (no stone-lining) subsurface features were also exposed in the central portion of Area B. In addition to these three pit features two additional segments of quincha wall foundation were exposed - one in the northwest corner of the block and another short segment running between two of the features in Area B (Figure 100). Finally, a third post was also exposed in the southeast portion

of the block (Area D).



Figure 101. Major areas and subareas used in excavating the final levels of Block L1A-2019-3.

The four primary areas that defined Level 3 would continue to define Level 4, although the perimeters of the areas would be slightly altered (Figure 101). Excavation Level 4 would define the first and only superpiso excavation level in all areas. As such 1x1 meter subunits were utilized for additional contextual control. Ultimately with the 4 areas subdivided by the eight 1x1 meter subunits, in addition to the three major features, a total of 13 individual contexts were excavated as part of this final excavation level.





The Level 4 - superpiso excavation was relatively shallow in most areas, with most areas receiving a simple scrape of 1-3 centimeters. Of the approximately 50 liters of sediment removed in Level 4, 30 liters came from excavating the three features. This final excavation would not reveal any new features or any identifiable sections of prepared architectural floors. However, the existing features were further exposed and features refined. As noted above, all of the three features were excavated as part of this broader excavation level. Each feature was bisected, when possible, in order to best define internal stratigraphy. All three pit features were full of a variety of domestic refuse and wind-blown sediment, with little evidence for recognizable internal stratigraphy. In the end the Level 4 - superpiso level would produce 18 major material specimen collections and five 0.5-liter soil samples were collected from selected contexts for future analysis.

Below I provide a more in-depth contextual description of each major area delineated in Block L1A-2019-3. Due to the much smaller size of this block (compared to the other blocks) the sampled areas here were also much smaller as so descriptions tend to be shorter here.

Area A

Area A was the westernmost side of this excavation block - effectively a 2x1 meter strip along the western edge of Block L1A-2019-3. Originally the boundary around Area A was marked by the lack of rockpile-midden debris that defined Area B to the east, but ultimately the boundary between these two areas was just arbitrary. The first notable feature in Area A, visible from the first surface observations of Block L1A-2019-3, was the base of a large post (dia. 17.7cm). Eventually in the northwest corner of the area a short stretch of poorly-preserved quincha wall foundation, running roughly west-east, was exposed. The fill was relatively loose silty sand (7.5 5/4) with only moderate gravel content. A very large cobble, deeply set into the natural ground surface was exposed just a few centimeters south of the post. In spite of the important architectural features very little cultural material was found in Area A overall with no

formal features. After approximately 30 liters of sediment were fine-screened only nine (9) specimens were collected. These specimens were all typical domestic refuse, including plainware ceramic sherds, camelid bone, and a variety of macrobotanical remains.

Area B

Area B was the most contextually complicated and significant area with the block. Originally defined by a deflated rockpile-midden deposit, Area B would eventually prove to be the location for three separate pit features (R-1, R-2, and R-3). At its final extent, Area B would cover just over 3.27m2 directly in the center of Block L1A-2019-3. The area was effectively defined by the three pit features noted above with the northern area boundary was defined by a short stretch of guincha wall foundation that runs between the R-1 and R-3 pit features. However, four large cobbles, well-set into the ground surface also mark the southern portion of this area. Excavating Area B and the associated features would result in fine-screening 147.5 liters of sediment as well as the removal of the equivalent of approximately 32.5 liters of small cobbles from the upper excavation levels (Level 2). Area B would yield a significant amount of materials, eventually totaling 44 major specimens composed of over 22 kilograms of recovered cultural material. As will be noted below, a significant amount of this material was found within the features, but still large quantiles of material were also recovered from the rockpile-midden deposits as well. This included typical domestic refuse, such as large amounts of plainware ceramic sherds, camelid bone, marine shell, and a whole variety of botanical remains. However, a few unique finds of noted here included multiple items of personal adornment, including a copper ring and multiple shell and stone bead fragments.

R-1. Rasgo 1 (R-1) was a formal storage pit that was ultimately filled with domestic refuse. R-1 is considered a formal storage pit feature as it was dug in uniform dimensions (0.56 x 0.59 meters), lined with small to medium-sized cobbles, and finally coated with a 0.5-1.5cm thick layer of mud plaster. The pit itself was relatively straight-sided with a relatively level base.

Rasgo 1 was 22cm deep below the ground surface, but also constrained a small cobble stone collar that was also plastered in place and extended the rim of the feature about 2-3cm above the ground surface. Interestingly, R-1 interrupts the west-east running segment of quincha wall foundation that separates Area B from Area C to the north, indicating this feature was established after this wall had fallen out of disuse.



Figure 103. Photo of the formal stone and plaster-lined storage pit after being fully excavated, with associated *quincha* wall foundation and post in Area C.

It is presumed that R-1 was originally established for storage of foodstuffs or other important resources, but ultimately it was used as refuse disposal. In fact, the matrix of the feature was almost entirely cultural material - 4573.12 grams of cultural materials were removed from just 15 liters of extracted sediment. The materials would largely fall within typical domestic refuse material types, including plainware ceramic sherds, camelid bone, marine shell, lithic debitage, and a variety of macrobotanic remains. Other, more rare items were also recovered including a stone hoe, a wooden spoon, and one of the few confirmed Tiwanaku-style polished blackware ceramic sherds recovered at L1.

R-2. Rasgo 2 (R-2) was an additional pit feature, also ultimately used for domestic refuse disposal. Unlike R-1, which was located just over one meter to the northeast, R-2 was not stone-lined or plastered and appeared far more unevenly dug. Rasgo 2 would enter into the southern profile of the block, so was only partially excavated. Like R-1, this pit was also relatively straight-sided but had more of a basin-shaped base. Here the matrix removed was also almost entirely composed of cultural refuse, with 3820.6 grams of materials being found in the 30 liters of sediment removed from R-2. Again, most cultural materials recovered were typical domestic debris, with plainware ceramic sherds, camelid bone, and various macrobotanic remains making up the bulk of the assemblage. However, a few unique finds, such as a spondylus bead and fragments of coral were also recovered here. A single 0.5 liter soil samples was also collected.

R-3. Rasgo 3 (R-3) was a shallow depression that was also filled with domestic refuse. Located just north of R-2 and just west of R-1, Rasgo 3 was far less of a pit and appeared more as a slight depression where refuse had collected. Only 2.5 liters of sediment were needed to remove to clear R-3. This produced just six specimens and a single soil sample (0.5 liters) for collected for future microanalysis. Domestic debris here again consisted of plainware ceramic fragments, camelid bone, macrobotanical remains, amongst other debris.

Area C

Area C was the designation given to the space located north of the quincha wall that R-1 interrupts. At just under 1m2 (0.97m2), Area C was a small space. Two large, well-set cobbles protruded up into this area in the far northeast corner of this area. Between these two cobbles was the base of a post (dia. 8cm), likely associated with the quincha wall foundation just 12cm to the south. Only 12.5 liters of sediment were needed to excavate this area and it only produced 12 major specimens. While many of these specimens were typical domestic refuse,

but one fine, a finely polished bone tube, was an important find made here.

Area D

Area D was the area in the southeastern corner of the block, effectively the area east of the R-1 and R-2 pit features and south of the quincha wall foundation segment that bounded the southern extent of Area C to the north. This area was just over 1.8m2 and was relatively undifferentiated internally. However, another narrow post base was exposed in south end of the area. Only 17.5 liters of sediment were needed to excavate Area D, which was completed in two levels (Level 3 and Level 4-superpiso). In total, only 10 specimens were collected here, including a soil sample, and included mostly typical domestic materials. The one exception here, was a thick chunk of worked copper.

Block: L1U-2019-1

Excavation Block L1U-2019-1 would be the only excavation to be completed in the more peripheral Sector U. This would be the second smallest excavation block, at 16m², and also one of the shallowest, with only approximately 180 liters excavated for fine-screening. While L1U-2019-1 would reveal multiple domestic features, cultural materials were relatively sparse, with only 52 major material specimens collected.



Figure 104. Low-altitude UAV photo of the broader context surrounding Block L1U-2019-1 within Sector U.

The location for Block L1U-2019-1 was selected to sample on of the only locations where rockpile-midden deposits were identified on the surface in Sector U. As noted elsewhere, the location of Sector U on the upslope of the interfluve landform on which the broader site is situated has led to much more significant accumulation of wind-blown sediments. The specific rockpile-midden deposits sampled by Block L1U-2019-1 were two roughly linear deposits oriented roughly perpendicular to each other. The block was establishing where the piles met. The local datum for the block, Datum L1U-1, was a designated point on a small boulder, just south of the blocks southeast corner.

While Block L1U-2019-1 would intersect with the rockpile-midden deposits, few meaningful context-based areas could be distinguished and therefore arbitrary 2x2 meter subunits were utilized for all but the final excavation level. As with all blocks, Level 1 in Block L1U-2019-1 would act as a surface collection level. This Level 1 surface collection yielded only

a few ceramic sherds in three of the four 2x2 meter subunits. Level 2 would be the first formal excavation level with approximately 60 liters of sediment removed and fine-screened. Again, only limited materials were recovered - mostly concentrated in the southwest and northwest portions of the block.



Figure 105. Plan-view base maps of excavation Level 1 and Level 2 in Block L1U-2019-1.

Level 3 would again use the 2x2 meter subunits and remove a bit more sediment, with 77.5 liters excavated. Here, cultural materials were slightly more dense than previous levels, but still relatively sparse compared to most other excavated contexts. At the base of Level 3 more context-based areas were defined and utilized in excavating Level 4, which would be the final excavated level (superpiso). In the end just 3 areas were defined (Area A-C) - effectively just the small portion of rockpile-midden that intersected the southwest portion of the block (Area A) and in the northwest portion (Area B), with the rest of the block being defined as Area C and not excavated in Level 4.



Figure 106. Plan-view base map of excavation Level 3 and simplified base map illustrating major excavation areas used in Level 4 superpiso in Block L1U-2019-1.

As the superpiso, Level 4 would not only be constrained by the areas defined at the base of Level 3, but also by arbitrary 1x1 meter subunits. Because only Area A and Area B were excavated in this final level, only a total of six contexts (including the only formal feature of the block - R-1) were excavated as part of Level 4.



Figure 107. Final plan-view base map and oblique angle (ground-level) photo of Level 4 (superpiso) in Block L1U-2019-1.

Again, while the final context revealed within Block L1U-2019-1 would be far more simple than other blocks, at least one important feature was identified. This feature, while only a relatively simple hearth, would confirm the overall domestic function of at leas this context within Sector U. In the end the final Level 4 superpiso excavation would only produce 42.5 liters of sediment for fine-screening and ultimately only yielding 10 major material specimens, three of which were 0.5-liter soil samples collected for future micro-analysis.

Area A

Area A was the rockpile-midden deposit located in the southwestern corner of the block. As noted above, this deposit was very deflated and was not nearly as dense as the more common rockpile-midden deposits observed in Sector A and Sector L. Only 22.5 liters of sediment and just 2.5 liters worth of small cobbles and gravel were needed to fully excavate this area. Only 8 specimens were produced, most of which were directly associated with Rasgo 1.

R-1. Rasgo 1 (R-1) was a small pit and informal hearth feature located underneath the Area A rockpile-midden deposit. The feature would enter the southern block profile so complete dimensions could not be ascertained, but R-1 was 70cm at its widest extent and approximately 10cm at its greatest depth. Significant ash and charcoal content in the feature's matrix along with charring of the earth along the rim of the shallow pit suggest it was used primarily as a hearth.

Area B

Area B was the designation given to the small portion of rockpile-midden deposit located in the northwestern corner of Block L1U-2019-1. Only a single excavation was needed to remove this very deflated deposit. Only 17.5 liters were excavated and fine-screened here, producing just two specimen collections.

7.3 Chapter Summary

In Chapter 7 I presented the results from two seasons of excavation at the site of Cerro San Antonio. I attempted to present context-based results, as revealed via excavation, on their own terms, without substantial interpretation. This involved a unit/block-by-unit/block as well as

area-by-area walk-through of all contexts within Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U, that were subject to excavation.

7.1: Here I presented results from the five (5) test units which were excavated exclusively in Sector A at L1 (L1A) during the 2016 field season. All five (5) units were arbitrary test units, each just 2x2 meters in dimension. These units targeted both standard domestic rockpile-midden deposits as well as more specialized domestic structures within this large sector.

7.2: This subsection presented the results from the far more extensive excavations completed during the 2018-19 field season. These were full excavation blocks, undertaken using methods and techniques developed under the umbrella of household archaeology. While all units would be different dimensions, a total of 176m² would be excavated across five major excavation blocks in all three sampled sections (L1A, L1L, L1U).

Next: In Chapter 8 I present the results from the various forms of attribute-based analysis that was conducted on all material types collected in all forms of field work (specialized spot finds, systematic surface collection, excavation).

Chapter 8 - Material Analysis

In this chapter I present the data and results gained from conducting a variety of different lab-based documentation and analysis procedures on the cultural materials collected during field work at Cerro San Antonio (L1). As such, this chapter is divided into subsections based on the major material classes (Ceramics, Textiles, Botanics, etc.) outlined in Chapter 4 (see 4.1). Similar to other chapters presented in Section 2, my discussion here is restricted to describing the data and results on their own terms with more synthesis-based analysis and interpretation reserved for Section 3. That said, I do distinguish between major material collection types, namely surface collection versus excavation, as well as a few other context-based distinctions in the following data presentation. Finally, I restrict my discussion here to materials recovered in the three primary Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic sectors (Sectors A, L, U), the associated Middle Horizon mortuary sectors (Sectors B, I, J, K, M, Q, S, V, W, X, Z), as well a Tiwanaku-affiliated spot finds made elsewhere on the site. An inventory of materials recovered from sectors with different cultural-temporal affiliations can be found in Appendix XX.

8.1 Ceramics

The material category of Ceramics would receive the most intensive post-field sorting and analysis. After the sustained washing and drying process ceramic sherds would effectively go through three stages of sorting, before undergoing more detailed attribute analysis. Again, these procedures are described in Chapter 4 along with the rest of the methods employed here. However, in each subsection below I provide more background context as well as providing some of the typologies and other datasets I have used in developing these.

The first stage of post-field ceramic sorting would be to assign a preliminary culturaltemporal affiliation to all recovered sherds. As explained in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5, primary (and if necessary secondary and tertiary) cultural affiliations were assigned to all sectors during

initial reconnaissance and mapping. The primary sectors being discussed here (Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U) were given the single cultural-temporal affiliations of Tiwanaku-Middle Horizon. Effectively, no materials recovered in these sectors, no matter the collection strategy, fell outside the suite of ceramic traditions that have been documented as deriving from the greater Middle Horizon Period. Derived from spot finds (special collections), systematic surface collection, and excavation 456 major Ceramic specimens, composed of 33,960 individual sherds, were assigned this Tiwanaku-Middle Horizon affiliation. However, as will be discussed below, even this assemblage, considered to be Tiwanaku or Middle Horizon in affiliation was not without variation. After discussing a few more broad trends observed in general sherd sorting, I move on to a more detailed discussion regarding variation within the assemblage and the range of more specific cultural-temporal affiliations that may be present in the L1 ceramic assemblage.

Ceramic Wares

The second stage or sorting for ceramic sherds was by ware. The category of ware was actually a number of features regarding the overall technological approach to creating the ceramic vessel as well as final appearance. Generally, Tiwanaku ceramic assemblages have been divided into three major ware categories: Plainware (*Llana*), Redware (*Rojo*), and Blackware (*Negro*). Here I provide a description of each major ware type, specifically as they are represented in the Cerro San Antonio assemblage with some supplementary context provided from other Tiwanaku-affiliated ceramic assemblages found elsewhere.

Tiwanaku-style *plainwares* are generally defined by well-fired, fine-grained undecorated ceramics. Plainware pastes are relatively dense and homogenous with very fine-grained sand as the primary temper with larger (>0.5mm) and frequently angular grit inclusions (often a mixture of mica, quartz, and other locally found minerals). While ubiquitous and well-mixed, these larger inclusions are frequently absent from any given sampled sherd profile. While well-

fired plainware sherds show little coring and are generally between 5YR 6/2 - 10YR 6/4 (pinkish gray - light reddish brown) The surface treatments of plainwares are relatively limited but consistent. Most plainware vessels appear to have received a single wash of tan or pale brown slip. Some relic smearing and even a few light impressions indicated that this exterior slip was likely wiped on thoroughly, but relatively irregularly, with a cloth before firing. Interiors may have been scraped, using a modified sherd, gourd fragment, or small wooden paddle during vessel construction or at the very least pre-firing. Rims and necks of plainware vessels appear to have received more finishing with additional signs of smoothing, scraping (rims), and even some light burnishing found up to the shoulder of some vessels. The average thickness of plainware vessels was just under 7mm (6.91mm) but could be as thin as 3mm and as thick as 20mm.



Figure 108. Example of sherds and profile cross-sections of each major ware type: (center) plainware, (left) redware, (right) blackware.

Redwares are defined as well-fired and extremely fine-grained decorated ceramics. Redware pastes aren't all that different from those described for plainwares and also generally express in the colors pinkish gray - light reddish brown. However, they do tend to be moderately better sorted with fewer angular inclusions. The firing of redwares was also probably quite different, with more of an oxidizing environment than those used for plainwares (Goldstein 1989:66). This is indicated in the prevalence of at least minor coring in redware sherds, which
can range from 10R 7/1 to 10R 7/3 (light gray to pale red). Another structural difference between redware and plainware ceramic wares was general thickness, although not nearly as much as is often assumed. In fact, the average thickness of a redware vessel (6.90mm) was actually remarkably similar to plainware vessels. However, the range of vessel thickness was far more uniform, with redware thickness ranges restricted between and average minimum of 5.89mm and an average maximum thickness of 7.95mm. Redware thickness could also be affected by modelled embellishments, made to certain forms of redware serving vessels, the most common being raised horizontal bands (a torus).

Exteriors of redware vessels were given a relatively heavy red slip wash that generally appeared as slight variants of dusky red (10R 3/3 - 3/4), but relatively wide ranges in color could be observed in the L1 assemblage, with brighter, red-leaning hues (5R 3/6-3/8 - dark red) to more yellow-leaning red hues, making the slip appear more tan (5YR 5/3-5/4 - reddish brown). Almost always the exterior slip would go over the rim and down an average of 2cm into the vessel interior, where it was wiped. Redware exteriors were always burnished, often quite heavily. Burnishing was likely done using small pebbles in vertical motions, giving a uniform burnish. Redware vessels were also almost always decorated with painted motifs. These motifs are described in more detail in the attribute analysis subsection below, but these could range from relatively rudimentary, geometric motifs and even simple vertical or horizontal stripes to more elaborate, fine-line figurative motifs. These painted motifs could range from monochrome techniques which almost always relied on black (essentially for design elements. However, many redware motifs would also incorporate relatively pronounced white (10YR 8/1 - white) and a matte orange (10YR 5/8 yellowish brown) for details. Less ubiquitous, but still frequent paint colors could include a dark red (5R 2.5/3 - very dusky red), dark blue (GLEY2 4/1 - dark bluish gray), and more muted (likely wiped) versions of grey (10YR 6/1 - grey) and yellow (5Y 8/3 pale yellow). Almost all redware motif painting occurred pre-firing, though different paints/design elements, may have been applied at different stages of firing. One exception found on a number

of sherds, but relatively restricted to a single context was a post-firing matted white paint that was wiped on and only minimally burnished. Even in vessels that utilized many or all of these paints, black would be used for most framing panels and essential figure lines.

Finally, blackware vessels were by far the rarest ware type in the Cerro San Antonio ceramic assemblage, as they almost always are across the documented Tiwanaku sphere. Blackware ceramics were very similar to redware vessels in terms of technological construction and paste, but differed in terms of firing and finishing technique. Like redware vessels, blackware was composed of very dense, well-sorted pastes with very few inclusions. However, the firing environment of blackware vessels was a low-oxygen firing environment resulting in some coring but effectively turning the paste color a uniform grey (10YR 6/1 - grey). Exteriors of blackware vessels were also heavily slipped but the original color is difficult to determine as the firing process result in a deep black exterior color (10YR 2/1 - black) that was then very heavily burnished. Blackware vessels almost certainly went through multiple stages of pebble burnishing, possibly pre- and post-firing. Finally, the primary mode of decoration for blackware vessels was modelling, most commonly in elaborate portrait head keros.

Ware Frequencies

Every single sherd (and complete vessel) collected would go through the ware sorting process, and all Tiwanaku-affiliated sherds collected fell comfortably into these three ware categories as described. The collection strategies in which sherds were systematically collected, namely the systematic surface collection units and excavations, the frequency of major ware types can be indicative of other underlying patterns in the assemblage, such as vessel forms and function.



Tiwanaku Ware Frequencies (based on count) Systematic Surface Collection

Figure 109. Graph illustrating the overall frequencies of major Tiwanaku ware categories (Plainware, Redware, Blackware) based on raw sherd counts from the 140 systematic surface collection units in Sectors L1A, L1L, and L1U.

As was presented in Chapter 6, the three primary Tiwanaku domestic sectors (Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U) were systematically sampled through surface collection. Here, every 50x50m unit of the L1 site grid that fell within each sector perimeter was sampled with a 10x10m unit. In total, 140 such units were used to sample Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U, which yielded 20,142 individual ceramic sherds. The plainware sherds make up the bulk of the assemblage (95.66%) with redware sherds making up the remainder of the systematic surface collection, as no blackware sherds were found in this collection method (Figure 109).



Figure 110. Graph illustrating the overall frequencies of major Tiwanaku ware categories (Plainware, Redware, Blackware) based on raw sherd counts from the five (5) 2016 test units in L1A and five (5) 2018-19 excavation blocks in L1A, L1L, and L1U.

Excavations also produced a large enough ceramic sample size in which these broad ware frequencies can be telling. The excavations targeted the same three sectors highlighted above (Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U) and ultimately produced 13,701 individual sherds. Significantly, the breakdown of major ware frequencies here in subsurface investigations were remarkably similar to those derived from the systematic surface assemblage (Figure 110). Here in excavations plainware sherds made up 94.82% with redware making up a bit more of this assemblage at 5.17%. While not even registering on the frequency chart, it is not insignificant that excavations did produce 2 blackware sherds.

Diagnostics

While all complete or semi-complete vessels encountered or collected in the field were by definition diagnostic, all ceramic fragments or sherds had to be sorted into those deemed diagnostic or non-diagnostic. As noted in Chapter 4 (4.1), diagnostic sherds refer to any sherd including elements that can identify a vessel's primary form (primarily rims, bases, and handles) as well as any sherd that includes decoration (paint, modeling). It is for this reason that nondiagnostic sherds are almost entirely composed of body sherds from plainware vessels. As will be noted below, non-diagnostic sherds would also undergo attribute analysis, but did not yield nearly as much information regarding vessel forms and functions as diagnostic sherds.



Diagnostic vs. Non-Diagnostic sherds

■ No.-Diag. ■ Diag







All sherds, and particularly diagnostic sherds, are given far more discussion below in the presentation of the ceramic attribute analysis. The breakdowns of diagnostic vs. non-diagnostic depicted above (Figure 111), illustrate above all else, that due to the non-technologically functional embellishments added to redware vessel types, primarily in the form of painted motifs, far more of their sherds, and as a result more of the original vessels themselves, provide important cultural cues, than their plainware counterparts.

Ceramic Attribute Analysis

Finally, a portion of the Cerro San Antonio ceramic assemblage would be subjected to the far more intensive attribute analysis, in which several measurements and other observations would be recorded for each individual sherd. As noted above, diagnostic sherds would yield about twice as many formal attribute data points as non-diagnostic sherds, but both types were subjected to this analysis. However, due to time constrains during lab work, attribute analysis was only completed for the ceramic assemblages collected as specialized surface spot finds (n = 117 sherds) and the entire excavation collection (n = 10,128 sherds), with only a few select sherds from the systematic surface collection analyzed (n = 45). Finally, a select number of diagnostic sherds were drawn and photographed (n = 175 sherds) . For this reason I utilize the excavation ceramic assemblage as the primary dataset but do bring in specimens from spot finds and other contexts where needed.

Attribute analysis of all sherds (both diag. and non-diag.) involved recording a number of very standard measurements. These included weights, maximum and minimum thickness, basic exterior/interior surface treatments, and the presences of burning or modification. However, diagnostics would also receive additional measurements, such as the diameter of rims and bases, thicknesses of handles and other vessel modifications, and of course any type of decoration, painted or otherwise. Most importantly, diagnostic sherds could also generally be

assigned to a general vessel form type and often even be identified to more specific variants. Below I utilize the major vessel types as well as the already discussed major ware categories to organize the ceramic attribute results. While some vessel types and other major patterns in attributes can be found in multiple ware categories, most are restricted to one ware type or another. As with the other ceramic results above, here I primarily describe the Cerro San Antonio assemblage on its own terms, only supplementing with descriptions of Tiwanaku ceramics elsewhere for comparison, when necessary.

Plainware Vessel Types & Major Attributes

In the attribute analysis stage, sherds categorized as plainware came almost exclusively from the excavated assemblage (just 18 plainware sherds were collected as spot finds). As noted above, this included 12,991 individual sherds, of which just over 4% or 550 individual sherds were deemed diagnostic. However, before moving onto discussing the forms and other attributes represented by these diagnostic sherds, there was some significant data gathered from the non-diagnostics as well.

First, in addition to making up the bulk of the excavated ceramic assemblage, the plainware non-diagnostic sherds were the largest categories, by weight and volume, of all materials in the excavation collection. The 12,441 non-diagnostic plainware sherds weighed approximately 104.92 kilograms or almost 69% of total weight of all materials collected in the 2016 and 2018-19 excavations (not including soil samples). Significantly, over 95% of non-diagnostic sherds show some signs of use-based burning. This could range from slight fire flare marks to true sooting and carbon build-up on vessel surfaces. Almost always this burning was observed on the exterior, although 7.5% of these sherds also showed evidence for burning on what would have been vessel interiors and a little over 4% of burnt sherds were truly charred. By definition, 100% of the non-diagnostic sherds were body sherds, and had an average minimum thickness of 5.88mm and an average maximum thickness of 7.94mm, however sherds

could be found as thin as 4mm and as thick as 15mm. These body sherds almost certainly derived almost exclusively from olla vessel forms (see below), but again, could not definitely be assigned to one vessel type or another.

The remaining 550 diagnostic plainware sherds could accurately be assigned to at least a general vessel form category, if not a more specific form variant. These general and specific ceramic vessel forms represented three even broader functional classes of ceramics, defined here as: Utilitarian (ollas, tinajas), Ritual (incensario, hollow-based libation bowls, miniatures), and Reutilized Sherds (disks, ruecas, and polishers).



Figure 112. Simple frequency charts illustrating the breakdown of plainware diagnostic sherds into (top) major functional classes of plainware vessels, and (bottom) individual breakdowns of vessel forms within each major functional class (Note: also included on bottom are simplified profiles of some of the more common form variants).

While the patterns illustrated in Figure 112 above will be delineated in more detail, at least one major trend is worth highlighting. Sherds representing vessels that fall into the utilitarian vessel class made up the vast majority (92.72%) of the diagnostic plainware assemblage. Again, this correlates with the high prevalence of plainware non-diagnostic body sherds, that are assumed to derive almost entirely of vessels from the utilitarian vessel class.

Ollas. Ollas¹⁷⁰ were certainly the most common type of plainware vessel as identified in the diagnostic sherd attribute analysis, but also likely the most ubiquitous vessel type in the Tiwanaku ceramic assemblage more generally. These utilitarian vessels were likely used for a variety of domestic tasks, particularly cooking and storage. The general olla form is a globular plainware vessel with relatively minimally pronounced shoulders, restricted necks and flaring rims, creating a generally open-mouthed vessel. While no complete ollas were recovered in the L1 assemblage, full Tiwanaku ollas recovered elsewhere suggest two major variants¹⁷¹ of this general form defined most utilitarian assemblages: one was a stouter olla form with very wide mouth and almost no shoulder and the other was a taller, "pear-shaped" olla form with a longer, more-restricted neck and more pronounced shoulder (Goldstein 1989:64-65; Janusek 2003:57-60). Significantly, because almost every component of an olla vessel (base, body, handles, shoulder) were similar to those of tinajas (see below), only diagnostic rim fragments could be definitively identified as belonging to ollas. However, given that only a single tinaja rim was identified in the excavation assemblage, it is assumed that most sherds identified as OT (olla-tinaja) derived from ollas and are also discussed here.

As noted above, sherds containing portions of vessel rims were the only sherds that

¹⁷⁰ Ollas were referred to as slope-sided jars in Tiwanaku contexts in Moquegua (Goldstein 1989:64-65), fermentation jars at the site of Tiwanaku (Ryden 1947:2), and are called *phuccu* in modern Aymara (Janusek 2003:58).

¹⁷¹ These reference Janusek and Alconini's Olla Type 1.1 and 1.2 vessel forms from Tiahuanaco (Alconini 1992; Janusek 2003).

were definitively deriving from ollas. Tiwanaku olla rims were most frequently moderately flared and could vary in overall thickness, averaging between 5.89mm and 7.85mm in thickness. All olla rims appear to have been wiped pre-firing but only received minor burning on exteriors, normally limited to where the rim meets the vessel neck. Importantly, while all olla rims would take this same basic flaring form and construction, seven (7) major variants or types of olla rims were identified in the L1 excavation assemblage.



Figure 113. Graphic (center) illustrating the seven types of olla rim as encountered in the L1 excavation collection, including (left) a brief description and (right) chart depicting type frequencies.

It is difficult to say if these olla rim variants were more than simply an aesthetic choice, but all were made with relatively similar basic technological approach. All were made by shaping and smoothing the final coil of a completed vessel. However, those with sharp lip edges, and particularly with flat lip faces were also finished using a shaping tool whereas the rounded rim variants were simple shaped via pinching and smoothing directly with the fingers. This may be why the completely rounded rim variant (Type 4) makes up just over half (51.1%) of the assemblage, as the simple hand-shaped rim variants involved one less step in the final vessel construction process. That is not to say that the more sharp-lipped variants were underrepresented. Two of the most intensively shaped rim variants, specifically Type 1 and Type 2 made up more than 20% of the assemblage (Figure 113).

The overall sizes of ollas could vary quite drastically. Both average and median olla rim diameter would be approximately 17cm, with the most common (mode) diameter being 20cm. Based on rim diameter two major other major variants of olla can be discerned, and though arbitrary can be telling of function and other technological choices. Large ollas were considered those with rim diameters of 12cm or greater, with small ollas being considered those with rim diameters of less than 12cm. In this breakdown large ollas made up just under 3/4 (74.7%) of the collected olla rims.

Most ollas likely had two handles, situated parallel from each other. Handles were almost always located towards the top of the vessel. The most common type (88.2% of all handles), called strap handles, were generally broad (average: 25-30mm wide), flat (average 8-12 thick) handles that connected from the upper body (normally the upper shoulder or lower neck) either directly to the rim (direct) or to the upper neck, just 1-2cm below the rim (indirect) (Figure 113). While only handle sherds that also contain at least a portion of the rim could be identified as direct or indirect, of those sherds that could be discerned 69 were the direct variety. Less common (11.8% of all handles), though still well-represented were nub handles. Nub handles were essentially protuberances (protruding anywhere from 10-30mm from vessel wall) that were pinched flat at the end, and generally rounded. These nub handles came in two major variants - vertical nubs and horizontal nubs. The majority were vertical nubs, which were almost always located somewhere on the vessel neck, often just below the rim. Horizontal nubs were also most frequently found on the neck of ollas but were found on at least 1 body sherd as well. Finally, while most nubs appear to have been part of the original vessel design, two examples

from L1 assemblage (1 from spot finds and 1 from excavation) show evidence of broken strap handles be ground into horizontal nub handles.



Figure 114. Examples of olla handle types, including variants of (left) nub handles and (right) strap handles.

The third major diagnostic morphological element from ollas were sherds from the base of the vessel. Like handles these major base forms and variants were also present in tinajas, so were not technically exclusive to ollas. That said, these utilitarian plainware vessel bases came in three major variants: direct, indirect, and rounded (Figure 115). Both the direct and indirect variants had completed flat bases and only differed in how the vessel body connected to the level platform base. The most common was the direct type (64% of all recovered base sherds), in which the globular olla body meets the base directly. The indirect type actually had two sub-variants, the true indirect and the more pronounced pedestaled base, which made up 32% of recovered bases. In both variants the vessel body would be slightly taped and placed on a coiled-up base (normally between 10-20mm in height). Both of these flat-bottomed base variants had average diameters of 8 to12cm. Finally, rounded base ollas, that would have needed a stand or foundation hole to stand upright, were just represented by a single example.



Figure 115. Example profile drawing of olla base sherd types as found in the Cerro San Antonio (L1) ceramic assemblage.

Finally, a rare morphological element only present in a single (1) olla sherd from the excavated ceramic assemblage, but observed and collected as spot finds from a number of contexts at L1, are modelled embellishments. The most common manifestation of this is the addition of modelled elements to relatively standard olla forms, that result in the appearance of a human(oid) face¹⁷². These can range from relatively clear representations of female faces to more simplified versions, only indicating rudimentary eyes and sometimes a protruding nose. Examples falling at both ends of this spectrum were located at L1 (Figure 116).

¹⁷² These are distinct from the portrait head keros described in the Redware vessel typology below.



Figure 116. Examples of modelled olla sherds, including: (a) drawing/profile of large sherd of olla rim with braided-hair modelling and incising with detailed modelled ear (including hold for ear-spool), (b) drawing/profile an additional rim sherd with braid modelling/incising, (c) drawing/profile of modelled lower half of face - including chin and mouth, (d) photo of another modelled face element (likely mouth or eye), and drawing/profile of sherd with unique protuberance on strap handle.

A number of the more finely crafted examples of the modelled ollas found at L1 should clear representations of human hair, modelled along the vessel rim. This includes small incising to for detail and at least one (1) example has a parallel modelled hairline running down the vessel neck, representing braids. As will be noted more later, this form of utilitarian vessel embellishment, with elements that appear to represent female forms have been noted elsewhere in the Tiwanaku sphere, particularly in the Osmore (Goldstein 1989:251-253).

Tinajas. Tinajas represent the other primary form in the utilitarian class of plainware

vessel. Like ollas, tinajas are generally globular in form with only slightly pronounced shoulders. However, the neck of tinajas tend to be longer and far more restricted than ollas with a much more pronounced, and even extreme, flare of the rim. It is generally believed that these vessels were used exclusively for storage, primarily of liquids, but other foodstuffs as well (Janusek 2003:58-60). As has already been noted, because the general body form and most diagnostic morphological elements (handles and bases are extremely similar between ollas and tinajas, it can be difficult to parse out the frequency of each vessel type. However, tinaja rims do differ sharply from those found in ollas, allowing for them to be differentiated. Tinaja rims tend to have an extreme flare and are often rolled and flattened at the rim face (Figure 117).





In spite of these vessel types being common in most Tiwanaku assemblages, only a single definitive tinaja rim sherd was recovered in the L1 excavation ceramic assemblage, with only a few more observed or collected as spot finds. This makes tinajas a decidedly rare form type in the broader Cerro San Antonio Tiwanaku ceramic assemblage.

Incensarios. Modelled incense burners or braziers, called incensarios here, were another Tiwanaku vessel type, that was made using the plainware ware style. These vessels tended to be oblong, straight or slightly incurving walls with flat bases. Often the rims of incensarios would be scalloped with pronounced lobes protruding from a flattened rim. These incensarios were also frequently were adorned with more elaborate modelled elements including puma heads with square collars, avian, camelid, and a variety of other unique forms have also been recovered in many Tiwanaku contexts. These vessels were often also elaborately painted with motifs relating to the broader modelled form. Interestingly, for incensarios often it appears this painting was done post-firing. These vessel types were also decidedly rare in the L1 ceramic collection. Just two sherds from incensarios were identified in the excavated assemblage and only a few small fragments were noted in surface observations in general.

Hollow-Based Libation Bowls. Hollow-Based Libation Bowls (HBLBs)¹⁷³ were another form of brazier found throughout Tiwanaku contexts. HBLBs can be found in both plainware and redware variants, but because more of the L1 assemblage falls into the plainware category, they are described here. These vessels had pronounced flaring rims, leading to a tapered center, which then proceeded to flare out again at the base (effectively a stout hourglass shape, open at either end). As the name indicates the base remained hollow/open at both ends with a dividing segment that ran through the center of the vessel. This likely allowed for burning materials to be secured in the vessel, while keeping the base cool for transporting and placing on surfaces.

While not as rare as the modelled incensarios, still only eight (8) HBLB sherds were recovered in the excavation assemblage and only a handful of other examples were identified in surface collections. Significantly, 40% of these examples showed evidence for burning on the interiors - further supporting the interpretation they were used as braziers and even lamps (Janusek 2003:71).

Miniatures. Miniatures, often referred to simply as minis, represent miniature versions of standard utilitarian vessel forms, almost always ollas. Minis can come in a number of varieties and range in construction from low- or even unfired pinch pots to more finely

¹⁷³ These are also referred to as sahumadores (Janusek 2003:70-71).

constructed and standard-fired versions. Most pinch-pot versions were neckless and even had incurving rims and rounded bases. However, the more carefully constructed, and often more highly-fired variants often took on the more typical Tiwanaku utilitarian forms.



Figure 118. Profiles of miniature vessels (minis) found in Test Unit L1A-2016-5.

These types of vessels have been found in both domestic and mortuary Tiwanaku contexts but are associated most closely with more ceremonial or public architecture contexts. This holds true for the L1 assemblage, in which 88% of recovered miniature fragments were associated with Special Structure L1A-1 and Special Structure L1A-2 - both deemed to have at least some non-domestic functions.

Reutilized Sherds. The final major class of diagnostics within the broader plainware category are actually not a class of vessel, but reutilized sherds. These represent just that, plainware sherds which have been modified to be used in some other task. Almost always this modification involved grinding or smoothing of the break edges. Three forms defined the assemblage of reutilized sherds: disks, ruecas, and polishers.



Figure 119. Reutilized sherds - photos of ruecas (spindle whirls) and disks.

Both disks and ruecas were sherds that were ground into roughly circular shapes (anywhere between 25-55mm in width). Disks were left as circular ceramic fragments but ruecas (spindle whirls), had a single hole ground into the center. Finally, polishers were sherds of various sizes that tended to have just a single edge ground smooth from use.

Redware Vessel Types & Major Attributes

Sherds deriving from redware ceramic vessels received some of the most intensive focus during the attribute analysis, as they frequently contained additional decorative elements, particularly painted motifs, that allowed for stylistic observations to be made. The bulk of the redware samples analyzed here derived from the excavation collection (n = 708 sherds), but an additional 99 spot find specimen collections (containing an additional 217 individual redware sherds) were also processed in the attribute analysis and noted here. Finally, 18 complete vessels recovered during the formal arrest of looters at Cerro San Antonio are also referenced here.

Unlike plainware vessels in which the vast majority of the excavation assemblage would

be non-diagnostic body sherds, just under one-third (32.4%) of the redware assemblage were non-diagnostic. As noted above, this is due to the fact that in addition to the standard diagnostic morphological elements (rim, base, etc.), redware sherds¹⁷⁴, frequently contained painted decoration, also making them diagnostic. In fact. while some of the 230 non-diagnostic redware sherds were simply undecorated body sherds, many were just very ablated or otherwise weathered with most of the surface slip and any decoration stripped away¹⁷⁵. For this reason, non-diagnostic body sherds were not extremely useful and sherd thickness and other metrics were skewed due to sherd damage, but of intact sherds of this type averaged approximately 6.92mm in thickness with relatively standard paste composition and surface treatment.

Two-thirds of the redware assemblage, or 478 individual sherds (67.6%), from excavated contexts were deemed diagnostic. Like the plainware diagnostics, almost all diagnostics could accurately be assigned to at least a general vessel form category, if not a more specific form variant. These general and specific ceramic vessel forms represented three even broader functional classes of ceramics. The already noted Utilitarian (ollas and tinajas) and Ritual (HBLBs and minis) vessel classes were minimally represented in redware, but the vessel class of Serving (keros, tazóns, pitchers/bottles, escudillas, and bowls) vessels dominated the redware diagnostic assemblage.

¹⁷⁴ This is particularly true of redware body sherds, as redware vessel bodies were often the primary location of decorative motifs.

¹⁷⁵ While very well fired and otherwise constructed the slip used for Tiwanaku redware vessels is ultimately prone to chipping off in semi-large segments when left exposed in the sun for extensive periods.



Figure 120. Frequencies of redware Diagnostic sherds (n=478) by vessel form in the L1 excavated assemblage.

Serving vessel sherds would constitute 97.2% of all diagnostic redware sherds recovered during excavation and 100% of the spot find sherds and complete vessels that will also be discussed here. 80% of the diagnostic sherds were assigned the form category KT (Kero-Tazón) because unfortunately, due to their morphological similarities (see below) sherds could not definitively be assigned to either the kero or tazón form type. Therefore, the general data gathered from these sherds is discussed with both form type descriptions below. In addition, while some descriptions of motifs and other decorative elements are discussed with form types when pertinent, more general description of redware motifs are discussed in the next subsection.

Keros. The most common type of redware vessel diagnostic sherd recovered at Cerro San Antonio was the kero. Keros were serving vessels used for serving and consuming beverages (e.g., Bray 2003). Keros are some of the most recognizably Tiwanaku ceramic vessels found throughout the South-Central Andes although related vessel forms were used extensively throughout the Central Andes more generally (Janusek 2003). This type of drinking goblet is most often associated with the consumption of the fermented drink, chicha (Goldstein 2003). While there are several variants of the kero they are generally defined morphologically by pronounced to extreme flared rims with a smooth taper down to a flat base platform. While there was some variation in rim shape, most kero rims were carefully shaped into a fine, but rounded lip edge. All keros were heavily burnished, using uniform up-down strokes. Kero interiors were generally cloth-smoothed while wet but left unburnished, with the exception of near the rim, where 1-4cm would receive a single application of the red slip used for vessel exteriors as well as at least some burnishing.

As noted above, while most keros conform to this flared-rim drinking goblet for, there

were a number of variants that have been identified in a number of Tiwanaku contexts, and the same is true in Locumba. For this ceramic collection I have divided these variants into four major categories: Standard Keros, Banded Keros, Modelled Keros, and Shouldered Keros. Frequencies of these categories as vessels are a bit unreliable as any sherd that did not have a morphological element distinguishing it as banded, modelled, or shouldered was counted as standard.



Figure 121. Typology of kero variants and sub-variants.

Standard keros match the general kero description above, with pronounced flaring rims that gently tapered to a flat base. The ratio between rim and base diameters was almost always approximately 2:1 with the most common measurements as 16-17cm rim diameters to 8-8.5cm base diameters. Height usually equals rim diameter. Sherds of these standard varieties, which were counted along with sherds of unknown kero varieties may be slightly overrepresented, as they made up the majority of the kero diagnostic sherds at 74.6%.



Figure 122. Photos of keros recovered from looters at Cerro San Antonio (L1) in possession of MNC Tacna.

Banded keros were the next most common kero variety among sherds in the L1 excavation assemblage, at just over 20% of the kero diagnostic sherds. Banded keros were defined by the presence of a raised band or bulge (often called a torus) that wraps around the circumference of the vessel. Four major subvariants of banded keros were found in the broader Cerro San Antonio assemblage, though only two of these subvariants were recovered in the excavation assemblage. The most common subvariant was the single-high banded kero, which had a single raised band found within the upper 1/3 of the vessel, almost always within 2cm of the rim. Double-banded keros, in which two raised bands weredirectly adjacent to one another, were also identified but only in a few surface spot finds. Finally, Omo-style keros (Goldstein 1989), defined by slightly wider and stouter overall forms and a single-high band were represented by a single spot-find of a semi-complete vessel in one of the Tiwanaku mortuary sectors (L1I). The technological approach of banded keros could differ, particularly in the single-banded subvariants. Some raised bands were actually a true torus, in which during vessel construction a wider segment/coil was added separately, as indicated by sharp interior marking

and evidence in a few examples of scoring in vessel interiors. However, many raised band examples appear to have been made simply by pushing outward from the vessel interior, likely simply with the fingers. Finally, banded keros could also contain any number of design and motif elements, but almost always incorporated the Step-Stair motif as a primary design element.

Another major variant of keros includedmodelling. These modelling elements could be embellishments or elements added to standard kero forms or more substantial modelling which more substantially altered the vessel form. The most common subvariant in which modelled keros were found was in the form of portrait-head keros. Here broad-form keros would be modelled, often with apparent realism to model a human face. These vessels would often model the chin and mouth, nose, ears, brow, and a few other framing elements with other details painted on. with with slip painting. Just a single example of a portrait head kero sherd was found in excavations, but a number of modelled elements from these vessels were recovered in surface spot finds and systematic collection. Other modelled redware elements were recovered in excavations, including what may be a nose from a front-face god kero, but its fragmentary nature makes it difficult to determine.

Finally, the shoulder kero variant was represented by a single vessel type, what has been called the coke or coca-cola glass kero form in Tiwanaku contexts in the Osmore drainage (Goldstein 1985). These kero variants are distinguished by bulging outward from the rim before returning to the narrowing taper to a standard kero base. This gives coke or coca cola glass keros a slight shoulder as well as a very slightly restricted neck. Just two (2) sherds of this type were found in excavations with a few other examples located as surface spot finds.

Tazónes. Diagnostic sherds from Tazónes were the second most common type of redware vessel diagnostic sherds in the serving class. Tazónes are believed to have been used to serve both solid and liquid foodstuffs in a variety of contexts. These vessels were very similar in form to keros, with pronounced to extreme flared rims that smoothly tapered down to a base. In fact, tazónes are essentially just the top half of a kero. This is why while tazón rims are

generally 16cm in circumference but bases are two centimeters wider than kero bases on average. It is for this reason and their differing profile angle that base sherds can often definitively be assigned to the kero or tazón forms.



Figure 123. Example of kero and tazón base profile and the differing flare angle - almost always about a 10° difference. Note how kero bases invert slightly before proceeding smoothly up to the rim, whereas tazónes flare immediately at the base.

Tazónes came in two varieties. The standard variety was easily the most common, accounting for 99% of the tazon diagnostic sherd assemblage. Like keros, tazóns were almost always painted with at least a simple horizontal stripe near the vessel base and could contain any other motif elements, but the vertical and horizontal "S" and flamingo/ibis motifs were particularly common.



Figure 124. Photos of complete tazónes rescued from looted contexts at Cerro San Antonio (L1) by MNC Tacna.

The second subvariant is referred to as a recurved tazón (Janusek 2003a:65). Recurved tazónes were very similar in form to standard tazónes, but had a much less pronounced rim flare and more straight sided body, leading to a slightly rounded connection to a flat base, giving these vessels more of a standard bowl appearance. These variants were only found in a few spot finds.





Figure 125. Examples of recurved tazónes as found at Cerro San Antonio: (right) complete vessel from materials recovered from looters and complete profile diagnostic sherd recovered as a spot find.

Pitchers. While making up only 1.5% of the redware diagnostic sherd assemblage, pitchers were the third most represented redware serving vessel sherd type. While several variants were identified, the most typical form for pitchers to take were moderate to pronounced flaring rims which connected directly to globular bodies with flat base platforms. The most common variant also had a narrow strap handle which would connect from the shoulder to just below the rim.



Figure 126. Examples of complete pitchers and diagnostic sherds recovered at Cerro San Antonio, including: (right) complete vessels recovered from looters in 2016, (center-right) sherds of standard pitchers, (center-left) a polychrome decorated sherd from a spouted-pitcher, and (left) a sherd from a bottle-style pitcher. Rarer variants of pitchers included a more elaborate form in which a cylindrical spout (tube) was inserted directly into the vessel body, which tended to be more angular. These spouted pitchers were at times elaborately decorated with panel motifs and incorporated some of the rarer paint colors (particularly blue). Other pitcher variations were simpler and could even be considered bottles. These tended to be much smaller than the standard pitcher but and had more of a pear shape and may or may not have had a handle.

Other Serving Forms. Very few examples of diagnostic redware sherds were found, in any collection method, that didn't fall into the above-mentioned form types. However, two (2) sherds from the excavation assemblage were recovered that were believed to derive from an escudilla form. These escudilla redware vessels were extreme flared rim bowls, in which the interior of the extended flared rim would often be used for the primary vessel decoration.





An additional sherd (1) was recovered that was a true semispherical bowl, also with decoration on the interior. This sherd was heavily burnished on the rim but only lightly burnished on the decorated interior.

Other Redware Forms. Finally, a few forms that have already been described in the plainware subsection were also found with redware variants. These included two (2) sherds of a redware hollow-based libation bowl or incensario. Also, eight (8) sherds from a single, well-fired

miniature vessel, which had the typical redware slip but was not burnished like typical redware serving wares. Importantly this vessel included a modelled face on the neck. This face was more rudimentary than most modelled plainware variants, with two slight, round indents for eyes and a small protruding, roughly triangular nose. This was a unique find with no other similar vessels found at L1.

Redware Painted Designs & Motifs

A significant element of almost all redware vessel forms was painted decoration. While the major technological aspects, including colors utilized and overall production process, are described above, it is worth noting some general trends in the designs and more articulated motifs found in the Cerro San Antonio ceramic assemblage. This is not meant to be an exhaustive review of Tiwanaku iconography or a comprehensive description of every element represented at L1, but rather a general reference for the major motifs that were found throughout the Middle Horizon-affiliated sectors at Cerro San Antonio.

However, before describing some of the specific repeating design element and motifs it is worth noting some general trends in the overall stylistic approach as observed in Locumba. Significantly, almost any stylistic manifestation that has been observed in the Tiwanaku sphere, has also been identified at L1. This includes limited examples of Early Middle Horizon Tiwanaku styles, including more fine-line figural motifs with specific geometric elements, like volutes and other spirals. Far more of the assemblage is defined by Late Middle Horizon Tiwanaku styles that include more abstracted but uniform geometric design elements, often articulated into panels, including step-stair motifs. Also included in the L1 assemblage were even more abstracted versions of these Tiwanaku geometric motifs, often far more simplified and even sloppy in application. These more rustic variants may be associated with the Terminal Middle Horizon and even continuance of Tiwanaku symbolic elements into the Late Intermediate Period in Tumilaca and Cabuza sub-variants (e.g., Owen 1993:358-386; Uribe 1999:199). More on the

temporal sequencing of these design elements and how they were spatially distributed at Cerro San Antonio is discussed in Section 3.

Figural Design Elements. Figural design elements and motifs took on almost exclusively animal forms. These zoomorphic elements always utilized black paint as the primary framing color but were frequently polychrome designs. Tiwanaku tended to used an additive style in their polychrome motifs, in which different elements and different colors were clearly applied at different times.



Figure 128. Examples of various feline-related figural design elements as found on redware serving vessel sherds at Cerro San Antonio.

Tiwanaku-style feline imagery was relatively rare but well distributed. No complete feline or puma panels were recovered but several articulated segments and many small elements were identified in a variety of contexts. A few examples of full body puma representations were identified in both the fine-line style, often associated with Early Middle Horizon Tiwanaku in the south-central highlands and the Omo-style in the middle Osmore (Goldstein 1989:66; 2009:242-243). These are often complex, polychrome motifs, likely illustrated in multiple stages of painting.



Figure 129. Examples of Omo-style feline figurative motifs.

At least one example of the diagnostic Omo-style split eye was identified at L1. More schematic, simplified versions of feline heads, sometimes even with crown-like elements were also located in a few contexts. Finally, even more stylized forms of felines, including isolated elements like the abstracted split feline eye, were often incorporated into more geometrically dominated panel designs.



Figure 130. Examples of avian elements, specifically triple tail-feather elements, from the L1 collection.

Avian representations were more common in the Cerro San Antonio assemblage. Some examples of the more abstracted Tiwanaku avian motifs, often thought to depict condors, were identified in limited fragments. Similar to the more complicated feline motifs, these were often polychrome with complicated design elements. These were frequently indicated by the diagnostic triple tail-feather element.

However, far more common were depictions of flamingos and ibis. These are almost always full-bodied depictions of these birds, almost always in simple black line style. While often defined simply as a flamingo motif, there are clearly other species, particularly ibis, depicted in these designs.



Figure 131. Examples of the flamingo and ibis motifs as recovered in the L1 diagnostic ceramic assemblage.

Other examples of zoomorphic figural elements include limited examples of more abstract images such as the "crab" element, (Goldstein 1985:121) which uses very similar design elements to those in the flamingo. As well as another more abstract head that may be another avian depiction or also possibly a fish representation.



Figure 132. Examples of other figural zoomorphic iconographic elements: (left) the crab design and (right) an abstract depiction possibly a fish or another avian form.

The only anthropomorphic figural representation identified in the L1 assemblage is a very stylized face that is always incorporated to a repeating geometric motif. This is often referred to as the anticephalic head (Goldstein:1985:118) and comes in two primary variants. One variant the repeating geometric pattern is composed of opposing tringle set into a band with eyes represented by simple dots and mouths represented by a nested set of rectangular boxes. Another less common version would be similar but instead of triangles, would uses opposing segments of the step-stair motif (see below).



Figure 133. Examples of other non-zoomorphic figural representations, including (upper-right) eclipse motif and (lower-right, left) the anticephalic head motifs.

The only other non-zoomorphic figural element in the Cerro San Antonio assemblage is the eclipse motif (Goldstein 1985:138). This is represented as a black circle centered in a fourlobed white star, which as the name indicates, has been interpreted as representing an eclipse or some other celestial event. For that reason, it is included here, instead of the geometric category below.

Geometric Design Elements. Far more ubiquitous in painted motifs and designs were geometric elements. In fact, almost always, figural motifs included, or were even composed of a significant number of these more abstracted elements. As will be noted below, most of the following elements could be found as standalone design elements or found together as compound geometric motifs. Many geometric motifs were applied as panels, in which geometric elements would repeat. While there are many exceptions, symmetry was a general rule in Tiwanaku ceramic painted elements (i.e. a specific motif would often be seen repeated on the opposite side of the vessel).

Simple horizontal, and to a lesser degree vertical lines would often be the only decorative element on serving vessels. The most common single painted element recovered in the L1 ceramic assemblage were simple horizontal lines, painted in black, in an even band around serving vessels. These simple lines could range from 5-10mm in thickness and were most frequently found just above (2-5mm) the base and right along the rim¹⁷⁶. Frequently horizontal stripes located near the vessel base would include a second stripe, painted in white or orange. Vertical and diagonal stripes or bands would often be used to frame panel motifs located on the body of many serving vessels. These vertical stripes, sometimes modified as wavy lines, would run between horizontal stripes near the base and rim. Other variants of simple line elements included a vertical or diagonal dashed line, always closely set between two solid vertical stripes were common elements in later more abstracted Tiwanaku-affiliated variants.

¹⁷⁶ It was not uncommon for the entire edge of the rim to be painted as well.
Another very common geometric element found frequently was a simple open circle with a dot in the center. This circle-dot element could be found isolated as a stand along decorative element or as part of other geometric compound motifs and even as part of figural designs. The circle-dot was again most commonly found in black but white variants were also fairly common. Less common were triangular or other angular geometric shapes also punctuated with a simple dot. In figural motifs the circle-dot would act as an eye or be used as more abstract filler.

Another reoccurring geometric motif was the cross. Cross elements could be found in simple variants, to intersecting perpendicular line segments. However, cross elements were also manifested as polychrome elements, with a fine-line cross of one color overlapping with a thicker, blocky cross of a second color. Some monochrome versions of the blocky cross variant would have a small circle left unpainted in the center, sometimes punctuated with a small dot. Like the circle-dot element, crosses could be found isolated or as part of ore elaborate geometric motifs.



Figure 134. Examples of the cross motif.

Other than simple horizontal and vertical lines, one of the other primary framing elements used in compound geometric motifs was the step-stair motif. The basic form of this geometric element was a simple rectangular stair design, with at least two, but most frequently three steps. Two main variants of this basic design were found in the L1 assemblage, a fine or moderate line weight and a very thick blocky version. The blocky step-star variant was always found with banded keros. Step-stairs could be black monochrome elements or polychrome, often including orange, white, and dark red with the standard black. Sometimes these steps appear to have been partial representations of more elaborate cross designs. Step-stair motifs always came with other design elements, frequently punctuated with circle-dots or other geometric lines.



Figure 135. Examples of the step-stair motif as expressed in the Cerro San Antonio diagnostic ceramic assemblage.

The final geometric motif repeated with some frequency was the "S" motif. While it could come in variants, most recovered here were relatively fine-line. These S designs were most frequently oriented vertically but could also be found horizontally as well.



Figure 136. Examples of the "S" motif as found on ceramics from Cerro San Antonio.

Other geometric design elements and compound motifs included repeating angular chevron designs as well as more pronounced repeating diagonal line elements. Horizontal lines, punctuated with pendants were found in a number of sherds, as were interlinking chain designs (Figure 137; Goldstein 1985:135).



Figure 137. Examples of variations of the chain motif and pendant design elements.

Black fine-line cross-hatching or a net pattern was used as filler and sometimes to represent hair (on redware portrait head vessels). Fine-line spirals a rounded volute (Figure 138), often associated with the Omo-style ceramic suite in Moquegua (Goldstein 1985:87-90), were located in a number of contexts as well. Finally, a number of sherds with partial geometric elements in future analysis may be associated with other documented Tiwanaku motifs.



Figure 138. Examples of continuous and discrete volute design elements from the L1 collection.

It appears possible that figural elements were more common at first, but over time became not just increasingly replaced with geometric elements, but synthesized with them.



Figure 139. More rustic versions of typical Tiwanaku motifs, included conglomerated or synthesized design elements, often associated with Tumilaca and Cabuza affiliated communities.

A number of diagnostic sherds and even complete vessels at Cerro San Antonio show this manifestation of synthesized and ultimately simplified motifs (Figure 139).

Blackware Vessel Types & Major Attributes

The least represented major ware type in the Cerro San Antonio sherd assemblage was Tiwanaku blackware. In fact, only three (3) sherds, two (2) from excavation and one (1) as a surface spot find, were recovered at L1. All three (3) sherds appear to have been part of modelled vessels, likely blackware portrait head keros.

Ceramic Production & Repair

Finally, a number of ceramics and related materials recovered at L1 give some insight into how ceramic vessels were produced and repaired at the site. Cerro San Antonio actually has a number of large outcrops of a homogeneous, fine-grained clay, that when ground and wetted, would have made a viable paste-base. Obviously, mineral sourcing, such as LA-ICP-MS, is needed to confirm if this truly local clay source was used in Tiwanaku ceramics. However, ovaloid or roughly disc-shaped chunks of unfired clay were observed and collected in a number of domestic contexts in Sector L. These appear to be blocks of this locally-sourced clay which were ground down, resulting in the observed clay discs; possibly representing material left from prepping a ceramic mixture.

While no contexts were definitively identified as firing locations for ceramics, other evidence for ceramic production on-site include examples of what appear to have been failed ceramic production attempts. One particular example of this in Sector L was a cluster of redware vessel pot busts that appear to be unused and smashed vessels. These "wasters" appear to have been unviable vessels lost in firing, due to cracking because of improper or lack of temper, resulting in uneven, swollen vessel walls. Exposed profiles revealed a very homogeneous paste that had turned completely grey and even vitrified causing internal bubbling, which ruptured to the surface in some instances. Other ceramic production-related finds included reutilized sherds and more commonly medium to large-sized pebbles that were likely polishers used in burnishing, among other tasks. A final noted feature, related to ceramic production, were the presence of engraved marks etched onto some redware vessels. These marks almost always of redware serving vessels appear to have been etched on after firing (Goldstein 1985:65).

527



Figure 140. Examples of (right) sherds with repair holes, (center-top) a polisher stone used in ceramic burnishing, (center-bottom) drawing of base of a kero with post-firing, etched makers mark (left) a "waster" sherd from a failed ceramic firing event in which the firing temperature and/or paste mixture was incorrect leading to vessel vitrification and ultimate bursting.

Finally, ceramic repair, was dealt with by a single, standard technique. Individual holes (generally 2-6mm in diameter) would be ground on either side of the crack or damaged area. Then cord (generally vegetable-fiber twisted cord) would be strung through, bound, and likely sealed with some kind of botanic or animal fat-based mixture (though this is never preserved from archaeological examples). This general repair style was observed on all vessel types, from utilitarian plainware vessels to decorated redware serving vessels.

8.2 Lithics

The material category of Lithics or stone-based materials was separated into two major subcategories: Lithics-Flaked and Lithics-Ground. The major distinctions between these

categories are delineated in Chapter 4 (4.1), but the primary difference is technological: Lithic-Flaked represent tools and debitage produced through percussive flint-knapping and related techniques whereas Lithics-Ground refer to stone tools made primarily through grinding and smoothing using other stones. Of course, other than some weathering, Lithics of both major types were preserved on the surface and were recovered in all major modes of material collection in the field. While the categories of Flaked and Ground are used to organize the discussion below, in total 167 major material Lithic specimens were recovered at Cerro San Antonio, composed of 287 individual artefacts weighing 13.49 kilograms.

Lithics - Flaked

While there seem to have been some general preferences in raw material for specific tool types (see below), most lithic materials recovered at L1 came from only a select few stone types. The most common was fine-grained, mostly white chert, but a number of cherts, quartzites, as well as denser metamorphic stones, like basalt, were also utilized. The cherts used tended to be colored in mottled dark greys, pale yellows, or a black-speckled white. No clear exotic materials were identified in the L1 Lithic-Flaked assemblage as all raw stone materials are believed to have been available locally in the broader Locumba drainage, but imports of certain fine-grained cherts are possible.

Lithic materials falling into the Lithic-Flaked category could be broken down into two major subcategories (Figure 141): flaked lithic tools an lithic debitage (generated from producing lithic tools).

529



Figure 141. Simple counts of Lithic-Flaked materials as recovered in the three primary field collection methods at L1 (Spot Finds, Systematic Surface Collection, and Excavation).

The debitage category refers to stone refuse generated when flaked stone tools were produced through knapping and other percussive techniques. Only initial observations were made on these materials and lithic debitage was simply separated into cores and flakes. Most recovered cores were bifacial with flakes having been knapped off from multiple faces. In this division, flakes represent all other debitage, including primary, secondary, and tertiary flakes as well as other chunks. Exactly 200 flakes, deriving from all the raw stone materials described above, were found in the various modes of material collection. As is often the case, cores were found in much few numbers and often associated with rockpile-midden deposits.



Figure 142. Examples of (left) debitage produced in flaked stone tool production, including flakes and bifacial cores. As well as (right) two examples of hammerstones, one of the primary tools used in stone tool production.

Finally, while not technically a flaked stone tool or byproduct, but an essential related lithic tool, were hammerstones¹⁷⁷. Nine (9) different hammerstones were also recovered in the L1 assemblage. These tended to be unworked, but clearly heavily used small cobbles that tended to be dense metamorphic and igneous stone (Figure 142).

¹⁷⁷ Hammerstones were actually also included in the ground-stone surface survey (see 5.2).



Figure 143. Examples of scrapers as identified in the L1 Lithic-Flaked assemblage, including: (left) side-scrapers and (right) end-scrapers.

Four major tool types were found in the Lithic-Flaked assemblage: projectile points, knives, scrapers, and hoes. As noted above, these tools were composed of quartzites, cherts, and more rarely andesites and could range in production style, from relatively simple hammerstone percussive knapping to more delicate bifacial pressure flaking techniques. For instance, scrapers were most frequently simple retouched flakes, in which a flake was pressure flaked at one end, generating a roughly serrated edge. These scrapers were found most commonly as side-scrapers meant for a roughly pull-based scrape motion, but end scrapers, designed for more push-based scraping were also identified (Figure 143).



Figure 144. Examples of agricultural hoes recovered at Cerro San Antonio.

Agricultural hoes were also often produced with relatively simple, unifacial knapping. Andesites and other fine-grained igneous stone types, many of with heavy feldspar inclusions were the primary stone type used for these tools. Without exception, the eight (8) hoes identified and collected at L1 all are naturally flat (i.e., less than 1cm thick with cortex on the majority of both sides) and roughly tear-drop-shaped sections of stone (average: 6-7cm on broad end, 2-4cm on narrow end and 9-10cm long). The broad end of the stone was then minimally pressure flaked to provide somewhat of an edge, but most modification, even on this end, was chipping and polishing resulting from use.



Figure 145. Examples of bifacial knives from Cerro San Antonio.

Knives are bifacial tools as defined here. These tools tend to be oblong or even roughly diamond in form with pressure flaking along all four edges (Figure 145). Some have just minor pressure flaking, like scrapers, but other examples show bifacial thinning well as more consistent pressure flaking, generating serrated edges. It should be noted that some of these have also been hypothesized to represent bifacial preforms for projectile points.

Figure 88. Detail view of Figure 146. Examples of projectile points associated with Tiwanaku sectors at Cerro San Antonio (L1). More elongated forms are displayed on the top and stouter forms on the bottom with the more flat-based, stout forms in the lower right.



Projectile points were the most elaborately worked bifacial flaked lithic tools identified at L1. While there was a great amount of minor variation, these projectile points were almost exclusively elongated narrow stemmed arrow points with barbed shoulders¹⁷⁸. Variability could be found in how elongated the form would be, with the standard variant having a pronounced elongated form (2.9-4.1cm in length) and other variants with more stout or triangular forms (1.9-3.2cm in length). These stouter versions, which were far rarer, would also have flatter bases (0.9-1.5cm in width), but would maintain a narrow stem. The standard elongated point would generally have a slight to moderately concave base (1.7-2.2cm in width). 85% of the points and fragments had significant pressure flaking along the blade edges making them roughly serrated. Interestingly most recovered points from L1 have uneven barbs, in what was apparently an intentional choice in production. Finally, there was a clear preference for the white, fine-grained chert in projectile points, with 80% of the points using this material. The remaining examples were made using either a pale yellow or the black-speckled white chert, suggesting a preference for these white or light-colored stone types for this particular tool.

Lithics - Ground

Ground stone materials were primarily only found as completed tools. All ground stone tools were made from small to large cobbles that could vary but were almost always locally available igneous stone types with various diorites, andesites, rhyolites, and some dolerites and granites being the most commonly occurring. For most ground stone tool types, only minimal reduction of the original stone was undertaken, so other than a basic hardness, size and shape of the selected stone appear to have been more important than specific stone type. To this

¹⁷⁸ This aligns with Klink and Aldenderfer's Projectile Point Type 4E in their projectile point typology for the south-central highlands (2005:45; see also Giesso 2003:320-381; Goldstein 1993).

point, while many of these stone types could be found in the natural ground liter on the site itself (many unworked examples can be found in the rock-pile midden deposits), the vast majority of cobbles used were water-worn and almost certainly collected from the valley bottom. These river cobbles were pre-rounded making working into the final tool form a far less intensive task.

Importantly, due to their size and weight it was not uncommon to document (GPS point, photograph, weight) ground stone tools in the field and not collect them. This would be particularly true of the larger metate fragments encountered. However, in total 44 individual ground stone tools were ultimately collected for the L1 Lithic-Ground assemblage.

Fable 11. Table of Lithic-Ground specime	ns collected in various	s modes of field work.
--	-------------------------	------------------------

	Manos	Metates	Polisher	Sling Stones	Bola Stones	<u>Total</u>
Spot Find	8	1	0	5	1	15
Systematic Surface Collection	3	0	1	0	0	4
Excavation	23	0	2	0	0	25
Total	34	1	3	5	1	44

Again, while these Lithic-Ground specimens were selectively collected and not considered a systematic sample, they did help form the basis for some of the more intensive specific material observations used below.

The most common ground stone tool type collected, were manos. Mano is a generic name for almost any hand-held grinding stone. Most of these tools could be held in just one hand, though others would have required the use of both hands. Based on overall size and shape, almost all manos fit five (5) basic types. Three types, the discoidal, ovate, and loaf were likely used with metates (see below) and used in push-pull or more lateral grinding motions. These manos could be lightly used, with minimal grinding to much more heavily used with two or three faces of the tool used in grinding. Some of the most heavily used manos, particularly

537

those of finer-grained materials, like dolerite or andesite, would take on a glossy appearance that feels waxy to the touch. The other two mano types, spheres and pestles, were also used for grinding tasks but also pecking, smashing, and other related activities, likely done with bowlstyle metate (see below).

As indicated above, directly associated with manos are metates. Metates are, generally speaking, large flat or bowled stone tools, used as the grinding or striking platform for activities completed using manos as well as containers for the material being processed. Metates could be made from large to extra-large cobbles and small boulder-size stones. Most examples observed at L1 were technically portable, but some were quite heavy and certainly impractical for frequent moving. Three major form variants were found with metates: massive, bowls, and slabs. Massive were, as the name indicates, the largest variant, often made from small boulders with natural impressions in the stoned ground down for large concave grinding surfaces. Bowl and slab variants were both far more portable, but could also be quite bulky. Bowl-style metate variants were concave on once side, some varieties were small enough to be called mortars, but others were larger basin-style bowl sub-variants. Slabs were metates where the primary grinding platform was flatter and sometimes quite level. Like manos, metates could range from lightly worn rough grinding surfaces to extremely well-used glossy grinding platforms. Unlike manos, metates were frequently found as fragments and were likely reused, even by later cultural periods until they broke and were discarded.

Beyond the more utilitarian-oriented manos and metates, the other major class of Lithic-Ground tools were related to weaponry. The most common in this category were sling stones. These stones were spherical and relatively uniform in size (~ 5cm diameter). Sling stones were actually largely pecked into shape but ultimately smoothed with some grinding. All collected and observed sling stones were of the same material, likely diorite. Finally, a single example of a bola stone was recovered at in Sector A at Cerro San Antonio. This was a roughly ovaloid stone with a clear groove, for attaching a cord, was ground around the center of the tool.

538



Figure 147. Examples of sling stones as well as single example of a bola stone (upper left) from Cerro San Antonio.

Importantly, while the Lithic-Ground collection (those samples actually collected) was not considered systematic or necessarily representative, an additional systematic ground stone surface survey was also conducted. This is considered a pilot study as just a single arbitrary area was sampled in Sector L. Nevertheless, in addition to the important spatial distribution data, this pilot survey also provided a more accurate, or at least systematic, look at ground stone frequencies.

8.3 Textiles

The material category of Textiles included any material composed of or deriving from cloth or other products made from twisted or spun plant or animal fibers. All textile materials collected in Middle Horizon contexts at Cerro San Antonio are composed of either wool, derived from camelids (presumed to be domesticated llamas or alpacas), or cotton. While local climactic conditions have and continue to allow for the remarkable preservation of textiles in some surface contexts, almost all textile materials discussed here come from the 136 Textile specimens collected in excavations and only a select few spot finds from recently looted Tiwanaku mortuary contexts. Materials included within these Textile specimens could largely be broken into two major material classes; woven cloth and other. As will be noted below, the other category could include anything from unspun cotton or wool fiber to multi-ply, twisted cording. Textiles, particularly woven cloth, are complicated materials and require specialized analysis that was not undertaken here, however some important initial observations were made regarding these materials.

Typical Tiwanaku-style shirt or tunic



Figure 148. Sample images of textile fragments as recovered from Cerro San Antonio excavations, including (center) schematic of typical Tiwanaku-style tunic (after Oakland 1986) with inserts of coarse and fine plainweave close-ups and neck plaque, (left) examples of fine plainweave vertical stripes, and (center-bottom) chart displaying frequency of wool and cottonbased textiles.

In regards to woven cloth, 99 individual fragments of textiles, large enough to conduct

basic attribute analysis, were recovered from excavated contexts. These ranged from small

fragments (~ 2x2cm) to largely articulated sections of garments and other woven textile-based materials. With only a few exceptions (see below), textiles recovered in the excavated Tiwanaku contexts at L1 are warp-faced plainweave cloth¹⁷⁹. These could range from relatively coarse plainweaves to much tighter, fine plainweaves (Figure 148). Significantly, upwards of 20% of recovered fragments appear to be largely composed of cotton-fiber threads. The remaining 80% are wool, which is far more common for Tiwanaku contexts (e.g., Oakland 1992). Also, importantly, is the fact that coarse plainweave textiles were almost exclusively wool, whereas finer plainweave specimens were more evenly split between wool and cotton fiber; said another way, cotton fiber was largely only used in more fine weave cloth¹⁸⁰.

¹⁷⁹ These are called *ina sawu* in modern Aymara (Arnold and Espejo 2015:178).

¹⁸⁰ This is likely due, at least in part, to the fat that spun cotton tends to create a thinner thread than wool; though this of course depends on processing technique.



Figure 149. Examples of vertical weft design in (left) natural fiber colors and (center) dyed colors as well as (right) example of weft seam polychrome embroidered embellishment on a ch'uspa bag fragment.

Most recovered textile fragments were undyed, coming in a variety of natural brown, tan, and off-white colors (depending on the raw material). These natural colors could be found separate (monochrome textile) or combined into design elements in polychrome textiles. However, 16% of the textile fragments would contain at least some dyed design element. Dye colors included common reds and yellows as well as more rare light and dark blues, pink, and green. The most common design would be a polychrome vertical stripe pattern. These stripes could cover the entire textile or be limited to isolated bands (Figure 149). Other decoration elements on textiles were frequently completed in embroidery. One of the most common elements of this type were embroidered neck plaques that would be situated at the base of tunic neck openings (Figure 149). A single example of a more rare and elaborate embroidery style, a cross-knit loop stich (Plunger 2009:33), was found along a weft seam of what was likely a wallqipu (Aymara) or ch'uspa (Quechua) bag (textile bag for holding coca).

While most of the cloth fragments analyzed were too small to definitively identify what type of item it may have been utilized in, most diagnostic fragments appear to come from different variants of the typical Tiwanaku-style tunic or shirt. These were relatively simple in overall construction - a single rectangular¹⁸¹ piece of woven cloth would be folded in half and stitched partially closed with space left open along the weft selvages for the arms and an opening and slight slit left open¹⁸² at the top warp selvage for the head. Significantly, no fragments of more elaborate versions of these tunics, which use a much more labor-intensive tapestry weaving technique were identified in the L1 collection. As noted above, these tunics could be unembellished monochrome or polychrome garments, decorated frequently with vertical stripes and added embroidered elements. It is also possible that many plainweave fragments, especially coarser wool plainweaves, came from blankets or other cloth-based coverings.

¹⁸¹ In complete tunics that have been analyzed the warps are about twice as long as wefts (Plunger 2009:30).

¹⁸² Created during the weaving process through a discontinuous weft technique.





Figure 150. Examples of fragments from 4-cornered Tiwanaku hats that include (left) design elements from two different classic polychrome hats - (top) step-stair anticephalic head motif and (bottom) repeating star motif. Also depicted (right) is a monochrome hat fragment that utilizes a raised chevron design style.

Other textile-based items, often thought to be non-utilitarian or even ceremonial in nature were also recovered. As noted above, a large section of a *ch'uspa* or textile bag for holding coca and sometimes other ritual paraphernalia, was recovered. This example was made of a coarse plainweave but was embellished with embroidered geometric designs along the weft seem (Figure 150). However, some of the highest quality textile materials recovered in the L1 textile assemblage (in terms of labor investment and skill), derived from four-cornered hats.

These textile hats were roughly squared in shape with four tufts or points protruding upwards from each of the corners. Tiwanaku-style 4-cornered hats were made using an intensive knotted technique¹⁸³, that involved starting at the tips of the corner tufts and working down to the base of the hat, ultimately making the hat from a single cloth garment. Typical Tiwanaku-style 4-cornered hats would frequently carry elaborate polychrome designs, including both geometric and figural motifs (Figure 151). However, one recovered specimen was a monochrome hat which utilized a raised chevron design instead of typical dyed polychrome elements.

¹⁸³ Specifically, most analyzed hats have been found to use a larkshead knot (Conklin 2013:83).



Figure 151. Images of 4-cornered hat fragment recovered in excavation Block L1A-2019-2 near the central plaza in Sector A at Cerro San Antonio. Includes detail inserts that display: (top left) corner with fur tuft that may have protruded from end of point, (top right) possible stylized feline head motif, (lower right) consecutive diamond motif, and (lower left) bichrome cross motif.

The most complete 4-cornered hat specimen recovered at Cerro San Antonio was approximately 40-45% complete and revealed just how elaborate the motifs on these textile accessories could be. The motif involved two main alternating panels. One included a simplified stepped cross with a linked diamond motif stacked on top with an additional stepped cross on top of that. The second panel was narrower and was a single design element, that likely represents a repeating stylized feline head motif. Both motif patterns incorporated alternating color scheme that involved various combinations of red, dark red, blue, yellow, pale green, and pink. Another interesting element in this specimen was that both corner tufts that were present contained an unspun tuft of hair that certainly protruded inward into the hat, but may have also protruded outward, adding an additional embellishment.



Figure 152. Examples of twisted and braided cording from the L1 textile assemblage: (left) cotton netting, as well as attached sinkers, and (right) one of the more elaborate four-strand round braid made from polychrom wool threads.

One of the primary material types in the non-cloth or other category was multi-ply thread, generally referred to here as cord. Like the woven cloth the threads that made-up these cords were mostly Z-spun with the cords themselves S-plied. Cords were typically simple 2-ply twists but could be more elaborate 4-10 ply braided cords as well. Again, some cording would be

undyed, naturally colored light and dark browns, off-white, black, and even a natural red-brown. However, these cords could also include dyed threads that included dark and light blue, red, orange, yellow, and green. All dyed cording was made exclusively from wool, but approximately 15% of the cording recovered was made primarily from cotton fiber. These cotton-fiber cords were always found as white (or sometimes off-white). Importantly, one of the important artifacts recovered made from cotton cording were knotted nets. These nets, likely used in fishing and hunting, were composed of tightly twisted cotton corded knotted ever1cm in a lattice, creating roughly 1cm2 rectangular gaps.

A final category of material that fell into this non-cloth textile were threads and wool and cotton fibers lightly to unspun. For example, 72.46 grams of unspun¹⁸⁴ wool, in colors of various browns, off-whites, and black, were recovered in excavated contexts. Interestingly, 92.18 grams of unspun cotton fiber was also recovered in various excavated contexts. Cotton seeds were also a relatively ubiquitous seed type in the macrobotanic assemblage.

¹⁸⁴ This could include anything from raw fibers to semi-prepared fleece, or semi-processed roving.



Figure 153. Examples of tools and other implements used in textile production and maintenance, including (top and right) multiple examples of spindle whirls, (middle-center) cactus spine needle, and (center-bottom) twig thread spool. Also depicted: (left-top) raw cotton with seed still attached and (left-bottom) various examples of raw and partially worked wool.

Related to these materials involved in textile production were a variety of other, nontextile artifacts that are worth noting here. The most common textile or weaving tool type recovered were spindle whirls (*ruecas*). These tools, used as weights in spinning wool or cotton fiber into thread, could be made from a simple stone but were most frequently found as modified ceramic sherds. Some sherds were simply perforated with a single drill hole but others would receive more modification in the form of smoothing and grinding of edges. However, one spindle whirl was clearly specifically designed, it was a rounded trapezoidal shape, perforated through the middle, with vertical score marks in four sets of three around the top edge (Figure 153). Other tools related to textile production and repair were needles made from large cactus spines; at least one had a clear perforation at the thick end (Figure 153). Finally, multiple examples of thread spools were identified in a variety of contexts.

8.4 Basketry

The general hyperarid climate of the region has also allowed for the preservation of all manner of woven or braided vegetable fiber materials to be preserved at Cerro San Antonio. These materials could generally be broken into two major categories: woven baskets or containers and twisted or braided rope or cord. Interestingly, in spite of preservation conditions and the ubiquity of organic materials like textiles, baskets were decidedly rare, only found in 2.5% of excavated contexts. Twisted rope or more tightly braided cord (often just 2-ply) would be more ubiquitous, recovered in just under 7% of excavated contexts.



Figure 154. Photos of example basket fragments from the L1 assemblage.

Basket remains were almost always quite fragmentary, with no complete example of a typical woven basket recovered in excavated contexts. However, from the fragments recovered it appears that a general coiling technique was probably used in most common baskets, but both twining and wicker weaving were also utilized.



Figure 155. Photos of the large basket, believed to be a cradleboard basket, recovered in excavation Block L1A-2019-2, including details of a number of the important components.

The most complete artifact, categorized as basketry, was a very unique specimen, that actually incorporated multiple materials, including human hair in its construction. This specimen was very complex, and while remarkably well preserved was badly damaged and tangled, making definitive form and function slightly difficult to interpret. However, what is clear is that this object was made using a hard frame technique in which a single branch (~2cm diameter) was bent into an oval shaped hoop. An additional branch was the bent into an arch that was situated perpendicular to the larger main frame. A loose twining technique using flexible fibers was used for the main superstructure of the basket with a thick braided grass roped incorporated for the primary handle or more likely head strap. Significantly a long-braided cord, made from human hair was also woven through the center of the basket. While I have yet to find

a relatively similar example from an excavated Tiwanaku context, both the form as well as the incorporation of human hair suggest that this was likely a cradleboard basket, used for carrying infants. However, careful conservation work is needed to reconstruct this important artifact and properly interpret its form and function.



Figure 156. Examples of various twisted or braided vegetable-fiber rope and knots.

Finally, also included in the Basketry material category was twisted or braided rope. Rope was almost always just two-ply and made by simply twisting long grass or hammered reed together. Frequently, knotted portions of rope were the best preserved. This gave some insight into knot preferences, which were frequently simple overhand knots but more complicated sheet-style knots also were identified.

8.5 Metal

While relatively rare, materials made from metal were recovered in a number of excavated contexts as well as in a number of surface spot finds. All metal artifacts recovered in Tiwanaku-affiliated contexts at L1 appear to be made from copper or copper alloy mix¹⁸⁵. This is indicated by the tell-tale green, rough exterior caused by oxidization. Significantly, all copper discussed here, both surface-based and excavation, would be recovered in Sector A.





Figure 157. Photos of examples of metal, specifically copper-based, artifacts recovered at L1, including: (top) ring, (bottom-left) thick unknown fragment, and (lower-right) flat copper knife or other sheet recovered on surface in Sector A as a spot find.

The majority of copper materials could be defined with relative certainty to a specific

form or artefact type. All of the diagnostic copper material found in excavations was related to

¹⁸⁵ Based on in-depth metallurgical analysis undertaken in Lechtman (2003) these were most likely Cu-As-Ni alloy.

personal adornment. One of the more striking examples in this regard was a ring. This ring was approximately made from a single band of copper that has simply been twisted and slightly hammered, resulting in a simple band with a 0.9cm protuberance at the end. Significantly, this type of ring has been identified at the site of Tiwanaku as ring Type 2, and all examples there are made from a tin bronze (Lechtman 2003:417-419).

Other important metal personal adornment items were *tupu* pins, which were used effectively as brooch pin to hold clothing, likely shawls closed. Two relatively complete examples, each a different type of *tupu*, and a number of fragments were all recovered from test Unit L1A-206-5 and Special Structure L1A-1. One complete *tupu*, that represents *tupu* Type 1 from the Tiahuanaco collection (Lechtman 2003:417), was a straight robust pin shape, roughly 12cm in length. The other, represents *tupu* Type 2 from Tiahuanaco (Lechtman 2003:417) and was more delicate in construction with a broad, roughly oval shaped head, perforated with a small hole, that tapered sharply to a narrow 5.5cm long end. While the fragments were not diagnostic to a type, they significantly appear intentionally destroyed, with one piece in particular tightly coiled (Figure 157).

8.6 Other Artifact Types

A number of materials would be recovered that were clearly artifacts, but did not fall neatly into the major categories listed above. Some of these would receive the simple classification of Artefact but others were recovered frequently enough to receive their own separate category (i.e. Beads). Four major categories of artifact are discussed below: Beads, Wood-based items, Bone-based items, and Leather-based items.

Beads

Beads could be made from any number of raw materials, including: stone, marine shell,

555
bone, and ceramic. The size and form of beads could be quite variable, but the majority were roughly circular with a centered perforation and generally less than 0.5mm in diameter. In total 27 complete or fragmented beads were recovered in excavated contexts.





The most common material used for beads was marine shell. At least two different taxa of marine bivalve were used. Purple and white beads were both likely made from choro (*Choromytilus choros*). Significantly, one bead fragment was likely made from Spondylus or the spiny Pacific oyster (*Spondylus princeps*). This is significant as spondylus was exotic, only found off the far north coast subregion (modern Ecuador), and while it is a well-known valued exchange item in the Central Andes, it is exceedingly rare in Tiwanaku contexts (Janusek 2008:287).

The second most common raw material used for beads in the L1 assemblage was stone. Twelve (12) fragments were found made from at least four different raw materials. The most common type was a chrysocolla or similar turquoise-related bluestone. These beads tended to be quite small, as size-grade often referred to as a seed bead. Importantly, a number of examples of this stone was found in various stages of working, particularly in Block L1L-2019-1. Other, slightly greener hues of stone were used in some recovered examples as well. Mica, worked into a pendant, was also recovered and considered a bead here.

Wood

A number of artifacts made entirely or primarily from carved wood were found in excavations as well as in a few surface spot finds. These wooden objects can be broken into three primary categories carved spoons, what I interpret as net-floats (bobbers), and fire-starting implements.



Figure 159. Carved wooden spoons recovered in (left) a looted mortuary context and (right) excavated domestic midden deposits.

Spoons are the only well know Tiwanaku utensil used in food consumption. Three definitive spoon fragments were recovered from three different contexts at L1. Two fragments, one a carved handle and the other just the cup end, were found in different domestic midden deposits excavated in Block L1L-2019-3 and L1A-2019-3. An additional spoon handle was recovered from a recently looted mortuary context (L1B), and included a stylized camelid profile projecting from the end of the handle.





Figure 160. Photos of other wooden implements recovered in the L1 excavation assemblage, including: (top) carved wood net-floats or bobbers and (bottom) implements used in starting fires.

Other wooden implements located in the excavation assemblage would be carved wood items, roughly conical in shape but often with a large head and a substantially more tapered tail or end. I believe it is most likely that these items acted as net-floats, or bobbers to hold nets afloat. One reason is simply that similar technology is and has been used for net-floats around the world as well as in the Central Andes. However, more significantly is that all three of these items were found in the same context as cotton fishnets (see above). However, it is possible that they acted as bottle-stoppers or corks. While all (even miniatures) ceramic vessel forms recovered in the L1 assemblage would be too wide for these, they could have been used with bottle gourds as well.

Another interesting class of item made from wood, would be various implements believed to be used in starting fires. One type of item was a straight stick, about 1cm in diameter, that had a number of circular drill marks partially bored into multiple sides that were also scorched on the interior. This appears to be a fire-board used in traditional friction fire starting, in which circular stick (the drill) is twisted rapidly into a fire-board using friction to generate enough heat to catch a tinder. Two such fragments were found in a single domestic midden context. The complementary drill or rotating implement was also found in another context, as indicated by its well work and singed end (Figure 160).



Figure 161. Photo of cane/reed panpipe located at Cerro San Antonio (L1B).

Finally, while not technically made from wood, an important item included here is the find of a cane-based panpipe. In a single recently looted mortuary context (L1B) a single badly damaged, but largely complete reed or cane panpipe (and associated twisted wool thread) was located. Again, this was a surface find in a disturbed context, but it does indicate that these types of musical instruments were present and could explain at least some of the cane remains uncovered in the broader assemblage.

Bone

In addition to the small beads described above, two other items were made primarily made from bone. One item was what appear to be a camelid rib fragment, with one end still wrapped in a poorly preserved textile and the other end should at least some signs of wear. Suggesting this was a bone tool with a textile handle, the exact function weather used in weaving or some other domestic task is unknown.



Figure 162. Photos of bone-based artifacts recovered in the L1 excavation assemblage, including: (top) polished bone snuff tube and (bottom) worked camelid rib with textile handle.

The other bone artifact was an important find made in a midden context in Sector A. This was a polished bone tube, almost certainly used in the ritual consumption (snuffing) of hallucinogenic substances used in Tiwanaku symbolic community practices. The 11cm long bone, likely deriving from a large bird species, was slightly polished across the surface but particularly at either end.

Leather

While some raw animal hide was recovered in the general excavation assemblage (see Fauna-Soft), formally processed leather was also recovered in a few select contexts.



Figure 163. Photos of leather artifacts from Cerro San Antonio, including: (right) leather sandal and(left) unknown leather straps.

A complete, articulated sandal was recovered from a recently looted mortuary context (L1B). This sandal was a simple design (Figure 163), involving a single, rectangular, thick-cut piece of leather as the sole. Long strips were left along the sides which were then crossed over the top as straps, punctured through and knotted at the corners. Additional leather straps, also likely associated with footwear, were also recovered in a single excavated context.

8.7 Fauna

One of the major classes of Ecofacts recovered in the general Cerro San Antonio assemblage was Fauna. Fauna would include any physical remains, byproduct, or other biologically-related material that derived from an animal, both vertebrates and invertebrates. As noted in Chapter 4, the major material class of Fauna would be separated into two major categories: Fauna-Hard and Fauna-Soft. Here in this subsection, as with other subsections in Chapter 8, I present these material results on their own terms, with most context based synthesis reserved for Section 3. However, unlike previous sections, here, as with the Botanics results below, I do present ubiquities, among other compiled statistics, to help counter some of the biases that come from comparing frequencies of the very different materials found within the broad category of Fauna (e.g. comparing animal bone and marine shell).

Fauna-Hard

This category of Fauna materials was primarily composed of bone and shell but also included crustacean exoskeleton and other types of aquatic invertebrate remains. Due to their durable nature, and inclusion of non-organic elements, these materials have much higher rates of preservation than the Fauna-Soft materials, both here in the Cerro San Antonio assemblage and more generally in the archaeological record. In addition, the materials within Fauna-Hard category differ in composition greatly, and therefore their weight-count ratio can also be misleading to compare directly. However, here I do present the results of all Fauna-Hard materials before breaking into discussing attributes of each material type separately.



Figure 164. Basic counts (# of fragments) and weights (grams), and ubiquities for all major Fauna-Hard material types.

Both by count, weight, and general ubiquity, the Fauna-Hard assemblage is dominated by animal bone and shell. While there are exceptions (see below), the vast majority of all materials that fall into these two major faunal categories are believed to represent remains of basic subsistence activities, namely the production and consumption of foodstuffs. As indicated by their relatively similar ubiquities, animal bone and shell were found in a roughly similar number of contexts, but revealed by the much higher count and even more pronounced weight difference, bone was found in much greater quantities. Worth noting is that fragments of crustacean shell were found in just under half (46%) the excavated contexts and the other invertebrate marine remains in this category (coral and urchin) were decidedly rarer along any metric.

Animal Bone

The most substantial single material type within the Fauna-Hard assemblage was animal

bone. The L1 bone assemblage would come from all five major taxonomic classes of vertebrate animal: mammal, bird, fish, reptile, and amphibian. Effectively 100% of the assemblage at this level or analysis could be sorted into one of these major taxonomic classes, giving the L1 animal bone assemblage a NISP (Number of Identifiable Specimens) of n=5085.



Figure 165. Graphs illustrating the weights (in grams) and raw counts of animal bone as broken into major taxonomic classes. Also, listed is the general ubiquity of animal bone types regarding presence or absence in excavated contexts¹⁸⁶.

Cleary, bone deriving from species of mammal represent the vast majority of the animal bone assemblage (99.8% by weight) as well as being well over five times as ubiquitous than the next most commonly occurring bone type. Within the class of mammal more distinctions could be made into major taxonomic order and even family, with assumptions made about likely genus and species affiliation.

¹⁸⁶ The amphibian specimens actually are from a non-excavated context. These specimens were from two large frogs, found inside an olla vessel recovered from a recently looted Tiwanaku mortuary context (L1B).



Figure 166. Graphs showing weights and counts of major taxonomic orders/families represented in the L1 animal bone-mammal assemblage.

Broken down to this level, again, one category clearly dominates the assemblage. Here, bone deriving from species with in the general family of *Camilidae* (New World camelids) made up over 99% of the recovered mammal bone. While more specialized analysis is need to confirm, the majority of this camelid bone is believed to come from the domesticated llama (*Llama glama*) but domesticated alpaca (*Vicugna pacos*) and even wild camelids¹⁸⁷ (guanaco and vicuña) are also possibly present.

¹⁸⁷ Some wild deer (*Cervidae*) and other quadruped bones may also be present, but all large diagnostic bones were clearly camelid remains and not other ungulates.



Figure 167. Basic breakdown of camelid bone fragments as assigned to different anatomical zones on a camelid skeleton.

As displayed in Figure 167, camelid bone was sorted into major anatomical skeletal categories: cranium, vertebrae, scapula, ribs, upper leg, and lower leg. While more will be said on this later (see Section 3), the upper leg, lower leg, and ribs are the portions of the skeleton most closely associated with the primary meat packets (Miller 1979; Vallières 2012:240-241). It is significant then, that bones identified as belonging to these portions of the skeleton make up the majority of the excavated assemblage at Cerro San Antonio. Taken together, upper and lower leg bone fragments make up just under half the entire camelid bone assemblage (by weight), and both were found in over 23% of excavated contexts. Also notable, are the lack of

certain elements, especially in terms of ubiquity. For example, the fact that vertebrae fragments were ony found in about 3% of excavated contexts, indicate that certain cuts of meat were limited in distribution and may suggest initial butchering was likely only done in certain locations. Again, time did not permit more detailed measurements to allow for estimations MNI (Minimum Number of Individuals), let alone more specifics, like age, sex, or presence of pathologies in the represented sample.

The taxonomic order of *Rodentia* (rodents), while dwarfed in proportion and prevalence to camelid bone was still found in over one-quarter (27.5%) of excavated contexts. This broad taxonomic order includes both wild and domesticated species. As with the camelid bone, time did not permit the analysis needed to definitely assign species or even genus to these rodent bones, but based on the overall robustness of most recovered samples (Figure 168) as well as associated material recovered in the Fauna-Soft material category (fur, coprolites), most rodent bones are believed to derive from domesticated guinea pigs (*Cavia porcellus*), though again, the presence of wild species, likely from the genus *Lagadium* (vizcacha and Andean hare), cannot be ruled out. Also present (roughly 15% of rodent bone assemblage) were far more gracile bones, believed to be associated with any number of wild species of mice or rat (*Sigmodontinae*) local to the area. Finally, just one example of what is believed to be a fragment of a canine mandible was located in a single excavated context.



Figure 168. Photos of examples of most major taxonomic classes of vertebrates, including: (left) assorted camelid bone fragments, (right) assorted rodent bone fragments, (center-top) amphibian (frog) bones, (center-middle) large fish vertebrae, (center-bottom) example of bird bone fragment.

Other taxonomic classes represented in the bone assemblage had even less specificity in terms of identifying intra-family genus and species distinctions. Fish bone, mostly believed to be marine species (as opposed riverine), were found in over 12% of excavated contexts. The most common skeletal element identified as fish were vertebrae, but some cranium and rib fragments were also identified. Bird bones, found in just 2% of excavated contexts were almost exclusively long bones. Just once specimen identified as reptile was either a snake or lizard found associated with an intrusive rodent nest. Finally, just a single amphibian sample was recovered as part of a surface spot find. Relatively complete skeletons of two large frogs were found in a plainware grave offering, excavated but abandoned by looters in Sector B.

Shell

Various types of shell, deriving from a variety of species of mollusk, were the second most prevalent material type in the Fauna-Hard assemblage. Most shell types present in the L1

assemblage are from salt-water dwelling species of mollusk that fall into the taxonomic classes of *Bivalvia* (bivalves) and *Gastropoda* (gastropods), however a single species of terrestrial gastropod was also well represented.





Figure 169. Charts illustrating the various weights (grams) and counts (# of fragments) of various types of shell as found in the Cerro San Antonio assemblage as well as the general ubiquities of these types in the excavation assemblage.

Bivalves were the most common type of marine shell recovered in the L1 assemblage,

found in 60% of excavated contexts. Making up over 97% of the bivalve assemblage were shell remains from the choro mussel (*Choromytilus choros*). This mussel could range from 3-8cm in length and 1.5-4cm in width, exteriors ranged in color from an off-white to a deep purple and interiors of a glossy, slightly iridescent off-white (Figure 170). As indicated by its ubiquity, choro was likely use as a common foodstuff. However, small, circular beads were also found made from choro, certainly for its often-deep purple hues.

Many other bivalve shell fragments, clearly belonging to calm or mussels were recovered but could not be properly identified. However, clear fragments of littleneck clam (*Protothaca thaca*) and a ribbed mussel (*Aulacomya ater*) were also recovered. As with the choro mussel, it is believed that most of these bivalve remains represent remains from subsistence activities. It should be noted here that a single bead fragment, made from the Spondylus spiny oyster (*Spondylus princeps*), another marine bivalve was also recovered in excavations.



Figure 170. Photos of examples of various type of shell that define the L1 assemblage, including: (right) bivalves, (center) marine gastropods, and (left) terrestrial gastropod.

The sub-assemblage of marine gastropods was also largely dominated by a single species, in this case the olive snails (*Olividae peruana*). These marine snails are generally cylindrical in with a stout spire and a glossy exterior (Figure 170). Olive shells could range from 1.5-4cm in length and 0.5-2cm in width, but averaged around 2.5cm in length and 1.5cm in width. Often the spires of olive shells were found knocked off, and it is difficult to tell if this was intentional or merely because it is the weakest portion of the shell. While no example of olive shell in the L1 assemblage show clear signs of modification, some Tiwanaku contexts, such as those Moquegua have. This suggests that in addition to food, these shells ay have been used for adornment. While not nearly as ubiquitous as the choro mussel, olive shells were found in over 18% of the excavated contexts and dozens were observed and even collected in surface observations.

A number of other marine gastropod species were also identified, though in far more limited quantities. Multiple subspecies of limpets (*Acmaea sp.*) as well as a number of sea snails, such as tegula snails (*Tegula atra*), were also identified in 3-4% of excavated contexts. Like bivalves, a number of shell fragments could be identified as coming from gastropod shell, but could not be specified more.

Finally, over 22% of excavated contexts contained remains of terrestrial gastropods. These land snails came from a few different species within the Genus *Bostryx*. These gastropods can survive long periods of stasis, particularly during periods of aridity, and tend to be found in large numbers only during prominent coastal *lomas* blooms. Therefore, these land snails have been viewed as powerful climactic indicators of particularly wet seasonal periods. However, as will be noted later (see Section 3), these snails were largely restricted to midden deposits at Cerro San Antonio, a pattern noted at sites located in similar environs elsewhere (Beresford-Jones, et al. 2011:281), and are believed to have been brought to the site as foodstuff and were not naturally present.

Other Invertebrate Remains

A number of other invertebrate remains were also included in the Fauna-Hard material category. The most prevalent of these were crustacean exoskeleton remains, deriving exclusively from freshwater crayfish (*Cryphiops caementarius*). As noted in Figure 171, these remains were found in just under half of all excavated contexts (46%), suggesting they were a relatively common foodstuff. Significantly, these freshwater crayfish could likely be collected year-round in local rivers, but were found in the highest numbers during winter reproduction, particularly December-March.



Figure 171. Photos of examples of other invertebrates included in the Fauna-Hard material category: (left) fragments of freshwater crayfish exoskeleton and (right) fragments of coral.

The other two invertebrate remains included here were marine-based fauna. Coral was found in just over 4% of excavated contexts and was identified and collected in a number of additional surface contexts as well. All examples represent small fragments from some type of hard or stony coral type (Order: *Scleractinia*). The hardness and rough texture would have made these remains useful for sanding or burnishing, but interesting, no recovered coral show clear signs of use-wear of any kind. Two small fragments of sea urchin (*Loxechinus albus*) were

also recovered in excavated contexts. Finally, while not collected multiple types of insect exoskeleton and pupa casings were encountered in the general excavated matrix. These were noted in standard excavation procedure but documented more systematically in the microanalysis of soil samples (see below).

Fauna-Soft

Within the broader L1 Fauna assemblage materials were also categorized a Fauna-Soft. These were often animal remains and byproducts composed largely of soft tissue, only preserved here due to the hyperarid climactic conditions. The dominant material type included in the Fauna-Soft material class would be preserved animal feces or coprolites.



Figure 172. Charts showing weights, counts, and ubiquities of different types of animal coprolites as recovered in the excavation assemblage.

Found in just under half (49.8%) of contexts, camelid coprolites, almost certainly from domesticated llamas, were the most common coprolite type. However, large rodent coprolites, again almost certainly from domesticated guinea pigs, was also found in 22.6% of excavated contexts. Larger guinea pig coprolites were very discernable from smaller rodent coprolites, like mice. These were just found in a single context with a clear associated to an intrusive rodent



Figure 173. Photos of examples from the Fauna-Soft assemblage, including: (left and bottom) feathers and (right) a segment of fur and skin from a guinea pig.

Other materials included in the Fauna-Soft assemblage included bird feathers. These were often poorly preserved and many could have been natural inclusions in the archaeological record, likely coming from local turkey vultures or ground owl; however at least three examples have red and orange coloring, suggesting possible more exotic species. Fur, often articulated with skin was identified in at least ten (10) contexts. Most of these finds were believed to come fromeiter dog or guinea pig. However, in one unique case the end of a juvenile camelid tail was found, with evenly split black and white coloring, likely in an offering context. Finally, camelid

576

nest.

hooves were also identified in ten (10) different contexts.

8.8 Botanics

The other major material class of Ecofact in the L1 assemblage was Botanics or any remains deriving from plants of any kind. As with Fauna, the category of Botanics would contain numerous species falling into several major taxa distinctions. The preliminary analysis I conducted for this dissertation was based on field-screened collections. That said, a number of important trends were observed and are reported on here. It should be noted at the onset that additional botanic-focused analysis was conducted in the soil sample analysis, which is reported on separately below (8.9). Finally, it is important to reiterate here that the vast majority of Botanic remains in the macrobotanic assemblage are uncarbonized and simply desiccated due to the natural hyper-aridity of the broader Locumba drainage.

Botanic material would come in a number of forms and as noted in Chapter 4 (see 4.1), varied greatly in terms of how specific taxonomic identification could be. Some samples were sorted into very general categories, like wood or charcoal, while many, especially seeds, could be identified down to the species. However, before describing the specific results for each identified taxon, it is useful to present how Botanic specimens were organized into broader socio-functional categories. Here, for the field-screened sample study, five major categories of this type were used to organize the L1 Botanic assemblage: Consumable, Bulk, Textile, Ritual, and Wild.

Table 12. Chart listing five (5) major socio-functional categories into which all Botanics collected in the field were organized. Also listed are taxa in each major category as found in the L1 assemblage.

e
P
ø
E
S
S
8

cey	iilleei		
Pac	Ingafeu		
Soap Berry	Sapindus saponaria		
Walnut	Juglans neotropica		
Peruvian Pepper (molle)	Schinus molle		
Algarroba	Prosopis algarrobilla		
Tuber	Solanum tuberosum, Oxalis tuberosa		
Quinoa	Chenopodium quinoa		
Chili Pepper (ají)	Capsicum sp		
Peanut	Arachis hypogaea		Charcoal
Squash & Gourd	Lagenaria siceraria, Cucurbita sp.		Straw
Beans	Phaseolus lunatus, Phaseolus vulgaris		Cane
Maize	Zea mays	Bulk	Mood

Wood Acacia macracantha, Schinus molle, Inga feuilleei, Prosopis algarrobilla, Galvezia	Cane Gynerium sagittatum, Phragmites australis	Straw Jarava ichu, Cenchrus echinatus	Charcoal	
sp. Textile				

č		
ţ		
č		

Cactus reus sp. Vilca nthera colubrina
colubrina
lca hera colubrina
nthera colubrina
D-ID Leaf No ID Seed

Again, some classifications of the field-screened collection are preliminary and need confirmation in a true paleoethnobotanic study of the Cerro San Antonio botanic assemblage. However, most identifications of specific taxa (like *Zea mays*), are accurate and identifications were made conservatively. Finally, while I do utilize relative densities of the field-screened collection in later context-oriented discussions (see Section 3), here I largely rely on absolute counts and weights as well as ubiquity to discuss general differences in frequencies of material types.

Below I discuss each major category separately, including the subdivisions and other nuances of each major type or taxa listed above (Table 12); however, some observations regarding general trends in these categories are worth noting here.



Figure 174. Charts illustrating the basic counts (# of individual fragments) and weights (grams) of major socio-functional botanic categories.

Of the major categories. it is clear that taxa falling into the Consumable and Bulk categories make up the vast majority of the assemblage - 99.1% of the Botanic assemblage by weight, when combined. Both Consumables and Bulk botanics were relatively ubiquitous, found in 65.7% and 76.1% of contexts, respectively. The other major socio-functional categories would then make up less than 1% of the Botanic assemblage by weight (0.9%); though, at least the Textile taxa, were relatively well-distributed, found in over 20% of contexts.

Consumable Botanics

The botanic remains categorized as consumable represent taxa that were either exclusively or primarily utilized as foodstuffs. That is to say, many taxa included here could be utilized in other activities but we believe consumables were primarily entered into the archaeological record during food preparation, consumption, disposal, and storage. At least fifteen (15) different species of edible plant were recovered in the L1 field-screened assemblage, 10 of which were full domesticates. In total, 13,034 fragments, weighing 2108.59 grams were identified as these Consumable taxa.





From the onset there are some prominent trends in the Consumable taxa. Some taxa were clearly more abundant and ubiquitous. The remains of maize, and particularly kernelless cobs, were the single best represented taxon in terms of weight. However, algarroba remains (seeds) were the best represented in terms of raw count as well as ubiquity. Five different taxa were represented in over one-fourth of all major excavated contexts. Three of these well-represented taxa, maize (53%), beans (26.7%), and gourd (30.4%), were domesticates and two, algarroba (58.8%) and molle (35.3%), were products from wild or tended trees. Significantly, all five of these taxa are local lowland cultivars and tree taxa. That said, the presence of largely highland cultivars, like tuber remains and even quinoa seeds, also suggest a utilization of non-local taxa as well. There are of course sampling issues at play here (these are outlined in Chapter 4), but as will be discussed below, the macrobotanic assemblage correlates quite closely to the microanalysis of soil samples, suggesting sampling here was at the very least consistent.

Maize or corn (*Zea mays*), when all of its components were counted together, made up 62.4% of all consumable tax, by weight and were found in 53% of all excavated contexts. While full cobs, complete with kernels (a few even with the husk still present) and individual maize kernels (seeds) were recovered, cobs without seeds were the most abundant and ubiquitous component of maize remains, found in 46.5% of all contexts. This is a common pattern, as kernels would be consumed with cobs generally discarded and only utilized for fuel and sometimes fodder. Less than 2% of recovered cobs in the L1 assemblage showed any signs of burning or charring. Finally, while different variants weren't confirmed, cob size and overall structure could vary quite greatly. While most were fragmentary, complete recovered cobs ranged from 3-9cm in length and roughly 0.5-2cm in diameter.



Figure 176. Photos showing examples of maize remains from the L1 assemblage, illustrating the variability in cob size. Also depicted (below) are maize kernels and portions of maize stalks with cob husk still attached (note: different scales).

Gourds (*Lagenaria siceraria*) and likely to a lesser degree squash (*Cucurbita sp.*) were also well represented, found in just over 30% of all excavated contexts. Both taxa here, but particularly gourds, could be dried and used as containers as well as acting as a foodstuff. Importantly, seeds could be definitively sorted between gourd and squash (likely pumpkin).

However, I could not definitively say which taxa shell fragments belonged to. However, of the seeds sorted here 166 were believed to be gourd, with only one (1) believed to be definitely squash, suggesting that the majority of shell fragments can be assigned to gourd, though other explanations are also very possible. Significantly, while the shell fragments would be the most abundant component found in terms of absolute count and weight, gourd seeds were more ubiquitous, found in 20.9% of excavated contexts, compared to 18.5% for shell fragments.





Figure 177. Photos of (left) various examples of bean (Phaseolus sp.) remains as well as (right) gourd seeds (note: images are at different scales).

Two different taxa of bean were identified in the L1 assemblage. The most abundant was the common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) which was frequently found as individual beans as well as beans still embedded (at least partially) in pods. The beans had a glossy exterior with deep brown (almost black) color often modelled with a brown-orange and came three to five in a pod. This variety of bean was found in over 25% of all excavated contexts. The other taxa of bean identified here was the lima bean (*Phaseolus lunatus*). This legume was larger and tended to have a slightly wrinkled exterior. Lima beans were always found a individual beans and were found in just 2.9% of excavated contexts.

A fourth lowland cultivar that was recovered in the field-screened sample in a significant

number of contexts (10.2%) was chili pepper (ají). Like bean, chili pepper was represented by seeds belonging to two taxa. When compared, one seed type was larger, thicker, and wavier, often with a pronounced break prominence, which I believe is most likely ají panka (*Capsicum baccatum*). The other chili seed type was smaller and smoother, both in profile and along the edges. This smaller seed type was likely either ají del arbol (*Capsicum annuumor*) or ají chunco (*Capsicum frutescens*). Despite their smaller size, the small ají seed type was found in higher numbers as well as more contexts (7.4%). However, the large ají seed type was still found in just over 4% excavated contexts. Just one example of pepper fruit, attached to a stem, was found in a single context.





Figure 178. Photos of other lowland cultivars from the L1 assemblage, including: (left) peanut remains and (right) examples of the two taxa of Chili Pepper seed identified.

The final lowland domesticate that was identified in the Cerro San Antonio assemblage was peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*). Forty-two (42) fragments of peanut were recovered in just over 6% of the excavated contexts. No peanut shell was definitely recovered.

Highland associated domesticates were also present in the Cerro San Antonio assemblage. Seeds definitively belonging to the broader *Amaranthaceae* taxa, and believed to be true domesticated guinoa (*Chenopodium guinoa*) was present in just over 1% of contexts, though it is always possible these represent wild species that have been known to grow at least semi-locally (Biwer 2019:125). While the fine-screening process did capture these seeds, it is certainly the case that many escaped. This is further indicated in the higher presence of these important highland seeds in the microanalysis (Garvin 2020:67-74). Also recovered was portions of tuber, referred to here as parenchyma. While I am confident in the identified specimens belonging to some taxa of tuber, I could not discern which. However, the most likely species to be present would be standard potato (*Solanum tuberosum*), but again, a variety of other species and subspecies of potato as well as other tubers, such as oca (*Oxalis tuberosa*), could also be represented. All together tuber remains were found in 7.8% of excavated contexts.





Figure 179. Photos of plant remains believed to be primarily highland cultivars, including: (right) a preserved fragment of some taxa of tuber and (left) examples of quinoa seeds from the L1 microanalysis (from Garvin 2020:68).

The remaining taxa represented in the Consumable category all game from temperate to subtropical lowland tree and shrub species. Some taxa were only represented in a select few contexts. Pacay pod (*Inga feuilleei*) was found in just seven (7) or 2.8% of contexts, soapberry (*Sapindus saponaria*) berries were found in 1.6% of contexts, and nutshell, likely representing walnut (*Juglans neotropica*), was found in less than 1% of contexts (0.8%).



Figure 180. Examples of (left) molle berries and (right) assorted algarroba remains as collected in excavated contexts at Cerro San Antonio (L1).

However, some of the best represented taxa in the L1 assemblage would come from these wild tree taxa. The most ubiquitous single taxa present would be seeds from the algarroba tree (*Prosopis algarrobilla*). Other than maize, algarroba was the only taxa to be represented in over half of the excavated contexts (58%). In addition to being ubiquitous, algarroba was also the most abundant taxa making up 52.7% of the Consumable assemblage, by count. Also well represented were berries or fruit from the Peruvian pepper or molle tree (*Schinus molle*¹⁸⁸). These berries would be recovered in over one-third of all contexts (35.3%).

Bulk Botanics

Botanic remains classified as Bulk Botanics were even better represented than Consumable Botanics, found in over three-fourths (76.1%) of all contexts excavated at L1. Here I defined Bulk Botanics as taxa believed to be associated with architecture and as well as firewood. There were just four major categories of Bulk Botanics: wood, cane, straw, and

¹⁸⁸ Significantly, seeds from the molle tree would also be identified during the microanalysis of soil samples (Garvin 2020:75-78).

charcoal.



Figure 181. Breakdown of absolute counts and weights of various taxa considered to be in the Bulk category, including the general ubiquity of these taxa in excavated contexts.

Again, here in the Bulk assemblage the most abundant grouping depends on the metric used to gauge abundance. Wood fragments were easily the most abundant type by weight, representing 53.3% of the assemblage. However, when ranked by absolute count there was just slightly more charcoal. What's more, charcoal was significantly more ubiquitous, found in 61.3% of contexts where wood fragments were only located in 54.3% of contexts. While much less in terms of absolute weight and count, cane was also relatively ubiquitous, found in over half of all excavated contexts. Finally, straw would only be found preserved in 2% of contexts.

Wood fragments included any fragment of wood (including bark) recovered that was not burnt¹⁸⁹ or carbonized. Some of these fragments were large chunks of wood, but most were quite small. No specific taxa could be identified but based on the Consumable assemblage it is likely that at least some wood came from medium density algarroba and pacay trees as well as more hard wood molle and walnut. Based on small spines present on smaller twigs it is believe that small but hardwood yaro (*Acacia macracantha*) is also represented in the wood subassemblage. All of these trees could have been found in the middle Locumba drainage.

¹⁸⁹ While it was always an estimation, if a fragment was more than 50% burnt it would often be lumped in with charcoal.

As noted above, while not as abundant as wood and charcoal in terms of weight and count, cane fragments were also relatively ubiquitous. Found in just over half of the excavated contexts (50.2%), cane was the primary element utilized in quincha wall architecture, so is likely derived almost exclusively from architecture. While the cane assemblage here was not systematically separated it is believed that just one taxon was represented. Caña brava (*Gynerium sagittatum*) is a robust river cane that still grows along the river today.

An element only preserved in 2% of all contexts was straw or dried grass. The lack of straw in terms of ubiquity most likely has to do with its delicate nature. Again, taxa were not identified, but at least a few of the samples were ridge, very similar to bunch grass, such as the highland *ichu* (*Stipa ichu*).

Finally, charcoal was also very well represented, recovered in 61.3% of all excavated contexts - one of the most ubiquitous material types in the entire assemblage. Charcoal represented any type of carbonized wood or other dense plant matter. Charred ceramic, bone, fire-cracked rock (FCR), or any other material was removed before counts/weights.

Textile Botanics

Textile Botanics refer to botanic remains believed to be the byproducts of, or even tools used within, textile production and repair. Only two taxa are represented here: cotton seeds and fragments of cactus spines. Cotton seeds were moderately ubiquitous, found in 18.1% of contexts. It should be noted here that, when recovered cotton fiber would often be categorized directly into the Textile material category. Also of note here is that cotton leaves were found in at least one context but not counted towards the counts or ubiquity metrics here.



Figure 182. Photos of botanic taxa categorized as Textile Botanics, including: (lower-left) cotton seeds from the L1 excavation assemblage, (top) modern cotton plant growing on the margins of Cerro San Antonio along a relic canal, and (lower-right) a cactus spine needle.

Also included in the Textile Botanic category were complete or unmodified cactus spines. Six (6) such finds were made in six different contexts (2.4% ubiquity). Only large cactus spines, likely from a species in the genus *Trichocereus*, were counted in this category; smaller thorns from shrub trees, like yaro, were not counted. Modified examples of cactus spines, namely those with a small perforation at the proximal end for thread, were categorized in the Artefacto material category and have already been discussed in the Textile subsection.

However, even without this perforation, it is believed that these botanic remains could have been utilized in a variety of domestic tasks, particularly work with textiles.

Ritual Botanics

Ritual Botanics would refer to plant taxa believed to be consumed or otherwise utilized as a largely ritual or non-utilitarian practices. Just two taxa were represented here, one definitively identified, in all cases reported here, the other, just a single find is a far more tentative identification. Seven (7) coca seeds (*Erythroxylum coca*) were found in seven (7) different contexts, giving it a ubiquity of 2.9%. The distinct, roughly star-shape, of coca seeds make them clear to define. In addition, it is believed that coca leaf fragments were also identified in a single context, but is not included here.



Figure 183. Photos of examples of coca seed and leaf recovered in the L1 assemblage.

Less certain was the identification of a single vilca (*Anadenanthera colubrina*) seed fragment. The fragment had the correct round glossy exterior, but as it was just a fragment, in
poor condition, it requires additional analysis to confirm.

Wild Botanics

The Wild Botanics category included any plant taxa that was identified as likely being wild or unidentifiable. One definitively wild inclusion of thin the assemblage were small burrs, likely deriving from the southern sandbur (*Cenchrus echinatus*). These burrs, found in 5.8% of all contexts, likely came into the assemblages attached on clothing of people or fur of animals. Additionally, as a grass the sandbur may have been included in general animal fodder as well. There seed fragments are believed to be part of the natural seed rain, including fragments of Chenopods and other grasses.

8.9 Microanalysis: soil samples

In select excavated contexts, mostly those associated with primary occupational contexts (what are referred to as "superpiso" levels) as well as formal features. As noted in Chapter 4 (see 4.1), a soil sample was a carefully measured and completely unsorted sediment sample. In total 134 soil samples were collected from excavated contexts across three (3) sectors at Cerro San Antonio. The majority of these samples (117/134) were just 0.5 liters in volume with the remaining samples taken as a full (1) liter.

These samples are ultimately intended for a variety of different sampling and analysis including elemental sourcing. However, 36 samples have already been processed by A. Garvin for her MA thesis (Garvin 2020). This work was botanic-focused but full size-grade processing and systematic sorting were completed of all 36 samples and materials recovered therein. A detailed presentation and analysis of that data can be found in that Master's thesis, and more of the context-oriented data from can be found below in Section 3. However, a few major trends are worth noting here.



Figure 184. Overall frequencies of Consumable (or Market Basket) taxa as identified in the 36 analyzed soil samples (from Garvin 2020:134).

The soil sample microanalysis utilized systematic sorting technique of size-graded fraction. This allowed for the identification of much smaller seeds and fragments. This led to one of the more noticeable trends, the much greater abundance of *Amaranthaceae sp.* seeds (both domesticated and wild), at least in terms of count (Figure 184). With the exception of a few wild taxa identified in the microanalysis no additional domesticates were recovered, so overall presence-absence as discussed in reference to Botanics (see above) generally holds true here as well.

8.10 Human Remains

Due to the presence of at least 21 formal mortuary sectors containing hundreds of individual burials, coupled with the recent and historic looting, a significant amount of human remains being exposed on the surface at Cerro San Antonio. This is true of a number of the Tiwanaku-affiliated cemeteries, particularly Sector B and Sector W. The broader Proyecto Arqueológico Locumba (PAL), has worked to minimize damage to the dozens of individual human remains that have been disturbed, often severely, and left on the surface. More detailed and systematic work of these individuals is underway. However, based on the preliminary examination of the approximately 27 recently looted individuals left on the surface after the most recent event, it can be confidently state that almost all age-ranges (other than infants) appear present in burials. This was mostly gauged on the stage of epiphyseal fusion in long bones and vertebrae, signs of pathology like arthritis, and overall size of bones present. Likewise, clear examples of both biological sexes were also present in the observed specimen, though no detailed measurements were made to verify questionable cases.





In addition to some skeletal remains containing soft tissue, one of the most important aspects of human remains in the L1 Tiwanaku-affiliated remains was the preservation of multiple sets of elaborate braids (Figure 185). While these thick masses of braids may have simply detached from the tissue of the skull due to differential preservation issues, two of the more elaborate sets of braids have no remaining tissues. This suggests these may have been wigs, possibly detached while preparing the bodies for burials and re-placed upon burial.

Finally, limited human remains were also identified in the excavation assemblage. A single human tooth was located in one context and what are believed to be fragments of human

coprolites were also recovered from at least one context. Again, portions of human hair, often in small braids were located in three (3) separate contexts.

8.11 Secondary Compositional Analysis

Beyond the observational-based attribute analysis described above, a number of specimens were collected explicitly for the purpose of secondary compositional analysis. Human bones, teeth, and other remains were recovered from various looted contexts for various forms of stable isotope analysis. Additional select samples of ceramics, lithics, and other sediments collected in excavations have already been exported for geological sourcing via methods such as Portable X-ray Fluorescence (pXRF) and Laser Ablation-Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometry (LA-ICP-MS). Both these forms analysis are either ongoing or planned but have not been completed. Finally, a number of carbon-based samples were selected from a variety of contexts for Accelerator Mass Spectrometry-based (AMS) radiocarbon dating.

AMS Radiocarbon Dating

Twenty-five (25) contexts in the 2016 test excavations, 2018-19 excavation blocks, as well as a few select spot finds were explicitly sampled for the purpose of AMS radiocarbon dating. Unfortunately, the majority of the samples, particularly those collected from the more extensive 2018-19 excavations are still awaiting export from Peru. However, eight (8) samples from Cerro San Antonio (six (6) from the 2016 test excavations) were exported and successfully processed at the Keck-CCAMS facility at University of California, Irvine.

Table 13. Results of the six (6) radiocarbon dates results from the samples collected in the 2016
test excavations in Sector A, with calibrated date ranges, using the INTcal13 and SHcal13 (these
dates are used here with permission from P. Goldstein and PAL).

							INTcal13	SHcal13
SPEC #	Material	Basic Context	Sample Name	UCI-AMS-Lab #	¹⁴ Cage ^(BP)	±	2 sigma (95.4%)	2 sigma (95.4%)
L1-3152	charcoal	Test Unit L1A-2016-5 - disturbance within Special Structure L1A-1	#25 L1-3152 SA U5	222573	955	15	1024 - 1153	1045 - 1184
L1-3097	maize cob	Test Unit L1A-2016-4 - superpiso midden deposit	#24 L1-3097 SA U4	222572	1105	15	894 - 985	909 - 1024
L1-3071	maize cob	Test Unit L1A-2016-3 - superpiso midden deposit	#23 L1-3071 SA U3	222571	960	15	1022 - 1152	1045 - 1179
L1-3030	maize cob	Test Unit L1A-2016-2 - superpiso rock pile- midden deposit	#22 L1-3030 SA U2	222570	965	15	1021 - 1151	1044 - 1174
L1-3106	maize cob	Test Unit L1A-2016-1- superpiso rock pile- midden deposit	#21 L1-3106 SA U1	222569	1055	15	971 - 1020	990 - 1105
L1-3159	maize cob	Test Unit L1A-2016-1- subsurface pit feature	#17 L1-3159 SA U1	222568	1200	15	773 - 881	797 - 972

Like all other material analysis presented above, the results of the AMS radiocarbon dating are discussed below in a more contextualized manner, but a few trends must be noted here. First, as suggested by others in the region (Marsh, et al. 2018:8), here I primarily rely on the SHcal13 correction for calibrating the dates, with the 2-sigma-based date range given a 95.4% confidence interval (Table 13). With the earliest date, most likely in the ballpark of AD 870 to AD 970 and the latest three nearly identical dates, all somewhere in the range of about AD 1040 to AD 1180, the calibrated dates provide a range spanning approximately 300 years. The clearest pattern in the L1 radiocarbon dates appear relatively late, three of five of the dates are firmly in the Terminal Horizon to Early Late Intermediate Period transition. Significantly, though these later dates align quite sharply, confirming that the contexts these samples came from were certainly contemporaneous. However, at least one date is firmly in the middle of the Late Middle Horizon. Again, I discuss the nuances as well as broader implications of these dates below, but overall, the dates suggest a continuous occupation beginning in the Late Middle Horizon and continuing into the Early LIP.

8.12 Chapter Summary

In Chapter 8 I presented the results from the attribute-based analysis conducted on all cultural material collected at Cerro San Antonio during the various modes of field work presented in Chapter 6, Chapter 7, and Chapter 8. While the form and intensity of post-field material analysis would vary greatly, depending on the material type, all materials would undergo some form of quantitative and qualitative assessment.

8.1: This subsection presents the results collection from Ceramics. This would be the material class that would receive the most intensive attribute-based analysis.

8.2: Here the material category of Lithics was presented. This included analysis of both Lithic-Flaked materials as well as Lithic-Ground materials.

8.3: In this section Textiles, both cloth and other associated materials, were analyzed. This included portions of actually clothing and other garments to the raw materials (wool and cotton).

8.4: This brief subsection presents results from attribute analysis of basketry as well as other vegetable-fiber materials, like rope.

8.5: Again, a brief subsection presents the few metal artifacts recovered at L1.

8.6: Here a number of miscellaneous artifact types are presented. This includes beads, made from a variety of materials to implements made from bone or wood.

8.7: Fauna is an extensive ecofact material category. Here all results collected, from animal bone and marine shell to rodent coprolites and dog hair, are presented.

8.8: Botanics is another relatively sprawling category of ecofact. This subsection presents the results of preliminary analysis of all macrobotanic remains.

8.9: As a follow-up I review results of largely botanic-oriented microanalysis completed on soil samples collected in excavations.

8.10: This very brief subsection presents some of the human remains that have been recovered both in secure excavated contexts as well as recently disturbed looted contexts.

8.11: In this final subsection, I present the results of initial AMS radiocarbon dates from materials collected in the 2016 test excavations.

Next: The next major section, Section 3, synthesizes all data presented here in Section 2 utilizing the methods and underlying theoretical approaches outlined in Section 1.

SECTION 3 - DISCUSSION

In Section 3 I provide the concluding discussion of this dissertation. These final three chapters work to synthesize the various data presented in Section 2 with the broader theoretical frameworks and socio-geographical information presented in Section 1. The primary goal here then, is to bridge the gap between the truly localized data collected from the Middle Horizon era components at the site of Cerro San Antonio in Locumba to my broader anthropological questions regarding the nature of Tiwanaku and the sociopolitical dynamics of archaic states. I utilize my community ecology framework to help scale up from microscale levels of analysis of individual spaces within excavated structures, to those based on intrasite contextual comparisons in the mesoscale analyses, before concluding with contextualizing Locumba within the broader macroscale of the South-Central Andes during the Middle Horizon.

As explained in Chapter 4 (see 4.2), one of the primary ways in which I attempt to both quantitatively compare as well as qualitatively visualize all scales of analysis are through various modes of network-based analysis. It should be noted at the onset that many of the more quantitative or formal network approaches (FNAs) applied here are preliminary, and represent the first stage in this mode of analysis with the Cerro San Antonio dataset. That said, many of these preliminary results are compelling and worth reporting in this early stage.

Chapter 9 focuses on my microscale analysis and works primarily to synthesize the detailed context information collected in excavations (Chapter 7) with the data collected in material analysis (Chapter 8). GIS-generated kernel density heat maps and bipartite affiliation networks are used to illustrate relative densities of various material types and how they correlate to indicate activity areas that give insights into how the microscale institutional venues of households emerged from multimodal community engagement at Cerro San Antonio during the Middle Horizon.

Chapter 10 scales up to the mesoscale of analysis and highlights trends in similarities and differences both within and between a variety of contexts at Cerro San Antonio. I use the

different modes of community (residential, sustainable, and symbolic) to delineate different aspects of community life at the site during the Middle Horizon. This discussion focuses largely on the three (3) Middle Horizon era domestic sectors (Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U), as both the surface and subsurface remains in these sectors were systematically defined and sampled through mapping and surface collection (Chapter 5 and Chapter 6) as well as excavation (Chapter 7). This chapter works to synthesize that data to provide a comprehensive view of community life at the mesoscale institutional setting of the settlement. Here, I again utilize heat density maps generated using GIS techniques, this time of sector-wide material distributions. However, at this scale I also draw on other formal network approaches using a specialized variation coefficient statistical methods, coupled with network visualization software, to help isolate quantitative connections between different contexts both within and between these sectors.

Finally, Chapter 11 works to situate the broader Middle Horizon occupation at Cerro San Antonio (L1) in the middle Locumba Valley into the broader context of the South-Central Andes during the important Middle Horizon period. Here, I compare the major stylistic trends and more utilitarian practices delineated at Cerro San Antonio to other well-documented Middle Horizon contexts. I return to my hypotheses (see 4.3), weighing which one or combination therein seems to be most parsimonious with the data outlined in all previous chapters. The initial AMS radiocarbon dates are used to ground this discussion in time, assisting in highlighting the diachronic nature of Tiwanaku influence in the broader region. Ultimately, I provide an explanation for where I feel Locumba, and specifically the occupations at Cerro San Antonio, fit within the broader narratives surrounding Tiwanaku.

Chapter 9 - The Microscale: portraits of "the local" at Cerro San Antonio

In this chapter I examine what life was like at Cerro San Antonio during the Middle Horizon at the microscale. While this discussion draws on data collected in every mode of analysis across the site, the most detailed and comprehensive perspective of the microscale comes from excavated contexts. My primary work here is to synthesize the context-oriented excavation data presented in Chapter 7 with the material culture-based data relayed in Chapter 8. I rely on relative densities of materials as recovered in specific spaces, architectural and otherwise, as well as more powerful data visualizations of bipartite network graphs and heatdensity maps to illustrate the relational and spatial aspects of this data. Again, ultimately the goal here is to provide a relatively microscale, context-specific view of daily life in some of the more intimate venues of community life at L1.

As noted above, while I will draw on data and observations from throughout Cerro San Antonio, this chapter is centered on the excavated contexts, primarily those located in Sector A (L1A) and Sector L (L1L). The majority of Chapter 9 works from excavated context-to-excavated context, explaining each on its own terms. While the 2016 test units (see 7.1) will be discussed, the main contexts utilized are the more extensive excavation blocks, completed in the 2018-19 season (see 7.2). Individual areas and subareas *within* each block will be compared and contrasted in order to determine the specific uses of specific spaces, eventually allowing for a more complete picture of the different modes of community that were expressed in the household and other domestic-oriented microscale institutions that defined these settlements during the Middle Horizon.



Figure 186. B-R Similarity matrix and network visualization, illustrating the proportional similarity in the overall material assemblages collected from each major excavation block at Cerro San Antonio.

Finally, while the excavated contexts would yield major differences, the overall material assemblages they produced would be quite comparable. The Brainerd-Robinson (B-R) Similarity Index and accompanying network visualization in Figure 186 illustrate that the overall proportions of major material classes recovered in the 2018-19 excavation blocks were roughly similar. To review (see 4.2), the B-R Similarity Index is variation coefficient devised to quantify proportional similarities/differences in datasets with similar attributes (in this case of material assemblages) but very different values associated with those attributes (amounts of various material types). Here the higher the value (ranging from 0-200), the more similar the assemblage. The result is a similarity matrix which can be translated into a pair-wise network which greatly aids in visualizing these relational datasets. So, to return to the Figure 186 example, using total weights, the proportions of the six (6) most commonly represented major material categories (Ceramics, Botanics, Fauna, Lithics, Textile, Organics) were compared across the five (5) major excavation blocks completed in 2018-19.

Significantly, while the strength of similarity between contexts would vary greatly, as will be seen in later B-R examples, the lowest values all fall above 150, suggesting an overall high similarity index. In fact, it is only at this broad level of assemblage comparison that this strong of a similarity matrix is produced. Again, these nuances and even significant differences between these contexts and the materials recovered will be highlighted throughout this analysis, but this first B-R Index figure simply reiterates that there were indeed all domestic-oriented contexts which facilitated the same general suite of community action and are therefore comparable datasets.

9.1 The Domestic Structures of Sector L

In spite of the similarities highlighted above, it is necessary to note here that the types of structures investigated in Sector L would be very different from those excavated in Sector A. Sector L excavations would expose three separate domestic structures that were all largely

constructed using a similar free-standing quincha-style. As I suggest directly below and in subsequent subsections, these Sector L structures were likely the loci for all different modes of community practices but ultimately acted as houses or the primary setting of daily activities for single household social units. It is important to reiterate, that under the community ecology framework I have defined here, households represent microscale institutions composed of individuals who otherwise affiliate with any number of different communities. This is actually different from most traditional formulations that see households as simple units that taken together form communities. As such, these Sector L domestic structures represent ideal contexts to investigate the intersection of multimodal community networks in the most intimate of settings. Excavating large portions of these multi-room structures have allowed for detailed room-by-room comparisons, something not possible with the contexts excavated in Sector A.

Domestic Structure L1L-1

One of the most complete domestic architecture-based contexts exposed in excavations would be Domestic Structure L1L-1. This structure was the primary focus Block L1L-2019-1 at the far northern end of the Sector L blufftop. The entire 68m² opened as part of this this excavation block would be directly associated with either interior or exterior spaces of this single structure. All evidence suggests that Domestic Structure L1L-1 acted as the residence of a single household. As such, this structure acted as the grounding point for any number of multimodal community networks in the microscale.

As a structure dedicated to housing a multi-individual household unit, Structure L1L-1 is definitional material marker of the residential mode of community. Among all the other sustainable and symbolic community activities described below, this structure would have likely been the primarily sleeping quarters for a nuclear or extended family; though this activity is notoriously difficult to detect in the archaeological record. While the decisions and knowledge

that underwrote the architectural and broader built environment construction choices, are clearly in the realm of symbolic modes of community, the structure itself is best seen is a direct manifestation of the residential community dimension of the household institution.



Figure 187. Sketch-Up 3D models of Domestic Structure L1L-1, from multiple angles.

Structure L1L-1 was composed of five distinct architectural spaces. Two rooms, Room 2 and Room 3, were true interior spaces, walled on four sides and likely roofed. Additional spaces, like Room 1, Room 4, and Room 5, were likely only partially walled, with awning-style shade structures but no true roofing. All architecture was constructed using wattle method (*quincha*), whereby relatively sturdy segments of local river cane (~2 meters in length) were planted into narrow trenches (~10-15cm in depth) to form free-standing walls. Posts, made from locally sourced trees, were only sporadically employed to hold up roofing, presumably made using woven reed mats. All floors and features in this structure appear to have been relatively informal with no evidence of truly-prepared floors or storage features present. Even the well-worn hearths (R-5 and R-6) in Room 4 were only informal, relatively shallow pits.

Structure L1L-1 also shows extensive evidence of activities rooted in sustainable modes of community. Evidence of these modes of community are most ubiquitous in the remnants of activities related to daily food preparation, consumption, storage, and disposal.





Figure 188. Bipartite Network Graph illustrating the relative densities of material types associated with daily food preparation and consumption as found in each room of Structure L1L-1. The bipartite network graph in Figure 188 illustrates that materials associated with daily food preparation and consumption were relatively well-distributed throughout Structure L1L-1. Plainware utilitarian ceramic sherds were recovered in relatively average densities in most interior rooms, but with slightly higher concentrations in Room 3 and Room 4. Likewise, remains of foodstuff were found in sparse to average densities in most rooms, suggesting floors were kept clean. This observation is further bolstered by another visualization, this time in the form of a kernel-density heat-map.



Figure 189. Heat-map illustrating the concentrations of materials associated with food preparation and consumption (based on relative density: gram/liter).

Because the heat-map in Figure 189 used the more specific spatial data collected using the area, subarea, and 1x1m subunits utilized in superpiso excavation levels (sometimes getting spatial lots down to areas less than 50x50cm), more specific concentrations of these materials can be seen *within* rooms. In general, materials were found in higher concentrations along walls and in corners, where materials would have been brushed to the side during use as well as naturally collect upon abandonment.

It is no surprise that the densest concentration of these materials, especially those related specifically to food preparation (see Figure 188 for material types included), can be observed in the northern portion of Room 4. This is the same location where features R-5 and R-6, the two informal, but well-used hearths were located. What's more, this is also the context where a large metate fragment and several mano fragments were exposed in situ (see Figure 80). These correlating material densities and formal features make it clear that Room 4 was unambiguously the primary kitchen-space of Structure L1L-1, where food was prepared.

Looking deeper into the types of foodstuff present, or the preferred cuisines of the Structure L1L-1 inhabitants, gives insights into both sustainable as well as symbolic community manifestations. The bipartite network in Figure 188 illustrates that both camelid and rodent bone were both relatively ubiquitous. The rodent bone, almost certainly coming from domesticated guinea pig, were found in particular abundance in refuse deposits on the margin of Room 1 and in the exterior space (Area B) behind the north wall of the structure. Interestingly, while marine shell and crustacean remains would be found in relatively sparse but well-distributed amounts, fish bone was completely absent from the Structure L1L-1 faunal assemblage. Overall, the frequency of animal remains shows a general preference for protein from highland derived domesticated species.





Interesting patterns emerge when looking at the preferences in Consumable Botanics as well. For instance, lowland domesticates were found in the highest densities in the macrobotanic assemblage. Maize, particularly fragments of cobs without kernels, were the densest remains in this regard, with common beans and bottle gourd also found with relatively high frequency. Remains from wild lowland arboreal taxa, such as seeds from the algarroba (carob) tree and molle (Peruvian pepper) berries were also very well represented. Significantly, both algarroba seeds and molle berries were not consumed directly but boiled to make a variety of beverages and other seasonings, which like maize cobs, explains why they are frequently very well represented. While found in much smaller amounts, domesticates, such as peanut, chili pepper, and tubers, are also represented in the Consumable Botanics in this structure.

Microanalysis of soil samples from Structure L1L-1 would reveal significant amounts of a varety of species of *Amaranthaceae*, including domesticated quinoa and *kiwicha*. In fact, these highland crops were the most frequent botanic remain, by count, in soil samples from this structure. Overall, these botanics suggested a very mixed diet, with significant reliance on the local domesticates and wild species but still with strong preferences for highland taxa.

Other manifestations of broader sustainable community connections would be represented by evidence for crafting. For instance, evidence of textile manufacture and repair were found, particularly in Room 3, where higher densities of raw wool and cotton fiber, as well as cotton seeds were identified.¹⁹⁰ What's more, important artifacts, including a cactus spine needle and multiple spindle whirls (including the only decorated ceramic spindle whirl) were also located in this area.

¹⁹⁰ This pattern was also identified in the microanalysis of soil samples collected in this area (Garvin 2020:129).



Figure 191. Bipartite network graph displaying the relative densities of various material types associated with various forms of craft production and maintenance as found in the various rooms of Structure L1L-1.

Crafting of lithic materials was also indicated. Manufacture and touch-up of flaked lithic tools were clearly relegated to the structure's exterior, particularly the Area B exterior space, where sharp debitage was out of areas of common foot-traffic. Finally, Room 2 appears to have been the locus for the manufacture of small bluestone beads that are found in many contexts across the site. Significant amounts of both worked and unworked chunks of bluestone (likely turquoise) as well as multiple bead fragments were identified here (Figure 191). As will be discussed more below (see 9.2), this is the only investigated context at L1 where this concentration occurs, suggesting a specialized activity.

While affiliation with various expressions of symbolic communities can be traced in the sustainable community trends, such as preferences in architecture construction materials or dietary cuisine, there are other, more explicit indicators of household-based symbolic community practices in Structure L1L-1. One of the clearest examples of explicitly ritual

symbolic community behavior is the presence of coca seeds and leaves. In the Central Andes, both past and present, coca leaves were chewed (more seldomly boiled and consumed part of teas and other beverages) as a stimulant. Chewing coca can be a central element of both exceedingly rare as well as completely quotidian symbolic community settings. Also present in Structure L1L-1 was a large fragment of a specialized, decorated textile bag, known for holding coca and other ritual paraphernalia. Other evidence for ritual consumption, indicated by redware serving ceramics, most notably the kero and tazón forms, which were found in sparse but ubiquitous distributions throughout the structure.



Domestic Structure L1L-1 SPECIALIZED CONSUMPTION

FIGURE 192. Bipartite Network illustrating relative densities of material classes associated with specialized forms of consumption as they connect to specific spaces in Domestic Structure L1L-1.

A final item of note, almost certainly relating explicitly to symbolic community affiliation,

was a unique miniature redware olla with a simple face modeled on the vessel's neck.

Significantly, this modelled vessel was located directly adjacent to Feature R-4, the small pit

feature, that included fragments of a charred standard olla, still in situ. Also located here, were preserved (uncarbonized) coca and cotton leaves as well as a coca seed. Importantly, ash and charcoal in the matrix of R-4, along with the heavily charred olla fragments, in conjunction with no signs of in situ burning, suggest that this feature likely acted as a pot base where an olla would be transferred to, directly from the hearth in Room 4, possibly with some smoldering coals to keep the contents warm. Taken together with the specialized face-neck olla and coca seeds, this specific location in the center of the partially enclosed Room 1 - front porch, was the locus for hyper-local symbolic community practices in this microscale institutional setting of the household.

Domestic Structure L1L-2 & Domestic Structure L1L-3

The second major excavation block in Sector L, Block L1L-2019-3, would reveal portions of two additional domestic structures, Domestic Structure L1L-2 and Domestic Structure L1L-3, discussed here together. Most of Block L1L-2019-3 would center on Structure L1L-2, exposing two formal rooms as well as a number of associated exterior spaces, including two dense rockpile-midden deposits. Just one space, Room 2 was possibly fully walled, and likely not even roofed. The other formally designated room, Room 1, likely acted more as a semi-walled and partially roofed back porch, which opened into the shallow quebrada behind the structure. Most extant wall foundation segments in Structure L1L-2 would use the free-standing quincha method, with all identified posts used to support roofing that covered the partially-walled Room 1-back porch.



Figure 193. Sketch-Up 3D models of Domestic Structure L1L-2 and Domestic Structure L1L-3, from multiple angles.

Conversely, only a small portion of Structure L1L-3 would be exposed, just the inside corner of two interior rooms (Room 1 and Room 2). However, from what was exposed Structure L1L-3 also appears to have been constructed using the free-standing quincha style walls. A portion of the narrow alley that separated the structures (Area D), and likely served as a walking corridor, was also exposed here.

Domestic Structure L1L-2 & Domestic Structure L1L-3 DAILY FOOD PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION



Figure 194. Bipartite network graph visualizing the relative densities of various material types associated with daily food production and consumption as found in each architectural space.

Many standard household practices, associated most directly with sustainable modes of community, were found in both structures. Clearly all major material types associated with food preparation, consumption, storage, and disposal are represented in these two structures, most are even very well distributed. However, one of the most striking patterns in the bipartite network is the extreme presence of several of the material types in the rockpile-midden deposit (Area F). Situated at the base of quebrada just below the Room 1-back porch of Structure L1L-

2, this was the densest midden deposit excavated at L1. Like most midden deposits of this type, the Area F-midden was likely first established as a pile of stones, gathered from the natural geologic surface liter, in preparation for establishing quincha domestic structures. After the piles were established they would have made naturally convenient locales for disposing of typical daily domestic refuse. Extreme amounts of utilitarian ceramic sherds, all taxa of bulk botanics as well as faunal remains like camelid bone, marine shell, and fish bone were recovered in this midden. Other largely utilitarian goods like coarse-weave wool textile fragments, twisted vegetable fiber rope, and wooden spoon fragments were also recovered in abundant quantities in this deposit. Additional utilitarian items, such as cotton fishing net fragments and carved wooden net floats were also found almost exclusively in this rockpile-midden deposit.

More standard deposits of materials associated with the ubiquitous sustainable community activities of food preparation and consumption are apparent in most other spaces in these structures. In general, Room 2 in Structure L1L-2 and Room 1 in Structure L1L-3 have the most abundant densities of most major material categories correlated with these activities. However, some of the exterior spaces associated with Structure L1L-2, particularly Area B and Area J would contain the most abundant and sometimes even extreme densities of foodstuffs like consumable botanics and crustacean shell of any non-midden contexts. Concentrations of these food remains were found in both outdoor areas, along with ash deposits directly against surviving segments of quincha wall foundations, suggesting some refuse from daily meals would be deposited outside of concentrated middens just behind the structure.



included are relative frequencies (based on count) of these same taxa as recovered in the microanalysis of the soil samples Figure 195. Chart displaying the relative densities (grams/liter) of taxa included in the Consumable Botanic category. Also collected in Block L1L-2019-3 (after Garvin 2020:125). Overall, the occupants of both Structure L1L-2 and L1L-3 had a clear preference for lowland foodstuffs, both botanic and faunal. While camelid bone and guinea pig bone were found in very high quantities, particularly in the Area F midden, extreme amounts of marine shell and fish bone were found in a number of contexts, particularly the exterior areas associated with Structure L1L-1 and Room 1 in Structure L1L-3. Crustacean remains were also found in abundant densities in a number of contexts associated with these structures. Finally, while some highland cultivars were present, both the macrobotanic assemblage and microanalysis of soil samples revealed relatively high frequencies of lowland domesticates. Maize cobs were the best represented but significant amounts of beans (both common and lima varieties) and chili pepper seeds were also found in high frequencies.



Figure 196. Bipartite network displaying the densities of material types associated with various types of craft production and maintenance as associated with excavated rooms in Structure L1L-2 and L1L-3.

Evidence for other manifestations of sustainable community can be found in material remains associated with crafting activities. Room 2 in Structure L1L-2 would show the clearest

connection to textile production and/or maintenance, with extreme amounts of cotton seeds as well as raw wool textile materials. Extreme amounts of coarse weave wool textile fragments were identified in the midden deposits, likely deposited as simple refuse.



SPECIALIZED CONSUMPTION

Figure 197. Bipartite Network illustrating relative densities of material classes associated with specialized forms of consumption as they connect to specific spaces in Domestic Structure L1L-1.

Finally, material traces of explicitly symbolic community behavior, as practiced by the individuals who occupied these two structures, could also be identified in a number of contexts. Redware serving ceramics were generally sparse in most areas but found in extreme densities in the Area F rockpile-midden. The vast majority of these serving vessel types belong to redware keros and tazónes form types that were most likely used in community libation and feasting events as well as quotidian household meals. The lack of reconstructable vessels suggest that already broken vessels were deposited here as refuse, as opposed to being the location of in situ pot smashing events. Other items found deposited in the Area F midden,

certainly of value in the setting of symbolic community practices, were multiple fragments of a 4cornered hat. These highly-valued polychrome textile garments are rare, particularly outside of mortuary contexts, and the presence of one in this midden suggests some clear symbolic community connections with the broader Tiwanaku sphere.

A final expression of what could only be considered ritual or explicitly symbolic community behavior in the microscale, was the presence of a small offering of an olive shell in a small hole placed in the corner of Room 1 in Structure L1L-3. No other materials were found in what appeared to be a carefully dug hole, approximately 5cm below what would have been the active floor surface. This marine shell offering placed in the floor of this domestic setting seems to suggest a broader symbolic community orientation that accompanied a clear sustainable community focus on marine resources. This is further emphasized by not just the extreme densities of choro mussel, that dominated the marine shell assemblage of most units, but the presence of the widest variety of marine shell taxa in any single context. Finally, the extreme to abundant densities of fishbone and crustacean shell along with implements (cotton nets, wooden net floats) used in fishing also support this interpretation.

9.2 The Special Structures & Communal Features of Sector A

As noted above, the overall nature of the contexts that were ultimately revealed in the more extensive 2018-19 excavations in Sector A were quite different from those exposed in Sector L. True multi-room structures could not be located in Sector A, at least not with the preserved quincha walls, like those exposed in Sector L. Instead, multiple structures, categorized as *Special Structures* here, were exposed in Sector A. These structures are believed to have had more specialized use as opposed to the more generalized nature of the domestic structures of Sector L. Again, these differences will be quantified below in the mesoscale analysis but the difference between datasets is worth noting from the onset as it

does affect the type of analysis done in these contexts. For instance, because the three primary contexts of Sector A described here were each effectively centered on a single context, and in general a significant amount less area was excavated in these contexts. As such, fewer bipartite network graphs, based on material densities, are utilized and instead more feature attribute analysis and depositional history data are used here.

Special Structure L1A-1

What was termed Special Structure L1A-1 was exposed in the 2016 test unit, Unit L1A-2016-5. The majority of this structure's superstructure had long since been dismantled, removed, and the small interior completely disturbed from a looting event. However, from what remained, Special Structure L1A-1 was a roughly square structure just 1.85x1.85 meters at the foundational extents. Indeed, the only elements of the structure remaining were the foundations, which were constructed using flat field stones and oblong medium-sized cobble placed upright in a trench. Each of the wall segments was constructed using a double course method, whereby two parallel courses of stones, filled with rubble, were used as the foundation. It is unclear what the superstructure was constructed from and while no complete or fragmented bricks were located, it is believed that adobe melt was exposed in the fill of during excavation, suggesting adobes may have been utilized. Ultimately, it is unknown if this was a true walled structure, which would have amounted to a cramped booth, or if it would have been a low walled, aboveground bin or even the foundation of a platform (e.g., see Special Structure L1A-2 description below).

Again, while more will be said below on how this structure articulates with the broader sector, it is important to note that Special Structure L1A-1 was relatively isolated, located just a meter from the edge of the quebrada that forms the southern margin of Sector A and welloutside the densest scatter of domestic refuse and formal neighborhoods that composed the

sector (see Chapter 10). In fact, no additional features or material scatters were found within or surrounding the Special Structure L1A-1 foundation.

An additional taphonomic issue in interpreting this structure was that it was substantially looted. It is difficult to say exactly when this disturbance event took place but based on the deflation in the backdirt left by looters, it was likely centuries before present. However, microanalysis of two (2) different soil samples from this context confirmed material scarcity as it was the only excavated context at L1 to produce no taxa of consumable botanics. The only botanics recovered here were some large fragments of charcoal that correlated with significant flecks of carbon in some of the excavated matrix.



Figure 198. Overhead photo of excavated foundations of Special Structure L1A-1, along with special artifacts recovered in looters backdirt, outside of the structure.

However, far from sterile, excavations would expose materials apparently missed or intentionally left by the looters. A number of items, interpreted here as explicit representations of specialized symbolic community behavior, were recovered from the disturbed structure interior, but primarily from the remnants of the deflated looter backdirt pile. Significantly, while these materials would include some faunal materials and again significant amounts of charcoal, the primary findings here were specialized copper artifacts as well as the only concentration of miniature ceramic vessels recovered at Cerro San Antonio. The copper items included two different varieties of *tupu* pins as well as other smaller fragments. Some of these items show classic indicators of being ritually destroyed or killed with one *tupu* clearly having been bent and coiled up intentionally. Likewise, the miniature ceramics were quite fragmented, also possibly having been intentionally destroyed.

Because of the looting it is difficult to delineate the microscale activities that may have defined this space during the Middle Horizon. However, it was clearly a grounding location for symbolic community practices. The artifacts recovered, although clearly disturbed, show signs that they had been ritually interred in this structure, possibly as subfloor offerings. Likewise, the general lack of utilitarian ceramics and foodstuff, suggest Special Structure L1A-1 was not used for typical domestic behaviors. Again, more will be said below on how this structure may have connected to a broader constellation of structures and features central to facilitating symbolic communities at Cerro San Antonio.

Special Structure L1A-2 & the Central Plaza

The second structure identified in Sector A excavations was Special Structure L1A-2, which was directly associated with the central plaza. This structure was first exposed in the 2016 test unit, Unit L1A-2016-3, but was fully excavated in Block L1A-2019-2. Similar to Special Structure L1A-1, Special Structure L1A-2 was a relatively small, roughly square construction, likely measuring just under 2x2 meters at its foundation. However, unlike Special Structure L1A-1, Special Structure L1A-2 was almost certainly a solid platform (as opposed to a small enclosure).

As explained in Chapter 7, Special Structure L1A-2 was constructed by setting several medium- to large-sized cobbles onto a prepared, heavily compacted and leveled surface. The

spaces between these cobbles was filled with a gravel-heavy sterile fill. Finally, adobe bricks were stacked on top, likely just two courses high and possibly around the exterior, encasing the cobble foundation. Some of the adobes show evidence that they were plastered with a thin, light tan-colored mud. Ultimately then, Special Structure L1A-2 is likely best considered more of an architectural feature, likely used as a platform or an altar, than a true structure, but as will be detailed below, it was clearly an important element in the built environment of Sector A and the Middle Horizon occupation of Cerro San Antonio more broadly.

As with Special Structure L1A-1, this structure would suffer what was almost certainly a post-Middle Horizon looting event, destroying most primary context elements. However, by tracing the depositional history of Special Structure L1A-2 significant diachronic trends regarding how this platform anchored various symbolic modes of community can be delineated.


Figure 199. Structure-for-Motion 3D reconstruction of Special Structure L1A-2 in the middle of excavations and (right) a stylized depositional history displaying the major depositional and other formation processes that led to the state of the structure at excavation.

The first stage in this Structure L1A-2's use would obviously be its construction. As described just above, this construction was likely a relatively small cobble and adobe brick platform or altar. In the more comparative macroscale discussion in Chapter 11, I explain how this construction-style has a been observed in Tiwanaku-affiliated symbolic community built environment settings elsewhere. Unfortunately, the structure's degradation after abandonment and ultimate looting would not leave much in terms of primary context material scatters.

However, as noted above, the surface beneath and surrounding Special Structure L1A-2 was clearly a prepared surface. It does not appear that separate clay or other sediment was brought in, but the surface here was clearly leveled and intentionally compacted, similar to the L1A central plaza just a few meters to the south. In addition to Special Structure L1A-2's proximity to the central plaza, this general shared surface further bolsters the interpretation that constructions were both contemporary and likely part of the same broader built environment complex. Again, more will be said on this below, but it is likely that if Special Structure L1A-2 was a platform, that it acted as portal platform to the central plaza and if an altar, likely acted as a staging point for activities within the plaza. Either way, it is believed that this structure was likely central to some of the more globally-oriented symbolic community actions at Cerro San Antonio.

The second major stage in the use-history of Special Structure L1A-2 was its gradual disuse, disrepair, and transformation into essentially a midden, albeit one of special significance. Small chunks of adobe brick and substantial deposits of adobe melt were recovered intermixed with relatively dense deposits of both typical and atypical domestic refuse. This suggests that the structure degraded over time, as opposed to in a single destructive event. Again, much of the intermixed refuse would be relatively typical of domestic context middens excavated elsewhere. For instance, Consumable Botanics and Bulk Botanics were ubiquitous in contexts associated with this secondary use. However, some remains, like maize were found in much higher densities here.



Figure 200. Chart displaying the relative densities (grams/liter) of taxa included in the Consumable Botanic category. Also included are relative frequencies (based on count) of these same taxa as recovered in the microanalysis of the soil samples collected in Unit L1A-2016-3 and Block L1LA-2019-2 (after Garvin 2020:125) However, many remains recovered suggest that even in its disrepair, Special Structure L1A-2 was still more central to symbolic community behavior than a typical midden. Several small beads, multiple complete projectile points, and higher-quantities of fine-weave textile fragments defined the deposits here. Truly unique items like a large portion of a specialized basket, almost certainly a cradleboard, was found deposited along the sides of the degrading structure. Finally, a large portion of a 4-cornered hat was also recovered, just adjacent to the structure amongst the adobe melt. Significantly, this is the most complete such example of these high-status textile garments found outside of a mortuary context. Each of these items represent highly-valued, and at least in the case of the 4-cornered hat, high-status items. Again, that Special Structure L1A-2, even in disrepair, would still act as focal point for the deposition of these specialized items, further emphasizes its symbolic weight in the built environment that facilitated community practices in Sector A.

In spite of its retention of some reverence in the minds of the occupants of Sector A, its overall disrepair is further emphasized by the presence of a large rodent nest that was established throughout the structure's remains during this time. A number of small chambers stuffed with various botanic material, but specifically wads of matted cotton as well as small rodent feces¹⁹¹ were found throughout the northern end of the structure. This rodent disturbance is worth highlighting here because it did significantly impact the matrix of the structures northern collapse, especially given that the final looting event would crosscut this rodent nest and further mix depositional debris. This was also the only such bioturbation-based process that seemed to have significantly affected subsurface remains at L1.

Finally, likely well-after Sector A was ultimately abandoned by the Tiwanaku-affiliated inhabitants, Special Structure L1A-2 would be significantly damaged in a looting event. The looters clearly targeted the structure specifically, as a single roughly dug hole was placed right

¹⁹¹ These rodent feces (smaller, generally black in color) were very distinct from those considered guinea pig coprolites (larger pellets, grey-brown in color) found in all other domestic contexts.

in the center of the structure. The looters carved through what were likely degraded and partially melted adobe bricks to the cobble foundations. At least four large cobbles were pried out and cast aside and the looters proceeded to penetrate the compacted underlying surface. The hole seems to have been abandoned just about 50cm below the prepared surface. It is unclear what the looters found, if anything.

Sector A Central Storage Facilities

The final context that was excavated enough to delineate microscale manifestations of community behavior would be central storage facilities within Sector A, as exposed in excavation Block L1A-2019-3. While architectural elements were uncovered here, this context is defined more as a cluster of features, as opposed to a formal structure.



Figure 201. Sketch-Up 3D model of the central storage facilities in Sector A, as exposed in Block L1A-2019-3 and some of the unique material finds from this context.

The primary features that defined this area were three separate pits, each constructed using slightly different methods. Feature R-1 would be the most formal feature, a nearly circular and flat-based subsurface storage pit, just over half a meter in diameter and 22cm deep. This pit feature was not only carefully dug and lined with cobbles, including an aboveground stone collar, but would also be sealed with plaster. This plaster would be a light grey, clay-heavy mud mixture, layered along the base, walls, and even collar, approximately 0.5cm thick. Just one meter to the southwest would be Feature R-2, another subsurface storage pit. While this feature was also dug carefully, it would not receive the stone-lining and plastering like R-1. A final pit feature (R-3), located just west of R-1 was far more shallow and likely exclusively a feature for disposing of refuse.

Significantly, these do not appear to be isolated features but framed by other architectural elements. Three separate, poorly preserved segments of quincha wall were identified as well as three separate posts, amongst these storage/refuse features. Two of the quincha segments, running roughly west-east, were likely originally part of a single wall. However, this wall would be interrupted by the formal R-1 storage pit. It is quite possible that this was the location of a standard domestic structure before pivoting to a designated space for storage upon its abandonment. It is also possible that these walls were indeed associated with the storage pit cluster, and along with the posts supported a semi-walled and partially roofed space. Again, it will be discussed in the comparative discussion below but the partially sheltered storage pit concentration also has precedent in Tiwanaku contexts identified elsewhere, as at the Chen Chen site (Goldstein 2005).

Whether this was a converted domestic structure or a specialized storage facility from the onset, this area was clearly utilized as a designated storage locale and ultimately dumping site for refuse. Refuse disposal was effectively the only activity that could be detected directly as all recovered material remains appear to be secondary refuse and not primary deposits. As explained in Chapter 7, all three features were completely filled and ultimately converging, above-ground piles were formed. Only minimal wind-blown sediment accumulation was indicated, and no definitive separate dumping events could be identified. It is likely that much of the refuse here represent relatively slowly accumulated midden deposits from daily domestic activities.

However, this is not to say that this refuse dump didn't contain some unique finds. A small bead fragment recovered here represents the only spondylus marine shell recovered thus far at Cerro San Antonio. While present in other contexts, spondylus is particularly rare on the south-central coast subregion and almost absent in the south-central highlands subregion during the Middle Horizon. Also recovered here were some of the only substantial metal artifacts recovered in excavations. One large fragment was a relatively large but non-diagnostic chunk of

copper-alloy but a second find was a Tiwanaku Type-2 copper ring (see Lechtman 2003:419). It is interesting to find a presumably valuable item of personal adornment, without any apparent damage, found in a context of intentional refuse disposal. This suggests the ring was discarded intentionally. Another item of some significance, and not found anywhere else, was a nearly complete polished bone tube. This item, almost certainly used for inhaling botanic-based hallucinogens, was found fragmented but nearly complete, suggesting it too was discarded intentionally and not disposed as already damaged refuse. As will be noted just below in the mesoscale analysis, it is no coincidence that these centralized storage features as well as higher concentration of personal adornments were located at the central crossroads of the primary pathways that cut through Sector A.

9.3 Chapter Summary

Chapter 9 presented the microscale analysis of the broader discussion section. This focused primarily on synthesizing the detailed context-based data from excavations with material attribute analysis collected in subsequent laboratory work. This discussion worked to classify and describe in detail two major categories of domestic structure: standard domestic structures (e.g. houses and associated features) and more specialized or ceremonial structures (platforms, plazas, storage facilities).

9.1: This subsection worked to define and otherwise describe the standard domestic structures that defined the Middle Horizon occupation at Cerro San Antonio. This targeted the two. major excavation blocks in Sector L that exposed large portions of these house structures.

9.2: Here I described what were deemed more specialized domestic structures. This included both Special Structures excavated in Sector A as well as the Sector A-Neighborhood I storage facility.

Next: Chapter 10 presents the mesoscale level of analysis. This discussion focuses on

the three major modes of community defined in Chapter 1 (see 1.2): residential, sustainable, and symbolic.

Chapter 10 - The Mesoscale: intersecting communities at Cerro San Antonio

Here in the mesoscale analysis I provide a broader explanation of community life at Cerro San Antonio during the Middle Horizon. To do this, I compare and contrast the various structures and other microscale contexts described above, along with more general spatial data sets, like those drawn from the systematic surface collection and general sector mapping. This contextual data, along with the material culture-based data, provide a relatively comprehensive view of how each sector may have been organized internally and the way in which certain contexts may have been particularly important for various modes of community interaction. In addition to more network-based data visualizations, like those above, I rely more heavily on the Brainerd-Robinson (B-R) Index statistical technique to compare the assemblages of various excavated contexts more systematically, both within and between sectors. In addition to providing objective comparative metrics, this data can be projected into useful visualizations using standard weighted networks (see 4.2 for more details).

In Chapter 10 I also compare and contrast the major districts, sectors, and neighborhoods more broadly. I utilize spatial syntax networks along with more observational data to discuss how the sectors may have articulated within the broader Cerro San Antonio site complex and the surrounding valley plain. Here, I go beyond the domestic contexts and provide more information regarding the numerous mortuary contexts and the important role they played in situating symbolic community behavior. Again, the goal here is to use these data to highlight social organization in the mesoscale, or various patterns in how residential, sustainable, and symbolic communities may manifested at Cerro San Antonio in the Middle Horizon. Below I use these three modes of community to help dissect the complexity of the implications these archaeological remains represent, but as always, these modes of community are not mutually exclusive and were certainly not experienced as such by the individuals living at Cerro San Antonio in the Middle Horizon.

10.1 Middle Horizon Residential Communities at Cerro San Antonio

As has been noted, residential modes of community are most salient in manifestations of the built environment and the way in which these relatively fixed features of residence almost always form nested sets of agglomerations. Within the site of Cerro San Antonio, Middle Horizon residential communities can be found in four nested socio-spatial units of affiliation: the "district", the "sector", the "neighborhood", and the individual domestic structure or "house", Each of these scalar categories of residential community will be discussed in-turn, with individual units within each category compared and contrasted. Here, I begin with the largest scale of residential community manifestations, the districts and their constituent sectors, and work down to the most localized expressions of residential community, of neighborhoods and their constituent houses.

Districts & Domestic Sectors

The largest¹⁹² intrasite residential community manifestations are what I term <u>districts</u>, which are, in turn, groupings of <u>sectors</u>. These multi-sector districts would also be the largest spatial distinctions in Cerro San Antonio, and used more generally, dividing the entire site into two broad areas: the Northern District and the Southern District. These districts were defined as groups of sectors connected by proximity but also largely by the natural topography.¹⁹³ However, using methods developed in spatial syntax analysis I will test this visual coherence, and show that these districts were indeed clusters of well-integrated contexts.

The Southern District covers the terminal end of the interfluve that the broader site occupies and contains eight (8) sectors pertinent here. These eight Middle Horizon components

¹⁹² Of course, the full site complex of Cerro San Antonio was the largest single residential community agglomeration and is used as such below in the macroscale subsection.

¹⁹³ These districts could also be referred to as the Upper District (Northern) and Lower District (Southern) due to their elevation difference.

are centered on the extensive Sector A, the only domestic sector of the district. The remaining seven (7) sectors represent mortuary components (Sector B, Sector I, Sector K, Sector V, Sector W, Sector X, and Sector Z), almost all of which are relatively small cemeteries located in quebradas surrounding the expansive (13.23 hectare) Sector A blufftop. Four of the seven points of access to the broader site would first reach this Southern District, and specifically Sector A. This would include direct access to the valley bottom of both the Cinto and Salado tributaries (including the Primary Salado Entrance) as well as the Main Quebrada Entrance, which was almost certainly the central entrance to the site complex.

The Northern District covers the sandy slopes and smaller hills and bluff-tops that define the upper portion of the site complex. This district contains just five (5) Middle Horizon-era sectors with two (2) sectors (Sector L and Sector U) representing domestic components and three (3) sectors (Sector M, Sector Q, and Sector S) representing mortuary components. Taken together Sector L and Sector U cover approximately 10.89 hectares. Three (3) valley bottom access points, two to the Cinto and one to the Salado would enter the Northern District of the site complex first, including what was likely the Primary Cinto Entrance.



Figure 202. Map of Cerro San Antonio displaying Middle Horizon districts, sectors, major pathways, and points of site/valley bottom access.

As noted above, the division between the major districts was initially largely arbitrary and logistical in nature. In other words, the site of Cerro San Antonio is quite large, covering over 166 hectares, and for the sake of managing the spatial data, certain basic divisions were necessary. That said, Figure 203 illustrates how the individual sectors within each district were indeed objectively clustered configurations. The network configurations depicted in Figure 203 were generated using modelling techniques developed in spatial syntax theory (Hillier and Hanson 1984), used to gauge the connectedness of discrete spaces within buildings and settlements (see 4.2). Each of the three access graphs illustrate a different major point of entry into the site. With just one exception,¹⁹⁴ all three configurations show the sectors falling into the above-noted districts.

¹⁹⁴ The small cemetery, Sector S, is located on the main path connecting Sector A (Southern District) to Sector L (Northern District) and frequently falls into the Southern District in the spatial syntax access graphs.





However, more than simply providing useful visuals for looking at the interconnectedness of spaces, the spatial syntax justified-access graphs can also provide metrics to more intensively quantify how these spaces were configured (Hillier 2010; Hillier and Hanson 1984; Manum, et al. 2005). Most of these spatial syntax metrics align with various network metrics of centrality discussed in Chapter 4 (see 4.2). For example, the *(CV)*-control metric (which is color-coded in the three access graphs in Figure 203), largely aligns with the *eigenvector centrality* metric and quantifies which nodes (spaces) possess higher-control over access to other spaces. Similarly, the *(i)*-integration metric generated from spatial syntax access graphs align nicely with the *betweenness centrality* of general network analysis and gauges the overall connectedness of any given node. Again, metrics like (CV)-control and (i)-integration can help to quantify and even rank which nodes (sectors in this case) were the most important in terms of access to other portions of the site.

In this case, both the (CV)-control and (i)-integration metrics provide similar results (Figure 203). No matter the configuration, the three domestic sectors, Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U, all fall within the upper quartile of these metrics. This means all three of these sectors more central in terms of the movement of people within the site, both in terms of controlling access as well as overall integration. Of course, this is not surprising, as the domestic sectors were the primary expression of residential communities, which were in turn the arena in which most daily sustainable and symbolic community activities would take place. Significantly, Sector A in the Southern District, which was easily the largest domestic sector, with the most substantial infrastructure (central plaza, specialized features, etc.), always falls at the extreme high-end of both (CV)-control and (i)-integration metrics. This was the case even in the configurations in which the site was entered through the Primary Cinto entrances and the entire Northern District had to be traversed to reach Sector A. Again, these network-based

visualizations and subsequent quantitative metrics confirm that the residential communities, represented here by the domestic sectors, were truly the focal points of social interaction within the broader Cerro San Antonio site complex.

While the two districts may have been salient distinctions in the minds of community members, it is likely that the individual sectors themselves were the most conspicuous marker of residential community affiliation. As noted in Chapter 5, sectors were carefully defined in the field using the true extent of material and feature surface scatter to designate perimeters. Sector A and Sector L both occupied planar blufftops, surrounded by steep sandy slops, so the residential community extent would have been particularly well distinguished for residents of these sectors. Needless to say, that in spite of their close proximity and despite no clear evidence of formal perimeter markers, exiting one residential sector and entering another would have been very apparent. The sustainable and symbolic community dimensions of these districts and sectors are discussed more below, however one more topic in the realm of residential community that can be noted at this broader level is population.

Population

To calculate population for Middle Horizon residential communities at Cerro San Antonio I used previous studies (Bandy 2001:72; Drennan 1988:281) to define a three-tier population density index: high (75 individuals per hectare), average (50 individual per hectare), and low (25 individuals per hectare). Specifically, this population density index aligns with what have been termed high density compact villages in other prehistoric New World contexts (Berrey, et al. 2021; Drennan and Peterson 2008; Parsons 1976:72) and with some of the more rigorous survey-based non-urban settlement population estimates in the southern Titicaca Basin (Bandy 2001; La Favre 2016).

Estimates of surface density of materials were made at 10 to 15-meter intervals during initial sector mapping (see Chapter 5) and were further defined during systematic surface

collection (see Chapter 6). Using these surface materials as a proxy,¹⁹⁵ an estimation was made as to what percentage of each of the three residential sectors fell into each population density tier¹⁹⁶. These population density distribution estimates are displayed in Figure 204, illustrated both spatially as well as proportionally. Here, some immediate distinctions can be made. While roughly proportionally similar, there are still some substantial differences between the principle residential sectors, Sector A and Sector L. Both sectors were covered most substantially with an average population density (Sector A = 60%, Sector L = 50%), however Sector L would have almost twice the proportional coverage in the high population density tier (Sector A = 20%, Sector L = 40%).¹⁹⁷ Clearly, the major outlier is the extremely sparse and more peripheral Sector U, which falls exclusively into the low population density tier.

¹⁹⁵ It is possible that the density of surface materials may be indicative of a temporally intensive occupation as much as a population intensive occupation (see Bandy 2001:58-86 for detailed discussion on this).

¹⁹⁶ During initial sector mapping, basic material culture ground cover estimates were categorized as sparse, light, moderate, heavy, and extreme. Later these estimates were correlated with the surface density data garnered from systematic surface collection as well as the extents of mapped rock-pile midden deposits (see 4.2 for more details on data collection methods in the field and Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 for the results).

¹⁹⁷ It is important to remember that these are proportional differences. Based on area, 2.6 hectares were high population density in Sector A, versus only 1.6 hectares in Sector L.



Population estimates were made for each sector, using these population density spatial coverage estimates. Due to its significantly larger area, Sector A (13.23 hectares) could have comfortably accommodated the largest residential communities, composed of at least 661 individuals at any given time. Even though it was substantially smaller than the other two residential sectors, Sector L (4.02 hectares) would have the second largest sector-sized residential community population, likely accommodating at least 231 individuals. Again, in spite of it sprawling over almost seven hectares (6.87 hectares), its sparse and sporadic materials suggest Sector U never contained substantial residential community populations (171 individuals). Importantly, based on population and sector size Sector L would likely have held an average of 57 individuals per hectare, which was slightly denser than Sector A's average of 50 individuals per hectare. Both Sector A and Sector L at least twice as dense as the 25 individuals per hectare that were estimated for Sector U. However, in spite of this density difference, the Southern District (~ 661 individuals), centered on Sector A, would still have held significantly higher populations than the Northern District (~ 402 individuals) with Sector L and Sector U populations counted together.

Neighborhoods

Neighborhoods are even smaller spatio-social units of affiliation that can be identified within sectors. Neighborhoods are clusters of household units. Household units, as has already been discussed in the microscale subsection (see 9.1), are where overlapping sustainable and symbolic communities anchor most basic and necessary needs in the residential community venue of the house. Neighborhoods are thus an intermediate residential community-based affiliation between the sector and the house cluster.

Neighborhoods, like households, are best seen as emergent socio-spatial institutions

(Pacifico and Truex 2019), that is, salient locations in which multiple modes of community consistently overlap. Indeed, like households, some of the more cogent aspects of neighborhoods are in their sustainable and symbolic community dimensions and are discussed more below. However, as is frequently the case, the residential community dimension of these mesoscale institutional settings are best detected in the built environment and other spatial aspects of the archaeological record. As discussed in Chapter 1, the neighborhood is increasingly evoked in discussions of residential communities, particularly as a subunit of urban-level settlements, and here, my definition largely aligns with those employed in a number of New World case studies that define neighborhood as a socio-spatial nexus (e.g. Arnauld et. al 2012; Pacifico 2019).





A total of seventeen (17) neighborhoods have thus far been delineated in the three Middle Horizon domestic sectors at L1. The spatial extents of these neighborhoods have been defined from systematic surface collections, systematic and informal mapping, as well as lowaltitude aerial photos. Figure 205 includes the extents of these neighborhoods as well as the estimated overall density of the surface materials (rockpile-midden deposits and materials scatters). Like the broader sectors, there do not appear to have been intentionally constructed material indicators of neighborhood boundaries (i.e., no walls or other architectural separation). However, some neighborhoods, particularly those in Sector L were separated by shallow quebradas and at least a few examples were separated by footpaths and most interneighborhood space was left relatively open and sometimes free of refuse.

The overall size of neighborhoods could range quite drastically and seems to have been relative to the overall size of the sector they were a part of. Again, while exact areas are still being precisely delineated, preliminary neighborhood areas range from 0.18 hectares to 0.69 hectares, with neighborhoods in Sector A averaging around 0.6 hectares in size, Sector L neighborhoods averaging around 0.25 hectares, and those in Sector U around 0.3 hectares. The population density of these neighborhoods also likely varied significantly. For instance, the number of individuals living within Neighborhoods I and II in Sector A and Neighborhoods I, II, II, and IV in Sector L were likely significantly higher than the other neighborhoods in these sectors and certainly higher than those found in Sector U. It should be noted, there is always an issue of temporally intensive occupations (i.e. longer occupations as opposed to greater number of individuals contemporaneously), however this is discussed more below in the macroscale analysis.



Figure 206. Schematic map of exposed quincha wall foundations in Neighborhood I, including excavated Domestic Structure L1L-1 and likely positions of additional domestic structures.

In terms of the built environment, neighborhoods were internally composed of a number of individual domestic structures, each presumably housing a family unit. As has been discussed above and will be again below, these were free-standing quincha-wall structures, with most major architectural elements (e.g. walls), oriented the same way. Exposed quincha wall segments on the surface and intensively excavated contexts suggests that these neighborhood house structures were likely clustered together, separated by narrow alleyways, with refuse disposed of locally behind walls or in dis-used storage pits. Obviously, the number of individual house structures would vary, depending on the size of the neighborhood, but even the smallest likely contained a minimum of two domestic structures and associated external storage facilities.



Figure 207. Schematic map of exposed quincha wall foundations in Neighborhood IV, including excavated Domestic Structures L1L-2 and L1L-3 and likely location of neighborhood storage facilities.

Finally, the smallest unit in which residential communities would manifest were as part of individual households. While the built environment was constructed to facilitate all community modes of the household, the residential community element was epitomized by the primary domestic structure or the house. Again, the intensively investigated house structures excavated at Cerro San Antonio have already been described in detail, but a few general trends are worth reiterating here. Individual houses were multiroom structures that were likely between 50 and 70 square meters in area. As detailed above, the typical house plan appears to have been centered on one large interior room which was flanked by one to three smaller interior rooms as well as at least one semi-walled space, which I have referred to as the front or back porch. Post patterns indicated that the smaller interior rooms were likely completely roofed with the larger interior space only partially roofed. In addition, the semi-walled porch areas were always

provided with an awning-style roof extension as well.

All houses were constructed using the same methods. Lengths of cut cane¹⁹⁸ were planted evenly into linear trenches (~8-12cm in depth) to form free-standing walls. Posts of varying diameter, made from locally sourced trees, were used intermittently and almost exclusively to hold up roofing, though they also likely provided nominal structural support for walls. Based on these architectural clues and contexts elsewhere, it is assumed that roofing was composed of woven reed mats that would effectively span across open spaces, from wall to wall, supported where necessary by the aforementioned posts. Again, most other aspects of these microscale settings are more appropriate to discuss in the context of sustainable and symbolic community modes, but again, these houses appear to have been the home of extended family units, that along with their broader neighborhood, likely completed most day-today activities.

10.2 Middle Horizon Sustainable Communities at Cerro San Antonio

Many of the day-to-day activities that would have defined household, neighborhood, and broader community life at Cerro San Antonio during the Middle Horizon are most effectively discussed in relation to sustainable modes of community. In the investigated contexts, these sustainable community activities ranged from the most quotidian of tasks that define daily-level subsistence (e.g., sleeping, cooking, eating, etc.) as well as more punctuated, but still mundane tasks involved in farming, herding, and other subsistence requirements. Beyond basic subsistence, activities like craft production and maintenance define most other readily detectable sustainable community manifestations in the archaeological record. Like residential modes of community, these sustainable community activities can be detected in a number of

¹⁹⁸ Based on examples found on the surface these lengths are believed to have likely been between 2-3 meters in length.

different contexts and at a number of different scales. Some microscale contexts, like households and neighborhoods, would be host to all manner of subsistence activities, truly generalized points of convergence for sustainable modes of community. Conversely, other activities seem to have been relegated to specialized locales which served as nodes in broader sector or even district-wide sustainable community networks.

Here, sustainable communities will be discussed as falling into two main categories: basic subsistence and craft production. Two points regarding sustainable communities in the mesoscale should be noted from the onset. The first is that sustainable modes of community are the primary venue for exchange of materials (or otherwise), and therefore are inherently connected to non-local contexts well-beyond the site of Cerro San Antonio. Discussion of these broader connections will be reserved for the macroscale discussion below (see Chapter 11). Similarly, as noted back in Chapter 1 (see 1.2), almost any manifestation of sustainable modes of community are underwritten by symbolic modes of community. At the most basic level, sustainable communities demand a shared understanding of value, to at least a certain degree. What's more, all sustainable community practices, from farming to crafting, require some amount of time in both explicit and implicit training. This point of intersection between sustainable and symbolic modes of community has become known elsewhere as communities of practice (Lave and Wenger 1998; Roddick and Stahl 2016). These more symbolic-oriented dimensions of community will be discussed just below in the symbolic community subsection.

Basic Subsistence

As one of the basal functions of sustainable communities, activities involved in basic subsistence define most of the detectable remains of these modes of community at Cerro San Antonio. As noted above, some of these activities, like cooking and food waste disposal, can be found in most individual domestic structures, whereas other activities involved in basic

subsistence are only found in specific locations. Here, datasets from the various residential community units defined above (houses, neighborhoods, sectors, and districts) will be compared and contrasted to highlight both ubiquitous and more specialized subsistence activities. These basic subsistence activities will be presented in three major categories: 1) those involved in the production and procurement of foodstuffs (farming, hunting, etc.), 2) consumption (cooking, eating, etc.), and 3) the storage and ultimate disposal of these same consumables and other related goods.

Production & Procurement

The sustainable community functions dealing with the production and more general procurement of foodstuff and other essential subsistence goods tend to be those detected at the broader sector and even district level. The vast majority of raw resources were located outside the perimeters of the site and therefore these contexts were not directly investigated by this study. However, evidence for agricultural cultivation, camelid pastoralism, guinea pig tending, hunting, fishing, and the gathering of a number of taxa of wild plant and animal can all be detected throughout the Middle Horizon domestic contexts at L1. Of course, direct evidence for these activities can be observed in the remains of consumption (cooking and eating) of the goods themselves, but here I attempt to isolate the tools, implements, and other material byproducts of sustainable community activities most directly tied to the processes of production and procurement.

The cultivation of domesticated crops and the procurement of a number of wild plant taxa were likely some of the central collective tasks of a number of different sustainable communities at Cerro San Antonio. As will be emphasized in the following chapter, one of the primary reasons for the presence of Middle Horizon settlements at Cerro San Antonio, was the site's ecological position in the low altitude *yunga* ecozone. Here, below 1000 meters above sea level, many domesticated crops could be grown year-round, yielding multiple harvests, and a

suite of wild fruiting trees and other native plant life were found in abundance. Again, as described in the initial site description (see 3.2), the entirety of the site and certainly the Middle Horizon occupations themselves sit well above the arable valley floor. However, within an easy hour walk (~ 3 kilometers) of the major site entrances there was likely at least 4500 hectares of arable land (Figure 208).



Figure 208. Map illustrating the amount of arable valley bottom area within approximately onehour walk (~ 3 kilometers) from each major access points to the Middle Horizon settlements at Cerro San Antonio (L1).

Each major domestic sector at L1 would have relatively easy access to both valley bottom segments directly adjacent to the site. However, Sector A in the Southern District had more direct access with the Salado tributary and the Main Quebrada access that led to the central Locumba tributary leading down valley. Sector L and Sector U were much more oriented towards accessing the Cinto tributary. Again, as noted in Chapter 3, these tributaries, and the soils they watered were not of equal composition. Specifically, the Cinto tributary is known for having "sweet" water and is suitable for growing almost any crops, but particularly squash and gourd, peppers (ají), as well as all manner of fruiting trees. Conversely, the waters of the Salado tributary have well-documented arsenic contamination as well as higher saline content. These compositional issues likely limited the types of crops that could have been cultivated successfully here. However, important crops, like most varieties of maize and beans, do seem to grow well here. The lower, unified Locumba tributary is by nature a mixed composition, with some of the limitations of the Salado branch, but apparently capable of supporting more fruiting varieties of domesticated and wild plant species (see Chapter 3 for a more detailed description).



Figure 209. (left) Overall frequencies of domesticated vs wild consumable plant taxa recovered from excavated contexts in each of the major Middle Horizon sectors at L1 and (right) a more detailed breakdown of frequencies of specific taxa, as recovered in the macrobotanic assemblage of the same contexts. Most of the arable valley bottom space closest to the site was likely dedicated to the farming of domesticated crops. As illustrated in Figure 209, the vast majority of consumable botanic taxon recovered in the most extensively excavated contexts, come from domesticated species. More will be said about the specific dietary choices of Middle Horizon populations and how they relate to concepts like taste and cuisine below in the symbolic community subsection, but a few trends in crop choice are pertinent here. In both Sector A and Sector L maize would be the most common consumable plant taxa recovered by a significant margin. The ubiquity and density of maize remains at L1 not only emphasizes the importance of this crop, but reiterates that it was likely one of the few cultigens that could be grown, with success, in each of the valley bottom segments, including the contaminated Salado waters. While far less ubiquitous, common beans may also have been grown successfully in the Salado branch, amplifying the amount of area they could be cultivated as well. More fruiting cultigens, like ají peppers and squash were likely restricted to the Cinto fields and some locations in the down valley Locumba drainage.

Wild consumable taxa identified in the macrobotanic assemblage collected during excavations were largely restricted to fruiting trees, with the vast majority coming from two species: algarroba (carob) and molle (Peruvian pepper). These species, as well as the other definitively identified taxa (pacay, walnut, and soap berry), could have been found in all three directly adjacent valley bottom segments (Figure 208), but were likely found in the most significant numbers in the Cinto tributary. This assumption is at least tangentially supported by the consumable botanic taxa recovered in Sector U. A major departure from the other two sectors, which were defined primarily by domesticates, Sector U was defined entirely by wild taxa. There are a number of explanations for the absence of domesticate consumable taxa in the Sector U context, but the prevalence of wild tree remains is likely at least partially explained by its close proximity to the Cinto valley bottom.

Outside of the remains of the botanics themselves, little in terms of materials directly

associated with farming were recovered on the site itself. One exception were the remains of stone hoes (Figure 210), used in plowing and tilling land for cultivation. These lithic tools were found exclusively in the form of minimally flaked flat stones, shaped roughly into a teardrop shape. Stone hoes were almost five times denser in Sector L (0.746 hoes per hectare), than Sector A (0.151 hoes per hectare), which was roughly equal to their density in Sector U (0.146 hoes per hectare). Without exception these hoes were found discarded in unambiguous rockpile-midden deposits. This makes sense as they would only have been brought to site for repair and disposal. In fact, the four (4) examples of hoes documented in the ground stone pilot study survey in Sector L (see 5.2) were recovered in two clusters (Figure 210), both in clear rockpile-midden contexts. This could suggest that hoes would be seasonally replaced with the old hoes being discarded into middens together.



Figure 210. Figure illustrating (*top*) the raw number and frequency of stone hoes as recovered across all methods (spot finds, systematic surface collection, excavation) in the three domestic sectors as well as (*bottom-left*) photos of collected hoe examples and (*bottom-right*) map of Sector L ground stone pilot study survey with locations of hoes.

The only other recovered materials that were likely to have been used directly in agricultural production and procurement were baskets. As noted in Chapter 8 (see 8.4), in spite of excellent material preservation, very few basket fragments were recovered in any Middle Horizon context at Cerro San Antonio, so little more can be said about them here.

Camelid pastoralism, specifically the herding of domesticated llamas (though alpaca cannot be completely ruled out), was also an essential sustainable community endeavor that every residential community at the site relied upon for basic subsistence. Like the agricultural practices, the most obvious indication of pastoralism were the remains of the camelids themselves. Camelid bone fragments were the most common faunal remains, by any metric

(Figure 211), and additional elements such as fur, hooves, and even skin were located with some frequency as well. With few exceptions camelid remains recovered during excavations appear to be the result of butchering and consumption of remains for meat and will be discussed more below. However, the presence of significant amounts and overall ubiquity of camelid coprolites does suggest that living llamas were likely kept within the confines of the residential communities,¹⁹⁹ at least in punctuated events. For instance, significant concentrations of camelid coprolites in the uppermost excavation strata within the well-documented Domestic Structure L1L-1, suggest that this structure's final use was to pen camelids. It is likely that this was a common practice, if a house or other domestic structure was abandoned it could be used as a ready-made pen, among other re-uses.

¹⁹⁹ It should be noted that camelid dung is and was a common fuel supplement in the Andes (Wright 2003:391; Janusek 2013:203-204). So, the presence of camelid coprolites here can certainly be, at least partially, attributed to that activity.





However, it is likely that most local herds would been pastured and spent the majority of time in fallow portions of the valley bottom below the residential sectors. The Salado, and to a lesser degree the central Locumba branch of the tributary, were likely targeted for camelid herding due to the limited crops that could be grown there. This hypothesis is supported by two reoccurring features. The first are the high concentration of petroglyph boulders marking the Main Quebrada entrance out to the central Locumba Valley as well as others marking entrances out to the Salado. The densest clusters of petroglyphs can be found on segments of the site with excellent views up and down the Salado. While the petroglyphs will be the focus of more symbolic community discussion below, it is important to note here that the majority of decipherable imagery from these petroglyphs involve camelids, often appearing to be interacting with humans and even canines. It is likely that many of the Middle Horizon era petroglyphs were made by sustainable community member tasked with looking over the herds in the Salado Valley bottom below.


Figure 212. (right) Both overhead UAV and ground-level photos of relic established footpaths flanked by numerous parallel informal paths left from herding camelids and (left) two examples of camelid-centric petroglyph scenes from petroglyph boulders overlooking the Salado valley bottom.

The second significant feature indicating the presence of camelid herds on-site are relic footpaths flanked by numerous smaller parallel paths (Figure 212). This "raking" pattern has been identified, often along hillsides like the example in Figure 212, throughout the desert *yunga* and *chala* ecozones of the south-central cost and south coast subregions (Briones, et al. 2005:210; Valenzuela, et al. 2018:7). Again, most examples documented at Cerro San Antonio appear to be on the south side of the site in pathways associated with the Salado valley access points.

The other domesticated animal that played a significant role in the diets of Middle Horizon populations at L1 were guinea pigs, known locally as *cuy*. While far less ubiquitous and far less dense than those of camelids, the remains of cuy were the second most common vertebrate animal remain recovered in all investigated contexts. Like most archaeological and ethnographically documented cases, guinea pigs at L1 appear to have been kept in individual houses as opposed to specialized or specific locations.

Cuy Remains		Coprolites		Bones		
	# of coprolites per liter	grams of coprolites per liter	# of bone fragments per liter	grams of bones per liter		
Sector A	0.7970	0.0399	0.2816	0.0462		
Sector L	0.7604	0.0380	0.1978	0.0179		

Table 14. Cuy (Guinea Pig) remains (coprolites and bone) as recovered in excavated contexts.

As indicated in Table 14, based on the density of bone recovered in excavated contexts residents of Sector A appear to have preferred cuy, as nearly four times the amount of cuy bone (by count) was found in Sector A as opposed to Sector L in the north. However, while bone may indicate a dietary preference, it does not necessarily indicate a sustainable community specialization, in terms of guinea pig rearing. Rather, the remarkably similar distribution of cuy coprolites, a far better indicator of in situ cuy husbandry, suggest that cuy were likely raised in the houses in which they were consumed. It should be noted that no cuy remains were recovered in the investigated Sector U context.

Procuring wild game through hunting and fishing was also a focused task of sustainable communities at Cerro San Antonio. Again, the chief indication of these activities were food remains or the result of consumption, but some indication of the actual practices of hunting and fishing were also indicated. Significantly, the only identified animal remains that can be definitely traced to a wild species that would have been hunted, are bird bones. However, it is possible that wild camelid or deer bone may have been misidentified as camelid bone and a number of wild rodent species may have been lumped in with the cuy remains (see Chapter 7).

The only non-faunal material remains that likely correlate directly with hunting this wild game are projectile points, specifically those used in arrows, as well as sling stones. Both arrows and sling stones could be multipurpose and may also have been used for weaponry in defense and warfare. However, at least one (1) example of a micro-arrowhead projectile point

was identified (Figure 146). This point, collected at the margins of Sector U was likely used to hunt small wild game, such as birds or rodents. The final indication of hunting and wild game in general were in some representations in petroglyphs, which appear to show scenes of individuals shooting wild deer or camelids with a bow and arrow (Figure 213).



Figure 213. Evidence of the sustainable community practices relating to procuring wild game through (*top*) hunting and (*bottom*) fishing as described in the text.

Implements believed to be utilized in fishing were also recovered from domestic contexts. These material remains are varied but include cotton twine netting, stone and re-utilized ceramic sherd net-sinkers/weights, and carved wooden items, interpreted here as

possible net floats (Figure 213). Unlike the other basic subsistence sustainable community activities described above, fishing appears to have been a specialized task. All of the materials depicted in Figure 213, as well as a number of additional fragments of net and fragmented wooden net-floats, were recovered in a single context - the rockpile-midden deposit (Area F) associated with Domestic Structure L1L-2 and Domestic Structure L1L-3 in Neighborhood IV in Sector L. Interestingly, no fishing hooks were recovered, possibly suggesting more shallow water and even riverine fishing practices. Consumption and broader choices in cuisine will be discussed in detail below, this fishing specialization in sustainable communities anchored to the Neighborhood IV residential communities, was reiterated in the emphasis of aquatic-based dietary choices. Fish bone, marine shell, and crustacean remains were found in higher densities as well as overall frequencies in these contexts as well.

Finally, closely related to fishing was the procurement of wild (mostly) aquatic invertebrates. Effectively, the only evidence for the procurement of both marine (mollusks, gastropods, urchin) and fresh water (crustacean) aquatic invertebrates as well as at least one species of terrestrial invertebrate (land snail), are the disposed remains of consumption (shells, etc.). However, the species present do reveal how these wild resources may have been procured. All crustacean remains derive from freshwater crayfish. These freshwater crustaceans can be found year-round in all permeant river channels, but are largest in size and numbers during the end of the rainy season (December - March) (R. Bauer 2013:642-644; Hartman 1958). Crayfish were likely caught by hand and collected in baskets, so did not require any additional tools in procurement. Similarly, land snails present in several contexts were collected locally, and as will be noted again below, were likely even collected from midden deposits in the residential sectors. These gastropods were likely available year-round but would have been present in greater numbers during periods of increased precipitation.

On the other hand, marine invertebrates, like bivalve mollusks and various gastropods, were necessarily acquired from the Pacific coast, approximately 35 kilometers away. While a

round trip journey from Cerro San Antonio to the coast could have been comfortably completed in a week, marine resources represent the most distant resources used in daily subsistence. All marine shell species found in significant numbers (choro, mussel, olive shell, limpet, littleneck clam, ribbed mussel, and tegula snail) as well as less common urchin, could have been collected in the shallow coastal waters and tide pools that define the Locumba coastal delta.

Consumption

The main goal of the production and procurement of subsistence goods is of course consumption of those goods. Here in the discussion of sustainable community consumption activities I include: 1) any processing of foodstuff (butchering of meat, grinding of grain, etc.), 2) cooking (roasting, boiling, brewing, etc.) of foods and beverages, and 3) the actual eating and drinking of the final food products. I will return to the implications of these choices in consumption, regarding concepts like cuisine, later.

The majority of detectable sustainable community activities dealing with processing plant-based foodstuff appear to have been ubiquitous, taking place at the level of neighborhood or house. Some direct evidence of plant processing is evident in discarded inedible portions of plants. For example, most rockpile-midden deposits contained significant deposits of maize cobs with no kernels. These remains likely represent the cobs that were either dried and then systematically stripped of kernels for immediate cooking or for easier storage, or the discards of kernels consumed directly off the cob. Likewise, bean, algarroba, and pacay seed pods as well as walnut shell may also represent remains discarding in processing these plant products for storage or immediate consumption. While they could be found in different proportions and densities, these remains are ubiquitous in any deposit with domestic refuse, suggesting processing plant products in this basic way was a task carried out at the level of individual house.

Some of the most consistently used implements in the sustainable community activities

that deal with processing plant-based food for both immediate consumption as well as storage of any length are ground stone tools. By far the most common ground stone tools used to this end are the mano and the metate. Essentially this is a dyadic toolset, whereby manos are used for grinding, pounding and a variety of other friction- or percussion-based motions on the metate, which is essentially used as both surface and container. Both tool types came in a number of varieties. Based on shape, size, and the location of use-wear and polish, five (5) varieties of mano were identified and three (3) primary varieties of metate (see 8.2). More study is needed of the exact functions each type of mano and metate and the combinations of their use together, but all certainly could have and likely were used to some extent in the food processing process.

While these ground stone implements were recovered in every form of material collection, the L1L ground stone lithic pilot survey was conducted explicitly to systematically target these tools and consider the feasibility of identifying any inter- and intra-neighborhood patterns of distribution. As described in Chapter 5 (see 5.2), this pilot study systematically recorded all ground stone and related lithic artifacts across a surface area of 5230m² along the western half of Sector L. This survey area would effectively sample the south half of Neighborhood II and the north half of Neighborhood IV (Figure 214). Analysis of this dataset is still in progress and while this was a limited pilot study, a few important patterns and their implications on sustainable community food processing are pertinent here.



Figure 214. Maps of ground stone pilot survey results from Neighborhood IV, including (top-left) mano distribution, (top-right) metate distribution, and (bottom) combined distribution with neighborhood storage facilities and food processing facilities indicated.

One pattern that is immediately apparent is the widespread distribution of the various types of manos (Figure 214). While there are certainly more found in Neighborhood IV in the south, the wide distribution of these tools suggests some basic food processing was ubiquitous,

likely taking place in each individual house. This is also true of the two smaller variety of metate, which while far more limited in number than manos, were still relatively well-dispersed, suggesting a presence in most individual houses in both neighborhoods.

However, there are indications that some ground stone-based food processing was more centralized. Only two (2) examples of the massive metate form (MEM) were identified, one in Neighborhood II and the other in Neighborhood IV (Figure 214). This likely suggests that some larger food processing activities may have been done at the neighborhood, as opposed to house-level, with communal implements. Additionally, in Neighborhood IV an additional cluster of both manos and metates of various types, surrounding what are believed to be features believed to be the central neighborhood storage features (remnant quincha wall foundation in conjunction with what appear to be at least three stone-line pits), suggest additional neighborhood-level food processing may have taken place here as well.





Butchering domesticated camelids for consumable and storable packages of meat was another essential subsistence-based sustainable community responsibility. As with the processing of plant-based food goods, some butchering, particularly preparing partially prebutchered portions of meat for daily consumption, appear to have taken place in most individual neighborhood and house contexts. This is indicated by the overall ubiquity of camelid bone, which was recovered in almost 70% of all excavated contexts (see 8.7), particularly of the bones associated with the most desirable meat packages (upper and lower leg and ribs).

In addition, both reutilized flakes, and formal side-scrapers and knives, used at least partially for butchering meat, were found in relatively even numbers across the three domestic sectors. However, the presence of significantly higher frequencies of bone associated with more non-desirable portions of the animal (vertebrae, crania) in Sector A (Figure 215), may suggest that more initial butchering took place here. This sustainable community specialization in initial camelid butchering in Sector A correlates with its close proximity to the Salado and Central Locumba valley bottom segments, which as noted above, may have been preferable for pasturing camelid herds.

Cooking both plant and animal-based foods appears to have also taken place in most individual houses. As noted above, it can sometimes be difficult to distinguish between food remains left from cooking and those that represent refuse discarded from either initial food processing or eating, especially after only initial analysis. That said, the charred plant remains and small bone fragments found in most excavated contexts, likely represent food remains that accidentally fell into the fire. However, more direct evidence for cooking can be identified from remains like shriveled molle berries or cracked algarroba seeds which almost certainly are the remains from boiling these arboreal-based plant goods in making a variety of different beverages.

Furthermore, utilitarian ceramics, particularly ollas, show clear signs for being used in a

variety of cooking processes. Of the 12,835 ceramic sherds identified as diagnostically olla (Olla and OT) over 92% show evidence for direct contact with a fire and many of these show evidence for charring with thick sooting. Finally, every formal domestic structure sampled through excavation produced at least one hearth feature. While hearths could vary in dimensions, none were fortified with stone and were effectively just crudely dug holes.



Figure 216. Examples of excavated hearths in Sector L and Sector U.

The clearest example of an architectural space designated for food preparation and specifically cooking, was Room 4 (Area F) in Domestic Structure L1L-1. Not only did Room 4 included multiple well-used hearths, quantities of charred plainware pottery, and food remains, but a suite of in situ grinding stone implements. Taken together these elements define a clear designated kitchen and while this was the only well-defined example, probably represent a ubiquitous feature to most individual houses.



Figure 217. BR-Similarity Matrix and associated network visualization configured to show context similarities based on materials assemblages associated with daily food preparation and consumption, but specifically cooking.

The ubiquity of kitchen-spaces or at the very least cooking activities is supported by the

B-R similarity coefficient matrix and associated network visualization in Figure 217. This BR-

Similarity matrix is configured to quantify context similarities based on material assemblages

most closely tied to cooking. The strongest connection in this network formation, by far, is that between the two contexts in Sector L (L1L-2019-1—L1L-2019-3 =173.61). These contexts are defined by the only three definitive house structures excavated (Domestic Structure L1L-1, Domestic Structure L1L-2, Domestic Structure L1L-3). So, while only excavations in Domestic Structure L1L-1 revealed the clear kitchen space, this correlation suggests similar activities were also present in or around the other excavated contexts.

Finally, the activity of literal consumption, or eating, while indicated by all the aforementioned subsistence activity, is also difficult in detect directly. In terms of food remains, by nature, eating leaves little in terms of the archaeological record. Notwithstanding, the presence of any food remains, could be an indication of eating, and given that these remains were ubiquitous, nearly every room excavated could have hosted individuals eating. However, also associated with eating are a variety of ceramic vessels as well as wooden utensils. The ceramic vessels most likely associated with daily easting is the tazón. This flaring rim bowl, while often decorated and associated with more conspicuous feasting events, is the only ceramic form type in the recovered assemblage that is appropriate for consuming any semisolid or liquid foods. On average, diagnostic tazón sherds made approximately 3% of sherds from all excavated contexts. The only other material definitively tied to eating were wooden spoons. These items were decidedly rare in excavated contexts, with just a single example identified in the dense rockpile-midden deposit associated with Domestic Structure L1L-2.

Storage & Disposal

Closely tied to both the production, procurement, and consumption of basic subsistence goods, were the sustainable community tasks associated with the short- and long-term storage of surplus foodstuff and the ultimate disposal of unwanted waste materials. These before-andafter consumption activities are discussed here together because, as will be explained, they tended to use the same architectural features.

Storage of the various dried foodstuffs that composed much of the subsistence base of residential communities at L1 was completed in two primary modes: in utilitarian plainware ceramic vessels and in subsurface pits. As noted above, while at least 95% of sherds belonging to the olla vessel type showed evidence for use in cooking, the remaining 8% (n = 1,026 sherds) of diagnostic olla sherds are assumed to be associated with vessels used exclusively for storage. Interestingly, only a single sherd definitively identified as belonging to the tinaja vessel form was recovered in excavations. The rarity of tinajas, which are often thought to be exclusively associated with storing liquids, this suggest that olla vessel forms were multipurpose, used for storage and cooking. The multipurpose nature of this vessel type is reiterated by its ubiquity, found in approximately 70% of all excavated contexts and 80% of all systematic surface collection units. This ubiquity also suggests that each individual house would possess any number of these vessels for a suite of storage and cooking needs.

Unit/Block	Area	Rasgo	Dimensions (meters)	Average Depth (cm)	Storage Pit > Refuse Pit	Refuse Pit only	Other
L1A-2016-1	Α	R-1	0.15 x 0.12	4		x	
L1A-2016-1	В	R-2	0.58 x 0.70	18	х		
L1A-2016-2	x	R-1	0.45 x 0.6	9		х	
L1A-2016-2	x	R-3	0.4 x 0.7	22		x	
L1A-2016-3	x	R-1	0.6 x 0.8	6		x	
L1L-2019-1	D - SE	R-2	0.6 x 0.4	9	Х		
L1L-2019-1	A - S	R-3	0.9 x 3.5	12	х		
L1L-2019-1	A - S	R-4	0.3 x 0.3	9			х
L1L-2019-1	E - SE	R-7	0.4 x 0.4	9	Х		
L1L-2019-1	E - SW	R-8	0.1 x 0.2	8		x	
L1L-2019-3	A - N	R-4	0.4 X 0.4	8		х	
L1L-2019-3	A - N	R-7	0.3 x 0.3	4	х		
L1L-2019-3	A - S	R-1	0.25 x 0.25	6		х	
L1L-2019-3	A - S	R-2	0.1 x 0.1	7		x	
L1L-2019-3	A - S	R-3	0.2 x 0.2	13		x	
L1L-2019-3	н	R-5	0.1 x 0.1	4			х
L1L-2019-3	G	R-6	0.45 x 0.45	13	x		
L1A-2019-3	В	R-1	0.6 x 0.55	22	х		
L1A-2019-3	В	R-2	0.35 x 0.8	36	х		
L1A-2019-3	В	R-3	0.6 x 0.4	4		х	



typical informal pit feature

formal pit feature



Figure 218. Breakdown of all formally excavated pit features, including (*top*) table listing all (non-hearth) pit features used for storage, refuse disposal, or both, as well as (*bottom*) photos of typical examples of both informal and formal (stone-lined and plastered) pit features.

Subsurface pits appear to have been the exclusive type of fixed feature for storage needs. Eight (8) pit features, exposed during excavations were believed to have been constructed exclusively for storage needs (Figure 218). Significantly, 25% of these storage features, including the only stone-lined and plastered storage pit, were found associated with what is believed to be the central storage facilities in Neighborhood I in Sector A (Figure 218). While not excavated, similar storage facilities are apparent on the surface within the bounds of Neighborhood IV in Sector L (Figure 218) as well. Other, more crudely dug pits, without any further structural reinforcement, were found associated with domestic structures and closely associated contexts in Sector A and Sector L. This pattern suggests that while some basic short-term storage was undertaken at the level of the household, more substantial and possibly long-term storage was done at the neighborhood or even sector level.

Subsurface pit features were also used as one of the primary means of disposing of waste. All excavated storage pits were ultimately re-used as refuse pits, with ten (10) additional pit features excavated that were likely exclusively used for refuse disposal. Refuse was thrown indiscriminately into pits with food waste mixed thoroughly with inorganic ceramic sherds and often a significant amount of loose stone and gravel. It appears that re-used storage pits and refuse pits alike were almost always filled to completion with piles forming above. These piles forming above filled refuse pits were indistinguishable from the rockpile-midden deposits.



Figure 219. Approximate distribution of rockpile-midden deposits in (*bottom*) Sector A and (*top*) Sector L.

Rockpile-midden deposits were one of the primary diagnostic features of the Middle

Horizon domestic sectors, in particular Sector A and Sector L (Figure 219). As has been described a number of times, these features were largely formed as the residential community inhabitants cleared the medium to small cobble and large angular gravel that coated the natural ground surface of both sectors, while constructing their houses. These rockpiles then made for convenient locations to dispose of daily waste, including all manner of foodstuff byproducts, broken pots and other implements, as well as for discarding architectural debris. While these features defined both sectors, the difference in the topography of each sector, made for very different distributions of the rockpile-middens. In Sector A, which was defined by a sprawling and relatively unbroken planar surface, the rockpile-middens formed snaking, mostly articulated webs of refuse. Conversely, the more restricted blufftop that defined Sector L, was dissected by a network of shallow quebradas, which were used for refuse disposal and were therefore marked by dense rockpile-middens.

Craft Production

One of the other categories of sustainable community activity that is identifiable in the Middle Horizon era occupations at Cerro San Antonio, is craft production. Encompassing a suite of tasks required for the construction and maintenance of a number of the material types already described, from quotidian items like utilitarian ceramics to items of more restricted distribution like lithic beads, crafting would have been another primary occupation of sustainable community networks. Like the subsistence-oriented activities described above, some crafting tasks appear to have been relatively common, done at the level of the household, whereas others were clearly more specialized, completed in specific locations and likely by specialized sustainable community members. While several different crafts were likely undertaken at L1 during the Middle Horizon, my discussion here will target four types of materials for which the evidence for crafting is most readily identifiable: ceramics, lithics (flaked), textiles, and beads.

Ceramics

Ceramic vessels were one of the most essential tools utilized by sustainable communities for subsistence needs. Cooking relied exclusively on these vessels and they also acted as essential household-level storage devices. Also important were a variety of serving wares, used in both daily and in more conspicuous venues of consumption (i.e. feasting). Taken together, ceramic sherds represent the single largest material type collected at L1, with 33,960 sherds assigned to the Middle Horizon temporal period. It is quite possible that a certain percentage of the vessels present at the site were brought, as completed products, to the site through other sustainable community mechanisms, like trade. These possibilities will be discussed in the macroscale section (see 11.3), however there is evidence that on-site ceramic production was also undertaken. Again, while this is an oversimplification, here the ceramic production process is broken down into three sequential categories: acquiring raw materials (clay, temper, etc.), actually making and decorating the vessels (pre-firing painting, burnishing, etc.), and finally firing and finishing the vessels (any post-firing burnishing, etc.).

Far more than simple fired clay, ceramics can be an extremely complicated technology, requiring a number of materials for very specific paste recipes (Rice 1996a, 1996b; Sinopoli 1991). While initial paste types in the Middle Horizon ceramic assemblage were identified and described earlier (see 8.1), only more detailed observation and compositional studies (e.g. thin-section petrography, LA-ICP-MS, etc.) will reveal the geological origin for both paste and temper materials definitively. However, initial observations do suggest that the local geological composition would have yielded all materials identified in the ceramic paste matrix. For instance, extensive outcrops of relatively homogeneous clay deposits mark the entire north edge of the site complex, particularly along the southwest margins of Sector L (Figure 220). Significantly, worked chunks of this clay, in the form of ground-down discs were found in a number of contexts, but with particular density in the southern half of Sector L, associated with

Neighborhood IV and Neighborhood V (Figure 220). These rough clay discs may represent the final cores of chunks of clay ground down to a fine texture for the ceramic paste mixture. The single massive style of metate was located in close proximity to these discs (Figure 220) and may have been utilized for grinding clay and other minerals instead of/as well as the assumed foodstuffs.



Figure 220. (*top-left*) Map illustrating various spot finds and surface features that correlate with the production and firing of ceramic vessels, with included images of (*bottom*) map and photo of natural clay outcrops at L1 and (*center-right*) materials associated with clay manufacture and repair.

While little was recovered in terms of direct evidence for initial pottery vessel construction, there was evidence for the firing of ceramics. Three different areas in the southern portion of Sector L (Figure 220) are defined by a markedly different soil matrix, noticeable from the ground and low-altitude aerial photography. These discrete patches of different matrix were defined by a darker color and ashy texture with no charcoal but some identified fire-cracked rock (FCR) fragments. This may suggest the location of significant firing events, but it should be noted that no formal kilns or large hearths features were apparent on the surface. However, additional evidence suggesting ceramic firing in this area was the recovery of a number of different examples of over-fired or even cracked/exploded ceramic vessels. Most of the sherds show evidence for bubbling on the surface and even complete vitrification of ceramic cross-sections suggest that most of these vessels were not viable and were likely discarded near the location of firing. More will be said regarding how these failed firing examples may signify more profound faltering in long-maintained local communities of practice or the symbolic community underpinnings of these crafting sustainable communities below (see 11.4).

Finally, there was widespread evidence for ceramic vessel finishing techniques, particularly burnishing. Polishing stones were found in a number of locations in all sectors, including in excavated house contexts. However, it was only in these same southern Sector L contexts in Neighborhood IV and Neighborhood V in which systematic surface collection captured these artifacts. Evidence for ceramic vessel repair was also widespread in the L1 assemblage. All repairs were done with a simple drilling method, with parallel holes drilled through on either side of the crack or break and then likely were bound with plant-fiber or sinewbased cording. It is unclear if this repairing was a specialized activity or simply done ad hoc at the level of the house.

Lithics

The suite of stone tools that define the Lithic-Flaked material category at L1 also appear

to have been largely manufactured within the bounds of the site. While a total of 59 complete or fragmented flaked lithic tools (projectile points, knives, scrapers, hoes) were recovered across all collection methods, the 228 fragments of lithic debitage (flakes, chunks, cores) dominated this assemblage. The prevalence of lithic debitage suggests that at least some flint-knapping and other lithic pressure-flaking was ubiquitous. As noted in the microscale section, lithic debitage was found associated with most major domestic contexts. As is often the case in domestic spaces (e.g., Clark 1986), this lithic debris was found most often discarded along the exterior of walls or in restricted midden contexts, and certainly outside of areas with common foot-traffic. Additional evidence of on-site lithic manufacture was the presence of utilized hammerstones, which showed clear evidence for well-used percussive tool, definitive of flint knapping. Finally, at least two nearly completed but clearly unfinished projectile points (and likely several more fragments), represent further definitive evidence for local tool manufacture.





While at least some amount of lithic tool production and/or maintenance was a relatively widespread activity, more sector-level spatial analysis reveals some clear focal points in this sustainable community task. Each major domestic sector (L1A, L1L, L1U) has its points of concentration in terms of the systematic surface density of lithic debitage and associated spot finds. For instance, sustainable communities center in Neighborhood II in Sector A and Neighborhood II and Neighborhood III in Sector L appear to have produced significantly higher amounts of lithic debitage than other neighborhoods in their respective sectors (Figure 221). However, the most notable point of departure in terms of lithic debitage density is found in Sector U. Representing a low-density outlier for every other material type, Sector U yielded the highest overall densities of lithic debitage, particularly in the northeast of the sector, surrounding Neighborhood I (Figure 221). The tendency for sustainable communities to conduct this activity in the more peripheral and far more scarcely inhabited Sector U is likely for the same reason these activities were restricted to exterior spaces in the microscale context of the house; flint knapping is a relatively messy process and produces extremely sharp debitage that can be difficult to clean (especially in sandy desert conditions). For this reason, these activities are often restricted to peripheral locations, which appears to have been the choice for Middle Horizon sustainable communities at L1.

Another notable pattern in the lithic debitage data is the prevalence of certain types of raw materials and the near absence of others. While detailed lithic raw material identification and compositional analysis is still ongoing, there was conspicuous pattern in the debitage data. That is the domination of flakes (primary, secondary, tertiary, and other lithic refuse) representing fine grained basalts and andesites, most commonly associated with hoes and other agricultural implements and conversely the near absence of flakes and debitage deriving from the fine-grained cherts from which projectile points were almost exclusively knapped. As noted in Figure 221, at least two (2) projectile point preforms have been recovered at L1 (one in

Sector A and another in Sector L), suggesting at least some local production, the absence of this debitage in most investigated domestic spaces may suggest a more specialized production of these tools.

Textiles

Another activity that produced both essential everyday items, as well as far more specialized items, was weaving or the production and maintenance of textiles. Fragments of woven garments, as well as other implements (e.g. hats, bags), were found in most contexts. With few exceptions these were always in the form of relatively small fragments, and while specialized analysis is still pending, several attributes were collected from these fragments (see 8.3). For instance, raw material for the warp and weft was always recorded, revealing that approximately 80% of textiles were made from camelid wool and 20% from cotton fiber. Additional evidence for the presence of woven textiles, and far more ubiquitous, were all manner of fragments of thread, semi-worked fiber, and other byproducts from processing wool and cotton. The implications of explicit decisions in textile variation, like preference in raw material, and particularly more conspicuous design elements noted on articulated fragments, will be discussed more in later sections (see 10.3), but here I highlight some aspects of the distribution of sustainable community-based tasks surrounding this technology.

Most textiles were made with a warp-faced weave style that would have required some semblance of a loom. Despite the incredible diversity in traditional weaving techniques in the Andes, few required any form of rigid-heddle loom and instead used a series of freestanding sticks or posts in a variety of ground or back-strap style setups (Cason and Cahlander 1976:156). This is raised here because these modes of weaving do not leave a significant archaeological trace, as the sticks and other primary elements of these looms are often indistinguishable from other wooden implements and architectural debris. However, several implements used in the broader textile production process are readily identifiable. For example,

spindle whirls were employed for the spinning of fiber into thread. Several different examples of these items were recovered, ranging from simple perforated ceramic sherds, to at least one example of a formally made and decorated spindle whirl. Additional weaving-related implements recovered across the investigated domestic contexts include cactus spines used as needles or awls and a variety of items used as spools for spun threads. While these implements were not very common, most major excavated contexts produced some combination of these items, suggesting that at least some textile production and certainly maintenance occurred as general sustainable community task at the level of the household.

Despite its likely ubiquity some more specialized textile work was certainly evident in the recovered assemblage. For instance, some specialized textile implements, such as the 4-cornered hat fragments or embroidered embellishments on bag fragments, likely required true textile specialists. Of course, some of these items may represent imported goods and this will be addressed below (see 11.3), but evidence also points to textile specialization within the locally based sustainable community network. The best examples of general domestic textile-related activities as well as this local textile specialization comes from the extensively excavated Domestic Structure L1L-1. Many textile-related remains recovered within this house structure are relatively typical, including similar proportions of various un-spun wool and cotton fiber, cotton seeds, all variety of thread, and at least one ceramic sherd thread spool. However, unlike other contexts in which much of the textile-related materials were recovered in middens or other refuse-based contexts, here in Structure L1L-1 many of these materials were found in close association with in situ floor contexts, particularly in the eastern half of Room 2 (Figure 222).



Figure 222. Overhead photo of the base of excavation Block L1L-2019-1 and the remains of Domestic Structure L1L-1 with detail photos of recovered materials related to textile production and maintenance and bluestone bead production. The Domestic Structure L1L-1 collection would also yield a number of more specialized implements, not recovered elsewhere. For instance, while small fragments of cactus needles were recovered in other contexts, two complete examples were recovered in this structure (Figure 222). One of these spines was clearly perforated at the proximal end and was used as some kind of sewing needle and the other was relatively blunt and possibly used to punch through leather or other fabric. What's more, the only recovered formal spindle whorl was recovered here as well. This was a fired-clay, roughly top-shaped spindle whirl, decorated with shallow incised lines (Figure 222). Taken together these materials suggest that the residents of Domestic Structure L1L-1 likely invested more sustainable community resources in textile-related work. Bolstering this interpretation further is that this domestic structure yielded evidence for an additional, but related craft specialization, lithic bead making.

Beads

The final crafting specialization that was clearly identified in the L1 domestic assemblage was the manufacture of bluestone beads. These minute stone beads, made from locally sourced were likely used to adorn clothing and other textile-based items (see 8.6). As noted above, the single context in which this focused sustainable community activity appears to have taken place was Domestic Structure L1L-1.



Figure 223. Map illustrating the distribution of bluestone chrysocolla recovered in spot find or excavated contexts as well as the likely site of their manufacture in Domestic Structure L1L-1.

While a total of fifteen (15) complete or fragmented bluestone beads were identified across all three domestic sectors (L1A, L1L, L1U), it was only in Domestic Structure L1L-1 that debitage from the manufacture of these small beads was recovered (Figure 223). A few stray pieces of chrysocolla were recovered from most formal architectural spaces in the structure, but it was the small Room 2 that was most likely the true location for the stone working. Here dozens of small chunks of chrysocolla, some still with patches of cortex present, as well as more advanced flakes were recovered from the superpiso floor excavations. Significantly, also found here was an incomplete bead, either lost while in process or intentionally discarded. Finally, the cactus spine sewing needle described above was also found in Room 2 of the structure and could have been used in stringing beads onto textiles.

10.3 Middle Horizon Symbolic Communities at Cerro San Antonio

As the social venue for the negotiation of value and the circulation of information, symbolic communities are the most pervasive as well as variable mode of community. These communities can represent some of the most ambiguous as well as more acute examples of community. For instance, symbolic communities can be reflected in implicit preferences in the resources provided by sustainable communities or decidedly more conscious and conspicuous forms of community affiliation, including public performance or religious ritual. A number of the more globally-oriented symbolic community formations evident at Cerro San Antonio are reserved for the macroscale discussion in Chapter 11. Here in the mesoscale analysis I divide symbolic communities into two primary (though not necessarily mutually exclusive) categories: 1) implicit symbolic communities that directly undergirded sustainable community habits and customs, and 2) more explicit symbolic communities that centered on ritual action and outward expressions of community affiliation.

Habits, Customs, & Communities of Practice

As has been emphasized, the modes of community described in this thesis are never found in isolation and a fundamental junction in which they always come together is in how the constellations of knowledge maintained within symbolic communities motivate and constrain the practice of sustainable communities. For instance, the preference in basic subsistence goods that define so much of sustainable community investment are largely governed by symbolic community norms and tastes. In the specific context of dietary preference this symbolic-sustainable community intersection is referred to as cuisine (Graff 2020; Hastorf 2016). In a very similar sense, the way in which symbolic communities both explicitly and implicitly underly, interject, and otherwise influence the way in which specific sustainable community tasks are carried out, have become known as communities of practice. Best seen as various manifestations of situated learning in which specific skills are acquired and habits formed, communities of practice are particularly acutely reflected in material remains of crafting activities (Roddick and Stahl 2016). I use these two realms of symbolic-sustainable community interaction

to coordinate the next portion of the discussion.

Taste & Cuisine

Dietary choices, from the types of foodstuff selected to the modes of preparation and cooking employed, are often viewed as some of the most revealing elements of the core symbolic community affiliations that comprise broader social categories like ethnicity (Twiss 2012). Of course, the types of foods consumed are greatly constrained by the local ecology and broader climactic conditions; nonetheless symbolic community preference always plays a role in the types of foods and certainly modes of preparation of even the most basal subsistence consumption activities (Graff and Rodríguez-Alegría 2012; Mills 2016; Stahl 2014).

Significantly, most Middle Horizon contexts at L1 revealed the presence of a similar suite of consumable goods. As noted above (see Figure 209), with a few notable exceptions, excavations in Sector A and Sector L would yield roughly similar overall proportions of domesticates like maize, beans, gourd, ají, tuber, and peanut. Likewise, most contexts would also produce similar quantities of wild taxa like algarroba and molle. However, a closer look at the proportions of these botanic-based foodstuff between contexts, both within and between sectors, would reveal some significant differences in preferences of different communities. While many of these dietary preferences were presented separately in the context of the microscale analysis, Figure 224 utilizes the B-R similarity coefficient index coupled with a network projection borrowed from social network analysis (see 4.2) to help visualize the connections between, in this case, the consumable botanic assemblages from each of the five (5) major 2018-19 excavation blocks.







The proportions of the remains of the eleven (11) taxa of consumable botanic species show the strongest connection (B-R 177.12) between the contexts surrounding Domestic Structures L1L-2 and L1L-3 in Sector L (Block L1L-2019-3) and the central plaza and adobe platform-central plaza contexts or Special Structure L1A-2 in Sector A (Block L1A-2019-2). Both of these contexts included dense midden deposits, so their overall similarity is not surprising. However, one of the most significant areas of overlap between these two assemblages, and where they both differ the most from all other contexts, was the similar high proportion of parancama or what we assume is some species of edible tuber. Although some domesticated tubers could and likely would have been grown locally, these tuber remains are some of the only recovered foodstuff with explicit connections to the non-local highland *quechua* and *puna* ecozones; a point that will be raised in the macroscale analysis later.

While there are any number of nuances in this comparison of consumable botanic choice, a low B-R Index score of note is between the major domestic contexts excavated in Sector L (Block L1L-2019-1 and Block L1L-2019-3). Again, these are the blocks that revealed the most complete and architecturally comparable house structures at the site, so their relatively low similarity index (B-R 108.08) is suggestive of different base-level dietary choices at the microscale institutional level of household. The differences in consumable species proportions is actually quite stark, with Domestic Structure L1L-1 producing half the amount of maize remains and twice the amount of beans as Domestic Structures L1L-2 and L1L-3 in the south. What's more, almost all other taxa are essentially found in opposite proportions between the two sampled areas. Structure L1L-1 in Neighborhood I produced relatively high amount of peanut as well as truly significant amounts of molle berries and algarroba seeds, all of which were found in much lower proportions in the neighboring structures. Conversely, domesticates like tuber and chili pepper were found in higher proportions in the Neighborhood IV context (Structures L1L-2 and L1L-3), and wild or tended arboreal remains of pacay pod, nutshell, and soapberries found

here, were completely absent from the Domestic Structure L1L-1 assemblage.



Figure 225. Results of Garvin's microanalysis of soil samples (Garvin 2020:124) collected from selected contexts in Block L1L-2019-1 and Block L1L-2019-3.

Significantly, the disparity between the consumable botanic assemblages and suggested sustainable-symbolic community cuisine that underwrote their selection, was also reflected in the paleoethnobotanic-oriented microanalysis conducted on selected soil samples collected in these two major Sector L contexts (Garvin 2020:123-126). The proportions, based on count instead of weight in this case, show major differences between the foodstuffs represented in each context. Probably the most important difference to note here in the microscale sorting is that just over 90% of the identified consumable botanics deriving from Domestic Structure L1L-1 belong to some variety of Amaranthaceae (Garvin 2020:123). While some species of Amaranthaceae plants, including the domesticates quinoa and kiwicha, could have been grown locally, they are more closely associated with the higher-elevation ecozones of the *quechua, suni*, and *puna*. Conversely, maize, the most common lowland-based macrobotanic consumable, barely registers in the Domestic Structure L1L-1 microbotanic assemblage. This

correlates with the relatively low proportion composed by maize remains (36.84%) in the macrobotanic assemblage for the same structure, especially when compared to the neighboring L1L-2 and L1L-3 structures which were dominated by maize remains (68.8% of macrobotanic assemblage, 9.84% of microassemblage).



Figure 226. The proportions of faunal remains as recovered in each of the five (5) major excavation blocks.

A final line of evidence which emphasizes what appears to be a truly different practiced cuisine between individuals who resided in these different residential neighborhoods in Sector L, can be found in comparing the proportion of faunal remains. The most glaring contrast here is the significantly higher proportion of the Domestic Structures L1L-2 and L1L-3 assemblage that comes from marine-based resources. Almost a fourth of the assemblage from these two

Neighborhood IV structures comes from choro mussel (24.19%), over five times that of Structure L1L-1 (4.85%) just to the north. Also, of note, is the relatively high proportion of fish bone found associated with Structures L1L-2 and L1L-3 (0.25%), which was completely absent in Structure L1L-1 (0.0%). Again, while the marine-based subsistence focus of Structures L1L-2 and L1L-3 has already been emphasized a number of times above, it is worth noting again here to highlight just how different the diets appear to have been with individuals occupying houses that, while in different neighborhoods, were only 150 meters apart.

Crafting Communities of Practice

As noted above, the way in which sustainable community crafting tasks are learned (and taught) as well as more generally shaped by the knowledge retained in symbolic communities has become one of the most commonly identified examples of communities of practice in the archaeological record (again, see Roddick and Stahl 2016 for a number of good examples). Like most manifestations of community, there are many ways in which the situated learning that define communities of practice can occur. Sometimes these expressions are symbolic community tastes playing out in the choice of raw materials that go into crafts. Like cuisine in relation to subsistence, while constrained by the availability of materials and technological ability, raw material preference for crafts can always be traced to more symbolic community-oriented decisions. These expressions of communities of practice have frequently been identified in archaeological assemblages in the presence of paste recipes for ceramics (Eckert, et al. 2015; Roddick and Cuynet 2020). As noted in Chapter 8 (see 8.1), several pastes (or at least variants on two to three major paste types), have been identified in the Middle Horizon associated ceramic assemblage from L1, but more systematic or compositional-based study is needed to define specific recipes.


Figure 227. Frequencies of wool and cotton woven textile fragments as found in the four (4) major 2018-19 excavation blocks in Sector L and Sector A.

Evidence for communities of practice can also be gleaned from the raw material choice in other crafting materials as well. For instance, while all major blocks that produced fragments of woven cloth had a clear preference for camelid wool, there were substantial differences in the preference for supplemental cotton-based materials (Figure 227). For instance, the inhabitants of Structure L1L-1 (Block L1L-2019-1) had the clearest preference for wool textiles (97.67% of assemblage) with the converse being the materials deposited associated with central plaza adobe platform (Block L1A-2019-2) in which over a fourth of the assemblage (25.95%) were cotton fiber textile fragments.

Another area of raw material preference for specific tool-type manufacture was observed in projectile points. As noted in Chapter 8 (see 8.2), most flaked-stone tools come in a variety of stone types, most of relatively fine-grained cherts, and a suite of colors (grey, yellow, pinks). However, 80% of recovered projectile points were knapped from a single type of fine-grained white chert. It is still unclear if this material was locally sourced, but given the prevalence of a variety of local fine-grained cherts that could have been, and again were used for other tools, there is a clear concerted preference²⁰⁰ for using this material for this tool type.

Beyond the preferences in raw materials and other technological aspects of production, communities of practice are also reflected in the realm of crafts in terms of form and style. Again, within the general limits of technological ability and the functionality of the craft, the variation in the basic forms of crafts are often relatively restricted. For instance, lithic tools tend to be restricted in form - the elongated barbed-shouldered and stemmed arrowhead (see 8.2) was effectively the exclusive form of projectile points at L1. However, other material types allow for more variability in terms of form, and certainly style. Both textiles and ceramics were primary crafting media for displaying true stylistic design elements like iconography. These will be discussed in reference to the more explicit projections of symbolic community affiliation as well as in reference to broader community connections in the macroscale context below.

²⁰⁰ As noted in Chapter 8 (see 8.2), all projectile points not made from this white chert were still made from relatively light-colored cherts. This preference for light-colored projectile points may have been a logistical choice as their bright color make them easier to recover when collecting missed shots in hunting. This is reinforced by the fact that they are one of the most common of the special surface spot find collections, due to their high visibility on the ground surface.



Figure 228. B-R similarity matrix-network and multiple charts illustrating the relative frequencies of the seven (7) different olla rim forms across selected excavated contexts.

However, more subtle evidence for crafting communities of practice were revealed in the attribute analysis of the utilitarian plainware vessel type of olla; specifically a number of reoccurring ways in which potters appear to have completed the rims of these vessels (Figure 228). These olla rim variants, essentially different combinations of the way in which the interior and exterior lip edge and face of the rim were either flattened or rounded, smoothed or left angular, were grouped into seven (7) types (see 8.1). While the most dramatic examples of these types may have been readily distinguishable at a glance, most would have required a closer inspection to tell the difference. Whether generated spontaneously through general observation-based embodiment or via more directed forms of apprenticeship in defined workshops (e.g., Wendrich 2013), small variants such as this, when found consistently, are clear examples of communities of practice in the context of crafting.

The very presence of multiple well-defined olla rim variants, suggests that multiple potting communities of practice produced this utilitarian vessel type for the Middle Horizon occupants at Cerro San Antonio. However, it is significant that while not every excavation block produced every rim type, every context did produce multiple examples of multiple types, suggesting at least some centralization, or a the very least lack of strict household or neighborhood-based production of pottery. For example, both olla rim Type 2 and Type 4 were found in all five major excavation blocks, with Type 4 making up just under half (49.44%) the total olla rim assemblage, and Type 1 and Type 3 were each found in four of the five blocks (Figure 228). Again, while found in varying frequencies and overall quantities, the dispersed distribution of these rim types suggests that all residents received, even the most utilitarian of vessels from similar sources. This is further reiterated by the overall high B-R similarity index scores between the major excavation blocks in Sector A and Sector L (Figure 228). That said, it is important to note that the highest similarity index score is found between L1A-2019-2 and L1A-2019-3 (B-R 173.29), which both sampled Sector A's Neighborhood II, making a strong

case for neighborhood-based preference in olla or at least the source from which they were acquired.

Individual Distinction, Community Solidarity, & Ritual Action

While the symbolic communities which underwrote and otherwise influenced sustainable community norms and tastes, as described above, may have been far more ubiquitous and pervasive, other manifestations of symbolic community likely served as much more punctuated markers of local as well as broader community affiliation. Some of these symbolic community markers were designed to distinguish individuals, whether by rank or role, from others in the community. Conversely, other punctuated expressions of symbolic community affiliation acted as mechanisms of mechanical social solidarity, and explicitly signaled conformity, or at the very least, a set of shared beliefs. Of course, as contradictory as individual aggrandizement and community solidarity may seem, these markers of symbolic community affiliation are often found working in tandem, especially in the context of ritual action.

Personal Apparel

Individuals, who ultimately generate the communities that have been discussed so much above, are often very difficult to discern in the archaeological record. As will be noted below, mortuary contexts, particularly burials, are often the most reliable archaeological source for data regarding individual lived experience, as by nature, these contexts preserve the bodily remains of individuals. One of the few places in which domestic-oriented archaeological contexts, like those that form the basis for this investigation, provide information regarding individuals and their role in community life, are in the remains of items of personal apparel (Mattson 2021). Various types of clothing are the central category here, but all manner of jewelry and other accessories and elements of adornment are also key elements.

While no complete pieces of clothing were recovered in the Cerro San Antonio Middle Horizon investigations, 99 fragments of woven textile were collected through excavations in Sector A and Sector L. As will be discussed below, some of these fragments belong to more accessory items like hats or bags, however the majority are believed to derive from clothing items. Based on comparative samples (see 8.3), most of these clothing textile fragments are believed to come from tunics. This relatively simple garment was likely the standard clothing item used by all ages and sexes. While these tunics were all woven with a plainweave technique there were differences in raw material and the overall coarseness of the weave used.

As discussed in Chapter 8 (see 8.3), the majority of cloth fragments were composed of wool (~80%) with the remaining made from cotton. The vast majority of wool fiber-based fragments were a relatively coarse plainweave with the cotton-based garments more evenly split between coarse and a finer plainweave style. As noted just above (see Figure 227) the distribution of these different clothing styles was not even across the sampled residential contexts. For example, the residents of Domestic Structure L1L-1 in Sector L almost exclusively used wool-based clothing, whereas over a quarter of the clothing fragments deposited around Special Structure L1A-2 and the central plaza in Sector A were finer cotton plainweaves.



Figure 229. Examples of woven tunic fragments recovered in excavations at L1.

However, in spite of these broad similarities in this primary clothing item, tunics could still be essential elements in displaying more personalized markers of symbolic community affiliation and even more individual identifiers. This was done through largely color-based design elements. In the L1 samples, vertical running stripes and bands were the only design element worked directing into the primary garment itself. In wool-based tunics natural color variation in the fiber was often capitalized on. As depicted in Figure 229, these natural color wool items were frequently bichrome, with alternating browns, blacks, tans, or creams. However, far more elaborate vertical stripe-based designs were enacted via plant and mineral-based dyes. Again, as depicted in Figure 229, these could include up to six (6) different dyed colors. Further study is need to fully analyze the L1 assemblage, but these elaborately dyed examples clearly involved more sustainable community input (labor and material resources) and likely represented some of the clearer markers of embodied status in Middle Horizon symbolic communities at Cerro San Antonio.



Figure 230. Examples of Middle Horizon-style 4-cornered hats - all examples found at L1 are made from dyed camelid wool and woven using a tapestry-style.

Closely related to these polychrome textile tunics, but likely far more symbolically potent items of personal adornment, were 4-cornered hats (Figure 230). Manufactured using a labor-intensive knotting technique, these polychrome garments were extremely rare, but found in two different contexts at L1. The most complete and contextually secure example was recovered in Block L1A-2019-2, directly between the adobe platform (Special Structure L1A-2) and the northern edge of the central plaza. As the most well-defined symbolic community expression in the built environment, locating this hat example in this context further emphasizes that beyond the labor-value embedded in these hats, they were most likely worn to clearly signal the individual wearer's heightened role in important activities that played out in these types of locations. Finally, while the repeating motifs of this specimen will be evaluated in the broader Middle Horizon context in Chapter 11, it is important to note that the icons displayed on this hat in particular further affirms that 4-cornered hats were utilized as important elements in symbolic community ritual.



Figure 231. Examples of jewelry and other items used in decorating clothing and other components of personal adornment.

A final way in which individuals distinguished themselves from others was through smaller items of personal adornment. These items could range from explicit jewelry to accessories added to clothing for decoration (Figure 231). The best example of unambiguous jewelry from the L1 assemblage is a copper ring recovered in the Neighborhood I central storage facility in excavation Block L1A-2019-3 in Sector A. Similarly, a pendant made from mica and many of the lithic, shell, and bone beads were likely part of necklaces and bracelets. Multiple feathers recovered were still wrapped with sinew cord that likely attached them, along with beads, to headdress or other clothing items. At least one pounded copper plate was recovered that was likely used as a pectoral plate or in some other costume-accenting function. Finally, while found as offerings in the context of a ritual structure (Special Structure L1A-1), at least two different styles of copper *tupu* pins were collected at L1, and were also likely highly valued items of personal adornment.

Cemeteries & Mortuary Ritual

As noted above, human internments or burials are often one of the few consistent ways to access individuals in the archaeological record. The Middle Horizon complex at Cerro San Antonio is no different, with the numerous documented cemeteries being composed almost exclusively of single subsurface interments of individuals. Ten (10) distinct cemeteries were identified as being directly associated with the Middle Horizon era occupation, with seven (7) in the Southern District and just three (3) in the Northern District. Like the residential-based sectors, the ten formal cemeteries were all clearly spatially distinct locations. Most cemetery sectors were tucked away in narrow, and relatively private quebradas (L1B, L1I, L1K, L1Q, L1X) but some were located on more exposed hillsides (L1M, L1V, L1Z) or even on flat highly accessible areas (L1S, L1W). Based on on-the-ground mapping of the cemeteries and further analysis of low altitude UAV photos, it is estimated that these cemeteries collectively hold at least 407 identifiable individual burials (Figure 232). Again, while these burials and cemeteries

were not the focus of the investigations reported on here, through the work completed for this dissertation a number of important observations were made regarding these mortuary contexts.





In terms of fixed features and the broader built environment, mortuary contexts actually showed more signs of symbolic community conformity than individual distinction. In spite of their spatial sequestration, there appear to have been relatively standard tomb construction techniques employed across all cemeteries²⁰¹. All tombs documented in the Middle Horizon cemeteries are roughly circular, subsurface cists, most approximately 1 - 1.5 meters in depth. The majority of visible tombs were marked on the surface with a single course, cobble stone collar with anywhere between 60-85% (depending on the cemetery) of subsurface cists fully lined with cobbles as well. Additionally, while some tombs were capped with either flat stones or relatively short timbers (~ one meter in length), most appear to have been simply filled in with sediment. Finally, while no exposed burial reported on here was undamaged by looting, evidence suggests that the individuals interred in these tombs were situated in a uniform seated-flexed position. All these consistencies point to broader global symbolic norms regarding the proper practice for interring community members who had passed away.

Despite the above-mentioned similarities, burials do appear to have ultimately represented locales of individuality. Again, all burials directly observed here were only exposed due to illegal and often extremely damaging looting events and therefore the original locations of grave goods and even the treatment of the bodies themselves were often only roughly discernable. However, most individuals appear to have been dressed in at least one textile, most often a relatively coarse weave, undecorated tunic, which was then wrapped in an additional, often decorated tunic. While all individuals were treated this way, the textiles themselves varied greatly and all appear to have been worn in life, presumably by the individual themselves. Most burials appear to have been accompanied by grave goods, specific to the individual, as well. Serving ceramic vessels, like keros and tazónes, were the most common

²⁰¹ Due to recent looting and the exposure of dozens of individual human internments, including the human remains, it is clear that these cemeteries contain both males and females as well as children and adults of a range of ages. Of course, more systematic study is needed to determine demographics of these mortuary contexts.

items here but all manner of other items, from carved wooden spoons to musical instruments, like panpipes, were also observed in these looted mortuary contexts. No two grave good assemblages were identical, again suggesting that these were goods specifically for the individual interred, and in all likelihood represent that individual's personal possessions.

A final important factor regarding the cemeteries is that while there is no obvious spatial correlation between individual cemeteries and individual residential neighborhoods, the greater number of internments (Northern District: 102 - Southern District: 305) corresponds to the larger district according to estimated residential capacity (Northern District: 402 - Southern District: 661). This general correspondence along with the close proximity of these cemeteries to the primary residential sectors (Figure 232) suggest that those individuals interred remained, at least partially, incorporated in broader symbolic community practices of the living.

Feasting & Specialized Consumption

One symbolic community practice that appears to have been present at every scale of residential community agglomeration at L1 was specialized, and often conspicuous, forms of consumption. As noted above in reference to sustainable community practices, consumption of basic foodstuff was definitionally a ubiquitous practice. However, the consumption of more specialized goods, like alcoholic beverages and other mind-altering substances, as well as feasting events, in which more quotidian foodstuffs would be consumed in larger quantities also appear widespread. Whereas communities of practice represent symbolic community practices that develop to help maintain and pass on technical information needed in sustainable community practices, the symbolic community formations that form in and around specialized consumption, and particularly more directed events, like feasts, represent symbolic community practices that demand sustainable community investment (Dietler 2001; Dietler and Hayden 2010).

The B-R similarity index matrix and network visualization in Figure 233 help illustrate the proportional similarities in assemblages deemed most relevant to special consumption in some

of the major excavated contexts in Sector A and Sector L. The material categories included here overlap significantly with those in daily food consumption B-R index (see Figure 224), particularly in consumable botanics and the various edible remains in the fauna category. However, the special consumption B-R index also centers on the proportions of serving ceramics as opposed to utilitarian ceramics, as well as incorporates ritual botanics.



Figure 233. B-R similarity index matrix and network visualization of major excavation block assemblages pertaining to specialized consumption.

Overall²⁰², the B-R network shows a relatively tight clustering in the four main excavation blocks, with B-R index scores all exceeding 147. With a score of 185.9, the strongest connection is between Domestic Structure L1L-2 and L1L-3 (Block L1L-2019-3) and Special Structure L1A-2 or the Sector A adobe platform (Block L1A-2019-2), followed closely by another high index score of 182.12 between the other two major assemblages; those pertaining to Domestic Structure L1L-1 (Block L1L-2019-1) and the neighborhood storage facility excavation

²⁰² The exception being Unit L1A-2016-5 and the specialized context excavated surrounding Special Structure L1A-1 - no B-R index scores exceeded 46 when compared to this context.

in Sector A (Block L1A-2019-3). Below I will explain how these connections likely suggest that more concentrated feasting events took place in or around the former two contexts whereas more typical domestic consumption refuse defines the latter.

The material category of ceramic serving wares is one of the key components of this specialized consumption activity. With only one or two exceptions, serving vessels were manufactured in the redware style, with well-fired, homogeneous pastes and highly burnished red slipped exteriors (see 8.1). The flaring-rimmed, flat-based bowl, called a tazón, was primary vessel used for serving all manner of prepared foods and likely some beverages. The taller, flaring-rimmed goblet, or kero, was the primary vessel type for serving beverages. Pitchers, used for pouring liquids into keros, other types of bowls, and a blackware variant of kero were also found in very small quantities. As will be noted below, while there is certainly a range in terms of quantity and quality of the design elements and motifs present, painted decoration also appears to have been common features of these vessels.

While all excavated contexts produced redware serving vessels, their frequency ranged greatly. In most of these contexts serving vessels made up well under 10% of the ceramic assemblage. However, the ceramic assemblage associated with Domestic Structures L1L-2 and L1L-3 (Block L1L-2019-3) yielded significantly higher amounts of these vessels; almost 12% of this assemblage was composed of redware serving wares. The disproportionately high redware assemblage associated with Domestic Structures L1L-2 and L1L-3 was itself disproportionately composed of the kero vessel type (33.53%), suggesting drinking was the central activity producing these sherds. As noted in Chapter 9 (see 9.1), at the microscale these specific structures appear to be standard houses, the base for family units or the microscale institutional realm of the household. However, this household appears to have served a special function, that of reoccurring hosts for feasts or at the very least drinking bouts. This more symbolic community function may correlate with the sustainable community specialization filled by this household, those procuring a variety of marine-based resources (see 10.2).



Figure 234. Heat density maps projecting the density of serving ware ceramics from systematic surface collection.

Included in Figure 234 are kernel heat density maps generated from systematic surface collection data (Appendix 2) and restricted to displaying the density of sherds of redware serving vessel types per 100m². While these maps largely mirror the patterns seen in the more general distribution of surface materials, they do show some points of significant concentration of serving vessels. The clearest point of concentration is the extreme density of serving vessel sherds recovered along the western side of the central plaza in Sector A. As will be elaborated on below, this reiterates the center of gravity maintained by this plaza in the broader symbolic community practices that occurred throughout the settlement. That said, the fact that there are multiple points of concentration in serving wares, not to mention their general ubiquity, suggests that a significant amount of serving with these vessels likely occurred in the home among family, with neighbors in neighborhoods and sectors, as well as more pointed district or even settlement-wide events.



Figure 235. Design elements and simple motifs found on redware serving vessels in the L1 excavation assemblage.

Redware serving vessels were particularly important paraphernalia in explicitly signifying symbolic community affiliation as they were the most common materials to receive decorative elaboration. As mentioned above, a universal feature of redware serving vessels, both keros and tazónes, were painted decorations (see 8.1). The most common painted decoration, almost always black, were simple and arbitrary stripes or sometimes thicker bands running horizontally around the circumference of serving vessels or vertically to frame in panels incorporating other designs and motifs. However, more elaborate arrangements, such as a suite of geometric elements that would often be repeated or used in combination as well as a number of more representative or iconic figural motifs were also incorporate any number of oranges, reds, blues, yellows, and white as well. While I reserve some of the broader cultural implications of these design elements for the macroscale discussion in Chapter 11, here it is worth noting how some of these design elements appear to have been distributed across the residential community contexts.





The bipartite network graph in Figure 236 helps visualize some of the patterns in how these design elements were distributed across the four major excavated contexts in Sector L and Sector A. Again, the clearest pattern is that simple design elements, such as the aforementioned vertical, horizontal, or diagonal lines were by far the most common elements in every context. Other elements like the circle-dot geometric elements and the flamingo figural motif were far less common but found in the majority of contexts as well. However, beyond these ubiquitous elements the represented design elements varied quite greatly between all contexts. One of the most distinct divergences in the different proportional representation of design elements were between the two contexts that yielded the highest sample sizes of decorated serving wares: Block L1L-2019-3 (n=79) and Block L1A-2019-2 (n=51). The decorated sherds recovered associated with Domestic Structures L1L-2 and L1L-3 in Block L1L-2019-3 included a wide-ranging number of different geometric design elements with few figural motifs detected. Conversely, decorated sherds recovered in Block L1A-2019-2 and directly associated with the central plaza adobe platform (Special Structure L1A-2), clearly favored figural elements.

As has already been noted, while feasting events may have simply represented more conspicuous forms of consumption of otherwise mundane foodstuffs, more specialized substances were also consumed. As will be highlighted more in Chapter 11, the presence of redware serving vessels, and specifically keros, is thought to relate to the consumption of chicha or a maize-based beer (Goldstein 2003:150-152; Janusek 2008:141-144), and that is almost certainly the case at Cerro San Antonio as well. However, beyond the use of alcohol in symbolic community feasting events, evidence also suggests that other mind-altering substances were employed as well. A nearly complete polished bone tube (Figure 237), likely used in the snuffing of powdered substances was recovered in the midden deposit in the Neighborhood I storage facility in Sector A. In addition, a single seed fragment (Figure 237), tentatively identified as vilca (*Anadenanthera colubrina*), a well-known hallucinogen (Schultes

and Hofmann 1979; Torres and Repke 2006) also points to the utilization of explicitly mindaltering substances in symbolic community ritual.



Example of a coca seed and leaf

	<u>coca</u>	vilca
L1L-2019-1	x	
L1L-2019-3	x	
L1A-2019-2	x	X (?)
L1A-2019-3	x	



sible vilca seed fragment



oidered sean

Polished bone tube

Figure 237. Photos of materials associated with the consumption of mind-altering substances, such as coca and vilca as well as a table indicating the presence/absence of coca and vilca in the four major excavation blocks in Sector A and Sector L. The best represented mind-altering substance, for which there is direct presence of the material itself, is coca (*Erythroxylum coca*). Coca leaves, primarily simply chewed but also brewed into beverages, has a well-documented use throughout the Central Andes as a mild stimulant. This ethnographic and historical use has ranged from truly quotidian to some of the most sacred contexts of Andean symbolic community life. Middle Horizon symbolic communities at Cerro San Antonio appear to follow this general trend. Each of the four (4) primary excavation blocks in Sector A and Sector L yielded at least one (1), but in some cases multiple coca seeds. The most substantial evidence for coca use came from Domestic Structure L1L-1 (Block L1L-2019-1). In this house structure, not only were multiple coca seeds uncovered in the macrobotanic assemblage, but multiple preserved fragments of coca leaves were recovered as well. What's more, this context also produced a large fragment of a textile bag, decorated with an elaborate embroidered element. Again, based on ethnographic examples these types of bags are frequently used specifically for carrying coca to be used in symbolic community ritual.

The Built Environment

One of the principle ways in which symbolic community behavior is framed and broader affiliation is expressed is via the built environment (Hillier 2010; Lawrence and Low 1990). From simple architectural elements to entire settlement plans, the built environment is most frequently manifested as features fixed to the landscape and inherently represent some of the most conservative or lasting elements in symbolic, and ultimately all modes of community. Some reflections of symbolic community in the built environment can be truly pervasive. Like dietary choices or crafting communities of practice, some aspects of the domestic built environment, like preferred materials for house construction or technological technique for shaping adobe bricks, can be a matter of subtle symbolic community norms and tastes. Of course, settlement patterns, from the articulation of neighborhoods to whole districts, like those discussed above in regard to residential communities at Cerro San Antonio, are clear manifestations of symbolic

community in the broader built environment as well.

The built environment can also be one of the more effective ways for symbolic communities to expressly project their collective affiliation. One of the ways this is accomplished, like more portable material items, is through shared stylistic choices, but as detailed above (see Chapter 9), most of the L1 domestic structures, and particularly houses, were made in a relatively simple wattle-and-daub style with few, if any, decorative architectural embellishments detected. This uniformity in domestic architecture is itself an indication of adherence to a broader set of global symbolic community norms for this practice.



Figure 238. The roughly NW-SE orientation of domestic architecture illustrated via schematic maps of the quincha (cane) wall foundations best documented through surface mapping and excavation.

In addition to the architecture itself, explicit projection of global symbolic community affiliation can be found in the orientation of structures and other elements of the built environment. Again, like their uniform construction methods, the orientation of Middle Horizon domestic architecture also appears to have projected a unified symbolic community affiliation. All wall foundations and associated features, recorded both on the surface and through more intensive excavation, fell along a clear northwest-southeast axis or roughly a 315°NW orientation. This basic architectural uniformity, particularly in regards to orientation, is significant given the relatively pronounced variability in everything from daily cuisine to specialized sustainable community roles that defined the lives of the residential communities that occupied these structures. As will be noted below, this orientation was likely meant to articulate these fundamentally locally-oriented symbolic community built spaces to the truly globally-oriented symbolic community built spaces that punctuated the residential districts.

The most likely primary hub for symbolic community ceremony within the Middle Horizon occupation was the central plaza architectural suite in the western half of Sector A (Figure 239). The plaza was clearly discernable as it had been cleared of any debris with significant labor put into compacting the entire 422m² walking surface. Some local sediment borrowing was needed to build up low points, leaving a slightly depressed area just adjacent to the clearing and some extra rock piling was done along its margins, but the plaza itself lacked any formal architectural demarcations (walls, etc.). That said, a subsurface offering of at least one adult camelid, likely deposited during construction, and only visible now due to a historic looting event, was made in the direct center of the plaza (Figure 239).



Figure 239. Sector A central plaza architectural suite, including: (*center*) overhead photo of plaza, (*top-left*) 3-D model of Special Structure L1L-2 during excavation, (*top-right*) photo of the looted camelid offering in the center of the plaza, and (*bottom*) photo of the plaza, taken from the SW corner.

While lacking formal walls or internal features, the plaza was architecturally elaborated

with a small (1.95 x 1.95 meter) platform centered just five (5) meters off its northern perimeter.

This structure, demarcated Special Structure L1A-2 has already been described in detail (See

9.2), but to review, was constructed using unshaped stone cobbles as a foundation and built up with multiple courses of adobe bricks to stand at least 0.75 meters in height. Again, due to a historic looting event, it is difficult to say, definitively, what role this feature played in the broader plaza's built-environment. It is clear however that this structure was directly associated with the plaza, possibly acting as a portal platform to enter the plaza or as an alter.

Often the locations of embodied performance, such as processions or dance, delineating the ritual action that defined plazas can often be difficult. However, as noted above (again see 9.2), the presence of higher percentages of redware serving wares, multiple ritual botanic species present, and the presence of a number of rare or unique items, including a 4-cornered hat (Figure 230), indicate that specialized consumption, involving important individuals likely took place here. While the platform in the north may have actually been used as an entrance, the primary flow of movement was along the SE-NW axis. This access pattern was clearly indicated as the primary west-east pathway through the center of Sector A passed directly through the northern portion of the plaza (Figure 240). Significantly, about 25 meters outside either entrance to the plaza the path split into two parallel, but distinctly separate footpaths. Whether designed simply to accommodate more foot-traffic or as part of a more choreographed procession, this dual access path format is different from anywhere else in the Middle Horizon trail system. What's more, following this central pathway and exiting the plaza to the northeast reveals the first possible glimpse of the snowcapped volcanic peak of Tutupaca in the distant highlands, a point that will be highlighted in the macroscale analysis below.



central plaza and Special Structure L1A-2, (upper-right) view of Tutupaca volcanic peak from just down plaza processional pathway, (bottom-center) overhead photo of Special Structure L1A-1, and (bottom-right) orientations Figure 240. Aerial orthophoto of Sector A showing orientation of major ceremonial structures, including (top-left) compared. Significantly based on the clear access points of the pathway along with the orientation of Special Structure L1A-2 and the plaza itself (~340°NNW), the entire architectural suite roughly matches the general orientation of the domestic structures described above. This reiterates the central place that this built space likely held in articulating the various symbolic communities that defined the Cerro San Antonio settlement. An important detraction from this orienting pattern is found in the only other structure interpreted as associated exclusively with symbolic community activities, Special Structure L1A-1. At roughly 12°NNE, this small booth-like structure was oriented almost opposite to the other architectural orientations. Again, the presence of multiple ritually destroyed bronze *tupu* pins, sherds of miniature ceramic vessels, and almost no domestic refuse, suggests that this space wasn't just oriented differently, but hosted unique symbolic community activities.

10.4 Chapter Summary

In Chapter 10 I presented the mesoscale analysis of this dissertation research. This was, in a sense, the focal point of the broader project presented here, as it most intensively focused on the mesoscale or the realm of communities. As such, here I synthesized data from all modes of data collection as well as the more synthesized datasets presented in the Chapter 9 microscale analysis. Here the three major modes of community (residential, sustainable, and symbolic) served as the primary organizing themes for the mesoscale discussion.

10.1: This subsection focused of the residential mode of community. Here I discerned four major scales in which residential communities manifested within the broader Middle Horizon Period settlement at Cerro San Antonio: districts, sectors, neighborhoods, and individual households.

10.2: The sustainable community focused subsection targeted two major realms of sustainable community activity: basic subsistence and craft production. Basic Subsistence was

further broken down into three categories of activity: the production and procurement of basic foodstuff through farming, pasturing camelids, and the collection of various wild resources, consumption of these goods from cooking to eating, and finally how basic subsistence goods were stored and ultimately disposed of.

10.3: Finally, the symbolic community subsection explored the immense ways in which the Middle Horizon populations at L1 affiliated with different symbolic modes of community. This covered everything from how symbolic communities inherently govern the underlying habits, customs, and even more focused communities of practice to more explicit forms of symbolic community expression both in distinguishing individuals and in expressing community solidarity.

Next: Chapter 11 presents the final stage of analysis in this dissertation: the macroscale analysis. Here I bring Tiwanaku back into the picture, drawing on a number of comparative examples to connect the Cerro San Antonio (L1) node to the broader macroscale Middle Horizon network.

Chapter 11 - The Macroscale: situating the Locumba node in space and time

Chapter 11 represents the final discussion chapter of this dissertation and centers on analysis in the macroscale. In addition to exploring how specific materials and features at L1 suggest specific connections to areas outside the middle Locumba Valley (macro-spatial), the more general goal of this chapter will be to insert the Cerro San Antonio node into the broader multi-modal community networks from which the suite of macrolevel institutions, that we collectively call Tiwanaku, emerged (macro-sociotemporal). Up until this point, any mention of Tiwanaku has been conspicuously absent from my Section 3 analysis, this chapter changes course and works explicitly to embed the L1 dataset into the broader Tiwanaku story. To do this I explore the global implications of the local manifestations of the different modes of community detailed in Chapter 10, by contextualizing all aspects of the Cerro San Antonio dataset within broader regional and even supra-regional datasets that have been used to define the Middle Horizon Period (ca. AD 500-1100) in the South-Central Andes (see 2.3).

11.1 Situating the Locumba Node in the Tiwanaku Network: some initial considerations on space and time.

Before exploring how the specific Middle Horizon community networks delineated at Cerro San Antonio (see Chapter 10) interlinked within the broader Tiwanaku multimodal community network, it is important to highlight some primary macroscale constraints as they pertain to space and time. Regarding space, this means denoting some basic elements about the regional geography and the different subregional areas and settlements (spatial nodes) being discussed. Specifically, I will identify some major constraints in respect to distance and travel corridors between Tiwanaku and various areas of influence (spatial links). In regard to time, I will use the limited absolute dates collected from Middle Horizon contexts at L1 to establish broad chronological parameters for the Locumba-based settlement in accordance with other dated contexts in the region. Of course, the remainder of this chapter will provide support, nuance, and even exceptions to some of the following trends, but these are essential constraints that inform the rest of the macroscale analysis.

Macroscale Spatial Constraints of the South-Central Andes

While some L1 connections may have stretched even further afield, most network links identified in this data set are likely contained within the nearly 4000 square kilometers that comprise the South-Central Andes. In Chapter 2 (see 2.3) I provided a description of the defining environmental features of this rugged region, and in Chapter 3 (see 3.1) I described the same defining features specifically for the Locumba drainage. However, here it is necessary to elaborate and specifically highlight how the topography of the South-Central Andes shaped, or at the very least limited, the topology of Tiwanaku's network of influence.



Figure 241. Map of the South-Central Andes with major areas or subregions of Tiwanakuaffiliation during the Middle Horizon.

The South-Central Andes is effectively centered on the *altiplano*, Lake Titicaca, and the associated drainage systems throughout the western and eastern foothills of the cordillera. As defined in Chapter 2, this effectively encompasses the south-central highlands, the south-central coast, and the southern highland subregions of the broader Central Andes as defined in this study (see 2.3). Except for the south-central coast, the majority of this area is composed of the truly sierra-based ecozones of the *quechua*, *suni*, and *puna* (Figure 241). In addition to affecting the breadth of available resources, both domesticated and wild, the general ecology of these ecozones greatly limited how people, goods, and even ideas could move across the landscape. Making transportation particularly challenging in the South-Central Andes was the fact that a number of areas, particularly in the south-central coast and southern highlands subregions, were marked by extensive hyperarid dessert, salt flats, and significant geothermal activity, with some areas even falling within the *janka* ecozone, largely defined by impassible snow-capped peaks and glaciers.

As was emphasized in Chapter 2, based on all available archaeological evidence, the influence of Tiwanaku was certainly not uniform across the region and was likely limited to five (5) subregions within the South-Central Andes. Here I follow most other studies in labelling these as: the Titicaca Basin subregion, the Valles Occidentales subregion, the Oruro-Lake Poopó subregion, the Cochabamba-Mizque subregion, and the San Pedro de Atacama subregion (see Browman 1997). In addition to indicating the general parameters of these subregions, the map in Figure 241 also indicates the approximate locations of some of the settlements that show substantiated evidence for affiliation with the broader Tiwanaku network during the Middle Horizon. Again, while I will not repeat descriptions of each of these subregions (see 2.3), an immediately discernable pattern is the centrality of rivers and their associated tributaries. These represent some of the principle habitable areas within this rugged landscape, and it is important to reiterate that due to the alpine terrain, these areas are connected by limited, but well-established transportation routes.



Figure 242. Map of the South-Central Andes indicating documented transportation corridors that were believed to be utilized during the Middle Horizon, with associated table indicating distance and approximated llama caravan travel time between Tiwanaku and major areas of influence.

Beyond the particulars of the environmental difficulties presented by the region, are the overall distances between these subregions. Specifically, important here is the distance between the epicenter of the Tiwanaku phenomenon, the site of Tiahuanaco, and each individual area of influence. Situated just 20 kilometers from the southern shores of Lake Titicaca, Tiwanaku had closest access to the remainder of the Titicaca Basin. However, as indicated in the table included in Figure 242, the furthest reaches of the northern Titicaca Basin were about as distant as the furthest areas of the Valles Occidentales. That is, many areas in the south-central coastal Valles Occidentales were nearly as close or closer as areas within the Titicaca Basin. Likewise, while some contexts in the Oruro-Lake Poopó were just 100 kilometers from Tiahuanaco, some of the more distant contexts in this subregion were just as far as those

in the more temperate Cochabamaba-Mizque subregion in the eastern *yungas*. Easily the most distant area of interest, San Pedro de Atacama in the southern highlands, was nearly 1000 kilometers from Lake Titicaca and involved crossing some of the more inhospitable stretches of the South-Central Andes.

As detailed in Chapter 1 (see 1.3), while always a major factor, the distance between cores and peripheries is of particular relevance to the intensity and overall nature of influence in contexts where foot-travel is the primary mode of transportation and communication (e.g., Spencer 2010; Stein 1999). Significantly, while foot-travel was indeed the only mode of human transportation in the Middle Horizon, the movement of goods was aided by the employment of llamas as draft animals (Browman 1974; Capriles and Tripcevich 2016). As touched on in Chapter 2, caravans, composed of dozens, hundreds, and even thousands of individual llamas, are well documented sustainable community-based institutions in ethnographic and archaeological contexts throughout the Central Andes (see 2.1 and 2.2), and particularly in the South-Central Andes (see 2.3). Again, based on detailed camelid caravan-based studies (Nielsen 2000; Tripcevich 2010), here (Figure 242) I use an average estimate of 18 kilometers for a typical single day of caravan travel, with a full day of rest needed for every three days of travel. Finally, again following other studies (Vining and Williams 2020), here it is assumed that most caravan traffic would take place between June and November, during lulls in the typical agriculture cycle, though this does not preclude the possibility of year-round caravan traffic.

While just approximations, the travel times listed in Figure 242 align relatively well with available studies that have taken far more detailed ecological considerations and utilized more sensitive least-cost techniques (see Stanish, et al. 2010; Vining and Williams 2020). Importantly, despite some locations in the southern Titicaca Basin being significantly closer, the majority of areas in which Tiwanaku influence has been detected would require over two (2) weeks of caravan travel to complete a one-way journey and a minimum of four (4) weeks, or about one (1) month, to make the round-trip journey. However, still more of the areas of influence, even
those in the closest Valles Occidentales and Cochabamba-Mizque areas, would have required almost double that, with almost two (2) months needed to complete a round-trip caravan journey. At the extreme end of travel times, trips to San Pedro de Atacama could have taken Tiahuanaco-based caravans upwards of four (4) months, or a third of a year, to complete a full two-way trip. Of course, central for this study, at just about 200 kilometers from the center of Tiahuanaco, Cerro San Antonio in the middle Locumba Valley represents one of the closest affiliated site complexes, and likely could have been reached in just about two (2) full weeks of caravan travel from the highland center. Again, these spatial constraints, particularly as they pertain to travel, set the stage for some of the macroscale dynamics discussed in the analysis below.

Macroscale Temporal Constraints of the Middle Horizon

This dissertation centers on a period in history in the Central Andes that has become known as the Middle Horizon. Chapter 2 described the cultural trends that define this period in the context of the history of the broader region (see 2.1) as well as how it pertains specifically to Tiwanaku in the South-Central Andes (see 2.3). A few of the defining temporal parameters of this period are worth highlighting again. Traditionally, the Middle Horizon Period for the Central Andes writ large has been assigned the calendrical years AD 500 through AD 1000. Again, the shifts in multi-modal community network configurations that have been used in defining this period are reviewed in Chapter 2 (2.1), but ultimately the Middle Horizon is defined the by formation, spread, and collapse of the peer-polities Tiwanaku and Wari. Of course, one of the primary goals of this particular study is delineating the timing of Tiwanaku's influence in the South-Central Andes, but specifically in the Valles Occidentales area.



Figure 243. Basic culture sequences for the Tiwanaku drainage in the south-central highlands and the middle and lower Osmore, middle Locumba, and middle Azapa drainages in the south-central coast (Valles Occidentales).

Figure 243 helps to illustrate some of the temporal limits of various cultural traditions that have been used to define the Middle Horizon and adjacent periods at Tiahuanaco and in various locations throughout the Valles Occidentales (see Augustyniak 2004; Goldstein 2005:136-145;

Korpisaari, et al. 2014; Marsh, et al. 2019:811; Muñoz Ovalle 2004; Owen 2005:52; Sutter and Sharratt 2010:68-72). Again, a breakdown of available archaeological evidence defining these time spans is presented in Chapter 2 (2.3), but this graphic is useful for visualizing the macroscale temporal dimensions of that data. More than anything, this timeline graphic is meant to illustrate that the impact of Tiwanaku, occurred at different times and for different durations, even just within the Valle Occidentales area. Parsing out how this played out at the site of Cerro San Antonio and what implications that has for understanding the timing of the Tiwanaku phenomena more broadly is a primary focus of this macroscale analysis.



Figure 244. The results of the radiocarbon dates samples from six (6) contexts excavated in 2016, with the SHcal13 calibrated dates plotted, including their 2-sigma ranges.

To that point, the six (6) radiocarbon dates processed thus far for L1 are revealing (see also 8.11) and worth reviewing here at the onset. I used the central tendencies of these dates to roughly estimate the Locumba Valley Tiwanaku-affiliated presence as lasting from approximately ca. AD 850 to AD 1150, or potentially as short as only around AD 950 to a bit after AD 1050, givien the multimodal probability distributions. While a Bayesian analysis will refine this inferred period, I have postponed a rigorous analysis of the dates until the remaining radiocarbon samples have been exported and processed as the contexts from which these dated samples were taken were limited and exclusively from Sector A. That said, a few points regarding these dates and the contexts they were drawn from are important to note here.

Notably, the three latest dates overlap, almost exactly, with only a few years separating their early or late ranges. Two of these dates come from maize cobs recovered in similar rockpile-midden deposits, one in Test Unit L1A-2016-2 in Sector A's Neighborhood V and the other from the midden deposits just adjacent to the adobe platform and the central plaza excavated in Test Unit L1A-2016-3. The third overlapping later date is from a large piece of charcoal recovered from the looted context within Special Structure L1A-1 in Test Unit L1A-2016-5. The near identical ranges of these three dated contexts provide a relatively stable end date range for the Tiwanaku-affiliated occupation at L1, at least as it pertains to Sector A. Significantly, this end date of ca. AD1150 falls at the extreme late end of what is referred to here as the Terminal Middle Horizon.

The two earliest dates both came from Test Unit L1A-2016-1, which sampled a rockpile midden deposit and associated clearing in Neighborhood I of Sector A, just southwest of the central plaza. Significantly, the earliest date range (ca. AD 850-950) was derived from a maize cob recovered from the only subsurface storage feature excavated in the 2016 test excavations - Rasgo 1 in Test Unit L1A-2016-1. The second date from the same test unit was also derived from a maize cob, this one collected in the rockpile-midden deposit which directly superimposed the subsurface feature. This second date yielded an early-end date of AD 990-1050, suggesting a 50-150-year gap between when the cob was deposited in the feature and the cob in the superimposed midden deposit. An additional date, this one from Test Unit L1A-2016-4, located on the far western periphery of Sector A at the edge of Neighborhood III, also produced a date that fell within the Late Middle Horizon (ca. AD 900-1050). These dates suggest that the Tiwanaku-affiliated occupation of Cerro San Antonio was initiated sometime in the Late Middle

Horizon and lasted at least through the final years of the Terminal Middle Horizon.

11.2 Home on the Range: defining Tiwanaku residential communities on the western frontier

The residential mode of community in the community ecology approach reflects the inescapable fact that individuals require shelter. Of course, these residential modes of community are intimately entangled with the other modes, forming other emergent socio-spatial institutions detectable in the archaeological record. These socio-spatial institutions, based around residence, almost always form nested sets of agglomerations manifested in the built environment. These nested agglomerations can be as small and hyper-localized as a house or as broad as an articulated system of settlements in a subregion.

As for Cerro San Antonio, in Chapter 10 (see 10.1) I identified four (4) nested sets of intra-settlement residential community manifestations: single domestic structures or houses, house clusters or neighborhoods, discrete domestic sectors, and sector groups or districts. Here I compare and contrast these multi-scalar residential communities with those investigated at other Tiwanaku sites: namely those excavated at the highland center of Tiahuanaco (Escalante 2003; Janusek 1994, 2005c, 2009; Marsh 2012; Rivera Casanovas 1994) and the well-documented Middle Horizon era domestic contexts found throughout the neighboring midde Osmore drainage in the Valle Occidentales (Goldstein 1989, 1993a, 2005). Relying particularly on the intensively studied middle Osmore drainage, I work to add to the increasingly detailed view of how residence was established in the Valles Occidentales during the Middle Horizon and what this implies about Tiwanaku influence along its western frontier.

Interregional Residential Comparisons: microscale socio-spatial institutions in their macroscale context

The quotidian spaces of the domestic sphere have long been identified as particularly

sensitive archaeological contexts for investigating some of the more intimate affiliations held by communities and their constituent members (e.g., Carballo 2011; Hirth 1993; Nash 2009; Stanish 1989; Steadman 2016). Whereas public spaces tend to be utilized for the projection of more globally-oriented and explicit affiliations, truly residential spaces, particularly interiors, tend to reflect more pervasive habits and beliefs. Here I focus on architecture and other formal elements of the built environment as my primary line of evidence in relating the various scales of residential community detected at L1 with several other contexts in Tiwanaku's orbit.

Table 15. The four scales of intra-settlement residential community as identified at Cerro San Antonio and their equivalents at the center of Tiwanaku and at the Tiwanaku enclaves in the middle Osmore drainage.

Residential Community equivalent of	BASIC DOMESTIC STRUCTURE (HOUSE)	NEIGHBORHOOD	SECTOR	DISTRICT
Settlement area middle Locumba drainage	stand-alone <i>quincha</i> structure	house clusters separated by walking paths	neighborhood clusters, sometimes centered on a plaza	sector cluster sharing same geological landform w/ associated cemeteries
middle Osmore drainage	stand-alone <i>quincha</i> structure	house clusters centered on small domestic plazas	plaza-neighborhood cluster sharing same landform	sector cluster sharing same geological landform w/ associated cemeteries
Tiahuanaco & Lukurmata	intracompound adobe/field stone structure	walled-compound with interior courtyard	walled compound cluster – sharing infrastructure like drainage canals	designated by moat and other built features or natural landforms, gradient from monumental core (Tiahuanaco)

Table 15 provides a brief generalized description²⁰³ of residential community manifestations from the three specified settlement areas, sorted into four scalar categories. It is no surprise that at the smallest scale, basic domestic architecture, or house design, was most similar between the two contexts situated in similar environments in the Valles Occidentales. In both Locumba and the Osmore contexts, locally sourced cane would be the primary construction material (*quincha*) as opposed to the field stone foundation and adobe brick superstructure architecture that defined the highland Tiwanaku contexts (Tiahuanaco and Lukurmata) (e.g., Bermann 1997; Janusek 2004b, 2005c). However, that is not to say there was not variation in the *yunga*-based valley contexts.

As noted in Chapter 2 (see 2.3), three different modes of ephemeral domestic architecture have been identified in the middle Osmore, each associated with one of the three primary Tiwanaku-affiliated groups in the valley (Omo, Chen Chen, Tumilaca) (Goldstein 2005:195-197, 212-214, 229-232). While I will not repeat their descriptions here, the L1 examples, specifically the Sector L domestic structures, are most similar in overall architectural style and layout to those associated with the Tumilaca styles in the Middle Osmore context (Goldstein 2005:229-232), with free-standing quincha walls and wooden posts only used to support roofing where necessary.

More prominent differences between the three contexts appear when looking at how multi-structure residential communities were configured. At Tiahuanaco and other highland settlements like Lukurmata, the typical adobe domestic structure was contained within a walled compound that would include multiple other domestic structures and center on a small patio. This is juxtaposed to the completely un-walled neighborhoods that define both the Osmore and Locumba settlements. However, most of the Tiwanaku-affiliated settlements in the middle Osmore, neighborhoods were frequently, though not always, centered on relatively small plazas

²⁰³ Most of these have more detailed descriptions in Chapter 2 (see 2.3).

(Goldstein and Sitek 2018:457-459), and even sometimes separated by natural features in the landscape (e.g. shallow quebradas) (i.e., Goldstein 2005:156). On the other hand, in Locumba, neighborhoods were more informally clustered, with no clear individual neighborhood plazas, and often only separated arbitrarily by footpaths.

Scaling up still, broader sectors were defined in all three contexts as major spatially discrete agglomerations of house clusters, whether bounded compounds at Tiahuanaco or unwalled neighborhoods in the Osmore and Locumba drainages. In both Locumba and Osmore contexts, these sectors would often occupy the entirety of a blufftop or planar surface sitting above the fertile river valley floor (Goldstein 2005:134-164). For the most part, the only difference in the sector and district designations in these Valle Occidentales settlements is that districts also incorporate the frequently associated mortuary components as well as guarantee that the neighborhood agglomerations in question occupied different geological features (e.g. separate but adjacent blufftops). At the highland center, sectors and districts also largely aligned and were defined by their relation to the monumental core of the city (e.g., Janusek 2008:156-157; Kolata and Ponce 1992). However, multiple districts within the settlement of Tiahuanaco were clearly separated by artificial features on the landscape such as platforms, mounds, or moats (e.g., Vella et al 2019).

While more will be said below regarding shared spaces and their role in symbolic community dimensions of these settlements (see 11.4), the residential plaza spaces provide a useful key in relating the three neighborhood-based residential configurations discussed here. At Cerro San Antonio, the central plaza in Sector A appears to have acted as the primary shared domestic space for occupants of all neighborhoods in all three sectors (i.e. both districts). Conversely, most sufficiently preserved Omo- and Chen Chen-affiliated settlements in the middle Osmore drainage include multiple domestic plazas, which again, tend to center individual neighborhoods. Significantly, this is not true of the later Tumilaca settlements, which tend not to have any identifiable plaza spaces (Goldstein 2005:172-174). Finally, an even more

atomized arrangement was the residential plaza equivalent at Tiahuanaco, the compound patio, which sequestered behind walls, provided an even more segregated residential configuration.

Broadly speaking then, the Osmore and Locumba residential arrangements were quite similar, with both deviating sharply from the open domestic spaces observed at Tiahuanaco itself. This is most clear at the most microscale level where, architecturally, houses were almost the same in the Valles Occidentales, and likely represent the base of family-based household units. That said, many daily tasks were likely shared with neighbors across the sector and even across the entire settlement. Where at Tiahuanaco, while some broader sustainable community specialization may have been shared at the sector level (see 11.3), most daily activities were undertaken within the privacy of the walled compound (e.g., Janusek 1999).

Ranking Residence: settlement hierarchy and population on the western frontier

Residential community configurations add insight into how these settlements may have related in regard to the broader Tiwanaku settlement hierarchy and population distribution in the Valles Occidentales. First, to review general population estimates, it was estimated in Chapter 10 (see 10.1) that roughly 1042 individuals may have occupied the Cerro San Antonio sectors during the Middle Horizon. Here I round that estimate up to 1200 individuals to account for other smaller Tiwanaku-affiliated settlements in the middle Locumba Valley. Even with this slight bump, the Locumba population is dwarfed by the estimated 10,000 individuals that may have occupied the Tiwanaku-affiliated enclaves in the middle Osmore drainage (Goldstein 2013b:480; 2015:9204). Likewise, it is estimated that upwards of 65,000 individuals may have occupied the Titicaca Basin during the Middle Horizon with as many as 20,000 living at the center of Tiwanaku itself (La Favre 2016:39; Stanish 2013:153). Finally, while the residential contexts have not been confirmed through excavations like the rest of the contexts above, based on systematic survey (Goldstein 1995), the Azapa drainage at the southern edge of the

Valles Occidentales area likely contained fewer than 400 individuals with direct Tiwanakuaffiliation.



Figure 245. Graphic representation of total estimated Tiwanaku-affiliated individuals living in each listed region.

The populations as visualized in Figure 245 help to put some of these Middle Horizon residential community configurations into a macroscale perspective. One glaring factor is that, as estimated here, the number of Tiwanaku-affiliated individuals living throughout the Valles Occidentales approached the number of those occupying the single center of Tiahuanaco (see Stanish 2003:178). This emphasizes, in relative population terms, just how substantially different the primate, urban center was. In addition, while the different architectural styles in the highland center and the more lowland villages can be explained by the radically different climates and available construction materials, the difference in configurations at the neighborhood and even house level was also the result of a radically different mode of settlement that had emerged in the highland contexts, the urbanized center.

That said, the walled multi-house, patio-centered compounds at Tiahuanaco likely acted to retain elements of smaller village-based residential life in an urban setting by providing privacy even in novel, cramped urban conditions (Jennings, et al. 2016:478-482). In fact, despite their very different built environment manifestations, the fact that neighborhood-level residential communities at Tiahuanaco in the walled patio compounds and un-walled house cluster plaza groups that defined the Osmore enclaves, were all centered on open shared spaces, set them apart from the Cerro San Antonio settlement configurations in which all neighborhoods appear to have relied on a single shared plaza.

Of course, population numbers and distributions were not static throughout the halfmillennium-long Middle Horizon. Significantly, estimates for the Titicaca Basin suggest that population levels likely peaked during the early Late Middle Horizon and fell steadily throughout the Late and Terminal Middle Horizon (La Favre 2016:39). Without delving into the catalyst for this population decline, it is important to highlight that this coincides with the closing of a number of the more peripheral domestic sectors at Tiahuanaco and a general reconfiguration of the monumental core and associated monuments (e.g., Janusek 2003a, 2004b). What's more, as highlighted in the timeline figure in Figure 243 (see 11.1), the available absolute dating in the Valles Occidentales suggests that while the major enclaves had been established in the Osmore during the Early Middle Horizon, the accelerated spread of Tiwanaku-affiliated residential communities into other areas of the region coincides with this drop in highland population during the Terminal Middle Horizon.

11.3 Self-Dependent with Connections: delineating Tiwanaku's interregional sustainable communities

This section compares and contrasts different sustainable community practices identified at Cerro San Antonio with those of other Tiwanaku-affiliated settlements to discuss some of the modes of production, exchange, and consumption that underwrote the broader Tiwanaku economy. As in Chapter 10 (see 10.2), here I focus on two broad categories of generally economic activity: those based in basic subsistence and those involved in the production and

exchange of various craft goods.

Easy Living in the Yungas: diversified subsistence in the Valles Occidentales

As noted a number of times in this dissertation, at almost 3,000 meters lower elevation, the western *yungas* ecozone that defines the majority of the Valles Occidentales represents a radically different environment than the mixed *suni-puna* highland ecozones that define the Titicaca Basin. While largely defined by expansive stretches of hyperarid desert, the narrow river valleys of the south-central coast rewarded residents with a number of wild edible plant and tree species as well as year-round growing capability for most available domesticated crops. Likewise, this mid-elevation ecosystem would naturally host migrating quadrupeds, like wild deer and camelids, as well as birds, like ibis and flamingo, at various times of the year and serve as more-than sufficient pasturage for large herds of domesticated camelids. Finally, while still more than a day's travel away from the Pacific Ocean, the resources of the *chala* ecozone were far more available to those settled here in the *yunga* compared to the highland *puna*. Here I compare how these various resources appear to have been accessed and consumed at L1 (see 10.2) and other locales within the Tiwanaku sphere. As always, I focus most acutely on the robust data sets from the neighboring Valles Occidentales contexts in the Osmore and the urban center of Tiahuanaco in the highlands.

Farm-to-Table: local agricultural production in perspective

As emphasized above, there were few consumable plant species that could not be grown in the mid-elevation zones in the *yunga*-based Valles Occidentales. In fact, no species were identified in the L1 consumable macrobotanic assemblage that could not have been grown in the adjacent valley bottoms. As will be raised below (see 11.4), some botanic remains, like those believed to belong to tubers and a variety of chenopod species that were present, are traditionally associated more with the *suni*, *quechua*, and *puna* ecozones of the highlands. However, even these highland crops could possibly have been grown in the *yunga* valleys. The vast majority of the identified botanic-based diet of Cerro San Antonio inhabitants was in all likelihood produced directly by their sustainable communities locally in the middle Locumba drainage.

Local production and procurement of the plant-based dietary needs of local residential communities also appears to have been the status quo for the neighboring enclaves in the Osmore drainage. In fact, it has been convincingly argued that particularly the Chen Chen affiliated communities in the Osmore were likely producing a relatively large surplus of agricultural goods, particularly maize, for export to the highlands (Goldstein 1989, 2005). This is indicated by the presence of large storage facilities and high densities of agricultural implements, like hoes (Goldstein 1993a). While Cerro San Antonio does share similar features, like centralized storage facilities, they appear to be considerably smaller in the Locumba contexts and have been interpreted more as centralized storage for neighborhood or sector use. Likewise, while Tiwanaku-style stone hoes were relatively common at L1, the 0.001 hoe/m2 average surface density of these implements was only a fraction of the 0.0078-0.01 hoe/m2 average surface density that was identified at Chen Chen style settlements in the Osmore (Goldstein 2005:219).

This situation of agricultural self-dependency in the Valles Occidentales was juxtaposed with a far more dependent situation in the highlands, particularly at Tiahuanaco itself. While more details regarding trends in dietary preference and more articulated cuisine will be discussed later (see 11.4), here it is worth noting that 25% of the recovered consumable botanic remains from excavated contexts at Tiahuanaco derived from maize (Wright, et al. 2003:393). What is more, stable isotope analysis of human remains from Tiahuanaco and other southern Titicaca Basin sites suggests at least 50% and as much as 70% of highland diets came from maize, particularly during the Late Middle Horizon (Berryman 2010:278). There is of course

great variability in the amount of maize that different residential communities consumed (Berryman 2010; Wright, et al. 2003), a point that will be raised later, but the high proportion of maize is notable considering the difficulty of growing this cereal in the south-central highlands generally. Kernel-to-cupule ratios as well as comparative measurements of preserved cobs further support that maize was imported to the highland center, with the Chen Chen-affiliated sustainable communities in the Osmore as likely producers of this critical crop (Hastorf, et al. 2006; Wright, et al. 2003:393). Based on the environmental constraints of the "mixed" water composition of the Locumba drainage (see 3.1), extreme excess yields, like those seen in the entirely "sweet" water Osmore drainage would likely not have been possible. However, that is not to say that agricultural yields, from maize to peppers, to the variety of local fruits, were not valuable items in caravan and other exchange based sustainable community ventures based in Locumba.

Surf & Turf: contextualizing differences in protein procurement

The diversified options in consumable plants weren't the only perk of living in the southcentral coast subregion. Aquatic resources, both riverine and marine, made up portions of the Valles Occidentales diet during most of the Middle Horizon. In the Osmore enclaves, in excavations at Chen Chen-affiliated residential communities remains of marine protein sources (marine shell and fish bone) made up approximately 3.14% of all faunal remains (by weight) (Goldstein 2005:217), which is consistent with more recent stable isotope analysis which suggests only supplemental marine-based protein into Osmore diets (Somerville, et al. 2015). On the other hand, it should be noted that marine resources from generally later established Tumilaca-affiliated sites only totaled 0.92% of faunal assemblages (by weight) and marine resource don't appear to have been a part of Omo-affiliated sustainable communities at all (Goldstein 2005:233). An additional aquatic protein source present at settlements in all three affiliations were freshwater crayfish, which could have been procured locally in the middle valley (Goldstein 2005:216).

While the Tiwanaku sustainable communities of the middle Osmore drainage may have incorporated only modest amounts of marine resources into their diet, those based in Cerro San Antonio relied quite heavily on them. As noted in Chapter 8 (see 8.7), over 65% of excavated contexts at L1 yielded marine shell and/or fish bone, which represented 14.05% of all faunal remains (by weight). This dramatic difference in the reliance on marine resources between these two mid-*yunga* settlement complexes can be, at least partially, explained due to proximity to the *chala* and the coast. The Osmore inhabitants would need to travel anywhere between 65-95 kilometers, or 2-3 days travel, to reach the coast. Whereas from Cerro San Antonio to the coast is only about 40 kilometers or about two days travel. Also, importantly, due to an incised canyon at the *yunga-chala* ecozone boundary in the Osmore, transportation corridors led travelers out of the fertile and more hospitable valley and into the desert, where those coming from Cerro San Antonio could follow the Locumba valley all the way to the coastline.



Figure 246. Map showing caravan routes and distances between Omo, Cerro San Antonio, and the coastal access points.

With only 50-60 kilometers of travel distance (about two days travel²⁰⁴) between the middle Osmore and middle Locumba drainages, it may have been easier for the burgeoning sustainable communities at locations, like Omo, to get their marine resources through the sustainable communities operating from Cerro San Antonio who would have had a much easier time accessing these marine resources. This is supported by the presence of at least one residential community at L1, those occupying Domestic Structures L1L-2 and L1L-3 in Neighborhood IV of Sector L, that appear to have served as fishing specialists in the local sustainable community network.

²⁰⁴ I have spoken with multiple sources in both Locumba and Moquegua who have personally made the intervalley journey from the Osmore to the Locumba on foot. They all agree that the trip can be completed in just over a day, with most saying they made the journey at night, during clear, full-moon conditions to avoid the harsh desert heat.

Significantly, to date, no marine species have been identified at Tiahuanaco (Vallières 2012:296-297). That is not to say that those in the Titicaca Basin were stuck with only terrestrial fare, as lake fish as well as aquatic birds (ducks, ibis, flamingo) have been identified in faunal assemblages at Tiahuanaco and neighboring settlements (Vallières 2012:296; Webster and Janusek 2003). It is possible in the Middle Horizon, like later periods, residential communities located near the lake shore would have also been specialized sustainable communities, targeting the lacustrine resources of Lake Titicaca (Janusek 2008:176-182). However, the fact that no marine resources, shellfish or boney fish, were being sent from the coast is significant as it indicates that these items did not play a role in sustainable community exchange between the south-central highlands and the south-central coast.

While the sustainable communities of the Valles Occidentales may have ensured more varied protein procurement via marine exploitation, those in the highlands appear to have enjoyed a more varied set of protein inputs deriving from non-camelid mammals. Domesticated guinea pigs made up between 14-15% of recovered animal bone at Tiahuanaco (by weight), with an additional 1-3.5% coming from the wild rodent, vizcacha, and at least 3-3.5 coming from wild deer (Webster and Janusek 2003:345-346). This is far more than in the Locumba assemblage in which less than 1% of animal bone came from non-camelid mammals, like guinea pig, wild rodent, and bird. This is roughly the same pattern for the Omo and Chen Chen-affiliated Osmore faunal assemblages, though there was a marked increase in guinea pig bone to over 3% at the Tumilaca-affiliated settlements in the middle valley contexts (Goldstein 1989:350).

While the above-mentioned differences are notable, overall protein procurement seems more similar among Tiwanaku-affiliated sustainable communities than different. Camelid bone, almost entirely deriving from domesticated llamas (and possibly alpacas), is the most ubiquitous faunal remain recovered at every documented Tiwanaku-affiliated site, making it safe to say that camelid meat served as the primary source of animal protein for all Tiwanaku-affiliated

communities. Excavations at various residential contexts at the center of Tiahuanaco reveal anywhere from 74-76% of all recovered animal bone came from camelids, with over 99% of animal bone recovered at L1 coming from these domesticated quadrupeds as well. While llamas and alpacas were first domesticated and most intensively utilized in the highland ecozones, as noted above, the south-central coastal river valleys also were quite suitable for pasturing camelids, meaning they may have been raised and pastured locally. That said, there is no doubt that these narrow valley systems could not have held nearly the numbers that the expansive *suni* and *puna* grasslands that defined the southern Titicaca Basin.

Highland Stews & Lowland Brews: culinary practices in the Middle Horizon

As has been discussed (see 10.4), the way in which sustainable community food choice and preparation preference is undergirded by symbolic community affiliations is generally referred to as cuisine. Yet the foodstuffs procured in the Valles Occidentales versus highland Tiahuanaco were often quite different. I will pursue these divergences in cuisine more below (see 11.4), but here I want to highlight similarities in culinary equipment between these contexts. Like cuisine, culinary equipment and associated practices are greatly affected by implicit symbolic community knowledge and explicit symbolic community affiliation (e.g., Bray 2003; Hastorf 2016; Weismantel 1989), but here I want to target the similarities in the suite of implements used in cooking and serving food and beverages as well as the overall surrounding built environment for these quotidian sustainable community tasks.

Most Tiwanaku-affiliated residential communities that have been sufficiently investigated via excavation reveal relatively well-defined kitchen spaces at the level of the house (see Goldstein 2005:196; Janusek 2003a, 2004b; Sitek 2010:24-25). Most frequently these spaces are found in designated rooms (i.e., walled spaces), though sometimes they simply represent a designated area within a broader central room. The defining feature of these spaces is a hearth used for cooking. Hearths could range greatly, with some being carefully dug and lined with

adobe bricks or small cobbles and others being relatively crudely dug shallow pits. While these features would range greatly within major settlements, generally speaking those found at Tiahuanaco tended to be better established, with adobe or plaster lined hearths being relatively common (Janusek 1994, 2004b, 2005c:150). Conversely, in the Valles Occidentales contexts, hearths tended to be more informal, though a number of Chen Chen affiliated contexts utilized cobbles or even broken pieces of ceramic to reinforce hearth walls (Goldstein 2005:212-214). High densities of fuel remnants, most often smaller wood fragments and animal dung, as well as the remains of charred foodstuff, from botanics to animal bone, signified these spaces centered on food preparation.

While the presence of kitchen spaces is of course ubiquitous in cross-cultural contexts and therefore not necessarily indicative of shared affiliation between the highland Tiahuanaco city and the lowland settlements in question, their shared use of culinary equipment is. In kitchen spaces, sherds of plainware ceramic ollas are the most ubiquitous material type in Tiwanaku-affiliated domestic spaces (Goldstein 1985, 1993a; Janusek 2005a). While they could vary in certain stylistic elements (a point that will be raised below) the forms of these vessels were remarkably similar across the Tiwanaku sphere. In both the highlands and the *yunga* settlements, ollas generally came in two basic forms: a stout, wide-mouth form and a taller, pear-shaped variant, though these could be found in varying sizes (Janusek 2003b). Likewise, overall technological approaches, from paste to surface treatment, are extremely similar in the Osmore, Locumba, and the southern Titicaca Basin contexts, to the point where more detailed compositional analysis would be necessary to determine whether these vessels came from the same or different points of origin.

The primary use of this vessel type was cooking, though as will be noted below, for the Locumba context they seem to have also served as the primary storage vessel as well. That said, like most other kitchen-associated olla remains, the vast majority of sherds recovered at L1 show at least some signs of exterior burning. Globular, wide-mouthed ollas, such as those

that define the Tiwanaku assemblage are generally viewed as facilitating stewing of meats, grain-based porridges, and other relatively liquid-based food dishes²⁰⁵ (Bray 2003:9). Most ollas from Tiahuanaco had rim diameters of at least 10cm and more generally closer to 20cm in diameter (Janusek 2003b:57-58). This has been interpreted as facilitating the stewing of bone-on chunks of meat with supplemental starches like tubers (Janusek 2003b:58; Vallières 2012:308). Again, with an average rim diameter of 17cm, the olla assemblage recovered from Cerro San Antonio (see 8.1 for full breakdown), was very similar to the pattern at Tiahuanaco.

Reiterating this similarity in cooking-based culinary equipment is the general similarity in the suite of ceramic serving wares and associated paraphernalia used in eating and drinking. The kero and tazón dominate the serving wares of all documented Tiwanaku-affiliated sites, suggesting they were likely the exclusive implements for everyday consumption. As a stout, flared rim bowl, the tazón would have been ideal for eating and sipping stews and other liquidbased dishes (Janusek 2003b:63-65; Vallières 2012:309-312). While less ubiquitous, wooden spoons appear to have been the only utensils used in eating. This again attests to the prevalence of liquid-based dishes, like soups and stews, and fits well with the functionality of the above-noted olla cooking wares. Finally, as has been extensively documented in the ethnographic record (e.g., Cummins 1988), the taller flared rim goblets, or keros, were designed for consuming beverages (Janusek 2003b:60-63). Keros are most closely associated with the consumption of chicha (maize beer) (Goldstein 2003), but considering the botanic remains recovered at L1 (i.e. the prevalence of both molle berries and algarroba seeds - used primarily in beverages), could have been used to consume a variety of drinks made using lowland-based botanics. While some of the broader symbolic community implications of these trends will be reserved for a later discussion, here it is clear that Tiwanaku-affiliated sustainable communities situated in radically different environmental zones, using a different suite of ingredients, would

²⁰⁵ This is opposed to frying or dry roasting-based dishes which require shallow and open-based vessels. (Bray 2003:9).

still maintain a remarkably similar suite of culinary practices in their everyday subsistence.

Making & Moving in a Low-Gravity World-System: craft and trade during the Middle Horizon

In addition to producing goods for basic subsistence, sustainable communities were also responsible for the crafting of various goods, including acquiring raw materials for their manufacture and ultimate trading of some finished products. This section works to contextualize the crafting documented at Cerro San Antonio with that cited for other Tiwanaku affiliated sites. Here I also attempt to trace any verifiable imports to the middle Locumba Valley during the Middle Horizon and, conversely, where Cerro San Antonio's imprint might be visible elsewhere in the South-Central Andes.

Different Strokes for Different Folks: everyday crafting in the South-Central Andes

As discussed in Chapter 10 (see 10.2), sustainable communities at Cerro San Antonio appear to have done most crafting of implements for everyday activities internally. There is good evidence that sustainable communities completed most basic textile maintenance and lithic tool production household settings. There is also evidence for some more limited ceramic production and stone bead manufacture in the documented L1 contexts.

While more sourcing of materials is necessary to confirm, most raw materials needed for these crafts could have been procured locally as well. Some materials, like clay and temper materials for ceramics, water worn granite cobbles and basalts, used in most flaked agricultural implements and ground stone tools, could literally be gathered within the bounds of the site. Other materials, like wool and cotton for textiles, were available from herds of camelids and stands of cotton in the adjacent valley bottom. Similarly, even the blue stone (likely chrysocolla) used in beads could have been found locally²⁰⁶. In sum, utilizing mostly generalized strategies,

²⁰⁶ I have personally observed what appear to be naturally occuring nodules of blue and greenstone as part of the

supplemented with limited specialization where needed, sustainable communities at Cerro San Antonio, appear to have been able to generate most of the items needed for day-to-day activities.

Similar patterns of local crafting were also identified in the Osmore communities. As with the evidence from L1, Omo, Chen Chen, and particularly Tumilaca affiliated sustainable communities appear to have been geared largely towards self-sufficiency (Goldstein 2005:221-225, 232-234). Basic textile and lithic manufacture appear to have been completed in most household-level contexts in the middle Osmore (Goldstein 2005:221). Also, like Cerro San Antonio, some crafting tasks like bead manufacture and other stonework appear to have been relegated to specialized locations. Importantly, whereas specialized bead manufacture at L1 was completed within a single household (Domestic Structure L1L-1), in the Osmore settlements this craft was conducted in a specialized workshop. This lapidary workshop was adjacent to the associated residential settlement but showed little evidence for in situ residence (Goldstein 2005:221-222). This pattern suggests that both Locumba and Osmore-based sustainable communities employed specialists for this crafting activity, but the scaled-up size of the sustainable communities employed specialists for this crafting activity, but the scaled-up space to facilitate this activity, bringing it out of the household and to its own location.

Finally, in the highlands centers in the southern Titicaca Basin like Lukurmata and Tiahuanaco, there appear to have been both similarities as well as stark differences with the sustainable community crafting configurations of the Valles Occidentales. On one hand, most of the walled compounds at major highland settlements showed some evidence for basic crafting, from weaving to other quotidian tool manufacture and repair (Bermann 1996:114-115; Janusek 1999:113). These compounds likely ranged greatly in size, with most representing multi-house, neighborhood-level residential configurations, but some were also much smaller, representing a

natural geological surface litter

single house unit. As in the settlements in Locumba and Osmore, many basic crafting needs were completed in-house for immediate use in the south-central highlands.

However, some patterns in production refuse in compounds at Tiahuanaco, for instance lithic debitage, suggests that some household-based sustainable units may have specialized in the production of stone tools, and particularly chert projectile points. Refuse indicates production beyond the need of the compound, and possibly for use by higher-status residential communities residing in the settlements monumental core), in what could be considered a dispersed corvée arrangement (Giesso 2003:375-380; see also Costin 1991). It is also possible that these points produced at Tiahuanaco were exported to the south-central coast. Projectile point forms are remarkably similar, in not just form²⁰⁷, but preference for white or light grey cherts, throughout both the south-central highlands and south-central coast during the Middle Horizon (see 8.2 for L1 examples; see also Goldstein 1989:381-382; 2005:105,). In addition, while lithic debitage was common to find in L1 contexts, flakes or other debitage of the white/grey that most projectile points are knapped from, is almost absent. Despite this, while microscale residential community manifestations at the level of house and neighborhood would differ greatly between the highland and lowland contexts, many daily responsibilities of microscale sustainable communities remained the same.

However, in addition to the more generalized extra-household or neighborhood-level production, like the aforementioned projectile points, even more pronounced sustainable community specialization was also present in the highland centers (Janusek 1999). In a sense, this focused craft specialization combines the in-house specialization documented for crafts like bead manufacture at Cerro San Antonio and the small workshop attached to a sector-level settlement arrangement documented for lapidary work in the Osmore. Instead, at Tiahuanaco and neighboring Lukurmata, a number of entire residential communities appear to have taken

²⁰⁷ This is form 4E in Klink and Aldenderfer's projectile point chronology for the south-central highlands

up specialized crafting roles in Tiwanaku's central sustainable community network. One of the best documented examples of this sector-level sustainable community specialization was uncovered in Ch'iji Jawira, a aperipheral residential sector outsideof Tiahuanaco's monumental core (Janusek 1999; Kolata 1993:170-172; Rivera Casanovas 1994, 2003). Here, several contexts show evidence for the manufacture of a variety of ceramic wares, but particularly tazónes (Janusek 1999:113-115; Rivera Casanovas 2003).

Similarly, the district of Misitón at the neighboring major settlement of Lukurmata, shows long-term specialization in the manufacture of camelid bone panpipes (Janusek 1999:119-121). Both sectors in these examples hosted standard sustainable community activities, suggesting these remained, first-and-foremost residential areas (Bermann 1994, 1997). This residentially-based specialization in broader sustainable community craft production has been referred to as embedded specialization, falling between top-down elite- or state-sponsored specialists and bottom-up independent production (see Janusek 1999). Despite major differences in the built environment and overall setting, the local residentially-based crafting at Tiahuanaco seems to differ from those in the Valles Occidentales more in scale than in kind.

From Chala to Omagua: access to the global during the Middle Horizon

While many subsistence- and crafting-based sustainable community activities may have been locally based, both in lowland and highland settings, there is also clear evidence that sustainable communities were engaged in the movement of goods across the landscape at this time. In fact, while trade, manifesting most strikingly in the South-Central Andes as llama-based caravans (see 11.1), had played a significant role in the culture-history of the region for millennia (Bandy 2004; Browman 1974; Capriles and Tripcevich 2016), during the Middle Horizon this sustainable community-oriented institution would take on new prominence (Vallières 2016). One of the primary functions of the symbolic communities that would come to form the core of the centralized institutions at Tiahuanaco and the basis for the Tiwanaku state

was scheduling the caravans that served as the sustainable community links between the nodal residential community networks of the broader South-Central Andes (Browman 1978, 1984; Janusek 2013; Kolata 1993, 2003a).

While limited to certain sustainable community needs, nowhere is this increased regional interconnection clearer than at the center of Tiahuanaco itself. For instance, some non-local materials, like obsidian and copper alloys were likely brought in from all over the south-central highlands and from regions as distant as San Pedro de Atacama (Cifuentes, et al. 2018; Giesso 2003:364-369; Lechtman 2003:408-409; Salazar, et al. 2011; Schultze 2008; Tripcevich 2010), but most materials needed for crafting were available in the broader southern Titicaca Basin (Janusek 1999). Likewise, as noted just above, many craft goods were largely manufactured in specialized residential sectors at Tiahuanaco and neighboring sites like Lukurmata.

Indeed, even much of the subsistence base could have been provided in the local hinterland (Janusek and Kolata 2004), using raised fields and other highland agricultural strategies to cultivate a whole variety of tubers and chenopods, as well as hosting huge herds of domesticated camelids in the surrounding altiplano (see 2.3) (Stanish 2002). However, the fact that at least 35% and likely upwards of 75% of the caloric intake of many individuals living at the highland center came from maize (Berryman 2010:278), suggests major bulk subsistence good imports from lower-elevation sustainable communities. While more portable trade goods could be facilitated by small caravans, the transportation of large quantities of grain, even would require much more substantial investment in caravan-based exchange due to bulk transport logistics (Browman 1984). As has already been noted, analysis of consumed maize remains at Tiahuanaco and maize processing/storage facilities identified at Chen Chen-affiliated settlements in the Osmore(Goldstein 2005:216-221; Hastorf et al. 2006; Wright, et al. 2003), point to sustainable communities operating in Moquegua as one of the primary producers of this import. However, it is also likely that other sustainable communities in the Valles Occidentales, like those based at Cerro San Antonio, as well as the temperate eastern *yunga*

valley systems in the Cochabamba-Mizque area (Anderson 2009), would also have contributed to this lowland-to-highland bulk-good exchange.





Long-distance connections, and processes of sustainable community exchange more generally, would occur much differently from a Locumba-centric point-of-view. As noted above, unlike those situated in the highlands, the sustainable communities based in the Valles Occidentales needed very few bulk good imports. The primary crop, maize, could be grown year-round and a suite of other crops as well as wild arboreal fruits could be cultivated and exploited locally. While traditionally associated with highland ecozones (Bruno 2014), staples like quinoa (and related domesticated and wild chenopods) and a variety of tubers that were present in the L1 assemblage, could have been cultivated locally as well. However, multiple examples of parenchyma in the L1 macrobotanic assemblage appear to be fragments of *chuño*, or freeze-dried potato (Figure 247), that due to preparation would necessarily be imported from the higher elevation *puna* or *suni*.

However, the only basic subsistence goods that were confirmed to be non-local were the marine resources. Choromytilus mussel was the most common edible good obtained from the *chala*, but other clams and mussels, sea snails, urchin, as well as boney fish were also regular imports from the coastal ecozone. As discussed above, there is evidence to suggest that the sustainable communities housed in Neighborhood IV in Sector L were exploiting these marine resources directly, as opposed to more exchange-based acquisition strategies.

Similarly, many raw materials used in on-site crafting appear to have been acquired more-or-less locally, though a few materials suggest more distant connections for the middle Locumba settlement complex. For instance, copper alloys could have been mined from semi-local sources in the upper Locumba drainage in the *suni* and *quechua* ecozones. Similarly, most marine shells used in beads, such as whole olive shells and worked choro, were collected from the local *chala*. However, a single bead fragment, recovered in the Neighborhood I storage complex in Sector A (Block L1A-2019-3), was worked from spondylus shell (Figure 247). In addition to holding special symbolic community significance in a number of premodern Central Andean societies, particularly the Wari and later Inca (Blower 2000; Glowacki 2005; Paulsen

1974), this brightly colored spiny oyster could only be found in the coastal waters of the far northern coast subregion, some 1800 kilometers north of the Locumba drainage.

This is important, not only in that it suggests down-the-line sustainable community network connections that reach impressive distances, but also in the fact that, to date, no spondylus has been recovered at Tiahuanaco or other major Tiwanaku-affiliated settlements in the highlands (Janusek 2008:287). The one exception is small amounts recovered in Chen Chen-affiliated contexts in the Osmore (Goldstein 2005:298; Goldstein and Sitek 2018:457), again suggesting sustainable community links between the two Valles Occidentales networks that excluded their highland connections. What is more, as noted above, while most sustainable community networks affiliated with Tiwanaku appear not to have trafficked in spondylus, those centered on Wari did (Glowacki and Malpass 2003); possibly suggesting a tertiary connection with Tiwanaku's peer-polity in the Middle Horizon. A final distant connection, that is at least signaled at Cerro San Antonio, is an unambiguous depiction of a monkey (Figure 247) in one of the petroglyph panels on a boulder just below Sector A. While no non-human primate remans have been identified in the L1 assemblage, this image suggests a resident of L1 had a clear visual knowledge of fauna from the tropical forests of the *rupa rupa* or even *omagua* on the other side of the cordillera.

A final important note is that, while still to be confirmed though compositional sourcing analyses, the only non-locally produced, completed craft goods recovered at Cerro San Antonio are likely to have originated from specialized sustainable communities centered in the southern Titicaca Basin. One of the most likely candidates for imports from the Tiwanaku core are at least some redware serving ceramics. Following a well-documented trend for Tiwanaku-affiliated settlements in the Osmore, the vast majority of vessels and sherds from L1, including those belonging to redware serving forms (Figure 247), appear identical to defining assemblages at Tiahuanaco and neighboring centers in the south-central highlands (Alconini 1995; Goldstein 2005:223-224; Janusek 2003b). Nonetheless, recent compositional analysis of sherds from

Tiwanaku-affiliated contexts in the Osmore suggest that up to 90% of redware vessels were composed of locally-sourced clays (Sharratt, et al. 2015:408), suggesting in situ communities of practice with near identical production strategies to those centered at Tiahuanaco and elsewhere in the highlands. However, considering that redware serving forms were truly ubiquitous in the Osmore as well as at L1 (Goldstein 1985), if even a small percentage of them were imported, the importation would represent a sizable sustainable community task.

The other likely craft imports were some complete textile garments or their raw material components, notably polychrome tunics and 4-cornered hats. As noted above, these polychrome textiles required a range of wools and dyes and specialist expertise, as well as significant sustainable community sponsorship to complete such labor-intensive crafts (Goldstein 2005:224; J. Jones 1990). As will be highlighted more below, in both tunics and hats and the more common redware serving wares, standardization, in not just forms but decorative motifs, suggests that the symbolic community knowledge underlying these sustainable community crafts were quite well defined and likely centered in more focused workshops; a possible example of the embedded crafting pattern at Tiahuanaco described above (Janusek 1999). Finally, it is also no coincidence that redware serving wares and 4-cornered hats bear complex iconography and represent the most explicitly symbolically charged items recovered at L1, again a point that will be raised below.

I discuss political economy further below, however, it is worth noting here that despite the relatively decentralized nature of exchange in the Tiwanaku-affiliated sustainable community network, there are signs of the dendritic configurations resembling the economic format of world-systems (Hall, et al. 2011; Peregrine 2000; Santley and Alexander 1992; Wallerstein 1993). In the case of Tiwanaku, there is clear evidence of bulk goods coming into the Tiahuanaco center, in the form of large quantities of maize. Conversely, while much of the crafting needed for everyday life was done in situ, particularly in ecologically well-endowed contexts like the Valles Occidentales, symbolically charged craft goods, especially textiles and

some redware ceramic wares were essential components of consumption and more broadly served as definitional elements in being Tiwanaku.

11.4 Oriented Hearts & Minds: diagnosing Tiwanaku's globally-oriented symbolic communities as ethnicity

Here in the final subsection of the macroscale analysis I hope to contextualize the traces of symbolic community described at Cerro San Antonio with those detailed elsewhere in the Tiwanaku sphere. As formulated here, symbolic communities are the most pervasive modes of community (see 1.2). These communities develop to grapple with retaining and transforming hierarchies of value through a suite of behavioral mechanisms that center on maintaining information over space and through time. From creative play and rigid ritual to a propensity for drama and storytelling, symbolic communities are arenas of meaning-making and the venues of teaching and learning. Needless to say, knowledge retained in these community formations delimit what is truly normal, what is definitively extraordinary, and everything in-between. This framing of lived experience in turn informs both implicit habit and explicit performance.

As with the mesoscale analysis of symbolic community manifestations at L1 (see 10.3), here at the macroscale I attempt to parse out two categories of symbolic community affiliation. I situate these historically, particularly looking for how institutions centered at Tiahuanaco and the surrounding Titicaca Basin impacted those in the middle Locumba Valley over the course of the Middle Horizon. First, I attempt to highlight what evidence there might be for highland-centered symbolic community practice implicitly informing, constraining, or even determining daily practice at Cerro San Antonio. Next, I identify different ways in which Tiwanaku affiliation was explicitly pursued through performance and other outward signaling.

Internalizing Tiwanaku: ethnic habitus & provincial ethnogenesis at the end of the Middle Horizon

In this subsection I work to explain how the most ubiquitous sustainable community activities delineated at Cerro San Antonio reflect both deep-set highland-originating tastes as well as new emergent preferences in how these basic tasks were carried out. The suite of what I would term implicit symbolic community habits that form the basis of everyday tastes and preference are what is referred to in practice theory as habitus (Bourdieu 1977). Shared habitus among residential communities, across a certain space, is often viewed as the key sign of shared ethnicity (see Barth 1998; S. Jones 1997; Reycraft 2005; Stovel 2013). As with the mesoscale discussion of these basic themes, here I concentrate most intensively on how these symbolic-sustainable community intersections can be observed in cuisine and crafting in Locumba and elsewhere in the South-Central Andes during the Middle Horizon.

Some Like It Hot: understanding a new regional Tiwanaku cuisine

Some of the essential similarities and differences in dietary preference and associated culinary practices across Tiwanaku-affiliated contexts have already been described above. Here I want to synthesize these discussions and specifically highlight how highland culinary techniques, from cooking to serving methods, as well as a few basic highland food staples defined the cuisine of Tiwanaku-affiliated communities wherever they settled. For instance, without exception, cooking ollas, in the same exact forms that emerged in the southern Titicaca Basin at the onset of the Middle Horizon, particularly at Tiahuanaco (Alconini 1995:51; Janusek 2003b:57-58), characterize every Tiwanaku domestic assemblage in the Valles Occidentales (e.g., Boswell 2009; Goldstein 1985, 1995, 1996; Uribe 1999). Highland style stews were apparently still the essential culinary approach for these *yunga*-based communities.

Likewise, the way in which people ate and drank in the Valles Occidentales would essentially match what was delineated for communities in the highlands. Like the olla for

cooking, the tazón is essentially the only serving dish that was likely used in any frequency for eating (Janusek 2003b:63-65). The flared-rim forms of these vessels also corroborate the eating of liquid-based stews, likely eating larger starches (potato, maize on the cob) as well as small packages of protein with spoons or fingers (Vallières 2012:309-311). Again, drinking was also defined by a single overall vessel form, the kero (Janusek 2003b:60-63). Below I will delve into the explicit symbolic community potency these serving vessels likely carried, but in spite of their role in more conspicuous forms of consumption, it is important to emphasize that they also defined the truly quotidian consumption of everyday life. Finally, the fact that this basic culinary equipment remained relatively unchanged in form both in highland and valley represents a stable macroscale symbolic community, or an element of shared ethnicity.

Like the vessels used to cook and serve, ingredients of the cuisine itself would also be consistent across these distinct South-Central Andean contexts. Probably the most significant area of overlap was the clear centrality of camelid meat as the primary protein source (Vallières 2016; Webster and Janusek 2003). Domesticated camelids, particularly llamas, became an increasingly important resource to south-central highland sustainable community practices during the Late Formative, and a truly central dietary resource during the onset of the Middle Horizon, with at least one district at Tiahuanaco likely geared specifically towards tending herds for local consumption at the major center (Vallières 2016). Again, this major dietary focus of camelid meat appears to have been carried down to the Valles Occidentales contexts. As noted above, a number of lines of evidence suggest that the Omo-affiliated groups in the Osmore were focused pastoralists (Goldstein 2005:311-314), and, as with L1, the faunal assemblage of every major context of all affiliations was dominated by camelid remains. Notably, most domestic units would also include at least some amount of guinea pig (*cuy*), though as noted below, these domesticated mammals would vary greatly in overall frequency between contexts at L1.

Another significant overlap in overall cuisine between highland and lowland contexts was

a focus on maize (Hastorf, et al. 2006). The significance of the heavy reliance of this largely lowland crop in the context of the urban population at Tiahuanaco has already been noted above, but it is important to reiterate that this was the most dominant crop in all Tiwanakuaffiliated contexts, both in highland and lowland areas. Significantly, the consumption of this cereal was both in the form of a standard food as well as in fermented beverages. Again, more will be said later about the role of maize, particularly in liquid fermented form and the role it played in Tiwanaku ritual. Other staples of the pan-Tiwanaku cuisine included a variety of tubers, legumes, and chenopods, all of which appear in every appropriately sampled Tiwanakuaffiliated context (Wright, et al. 2003).

However, as noted above, the ecological constraints of each region do appear to have greatly influenced what was consumed. This effectively formed regional variants of this broader ethnically Tiwanaku cuisine. For instance, diets at Tiahuanaco appear to have relied on significant amount of tubers and chenopods as well as a variety of resources, from fish to algae, from nearby Lake Titicaca (Vallières 2012; Wright, et al. 2003). As for the Valles Occidentales, the closely related dietary assemblages from Cerro San Antonio with those affiliated with the Chen Chen style occupation in the Osmore suggest a new regional variant of the traditional Tiwanaku cuisine had solidified sometime during the Late Middle Horizon. This diet relied particularly on maize, more than their highland counterparts, as well as incorporating the whole suite of domesticates available in the yungas, particularly squash/gourd, chili peppers and peanut (Goldstein 2005:216). Late Middle Horizon Valles Occidentales cuisine, and particularly that of the Locumba settlement, would also supplement with a variety of protein from marine resources as well as fresh-water crayfish from the nearby rivers (Goldstein 2005:232; Stanish 1991:115). Even the beverages would be updated in this new cuisine. Algarroba, known for being used as a drink sweetener and molle berries, known for adding spice to beverages, were both found almost ubiquitously at L1 as well as Chen Chen affiliated contexts in the Osmore (Goldstein 2005:216), suggesting these botanic items may have been used for spicing up the

local fare.

Finally, even within subregions, cuisine was far from uniform. Tiwanaku cuisine would be quite flexible and no two residential contexts have revealed identical dietary composition. This is particularly true when zooming in to the microscale. From compounds at Tiahuanaco to individual houses at Cerro San Antonio, households and even individual families appear to have each had their preferences in cuisine. Ultimately, there were three basic tiers to Tiwanaku cuisine: 1) at the broadest level there was a Tiwanaku ethnic cuisine, largely based on highland cooking methods and food staples, 2) In different communities, supplements would be added to the standard Tiwanaku cuisine, forming regional variants, and, at the smallest scale 3) households and even individual families would select from the regional cuisine and develop their own family preferences.

When Things Fall Apart: crafting communities of practice in the Terminal Middle Horizon

Crafts can be some of the clearest ways in which symbolic community expression takes place. Indeed maintaining, implementing, and ultimately disseminating the know-how in manipulating material goods was likely one of the principal catalysts for the evolution of symbolic communities in the deep past. Both raw materials and finalized craft goods may be loaded symbolic community value and their procurement and exchange drive a significant amount of sustainable community activity (Schneider 1977). The symbolic community importance of crafts is amplified through stylistic choices and specifically through the incorporation of iconographic elements, which can signal the affiliations of the craft producers or consumers (Conkey and Hastorf 1993; Hegmon 1992). While often less visible in finalized products, the technological strategies employed in production can also tell a lot about craft producers and the more implicit symbolic community undercurrents in this sustainable community activity. Relating symbolic community knowledge and sustainable community practice to not just making, but learning and teaching, has have become known as the

archaeology of communities of practice (Dorland and Ionico 2020; Lave and Wenger 1998; Roddick and Stahl 2016).

As with all areas where the different modes of community reliably or consistently overlap, communities of practice effectively represent institutions in my community ecology formula here and can emerge in multitudes of ways. Of course, the making of food and drink as described above in the context of cuisine is a good example of this institutional emergence, rooted in making. However, unlike cuisine, in which regional variants appear to have formed relatively quickly in the Valles Occidentales, the products created by crafting communities of practice in many Tiwanaku-affiliated settlements abroad would show remarkable consistency with those in the highland centers of the southern Titicaca Basin. For instance, in terms of some of the most quotidian crafts, from basic textile repair to stone hoe production, the basic Tiwanaku ethnic crafting routine was situated in households (Goldstein 2005:221-225; Janusek 1999). As with cuisine, households appear to have had preferences for the way in which crafts were completed. No doubt raw material availability played a role, but overall, these household crafting communities of practice appear to have followed similar rhythms in carrying out these tasks.

In communities of practice, shared knowledge and practices, like those defining the everyday crafting of households described above, is accessed individually and informally through observation and some basic corrective instruction from more experienced individuals in the household (see Roddick and Stahl 2016 for numerous archaeological examples). As with cooking, this learning is likely a drawn-out practice, with younger generations obtaining skills from older generations throughout childhood. More complicated crafts required more explicit and punctuated instruction and much more carefully curated symbolic community knowledge (see Costin 1991 for a full range of these arrangments). This was particularly true when crafts, as suggested above, also incorporated more elaborate stylistic elements or explicit iconographic messaging. Logically, standardization in crafts over distance and through time, particularly in
more symbolically explicit media, suggests some form of strong coherence in the symbolic community network structure underwriting their production.

While a number of different crafts from Cerro San Antonio would fit this description, particularly textile manufacture, by far the most ubiquitous and symbolically rich preserved craft items were redware ceramic serving wares. Ceramic serving vessels were almost always decorated with at least some form of iconography (see 8.1) (Goldstein 1985; 1989:72-74). As with the Omo- and Chen Chen-affiliated contexts in the Osmore (Goldstein 2005:223-224), in Locumba Middle Horizon contexts, almost all serving wares match in form and style to those that define ceramic assemblages at Tiahuanaco and neighboring highland sites. To the naked eye, even in cross-section, ceramic pastes and firing techniques appear identical. However, as noted above, initial compositional studies of ceramics recovered in the Osmore suggest that likely around 90% of these vessels were produced using locally harvested clays (Sharratt, et al. 2009; Sharratt, et al. 2015). While this does still leave open likelihood, that Tiahuanaco (or at least Tiahuanaco's source for ceramics) exported some serving wares to other locations, it appears much of the production occurred locally. However, the consistency of Tiwanaku-style serving wares produced over such long distances, not to mention over the course of generations, suggest well-maintained communities of practice with a clear set of explicitly taught skills.

However, it should be noted here that this clear connection in communities of practice would not be static through the Middle Horizon. Again, compositional sourcing studies will help definitively delineate how redware ceramics moved around the landscape, but two previously delineated style-based trends regarding redware vessels during the Terminal Middle Horizon are worth repeating here (see 2.3 for full review).

One trend was initiated in the middle Osmore at the tail-end of the Late Middle Horizon with the emergence of Tumilaca style of Tiwanaku-derived pottery. A true case of ethnogenesis, Tumilaca-affiliated communities were initially established in the middle Osmore, after fissioning

of Chen Chen-affiliated groups. Initial Tumilaca-contemporary settlement is defined by a continuation of the community configurations that defined their Tiwanaku-affiliated counterparts in the valley, including the production of redware serving wares. Tumilaca redware, while still defined by carefully sorted, fine-grained pastes and significant burnishing, would nonetheless begin to diverge from the central Tiwanaku style (Goldstein 2005:232-235; Sharratt 2016, 2019). For example, the size of keros would lose their standardization, generally increasing in size.

Likewise, vessel decoration, while still drawing on central Tiwanaku motifs, would also lose its standardization, often with decoration appearing to have been done quite quickly and often restricted to geometric elements (Sharratt 2011, 2016). Whether through intentional choices or not, there was a clear disconnect in the communities of practice that now crafted these vessels for Tumilaca sustainable communities from those that produced for other Tiwanaku-affiliated groups (Sharratt 2020). This disconnect would become total during the Terminal Middle Horizon as Tiwanaku experienced institutional collapse in the highlands and the Chen Chen-affiliated settlements in the Osmore were largely abandoned. Tumilaca would spread to the upper Osmore, all the way to the *quechua* ecozone, and down into the lower Osmore in the *chala*, bringing with them these remnant Tiwanaku-influenced communities of practice (Owen 2005; Owen and Goldstein 2001).

The second trend occurred in the middle Azapa drainage, south of Locumba. Here, there was very little direct Tiwanaku-affiliated community interference until the end of the Late Middle Horizon (Goldstein 1995; Korpisaari, et al. 2014; Muñoz Ovalle 2019). However, since the late Early Middle Horizon, local symbolic communities in Azapa had begun to incorporate Tiwanaku inspired media into their sustainable community crafting activities, particularly in ceramic serving wares (Dauelsberg 1972; Uribe Rodríguez 1999). This emulative style, called Cabuza, would be defined by forms that roughly fit the Tiwanaku assemblage, including keros and tazónes, but were much less standardized and often roughly formed (Uribe Rodríguez 1999:197-201). Iconographic design elements would still be ubiquitous features to these vessels, but often

would be rudimentary geometric elements or simply squiggly lines. Again, it is clear from these ceramics that the communities of practice that generated the Cabuza ceramics were never directly informed by the broader symbolic community that underwrote Tiwanaku redware crafting and were merely emulating a valued style. Significantly though, throughout the Terminal Middle Horizon and even into the Late Intermediate Period, this emulative style would spread throughout the Valles Occidentales and represent one of the last true vestiges of communities of practice that had been inspired by Tiwanaku.

I review Tumilaca and Cabuza styles here as they are both found at Cerro San Antonio, albeit in very small numbers. Pending compositional sourcing, initial attribute analysis suggests the majority of redware at the site were produced under the strict Tiwanaku rubric that define Chen Chen style Tiwanaku assemblages in the Osmore. Even pastes of Locumba examples look indistinguishable from those described for Osmore contexts as well as those in the southern Titicaca Basin. This visual assessment holds true for all by five redware sherds recovered from excavations in Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U, and the majority for those recovered in the systematic surface collection. Relatively few sherds, most collected as special spot finds, clearly fit the parameters of these divergent Tiwanaku-affiliated styles. Most of these sherds are defined by iconographic elements that are considered Tumilaca, wand are from wellmade vessels that are lacking in standardization, including in the execution of decorative elements. There were also example sherds that appear to be more aligned with the emulative Cabuza redwares, both in form and decoration.

Without elemental sourcing, it is yet unknown if vessels of these Tiwanaku derivative redware styles were produced by sustainable communities at L1 or imported. As noted in Chapter 10 (see 10.2), there is even good evidence for local ceramic production at L1, in the form of raw clay processing, ceramic firing refuse, and polishers and other finishing tools, all clustered in the southern half of Sector L.



Figure 248. Examples of corporate versus possibly later derived variants – all collected from Cerro San Antonio.

Interestingly, also located in this same area of Sector L as the evidence of ceramic production, were sherds, representing some of the clearest examples of serving wares that fell outside the general Tiwanaku redware standards. First, all of these sherds came from vessels that appear to have fit the general banded-kero form, but much larger variants than what define the rest of the assemblage. All these sherds indicate much thicker vessel walls than a typical Tiwanaku kero and burnishing was always minimal or absent. Most visibly detracting from the normal style was that a wiped layer of white pigment, applied over the red slip pre-firing.

These features fit the general Cabuza redware description. However, more in-line with Tumilaca modes of redware, these vessels all appear to have utilized classic Tiwanaku iconographic elements, particularly a thick chunky version of a typical step-stair and most significantly an anti-cephalic head element, that was restricted, even in the standard Tiwanaku assemblage. Finally, break-edges of these sherds revealed an unusual grey paste, that at times appeared to have bubbled, likely due to poor temper mixing or over-firing. Thus a number of lines of evidence suggest that the potters that made these vessels on-site were not as well practiced in the Tiwanaku tradition and likely not connected to the same communities of practice that produced most of the other vessels of the L1 assemblage.

This case from Cerro San Antonio is significant for a number of reasons. The fact that the Cerro San Antonio assemblage shows evidence for standard Tiwanaku, Tumilaca, and Cabuza style pottery at a single site makes sense. As noted at the onset of this chapter (see 11.1), the limited dates from contexts at L1 suggest a continuous occupation from the Late Middle Horizon through the end of the Terminal Middle Horizon. The presence of these derivative redware vessels and evidence for their local production suggest that *in situ* shifts in communities of practice likely occurred at Cerro San Antonio as the broader symbolic community network and emergent institutions that defined Tiwanaku began detaching from the highland center. Importantly though, even as some of the basic symbolic community knowledge structures that defined Tiwanaku crafting communities of practice clearly faded, higher-order symbolic community representations engaging the Tiwanaku cermic canon were still pursued.

Externalizing Tiwanaku: performance & power in an early globalized world

In this final subsection I work to compare and contrast more explicit projections of symbolic community affiliation as found throughout the Tiwanaku sphere. This involves how symbolic community strategies directly played out in the distribution of sustainable community

resources, wealth accumulation, and power in defining the broader Tiwanaku political economy. Ultimately, I hope to show that it was the consumption-focused articulated worldview of religion, that formed the primary thrust of Tiwanaku's sway over symbolic community formations for half a millennium. However, despite Tiwanaku's globally-oriented macrosymbolic community formation, the logistical constraints of the South-Central Andes (see 11.1) would result in fundamentally localized manifestations of what we call Tiwanaku civilization.

Who's Running the Show?: evidence of rank and role in Tiwanaku society

As has been said several times, symbolic communities are the essential social formations that grapple with the negotiation of value. Said another way, symbolic communities are inherently the community configurations through which individual attention, respect, and general affective energy is channeled. The affective energy of symbolic communities is ultimately hierarchically arranged in suites of cognitive structures that can be translated into goal-oriented human action (and visa-versa). Individuals embodying these values who can most competently negotiate thesehierarchies are those who inherently occupy positions of power. Of course, these positions can come in any number of forms Some positions of power represent ephemeral responsibilities in punctuated moments, others can be enduring and disseminated to a successful individual's symbolic and residential communities and descendants. When these more enduring or generational positions come with wealth, whether in physical or symbolic media, elites can be said to exist.

A significant portion of Chapter 1 was devoted to delineating how both individual aggrandizing strategies of elites as well as unavoidable results of symbolic-sustainable community interaction led to increasingly centralized emergent institutions such as the state (see 1.3). Likewise, in Chapter 2, I explained how some of these processes appear to have occurred in the South-Central Andes with the emergence of Tiwanaku (see 2.3). While I will not repeat that discussion here, Janusek synthesized the most comprehensive list of what I would

term primary symbolic community pathways to institutional power during the Middle Horizon (see Janusek 2004c, 2008, 2013). Following Janusek (Janusek 2013:207), these include:

1) Generating novel ways to incorporate diverse regional markers of symbolic community affiliation into a synthetic and easy to translate suite of iconography, including new ways to imprint this on mobile and largely individualistic media, like ceramic serving vessels and woven clothing items (e.g., Augustine 2019; Conklin 2009; Isbell 2008; Isbell, et al. 2018; Janusek 2002).

 Advancing a new celestial-based calendar used to orchestrate seasonal ritual events, used to draw-in and coordinate macroscale sustainable community networks (e.g., Browman 1981, 1984; Janusek 2012; Kolata 2003a; Zuidema 2009).

3) Instituting a new order to the built environment; one that could be applied to quotidian residential community manifestations as well as sacred monumental precincts, but which fundamentally emphasized public versus private space and particularly the transition between the two (e.g., Goldstein 1993b; Janusek, et al. 2013; Kolata 2003b; Kolata and Ponce Sanginés 1992; Vranich 2010).

4) Expanding a preexisting consumption-based ritual mode of production, centered on provisioning and hosting punctuated feasting holidays as well as defining the basic consumption of everyday life (e.g., Bandy 2013; Goldstein 2003).

5) Maintaining a fundamentally globalized political style, that is influencing to the point of defining the global zeitgeist (via 1 - 4), without direct control of most local sustainable and symbolic community modes of production (e.g., Goldstein 2015; Seddon 2013).

These were not mutually exclusive pathways, nor were they ever likely all dominated by a single individual or even a single community constituency in the Tiwanaku case study (Goldstein 2015;

Janusek 2004c). That said, each of these points would, broadly speaking, form into institutions that were likely readily identifiable to most individuals living in the South-Central Andes during the Middle Horizon. I delve into at least some of the ways in which these hierarchies of value were actively negotiated during the Middle Horizon below, however first I want to discuss some of the concrete results of these negotiations. That is, I want to identify evidence for symbolic community roles that were particularly powerful within Tiwanaku and specifically how these roles may have manifested in emergence of elites in different contexts in different times, and markers of status in the Cerro San Antonio dataset.

While the five avenues to institutionalized leadership listed above may have had precedent in the Late Formative Period, it was not until sometime after ca. AD 500 at Tiahuanaco in the southern Titicaca Basin that they appear to have converged (Kolata 1993a). The formalization of a Tiwanaku institutional elite was a slow process, with most initial positions of prestige likely granted to individuals with access to important symbolic community knowledge, particularly dealing with the celestial-calendar (see below). However, after ca. AD 850, that is by the Late Middle Horizon, a more permanent elite presence within the city of Tiahuanaco is clear.

As discussed at length in Chapter 2 (see 2.3), the Late Middle Horizon is signaled at Tiahuanaco in a fundamental restructuring of residential community configurations as well as monumental spaces in the city center. For generations, the central precinct of the city had acted as a sacred, but fundamentally open, venue for performance and ritual, designed to harmonize, at least temporarily, regional networks of both symbolic and sustainable communities (e.g., Janusek 2008; Jennings and Earle 2016; Kolata 2003b; Vranich 2009). While Tiahuanaco's monumental core would still host large gatherings, the major renovations to the city center would render the monuments, at least partially, subordinated to a new court of individual elites and their closest constituencies. The most extensive renovations to the city center, and clearest indication of true elites, would be in the establishment of a number of residential palaces (Couture and Sampeck 2003), architecturally articulated with the central monuments, such as

the Kalasasaya complex. While I will not repeat their description here (see 2.3), these palaces represent true institutionalized power, with elites literally establishing residential communities within the institutions themselves (Couture 2003, 2004; Janusek 2004c; 2008:144-148).

Additionally, while Tiwanaku lacks any explicit iconographic indication of individual leaders (i.e., a king list) or truly royal tombs yet known, Tiwanaku's individual elite were clearly manifested in stone with the commissioning of often massive human-like monoliths (Janusek 2008:138-140; 2019). These explicitly human-like monoliths were adorned with representations of textile tapestry tunics, belts, and hats and were almost always holding keros and snuff trays, all documented items of personal adornment in the Middle Horizon (Kolata 2003b:194-195; Makowski 2009). These stone figures appear to have played a variety of roles in the built environment in and surrounding Tiahuanaco (Janusek and Bowen 2018:229-231), but almost certainly represented individuals, living or ancestral, of Tiwanaku's elite communities (Stone-Miller 2004:130-131).

The most iconic example of this elite claiming of symbolic space and overall reconfiguration in Tiwanaku's broader institutions would be in the oldest architectural element of Tiahuanaco, the semi-subterranean temple. By the Late Middle Horizon this sunken court space would have been ancient and had long ago been adorned with the dozens of unique tenon heads and sculptures depicting specific individuals (living or ancestral) of the local symbolic communities that formed the core of Tiwanaku. However, the Late Middle Horizon addition of a massively tall monolith in the center of the sunken court, would redefine this space (Kolata 2003b:198). from a place of forced intimacy, where crowds faced inwards, to a space dominated by a single central set of eyes gazing outward and down (Janusek 2005b).

Significantly, there are no signs of these types of material indicators of elites anywhere else Tiwanaku's presence has been observed. For instance, a number of locations in the Titicaca Basin show evidence for new Tiwanaku built elements and even residential communities being established adjacent to preexisting settlements (Stanish et al 2005).

However, preexisting sociopolitical hierarchies do not seem to have been directly captured by Tiwanaku elites. Similarly, in the Osmore drainage at the most substantial Tiwanaku imprint outside the highlands, monumental architecture (more on that below), did not show clear signs of elite permanent palatial residential (e.g., Goldstein 1993a). This trend has held true for the Cerro San Antonio settlements, as thus far no example of clear elite residence has been detected in any Tiwanaku context at L1. That said, both in the Osmore and Locumba, signs of individual roles, prestige, and even wealth is more subtly indicated, particularly in the realm of mortuary contexts and feasting practices, the topics of the next two subsections.

The Grateful Dead: mortuary symbolic communities

As has been noted several times, this dissertation focused almost exclusively on contexts deemed to be primarily domestic in function. However, mortuary contexts are an essential dimension to understanding community life in any era, and the ten (10) Tiwanaku-affiliated cemeteries defined at Cerro San Antonio clearly played a critical role in defining life for individuals at L1 during the Middle Horizon. Here I will briefly contextualize some of the broader patterns and specific finds in the Cerro San Antonio cemeteries with those observed elsewhere during the Middle Horizon in the South-Central Andes. As noted at various times throughout Chapter 2 (see 2.3), in the later Formative Period, mortuary practices were variable, even within specific subregions. In the south-central highlands, practices varied greatly, ranging from charnel house style cremation to individual burials. Similarly, in the south-central coast valleys, Formative Period communities frequently employed group burial mounds or *tumulos* but would utilize individual subsurface burials as well (Goldstein 2000b; Muñoz 1989). As will be emphasized below, a general shift towards conformity in treatment of the dead during the Middle Horizon appears to have been a major element in the globally-oriented symbolic community norms that underwrote Tiwanaku.

What has been referred to as the normative Tiwanaku mortuary practice almost always

emphasized the individual. That is, the typical microscale mortuary context was an individual tomb, most frequently containing just a single body and generally a number of items that may have belonged to that individual in life or were given to them in death (Korpisaari 2006:144). The normative mortuary context was created as a three-phase process. Phase I involved the preparation of the deceased individual's body, including funerary dress (Baitzel 2016:285-291). Individuals were always dressed in at least one tunic and often wrapped with other cloth items as well as dressed in various other items of personal adornment. The body itself was almost always placed into a seated-flexed position for final interment.

Phase II revolved around tomb construction (Baitzel 2016:291-294). Tiwanaku tombs were almost exclusively circular, subsurface pits ot cists with relatively flat bottoms. Construction method and overall quality could vary greatly, with at least six varieties identified thus far (Baitzel 2016:296; Goldstein 2005:246). These could range from relatively unassuming and unsupported pits (*fosas*) to full stone-line cists (*cistas*) (Goldstein 2005:245-247). Likewise, while most tombs would be capped, these could range from large flat stones to re-used ground stone implements, or timbers, and many (both stone-lined and simple pits) would include a super-surface collar made from locally sources cobbles.

The final phase, Phase III, centered on the interment of the individual and the related offerings (Baitzel 2016:295-298). The individuals were seated most frequently facing east, though northeast and southeast were also common. Finally, as will be discussed more below, despite these burials being inherently individual, they were never found isolated. Generally, Tiwanaku tombs would cluster into spatially discrete cemeteries, often found closely associated with domestic sectors.

It is worth noting first that few of these normative Tiwanaku burials have been identified at the center of Tiahuanaco itself. In fact, most documented instances of human remains found within the city and surrounding residential districts, appear not to have followed the three phase normative pattern described above at all. For instance, one of the most common sources for

human remains at Tiahuanaco were associated with monumental architecture in the city center (Blom and Janusek 2004). In the most deviating trends, evidence for unhealed trauma, cut marks, and other pre- and post-mortem taphonomy indicators suggest that many of the individuals found, particularly associated with the Akapana Pyramid and Mollo Kontu Mound residential district, were sacrificed and interred in ritual performance (Alconini 1995; Blom, et al. 2003; Blom and Janusek 2004; Couture and Sampeck 2003:218-224).

In more mundane but similarly aberrant fashion, the most commonly recovered human remains at Tiahuanaco were found in what were otherwise fundamentally domestic contexts, particularly within walled compounds and inside house structures (see Blom 2005). Most of these burials were relatively informal ad hoc²⁰⁸ interments that did not follow the normative pattern. Finally, also within the monumental core, mostly associated with the later Putuni Palace, is the only designated mortuary component identified thus far at Tiahuanaco (Couture 2004). The Putuni tombs were far more elaborate than the normative mortuary style that define Tiwanaku burial contexts elsewhere (Couture and Sampeck 2003:238-243; Kolata 1993:162-165). Of course, this is likely as they were tombs constructed for the later elites that increasingly came to occupy the institutional core of Tiwanaku. However, these mortuary styles do not appear to be the standard, even within Tiahuanaco and are limited in number. It has been hypothesized that many designated mortuary contexts may lie under the modern town of Tiahuanaco and have not yet been uncovered.

Despite the lack of Tiwanaku normative internments at Tiahuanaco itself, the ubiquity of this mortuary style everywhere else that Tiwanaku's symbolic community imprint could be found, supports its classification as normative (Baitzel 2016; Korpisaari 2006). For instance, most Middle Horizon burials found throughout the southern and broader Titicaca Basin display the individual cist style (Korpisaari 2006), with these tombs always found in clusters forming

²⁰⁸ However, some would be lined with adobe bricks (Janusek 2003a).

clear cemeteries. These cemeteries were frequently adjacent to, but separate from, domestic and more public oriented contexts. However, multiple instances at different sites in the basin suggest that some symbolic community leaders would be buried in or near public architecture, particularly platforms and previously used mound features (Janusek and Kolata 2003:150-151).

Grave goods could vary widely, but most were modest utilitarian implements or serving ceramics and many tombs appear to have had no offerings. While affected by local symbolic community norms and customs, the mortuary patterns in areas such as the Cochabamba-Mizque valleys and even the distant San Pedro de Atacama highland oases would largely shift to the individual subsurface cist cemeteries during the Middle Horizon as well (Anderson 2013:100-104; Le Paige 1964; McAndrews 2007; Rivera Casanovas 2016; Torres-Rouff 2008). Of course, in places like San Pedro de Atacama these burials are some of the only contexts in which Tiwanaku material goods have been found (Berenguer 1998; Berenguer and Dauelsberg 1989). There is no doubt that, in a typical materialist sense, these Tiwanaku goods restricted to burials suggest symbolic community expression of sustainable community prowess (i.e., a classic display of wealth via access to exotic goods). However, from tapestry textiles to carved wooden snuff tablets, most items appear to have been utilized and clearly represent a genuine subscription of the deceased individual to the broader Tiwanaku symbolic community network.

All Tiwanaku-affiliated settlements in the Valles Occidentales conform to the Tiwanaku normative mortuary style. For example, all documented major domestic components in the Osmore drainage associated with Omo, Chen Chen, and Tumilaca settlements in the middle, upper and lower Osmore would be associated with discrete cemetery sectors (Baitzel 2016:291-295; Goldstein 2005:238-268; Owen 1993:279-281; Sharratt 2011). These cemeteries could range in size, but all were composed of individual pit and cist tombs. Here all six (6) varieties of cists have been identified as well as most other attribute variables, from collar to capstone techniques. Mortuary context also comfortably falling into the Tiwanaku normative style can be found in almost all Tiwanaku-occupied drainage systems of the Valles Occidentales, from the

Tambo system in the north to the Azapa drainage in the south (Focacci 1990; Szykulski and Wanot 2021). The middle Locumba Tiwanaku-affiliated cemeteries and particularly those exposed by looting in the Cerro San Antonio (L1) site complex would also fall comfortably within the Tiwanaku normative mortuary style. While excavation will be necessary to formally compare L1 mortuary contexts to those documented elsewhere, the L1 tombs appear to align most closely with those observed in the middle Osmore.

Finally, the items accompanying the individuals within tombs provide clues regarding how symbolic communities of the living viewed fellow community members who had passed on. First, clothing of the dead was ubiquitous. So, at a minimum all interred individuals were given a single, course-weave wool tunic; likely one of their primary clothing garments in life. More elaborate burials, would include multiple textile garments, often signaling multiple scales of symbolic community affiliation (Baitzel and Goldstein 2014). Importantly, after clothing, consumption-relation materials would be interred with the dead (Goldstein 2005:250-253). This included ceramic utilitarian and serving wares, with decorated redware vessels like keros and tazónes being the most common. In addition, burials would include carved wooden spoons and a variety of foodstuffs as well. As will be expanded on below, it is not surprising that the Tiwanaku mortuary practice emphasized consumption as that was one of the most preeminent thrusts of the broader Tiwanaku symbolic community.

A Comestible Cosmology: the apogee & legacy of Tiwanaku's religion of consumption

Consumption is a ubiquitous category of behavior, not just in humans, but in most life on earth²⁰⁹. Like most organisms, individual humans need to consume a certain number of calories each day in order to sustain themselves and as such a significant portion of their energy is

²⁰⁹ In fact, the *adaptive* dimension of complex adaptive systems is frequently motivated by what is properly categorized as consumption, as taking in new energy is the paramount way to stave of entropy (*a la* the 2^{nd} law of thermodynamics (Hartonen and Annila 2012)).

expended to procure those calories. Under the community ecology model, the central function of sustainable communities is producing (from procurement to cooking) various edible goods for consumption. A significant number of symbolic communities can be traced directly to practices fulfilling these basic sustainable community needs. As such, ultimately, consumption, the actual eating and drinking of foods, is the climax or pay-off in a series of activities that dominate most individual's lived experience. From the simple sugars found in fresh fruit to the mind-altering qualities evoked after fermenting certain grains, few things stimulate humans more than consumption at this most basic level. I raise this general issue here, as it helps explain why consumption is so frequently the primary avenue through which complex societies from around the world have evolved (Dietler 2001; Dietler and Hayden 2010). More specifically, it helps to appreciate the gravity of Tiwanaku coming to fundamentally transform *how* consumption could be conducted, from intimate everyday meals with family, to the feasting festivities that punctuated public life.

Hosting & Holidays. While I previously discussed the role consumption, particularly feasting, played in the formation and expansion of Tiwanaku (see 2.3), here I want to parse two ways in which Tiwanaku fundamentally changed the worldview of most people living throughout the South-Central Andes, and specifically in the middle Locumba drainage, through revolutionizing consumption. The first point is that punctuated points of consumption, from truly public feasts to intimate household drinking rituals, came to reformat the dynamics of social hierarchies, and as noted above, opened clear avenues to positions of institutional leadership. The second point is that his transformation was centered on an ontological refocusing on the individual person and their agentive potential and responsibilities in broader society. While these changes to consumption likely had their initial impetus in the preceding Late Formative, it would be during the Middle Horizon, under Tiwanaku, that these changes would come to transform the entire South-Central Andes.

As with many case studies explored throughout the ancient world (e.g., Hayden 2001;

Liu 2021), punctuated events based around conspicuous consumption, generally categorized as feasting, played a central role in the formation of the nascent Tiwanaku political economy. Provisioning and hosting feasting events was likely one of the roles pursued by aggrandizing individuals and their constituent communities at Tiahuanaco itself. Again, as detailed in Chapter 2 (see 2.3), while feasting was not new in the Titicaca Basin it appears that by strategically investing in the new agricultural technology of raised fields (Kolata and Ortloff 1989), sustainable communities operating from Tiahuanaco were able to offset harvests and other labor investments and be provisioned for feasting when other local communities were not (see Bandy 2005, 2013).

This novel off-set agricultural-feasting cycle would have required particularly careful annual planning, providing symbolic community leadership positions for those individuals who could competently maintain and disseminate an increasingly complicated calendar (Benitez 2009; Janusek 2012). As will be elaborated below, changes to the built environment likely facilitated a suite of rituals which would punctuate this annual calendar (Kolata 2004). Within a few generations of the onset of the Early Middle Horizon, it appears that symbolic communities at Tiahuanaco went from hosting a few dozen individuals, likely from just a handful of family-based residential communities, to hosting thousands in extended festivities, responsible for regulating sustainable and symbolic community networks across the entire southern Titicaca Basin and likely beyond (Browman 1981; Kolata and Ponce Sanginés 1992; Stanish 2002). These institutionalized or globally-oriented festivities, recognized in specific times of the year, are best seen as the emergence of recognized regional holidays.

However, it was not simply the conspicuous nature of the consumption at Tiahuanaco that drew in communities from around the south-central highlands, but what was being consumed. While chicha drinking was first developed as early as the Middle Formative (Logan, et al. 2012), it was at Tiahuanaco at the onset of the Middle Horizon that an entire institution emerged around the production and consumption of alcoholic beverages (Bandy 2013;

Goldstein 2003). The ascendance of maize-based chicha as a central consumable at Tiahuanaco and other highland settlements necessitated the intensifying of sustainable community connections to more temperate regions where maize could be grown in significant amounts. In fact, I would argue that it is likely that, while surplus from the altiplano raised fields would feed permanent as well as supplemental residential communities during important holidays, much of the off-set surplus was likely used to provision caravans to the Valles Occidentales and Cochabamba-Mizque regions to acquire maize, specifically for chicha production in the highlands (Browman 1984; Hastorf, et al. 2006). It is likely during this initial ramping up of caravan exchange that the Omo-affiliated settlements were initially established in the middle Osmore drainage in the Valles Occidentales (Goldstein 2013a). Managing the timing of these caravans likely also played a major role in the structuring of the seasonal holidays that came to dominate the highland center.

As noted above and (see 2.3), this chicha-focused feasting and supporting ritual mode of production resulted in a growth-spiral that would culminate with true social stratification (Bandy 2013), epitomized in the establishment of elite residential palaces in Tiahuanaco's city center as institutions n the Late Middle Horizon. Outside of Tiahuanaco, the chicha-based economy clearly provided an avenue to community leadership for aggrandizers elsewhere as well (Goldstein 2003). This is indicated by the inclusion of keros, and other serving implements tied explicitly to Tiwanaku chicha consumption in elite burials as far away as San Pedro de Atacama (Berenguer and Dauelsberg 1989).

It is worth noting here, that burial contexts also reveal evidence for the use of other mind-altering substances as well. Grave goods of carved wooden snuff tablets and worked bone tubes, make clear that inhaling of substances was also a ritual practice that came with Tiwanaku's new religion of consumption. While actual drug paraphernalia was more commonly preserved in places like San Pedro de Atacama and the Valles Occidentales (Niemeyer, et al. 2015), the depiction of snuff tablets and imagery of known psychedelics, like vilca and san

pedro cactus, in central monoliths at Tiahuanaco show that drug consumption was important in the highlands as well (Kolata 2003b:194-195).

While isotopic analysis of human remains suggests that elites at Tiahuanaco and neighboring highland centers likely did drink more chicha than did commoners (Berryman 2010), results from the Osmore suggest suggest that chicha was consumed quite broadly (Somerville, et al. 2015), and keros were found in residential settings of almost every scale. That is not to say that there were not punctuated points of consumption, as some households appear to have gained prominence, even if just in their own neighborhoods, for brewing. This is illustrated in neighborhood dynamics in the Osmore colonies where multiple neighborhood *chicherias*, or residence-based chicha brewpubs, have been identified (Goldstein 1993a). These house contexts would be equipped with modest but specialized chicha production spaces as well as sets of high-quality ceramic serving wares. Clearly these residential *chicherias* were important places of production and consumption but they lacked any other signs of wealth-based privilege within their communities (Goldstein 2005:204-210).



Figure 249. (left) concentration of flakey maize kernels recovered from soil sample collected at base of the central plaza adobe platform (Special Structure L1A-2) (Garvin 2020:149).., (right) Modern example of sprouted maize kernels in process of chicha production.

At Cerro San Antonio no specialized loci of chicha production have yet been identified. What's more, serving wares were ubiquitous, making up at least 3% of ceramics recovered everywhere (and often much more). However, this does not mean that specialized consumption took place evenly. For example, as noted above (see 10.3), systematic surface collection revealed density spikes in redware serving vessels in Neighborhood I and Neighborhood II in Sector A. These neighborhoods are both directly adjacent to the central plaza andmay have been sites of increased drinking during activities in the plaza. Additionally, in one of the soil samples associated with the central plaza adobe platform (Special Structure L1A-2), microbotanic analysis revealed a large deposit of maize kernels that look very similar to maize in the sprouting stage of chicha production (Figure 249) (Garvin 2020:149). The platform and plaza area also revealed the most serving ware diversity of all excavated contexts, including some of the only examples of the escudilla serving vessel type in the L1 assemblage. This elaborate flaring bowl is a vessel type that is rare in the Valles Occidentales and most often associated with Tiahuanaco's monumental precinct (Alconini 1995; Janusek 2002:43).



Figure 250. (top) Frequency of serving vessel sherds from selected excavated contexts at L1 (n = 374) and (bottom) frequencies of sherds grouped by major ceramic socio-functional category from the same selected excavation units/blocks (n=10,406).

Additionally, while showing no real evidence for on-site brewing of chicha, Domestic Structure L1L-2 and associated Domestic Structure L1L-3 show the strongest association with chicha consumption. In the rockpile-midden deposit directly associated with these structures, many serving wares were recovered. Overall, the ceramic sherd assemblage for these structures was almost 12% redware sherds, substantially higher than in other contexts. What's more, of the serving ware diagnostic sherds, over a third belonged specifically to keros, suggesting concerted drinking activities took place here. Again, little else in these structures showed evidence for wealth differentiation, other than an over=representation of these decorated serving wares.

So in the end, while feasting and chicha-based consumption certainly represented a mechanism for individual aggrandizement, inequality, and institutionalized positions of power, the allure of the Tiwanaku takeover of consumption was that it came equipped with: 1) a comprehensive set of tools, 2) fashionable style, and 3) an underlying ethic that allowed for it to be performed in contexts ranging from punctuated points of public performance, to everyday negotiation in the privacy of the home, and most social venues in-between. The first two points are readily identifiable in the archaeological record in material technology and stylistic trends. The third point regarding an emergent ethic of consumption can be inferred using the data at hand, as I discuss below.

Fashionable Finewares. The primary material manifestation of Tiwanaku consumption was the development, rapid proliferation, and longevity of the Tiwanaku ceramic vessels, the kero and tazón, and to a lesser degree, ceramic pitchers and wooden spoons. These items were truly ubiquitous in Tiwanaku domestic as well as mortuary contexts, and represent the exclusive items for eating and drinking in the vast majority of documented contexts of Tiwanaku affiliation across the South-Central Andes (Goldstein 2003; Janusek 2003b). Tiwanaku's characteristic tools of consumption illustrate two major innovations. One was creating a fashionable set of

culinary equipment for consumption practices. One key element here was standardization and overall quality, which would have been attractive for both practical and aesthetic reasons. Most keros and tazónes would be standardized in dimensions. Likewise, while overall quality could vary, the majority of Tiwanaku redware ceramics were carefully constructed, with evenly shaped, leveled rims, and well-burnished exteriors. This standardization in vessel construction and finishing techniques was strongly shared in Tiwanaku's crafting communities of practice, and only allowed to slip during the Terminal Middle Horizon (Sharratt 2016). Nonetheless, some aspects ofvessel forms that comprised the Tiwanaku serving vessel set, particularly the kero, would remain standards in the culinary equipment of communities throughout the Central Andes all the way into the historic Colonial Period.

The second key element to the new fashionable consumption style that emanated from Tiwanaku was in its synthetic artistic decorative style (Isbell, et al. 2018). I do not think it is coincidence that material classes that center on serving and consumption are those that most consistently carried the most symbolically explicit signals of Tiwanaku affiliation. This inserted the Tiwanaku symbolic community into every home and was referenced at every meal. Highlighting a few major diachronic trends in these decorative elements will help situate the Cerro San Antonio node in Tiwanaku's broader regional network - both in space and time.

In the broadest of strokes, Tiwanaku's iconographic corpus and overall style would shift from largely idiosyncratic takes on common themes to a true corporate style with more standardized iconic symbolic based motifs (Janusek 2003b:81-82). As with most of the trends described above, this Tiwanaku corporate tradition has clear roots in the preceding Formative Period, particularly in the Terminal Late Formative when the Qeya style emerged (Marsh, et al. 2019). The Qeya style was truly idiosyncratic, drawing on iconographic elements from a number of locally situated styles throughout the south-central highlands, such as Pukara²¹⁰ (Roddick

²¹⁰ Including translating many of the motifs that adorned low relief stonework at the recently collapsed Pukara to the mobile media of ceramics.

2018). The Tiwanaku iconographic suite would rely on a number of largely geometric motifs, like the step-stair and circle-dot which would become the principal elements in the later style. However, in the Early Middle Horizon (ca. AD 600-850) Tiwanaku motifs would often center on full figural representations of felines, camelids, avian figures, and even humans. There were standards upheld in how these figures were rendered but artistic liberties were often taken with exactly how these figures were drawn and certainly how they were combined into scenes (Janusek 2003b). However, recent systematic studies of ceramic serving ware decoration at Tiahuanaco shows evidence that more standardized design elements were already being favored in the public contexts of the monumental core, like the Akapana Pyramid, suggesting the early foundations of the later corporate style (Augustine 2019:103-106).

This emergent style, what has most consistently been called Tiwanaku IV (Ponce Sanjinés 1976), is rarely found outside the south-central highlands and was even restricted in distribution in many areas within the Titicaca Basin (Burkholder 2001; Isbell and Burkholder 2002). The exception in the Valles Occidentales, was in the middle Osmore, where, along with polished blackware serving vessels, the Omo-affiliated contexts would be largely defined by redware with this Early Middle Horizon style from Tiahuanaco (Goldstein 1985; 2009:285). The Omo style in particular was defined by relatively fine-line figural work, which often incorporated full-figure feline images, and incorporated a continuous volute geometric motif (Goldstein 1985:87-90) also observed at Tiahuanaco, but particularly at Lukurmata in the southern Titicaca Basin (Janusek 2002:52). Five such sherds have been identified at Cerro San Antonio, particularly in Sector A but the volute motif and others design elements that fall most comfortably in this initial early stylistic trend may appear in multiple mortuary contexts as well. This may suggest initial settlement of the middle Locumba by the end of the Early Middle Horizon. However, it is also important to note that while the major settlements in the highlands would transition away from some of these early trends during the Late Middle Horizon, the Omoaffiliated communities of practice may have maintained these serving ware decoration

preferences well into the Late Middle Horizon. Given the proximity to the Osmore enclaves, and the late dates for Cerro San Antonio Tiwanaku thus far, it is likely that a connection with Omoaffiliated communities is responsible for the limited examples from L1 as opposed to a truly early occupation.

The majority of identified motifs and design elements from samples at Cerro San Antonio, and the middle Locumba drainage more broadly, would fall within the Late and Terminal Middle Horizon Tiwanaku styles. As noted above, at Tiahuanaco and neighboring sites in the Titicaca Basin the Late Middle Horizon (ca. AD ca. 850-1000) or Tiwanaku V (Tiwanaku 2) is largely defined by a whittling down of the idiosyncrasies and much more emphasis places on geometric elements that could easily be repeated and combined in panel-based motifs. Figural elements were still included, but most major feline and human representations became more abstracted and generally presented as isolated profiles of the head. This later corporate style of Tiwanaku on keros and tazónes would ultimately be Tiwanaku's widest reaching media. The extensive Chen Chen affiliated settlements in the Osmore were clearly defined by these stylistic restrictions as were vessels following the Central Valley Cochabamaba Tiwanaku (CVCT) style that defined Tiwanaku serving wares in the Cochabamba-Mizgue subarea as well (Anderson 2013:92-95; Goldstein 2009:288). As noted above, while highland communities in and around Tiahuanaco likely did export these ready-made vessels of consumption, based on data from the Osmore, most keros appear to have been crafted locally by well-trained sustainable community members. The geometric motifs of this corporate style facilitated the often-long distance networks of communities of practice that must have underwritten this sharing and maintenance of artistic knowledge. As noted above in reference to ceramic production, as Tiwanaku networks disarticulated during the Terminal Middle Horizon (ca. AD 1000-1100), the communities of practice in the Valles Occidentales maintained the broader Tiwanaku corporate style, but with a more limited selection of Tiwanaku design elements. Significantly, the one figural element that was maintained and even became quite prominent in

this time were representations of flamingo and to a lesser degree ibis. In fact, figural representations of these birds are quite numerous, and some of the only full-figure figural elements found with any consistency in Chen Chen-affiliated ceramics as well (Goldstein 1985:124-126).

I believe the popularity of flamingos and ibises as the dominant zoomorphic emblem of the Terminal Middle Horizon was not by chance. These birds seasonally migrate across the western cordillera, spending winters in the temperate Valles Occidentales, but spending much of their time in the highland lakes that mark the *suni, quechua*, and *puna* of the south-central highlands (Caziani, et al. 2007). It is reasonable to interpret the flamingo-ibis motif as being directly associated with the journey between the southern Titicaca Basin and the Valles Occidentales as far back as the early Late Middle Horizon. As the network connections between the south-central highlands and south-central coast became more tenuous and likely severed during the Terminal Middle Horizon, depictions of these birds came to represent a connection that were no longer being made; one of the clearest symbolic representations of the post-Tiwanaku diaspora.

By sometime in the Late Middle Horizon, the Tumilaca style would emerge as a new variant of the Tiwanaku corporate style. In a stylistic development that reflects a clear case of ethnogenesis, Tumilaca style ceramic users would first fission off from Chen Chen-affiliated groups in in the middle Osmore, but during the Terminal Middle Horizon would spread to the upper and lower Osmore (Owen and Goldstein 2001; Sharratt 2019; Stanish 1991), the middle Locumba drainage, and likely as far south as the Lluta and Azapa²¹¹ drainages and as far north as the lower Tambo (Goldstein 1995; Owen 1993, 2005; Szykulski and Wanot 2021; Uribe Rodríguez and Agüero Piwonka 2004) . Tumilaca style ceramics would drop a number of the remaining figural elements still found in the Chen Chen Style, particularly eliminating the rare

²¹¹ Like Tumilaca, a number of examples classified as the Loreto Viejo style locally in Azapa also seem to have utilized Tiwanaku design elements in idiosyncratic ways (Dauelsberg 1972).

front-face god motif, which has been interpreted as one of the chief design elements associated with Tiwanaku authority (Goldstein 1989:51). More generally, idiosyncratic art style would return, as potters appear to take liberties with previously well-defined elements. One interesting trend would be to combine figural and geometric motifs (Sharratt 2020). For instance, at Cerro San Antonio (L1) one spot find of a large portion of a motif from a Tumilaca kero shows clear elements from the flamingo motif, which was normally found alone and in full figure form, added on to a more geometric-based panel, to create a unique flamingo profile motif.

Finally, first developing in the Azapa drainage and ultimately spreading north along along the coast in the Terminal Middle Horizon, the Cabuza style would represent anemulative, copying of the Tiwanaku corporate style (Muñoz Ovalle 2019; Uribe Rodríguez 1999). Cabuza design elements suggest that the communities that manufactured Cabuza redwares were not directly informed by those that informed potters in the middle Osmore and Locumba drainages. In general, Cabuza designs would be rudimentary versions of Tiwanaku geometric elements, often limited to simple vertical or horizontal wavy lines (Dauelsberg 1972; Uribe Rodríguez 1999:199-201). With Cabuza, there was an arbitrariness in this imagery, as these serving wares appear to have just been symbolically linked to a fashion that Tiwanaku had become. That said, vessel forms like keros, while now far outside the norms of Tiwanaku quality, would imply that these vessels were still attached to a similar suite of consumption-based behaviors both in public and private that defined Tiwanaku affiliation of some sort. Some vestiges of Tiwanaku corporate style could also be found in the later Pacajes style in the southern Titicaca Basin (Janusek 2004a) and Maytas-Chiribaya style in the Valles Occidentales (Jessup 1991), but Cabuza would represent the final push of the fashionable finewares of Tiwanaku.

Semiotically speaking the Tiwanaku consumption style, as it played out in terms of redware serving decoration, would go through major symbolic transformation over the course of the Middle Horizon. Beginning with the early iconic imagery, Tiwanaku consumption was sacralized with commissioned vessels, often adorned with truly idiosyncratic, personalized

elements. The later Tiwanaku corporate style would be more generic, acting as an indexical citation to a much more developed and pervasive Tiwanaku culture of consumption. Finally, the later Tumilaca and Cabuza redware designs were just arbitrary attributes of the vessel; symbols attempting to reference a longstanding fashion in the broader region. As alluded to earlier in this chapter (see 11.1), these changes did not occur evenly. Compared to other settlements in the Valles Occidentales, it is unusual that the communities occupying Cerro San Antonio during the Middle Horizon appear to have gone through these iconographic changes within a continuous occupation.

As has been noted, the majority of the archaeological remains at Cerro San Antonio, like many sites throughout the Valles Occidentales, are defined by horizontal stratigraphy. That is, those establishing new settlements tend to seek out fresh ground, not previously occupied, leaving abandoned settlements relatively undisturbed (see Chapter 7), with no evidence for significant reoccupation in any of the sampled structures. Most decorated serving wares recovered in excavated contexts fall comfortably in the corporate and later more limited Terminal Middle Horizon Tiwanaku styles. Thus, the <u>excavated contexts at</u> Cerro San Antonio align with the Chen Chen affiliated settlements in the middle Osmore.

Yet, as noted just above, more temporal-based variation was identified in ceramics from the surface, with several sheds of apparently earlier styles noted. Unfortunately (see 8.1), the diagnostic attribute analysis of ceramic sherds collected via systematic surface collection has not been completed, so a spatial association for these different earlier stylistic variants cannot be generated yet. However, collected spot finds from the surface, hint at some possible trends in terms of the rough seriation of the occupations. Of the 175-individual decorated redware sherds collected as spot finds²¹² 127 were complete enough to be tentatively designated to one of the four temporally-sensitive Tiwanaku variants described above. Just six (6) sherds

²¹² These 175 sherds were collected in 95 spot find contexts (see Appendix XX for listing).

contained decorative motifs that were likely representations of the early idiosyncratic style that is associated with Tiwanaku IV style in the highlands and Omo style in the Osmore. The vast majority (108) of spot find sherds were comfortably within the Tiwanaku (V) corporate style. While it is difficult to parse Terminal Middle Horizon variants, Tumilaca related designs defined just eleven (11) of the sherds, with Cabuza designs only found on two (2) collected spot finds.



Figure 251. Maps displaying "spot finds" of decorated redware sherds by temporal variants in Tiwanaku-affiliated sectors at L1 (whole vessels recovered from looters are for illustration only).

While we await confirmation from analysis of the systematic sample, when plotted, the pattern revealed by these spot finds is telling. The limited examples of sherds of the earlier idiosyncratic Tiwanaku style, related to Omo-affiliated serving ware decorations in the Osmore, were found associated with the Southern District and particularly Sector A. The standard Tiwanaku corporate style, that also defines the Chen Chen stylistic trends in the middle Osmore, would dominate the spot find assemblage, and was widely distributed throughout the site. Conversely, the limited examples of clear Tumilaca style variants or Cabuza emulation style motifs were almost exclusively found in Sector L in the Northern District. Additionally, sherds with the flamingo motif, that proliferated during the Terminal Middle Horizon, were found almost exclusively in Sector L. At least based on these stylistic trends in the spot finds, it would appear that residential communities were initially established in Sector A, expanded sitewide, and emphasis shifted to the northern Sector L as time went on. Again, analysis of the larger systematic collection and more absolute dating will be necessary to delineate the exact timing of these diachronic trends in style, and "horizontal stratigraphy" (Moseley 2013), however the presence of these styles does suggest some continuity in the residential community configurations at Cerro San Antonio.

This is actually a relatively unique case for the Tiwanaku case study. Again, as reviewed in Chapter 2 (see 2.3), during the Terminal Middle Horizon when Tiahuanaco and neighboring centers like Lukurmata were largely abandoned, and even communities in the Osmore enclaves largely picked-up and moved up or down valley, the middle Locumba populations appear to have stayed in place. As noted above, this residential continuity did not spare the Cerro San Antonio communities from the disintegrating sustainable and symbolic community networks of Tiwanaku. As noted above, crafting, particularly regarding these culinary tools of consumption, would fall apart as they did everywhere else in the Valles Occidentales during the final years of the transitional Terminal Middle Horizon.

An Individual Ethic. As I stated at the onset of this subsection, changes to consumption

appear to have been part of deeper axiomatic changes to the basic conceptualizing of the individual and their role in communities and emergent institutions during the Middle Horizon. Here I do not wish to get lost in the philosophical debate surrounding individuals, individualism, and individuality as it existed in the past (Hodder 2014; Knapp 2016; Knapp and Van Dommelen 2008; Wilkinson 2013). That said, the social, at whatever scale it is being analyzed, is ultimately the emergent result of individual human action. Yet, as I outlined in Chapter 1 (see 1.2), under the community ecology model, what is often glossed as individual identity is a dense suite of affiliations, both explicit and implicit, to different communities. Through shared community affiliations, all individuals are linked to other individuals in multi-modal community networks. However, despite being inexorably linked to a suite of historically situated and constantly evolving set of community networks, individuals have always developed salient identities (Schortman 1989:54-55), parts of which they consciously act on more than others. Definitionally, any given individual's salient identities overlap with those of fellow community members, but no two individuals are or were ever perceived of as exactly alike. Here I want to argue that Tiwanaku's novel and ultimately longstanding appeal was in emphasizing the agentive potential of individuals, particularly in terms of assigning moral responsibility within the venue of consumption, again, both in public as well as in private.

One of the primary lines of evidence supporting an increased importance of the individual, particularly regarding consumption, was the development of the Tiwanaku serving-ware set described above. As others have argued (Bandy 2013; Goldstein 2003), the transformation of serving wares, from the large communal vessels that defined Late Formative consumption implements to the kero and tazón, suggests a shift in how commensality was configured, from relatively equitable exchange events among the broader symbolic community, to events which were hierarchical or at the very least based on exchanges that were fundamentally unequal (Bandy 2013; Goldstein 2003). Of course, these vessels could be passed around, and based on ethnographic accounts (e.g., Abercrombie 1998:346-351), there

is good reason to believe keros in particular may have been shared, particularly during private or at least household level events. However, the fact that these serving-wares are one of the most frequent grave-goods in Tiwanaku burials, suggests that many individuals likely possessed their own set of these vessels. To that point, as noted above, the widespread shift to individual cist-based burials during the Middle Horizon also suggests that individuals would receive their own internment ritual, and even after death individuals were at least partially recognized.

The depiction of individuals in media also would increase greatly between the Formative and Tiwanaku. In the Early Tiwanaku style, idiosyncratic design elements on ceramic serving wares often included the figural depiction of individuals in a variety of actions (Janusek 2003b). However, this connection between the individual and consumption was literally materialized in the emergence of the portrait head kero as an important kero variant. These modelled vessels could come in a variety of forms and range in detail and overall quality, but most clearly represent distinct individuals (Goldstein 2018:249-250). Like the Tiwanaku monoliths and tenon heads that adorned the walls of the semi-subterranean temple in Tiahuanaco's symbolic core, many of these individual representations were almost certainly actual people.

Some of the clearest representations of actual Tiwanaku people come from a remarkable ceramic cache recovered on Pariti Island in Lake Waynamarka in the southern Titicaca Basin (Korpisaari and Pärssinen 2011). Clearly representing a sustainable community specialist hub, this cache included dozens of ceramic vessels illustrating the true extent of Tiwanaku artistry. Important for the discussion here, many of these vessels were extremely detailed and depicted humans both as portraits and full figures (Korpisaari 2014). However, portrait head keros of more common types are found in most investigated Tiwanaku contexts. This includes Cerro San Antonio, where at least nine²¹³ portrait head fragments were identified in both Sector A and Sector L. Whether the individuals modelled on these vessels were living or

²¹³ This includes spot finds (n=4), systematic surface collection (n=3), and axcavation (n=2) contexts.

ancestral, they clearly connect the individual to consumption and particularly the consumption of beverages like chicha.

While individual-oriented consumption was widespread in Tiwanaku, some individuals enjoyed accesss to more material and symbolic wealth that drove the consumption-based ritual mode of economy (Bandy 2013). These individuals were recognized i in the massive and finely carved Tiwanaku monoliths. While facial features of these monoliths may have been more abstracted than many of the renderings in ceramic portrait head vessels, they too appear to depict individual people. The elaborate low-relief depictions of these individuals almost always depicts the individual holding a kero and a snuff tablet (Janusek 2005b:177-179). In this way, these monoliths not only reiterate the general connection between individuals and consumption, but by enshrining them in the built environment of the monumental precinct, they emphasize just how central these consumption practices were to elite individuals occupying the institutional core of the Tiwanaku polity (Guengerich and Janusek 2021; Janusek 2013; Kolata 2003a). It is also no coincidence that these monolithic individuals were explicitly targeted during Tiahuanaco's ultimate dismantling, with some carefully toppled and interred and others outright destroyed (Janusek 2004a).

Every Step You Take; Every Move You Make: maintaining world order with the built environment

As discussed earlier (see 10.3), the built environment plays a significant role in all modes of community, and architecture in particular can represent some of the more resourceintensive manifestations of collaborative action of individuals, communities, and institutions. Architecture of any kind requires planning and a suite of knowledge sets that are maintained in a variety of symbolic community formations. As with most behaviors, choices in architectural forms and construction techniques are informed by all manner of implicit tastes and preferences, likely largely unacknowledged, as well as availability of raw materials and other

environmental constraints. Here I want to focus on what were likely more explicit and intentional aspects of the Tiwanaku built environment, to contextualize the patterns exposed at Cerro San Antonio. This discussion targets two main aspects of the built environment emphasized under the Tiwanaku transformations during the Middle Horizon. One is the distinction between public and private spaces and its sociopolitical implications. The second issue surrounds the directional orientation of structures and other elements of the built environment and what that might suggest about symbolic community connections in the Valles Occidentales and beyond.

Public vs Private. As I discussed above (see 2.3), one element of the Tiwanaku phenomenon that has been universally recognized is the entrality of the monumental architectural precinct that formed the core of the sprawling Tiahuanaco settlement (Cieza de Leon 1976[1553]; Kolata and Ponce Sanginés 2003; Posnansky 1945). However, monumentality was not new. From the complex platform-labyrinth complex at Chavín de Huántar to the massive adobe pyramids of the southern Moche, public architecture, even impressive monumental constructions, had already acted as symbolic community focal points in the Central Andes for millennia. Even within the south-central highlands, impressive mounds and sunken courts had been constructed by communities for generations before the onset of the Middle Horizon (e.g., A. B. Cohen 2010; Hastorf 2008; Janusek 2015). As with many of the other trends described above, it appears that what was new was the ability of Tiahuanaco's symbolic communities to synthesize these earlier uses of the built environment into a style in which deeply entrenched ideas were combined to form new venues for ritual action and performance (Janusek 2012; Vranich 2009, 2010).

While grand scale and sheer monumentality are clearly represented in structures like the massive Akapana Pyramid, the monumental core at Tiahuanaco also included exclusive and private spaces (Alconini 1995; Vranich 2001). For instance, Tiwanaku public architecture would increase use of large open plaza spaces, but also continue to utilize the inherently more private sunken court (Vranich 2009). One of the key emphases of the Tiwanaku style was accentuating

the transitions between these more open and private spaces (Goldstein 1993b). Some of the most iconic representations of this emphasis on built liminality is in the artistry applied to crafting intricate stone portals (Protzen and Nair 2002), which include some of the most detailed low-relief stonework in the ancient Andes (Nair and Protzen 2013). Transition between spaces would also be emphasized by the use of stepped-platforms; literally elevating important spaces above others (Goldstein 1993b; Vranich 2010) asexemplified in the stepped pyramid of the Akapana and the Kalasasaya and Pumapunku complexes. This general pattern of sequestration was underscored at the settlement level as the entire monumental core and some of the residential sectors were framed by a massive moat, and while this was likely also a functional feature, it almost certainly had a symbolic effect as well (Janusek and Bowen 2018; Kolata 2003b; Ortloff 2014; Ortloff and Kolata 1989).

Tiwanaku-style monumentality is seldom found elsewhere in the South-Central Andes. There are a number of examples of artificial mounds, often adorned with relatively modest sunken court features that appear to have been installed at various settlements throughout the Titicaca Basin during the Middle Horizon (Stanish. et al. 2005); though many of these may have been in use earlier as well (see A. B. Cohen 2010). These are often associated with Tiwanaku style serving wares and other features suggesting they may have been punctuated points of contact with the symbolic communities centered at Tiahuanaco.

However, outside of the south-central highlands there is only one unambiguous example of Tiwanaku monumental architecture. The Omo Temple is a three-tier platform structure adjacent to one of the larger Chen Chen affiliated settlements in the middle Osmore drainage (Goldstein 1993b; 2005:282-299). Not only is the Omo Temple the only Tiwanaku monumental architecture constructed outside the highlands, but unlike the major structures at Tiahuanaco, which underwent substantial renovations over their centuries of use, the Omo structure, was carefully planned and constructed and saw little remodeling, and offers a synchronic snapshot of Tiwanaku architecture.

All three tiers or courts were quite different, with the Lower Court being a simple large plaza space and the Upper Court including a sunken court feature as well as several small, roofed structures (Goldstein and Palacios 2015). Almost all formal elements in the Omo Temple appear to have emphasized a processional path from the large public lower court to the private and more architecturally complicated upper court (Goldstein 1993b; 2005:289-293). The intermediary Middle Court of the structure, in particular, seems to have been designed specifically to function as a liminal space including architectural features such as platforms accentuating the doors between the middle and lower court and an elaborate staircase between the middle and upper court (Goldstein and Sitek 2018:462-465). What is more, the Omo Temple appears to have been one of the few locations in which the Omo and Chen Chen affiliated Osmore communities would come together (Goldstein and Sitek 2018; Sitek 2013). It is likely that similar procession-based community rituals, ofgrander scale and complexity, were channeled through Tiahuanaco's monumental precinct as well.

Cerro San Antonio lacks any form of large-scale monumental architecture, and within the Middle Horizon-affiliated sectors described here, there is only a single architectural feature that could have hosted a large number of people in what could be considered public activities. This public feature at L1 is the central plaza in Sector A in the Southern District of the settlement. I describe this architectural feature in detail in Chapter 10 and won't repeat that description here, but it is important to note that a number of features of this plaza would relate to those observed in other, even monumental forms of Tiwanaku architecture.

First, despite being open and unrestricted by formal walls, the plaza had clear, well-worn access points, as it falls directly on the primary east-west pathway that cuts through the sector. However, for about 25 meters on either side of the plaza the path bifurcates, creating two paths. While this is a unique access pattern for Tiwanaku plazas, the dual nature of access has been observed in a number of Tiwanaku monumental structures, from the Akapana Pyramid at Tiahuanco (Isbell and Vranich 2004) to the Omo Temple in the middle Osmore (Goldstein and

Sitek 2018). A third access point to the plaza may have been the adobe platform (Special Structure L1A-2), excavated in Block L1A-2019-2. The remnants of this adobe platform are almost exactly the same in construction and overall form to the portal platforms that adorned the Middle Court entry ways in the Omo Temple (Sitek 2013:75-80). In the Omo Temple, these features are believed to have privileged the transition between spaces, literally exaggerating the act of crossing the threshold of an architectural entry point.

In addition to these specific features that the L1A central plaza shares with others in the Tiwanaku sphere, the central role of the plaza space fits the general mode of Tiwanaku built space as well. While sunken courts and elevated platforms may have been more iconic elements of the Tiwanaku built environment, plazas were the most ubiquitous and central elements for public-oriented community action. Plazas or un-roofed courtyards represented critical junctures in the built environment that facilitated gatherings and thrust individuals into public life at the center of most neighborhood-level residential communities. The open courtyards of compoundsat Tiahuanaco and the plazas surrounded by house clusters in the Osmore settlements were places where community responsibilities could not be avoided, and punctuated symbolic community behaviors could take place (Goldstein and Sitek 2018:457-459). Larger plazas, particularly those at Tiahuanaco, appear to have been the locations of major feasting events as well. Even in monumental architecture, plazas and un-roofed courtyards acted as poles of convergence, inflection points in the built environment where decisions had to be made (Goldstein and Sitek 2018:467-470).

In most ways the Sector A central plaza at L1 fits most closely with the residential plaza spaces, particularly those identified in the Osmore settlements. However, the dual lateral access pattern, plus the additional adobe platform as a possible third entry point, suggests more formal use, again particularly relating to the construction techniques identified at the Omo Temple (Goldstein and Palacios 2015; Sitek 2013). Likewise, some of the material finds found in investigating the adobe platform and plaza space also highlight its special use. As described
several times, these finds would include some of the most dense and diverse arrays of redware serving ceramics. The decorated redwares appear to have favored the figural elements of the corporate style more than other excavated contexts (see Figure 236). The most significant find in this respect however was the large portion of a 4-cornered hat. This is a rare example of these hats being found in a non-mortuary and non-midden context. The fact that it was recovered directly between the platform and plaza edge does suggest that its wearer played a role in the plaza proceedings.

Orientation. While the architectural features and general use of space show some categorical similarities between the central plaza at Cerro San Antonio and other Tiwanaku plazas and courtyards, the orientation of a number of formal architectural elements at L1 show even more direct connections to important settlements like Omo in the Osmore and even Tiahuanaco itself. The directional orientation of structures cannot always be taken to imply explicit symbolic community significance, as practical concerns must be considered and environmental constraints often impact how a structure is situated on the landscape. That said, the orientation of public forms of architecture, particularly meticulously planned monumental structures, has often been interpreted to hold particular significance, and sightlines to important features on the landscape and celestial alignments are some of the most frequent motivations for specifically selected alignments in the ancient world.

This is certainly the case with Tiwanaku monumental architecture, particularly at Tiahuanaco itself. The long and varied construction sequence in Tiahuanaco's ceremonial core indicate complex palimpsest of alignments that I don't have space to comprehensively review here (see Vranich 2006, 2009), but it is worth noting that there are alignments to the solar cycle, constellational alignments, as well as clear sightlines to important mountain peaks, like Illimani, to the northeast (Janusek 2004c; Kolata 2003b; Kolata and Ponce Sanginés 1992; Vranich 2010). Most of the earliest public constructions at Tiahuanaco orient tocardinal directions with North-South (N-S) access pattern. For instance, the semi-subterranean temple, the earliest

public architecture at the settlement, was cardinally-oriented, and accessed from the south (Callisaya Medina 2010). However, early in the Early Middle Horizon with the initiation of the substantial Pumapunku complex and the massive Akapana Pyramid, the guiding orientation of the site would take a turn, or at least a twist (Vranich 2009).

The Akapana and the Pumapunku architectural complexes were constructed to be oriented roughly 5-8° NNE. Access tothese major structures appears to have been from major plazas on the western side and would have allowed for an eastern exit (Isbell and Vranich 2004). With Pumapunku considered the access point to the settlement, the dual architectural complexes would promote a SW-NE axis of monumentality (Kolata 2003b; Vranich 1999, 2010). However, this orientation was not restricted to the monumental architecture. Most domestic compounds and associated architectural elements at the settlement would also take on an 8° east of north orientation. This was particularly true of the walls (Janusek 2002:41) of major residential compounds. Due to its visual prominence from anywhere at the settlement, the Akapana likely acted as the guide for the establishment of this residential orientation. The fact that the imposing Akapana, neighboring Pumapunku complex, and all surrounding residential compounds aligned would have projected a global symbolic community affiliation that articulated the entire built environment of the sprawling settlement.

Just one structure at Cerro San Antonio shares this general SW-NE or 8° east of north orientation of Tiahuanaco. This would be Special Structure L1A-1 or the small booth-like structure at the southern edge of Sector A (see 7.1 and 9.2). While badly looted in prehistory, the roughly square field stone foundation of the Special Structure L1A-1 would be left largely intact. A concentration of miniature plainware vessels, ritually destroyed bronze tupu pins, and large chunks of charcoal were some of the only materials recovered in an otherwise culturally sparse matrix. At just under two-meters-square, it is difficult to discern if this was a structure to be entered or if it contained an idol, or had some other function, but its square foundation was oriented at roughly 12° east of, close to the typical highland Tiwanaku orientation.



Figure 252. Booth-like structures from (left) the site of Chen Chen in the middle Osmore and (right) from Cerro San Antonio in the middle Locumba.

Special Structure L1A-1 shares orientation with a nearly identical structure in the Osmore at the settlement of Chen Chen (M1) (Goldstein 2005:191). Just slightly larger and oriented at 28° East of North, Ceremonial Structure 14-1 at M1 was also looted in prehistory, so its primary use is also unclear, but it too was defined by miniature plainware vessels, bronze tupu pins, and little domestic refuse (Goldstein 2005:300-301). Chen Chen Structure 14-1 also aligns with the only other structure in the Osmore to take the general Tiwanaku NNE orientation,Ceremonial Structure 15-1 (Goldstein 2005:301). Taken together these structures produce a general NW-SE or north-by-northwest axis. This is significant, as is described below, this NNW orientation would define the built environment of all Tiwanaku-affiliated settlements in the Valles Occidentales.

The most conspicuous Tiwanaku-affiliated structure to take the general northwestern orientation would be the Omo Temple (Goldstein 1993b). Built using the natural hillside, this

orientation of the Omo Temple could be said to be opportunistic, if it weren't for the fact that other Chen Chen- and Tumilaca-affiliated domestic structures in the middle Osmore would mirror this orientation. Like the Akapana and Pumapunku, the Omo Temple would be entered generally from the northwest. At Cerro San Antonio, all excavated domestic architecture shares this same orientation. Likewise, the Sector A central plaza also shares this northwestern orientation with its primary access route along its roughly SW-NE axis. Thus, if the adobe platform (Special Structure L1A-2) was used as a portal platform or access point, it would have shared its roughly similar access from the NW with the Omo Temple.





The central axis of the Sector A central plaza at Cerro San Antonio reveals an even more direct connection to important points in the Tiwanaku symbolic community landscape. Following the primary path through the central plaza along the southwest-northeast axis would bring into focus the view of the distant snowcapped peak of Tutupaca. However, as illustrated in Figure 253, the axial lines of the L1A central plaza remarkably point rather directly at the Omo settlement complex (generally to the NW) and to Tiahuanaco in the highlands (generally to the NE). Of course, this isn't precise, but may indicate yet another direct connection between Cerro San Antonio and the Tiwanaku symbolic network.

11.5 Chapter Summary

In Chapter 11 I presented the discussion chapter of this dissertation, my analysis in the macroscale. Here I contextualize the Cerro San Antonio dataset in theregional context of the South-Central Andes and the Middle Horizon Period. This chapter brings Tiwanaku back to the discussion, as I compare and contrast Middle Horizon occupations at L1 (see Chapter 9 and Chapter 10) with other archaeological datasets from throughout the region, particularly those from the neighboring middle Osmore drainage in the Valles Occidentales as well as from Tiahuanaco itself in the south-central highlands.

11.1: I begin Chapter 11 with a brief discussion that highlights some of the macroscale constraints in the spatial-temporal period of the Middle Horizon in the South-Central Andes. This includes some unavoidable logistical constraints from distance and the rough terrain of the Andes. I also present the absolute dates from L1 to help provide context regarding time.

11.2: In this subsection I compareCerro San Antonio domestic architecture and settlement patterns with those observed elsewhere in Tiwanaku-affiliated settlements. Here I also covered some aspects of population during the Middle Horizon.

11.3: This discussion focuses on sustainable modes of community and what basic

subsistence and crafting at Cerro San Antonio might suggest about the broader Tiwanaku political economy.

11.4: This final subsection works to explore the connections between symbolic modes of community traced at Cerro San Antonio to those that appear to have been emanating from Tiahuanaco during the Middle Horizon.

Next: I present my final Conclusion. Here I summarize this synthesis by returning briefly to my primary hypotheses as well as providing some implications and future directions for this research.

CONCLUSION

Here in the Conclusion I attempt to provide a brief synopsis of this dissertation. This is not meant to be a comprehensive summary, but merely a coda, a few final thoughts regarding the nature of community life at Cerro San Antonio in the middle Locumba drainage during the Middle Horizon and what it implies about the interlinking institutions we now call Tiwanaku. I return to my hypotheses to outline a diachronic and largely macroscale breakdown of Tiwanaku influence on the configuration of multi-modal community networks of the South-Central Andes, particularly in the Valles Occidentales, during the Middle Horizon. I also highlight some of the broader implications of the research presented in this dissertation, including the community ecology framework first outlined in Chapter 1. Finally, I outline some avenues for future research at Cerro San Antonio (L1) and in studies of ancient individuals, communities, and institutions.

Hypotheses Tested: Cerro San Antonio (L1) and Tiwanaku in perspective

Here I want to briefly return to my formal hypotheses, first presented in the Introduction and Chapter 4 (see 4.3), to present a final network-orientedinterpretation of the multi-modal community networks that defined the Valles Occidentales during the Middle Horizon. Of course, the perspective taken here is centered on the node of Cerro San Antonio (L1); ultimately providing a viewpoint of Tiwanaku from the outside, looking in.

The data derived from archaeological investigations at Cerro San Antonio revealed a dynamic pattern, that cannot be easily summarized by just one of the simplified network models I used in my hypotheses (Figure 31). However, one thing does appear clear, and answers some of the base-level questions first posed in my Introduction - the individuals who generated the communities that occupied Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U at Cerro San Antonio (L1) in the middle Locumba Valley were directly affiliated with the highland populations of the southern Titicaca Basin. Said another way, the communities centered at Cerro San Antonio during the

Middle Horizon were fundamentally Tiwanaku. In fact, outside of the middle Osmore enclaves, there are few other settlements outside of the southern Titicaca Basin in the South-Central Andes that show more substantial community affiliation with Tiwanaku than those centered at Cerro San Antonio in Locumba. As indicated by the limited radiocarbon dates from L1, it is likely that this settlement was occupied over as many as ten generations of community action and interaction with the highland polity. In spite of a complicated material legacy, a number of preliminary diachronic patterns can be observed regarding this Middle Horizon, Tiwanakuaffiliated occupation of L1.

First, it is important to remember that the Middle Horizon occupants were not the first to occupy this confluence in the Locumba drainage. Formative Period burial mounds (*tumulos*) define one of the westernmost sectors at L1 (Sector H) and Formative Period ceramic sherds have been identified on the surface in a number of locations across the site. This suggests at least the punctuated presence of the earliest agriculturalists to occupy the drainage. However, there is little evidence suggesting that the later Tiwanaku occupants displaced or otherwise came to co-occupy the site with these earlier inhabitants. More investigations, particularly absolute dating of materials from these Formative Period-associated contexts will be necessary to delineate the timing of this prior occupation. While not all features and materials investigated at L1 would match those identified at Tiahuanaco itself, no investigated contexts in Sector A, Sector L, or Sector U suggest that Tiwanaku style materials are the result of hybridity or emulation of an elite Tiwanaku residential presence by local populations. In sum, this observation effectively disqualifies either variant of Hypothesis 3 (H3a or H3b), which presupposed a preexisting community structure at the site that transformed when engaged in the Tiwanaku Valles Occidentales network.

The exact timing of the arrival of initial Tiwanaku communities to Cerro San Antonio and the middle Locumba drainage is still unclear. The earliest recorded absolute date from L1 suggests that the occupation of Sector A was initiated by approximately ca. AD 850-900 or the

transitional period between the Early and Late Middle Horizon. At this point, Tiwanaku-affiliated caravans had hubbed out of the middle Osmore drainage for generations, with seasonal camps having transformed into permanent settlements in Moquegua at least a century earlier (see Goldstein 2005; 2009). Again, these caravan-oriented communities are known as the Omo-style settlements in the Osmore drainage. It is difficult to determine at this time whether the initial Locumba Tiwanaku populations originated from the Omo enclaves in the Osmore or were directly tied to their own southern Titicaca Basin communities in the highlands. However, all decorated ceramics that appear to align with the Early Middle Horizon iconographic suite and decorative style fit well with those found frequently in the Osmore. In particular, the continuous volute motif appears to have been one of the primary decoration choices in the early Tiwanaku ceramic examples in both the Osmore and Locumba. In sum, this early occupation could have fit with either Hypothesis 1 (H1 - Primary Enclave) or the first variant of Hypothesis 2 (H2a - Seconday Enclave) (see 4.3).



Figure 254. Map illustrating Tiwanaku connections in the Valles Occidentales during the late Early Middle Horizon and basic network representation of these connections.

Of the six (6) ceramic spot finds that fall within this early Tiwanaku style, three (3) were found in Neighborhood I of Sector A, just to the southwest of the central plaza and an additional

two (2) were found in cemeteries also associated with Sector A (see Figure 251). Importantly, the western half of Sector A is also where the only polished blackware sherds, again heavily associated with the Osmore Omo style, were recovered at L1. Combined with the fact that the context that produced the earliest date yet recovered at L1 is also located in Neighborhood I in Sector A, suggests that this neighborhood is likely to have been the locus for the initial Tiwanaku settlement at Cerro San Antonio. The limited distribution of these early ceramic styles suggests that this initial occupation was likely a small settlement, possibly centered on the Sector A central plaza from the start. Whether deriving from the Omo populations in the Osmore or a separate origin in the highlands, Cerro San Antonio represents one of only a few locations in the Valles Occidentales, and south-central coast more generally, where Tiwanaku communities settled at this time in the Middle Horizion. By as early as the end of the Early Middle Horizon, the major Omo-style enclaves in the middle Osmore were joined by additional settlers (the Chen Chen style colonists) and possibly, at least a nominal, settlement in Locumba. Thus, a true Tiwanaku residential community network had formed in the Valles Occidentales (Figure 254).

The Tiwanaku-affiliated settlement at Cerro San Antonio appears to have remained relatively small until sometime in the second half of the Late Middle Horizon (post ca. AD 900). This is indicated by most diagnostic materials, particularly decorated ceramics, recovered in the Tiwanaku-affiliated sectors aligning with the Late Middle Horizon styles observed at Tiahuanaco and throughout the south-central highlands. All three domestic sectors at L1 are dominated by sherds from vessels decorated under this stylistic rubric, suggesting that by the later part of the Late Middle Horizon the settlement reached its maximal extent. It is not yet definitive whether this influx of Tiwanaku people simply grew in situ from locally rooted populations or whether new migrant groups arrived from the highlands, the Osmore drainage, or other parts of the Tiwanaku sphere. It is important to note here that it was during this same time that the Osmore Tiwanaku populations swelled with the influx of the Chen Chen-affiliated communities, and it is quite

possible these populations spilled over into the neighboring Locumba drainage. As noted in Chapter 11, some trends in the L1 ceramics, such as the absence of the *escudilla* vessel forms and the predominance of iconographic motifs like the flamingo/ibis, suggest connections to the Chen Chen Tiwanaku colonists in the middle Osmore drainage. However, other commonly occurring motifs in the L1 assemblage, such as the cross design, are quite prevalent in Tiwanaku-affiliated contexts in the Central Valley of Chochabamba (CVCT) Tiwanaku style that defined the Cochabamba-Mizque area, hinting at connections further afield as well.



Figure 255. Map illustrating Tiwanaku connections in the Valles Occidentales during the Late Middle Horizon and basic network representation of these connections.

It was at this time in the Late Middle Horizon that the Tiwanaku network, throughout the South-Central Andes, likely reached its most integrated configuration (Figure 255). With a booming Tiwanaku enclave in the middle Osmore, a sizable secondary enclave in the neighboring middle Locumba, as well as smaller settlements as far south as the Azapa drainage, a robust Tiwanaku multimodal community was well-established in the Valles Occidentales. Here the ethnoreligious lifestyle that underwrote all Tiwanaku-oriented communities was well-recognized over an area of over 20,000km². Instead of Tiwanaku being limitedto a symbolic production zone that would be seasonally activated for major holiday events in the center of Tiahuanaco itself, as it had been in the Early Middle Horizon, Tiwanaku had become a lifestyle that could be identifiedin certain community manifestations across the known landscape. So even as the foundational institutions based at Tiahuanaco became more centralized, as aggrandizing core communities occupied the monumental precinct, the Tiwanaku network in the Valles Occidentales appears to have become more distributed. This is also the point at which the Tiwanaku network could be said to be globalized, with the various settlements across the South-Central Andes forming a culturally coherent and interconnected version of an interregional multimodal community network. The Late Middle Horizon thus likely represents some hybrid of my Hypothesis 1 (H1 - Primary Enclave) and the primary variant of Hypothesis 2 (H2a - Secondary Enclave) (see 4.3).



Figure 256. Map illustrating Tiwanaku connections in the Valles Occidentales during the early Terminal Middle Horizon and basic network representation of these connections.

By ca. AD 1000, evidence suggests that Tiahuanaco and other larger population centers

in the southern Titicaca Basin had begun to dissipate. Major compound neighborhoods and even entire domestic sectors at Tiahuanaco had likely been abandoned for over a generation. Many of the major Tiwanaku institutions and more elaborate symbolic community formations centered at Tiahuanaco had likely already begun to fail beginning in the Late Middle Horizon, but finally reached a state of self-organized criticality and collapse after prolonged drought would continue to further tax an already top-heavy community network. While the site of Tiahuanaco, particularly the most iconic representations of these central Tiwanaku institutions, were destroyed in punctuated events, it is possible that some of the long-standing transportation corridors between the highlands and coast, namely the road between Tiahuanaco and the Osmore drainage remained active for a time in the Terminal Middle Horizon. That said, the most iconic installation of Tiwanaku institutional power, the Omo Temple in the middle Osmore was largely destroyed around this time as well.

Well before the collapse of the central Tiwanaku institutions in the highlands, the Tiwanaku-affiliated community networks had already begun to diversify in the Valles Occidentales. In the middle Osmore, the Tumilaca cultural affiliation designates this local ethnogenesis, as formerly south-central highland migrants transitioned into true locals of the south-central coast. First spreading into the upper and lower Osmore drainage, these Tumilaca groups appear to have reached neighboring drainages like the Tambo to the north and the middle Locumba to the south. While certainly a minority presence when compared to the Late Middle Horizon Tiwanaku representation, several sherds at Cerro San Antonio show clear affiliation with the motifs and overall vessel construction that define the Tumilaca ceramic style in the Osmore. The spread of Tumilaca was likely accelerated as the final network connections to the highlands were severed and the remaining Tiwanaku communities were set adrift; communities living in diaspora. Overall, this scenario aligns with the second variant of my Hypothesis 2 (H2b - Secondary Enclave) (see 4.3).



Figure 257. Map illustrating Tiwanaku connections in the Valles Occidentales during the late Terminal Middle Horizon and basic network representation of these connections.

Despite the resilience of several Tiwanaku community manifestations in the Pacific drainages, after just a few generations their lingering signs of Tiwanaku heritage began to fade. The multimodal community network flows that had long been channeled through the middle Osmore appear to have largely reversed. Cerro San Antonio, which had long been in close orbit with the enclaves of the middle Osmore, began showing evidence for influence from the south. First, the last lingering vestiges of Tiwanaku influence can be seen in limited Cabuza style ceramics found at L1. This brings my Hypothesis 3 into play, specifically its secondary variant (H3b - Exchange & Emulation) (see 4.3). Ultimately it would be the Chiribaya that would make a major impression at Cerro San Antonio. By ca. AD 1200 Chiribaya-affiliated communities had colonized the entire *chala* ecozone of the south-central coast and began progressing up to the lower *yunga* zones of the drainages of the Valles Occidentales. By the time the Chiribaya were establishing their major mortuary complex in Sector C of L1, the Tiwanaku-affiliated residential communities of Sector A, Sector L, and Sector U, had likely been abandoned for at least a generation.

From the Inside, Looking Out: Cerro San Antonio (L1) in perspective

All evidence of this present study indicates that the initial Middle Horizon occupants of Cerro San Antonio were indeed Tiwanaku, and their descendants continued a commitment to Tiwanaku lifeways until the settlement was ultimately abandoned upwards of ten generations later. It is likely that this initial settlement was formed around a plaza, which would become the Sector A central plaza as the settlement expanded. It would take multiple generations for the L1 population to fill two major sectors (Sector A and Sector L), with an auxiliary domestic sector forming at the end of this period of expansion (Sector U). While Tiwanaku domestic refuse would come to cover over 13 hectares of area, as noted in Chapter 11, it is likely that no more than 1100 individuals likely occupied the village at any one time.

These domestic sectors were composed of multiple neighborhoods, which were complete domestic structures, including houses but also a number of neighborhood processing facilities. While these cane-based *quincha* structures were radically different than the field stone and adobe brick structures of their highland relatives, the built space facilitated a similar suite of domestic activities. Many of these activities do not appear to have been geared towards production for some centralized elite political or religious institution, but rather were defined by the daily ebbs and flows of sustainable community subsistence production, servicing family-based households and supra-family-based neighborhoods. Most families likely focused on farming and harvesting local crops and plant life in the sweet water Cinto tributary as well as herding flocks of llamas in the Salado tributary. More specialized sustainable community tasks were taken on by certain families, with some showing evidence for crafting locally-circulated goods and others making ventures to the coast for fish and other marine resources. All things considered, Cerro San Antonio was likely a relatively quiet, self-sustaining settlement, with even the dead kept close, in adjacent cemetery complexes.

Nonetheless, there is also evidence suggesting consistent connection with the rest of the Tiwanaku sphere. While no materials from L1 have yet been geochemically sourced to

Tiahuanaco, a number of subsistence remains and finished goods at Cerro San Antonio could certainly have had a highland origin. That said, there is even stronger evidence to suggest that the occupants at Cerro San Antonio maintained close contacts with the major Tiwanaku enclaves in the middle Osmore. Again, it is quite possible that the original founders of the Tiwanaku settlement in the middle Locumba came from the Osmore. But whether this was the case or not, at a distance of less than two days travel, even with a heavily laden caravan in tow, it is likely that residents of these two valleys would maintain close communication. It is possible, with their closer and far easier route to the seaside, that L1 specialists also supplied the Chen Chen colonists in the Osmore with their fish, mussels, and additional marine resources. It is also likely that the Cerro San Antonio inhabitants would travel to the Omo Temple in the Osmore or even to the monuments at Tiahuanaco for certain seasonal holidays and other points of celebration, renewing their sense of Tiwanaku identity in their small town, tucked away in the lowest reaches of the *yungas* of the Valles Occidentales.

From the Outside, Looking In: Tiwanaku in perspective

Taking a macro-to-micro or top-down perspective, Tiwanaku was in some ways a firstgeneration expansive state. It certainly had regional precedent in the competing polities that crowded the shores of Lake Titicaca during the Late Formative. However, even the most centralized of these, Pukara, would not reach the institutional complexity, not to mention longevity, of the polities that formed the basis of Tiwanaku. Of course, over the 500 years that Tiwanaku would hold sway over the macroscale mechanisms of social reproduction in the South-Central Andes, the multimodal community and the institutional configurations at the core of the Tiwanaku polity would evolve. In the first half of the Middle Horizon, Tiwanaku was likely based around strong network strategies of aggrandizers who formed system-serving institutions. At this stage, Tiwanaku was effectively a theater state, in which the growing economic and political clout of institutions and the elites that directed them were expressed through integrating

holiday festivities and increasing regional influence - a true ritual mode of production. However, the second half of the Middle Horizon would see the formation of true elites, usurping institutional power and leading to increasingly fragile institutions and even lower-level community configurations.

Taking a more micro-to-macro or bottom-up perspective it is easy to get lost in the complexity of such complicated social configurations andsee only segmentation and heterogeneity. No ancient (or modern) polity ever look exactly the same across space and time, and we shouldn't have such expectations for Tiwanaku contexts in order to prove the institutional complexity of statehood was present. That said, at no point does it appear that Tiwanaku pursued an aggressive territorially expansive program in the Valles Occidentales, and aggrandizing strategies did not rely on the most extreme exclusionary policies, namely warfare and military-based institutions. As such, Tiwanaku can be largely seen as a percolating ethnoreligious influence in the region as opposed to an imposed political one. The community-centered approach employed in this dissertation took this more bottom-up perspective on Tiwanaku during analysis and interpretation, and I will not repeat that discussion here. However, I do want to briefly tie together my synthesis of the multimodal community model I developed in Chapter 1 (see 1.2), the indigenous Andean concept of *ayllu* from Chapter 2 (see 2.2), and how this has and will continue to help understand Tiwanaku.

Others have long used the concept of *ayllu* to help understand the political structure and broader social mechanism underlying Tiwanaku. I will not detail those arguments here, but I concur that this concept is critical for understating this ancient polity. The central claim regarding *ayllus* made in Chapter 2.2 was not just that the community ecology model could help to understand *ayllus* anthropologically, but rather that the *ayllu* is the Central Andean equivalent of multimodal communities, as I have defined them here. Like the multiple modes in which community can emerge from individual interaction, for the Aymara and Quechua-speaking populations of the Andes, the *ayllu* acts as the primary social organizing concept that

encompasses residence, all modes of sustainability, and acts as a primary symbolic framing for understanding all relations a person may face. *Ayllu* is the middle range social category that allows individuals to scale between individual or microscale relations and those of more institutional or macroscale realms. So, while, in the analysis presented in this dissertation, I exclusively utilize the term community, ultimately *ayllu* is a more ontologically-grounded and truly essential term for understanding past and present middle range sociality in the Central Andes.

Broader Impact: understanding emergent sociality through community ecology

It is my sincere hope that this dissertation has provided a clear presentation of the results garnered from field work and subsequent material analysis I had the distinct pleasure of conducting at Cerro San Antonio (L1) in the middle Locumba Valley of Peru. The site, often simply referred to as *La Huaca*, has long been valued as a local source of pride and a direct connection to the past for the town of Villa Locumba and I hope an immediate broader impact of this dissertation is in adding a dimension of understanding to this important cultural landmark. Below, I more explicitly lay out how I hope this work will continue to assist directly in the protection and promotion of the Peruvian cultural patrimony at Cerro San Antonio. Here I want to briefly highlight three ways in which I hope this dissertation will have an impact on our understanding of Tiwanaku, the archaeological understanding of past societies, and the field of anthropology more generally.

1) Better understanding the Middle Horizon occupation at Cerro San Antonio (L1) enriches the broader understanding of Tiwanaku.

As I hope to have conveyed, Cerro San Antonio likely represented a modest, but nonetheless important node in the broader Tiwanaku network, particularly in the Valles

Occidentales region. The western *yungas* and the Pacific drainages that punctuated the desert foothills that otherwise define this region were Tiwanaku's western frontier; an ecological setting vastly different than the windswept highland lakeshore and plains of the *altiplano* from which Tiwanaku emerged, and well outside its direct control. The pattern at Cerro San Antonio, complments prominent interpretations of the neighboring Osmore enclaves (e.g., Goldstein 2005, 2009, 2015), as less colonial outposts, implanted by a centralized state elite bent on territorial control, and more extensions of preexisting multimodal community networks boosted by integrating activities like important regional holiday festivities hosted at Tiahuanaco. This study of Cerro San Antonio also confirms that Tiwanaku, like all such complex and longstanding institutional configurations, was dynamic, differing across space and certainly evolving, and changing over time.

2) Better understanding Tiwanaku contributes to the broader understanding of the globalization of ancient multi-modal community networks and the emergence of states.

Today nation-states cover most of the habitable areas of Earth's terrestrial surface, and with the exception of some expanses of open ocean, claim most of the remaining land and sea. The term globalization has become synonymous with the 21st century, in which the various disparate networks of nation-states that formed between the 16th and 20th centuries coalesced into a truly globalized network. Delineating network flows in this planetary-scaled globalized network is difficult enough in the macroscale, when comparing nation-states, let alone when attempting to dig into the complexities of the mesoscale where multitudes of multimodal community networks of interacting individuals continue to generate even the most complicated as the remaining material record might be, can help to strip away f layers of complexity. Case studies like Tiwanaku are particularly important, because as early expansive states, their definition can make subsequent state development and network flows be easier to isolate.

Through my discussion above I hope to have illustrated how from a macroscale perspective, in both space and time, Tiwanaku presents a case of a segmented, but none-theless state-level polity. Tiwanaku institutions, whether born from sustainable community-oriented bureaucracy, regulating fields and flocks, or more symbolic community-oriented systems of sacred and profane knowledge, were segmented and specialized enough to cross most any threshold of statehood for ancient societies (see Stanish 2013). However, this case study has also shown that even the first iterations of state formation and the development of areas that might be considered frontiers were far from standardized. Even relatively modest settlements like Cerro San Antonio show complicated community configurations that changed over time. I believe one the most significant things the Tiwanaku case study helps illustrate is how, under the right conditions, even institutional centers of a relatively segmented configuration, like Tiwanaku, can come to act as a globalizing force in regional multimodal community networks. In particular, the Tiwanaku case study shows how this can be done with a particularly attractive ethic, truly inclusive strategies of community cohesion, as opposed to the exclusionary, and often militaristic routes often assumed traveled in nascent state development.

3) The study of community ecology, and complexity more generally, enhances our broader understanding of human sociality.

Finally, I hope that through this dissertation I have taken at least a few modest steps in the right direction in terms of further understanding what it means to be human. As noted in Chapter 1, we have only just begun to explore the parameters of what I have termed the Community Ecology approach to middle-range sociality. Informed by complexity theory and built on both quantitative and qualitative methods and techniques of network science, I hope this new synthesis of the concept of *community* represents a useful tool in investigations of the social, both local and global, and particularly the bridging of the two. One of my hopes is that this theory of middle-range sociality can help avoid the often-fruitless dichotomies of top-down vs.

bottom-up, hierarchy vs. heterarchy, power vs. agency. All these organizing principles and forces of action can coexist in complex systems. Human societies, past and present, are nothing if not complex.



Figure 258. Schematic representation of the Community Ecology framework developed in this thesis and a complexity-inspired understanding of human sociality more generally.

My further hope is that through developing a robust framework for understanding communities, the complexities of human sociality can be better understood, by starting in the middle and working outwards. Institutions, whether the grounded socio-spatial institutions of households, neighborhoods, villages, and cities or the more abstracted institutional realms, ubiquitous in human societies, like kinship, economy, politics, and education, must be understood as the emergent result of interacting modes of communities. Viewing human sociality through the lens of the middle-range community also helps to keep in focus the acting agents in all systems of human organization, that is individuals. Institutions and communities who may constrain the very reaches of individual human perception. Only individuals act, think, and suffer, and while it may go without saying, without living, breathing human individuals, there would be no communities and even the most durable and long-lasting institutions would be gone in an instant.

Future Directions: community collaborations in sharing the past of Cerro San Antonio (L1) with the present and preserving it for the future

I want to end by briefly highlighting some of the ways in which I plan to expand the research presented in this dissertation as well as how I hope to contribute to preserving the site of Cerro San Antonio (L1) for the future.

There are several avenues of data collection and analysis initiated in this dissertation that I would like to continue. First, dozens of samples were collected from the 2018-19 excavations that were designated for radiocarbon dating. Receiving more absolute dates from these contexts will help anchor my interpretation regarding the timing of the L1 occupations. In this vein, more chemical and compositional analyses and sourcing of a variety of materials from these contexts would greatly aid in interpretation. LA-ICP-MS analysis is planned for a number of ceramic sherds from various L1 contexts investigated in 2016. This sourcing technique will assist in delineating where ceramics were produced and contribute to a growing database of this type of data in the region. In terms of continued field work, more subsurface investigations via both test excavations and larger area excavations will help further identify and delineate important features and articulated contexts, ranging from more domestic structures to tombs and mortuary areas. I hope to continue remote sensing work, from low-altitude documentation via UAVs, and to test new techniques of infrared sensing of *quincha* cane walls and other features unique to this site complex. In sum, there is significantly more archaeological data collection to be done at Cerro San Antonio (L1).

Of course, beyond my own research, Cerro San Antonio is an incredibly important archaeological complex. As noted, this importance has long been recognized by the local community, and many there have invested great time and energy over the years in fending off illegal looting and working to promote and preserve the remains there. Recently the Ministerio de Cultura of Peru has formally recognized the site as endangered due to the particularly extreme looting that took place that the site in the last decade. I have been actively working with local community members in developing strategies for protecting the site. These strategies range from developing education programs and school curricula that involve visits to the site and learning more about the prehistory and history of the local area. Other plans look to developing permanent research facilities at or near the site to act as a space for these educational programs and further dissemination through a museum component. I hope to continue to play whatever modest part I can in protecting this site's remarkable past for the future.

Appendix 1: L1 Surface Collection Unit Inventory

This appendix includes data derived from systematic surface collections at Cerro San Antonio (L1). The systematic surface collections and many of the results garnered from that work are presented in Chapter 6. This appendix includes several data tables of the raw results, particularly focused on material counts that formed the base dataset for the heat maps and other data visualizations in Chapter 6 and throughout Section 3. Additional data tables, derived from systematic surface collection, including the table used to estimate population (Figure 204), are also included here.

	PLAINWARE REDWARE								
UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	PLAINWARE	NON-	PLAINWARE	REDWARE	NON-	REDWARE
				DIAGNOSTIC	DAIAGNOSTIC	TOTAL	DIAGNOSTIC	DIAGNOSTIC	TOTAL
4P	8051300	314050	А	0	1	1	0	0	0
50	8051350	314000	А	2	18	20	0	0	0
5P	8051350	314050	А	0	69	69	0	1	1
5Q	8051350	314050	А	2	65	67	1	0	1
5R	8051350	314150	А	0	21	21	0	0	0
60	8051400	314000	А	12	217	229	4	32	36
6P	8051400	314050	А	18	654	672	3	3	6
6Q	8051400	314100	А	5	141	146	2	2	4
6R	8051400	314150	А	12	148	160	12	0	12
68	8051400	314200	А	15	481	496	4	7	11
6 T	8051400	314251	А	0	22	22	7	34	41
7N	8051450	313950	А	3	131	134	0	4	4
70	8051450	314000	А	9	580	589	7	44	51
7 P	8051450	314050	А	46	1510	1556	57	0	57
7Q	8051450	314100	А	129	2675	2804	79	0	79
7R	8051450	314150	А	16	460	476	22	0	22
78	8051450	314200	А	15	520	535	15	0	15
7 T	8051450	314250	А	1	38	39	1	0	1
7U	8051450	314300	А	0	28	28	0	0	0

 Table 16. Table with counts of Tiwanaku-affiliated ceramics (Plainware and Redware) in all systematic surface collection units.

				PLAINWARE				REDWARE			
UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	PLAINWARE	NON-	PLAINWARE	REDWARE	NON-	REDWARE		
7V	8051450	314350	A	0	DAIAGNOSTIC 0	0	DIAGNOSTIC 0	0	0		
8M	8051500	313900	А	5	116	121	2	0	2		
8N	8051500	313950	А	6	163	169	1	0	1		
80	8051500	314000	А	43	1115	1158	23	0	23		
8P	8051500	314050	А	48	1550	1598	20	22	42		
8Q	8051500	314100	А	37	570	607	4	22	26		
8R	8051500	314150	Α	4	80	84	2	22	24		
8S	8051500	314200	А	6	157	163	3	20	23		
8 T	8051500	314250	А	0	10	10	0	0	0		
8U	8051500	314300	А	0	10	10	5	0	5		
8V	8051500	314350	Α	1	66	67	9	0	9		
8W	8051500	314400	Α	6	141	147	1	0	0		
8X	8051500	314450	Α	0	1	1	0	0	0		
8Y	8051500	314500	Α	1	20	21	2	0	2		
8Z	8051500	314550	Α	1	16	17	1	0	1		
8AA	8051500	314600	Α	0	8	8	0	0	0		
9M	8051550	313900	А								
				0	136	136	1	0	1		
9N	8051550	313950	A	9	315	324	1	0	1		
90	8051550	314000	A	26	560	586	6	0	6		
99	8051550	314050	A	5	322	327	7	0	7		
9Q	8051550	314100	A	4	57	61	3	0	3		
96	8051550	314150	A	7	70	77	4	0	4		
95	8051550	314200	A	5	47	52	8	0	8		
91	8051550	314250	A	0	3	3	0	0	0		
90	8051550	314300	A 	0	8	8	1	5	6		
90	8051550	314350	A 	3	27	30	0	5	5		
911	8051550	314400	A	4	121	125	1	3	4		
7A 0V	8051550	314500	A A	3	162	165	0	1	1		
91	8051550	314550	A	41	0	41	0	0	0		
92	8051550	314550	A	3	21	24	2	0	2		
УАА	8051550	314600	A	7	176	183	2	1	3		

Table 16. Table with counts of Tiwanaku-affiliated ceramics (Plainware and Redware) in allsystematic surface collection units (continued).

					PLAINWARE			REDWARE	
UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	PLAINWARE DIAGNOSTIC	NON- DAIAGNOSTIC	PLAINWARE TOTAL	REDWARE	NON- DIAGNOSTIC	REDWARE TOTAL
9BB	8051550	314650	A	1	50	51	0	0	0
10X	8051600	314450	А	2	61	63	0	0	0
10Y	8051600	314500	А	1	98	99	2	0	2
10Z	8051600	314550	А	1	50	51	1	0	1
10AA	8051600	314600	А	1	22	23	1	0	1
10BB	8051600	314650	А	0	0	0	0	0	0
11Z	8051650	314550	Α	1	104	105	0	0	0
11AA	8051650	314600	А	1	33	34	1	0	1
11BB	8051650	314650	А	0	35	35	0	0	0
12Z	8051700	314550	Α	1	33	34	1	0	1
12AA	8051700	314600	А	0	5	5	0	0	0
12BB	8051700	314650	Α	0	11	11	0	0	0
13Z	8051750	314550	Α	1	11	12	0	0	0
13AA	8051750	314600	Α	0	31	31	0	0	0
13BB	8051750	314650	Α	3	48	51	0	0	0
19EE	8052050	314800	Q	0	0	0	0	0	0
19FF	8052050	314850	Q	0	0	0	0	0	0
20EE	8052100	314800	L	0	0	0	0	0	0
20FF	8052100	314850	L	0	1	1	0	0	0
21 EE	8052150	314800	L	0	2	2	0	0	0
21FF	8052050	314850	L	0	0	0	0	0	0
21HH	8052150	314950	L	0	0	0	0	0	0
22 EE	8052200	314800	L	6	89	95	3	15	18
22FF	8052200	314850	L	0	4	4	4	5	9
22HH	8052200	314950	М	0	0	0	0	0	0
23DD	8052250	314750	L	14	229	243	25	0	25
24Y	8052300	314500	L	0	3	3	0	0	0
24Z	8052300	314550	L	2	42	44	0	11	11
24AA	8052300	314600	L	1	28	29	1	1	2
24GG	8052300	314900	м	0	2	2	0	0	0
25Y	8052350	314500	L	0	2	2	0	0	0
25Z	8052350	314550	L	0	4	4	1	1	2

Table 16. Table with counts of Tiwanaku-affiliated ceramics (Plainware and Redware) in allsystematic surface collection units (continued).

					PLAINWARE		REDWARE			
UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	PLAINWARE	NON-	PLAINWARE	REDWARE	NON-	REDWARE	
25AA	8052350	314600	L	DIAGNOSTIC	DAIAGNOSTIC	TOTAL	DIAGNOSTIC	DIAGNOSTIC	TOTAL	
25BB	8052350	314650	L	2	09	,1		15	14	
25CC	8052350	314700	L	0	0			1	-	
25DD	8052350	314750	L	0	8	8	1	0	1	
25.5E	8052350	314800	- L	0	9	y	2	0	2	
25 EE	8052350	314850	ĩ	0	0	0	0	0	0	
2511	8052350	214900		0	8	8	4	0	4	
2000	8052350	314900		0	1	1	0	0	0	
26AA	8052400	314600	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
26BB	8052400	314650	U	0	0	0	0	0	0	
26CC	8052400	314700	U	0	15	15	0	0	0	
26EE	8052400	314800	U	0	0	0	0	0	0	
26FF	8052400	314850	U	0	0	0	0	0	0	
26GG	8052400	314900	U	0	7	7	0	0	0	
26HH	8052400	314950	U	0	33	33	0	0	0	
27BB	8052450	314650	U	0	5	5	0	0	0	
27CC	8052450	314700	U	0	7	7	0	0	0	
27DD	8052450	314750	U	0	3	3	0	0	0	
27 EE	8052450	314800	U	0	0	0	0	0	0	
27FF	8052450	314850	U	0	0	0	0	0	0	
27GG	8052450	314900	U	1	27	28	0	0	0	
27HH	8052450	314950	U	0	1	1	0	0	0	
27II	8052450	315000	U	0	0	0	0	0	0	
28BB	8052500	314650	U	4	40	44	0	0	0	
28CC	8052500	314700	U	2	61	63	2	0	2	
28DD	8052500	314750	U	2	23	25	4	0	4	
28EE	8052500	314800	U	0	2	2	0	0	0	
28FF	8052500	314850	U	0	0	0	0	0	0	
28GG	8052500	314900	U	0	4	4	0	0	0	
28HH	8052500	314950	U	0	1	1	0	0	0	
28II	8052500	315000	U	0	57	57	0	0	0	
28JJ	8052500	315050	U	0	0	0	0	0	0	
29CC	8052550	314700	U	1	6	7	0	0	0	
				-		,			-	

Table 16. Table with counts of Tiwanaku-affiliated ceramics (Plainware and Redware) in allsystematic surface collection units (continued).

				PLAINWARE REDWARE					
UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	PLAINWARE	NON-	PLAINWARE	REDWARE	NON-	REDWARE
				DIAGNOSTIC	DAIAGNOSTIC	TOTAL	DIAGNOSTIC	DIAGNOSTIC	TOTAL
29DD	8052550	314750	U	0	13	13	0	0	0
29EE	8052550	314800	U	1	4	5	0	0	0
29FF	8052550	314850	U	1	8	9	0	0	0
29GG	8052550	314900	U	0	0	0	0	0	0
29HH	8052550	314950	U	0	1	1	0	0	0
29II	8052550	315000	U	0	0	0	0	0	0
30CC	8052600	314700	U	2	19	21	1	0	1
30DD	8052600	314750	U	0	0	0	0	0	0
30EE	8052600	314800	U	0	3	3	0	0	0
30FF	8052600	314850	U	0	2	2	0	0	0
30GG	8052600	314900	U	0	2	2	1	0	1
17AA	8051950	314600	L	2	10	12	0	0	0
18AA	8052000	314600	L	8	71	79	2	0	2
18BB	8052000	314650	L	2	51	53	1	0	1
19BB	8052050	314650	L	2	206	208	21	0	21
20BB	8052100	314650	L	10	191	201	27	0	27
20CC	8052100	314700	L	2	130	132	55	0	55
21BB	8052150	314650	L	25	432	457	23	0	23
21CC	8052150	314700	L	0	81	81	5	0	5
21DD	8052150	314750	L	0	17	17	2	0	2
22CC	8052200	314700	L	5	153	158	3	0	3
22DD	8052200	314750	L	13	365	378	24	0	24
23CC	8052250	314700	L	17	397	414	31	0	31
23EE	8052250	314800	L	30	537	567	53	0	53
24EE	8052300	314800	L	15	537	552	18	0	18
24FF	8052300	314850	L	5	100	105	1	0	1

Table 16. Table with counts of Tiwanaku-affiliated ceramics (Plainware and Redware) in allsystematic surface collection units (continued).

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	Animal Bone	count	Marine/Terrestrial Shell	count
4P	8051300	314050	A				
50	8051350	314000	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	4
5P	8051350	314050	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	3
5Q	8051350	314050	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	5
5R	8051350	314150	А				
6O	8051400	314000	А			choro, land snail, other	10
6P	8051400	314050	А	quadraped	2	maine shell (no i.d.)	5
6Q	8051400	314100	А				
6R	8051400	314150	А				
65	8051400	314200	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	2
6Т	8051400	314251	А			oliva, choro	5
7N	8051450	313950	Α			maine shell (no i.d.)	3
70	8051450	314000	А	bone (no i.d.)	6	maine shell (no i.d.), choro	9
7 P	8051450	314050	А	quadraped	10	maine shell (no i.d.)	20
7Q	8051450	314100	А	quadraped	40	choro, coral	36
7 R	8051450	314150	А	quadraped	2	maine shell (no i.d.)	6
78	8051450	314200	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	5
7 T	8051450	314250	А			oliva	2
7U	8051450	314300	Α				
7 V	8051450	314350	А				
8M	8051500	313900	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	4
8N	8051500	313950	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	11
80	8051500	314000	А	bone (no i.d.)	16	choro, oliva, coral, other	26
8P	8051500	314050	А	quadraped	22	maine shell (no i.d.)	12
8Q	8051500	314100	А	bone (no i.d.)	1		

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	Animal Bone	count	Marine/Terrestrial Shell	count
8R	8051500	314150	Α	bone (no i.d.)	2	choro, oliva	3
85	8051500	314200	Α			choro	3
8 T	8051500	314250	Α				
8U	8051500	314300	А				
8V	8051500	314350	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	2
8W	8051500	314400	А			choro	1
8X	8051500	314450	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	1
8Y	8051500	314500	А	bone (no i.d.)	3		
8Z	8051500	314550	Α			choro	1
8AA	8051500	314600	А				
9M	8051550	313900	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	5
9N	8051550	313950	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	14
90	8051550	314000	А			maine shell (no i.d.), coral	3
9P	8051550	314050	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	2
9Q	8051550	314100	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	1
9R	8051550	314150	А				
98	8051550	314200	Α			maine shell (no i.d.)	1
9 T	8051550	314250	Α				
9U	8051550	314300	Α				
9V	8051550	314350	Α				
9W	8051550	314400	Α				
9X	8051550	314450	Α	bone (no i.d.)	1		
9Y	8051550	314500	Α			oliva	2
9Z	8051550	314550	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	5
9AA	8051550	314600	А			choro, oliva	9
9BB	8051550	314650	Α	bone (no i.d.)	12	choro	1
10X	8051600	314450	А			maine shell (no i.d.)	2
10Y	8051600	314500	А				

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	Animal Bone	count	Marine/Terrestrial Shell	count
10Z	8051600	314550	А			oliva	1
10AA	8051600	314600	Α	bone (no i.d.)	3	oliva, choro	6
10BB	8051600	314650	Α			choro	1
11Z	8051650	314550	А	bone (no i.d.)	28		
11AA	8051650	314600	Α			choro	1
11BB	8051650	314650	Α				
12Z	8051700	314550	Α				
12AA	8051700	314600	А				
12BB	8051700	314650	А				
13Z	8051750	314550	А				
13AA	8051750	314600	Α			choro	1
13BB	8051750	314650	А				
19EE	8052050	314800	Q				
19FF	8052050	314850	Q				
20EE	8052100	314800	L				
20FF	8052100	314850	L	bone (no i.d.)			
21EE	8052150	314800	L				
21FF	8052050	314850	L				
21HH	8052150	314950	L				
22EE	8052200	314800	L			maine shell (no i.d.)	1
22FF	8052200	314850	L				
22HH	8052200	314950	м				
23DD	8052250	314750	L			choro, land snail	11
24Y	8052300	314500	L				
24Z	8052300	314550	L	bone (no i.d.)	1		
24AA	8052300	314600	L	bone (no i.d.)	4		
24GG	8052300	314900	м			maine shell (no i.d.)	4
25Y	8052350	314500	L			,	
25Z	8052350	314550	L				
25 A A	8052350	314600	L			maine shell (no	
25 B B	8052250	314650	- T	bone (no i.d.)	1	i.d.)	2
<i>2000</i>	0002000	51-1000	-				

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	Animal Bone	count	Marine/Terrestrial Shell	count
25CC	8052350	314700	L			land snail	7
25DD	8052350	314750	L	bone (no i.d.)	4	land snail	24
25EE	8052350	314800	L	bolle (lio hal)			21
25FF	8052350	314850	L			maine shell (no i.d.)	5
25GG	8052350	314900	U				
26AA	8052400	314600	U				
26BB	8052400	314650	U				
26CC	8052400	314700	U			oliva	1
26EE	8052400	314800	U	bone (no i.d.)	7		
26FF	8052400	314850	U			land snail	1
26GG	8052400	314900	U	quadraped	1	maine shell (no i.d.)	7
26HH	8052400	314950	U				
27BB	8052450	314650	U				
27CC	8052450	314700	U				
27DD	8052450	314750	U	bone (no i.d.)	1		
27EE	8052450	314800	U				
27FF	8052450	314850	U				
27GG	8052450	314900	U	bone (no i.d.)	1		
27HH	8052450	314950	U			land snail	2
27II	8052450	315000	U				
28BB	8052500	314650	U	bone (no i.d.)	1		
28CC	8052500	314700	U	bone (no i.d.)	2	choro, land snail, other	7
28DD	8052500	314750	U	bone (no i.d.)	2	land snail	3
28EE	8052500	314800	U	bone (no i.d.)	1	land snail	2
28FF	8052500	314850	U				
28GG	8052500	314900	U				
28HH	8052500	314950	U			land snail	3
28II	8052500	315000	U				

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	Animal Bone	count	Marine/Terrestrial Shell	count
28JJ	8052500	315050	U				
29CC	8052550	314700	U				
29DD	8052550	314750	U				
29EE	8052550	314800	U				
29FF	8052550	314850	U				
29GG	8052550	314900	U				
29HH	8052550	314950	U	bone (no i.d.)	1		
29II	8052550	315000	U			choro	1
30CC	8052600	314700	U				
30DD	8052600	314750	U				
30EE	8052600	314800	U				
30FF	8052600	314850	U			land mail	,
2000						naine shell (no	1
30GG	8052600	314900	U			i.d.)	1
17AA	8051950	314600	L				
18AA	8052000	314600	L				
18BB	8052000	314650	L				
19BB	8052050	314650	L				
20BB	8052100	314650	L				
20CC	8052100	314700	L			oliva	2
21BB	8052150	314650	L			choro	8
21CC	8052150	314700	L			choro, oliva	6
21DD	8052150	314750	L	quadraped	7	choro	1
22CC	8052200	314700	L			choro	1
22DD	8052200	314750	L			choro	2
23CC	8052250	314700	L	quadraped	3	choro	2
23EE	8052250	314800	L			choro, oliva, land snail	105
24EE	8052300	314800	L			maine shell (no i.d.), land snail, other	17
24FF	8052300	314850	L			land snail	2

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	debitage	cores & bifaces	projectile points	hoes	manos	matate fragments (collected)
4P	8051300	314050	А						
50	8051350	314000	А						
5P	8051350	314050	А						
5Q	8051350	314050	Α						
5R	8051350	314150	Α						
6O	8051400	314000	А						
6P	8051400	314050	А	2		1		2	
6Q	8051400	314100	А						
6R	8051400	314150	А	2					
68	8051400	314200	Α						
6T	8051400	314251	Α						
7N	8051450	313950	Α						
70	8051450	314000	Α			1			
7 P	8051450	314050	А				1	1	
7Q	8051450	314100	А	5				3	
7 R	8051450	314150	А	1				1	
78	8051450	314200	Α	1					1
7 T	8051450	314250	Α						
7U	8051450	314300	Α						
7 V	8051450	314350	Α						
8M	8051500	313900	Α						
8N	8051500	313950	Α						
8O	8051500	314000	А	4		1		2	
8P	8051500	314050	Α	1	1				
8Q	8051500	314100	Α	1					
8R	8051500	314150	Α						
85	8051500	314200	А						
8T	8051500	314250	А						
	8051500	314300	Α						

Table 18. Table with counts of lithic-related materials collected during systematic surface collections.

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	debitage	cores & bifaces	projectile points	hoes	manos	matate fragments (collected)
8V	8051500	314350	Α						
8W	8051500	314400	Α						
8X	8051500	314450	Α						
8Y	8051500	314500	Α						
8Z	8051500	314550	Α						
8AA	8051500	314600	Α						
9M	8051550	313900	А	1	1				
9N	8051550	313950	А						
90	8051550	314000	Α	1					
9P	8051550	314050	Α						
9Q	8051550	314100	Α						
9R	8051550	314150	Α						
98	8051550	314200	Α						
9T	8051550	314250	А						
9U	8051550	314300	Α						
9V	8051550	314350	Α						
9W	8051550	314400	Α						
9X	8051550	314450	Α						
9Y	8051550	314500	Α						
9Z	8051550	314550	Α	1		1	1		
9AA	8051550	314600	Α						
9BB	8051550	314650	Α						
10X	8051600	314450	Α						
10Y	8051600	314500	Α						
10Z	8051600	314550	Α	2					
10AA	8051600	314600	А	2					
10BB	8051600	314650	А						
11Z	8051650	314550	А						
11AA	8051650	314600	Α						
11BB	8051650	314650	Α	1					
12Z	8051700	314550	Α						
UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	debitage	cores & bifaces	projectile points	hoes	manos	matate fragments (collected)
------	----------	---------	--------	----------	--------------------	----------------------	------	-------	------------------------------------
12AA	8051700	314600	Α						
12BB	8051700	314650	Α						
13Z	8051750	314550	Α						
13AA	8051750	314600	Α						
13BB	8051750	314650	А						
19EE	8052050	314800	Q						
19FF	8052050	314850	Q						
20EE	8052100	314800	L						
20FF	8052100	314850	L						
21EE	8052150	314800	L						
21FF	8052050	314850	L						
21HH	8052150	314950	L	3					
22EE	8052200	314800	L	4			1		
22FF	8052200	314850	L	4					
22HH	8052200	314950	М						
23DD	8052250	314750	L	5	2			2	
24Y	8052300	314500	L	1					
24Z	8052300	314550	L	5					
24AA	8052300	314600	L						
24GG	8052300	314900	М	3					
25Y	8052350	314500	L						
25Z	8052350	314550	L						
25AA	8052350	314600	L	2					
25BB	8052350	314650	L						
25CC	8052350	314700	L	4				1	
25DD	8052350	314750	L						
25EE	8052350	314800	L						
25FF	8052350	314850	L	1					
25GG	8052350	314900	U	4	1				
26AA	8052400	314600	U						

Table 18. Table with counts of lithic-related materials collected during systematic surface collections (continued).

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	debitage	cores & bifaces	projectile points	hoes	manos	matate fragments (collected)
29II	8052550	315000	U	1					
30CC	8052600	314700	U						
30DD	8052600	314750	U						
30EE	8052600	314800	U	5					
30FF	8052600	314850	U		1				
30GG	8052600	314900	U	11					
17AA	8051950	314600	L						
18AA	8052000	314600	L						
18BB	8052000	314650	L						
19BB	8052050	314650	L						
20BB	8052100	314650	L						
20CC	8052100	314700	L					1	
21BB	8052150	314650	L	1					
21 CC	8052150	314700	L						
21DD	8052150	314750	L						
22CC	8052200	314700	L						
22DD	8052200	314750	L						
23CC	8052250	314700	L						
23EE	8052250	314800	L						
24EE	8052300	314800	L	2					
24FF	8052300	314850	L						

Table 18. Table with counts of lithic-related materials collected during systematic surface collections (continued).

Systematic Surface Collection data was also used as a proxy for population (see 9.1).

Here 0-25 sherds per 100m² was considered low density, 25-200 was considered average, and

200-2000 was considere high density.

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	TOTAL SHERDS
4P	8051300	314050	Α	1
50	8051350	314000	А	20
5P	8051350	314050	Α	70
5Q	8051350	314050	Α	68
5R	8051350	314150	Α	21
60	8051400	314000	Α	265
6P	8051400	314050	А	678
6Q	8051400	314100	Α	150
6R	8051400	314150	А	172
6S	8051400	314200	А	507
6Т	8051400	314251	Α	63
7N	8051450	313950	А	138
70	8051450	314000	А	640
7P	8051450	314050	Α	1613
7Q	8051450	314100	Α	2883
7R	8051450	314150	А	498
7 S	8051450	314200	Α	550
7 T	8051450	314250	Α	40
7U	8051450	314300	Α	28
7V	8051450	314350	Α	0
8M	8051500	313900	Α	123
8N	8051500	313950	Α	170
80	8051500	314000	Α	1181
8P	8051500	314050	Α	1640
8Q	8051500	314100	Α	633
8R	8051500	314150	Α	108

Table 19. Systematic Surface Collection Unit toal ceramic counts - used as proxy for overall surface material density for population estimate.

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	TOTAL SHERDS
8S	8051500	314200	A	186
8T	8051500	314250	Α	10
8U	8051500	314300	А	15
8V	8051500	314350	Α	76
8W	8051500	314400	А	147
8X	8051500	314450	Α	1
8Y	8051500	314500	Α	23
8Z	8051500	314550	Α	18
8AA	8051500	314600	Α	8
9M	8051550	313900	Α	137
9N	8051550	313950	Α	325
90	8051550	314000	Α	592
9P	8051550	314050	Α	334
9Q	8051550	314100	Α	64
9R	8051550	314150	Α	81
95	8051550	314200	Α	60
9T	8051550	314250	Α	3
9U	8051550	314300	Α	14
9V	8051550	314350	Α	35
9W	8051550	314400	Α	129
9X	8051550	314450	Α	166
9Y	8051550	314500	Α	41
9Z	8051550	314550	Α	26
9AA	8051550	314600	Α	186
9BB	8051550	314650	Α	51
10X	8051600	314450	Α	63
10Y	8051600	314500	Α	101
10Z	8051600	314550	Α	52
10AA	8051600	314600	Α	24
10BB	8051600	314650	Α	0
11Z	8051650	314550	Α	105
11AA	8051650	314600	Α	35

Table 19. Systematic Surface Collection Unit toal ceramic counts - used as proxy for overall surface material density for population estimate (continued).

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	TOTAL SHERDS
11BB	8051650	314650	Α	35
12Z	8051700	314550	Α	35
12AA	8051700	314600	Α	5
12BB	8051700	314650	Α	11
13Z	8051750	314550	Α	12
13AA	8051750	314600	Α	31
13BB	8051750	314650	Α	51
19EE	8052050	314800	Q	0
19FF	8052050	314850	Q	0
20EE	8052100	314800	L	0
20FF	8052100	314850	L	1
21EE	8052150	314800	L	2
21FF	8052050	314850	L	0
21HH	8052150	314950	L	0
22EE	8052200	314800	L	113
22FF	8052200	314850	L	13
22HH	8052200	314950	м	0
23DD	8052250	314750	L	268
24Y	8052300	314500	L	3
24Z	8052300	314550	L	55
24AA	8052300	314600	L	31
24GG	8052300	314900	М	2
25Y	8052350	314500	L	2
25Z	8052350	314550	L	6
25AA	8052350	314600	L	85
25BB	8052350	314650	L	2
25CC	8052350	314700	L	9
25DD	8052350	314750	L	11
25EE	8052350	314800	L	0
25FF	8052350	314850	L	12
25GG	8052350	314900	U	1
26AA	8052400	314600	U	0

 Table 19. Systematic Surface Collection Unit toal ceramic counts - used as proxy for overall surface material density for population estimate (continued).

UNIT	northing	easting	SECTOR	TOTAL SHERDS
30EE	8052600	314800	U	3
30FF	8052600	314850	U	2
30GG	8052600	314900	U	3
17AA	8051950	314600	L	12
18AA	8052000	314600	L	81
18BB	8052000	314650	L	54
19BB	8052050	314650	L	229
20BB	8052100	314650	L	228
20CC	8052100	314700	L	187
21BB	8052150	314650	L	480
21CC	8052150	314700	L	86
21DD	8052150	314750	L	19
22CC	8052200	314700	L	161
22DD	8052200	314750	L	402
23CC	8052250	314700	L	445
23EE	8052250	314800	L	620
24EE	8052300	314800	L	570
24FF	8052300	314850	L	106

 Table 19. Systematic Surface Collection Unit toal ceramic counts - used as proxy for overall surface material density for population estimate (continued).

Appendix 2 – Material Densities in Excavated Contexts (2018-19)

This appendix provides a number of summary tables and related graphics relating to material densities as recovered in the 2018-19 excavation blocks. A detailed discussion of these contexts can be found in Chapter 7 (see 7.2) and references to these density figures can be found throughout Section 3 (Chapters 8, 9, 10).

Table 20. Table with material densities of selected material categories as recovered in the five (5)
major 2018-19 excavation blocks. Densities are grams of material per excavated and screened liter
(1) of sediment.

selected material categories	<u>L1L-2019-1</u>	L1L-2019-3	<u>L1A-2019-2</u>	L1A-2019-3	<u>L1U-2019-1</u>
BOTANICS - MAIZE (all)	0.05274	0.42695	0.73769	0.75957	Х
BOTANICS - BEANS (all)	0.01340	0.03380	0.09213	0.00590	X
BOTANICS - GOURD (husk)	0.00516	0.02706	0.05117	0.08123	x
BOTANICS - PEANUT (all)	0.00157	0.00187	0.00016	0.00025	X
BOTANICS - AJI PEPPER (all)	0.00005	0.00120	0.00016	0.00062	X
BOTANICS - PARANCHYMA (TUBER)	0.00005	0.01117	0.03575	Х	Х
BOTANICS - ALGARROBA (all)	0.02923	0.08820	0.35857	0.20256	0.06706
BOTANICS - MOLLE (fruit)	0.04096	0.02453	0.06457	0.02149	0.00172
BOTANICS - PACAE (pods)	X	0.00180	0.00109	0.00206	X
BOTANICS - COCA (all)	0.00010	0.00005	0.00003	0.00004	х
BOTANICS - COTTON (seeds)	0.01072	0.02860	0.04548	0.00177	X
BOTANICS - CACTUS (spines)	0.00010	0.00086	0.00142	Х	0.00022
BOTANICS - WOOD (fragments)	0.22903	0.85456	1.61071	2.26898	0.02000
BOTANICS - CANE (fragments)	0.08314	0.36330	0.50850	0.34200	х
BOTANICS - CARBON (fragments)	0.42503	0.88673	0.29655	1.29538	0.65444
CERAMICS - UTILITARIAN CERAMICS	12.38635	33.72858	49.75181	84.04950	27.54444
CERAMICS - SERVING CERAMICS	0.54301	4.62090	2.10142	3.00619	х
CERAMICS - RITUAL CERAMICS	0.03681	0.01565	0.03323	0.05899	X
CERAMICS - RE-UTILIZED SHERDS	Х	0.25122	0.03291	0.15924	X
FAUNA - LARGE MAMMAL	1.04146	2.25217	5.90961	8.30528	0.07522
FAUNA - SMALL MAMMAL	0.00478	0.00722	0.01917	0.01159	x
FAUNA - MARINE SHELL	0.20986	0.76760	0.69323	0.63874	0.01528
ORGANIC - CAMELID COPROLITES	1.38225	0.10652	0.31976	0.42224	0.05111
ORGANIC - CUY COPROLITES	0.00484	0.02095	0.00646	0.12727	Х
TEXTILE - WOOL	0.08192	0.17601	0.12157	0.31848	X
TEXTILE - COTTON	0.00142	0.01714	0.04227	0.11716	Х



Figure 259. Botanic densities (grams per liter) from the 2018-19 excavation blocks.



Figure 260. Densities (grams per liter) of selected cultigens from the 2018-19 excavation blocks.



Figure 261. Densities (grams per liter) of selected consumable arboreal species from the 2018-19 excavation blocks.



Figure 262. Densities (grams per liter) of coca remains from the 2018-19 excavation blocks.



Figure 263. Densities (grams per liter) of Bulk Botanics from the 2018-19 excavation blocks.



Figure 264. Densities (grams per liter) of textile related botanic remains from the 2018-19 excavation blocks.







Figure 266. Densities (grams per liter) of Organic fauna material and specifically camelid and guinea pig coprolites.



Figure 267. Densities (grams per liter) of major socio-functional Ceramic categories: Utilitarian Ceramics (ollas, tinajas, etc.), Serving Ceramics (keros, tazónes, pitchers, etc.), Ritual Ceramics (incensarios, miniatures), Re-Utilized sherds (spindle whirls, polishers, etc.).



Table 21. Material Densities (grams per liter of excavated sediment) for areas within ExcavationBlock L1L-2019-1.

	А	В	С	D	E	F	G
CER-UTILITARIAN	11.09775	16.56308	10.0419	8.893878	18.3261	6.198889	3.48
CER-SERVING	0.24142	0.470769	3.512381	0.124898	0.646816	0.365	0
CER-RITUAL	0.144379	0	0	0	0.021166	0	0
CER-RE-USE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
BOT-CONSUMABLE	0.325207	0.087692	0.001905	0.07102	0.161076	0.086944	0.046667
BOT-BULK	0.758343	0.223077	0.059048	0.87102	1.126457	0.745556	0.333333
BOT-RITUAL	0.000237	0	0	0	0	0.000278	0
BOT-TEXTILE	0.033136	0	0	0	0.005202	0.0125	0
FAU-CAMELID BONE	1.338698	0.973846	0.095238	0.565714	1.486242	1.268889	0.053333
FAU-RODENT BONE	0.014485	0.015385	0	0.005388	0.003013	0.000667	0
FAU-FISH BONE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
FAU-MOLLUSK	0.326154	0.273846	0.057143	0.074286	0.067803	0.179444	0.742
FAU-CRUSTACEAN	0.016237	0.000615	0	0.001388	0.005381	0.007	0.001333
ORG-CAMELID COPROLITES	1.304142	2.667692	0.735238	3.050612	1.815247	0.555	0.373333
ORG-RODENT COPROLITES	0.006154	0	0	0.00898	0.00104	0.011667	0
LIT-FLAKES	0.581302	13.70154	4.297143	0.617959	2.493274	0.335556	0
TEX-WOOL	0.154793	0.004308	0.001905	0.001061	0.200179	0.004444	0.000667
TEX-COTTON	0	0	0	0.005714	0.004305	0	0

DOMESTIC STRUCTURE L1L-1

Table 22. Material Densities (grams per liter of excavated sediment) for areas within Excavation Block L1L-2019-3.

			DOMESTIC	STRUCTURE1	.1L-2			ALLEY I	DOMESTIC ST	RUCTURE L1L-
									()	
	А	В	С	E	F	G	J	D	Н	I
CER-UTILITARIAN	18.68754	0	12.1669	5.85	91.005	56.8625	3.032727	10.184	4.411429	9.565
CER-SERVING	4.452707	0	1.183448	0.4425	13.16045	5.6725	0.218182	0.5328	0.445714	0
CER-RITUAL	0	0	0	0	0.067273	0	0	0	0	0
CER-RE-USE	0.273973	0	0	0	0.944545	0	0	0	0	0
BOT-CONSUMABLE	0.316243	1.308235	1.213241	0.0215	1.448955	0.72775	1.482909	0.30608	0.308571	0.743
BOT-BULK	1.539465	0.752941	2.401379	0.1475	5.898182	3.82	1.021818	0.8736	1.988571	1.135
BOT-RITUAL	0.000652	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
BOT-TEXTILE	0.00013	0.247059	0.263724	0	0.003636	0	0.020364	0.0576	0.045714	0.0175
FAU-CAMELID BONE	1.515982	0.623529	1.052414	0.1625	6.876364	3.9325	0.32	1.976	2.262857	0.425
FAU-RODENT BONE	0.007958	0.003529	0.010483	0	0.0235	0	0	0.00064	0.022857	0
FAU-FISH BONE	0.001305	0.141176	0.037793	0	0.000273	0.00775	0.071636	0.0008	0.003429	0
FAU-MOLLUSK	0.162166	0.011765	1.170897	0.1075	1.964773	0.41525	1.08	1.28592	1.178286	0.0015
FAU-CRUSTACEAN	0.002087	0.070588	0.066897	0	0.024636	0	0.087273	0.00368	0.003429	0.0145
ORG-CAMELID COPROLITES	0.074364	0	0.085517	0.1375	0.211364	0.07	0	0.0272	0	0.01
ORG-RODENT COPROLITES	0.074234	0	0.004138	0	0.047273	0.06	0	0.0016	0.076571	0.0025
LIT-FLAKES	0	0	0.68069	3.265	0.702727	0	0	0	0	0
TEX-WOOL	0.034573	0	0.044414	0.03	0.695909	0.15625	0	0.0896	0.001143	0.001
TEX-COTTON	0.024788	0	0	0	0	0.2075	0	0.0032	0	0

	ABSENIT	SCARCE	AVERAGE		EVTREME
	ABSENT	SCARCE	AVENAGE	ABONDANT	
CER-UTILITARIAN	0	5.020952	10.0419	50.5234524	91.005
CER-SERVING	0	0.925576	1.851152	7.50580346	13.16045
CER-RITUAL	0	0.006848	0.013695	0.07903692	0.144379
CER-RE-USE	0	0.035839	0.071678	0.50811149	0.944545
BOT-CONSUMABLE	0	0.254618	0.509235	0.99607208	1.482909
BOT-BULK	0	0.69692	1.393841	3.64601125	5.898182
BOT-RITUAL	0	3.43E-05	6.86E-05	0.00036047	0.000652
BOT-TEXTILE	0	0.020781	0.041563	0.15264341	0.263724
FAU-CAMELID BONE	0	0.733209	1.466418	4.17139084	6.876364
FAU-RODENT BONE	0	0.003174	0.006347	0.01492368	0.0235
FAU-FISH BONE	0	0.007769	0.015539	0.0783577	0.141176
FAU-MOLLUSK	0	0.26761	0.535219	1.2499961	1.964773
FAU-CRUSTACEAN	0	0.008972	0.017944	0.05260825	0.087273
ORG-CAMELID COPROLITES	0	0.326977	0.653953	1.85228287	3.050612
ORG-RODENT COPROLITES	0	0.008652	0.017303	0.04693736	0.076571
LIT-FLAKES	0	0.784564	1.569129	7.63533359	13.70154
TEX-WOOL	0	0.041772	0.083544	0.38972647	0.695909
TEX-COTTON	0	0.007221	0.014442	0.1109708	0.2075

 Table 23. Material Densities (grams per liter of excavated sediment) key used in bipartite nework visualizations.

Appendix 3 – Example Field Forms Used for Data Collection at Cerro San Antonio (L1)

This appendix includes examples of field forms and other data collection forms utilized in the field and laboratory work described in this dissertation. Chapter 4, which centers on describing methods, has the most pertinent discussion referencing these forms.

Tamaño 2 x 4 Debajo de: Niv. 3 Asociado con: Niv. 4			
Debajo de: Niv. 3 Asociado con: Niv. 4	Tipo de Nivel Área Datum L1L-3 Elevación baio Datum	superior de	nivel)
Asociado con: Niv. 4	Area C EXT C Elevación bajo Datum	base de nive	el) 5 - 27
	superpiso - Areas B, C-N, C-S Datum-donde? too	0	
Cernido Malla Fina	Volumen - Tierra 8.00 Volumen - Piedras 0.00 Vo	lumen - Ado	bes 0.0
Suelo - textura de matr	z limo con arena Suelo - color Munsell 7.5YR 7/2 d	on 10YR 8/4	
Inclusiones Cascajo, C	eniza, Botánicos, Carbón inclusiones describa Cascajo-poco, Ceniza- Carbón-poco	ooca, Botánio	cos-poco,
	Super Piso describa rellenc		
Categoría de Relleno OTRO OBSERVACIONI	incluía limpieza de baulk alrededor de dato. Manchas de Ashy encontra parecen ser hogares informales (probablemente solo uso individual) - i Recogido muestras de tierra de 0.5 litros (N2177 E682).	este de la uni das primero ncluye tierra	en Niv. 3 quemada.
Categoría de Relleno OTRO OBSERVACIONI	incluía limpieza de baulk alrededor de dato. Manchas de Ashy encontra parecen ser hogares informales (probablemente solo uso individual) - i Recogido muestras de tierra de 0.5 litros (N2177 E682).	este de la uni das primero ncluye tierra	en Niv. 3 quemada.
Categoría de Relleno — OTRO OBSERVACIONI — — — — — — — — — — — — —	incluía limpieza de baulk alrededor de dato. Manchas de Ashy encontra parecen ser hogares informales (probablemente solo uso individual) - i Recogido muestras de tierra de 0.5 litros (N2177 E682).	este de la uni das primero ncluye tierra	en Niv. 3 quemada.
Categoría de Relleno OTRO OBSERVACIONI Espécimen Mate 3665 Cerámica	al	este de la uni das primero ncluye tierra Peso (g) 82.6	en Niv. 3 quemada.
Categoría de Relleno OTRO OBSERVACIONI Espécimen Mate 3665Cerámica 3665Terátiles	al Material Descripción Tiwanaku Ilana no diag. (7), diag. (1)	Peso (g) 82.6 1.5	Caja 4 8
Categoría de Relleno OTRO OBSERVACIONI Espécimen Mate 3665 Cerámica 3666 Textiles 3667 Fauna 3668 hotánico	al Material Descripción Tiwanaku Ilana no diag. (7), diag. (1) Iana, cuerda hueso - roedor, camélido, pez, molusco - choro, crustáceo cemilidade diagonalizational diagonalizationali distribute distrite dindicenter di dindindicenter distribute di	Peso (g) Peso (g) 1.5 1.5 2.1	Caja 4 9 12
Categoría de Relleno OTRO OBSERVACIONI Espécimen Mate 3665 Cerámica 3666 Textiles 3667 Fauna 3668 Botánico 3668 Otágineo	al Material Descripción Tiwanaku Ilana no diag. (7), diag. (1) Ilana, cuerda hueso - roedor, camélido, pez, molusco - choro, crustáceo semillas - varios, maíz marlo, carbón, madera, algodón	Peso (g) Peso (g) 1.5 1.5 92.1 0.4	Caja 4 9 12 14
Categoría de Relleno OTRO OBSERVACIONI Espécimen Mate 3665 Cerámica 3666 Textiles 3666 Textiles 3668 Orgánico 3669 Orgánico 36700 tro	al Material Descripción al Material Descripción Tiwanaku Ilana no diag. (7), diag. (1) Iana, cuerda hueso - roedor, camélido, pez, molusco - choro, crustáceo semilias - varios, maiz mario, carbón, madera, algodón corportio - camélido, cuy tierra vitrificado	Peso (g) 82.6 1.5 1.5 92.1 0.4 18.8	Caja 4 9 12 14 15
Categoría de Relleno OTRO OBSERVACIONI Espécimen Mate 3665 Cerámica 3666 Textiles 3667 Fauna 3668 Orgánico 3669 Orgánico 36700 tro 3671 Cuenta	al Material Descripción Tiwanaku Ilana no diag. (7), diag. (1) Ilana, cuerda hueso - roedor, camélido, pez, molusco - choro, crustáceo semillas - varios, amái (andic, cuy tierra Uterra	Peso (g) 82.6 1.5 1.5 92.1 0.4 18.8 0.03 6 28 1	Caja 4 9 12 14 15 15
Categoría de Relleno OTRO OBSERVACIONI Espécimen Mate 3665 Cerámica 3666 Textiles 3666 Textiles 3668 Botánico 3669 Orgánico 3670 Otro 3671 Cuenta 4120 Tierra	al Alexa C - Central es diau Usra relativalmente grande a lo largo del tado o incluía limpieza de baulk alrededor de dato. Manchas de Ashy encontra parecen ser hogares informales (probablemente solo uso individual) - i Recogido muestras de tierra de 0.5 litros (N2177 E682). al Material Descripción Tiwanaku llana no diag. (7), diag. (1) Iana, cuerda hueso - redor, camélido, pez, molusco - choro, crustáceo semillas - varios, maíz marlo, carbón, madera, algodón coprolito - camélido, cuy tierra vitrificado litico (1) 0.5 litro 0.5 litro	Peso (g) 82.6 1.5 92.1 0.4 18.8 0.03 638.1 612.3	Caja 4 8 9 12 14 15 15 18 18

Figure 269. Example output from Locus #-based database used to correlate major context and material driven data collection in the field and lab.

sitio	L7 Mrc	Sector	A	Unidad 9	M	_ L	ocus		Ubicación (esq.	SW): N 1550	_E_ <u>5700</u>	
bicación	ble /115	1805 15	Fecha 29	-A60-1	6				Colecciones:	(Materia)	Decerioción	
orma de	Unidad: Or	adricula da	10 E 3	0 6	Tamaño/o	Otre			Lopecimen	Material	Descripcion	
ta de l	nidad: 10	O	10 A 1	GPS:	PHZ	7			17=2121	Ceranica	Tiw.rgb(1), Sen Mi	guel (3)
o de U	nidad: Reco	lección Siste	mática V	Unidad	arquitectón	ica C	tro	1	L7=2122	L'Yico-Tallado	nucleo (1) lasca(1)	and the second
texto	Cultural: Se	ctor Habitac	ional VS	ector Mortu	orioOt	ro	_		17=2123	Fernance	moligeo (5 freg)	
mento	s Arquitectó	nicos: Depós	sitos; M	ontículo de j	piedras;	Muros de p	iedra; M	uros de Adob		A CARLES AND A CARLES	Modeline, soula	
as	Terrazas sin	pircas; T	fumbas;	Túmulos	_; Otro	;						
ndición	de Superfie	eie: Intacta y	patinada 🗸	Disturbio	Pre-Hispáni	ico: Dist	urbio Moder	mo:				
aqueo	nada / . no	co i medi		aba est								and and the second
scriba:		, medi		ext	reni0							
niza V	olcánica: Ca	pa intacta	; Capa par	cial; No	hay							and the second s
scriba:												
TEDI												terr merusa
TER	ALES CUL	URALES:										
rámica	Tiwanaku	Recogido?	Tiwanaku	Tiwanaku	Tumilaca	Tumilaca	Otros #1	Otros #2				
	Cerámica Llana		Cerámica Engobe Rojo	Cerámica Negra	Cerámica Llana	Cerámica Engobe Rojo	(describir)	(describir)				
diag.	136											
g.	0		1				3					
al	136	0	1				3					
cos Pu	lidos (contai): manos	_; batanes	; morte	eros; c	otros			Fotos (camera y núm Tipo de Dibujos _	cros)		The second s
cos Ta	llados (conta	r): azadas	; lascas _	/; núcleo	os; pu	ntas			Otras observacio	nes:		And a state of the
criba:									-North ed	se of unit goes	off the edge	
una du	a: huesos_		_; molusci	os 5 fres		; otros			(north	slope -steep) of	sector	11+1-1-1-1-
				,				A STREET	- E Q.	and a fai		
ros Mat	eríales:			L. Lo			1		-rew deco	miled Sun Migu	el sherds lecaneel	and the second s
												17 .
												1

Figure 270. Example Systematic Surface Collection field form used in 2015, 2016, and 2018-19 field seasons.

sition / "	1 50000	Λ						Locus	Unidad	(; Nit	vel	_; Area_	11	-		
Unidad:	1 Nium	17	Anna A					Locus	Croqui							
N:805	422	514	107 Ta	maño/orien	maritan Za	.2						-	-	-		
Iniciales:	MUS F	cha: 17	1-AGO-16	nanor on con	acron				17							
Datum:	1	Elev	ación bajo Datur	n (base de l	nivel) 77	cm	Donde? SV	1050				É.				
Tipo de N	Nivel: Unidad	Entera	: Cuadricu	a : A	rea/Zona de	e Cuadricula	; Otro	- set				F		Area B		
Debajo di	e: Nivel 7											5		NOEX	cindo	
Asociado	con (y como	:										1				
Cernido:	x": Ma	lla Fina	; No Cern	ido:	Otro	_						F				
volumen: Tierra; Otro 1; Otro 2												F				
Suelo: Te	ivelo: Textura de Matriz omo con arena : Color Munsell 7.57R 5/4											F				
Inclusion	es: Cascajo_v	nucho	; Ceniza	poro	, Botánicos	mucho	_; Carbón_f	2000 ;	73			4				
Arcilla	; Ad	obes	; Otr	01		; Otro 2						F		Contraction of the local division of the loc		(1:
Categoría de Relleno: Eólico 🟒; Ceniza Volcánica; Derrumbe Arquitectura; Capa de Barro;								Barro;	1 1			2	. 15.	11-1-	_11	
Super Pis	Super Piso_; Piso_; Otro Celleno basural											Y	11-			
MATER Cerámica:	Tiwanaku	Rec	Tiwanaku	Tiwanaku	Tumilaca	Tumilaca	Otros #1	Otros #2								
	Llana	ogia o?	Rojo	Negra	Llana	Engobe	(describe)	(describur)				1000				
No Dieg	-					huju				AR-1						
No.Diag	460	V	-							1						
Diag.	15	1	20													
Total	475	5	20													
-	TIP								22			16.5				17
Líticos (ta	allados, puilid	os) (24	x 45 (5)						Escala:					1.	The Cold State	
Cestería/	Cuerda										1 11 11		1. 1	11		
Artefactos									Otro Ob	bservaciones: Ar	rea A = L-a	ireped	rock pi	ling		
Cuentas_	-						-		-	·Remarkla	nll stones	expos	ed on s	urface.	frack	pile
Metal									-	removing	laver und	ler ro	rck -d	lense w	Colta	in
Fauna du	Found dura: huesos 1/2 bols ting ; moluscos 1/2 bols frice ; otros (under a) = (5 fric)									erent.						() · · ·
Fauna orgánicos: coprolitos poco ; pelo poco ; plumas 1 ; otros										crposed y	sonull, roi	ughly	circular	stein	in the	. Jh
Botánico	Botánicos maiz modo (75 frez.), calabrea (24 frez.), madora (mach), sen 1/45; carbon mucho									of oreal	AR-1)	,	1.0			
Muestras	(tierra, C14,	mineral,	otro) fierra (1 1:1-0)		CI Walter	(1.1	-	relativelyc	r bitray	end	wint o	of level	- en	-of-
Material	arquitectónic	a (cana,	ichu, adobe)								/					
Restos hu	umanos															
										10.		an e o	125			

Figure 271. Example Excavation – Level/Area form used in 2016 test excavation.

Silito: <u>L1</u> sector: <u>L</u> Unidad: <u>3</u> Nivel: <u>3</u> Area: <u>D</u> <u>pr</u> TN 	Locus <u>54/2</u>	Unidad <u>3</u> Niver <u>3</u> Area <u>1</u> Croquis:	LEXTN
Iniciales: MJS Feebour/8- Z-19	JX JM	1	
Datum: L/L-3 Elevación baix Danum (basa da qual)	cm Donde?	No Excerta	
Tipo de Nivel: Unidad Entera : Cuadricula : Área/Zona de l	Cuadricula Ctro	1	
Debajo de: Niu 2 - cumil c W3, z	-		
Asociado con (y como): NIV 3 - UNID 3		er l	TTA
Cernido: 1/4" Malla Fina No Cernido Otro	-	ar l	1
Volumen: Tierra Otro 1; Otro 2;	1078.84	1	PUL
Suelo; Textura de Matriz	tunsell_101.K_9/4		1
Inclusiones: Cascajo; Ceniza; Botánicos_	poro; Carbón_poro;	Area D	1
Arcilla; Adobes; Otro 1	Otro 2	EXTN	Y
Categoria de Relleno: Eólico // Ceniza Volcanica: Derrumpe Arc	uitectura capa de Barro	1	
		O29 Aver	Aren A ENTIN
Ceramica: Towanaku Rec Tiwanaku Tiwanaku Turninea Ceramica: Towanaku Rec Tiwanaku Ceramica Ceramica	Ceramica Otros #1 Otros #2 Ceramica (describir) (describir)	5TN	the second se
1.lana o? Roto Negra Ulana	Engobe Roto		eg l
No Dian		Ava	
No.Diag		D	& Are A
Diag.		Aren	3
Totai		C Iluña	3
		po north	8
Liticos (tallados, pullidos)			N
Cesteria/Cuerda		Escala:	and the second
Artefactos			
Cuentas		Otro Observaciones:	
Metal		- Komored wind blown selfine	at from the northern extension
Textiles gruesso, lance, algodon, hilos		of Area D	
Fauna dura: huesos condición moluscos cooro como		- usha nambu arman .	$\mu D = C h$
Pauna orgánicos: coprolitos (wy) pelo plomas_	: carbón (Asro	y my experie h	and you as southern g
Botanicos mer lo Seminas I central provide and		- mest of material from	clong guitches and nothern
Muestras (tierra, C14, mineral, otto)		edge of onen	
Material arquitectonica (cana, icito, osobo)			

Figure 272. Example Excavation – Level/Area form used in 2018-19 excavations.

AL Z	018-/1		-			Sec. 1	C. C.			Estrategia Reco	leccio.	1	Pagina </th <th></th>	
1	7150	L	7100	N ONE DIED	1	Nivel	Area	Rasgo	Material	Descripción	Cantidad	Peso	Ceje Iniciales	6
1	2151	J	L	10000100	1314700	JAR	-		CER	1.0.1010 (5)	5	-	MID	-6
1	2,57		7700	Promazon .	211700	100	-	-	FAU	Molaco-Choro(5 heg), 011Va (1 mg	6	-		-
	2153	1	1	ascau	1319700	SUT	-	-	CER	Tim (lene diagi(5), rojo (3)	18		NoD2	P
	2154				1		-	-	CER	acrilla trozo - producción (?)	1			1.
	715	1	2.00	ONTOICO		V	~	-	+AU	molusce - choro (3 tres)	3	-		-
	2121	L	2100	0052150	319950	SUP	-	-	ERK	Tiw (0)0 (2)	2		MJS	5-
-	2157	+	Jure	0	2141200	4.5	-	-	FAU	malusco-chara(1 kmg)	8		¥	1
	2127	L	CTEE	1	1 1 1 1 1	JUP .	-		CER	Tim Ilano diag (15), 10, 10 (18)	55	-	M35	10-
-	2100			+ l					L17-7A	105105 (2)	2			
-	212.7		2200	0.000	~	~	~	-	FAU	CUPICO (IFMS)	8		4	14
-	6160	L	2300	0072250	319700	JUN	-	-	CER	T. w. 110-20 diag. (12), 1010 (31)	-18			3.
-	2161	1	170	4	4	¥	-	-	FAU	molunco-charo (2 Frag)	5	-		~
-	2/62	0	120	805 1700	33450	395		-	1 EIK	T.W. llove divey (2), 10,0 (5)	+		M)S	10
	2163	+	4	4	*	¥			TEX	terilo queso (ital), conder l'in) 14	5	-		
-	269	- C	121	805/700	313700	500	-	-	CER	LIP llene dirs. (25), Joc. (12)	90	-	/*133	S. 10
-	2/65		+/-				-	-	LITTAL	105005 (3)	3	53		
-	2160	4	4	V	~	~	~	-	FAU	Moluse of - Lorios (17) - seelise	8	-		7
_	2167	C	140	8051800	314000	SUP	-	-	CER	LIP Marce (36), San Migar (5), Jon Line	12 53	-	Mis	
_	2168	1	1	1	+	1	~		FAU	molusio-varias (3 freg)	3	-	~	
_	2169	0	131	8051750	313850	52P	-	-	CER	LIP Ilong dies (67) Contain (up)	101		M34	*
	2170				1	1	-	-	TEX	testill freq lana	S			
	2/71						-	-	FAU	Moi-ro-una (3 fres)-comido	14			
	2172						-	-	MET	cobre (1143)	1			
1	2173	1	1	~	~	V	-	-	ART	broches (so moders y low)	1			

Figure 273. Sample page from the master Specimen Log, used to record materials collected at Cerro San Antonio (L1) in all collection methods.

Appendix 4 – Supplemental Site (L1 – Cerro San Antonio) Maps & Field Photos

This appendix provides supplemental figures pertaining to Cerro San Antonio (L1). These are primarily in the form of various maps and any number of field photos²¹⁴ taken while visiting and working at the site between 2012 and 2019. These supplemental figures are particularly pertinent for sector and other site feature descriptions in Chapter 3.



Figure 274. Photo of Cerro San Antonio as viewed from the north, looking south.

²¹⁴ These photos are my own unless otherwise noted.

Formative Period

Remains associated with the Formative Period were relatively limited at Cerro San Antonio.



Figure 275. Map of western edge of Cerro San Antonio (L1), centered on Sector H (L1H), the only sector dating exclusively to the Formative Period – a mortuary sector composed of burial mounds (*tumulos*).



Figure 276. Photo of Formative-style *tumulos* at the western edge of Cerro San Antonio (L1G) – view facing north-northwest.



Figure 277. Low-altitude photo of the *tumulos* (burial mounds) which are definitive features of the Formative Period in the Valles Occidentales. Insert: vertical posts protruding from one of the mounds, suggesting an interior structure.

Middle Horizon

Remains associated with the Middle Horizon Period, and specifically Tiwanaku, are the focus of this dissertation and are discussed extensively in the text. As such, supplemental images are limited here.



Figure 278. Low-altitude UAV photo centered on Sector A and including several of the surrounding cemetery sectors – view facing due east.



Figure 279. Photo of typical quebrada rock pile-midden deposits that define Tiwanaku domestic Sector L - view facing west by southwest.



Figure 280. Photo of Tiwanaku cemetery, Sector B – view facing east, standing at southern edge of Sector A - view looking roughly southeast.



Figure 281. Photos of typical examples of Tiwanaku-style collared tombs as encountered at Cerro San Antonio (L1).



Figure 282. Tiwanaku-associated major pathways and walking paths.

Late Intermediate Period

Some of the most extensive archaeological remains at Cerro San Antonio are associated with various cultures (or at least stylistic trends) that comprise the Late Intermediate Period. The LIP cultures represented at Cerro San Antonio include the Chiribaya, San Miguel, and Gentilar styles (see Chapter 3).



Figure 283. Map displaying the primary Late Intermediate Period era occupation and use of the site, centered on Sector C, and eight (8) associated mortuary sectors.



Figure 284. UAV photo of eastern half of Sector C; including the peak occupation sector, the eastern plaza, and eastern wall with LIP-era cemeteries indicated - view looking east by southeast.



Figure 285. Field stone domestic platforms in the primary LIP domestic area of Sector C.



Figure 286. View (looking east) of eastern field stone wall that protects the southern flank of the Sector C hilltop settlement.



Figure 287. Sector C (L1C) eastern plaza, viewed from the ground (looking south) as well as a low altitude UAV photo.



Figure 288. Examples of subsurface tomb types found in Sector C: including non-Tiwanaku finemasonry rectangular tombs as well as deep (2-4 meters) circular cist tombs.



Figure 289. Remains of *chulpas* (and looted human remains) Sector P at Cerro San Antonio (L1P).

Colonial and Historic Periods

The site of Cerro San Antonio contains formal sectors that date to Colonial (post- ca. AD 1532) and early Historic (pre- ca. AD 1800) contexts as well.



Figure 290. UAV photo of the Colonial-era bodega and surrounding structures that comprise Sector J at Cerro San Antonio (L1J).


Figure 291. The Sector J (L1J) bodega.



Figure 292. Colonial/Historic-era features and materials from L1: including the historic structure in Sector N (L1N) and decorated porcelain, glass, and a late Colonial coin recovered on the surface.

Looting and Modern Disturbances

As discussed in Chapter 3 the site of Cerro San Antonio has been subject to major disturbances and specifically targeted looting events, both recently and in the past (see 3.2). This subsection provides some additional maps and images which document some of the most pronounced disturbance and looting events.



Figure 293. Map showing locations of various modern (and recent historic) disturbances as discussed in the text.



Figure 294. Examples of formal disturbances made to the site (L1), over the last 100 years include a) a relic hillside geoglyph made in 1955, still visible in low altitude drone photos, and (b)b permanent survey markers.



Figure 295. isturbances to the site include remnants from informal land claims, often demarcated by linear arrangements of rock cairns (a) or systematic clearing of sherds and other remains (b).



Figure 296. Map of Cerro San Antonio (L1) illustrating the mortuary sectors that have been looted, including estimated and documented periods in which the looting took place.



Figure 297. Images illustrating sthe extent of the 2015-16 looting events, including (bottom) materials abandoned or not yet collected by looters and (top) PAL 2016 field school members working to map the disturbances for MNC.



Figures 298. Extent of looting from 2014 and 2015-16 l events), including: (from top to bottom) San Miguel ceramics and basketry, wooden kero with pan pipe and basket, textile bag (chuspa) with coca , and collection of materials piled up by looters (including a pile of human teeth).



Figure 299. Photos of animal remains found in looted Late Intermediate Period mortuary contexts (primarily Chiribaya), including (top) multiple mummified dog remains as well as (bottom) collections of camelid feet.



Figure 300. Photo of the materials recovered from major arrest of Cerro San Antonio (L1) looters in 2016 (photo courtesy J. Ortega).



Figure 301. Examples from ceramics recovered from 2016 looter arrest, ceramics are primary from Tiwanaku, Chiribaya, San Miguel, and Gentilar styles (photos courtesy of J. Ortega).



Figure 302. Basketry recovered from 2016 looter arrest at Cerro San Antonio, likely mixed non-Tiwanaku and some Tiwanaku contexts (photos courtesy of J. Ortega).



Figure 304. Textile-realated items recovered during the 2016 looter arrestat Cerro San Antonio, including various non-Tiwanaku decorated tunics and mantas, bags, and belts (photos courtesy of J. Ortega).



Figure 305. Implements recovered from the 2016 looter arrest at Cerro San Antonio (L1). , including musical instruments (including a full drum), weaving and agricultural implements, and dozens of wooden spoons of non-Tiwanaku style (photos courtesy of J. Ortega).

Petroglyphs

As noted in the text, one of the most widely known archaeological features included in the Cerro San Antonio (L1) complex are the petroglyph covered boulders which clutter the sites valley-side margins. While I am still working to systematically document and analyze these features, included below are some selected images.



Figure 306. Selected photos of petroglyphs at Cerro San Antonio (L1).



Figure 307. Additional selected photos of petroglyphs at Cerro San Antonio (L1).

WORKS CITED

Abbott, Mark B, Michael W Binford, Mark Brenner and Kerry R Kelts

1997 A 3500 14 C yr high-resolution record of water-level changes in Lake Titicaca, Bolivia/Peru. *Quaternary research* 47(2):169-180.

Abbott, Mark B, Brent B Wolfe, Alexander P Wolfe, Geoffrey O Seltzer, Ramon Aravena, Brian G Mark, Pratigya J Polissar, Donald T Rodbell, Harry D Rowe and Mathias Vuille

Holocene paleohydrology and glacial history of the central Andes using multiproxy lake sediment studies. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 194(1):123-138.

Abercrombie, Thomas A

1998 *Pathways of memory and power: Ethnography and history among an Andean people.* Univ of Wisconsin Press.

Abrutyn, Seth

2013 *Revisiting institutionalism in sociology: Putting the "institution" back in institutional analysis* 116. Routledge.

Adams, Robert McCormick

1966 The evolution of urban society: early Mesopotamia and prehispanic Mexico. Routledge.

1974 Anthropological perspectives on ancient trade. *Current Anthropology* 15:239-258.

2001 Complexity in Archaic States. Journal of Anthropological Archaeology 20(3):345-360.

Adams, William, Elizabeth Watson and Samuel Mutiso

1997 Water, rules and gender: Water rights in an indigenous irrigation system, Marakwet, Kenya. *Development and Change* 28(4):707-730.

Aedo, Angel

2018 Where places fold: The co-production of matter and meaning in an Aymara ritual setting. *Journal of Material Culture* 24(1):101-121.

Agüero, Carolina and Mauricio Uribe

2011 Las sociedades Formativas de San Pedro de Atacama: Asentamiento, cronología y proceso. *Estudios atacameños* (42):53-78.

Alarcón, Reynaldo Paredes

2004 The Tinku: A Model of the Philosophy of Conflict. *Indigenous Peoples, Conflict Resolution* & Sustainable Development:403.

Alarcon, Tomas

Ayllu, The: The Basic Social Unit of the Aymara People. . Thomas L. Rev. 14:449.

Albarracín-Jordán, Juan

1996 Tiwanaku settlement system: The integration of nested hierarchies in the lower Tiwanaku Valley. *Latin American Antiquity*:183-210.

1999 The archaeology of Tiwanaku: the myths, history, and science of an ancient Andean civilization. Impresion PAP.

Albarracin-Jordan, Juan, José M Capriles and Melanie J Miller

2014 Transformations in ritual practice and social interaction on the Tiwanaku periphery. *Antiquity* 88(341):851-862.

Alberti, Giorgio, Roderick E Burchard, César Fonseca Martel, Enrique Mayer, Glynn Custred, Billie Jean
Isbell, Benjamín Orlove, Ralph Bolton, Jacques Malengreau and Christopher D Scott
1974 Reciprocidad e intercambio en los Andes peruanos.

Alcock, Susan E

2001 Empires: Perspectives from archaeology and history 122. Cambridge University Press.

Alconini, Sonia

1995 Rito, símbolo e historia en la pirámide de Akapana, Tiwanaku: Un análisis de cerámica ceremonial prehispánica. *Editorial Acción, La Paz*.

2008 Dis-embedded centers and architecture of power in the fringes of the Inka empire: New perspectives on territorial and hegemonic strategies of domination. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 27(1):63-81.

Aldenderfer, Mark

- 1989 The archaic period in the South-Central Andes. *Journal of world prehistory* 3(2):117-158.
- 1991 Continuity and change in ceremonial structures at late Preceramic Asana, southern Peru. *Latin American Antiquity*:227-258.

1998 *Montane foragers: Asana and the south-central Andean archaic.* University of Iowa Press.

2006 Modelling plateau peoples: the early human use of the world's high plateaux. *World Archaeology* 38(3):357-370.

High elevation foraging societies. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 131-143. Springer.

Aldenderfer, Mark, Amanada Cohen and Charles Stanish

2005 *Advances in Titicaca Basin Archaeology-1*. Memoirs of the Museum of Anthropology 54. University of Michigan

Alderman, Jonathan David

2015 Mountains as actors in the Bolivian Andes: The interrelationship between politics and ritual in the Kallawaya ayllus. *The Unfamiliar* 5(1-2).

Algaze, Guillermo

1993 Expansionary dynamics of some early pristine states. *American Anthropologist*:304-333.

2005 The Uruk World System: the dynamics of expansion of early Mesopotamian civilization. University of Chicago Press.

Algaze, Guillermo, Geoff Emberling, Marcella Frangipane, Robert C Hunt, Justin Jennings, Augusta McMahon, Piotr Michalowski, Michael E Smith, José Lobo and Piotr Steinkeller

2018 Entropic cities: The paradox of urbanism in ancient Mesopotamia. *Current Anthropology* 59(1):39-39.

Allen, Catherine J

1986a Coca and cultural identity in Andean communities. *Coca and cocaine: effects on people and policy in Latin America* 23.

1986b The hold life has: Coca and cultural identity in an Andean community. Smithsonian Institution.

1993 Time, place and narrative in an Andean community. *Bulletin Société Suisse des Américanistes* 1994:57.

2011 Foxboy: intimacy and aesthetics in Andean stories. University of Texas Press.

2015 The Whole World Is Watching: New Perspectives on Andean Animism:23-46.

Allen, Mark W and Terry L Jones

2016 Violence and warfare among hunter-gatherers. Routledge.

Allison, James R

2008 Exchanging identities: Early Pueblo I red ware exchange and identity north of the San Juan River. *The social construction of communities: agency, structure, and identity in the Prehispanic Southwest*:41-68.

Allison, Penelope M

1999 The archaeology of household activities. Psychology Press.

Althusser, Louis

2006 Ideology and ideological state apparatuses (notes towards an investigation). *The anthropology of the state: A reader*.86-111.

Alva, Walter

2001 The royal tombs of Sipán: Art and power in Moche society. *Studies in the History of Art* 63:222-245.

Álvarez Larrain, Alina and Catriel Greco

2018 Political Landscapes of the Late Intermediate Period in the Southern Andes: The Pukaras and Their Hinterlands. Springer.

Ames, Kenneth M

2010 On the evolution of the human capacity for inequality and/or egalitarianism. In *Pathways to power*, pp. 15-44. Springer.

Amici, Federica, Filippo Aureli and Josep Call

2008 Fission-fusion dynamics, behavioral flexibility, and inhibitory control in primates. *Current Biology* 18(18):1415-1419.

Anders, Martha Biggar

1986 Dual organization and calendars inferred from the planned site of Azangaro: Wari administrative strategies, Cornell University.

Anderson, Benedict

1983 Imagined communities: Reflections on the origin and spread of nationalism. Verso Books.

Anderson, David G and J Christopher Gillam

2000 Paleoindian colonization of the Americas: implications from an examination of physiography, demography, and artifact distribution. *american antiquity* 65(1):43-66.

Anderson, Karen

2009 Tiwanaku influence on local drinking patterns in Cochabamba, Bolivia. In *Drink, power, and society in the Andes*, pp. 167-199.

2013 Tiwanaku Influence on the Central Valley of Cochabamba. In *Visions of Tiwanaku*, pp. 87-112.

Anderson, Philip W

1972 More is different. *Science* 177(4047):393-396.

Andersson, Claes, Anton Törnberg and Petter Törnberg

2014 Societal systems-complex or worse? *Futures* 63:145-157.

Arkush, Elizabeth and Hugo C. Ikehara

2019 Pucarani: Defensive monumentality and political leadership in the late pre-Columbian Andes. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 53:66-81.

Arkush, Elizabeth N

2008 War, chronology, and causality in the Titicaca Basin. *Latin American Antiquity*:339-373.

2011 *Hillforts of the Ancient Andes: Colla warfare, society, and landscape.* University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

2012 Violence, indigeneity, and archaeological interpretation in the Central Andes. In *The Ethics of Anthropology and Amerindian Research*, pp. 289-309. Springer.

Arkush, Elizabeth N and Tiffiny A Tung

2013 Patterns of war in the Andes from the Archaic to the Late Horizon: insights from settlement patterns and cranial trauma. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 21(4):307-369.

Arnauld, M Charlotte, Linda R Manzanilla and Michael E Smith

2012 The neighborhood as a social and spatial unit in mesoamerican cities. University of Arizona Press.

Arnold, Dean E

1998 Andean ceramic technology: An ethnoarchaeological perspective. *MASCA Research Papers in Science and Archaeology* 15:353-367.

Arnold, Denise Y

1991 The house of earth-bricks and Inka-stones: Gender, memory, and cosmos in Qaqachaka. *Journal of Latin American Lore* 17(1-2):3-69.

1997 Using ethnography to unravel different kinds of knowledge in the Andes. *Journal of Latin American Cultural Studies* 6(1):33-50.

Arnold, Denise Y and Elvira Espejo

2015 The Andean Science of Weaving: structures and techniques of warp-faced weavings. Thames & Hudson.

- Arnold, Denise Y and Christine A Hastorf 2016 Heads of state: icons, power, and politics in the ancient and modern Andes. Routledge.
- Arnold, Denise Y and J. Yapita 2006 The metamorphosis of heads: Textual struggles, education, and land in the Andes. University of Pittsburgh Pre.

 Arriaza, Bernardo T, Vivien G Standen, Vicki Cassman and Calogero M Santoro
2008 Chinchorro culture: pioneers of the coast of the Atacama Desert. In *The handbook of* South American archaeology, pp. 45-58. Springer.

Artemova, Olga Yu

2000 Monopolization of information and social inequality. *THEORIES OF SOCIAL EVOLUTION*:211-220.

Ashmore, Wendy and Richard R Wilk

1988 House and household in the Mesoamerican past. *Household and community in the Mesoamerican past*:1-28.

Astuhuamán Gonzáles, César and Richard E Daggett

2006 Julio César Tello Rojas: Arqueólogo. Una biografía.

Astvaldsson, Astvaldur

2000 The dynamics of Aymara duality: Change and continuity in sociopolitical structures in the Bolivian Andes. *Journal of Latin American Studies* 32(1):145-174.

Athenstädt, Jan C, Barbara J Mills and Ulrik Brandes

2018 Social networks and similarity of site assemblages. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 92:63-72.

Atkinson, Jane Monnig

1992 The art and politics of Wana shamanship. Univ of California Press.

Atwood, Roger

2007 Peru's mummy dogs. *Archaeology* 60(1):42-43.

Augustine, Jonah Michael Fares

2019 Style, Aesthetics, and Politics: Polychrome Ceramic Iconography in the Tiwanaku Valley, AD 500-1100, The University of Chicago.

Augustyniak, Szymon

2004 Dating the Tiwanaku State. Chungara:19-35.

Aureli, Filippo, Colleen M Schaffner, Christophe Boesch, Simon K Bearder, Josep Call, Colin A Chapman, Richard Connor, Anthony Di Fiore, Robin IM Dunbar and S Peter Henzi

2008 Fission-fusion dynamics: new research frameworks. *Current Anthropology* 49(4):627-654.

Aveni, Anthony F

1986 The Nazca lines: patterns in the desert. *Archaeology* 39(4):32-39.

Ayca Gallegos, O

2006 Tacna prehispánica: Instituto de Estudios Andinos del Sur.

2010 Yacimientos arqueológicos Monumentos Históricos: Municipalidad Provincial Jorge Basadre.

Backhaus, Jürgen

1980 The Pareto Principle. Analyse & Kritik 2(2):146-171.

Bafna, Sonit

2003 Space syntax: A brief introduction to its logic and analytical techniques. *Environment and behavior* 35(1):17-29.

Baianu, Ion C and Roberto Poli

2010 From simple to complex and ultra-complex systems: A paradigm shift towards nonabelian systems dynamics.

Baitzel, Sarah I

2016 The politics of death and identity in provincial Tiwanaku society (AD 600–1100), UC San Diego.

Baitzel, Sarah I and Paul S Goldstein

2014 More than the sum of its parts: Dress and social identity in a provincial Tiwanaku child burial. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 35:51-62.

Baitzel, Sarah I and Arturo F Rivera Infante

2019 Prehispanic presence, settlement patterns and ecological complementarity in the lomas of the Sama valley, Tacna, Peru. *Chungara* 51(3):381-402.

Bandelier, Adolph F

1905 The Basin of Lake Titicaca. Bulletin of the American Geographical Society:449-460.

1910 The islands of Titicaca and Koati. Hispanic society of America.

Bandy, Matthew S

2001 Population and history in the ancient Titicaca Basin, University of California, Berkeley.

2004a Fissioning, scalar stress, and social evolution in early village societies. *American Anthropologist* 106(2):322-333.

2004b Trade and social power in the southern Titicaca Basin Formative. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 14(1):91-111.

2005 Energetic efficiency and political expediency in Titicaca Basin raised field agriculture. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 24(3):271-296.

2006 Early village society in the Formative period in the southern Lake Titicaca Basin. In *Andean Archaeology III*, pp. 210-236. Springer.

2013 Tiwanaku Origins and the Early Development: The Political and Moral Economy of a Hospitality State. In *Visions of Tiwanaku*, pp. 135-150.

Bandy, Matthew S and Jake R Fox

2010 Becoming villagers: comparing early village societies 6. University of Arizona Press.

Bandy, Matthew S and Christine A Hastorf

2007 Kala Uyuni: an early political center in the southern Lake Titicaca basin.

Barabási, Albert-László and Réka Albert

1999 Emergence of scaling in random networks. *science* 286(5439):509-512.

Barada, Julieta

2017 Un pueblo es un lugar. Materialidades y movilidades de los pastores puneños ante las lógicas del estado. Coranzulí, Jujuy, Argentina, Universidad de Buenos Aires.

Barazangi, Muawia and Bryan L Isacks

1976 Spatial distribution of earthquakes and subduction of the Nazca plate beneath South America. *geology* 4(11):686-692.

Barnes, John A and Frank Harary

1983 Graph theory in network analysis.

Barth, Fredrik

1998 *Ethnic groups and boundaries: The social organization of culture difference.* Waveland Press.

Basadre, Jorge

1937 Historia del derecho peruano: nociones generales, época prehispánica, fuentes de la época colonial. Antena.

Basadre, Jorge and Jorge Puccinelli

1931 Perú, problema y posibilidad. Banco Internacional del Perú.

Bastien, Joseph W

1985 *Mountain of the condor: Metaphor and ritual in an Andean ayllu.* Waveland Press.

Bateson, Gregory

1972 Steps to an ecology of mind: Collected essays in anthropology, psychiatry, evolution, and epistemology. University of Chicago Press.

Bauer, Brian S

1987 Sistemas andinos de organización rural antes del establecimiento de reducciones: El ejemplo de Pacariqtambo (Perú). *Revista Andina* 5(1):197-209.

1998 The sacred landscape of the Inca: the Cusco ceque system. University of Texas Press.

1999 The early ceramics of the Inca heartland. Fieldiana. Anthropology:i-156.

2016 The Cusco ceque system as shown in the Exsul immeritus Blas Valera populo suo. *Ñawpa Pacha* 36(1):23-34.

Bauer, Brian S and R Alan Covey

2002 Processes of state formation in the Inca heartland (Cuzco, Peru). *American Anthropologist* 104(3):846-864.

Bauer, Brian S, Javier Fonseca Santa Cruz and Miriam Aráoz Silva 2015 Vilcabamba and the archaeology of Inca resistance 81. ISD LLC.

Bauer, Brian S and Douglas K Smit

2015 Separating the wheat from the chaff: Inka myths, Inka legends, and the archaeological evidence for state development. *The Inka empire: A multidisciplinary approach*:67-80.

Bauer, Brian S and Charles Stanish

2001 *Ritual and pilgrimage in the ancient Andes: the islands of the sun and the moon.* University of Texas Press.

Bauer, Raymond T.

2013 *Amphidromy in Shrimps: a life cycle between rivers and sea*. Latin American Journal of Aquatic Research 41(4): 633-650.

Bawden, Garth

1993 An archaeological study of social structure and ethnic replacement in residential architecture of the Tumilaca Valley. *Domestic Architecture, Ethnicity, and Complementarity in the South-Central Andes*:42-54.

1995 The structural paradox: Moche culture as political ideology. *Latin American Antiquity* 6(3):255-273.

Beaule, Christine D.

Lo andino, duality, and indigenous identities in Prehispanic highland Bolivia. *Social Identities* 22(6):602-618.

Becker, Sara K and Sonia Alconini

Head extraction, interregional exchange, and political strategies of control at the site of Wata Wata, Kallawaya Territory, Bolivia, during the transition between the Late Formative and Tiwanaku periods (AD 200-800). *Latin American Antiquity*:30-48.

Becker, Sara K and Sara L Juengst

2017 1 Introduction: Establishing a Bioarchaeology of Community. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 28(1):6-12.

Becker, Sara K.

2016 Skeletal evidence of craft production from the Ch'iji Jawira site in Tiwanaku, Bolivia. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 9:405-415.

Bélisle, Véronique

2015 Understanding Wari State Expansion: A "Bottom-Up" Approach at the Village of Ak'awillay, Cusco, Peru. *Latin American Antiquity* 26(2):180-199.

Bell, Catherine

1992 *Ritual theory, ritual practice*. Oxford University Press.

Bell, Martha G

2017 Pottery Exchange and Livelihoods: An Assessment. In *Pottery, Livelihoods, and Landscapes*, pp. 61-68. Springer.

Benitez, Leonardo

 2009 Descendants of the sun: Calendars, myth, and the Tiwanaku State. Proceedings of the Tiwanaku: Papers from the 2005 Mayer center symposium at the Denver Art Museum:49-82.

Bennett, Wendell C

1943 The position of Chavín in Andean sequences. *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society* 86(2):323-327.

1946 The Andean highlands: an introduction. US Government Printing Office.

1948 A revised sequence for the south Titicaca basin. *Memoirs of the Society for American Archaeology* 4:90-92.

1950 Cultural unity and disunity in the Titicaca Basin. American Antiquity:89-98.

Bennett, Wendell C and Junius B Bird

1964 Andean culture history. American Museum of Natural History.

Bennett, Wendell C and Manuel Liendo Lazarte

1956 Excavaciones en Tiahuanaco. Biblioteca Paceña La Paz.

Bennett, Wendell C and Julian H Steward

1946 The archeology of the Central Andes. US Government Printing Office.

Bentley, R Alexander and Herbert DG Maschner

2003 Complex Systems and Archaeology: Empirical and Theoretical Applications, Foundations of Archaeological Inquiry. University of Utah Press, Salt Lake City.

2008 Complexity Theory. In Handbook of Archaeological Theories. AltiMira Press.

Berenguer, José

1998 La iconografía del poder en Tiwanaku y su rol en la integración de zonas de frontera. Boletín del Museo Chileno de Arte Precolombino 7(1).

2004 Caravanas, interacción y cambio en el desierto de Atacama. Sirawi Ediciones.

Berenguer, José and Percy Dauelsberg

1989 El Norte Grande en la órbita de Tiwanaku (400 a 1200 dC), pp. 129-180. Andrés Bello Santiago.

Beresford-Jones, David, Alexander Pullen, George Chauca, Lauren Cadwallader, Maria García, Isabel Salvatierra, Oliver Whaley, Víctor Vásquez, Susana Arce and Kevin Lane

2018 Refining the Maritime Foundations of Andean Civilization: How Plant Fiber Technology Drove Social Complexity During the Preceramic Period. *Journal of archaeological method and theory* 25(2):393-425.

Beresford-Jones, David, Oliver Whaley, Carmela Alarcón Ledesma and Lauren Cadwallader 2011 Two millennia of changes in human ecology: archaeobotanical and invertebrate records from the lower Ica valley, south coast Peru. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*20(4):273-292.

Bermann, Marc

1996 Lukurmata: Household archaeology in prehispanic Bolivia. Princeton University Press.

1997 Domestic life and vertical integration in the Tiwanaku heartland. *Latin American Antiquity*:93-112.

Bernier, Hélène

2010 Craft specialists at Moche: Organization, affiliations, and identities. *Latin American Antiquity* 21(1):22-43.

Berrey, C Adam, Robert D Drennan and Christian E Peterson

2021 Local economies and household spacing in early chiefdom communities. *Plos one* 16(5):e0252532.

Berryman, Carrie Anne

2010 Food, feasts, and the construction of identity and power in ancient Tiwanaku: abioarchaeological perspective, Vanderbilt University.

Betanzos, Juan de

1987[1551] Suma y narración de los incas. Ediciones Atlas, Madrid.

Bevan, Andrew and James Conolly

2006 Multiscalar approaches to settlement pattern analysis. In *Confronting scale in archaeology*, pp. 217-234. Springer.

Bhattacharyya, Jnanabrata

1995 Solidarity and agency: Rethinking community development. *Human organization*:60-69.

Billman, Brian R

1997 Population pressure and the origins of warfare in the Moche Valley, Peru. In *Integrating* archaeological demography: Multidisciplinary approaches to prehistoric population, pp. 285-310.

2001 The evolution of prehistoric political organizations in the Moche Valley, Peru.

2002 Irrigation and the origins of the southern Moche state on the north coast of Peru. *Latin American Antiquity*:371-400.

Binford, Lewis R

1962 Archaeology as anthropology. *American antiquity*:217-225.

1965 Archaeological systematics and the study of culture process. *American Antiquity*:203-210.

1980 Willow smoke and dogs' tails: hunter-gatherer settlement systems and archaeological site formation. *American antiquity*:4-20.

Binford, Michael W., Alan L Kolata, Mark Brenner, John Wayne Janusek, Matthew T Seddon, Mark Abbott and Jason H Curtis

1997 Climate Variation and the Rise and Fall of an Andean Civilization. *Quaternary Research* 47(2):235-248.

Bingham, Hiram

1930 Machu Picchu: a citadel of the Incas. Hacker Art Books.

Birch, Jennifer

2014 From prehistoric villages to cities: settlement aggregation and community transformation. Routledge.

Bird, Junius B

1948 Preceramic cultures in Chicama and Viru. *Memoirs of the Society for American Archaeology* 4:21-28.

Biwer, Matthew E

2019 Colonialism, cuisine, and culture contact: An analysis of provincial foodways of the Wari Empire (AD 600–1000), UC Santa Barbara.

Blanton, Richard E

1994 *Houses and Households. A Comparative Study* Interdisciplinary Contributions to Archaeology, New York.

1998 Beyond centralization: Steps toward a theory of egalitarian behavior in archaic states. In *Archaic states*, pp. 135-172.

2016 How humans cooperate: Confronting the challenges of collective action. University Pressof Colorado.

Blanton, Richard E and Lane F Fargher

2007 *Collective action in the formation of pre-modern states.* Springer Science & Business Media.

2012 Neighborhoods and the civic constitutions of premodern cities as seen from the perspective of collective action. *The neighborhood as a social and spatial unit in Mesoamerican cities*:27-52.

Blanton, Richard E, Gary M Feinman, Stephen A Kowalewski and Peter N Peregrine 1996 A dual-processual theory for the evolution of Mesoamerican civilization. *Current Anthropology*:1-14.

Blanton, Richard E, Stephen A Kowalewski and Gary M Feinman

1992 The Mesoamerican World-System. Review (Fernand Braudel Center):419-426.

Blitz, John H

1993 Big pots for big shots: Feasting and storage in a Mississippian community. *American Antiquity* 58(1):80-96.

Bloch, Maurice

2008 Why religion is nothing special but is central. *Philosophical transactions of The Royal Society B: biological sciences* 363(1499):2055-2061.

Blom, Deborah E

2005a A bioarchaeological approach to Tiwanaku group dynamics. Us and Them: Archaeology and Ethnicity in the Andes:153-182.

2005b Embodying borders: human body modification and diversity in Tiwanaku society. *Journal* of *Anthropological Archaeology* 24(1):1-24.

Blom, Deborah E, John W Janusek and Jane E Buikstra

2003 A reevaluation of human remains from Tiwanaku. *Tiwanaku and Its Hinterland: Archaeology and Paleoecology Investigations of an Andean Civilization* 2:435-446.

Blom, Deborah E and John Wayne Janusek

2004 Making place: humans as dedications in Tiwanaku. World Archaeology 36(1):123-141.

Blower, David

2000 The many facets of mullu: more than just a Spondylus shell. Andean Past 6(1):11.

Boas, Franz

1896 The limitations of the comparative method of anthropology. *Science*:901-908.

Boaz, Franz

1924 Evolution or diffusion. *American Anthropologist* 26(3):340-344.

Boccaletti, Stefano, Vito Latora, Yamir Moreno, Martin Chavez and D-U Hwang

2006 Complex networks: Structure and dynamics. *Physics reports* 424(4-5):175-308.

Bode, Barbara

1989 No bells to toll: Destruction and creation in the Andes. Scribner Book Company.

Boëda, Eric, Ignacio Clemente-Conte, Michel Fontugne, Christelle Lahaye, Mario Pino, Gisele Daltrini Felice, Niede Guidon, Sirlei Hoeltz, Antoine Lourdeau and Marina Pagli

2014 A new late Pleistocene archaeological sequence in South America: the Vale da Pedra Furada (Piauí, Brazil). *Antiquity* 88(341):927-941.

Boehm, Christopher

2009 Hierarchy in the forest: The evolution of egalitarian behavior. Harvard University Press.

Boehm, Christopher, Harold B Barclay, Robert Knox Dentan, Marie-Claude Dupre, Jonathan D Hill, Susan Kent, Bruce M Knauft, Keith F Otterbein and Steve Rayner

1993 Egalitarian behavior and reverse dominance hierarchy. *Current anthropology* 34(3):227-254.

Bolin, Inge

1999 *Rituals of respect: the secret of survival in the high Peruvian Andes.* University of Texas Press.

Bonacich, Phillip

2007 Some unique properties of eigenvector centrality. Social networks 29(4):555-564.

Bonavia, Duccio

1999 The domestication of Andean camelids. Archaeology in Latin America:130-147.

Bondarenko, Dmitri M, Leonid E Grinin and Andrey V Korotayev

2002 Alternative pathways of social evolution. Social Evolution & History 1(1).

Borgatti, Stephen P, Martin G Everett and Linton C Freeman

2002 UCINET 6 for Windows - Software for Social Network Analysis. vol. 6. Analytic Technologies, Harvard.

Borgatti, Stephen P and Daniel S Halgin

2011 On network theory. *Organization science* 22(5):1168-1181.

Borgatti, Stephen P, Ajay Mehra, Daniel J Brass and Giuseppe Labianca 2009 Network analysis in the social sciences. *science* 323(5916):892-895.

Borrero, Luis Alberto

Ambiguity and debates on the early peopling of South America. *PaleoAmerica* 2(1):11-21.

Boserup, Ester

1965 The conditions of agricultural growth: The economics of agrarin change under population pressure. George Allen & Unwin, London.

Boswell, Alicia M

2016 Chimú and Inca Frontier Interactions: A Local Study of the Moche Valley chaupiyunga, north coast of Perú, UC San Diego.

Boulding, Kenneth E

1956 General systems theory—the skeleton of science. *Management science* 2(3):197-208.

Boulton, Jean G, Peter M Allen and Cliff Bowman

2015 Embracing complexity: Strategic perspectives for an age of turbulence. OUP Oxford.

Bourdieu, Pierre

1977 *Outline of a Theory of Practice* 16. Cambridge university press.

Bourget, Steve and Kimberly L Jones

2009 The art and archaeology of the Moche: An ancient Andean society of the Peruvian north coast. University of Texas Press.

Bouysse-Cassagne, Thérèse

1978 L'espace aymara: urco et uma. Annales:1057-1080.

1986 Urco and Uma: Aymara concepts of space. *Anthropological history of andean polities.* (sous la direction de), Cambridge University Press, pp. 201-227:201-227.

1987 La Identidad Aymara Aproximación Histórica.

Bowen, William M and Robert E Gleeson

2018 The Evolution of Human Settlements: From Pleistocene Origins to Anthropocene Prospects. Springer.

Bowles, Samuel and Herbert Gintis

2013 A cooperative species: Human reciprocity and its evolution. Princeton University Press.

Boyd, Robert, Herbert Gintis, Samuel Bowles and Peter J Richerson 2003 The evolution of altruistic punishment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*

100(6):3531-3535.

Boyd, Robert and Peter J Richerson

2005 The origin and evolution of cultures. Oxford University Press.

Bragayrac, D Enrique

1991 Archaeological excavations in the Vegachayoq Moqo sector of Huari. *Huari* administrative structure: Prehistoric monumental architecture and state government:71-80.

Braidwood, Robert J

1960 The agricultural revolution. *Scientific American* 203(3):130-152.

Brainerd, George W

1951 The place of chronological ordering in archaeological analysis. *American Antiquity* 16(4):301-313.

Braswell, Geoffrey E

2010 The rise and fall of market exchange: a dynamic approach to ancient Maya economy. *See Garraty & Stark* 2010:127-140.

2019 From Vertices to Actants: Two Approaches to Network Analysis in Maya Archaeology. In *Social Network Analysis in Economic Archaeology: Perspectives from the New World*, edited by T. Kerig, C. Mader, K. Ragkou, M. Reinfeld and T. Zachar, pp. 51. Graduiertenkolleg 1878, University of Cologne.

Bray, Tamara L

2003 The archaeology and politics of food and feasting in early states and empires. Springer.

2009 An Archaeological Perspective on the Andean Concept of Camaquen: Thinking Through Late Pre-Columbian Ofrendas and Huacas. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 19(03):357.

2015 Andean Wak'as and Alternative Configurations of Persons, Power, and Things:3-19.

Brewster-Wray, Christine C

1990 Moraduchayuq: An administrative compound at the site of Huari, Peru, State University of New York at Binghamton.

Briones, Luis, Lautaro Núñez and Vivien G Standen

2005 Geoglifos y tráfico prehispánico de caravanas de llamas en el desierto de Atacama (norte de Chile). *Chungará (Arica)* 37(2):195-223.

Brockington, Donald L and Ramón Sanzetenea Rocha

1989 Decorated formative period pottery from cochabamba, Bolivia: Rydén's observation. *Ethnos* 54(1-2):63-68.

Browman, David L

1974 Pastoral nomadism in the Andes. *Current Anthropology* 15(2):188-196.

1975 Trade patterns in the central highlands of Peru in the first millennium BC. *World Archaeology* 6(3):322-329.

1978 Toward the development of the Tiahuanaco (Tiwanaku) state. *Advances in Andean archaeology*:327-349.

1981 New Light on Andean Tiwanaku: A detailed reconstruction of Tiwanaku's early commercial and religious empire illuminates the processes by which states evolve. *American Scientist*:408-419.

1984 Tiwanaku: development of interzonal trade and economic expansion in the altiplano. *Social and Economic Organization in the Prehispanic Andes* 194:117-142.

1989 Origins and development of Andean pastoralism: an overview of the past 6000 years. *The walking larder: patterns of domestication, pastoralism and predation.*:256-268.

1997 Political institutional factors contributing to the integration of the Tiwanaku state. In *Emergence and change in early urban societies*, pp. 229-243. Springer.

2004 Thoughts on the Theater State Aspects of Tiwanaku. *Tiwanaku: aproximaciones a sus contextos históricos y sociales*:301-319.

Brughmans, Tom

2010 Connecting the dots: towards archaeological network analysis. Oxford Journal of Archaeology 29(3):277-303.

2013 Thinking through networks: a review of formal network methods in archaeology. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 20(4):623-662.

Brumfiel, Elizabeth M

1989 Factional competition in complex society. In *Domination and Resistance*, pp. 127-139.

1992 Distinguished lecture in archeology: Breaking and entering the ecosystem—gender, class, and faction steal the show. *American anthropologist* 94(3):551-567.

1994 Factional competition and political development in the New World: An introduction. *Factional competition and political development in the New World*:3-13.

Brumfiel, Elizabeth M and John W Fox

2003 *Factional competition and political development in the New World*. Cambridge University Press.

Bruno, Maria C

2014 Quinoa: Origins and Development. In *Encyclopedia of Global Archaeology*, pp. 6215-6220. Springer.

Brush, Stephen B

1977 *Mountain, field, and family: the economy and human ecology of an Andean valley.* University of Pennsylvania Press.

Brush, Stephen B and David W Guillet

1985 Small-scale agro-pastoral production in the Central Andes. *Mountain Research and Development*.19-30.

Burger, Richard L

2008 Chavin de Huantar and its sphere of influence. In *The Handbook of South American Archaeology*, pp. 681-703. Springer.

2009 The life and writings of Julio C. Tello: America's first indigenous archaeologist. University of Iowa Press.

Burger, Richard L

1995 Chavin: the Origins of Andean Civilization. Thames and Hudson, London

Burger, Richard L, Karen L Mohr Chávez and Sergio J Chávez

2000 Through the glass darkly: prehispanic obsidian procurement and exchange in southern Peru and northern Bolivia. *Journal of World Prehistory* 14(3):267-362.

Burkholder, Jo Ellen

1998 Tiwanaku and the anatomy of time: A new ceramic chronology from the Iwawi site, Department of La Paz, Bolivia, State University of New York at Binghamton.

2001 La cerámica de Tiwanaku: ¿qué indica su variabilidad? 2001.

Burns, Kathryn

2010 Into the archive: writing and power in colonial Peru. Duke University Press.

Burt, Ronald S

1992 Structural Holes. Contemporary Sociological Theory 204:97.

2000 The network structure of social capital. *Research in organizational behavior* 22:345-423.

Cabello Balboa, Miguel

1945[1586] Verdadera descripción y relación de la provincia y tierra de las Esmeraldas. *Obras de Miguel Cabello Balboa* 1:1-76.

Cahill, David

1990 History and anthropology in the study of Andean societies9(1).

Caldwell, Joseph R

1962 Interaction Spheres in Prehistory. *Scientific Papers* 12:135-143.

Callisaya Medina, Luis Miguel

2010 Estudio de la construcción significativa del espacio a partir de un asentamiento del periodo formativo tardío (250 AC-300 DC) en el valle de Tiwanaku, Universidad Mayor de San Andrés.

Callon, Michel

1999 Actor-network theory—the market test. *The Sociological Review* 47(1_suppl):181-195.

Camacho, Luis E Salcedo and San Marcos

2019 Central Andes: Prehispanic Hunter-Gatherers. In *Encyclopedia of Global Archaeology*, edited by C. Smith. Springer Nature Switzerland.

Campbell, Leon G

1976 The army of Peru and the Tupac Amaru revolt, 1780-1783. *Hispanic American Historical Review*:31-57.

Canuto, Marcello A and Jason Yaeger

2000 The Archaeology of Communities: a new world perspective. Psychology Press.

Capriles, José M

2002 Intercambio y uso ritual de fauna por Tiwanaku: Análisis de pelos y fibras de los conjuntos arqueológicos de Amaguaya, Bolivia. *Estudios atacameños* (23):33-51.

2011 The Economic Organization of Early Camelid Pastoralism in the Andean Highlands of Bolivia, Ph. D. Dissertation, Washington University, St. Louis.

2016 The subsistence economy of early Andean pastoralists: Zooarchaeological insights from a formative period Wankarani house. In *The Archaeology of Andean Pastoralism*, pp. 39- 54. The University of New Mexico Press.

Capriles, José M and Juan Albarracin-Jordan

2013 The earliest human occupations in Bolivia: A review of the archaeological evidence. *Quaternary International* 301:46-59.

Capriles, José M and Nicholas Tripcevich

2016 The archaeology of Andean pastoralism. UNM Press.

Capriles, José M., Juan Albarracin-Jordan, Umberto Lombardo, Daniela Osorio, Blaine Maley, Steven T. Goldstein, Katherine A. Herrera, Michael D. Glascock, Alejandra I. Domic, Heinz Veit and Calogero M. Santoro

2016 High-altitude adaptation and late Pleistocene foraging in the Bolivian Andes. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 6:463-474.

Carballo, David M

Advances in the household archaeology of highland Mesoamerica. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 19(2):133-189.

Carballo, David M, Paul Roscoe and Gary M Feinman

2014 Cooperation and collective action in the cultural evolution of complex societies. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 21(1):98-133.

Card, Jeb J

2013 The Archaeology of Hybrid Material Culture. SIU Press.

Cardona Rosas, A

1997 Inventario Arqueológico en la Zona de la Qda. Cimarrona - Toquepala. Lima: Informe Final De Evaluación Arqueológica

Carmichael, Patrick H

2019 Stages, periods, epochs, and phases in Paracas and Nasca chronology: another look at John Rowe's Ica valley master sequence. *Ñawpa Pacha* 39(2):145-179.

Carneiro, Robert L

1970 Scale analysis, evolutionary sequences, and the rating of cultures. *A handbook of method in cultural anthropology*:834-871.

1973 Structure, function, and equilibrium in the evolutionism of Herbert Spencer. *Journal of Anthropological Research*:77-95.

1978 Political expansion as an expression of the principle of competitive exclusion. *Origins of the state: The anthropology of political evolution* (205-223).

1988 The circumscription theory. *American Behavioral Scientist* 31(4):497-511.

1992 The role of warfare in political evolution: Past results and future projections. *Effects of War on Society* 1:87.

1993 A Theory of the Origin of the State: Traditional theories of state origins are considered and rejected in favor of a new ecological hypothesis. The State 169.

1994 War and peace: Alternating realities in human history. *Studying war: anthropological perspectives*:3-27.

2012 The circumscription theory: A clarification, amplification, and reformulation. *Social Evolution & History* 11(2):5-30.

Carr, Christopher

2008 Social and ritual organization. In *The Scioto Hopewell and their neighbors*, pp. 151-288. Springer.

Carr, Christopher and D Troy Case 2005 The gathering of Hopewell. Springer.

Cason, Marjorie and Adele Cahlander

1976a Art of Bolivian Highland weaving.

1976b *Art of Bolivian Highland Weaving:unique, traditional techniques for the modern weaver.* Watson-Guptill Publications.

Cassman, Vicki

1998 A reconsideration of prehistoric ethnicity and status in Northern Chile: The textileevidence, Arizona State University.

Castelnau, Francis de

1851 Expédition dans les parties centrales de l'Amérique du sud, Histoire du Viyage. Bertrand.

Castillo Butters, Luis Jaime and Santiago Uceda Castillo 2008 The Mochicas. In *The Handbook of South American Archaeology*, pp. 707-729. Springer.

Caziani, Sandra M, Omar Rocha Olivio, Eduardo Rodríguez Ramírez, Marcelo Romano, Enrique J Derlindati, Andrés Talamo, David Ricalde, Carmen Quiroga, Juan Pablo Contreras and Mariana Valqui 2007 Seasonal distribution, abundance, and nesting of Puna, Andean, and Chilean flamingos. *The Condor* 109(2):276-287.

Cembrano, José and Luis Lara

2009 The link between volcanism and tectonics in the southern volcanic zone of the Chilean Andes: a review. *Tectonophysics* 471(1-2):96-113.

Céspedes Paz, Ricardo

2000 Excavaciones arqueológicas en Piñami. *Boletín de INIAN—Museo Universidad Mayor de San Simón* 9(Serie Arqueología):1-14.

Chacama, R

El Horizonte Medio en los valles occidentales del norte de Chile (ca. 500-1.200 dC). *Chungará (Arica)* 36:227-233.

Chamblee, John F and Mark Williams

2015 Social Archaeology is Multiscalar Archaeology. *Archaeological Perspectives on the Southern Appalachians: A Multiscalar Approach*:199.

Chapais, Bernard

2011 The deep social structure of humankind. *Science* 331(6022):1276-1277.

Chapdelaine, Claude

2002 Out in the streets of Moche. In Andean Archaeology I, pp. 53-88. Springer.

2011 Recent advances in Moche archaeology. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 19(2):191-231.

Chapman, Robert

2003 Archaeologies of complexity. Routledge.

Chase-Dunn, Christopher K

1999 Globalization: A world-systems perspective. *Journal of World-Systems Research* 5(2):187-215.

Chase-Dunn, Christopher K and Marilyn Grell-Brisk

2016 Uneven and combined development in the sociocultural evolution of world-systems. *Historical Sociology and World History. Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield*:205-218.

Chase-Dunn, Christopher K and Thomas D Hall

1991 Core/periphery relations in precapitalist worlds. Westview Press.

1993 Comparing world-systems: concepts and working hypotheses. Social forces:851-886.

1997 Ecological degradation and the evolution of world-systems. *Journal of World-Systems Research* 3(3):403-431.

1998 World-systems in North America: Networks, rise and fall and pulsations of trade in stateless systems. *American Indian Culture and Research Journal* 22(1):23-72.

Chávez, Sergio Jorge

2004 The Yaya-Mama religious tradition as an antecedent of Tiwanaku. *Tiwanaku: Ancestors of the Inca*:70-75.

Chávez, Sergio Jorge and Karen Lynne Mohr Chávez

1975 A carved stela from Taraco, Puno, Peru, and the definition of an early style of stone sculpture from the altiplano of Peru and Bolivia. *Nawpa Pacha: Journal of Andean Archaeology*:45-83.

Chayanov, Alexander V

1966 Peasant farm organization. The theory of peasant economy:29-278.

Childe, V Gordon

1944 *Progress and archaeology*. Watts.

- 1950 The urban revolution. *Town Planning Review* 21(1):3.
- 1951 Social evolution.
- 1957 Civilization, cities, and towns. Antiquity 31(121):36-38.

Chiou, Katherine L, Anita G Cook and Christine A Hastorf

2013 Flotation versus dry sieving archaeobotanical remains: A case history from the Middle Horizon southern coast of Peru. *Journal of field archaeology* 38(1):38-53.

Chirot, Daniel and Thomas D Hall

1982 World-system theory. Annual Review of sociology:81-106.

Choque, María Eugenia and Carlos Mamani

2001 Reconstitución del ayllu y derechos de los pueblos indígenas: el movimiento indio en los Andes de Bolivia. *Journal of Latin American Anthropology* 6(1):202-224.

Choy Ma, Emilio

1960 El Trabajo en el Origen del Hombre Americano. Antropología e Historia 1:97-112.

Church, Warren B and Adriana Von Hagen

2008 Chachapoyas: Cultural development at an Andean cloud forest crossroads. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 903-926. Springer.

Cieza de Leon, Pedro de

1976[1553] The Incas of Pedro de Cieza de León. Translated by V. VonHagen 53. University of Oklahoma Press.

Cifuentes, Ariadna, Valentina Figueroa, Diego Salazar and Benoît Mille

2018 Producción metalúrgica local y coexistencia de tecnologías metalúrgicas en San Pedro de Atacama durante el Período Medio (400-1000 DC). *Chungará (Arica)* 50(3):423-439.

Claessen, Henri JM

2000 *Structural Change: Evolution and Evolutionism in Cultural Anthropology*. Universiteit Leiden, Research School of Asian, African and Amerinidian Studies (CNWS).

Clark, John E

1986 Another look at small debitage and microdebitage. *Lithic Technology* 15(1):21-33.

Clark, John E and Michael Blake

1994 The power of prestige: Competitive generosity and the emergence of rank societies in lowland Mesoamerica. *Factional competition and political development in the New World*:17-30.

Clarke, David L

- 1968 Analytical archaeology. Routledge.
- 1972 Models in archaeology. Routledge.

Coben, Lawrence S

2006 Scene 8: Other Cuzcos: replicated theaters of Inka power. In Archaeology of *Performance: Theaters of Power, Community, and Politics*, pp. 223.

Cobo, Bernabe de

1979[1653] History of the Inca Empire. Univ. of Texas Press, Austin, TX.

Cohen, Amanda B

2010 Ritual and architecture in the Titicaca Basin: The development of the sunken court complex in the Formative Period, UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, LOS ANGELES.

Cohen, Anthony P

1985 Symbolic construction of community. Routledge.

Cohen, Mark N

1975 Archaeological evidence for population pressure in pre-agricultural societies. *American Antiquity* 40(4):471-475.

Cohen, Robin

- 1997 Diasporas, the Nation-State and globalisation.
- 2008 Global diasporas: An introduction. Routledge.

Collar, Anna, Fiona Coward, Tom Brughmans and Barbara J Mills

2015 Networks in archaeology: phenomena, abstraction, representation. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 22(1):1-32.

Conkey, Margaret W and Christine A Hastorf

1993 The uses of style in archaeology. CUP Archive.

Conkey, Margaret W and Janet D Spector

1984 Archaeology and the study of gender. *Advances in archaeological method and theory*:1-38.

Conklin, William

1991 Tiahuanaco and Huari: architectural comparisons and interpretations. *Huari* Administrative Structure: Prehistoric Monumental Architecture and State Government:281-291.

2009 The iconic dimension in Tiwanaku Art. *Proceedings of the Tiwanaku: Papers from the* 2005 Mayer Center Symposium at the Denver Art Museum:115-132.

2013 The Cultural Implications of Tiwanaku and Huari Textiles. In *Visions of Tiwanaku*, edited by A. Vranich and C. Stanish, pp. 65. vol. 78.

Conlee, Christina A

2004 The expansion, diversification, and segmentation of power in late prehispanic Nasca. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 14(1):211-223.

Conrad, Geoffrey W

1993 Domestic architecture of the Estuquiña phase: Estuquiña and San Antonio. In *Domestic Architecture, Ethnicity, and Complementarity in the South-Central Andes*, pp. 55-65.

Conrad, Geoffrey W and Arthur A Demarest

1984 Religion and empire: The dynamics of Aztec and Inca expansionism. Cambridge
University Press.

Cook, Anita G

2004 Wari art and society. Andean Archaeology:146-166.

Cordy-Collins, Alana

1977 Chavín art: its shamanic/hallucinogenic origins. *Pre-Columbian Art History, Selected Readings*:353-362.

Coscia, Michele, Fosca Giannotti and Dino Pedreschi

2011 A classification for community discovery methods in complex networks. *Statistical Analysis and Data Mining: The ASA Data Science Journal* 4(5):512-546.

Costin, Cathy L

1991 Craft specialization. The International Encyclopedia of Human Sexuality.

1996 Craft production and mobilization strategies in the Inka empire. *Craft specialization and social evolution: In memory of V. Gordon Childe*:211-255.

2001 Craft production systems. In Archaeology at the Millennium, pp. 273-327. Springer.

Costion, Kirk E

2009 Huaracane Social Organization: Change over time at the prehispanic community of Yahuay Alta, Peru, University of Pittsburgh.

2013 Las Ocupaciones En El Asentamiento De Huaracane (Yahuay Alta) Durante El Periodo Formativo Y Horizonte Medio En El Valle Medio De Moquegua, Perú. *Chungara* 45:561-580.

Cotrina Chávez, Gerson José, Víctor Vargas Rodríguez, Yeslin Olarte Concha, Mauro Sánchez Díaz, Fluquer Peña Laureano and Walter Pari Pinto

2009 Hidrogeología de la cuenca del río Locumba.

Couture, Nicole C

2003 Ritual, monumentalism, and residence at Mollo Kontu, Tiwanaku. In *Tiwanaku and its hinterland: archaeology and paleoecology of an Andean civilization*, pp. 202-225. vol. 2.

2004 Monumental space, courtly style, and elite life at Tiwanaku. In *Tiwanaku: Ancestors of the Inca*, pp. 126-149.

Couture, Nicole C and Kathryn Sampeck

2003 Putuni: A history of palace architecture at Tiwanaku. In *Tiwanaku and its hinterland:* archaeology and paleoecology of an Andean civilization, pp. 226-263. vol. 2.

Covey, R Alan

2000 Inka Administration of the Far South Coast of Peru. *Latin American Antiquity*:119-138.

2008a The Inca Empire. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 809-830. Springer.

2008b Multiregional perspectives on the archaeology of the Andes during the Late Intermediate Period (c. AD 1000–1400). *Journal of Archaeological Research* 16(3):287-338.

2015 Kinship and the Inca Imperial Core: multiscalar archaeological patterns in the Sacred Valley (Cuzco, Peru). *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 40:183-195.

2018 Archaeology and Inka origins. Journal of Archaeological Research 26(3):253-304.

2020 Inca Apocalypse: The Spanish Conquest and the Transformation of the Andean World. Oxford University Press, USA.

Covey, R. Alan, Brian S. Bauer, Véronique Bélisle and Lia Tsesmeli

2013 Regional perspectives on Wari state influence in Cusco, Peru (c. AD 600–1000). *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 32(4):538-552.

Coward, Fiona and Clive Gamble

Big brains, small worlds: material culture and the evolution of the mind. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 363(1499):1969-1979.

Cowgill, George L

1990 Why Pearson's r is not a good similarity coefficient for comparing collections. *American Antiquity* 55(3):512-521.

1997 State and society at Teotihuacan, Mexico. Annual Review of Anthropology:129-161.

2004 Origins and development of urbanism: archaeological perspectives. *Annu. Rev. Anthropol.* 33:525-549.

Creed, Gerald W

2006 Reconsidering community. *The seductions of community: Emancipations, oppressions, quandaries*:3-22.

Creese, John Laurence

2016 Emotion work and the archaeology of consensus: the Northern Iroquoian case. *World Archaeology* 48(1):14-34.

Crenshaw, Kimberle

1990 Mapping the margins: Intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stan. L. Rev.* 43:1241.

Créqui-Montfort, Georges

1904 Fouilles de la mission scientifique française à Tiahuanaco: Ses recherches archéologiques et ethnographiques en Bolivie, au Chili et dans la République Argentine.

Crumley, Carole L

1979 Three locational models: an epistemological assessment for anthropology and archaeology. *Advances in archaeological method and theory* 2:141-173.

1995 Heterarchy and the Analysis of Complex Societies. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 6(1):1-5.

2007 Historical ecology: integrated thinking at multiple temporal and spatial scales. *The World System and the Earth System: Global Socioenvironmental Change and Sustainability Since the Neolithic, Left Coast Press, Walnut Creek, CA*:15-28.

Crumley, Carole L, Janet E Levy and Robert M Ehrenreich

1995 Heterarchy and the analysis of complex societies. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 6(1):1-5.

Cummins, Thomas

1988 Abstraction to narration: Kero imagery of Peru and the colonial alteration of native

identity, University of California, Los Angeles.

Cutright, Robyn E

2009 Between the kitchen and the state: domestic practice and Chimu expansion in the Jequetepeque Valley, Peru, University of Pittsburgh.

D'Altroy, Terence N and Timothy K Earle

1985 Staple Finance, Wealth Finance, and Storage in the Inka Political Economy [and Comments and Reply]. *Current Anthropology*:187-206.

D'Altroy, Terence N and Christine A Hastorf

2001 *Empire and Domestic Economy*. Springer Science & Business Media.

D'Altroy, Terence N

2002 The Incas. The Peoples of America. Malden: Blackwell Publishing.

2005 Remaking the social landscape: colonization in the Inka Empire. In *The Archaeology of Colonial Encounters: comparative perspectives* edited by G. Stein.

2014 The Incas. John Wiley & Sons.

2018 The Imperial Inka road system: exploring new paths. Asian Archaeology 2(1):3-18.

Darwin, Charles

1859 On the origins of species by means of natural selection. *London: Murray*:247.

Dauelsberg, Percy

1972 La cerámica de Arica y su situación cronológica. *Chungara*:17-24.

Davies, Matthew IJ

2009 Wittfogel's dilemma: heterarchy and ethnographic approaches to irrigation management in Eastern Africa and Mesopotamia. *World Archaeology* 41(1):16-35.

Davis, Kingsley and Wilbert E Moore

1945 Some principles of stratification. American sociological review:242-249.

de Esparza, ML Castro

2009 The presence of arsenic in drinking water in Latin America and its effect on public health. In *Natural arsenic in groundwater of Latin America*, pp. 17-29. vol. 1. CRC Press/Balkema Publisher Leiden, The Netherlands.

De la Cadena, Marisol

2015 Earth beings: Ecologies of practice across Andean worlds. Duke University Press.

De Silva, SL

1989 Altiplano-Puna volcanic complex of the central Andes. *Geology* 17(12):1102-1106.

De Waal, Frans

2007 Chimpanzee politics: Power and sex among apes. JHU Press.

Deacon, Terrence W

2011 Incomplete nature: How mind emerged from matter. WW Norton & Company.

Deacon, Terrence W and Tyrone Cashman

2012 Eliminativism, complexity and emergence. In *The Routledge Companion to Religion and Science*, pp. 193-205.

Deere, Carmen Diana

1990 Household and class relations: peasants and landlords in northern Peru. Univ of California Press.

deFrance, Susan D, Nicci Grayson and Karen Wise

2009 Documenting 12,000 years of coastal occupation on the Osmore littoral, Peru. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 34(3):227-246.

deFrance, Susan D, David K Keefer, James B Richardson and Adán Umire Álvarez

2001 Late Paleo-Indian coastal foragers: specialized extractive behavior at Quebrada Tacahuay, Peru. *Latin American Antiquity*:413-426.

Delaere, Christophe, José M Capriles and Charles Stanish

2019 Underwater ritual offerings in the Island of the Sun and the formation of the Tiwanaku state. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*:201820749.

DeMarrais, Elizabeth

2014 Introduction: the archaeology of performance. World Archaeology 46(2):155-163.

2016 Making pacts and cooperative acts: the archaeology of coalition and consensus. *World Archaeology* 48(1):1-13.

DeMarrais, Elizabeth and Timothy Earle

2017 Collective action theory and the dynamics of complex societies. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 46:183-201.

Descola, Philippe

2013 Beyond nature and culture. University of Chicago Press.

Diamond, Jared

1999 *Guns, germs, and steel.* Random House.

2010 Two views of collapse. Nature 463(7283):880-881.

Díaz Rodríguez, L. H

2005 Informe Final. Proyecto de Investigación Arqueológica de Reconocimiento Sistemático de la cuenca del río Ilabaya y del río Locumba, Departamento de Tacna. Instituto Nacional de Cultura, Proyecto Qhapaq-Ñan.

Dietler, Michael

1990 Driven by drink: the role of drinking in the political economy and the case of early Iron Age France. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 9(4):352-406.

2001 Theorizing the feast: Rituals of consumption, commensal politics, and power in African contexts. *Feasts: Archaeological and ethnographic perspectives on food, politics, and power*:65-114.

Dietler, Michael and Brian Hayden

2001 Digesting the feast—good to eat, good to drink, good to think: An introduction. *Feasts:* archaeological and ethnographic perspectives on food, politics, and power:1-20.

2010 *Feasts: Archaeological and Ethnographic Pespectives on Food, Politics, and Power.* University of Alabama Press. Dietrich, Oliver, Manfred Heun, Jens Notroff, Klaus Schmidt and Martin Zarnkow

2012 The role of cult and feasting in the emergence of Neolithic communities. New evidence from Göbekli Tepe, south-eastern Turkey. *Antiquity* 86(333):674-695.

Dillehay, Tom D

2008 Profiles in Pleistocene history. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 29-43. Springer.

2011 From foraging to farming in the Andes: new perspectives on food production and social organization. Cambridge University Press.

Dillehay, Tom D and Alan L Kolata

Long-term human response to uncertain environmental conditions in the Andes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 101(12):4325-4330.

Dillehay, Tom D, Carlos Ocampo, José Saavedra, Andre Oliveira Sawakuchi, Rodrigo M Vega, Mario Pino, Michael B Collins, Linda Scott Cummings, Iván Arregui and Ximena S Villagran

2015 New archaeological evidence for an early human presence at Monte Verde, Chile. *PloS* one 10(11).

Dillehay, Tom D, Jack Rossen, Thomas C Andres and David E Williams 2007 Preceramic adoption of peanut, squash, and cotton in northern Peru. *Science* 316(5833):1890-1893.

Dillian, Carolyn D and Carolyn L White 2010 *Trade and exchange*. Springer.

Donnan, Christopher B

2004 Moche portraits from ancient Peru. University of Texas Press.

Donnan, Hastings and Thomas M Wilson

1994 Border approaches: anthropological perspectives on frontiers. University Press of America.

Donnellan, Lieve

2020 Archaeological Networks and Social Interaction. Routledge.

Doran, James

1970 Systems theory, computer simulations and archaeology. *World archaeology* 1(3):289-298.

Dorland, Steven GH and Daniel Ionico

2020 Learning from Each Other: a Communities of Practice Approach to Decorative Traditions of Northern Iroquoian Communities in the Late Woodland. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory*:1-33.

Dornan, Jennifer L

Agency and archaeology: Past, present, and future directions. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 9(4):303-329.

Douglass, John G and Nancy Gonlin

2012 Ancient households of the Americas: conceptualizing what households do. University

Press of Colorado.

Doyle, Michael W

1986 *Empires*. Cornell University Press.

Dransart, Penélope

2003 Earth, water, fleece and fabric: An ethnography and archaeology of Andean camelid herding. Routledge.

Drennan, Robert D

1988 Household location and compact versus dispersed settlement in prehispanic Mesoamerica.

Drennan, Robert D and Christian E Peterson

2008 Centralized communities, population, and social complexity after sedentarization. In *The Neolithic demographic transition and its consequences*, pp. 359-386. Springer.

Dulanto, Jalh

2008 Between horizons: diverse configurations of society and power in the late pre-Hispanic Central Andes. In *The Handbook of South American Archaeology*, pp. 761-782. Springer.

Dunbar, RIM, Julia Lehmann, AJ Korstjens and JAJ Gowlett

2014 The road to modern humans: time budgets, fission-fusion sociality, kinship and the division of labour in hominin evolution. *Lucy to language: The benchmark papers*:333-355.

Durkheim, Emile

1959 The Elementary Forms of the Religious Life na.

2014 [1893] The Division of Labor in Society. Simon and Schuster.

Duviols, Pierre

1973 Huari y Llacuaz: agricultores y pastores: un dualismo prehispánico de oposición y complementaridad.

Earle, Timothy K

1977 A reappraisal of redistribution: complex Hawaiian chiefdoms. *Exchange systems in prehistory* 213:29.

1993 *Chiefdoms: power, economy, and ideology.* Cambridge University Press.

1997 *How chiefs come to power: The political economy in prehistory.* Stanford University Press.

2010 Exchange systems in Prehistory. In *Trade and exchange*, pp. 205-217. Springer.

2011 Redistribution in Aegean palatial societies. Redistribution and the political economy: The evolution of an idea. *American Journal of Archaeology* 115(2):237-244.

Earle, Timothy K, Terence N D'Altroy, Catherine J LeBlanc, Christine A Hastorf and Terry Y LeVine 1980 Changing settlement patterns in the upper Mantaro Valley, Peru. *Journal of New World Archaeology* 4(1):1-49.

Eckert, Suzanne L, Kari L Schleher and William D James

2015 Communities of identity, communities of practice: Understanding Santa Fe black-on-white pottery in the Española Basin of New Mexico. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 63:1-12.

Edwards, Matthew J

2010 Archaeological investigations at Pataraya: A Wari outpost in the Nasca valley of Southern Peru, University of California, Santa Barbara.

Eeckhout, Peter

2013 Change and permanency on the coast of ancient Peru: the religious site of Pachacamac. *World archaeology* 45(1):137-160.

Ekholm, Kajsa and Jonathan Friedman

1982a "Capital" Imperialism and Exploitation in Ancient World-Systems. *Review (Fernand Braudel Center)*:87-109.

1985 Towards a global anthropology. *Critique of Anthropology* 5(1):97-119.

2008 Modernities, class, and the contradictions of globalization: the anthropology of global systems. Rowman Altamira.

Emlen, Nicholas Q

2017 Perspectives On The Quechua–Aymara Contact Relationship And The Lexicon And Phonology Of Pre-Proto-Aymara. *International Journal of American Linguistics* 83(2):307-340.

Enfield, David B

1989 El Niño, past and present. *Reviews of geophysics* 27(1):159-187.

Engel, Frederic

1957 Early sites on the Peruvian coast. *Southwestern Journal of Anthropology* 13(1):54-68.

Engels, Friedrich

1891 The origin of the family, private property, and the state. New York University Press.

Ensor, Bradley E

2013 The archaeology of kinship: Advancing interpretation and contributions to theory. University of Arizona Press.

Erickson, Clark L

1985 Applications of prehistoric Andean technology: Experiments in raised field agriculture, Huatta, Lake Titicaca, Peru, 1981-1983. *Prehistoric Intensive Agriculture in the Tropics. British Archaeological Reports, International Series* (232):209-232.

1992 Prehistoric landscape management in the Andean highlands: Raised field agriculture and its environmental impact. *Population and Environment* 13(4):285-300.

1999 Neo-environmental determinism and agrarian collapse'in Andean prehistory. *Antiquity* 73:634-641.

2006 Intensification, political economy, and the farming community; in defense of a bottom-up perspective of the past.

Erickson, Clark L and Kay L Chandler

1989 Raised fields and sustainable agriculture in the Lake Titicaca Basin of Peru. *Fragile Lands of Latin América, Westview Press. Boulder, CO.*

Escalante, Javier

1994 Arquitectura prehispánica en los Andes Bolivianos. Prod. Cima. Eds., La Paz, Bolivia.

2003 Residential architecture in La K'araña. In *Tiwanaku and Its Hinterland: Archaeology and Paleoecology of an Andean Civilization*, edited by A. Kolata, pp. 316-326. vol. 2.

Espinoza Soriano, Waldemar

1969 Los Mitmas Yungas de Collique en Cajamarca, Siglos XV, XVI y XVII. Museo Nacional.

1993 Los mitmas ajiceros-maniceros y los plateros de Ica en Cochabamba. *Historia y Cultura* (22):47-74.

Esterhuysen, Amanda B

2008 Ceramic alliances: pottery and the history of the Kekana Ndebele in the old Transvaal. *Five hundred years rediscovered: southern African precedents and prospects* 500:197-214.

Farcau, Bruce W

2000 The Ten Cents War: Chile, Peru, and Bolivia in the War of the Pacific, 1879-1884. Greenwood Publishing Group.

Fargher, Lane F, Verenice Y Heredia Espinoza and Richard E Blanton

2011 Alternative pathways to power in late Postclassic Highland Mesoamerica. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 30(3):306-326.

Faulseit, Ronald K

2012 State collapse and household resilience in the Oaxaca Valley of Mexico. *Latin American Antiquity* 23(4):401-425.

2016 Beyond collapse: Archaeological perspectives on resilience, revitalization, and transformation in complex societies. SIU Press.

Fawcett, Percy H

1910 Explorations in Bolivia. *The Geographical Journal* 35(5):513-529.

Feinman, Gary M and Joyce Marcus

1998 Archaic states. School for Advanced Research on the.

Feldman, Robert A

1980 Aspero, Peru: Architecture, subsistence economy, and other artifacts of a Preceramic maritime chiefdom.

Fernández-Hernandez, J, D González-Aguilera, P Rodríguez-Gonzálvez and J Mancera-Taboada 2015 Image-Based Modelling from Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) Photogrammetry: An Effective, Low-Cost Tool for Archaeological Applications. *Archaeometry* 57(1):128-145.

Fernández, Francisca

2018 Municipio, sistema de cargo y autonomía indígena en Bolivia: el caso de Jesús de Machaca, departamento de La Paz. *The Journal of Latin American and Caribbean Anthropology* 23(3):579-592.

Ferreira, Francisco

2012 Back to the village? An ethnographic study of an Andean community in the early twentyfirst century, University of London.

Author.

2020 Cinto: un valle que desapareció por la minería y que vuelve a la vida en Tacna. *La República*. Peru.

Feuer, Bryan

2016 Boundaries, Borders and Frontiers in Archaeology: A Study of Spatial Relationships. McFarland.

Fiedel, Stuart J

2000 The peopling of the New World: present evidence, new theories, and future directions. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 8(1):39-103.

Finucane, Brian Clifton, J Ernesto Valdez, Ismael Pérez Calderon, Cirilo Vivanco Pomacanchari, Lidio M Valdez and Tamsin O'Connell

2007 The end of empire: new radiocarbon dates from the Ayacucho Valley, Peru, and their implications for the collapse of the Wari state. *Radiocarbon* 49(2):579-592.

Flannery, Kent V

1968 Archaeological systems theory and early Mesoamerica. *Anthropological archaeology in the Americas* 67:87.

1972 The cultural evolution of civilizations. *Annual review of ecology and systematics*:399-426.

1973 Archaeology with a capital S. Research and theory in current archaeology:47-53.

1976 Early Mesoamerican Village.

1994 Childe the evolutionist. In *The Archaeology of VG Childe: Comparative Perspectives*, pp. 101-119.

1995 Prehistoric Social Evolution. *Research frontiers in anthropology*:1-26.

1998 The ground plans of archaic states. In *Archaic States*, pp. 15-57. School of American Research Press, Santa Fe, NM.

1999 Process and agency in early state formation. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 9(01):3-21.

2002 The origins of the village revisited: from nuclear to extended households. *American antiquity*:417-433.

Flannery, Kent V and Joyce Marcus

1976 Evolution of the public building in Formative Oaxaca. *Cultural Change and Continuity: Essays in Honor of James Bennett Griffin*:205-221.

2012 The Creation of Inequality: how our prehistoric ancestors set the stage for monarchy, slavery, and empire. Harvard University Press.

Flannery, Kent V, Joyce Marcus and Robert G Reynolds

1989 The flocks of the Wamani: A study of Ilama herders on the Punas of Ayacucho, Peru. Routledge.

Flores, Salvador Palomino

1984 El sistema de oposiciones en la comunidad de Sarhua:" la complementaridad de los opuestos en la cultura andina". Editorial Pueblo Indio.

Focacci, Guillermo

1983 El Tiwanaku clásico en el valle de Azapa. Documentos de trabajo 3:94-113.

1990 Excavaciones arqueológicas en el cementerio AZ-6 valle de Azapa. Chungara:69-123.

Foley, Robert and Clive Gamble

2009 The ecology of social transitions in human evolution. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 364(1533):3267-3279.

Folke, Carl

2006 Resilience: The emergence of a perspective for social–ecological systems analyses. *Global environmental change* 16(3):253-267.

Fonseca, César

1973 Sistemas económicos andinos. Biblioteca Andina, Lima.

Foucault, Michel

1982 The subject and power. *Critical inquiry* 8(4):777-795.

Frank, Andre Gunder

1966 The Development of Underdevelopment. New England Free Press Boston, MA.

Frank, Andre Gunder and Barry K Gills

1996 The world system: five hundred years or five thousand? Psychology Press.

Frankenstein, Susan and Michael J Rowlands

1978 The internal structure and regional context of Early Iron Age society in south-western Germany. *Bulletin of the Institute of Archaeology London* (15):73-112.

Fraser, Valerie

1990 *The architecture of conquest: building in the viceroyalty of Peru, 1535-1635.* Cambridge University Press Cambridge.

Freeman, Linton C

1978 Centrality in social networks conceptual clarification. Social networks 1(3):215-239.

2000 Social network analysis: Definition and history.

Freitas, Fabio Oliveira, Gerhard Bendel, Robin G Allaby and Terence A Brown

2003 DNA from primitive maize landraces and archaeological remains: implications for the domestication of maize and its expansion into South America. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 30(7):901-908.

Fried, Morton Herbert

1960 On the Evolution of Social Stratificiation and the State. Bobbs-Merrill.

Friedman, Jonathan

1979 System, Structure, and Contradiction: The Evolution of Asiatic Social Formations. Rowman Altamira.

1995 Global system, globalization and the parameters of modernity. *Global modernities*:69-90.

Friedman, Jonathan and Michael Rowlands

1977 Notes towards an epigenetic model of the evolution of "civilization.

Fruth, Barbara and Gottfried Hohmann

1996 Nest building behavior in the great apes: the great leap forward? Great ape societies:225.

Fukuyama, Francis

2011 The origins of political order: from prehuman times to the French Revolution. Profile books.

Gablemann, Olga U

2012 A Changing Society? Craft Specialization and Complementarity Systems during the Formative Period in the Cochabamba Valley, Bolivia. *Andean Past* 10(1):6.

Gade, Daniel W

1999 Nature and Culture in the Andes. Univ of Wisconsin Press.

Gailey, Christine W

1985 The state of the state in anthropology. *Dialectical Anthropology* 9(1):65-89.

Galeano, Eduardo

1997 Open veins of Latin America: Five centuries of the pillage of a continent. NYU Press.

Gamble, Clive

1998 Palaeolithic society and the release from proximity: a network approach to intimate relations. *World Archaeology* 29(3):426-449.

2007 Origins and revolutions: human identity in earliest prehistory. Cambridge University Press.

Garcia, Emilio Jose and Brenda Vale

2017 Unravelling sustainability and resilience in the built environment. Routledge.

Garcilaso de la Vega, Inca

2009[1609] Comentarios Reales de los Inca. Digitalia.

Garreaud, R D

2009 The Andes climate and weather. *Advances in Geosciences* 22:3.

Garrido, Francisco

2016 Rethinking imperial infrastructure: A bottom-up perspective on the Inca Road. *Journal of anthropological archaeology* 43:94-109.

Garvin, Arianna C

2020 Maintaining Homeland Identities in a Tiwanaku Colony (AD 600-1100): Archaeobotanical Findings from the Tiwanaku Site of Cerro San Antonio in the Locumba Valley, Perú, UC San Diego.

Geertz, Clifford

1980 Negara. Princeton University Press.

Gell-Mann, Murray

1995 The Quark and the Jaguar: Adventures in the Simple and the Complex. Macmillan.

Gell, Alfred

1998 Art and agency: an anthropological theory. Oxford University Press.

Gelles, Paul H

1995 Equilibrium and extraction: dual organization in the Andes. *American Ethnologist* 22(4):710-742.

Gentili, Pier Luigi

2018 Untangling complex systems: a grand challenge for science. CRC Press.

Gerritsen, Fokke

Archaeological Perspectives on Local Communities. In *A Companion to Archaeology*, edited by J. Bintliff, pp. 141-154. Blackwell.

Geyh, Mebus A, Martin Grosjean, Lautaro Núñez and Ulrich Schotterer

1999 Radiocarbon reservoir effect and the timing of the late-Glacial/Early Holocene humid phase in the Atacama desert (northern Chile). *Quaternary Research* 52(2):143-153.

Gibson, James J

1979 The ecological approach to visual perception: classic edition. Psychology Press.

Giddens, Anthony

1984 *The Constitution of Society: outline of the theory of structuration.* University of California Press.

Giesso, Martin

2003 Stone tool production in the Tiwanaku heartland. In *Tiwanaku and its hinterland:* archaeology and paleoecology of an Andean civilization, pp. 363-383. vol. 2.

Giomi, Evan and Matthew A Peeples

2019 Network analysis of intrasite material networks and ritual practice at Pueblo Bonito. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 53:22-31.

Glaeser, Edward

2011 Triumph of the city: How urban spaces make us human. Pan Macmillan.

Glowacki, Mary

2005 Food of the Gods or mere mortals? Hallucinogenic Spondylus and its interpretive implications for early Andean society. *Antiquity* 79(304):257.

Glowacki, Mary and Michael Malpass

2003 Water, huacas, and ancestor worship: traces of a sacred Wari landscape. *Latin American Antiquity*:431-448.

Göbel, Bárbara

1998 Salir de viaje. Producción pastoril e intercambio económico en el noroeste argentino. In 50 años de Estudios Americanistas en la Universidad de Bonn. Nuevas contribuciones, etnohistoria, etnolingüística y etnografía en las Américas.

Godoy, Ricardo A

1985 State, ayllu, and ethnicity in northern Potosí, Bolivia. Anthropos:53-65.

1986 The fiscal role of the Andean ayllu. *Man*:723-741.

Goldstein, Paul S

1985 Tiwanaku Ceramics of the Moquegua Valley, Peru, Department of Anthropology, University of Chicago.

1989a Omo, a Tiwanaku provincial center in Moquegua, Peru, University of Chicago, Department of Anthropology.

1989b The Tiwanaku Occupation of Moquegua. In *Ecology, Settlement, and History in the Osmore Drainage*, pp. 219-255.

1993a House, community, and state in the earliest Tiwanaku colony: Domestic patterns and state integration at Omo M12, Moquegua. In *Domestic architecture, ethnicity, and complementarity in the south-central Andes*, pp. 25-41.

1993b Tiwanaku temples and state expansion: A Tiwanaku sunken-court temple in Moquegua, Peru. *Latin American Antiquity*:22-47.

1995 Tiwanaku settlement patterns of the Azapa Valley, Chile: new data, and the legacy of Percy Dauelsberg. *Diálogo Andino* 14(15):1996.

2000a Exotic goods and everyday chiefs: long-distance exchange and indigenous sociopolitical development in the south central Andes. *Latin American Antiquity*:335-361.

2000b The vertical archipelago and diaspora communities in the southern Andes. In *The archaeology of communities: a New World perspective*, pp. 182-209.

2003 From stew-eaters to maize-drinkers. In *The archaeology and politics of food and feasting in early states and empires*, pp. 143-172.

2005 Andean Diaspora: the Tiwanaku colonies and the origins of South American empire. University Press of Florida.

2007 Settlement patterns and Altiplano colonization: new models and evidence from the Tiwanaku diaspora. Sociedades precolombinas surandinas: temporalidad, interacción y dinámica cultural del NOA en el ámbito de los Andes Centro-Sur. Artes Gráficas Buschi, Buenos Aires:155-187.

2009 *Diasporas within the ancient state: Tiwanaku as ayllus in motion.* Andean Civilization: A Tribute to Michael E. Moseley, Cotsen Institute of Archaeology, Los Angeles.

2013a Embedded Andean Economic Systems and the Expansive Tiwanaku State, a case for a state without market exchange. *Proceedings of the Merchants, Markets, and Exchange in the Pre-columbian world. Dumbarton Oaks Pre-columbian Symposia and Colloquia, Washington, DC*:361-387.

2013b Tiwanaku and Wari state expansion: Demographic and outpost colonization compared. *Proceedings of the Visions of Tiwanaku: Cotsen Institute Conference on Tiwanaku* 78:41-63.

2015 Multiethnicity, pluralism, and migration in the south central Andes: An alternate path to state expansion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 112(30):9202-9209.

2018 Gods and Goddesses in Diaspora: gender, patriarchy, and resistence in Tiwanaku ceramic iconography. In *Images in Action: The Southern Andean Iconographic Series*, edited by W. Isbell, M. Uribe Rod, A. Tiballi and E. Zeggara. UCLA Cotsen University Press.

Goldstein, Paul S and Francis J Magilligan

2011 Hazard, risk and agrarian adaptations in a hyperarid watershed: El Niño floods, streambank erosion, and the cultural bounds of vulnerability in the Andean Middle Horizon. *Catena* 85(2):155-167.

Goldstein, Paul S and Bruce D Owen

2001 Tiwanaku en Moquegua: las colonias altiplánicas. *Huari y Tiwanaku: modelos vs. evidencias, segunda parte*:139-168.

Goldstein, Paul S and Patricia Palacios

2015 Excavaciones en el templete Tiwanaku de Omo, Moquegua Peru. In *Nuevos Aportes para el Horizonte Medio: Sur de Peru, Norte de Chile y Bolivia*, edited by A. Korpisaari and J. Chacama. IFEA, Lima, Peru.

Goldstein, Paul S and Matthew J Sitek

2018 Plazas and Processional Paths in Tiwanaku Temples: divergence, convergence, and encounter at Omo M10, Moquegua, Peru. *Latin American Antiquity* 29(3):455-474.

Goldstone, Jack A and John F Haldon

2009 Ancient states, empires, and exploitation: Problems and perspectives. na.

Golitko, Mark, James Meierhoff, Gary M Feinman and Patrick Ryan Williams

2012 Complexities of collapse: the evidence of Maya obsidian as revealed by social network graphical analysis. *Antiquity* 86(332):507-523.

González Holguin, Diego

[1608]1989 Vocabulario de la lengua general de todo el Peru llamada: lengua qquichua o del inca. UNMSM.

Gordillo Begazo, Jesus P.

1993 Catastro, Inventario y Evaluación de Sitios Arqueológicos en el Valle Medio del río Caplina, Tacna. Universidad Católica de Arequipa Arequipa.

2012 Informe Final, Proyecto De Investigación Arqueológica, "Moqi - Perú", Temporada 2012. Ministerio Nacional de Cultura.

2013 Informe Final Proyecto De Investigación Arqueológica "Moqi - Perú", Temporada 2013. Ministerio Nacional de Cultura. Copies available from Resolución Directoral 023-2013-DGPA-VMPCIC/MC.

Gose, Peter

1991 House rethatching in an Andean annual cycle: practice, meaning, and contradiction. *American Ethnologist* 18(1):39-66.

2003 Converting the ancestors: Indirect rule, settlement consolidation, and the struggle over burial in colonial Peru, 1532–1614. *Conversion: Old worlds and new*:140-174.

2008 Invaders as ancestors: on the intercultural making and unmaking of Spanish colonialism in the Andes 36. University of Toronto Press.

Gotts, Nicholas M

2007 Resilience, panarchy, and world-systems analysis. *Ecology and Society* 12(1).

Graeber, David

2011 Debt: The First 5,000 Years. Melville House.

Graff, Sarah R

2020 Archaeology of Cuisine and Cooking. Annual Review of Anthropology 49:337-354.

Graff, Sarah R and Enrique Rodríguez-Alegría

2012 The menial art of cooking: archaeological studies of cooking and food preparation. University Press of Colorado.

Gramsci, Antonio

2011 Prison Notebooks, Volumes 1-3.

Granovetter, Mark S

1977 The strength of weak ties. In *Social networks*, pp. 347-367. Elsevier.

1983 The strength of weak ties: A network theory revisited. Sociological theory:201-233.

Grant, Jennifer and Kevin Lane

The political ecology of late South American pastoralism: an Andean perspective AD 1,000-1,615. *Journal of Political Ecology* 25(1):446-469.

Green, Elizabeth T

2009 An evaluation of camelid skeletal frequencies, patterning, deposition, and food utility at the site of Pirque Alto, Cochabamba, Bolivia, State University of New York at Binghamton.

Green, Ulrike M and Kirk E Costion

2017 Modeling Ranges of Cross-Cultural Interaction in Ancient Borderlands.

Grosjean, Martin, JFN Van Leeuwen, Willem Oscar van der Knaap, MA Geyh, Brigitta Ammann, Willi Tanner, Bruno Messerli, LA Núñez, BL Valero-Garcés and Heinz Veit

2001 A 22,000 14C year BP sediment and pollen record of climate change from Laguna Miscanti (23 S), northern Chile. *Global and Planetary Change* 28(1-4):35-51.

Grove, Matt, Eiluned Pearce and Robin IM Dunbar

2012 Fission-fusion and the evolution of hominin social systems. *Journal of human evolution* 62(2):191-200.

Groves, Colin P and J Sabater Pi

1985 From ape's nest to human fix-point. *Man*:22-47.

Guadalupe Inga, Martin and Michael Tapia Condori

2018 *El Senor de Locumba: ritualidades transfronterizas en el sur Peruano.* Ministerio de Cultura, Peru.

Guamán Poma de Ayala, Felipe

1980[1562] Nueva corónica y buen gobierno 2. Fundacion Biblioteca Ayacucho.

Guattari, Félix

2000 The three ecologies. Bloomsbury Publishing.

Guengerich, Anna

2017 Domestic architecture and the materiality of public-making in pre-Columbian Eastern Peru. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 17(3):263-284.

Guengerich, Anna and John Wayne Janusek

2021 The Suñawa Monolith and a Genre of Extended-Arm Sculptures at Tiwanaku, Bolivia. *Ñawpa Pacha* 41(1):19-46.

Guillet, David

1980 Reciprocal labor and peripheral capitalism in the Central Andes. *Ethnology* 19(2):151-167.

Haas, Jonathan

1982 The evolution of the prehistoric state. Columbia University Press.

Haas, Jonathan and Winifred Creamer

2006 Crucible of Andean civilization: The Peruvian coast from 3000 to 1800 BC. *Current Anthropology* 47(5):745-775.

Haeberli, Joerg

Tiempo y tradición en Arequipa, Perú, y el surgimiento de la cronología del Tema de la Deidad Central. *Boletín de Arqueología PUCP* (5):89-137.

Hall, Thomas D

2000 A world-systems reader: new perspectives on gender, urbanism, cultures, indigenous peoples, and ecology. Rowman & Littlefield.

Hall, Thomas D, P Nick Kardulias and Christopher Chase-Dunn

2011 World-systems analysis and archaeology: continuing the dialogue. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 19(3):233-279.

Hammel, Eugene A

1969 Peck's Archaeologist. The Kroeber Anthropological Society Papers 40:93-99.

Handelman, Don

1998 Models and mirrors: Towards an anthropology of public events. Berghahn Books.

Hansen, BCS, DT Rodbell, GO Seltzer, Blanca León, Kenneth R Young and Mark Abbott
 2003 Late-glacial and Holocene vegetational history from two sites in the western Cordillera of southwestern Ecuador. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 194(1-3):79-108.

Harris, Oliver JT

2014 (Re) assembling communities. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 21(1):76-97.

Harris, Olivia

1978 El parentesco y la economía vertical en el ayllu Laymi (Norte de Potosí). *Avances* 1:51-64.

1985 Ecological duality and the role of the center: Northern Potosí. In Andean Ecology and Civilization, an Interpretative Perspective on Andean Ecological Complementarity, pp. 311-335.

Hartman, G.

1958 Apuntes sobre la biologia del camaron de rio, Cyphiops camentarius (Molina) Palaemonidae, Decapod. Pesa Casa :15-28.

Hartonen, Tuomo and Arto Annila

2012 Natural networks as thermodynamic systems. *Complexity* 18(2):53-62.

Hassan, Fekri A

1981 Demographic archaeology. In *Advances in archaeological method and theory*, pp. 225-279. Elsevier.

Hastings, C Mansfield and Michael E Moseley

1975 The adobes of Huaca del Sol and Huaca de la Luna. *American Antiquity* 40(2Part1):196-203.

Hastorf, Christine A

1999 Cultural implications of crop introductions in Andean prehistory. *The prehistory of food: appetites for change*:35-58.

2003 Community with the ancestors: ceremonies and social memory in the Middle Formative at Chiripa, Bolivia. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 22(4):305-332.

2008 The formative period in the Titicaca Basin. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 545-561. Springer.

2016 The Social Archaeology of Food: Thinking about eating from prehistory to the present. Cambridge University Press.

Hastorf, Christine A, Matthew Bandy, Rene Ayon, Emily Dean, Miriam Doutriaux, Kirk Frye, Rachel Goddard, Don Johnson, Kate Moore and José Luis Paz

1999 Taraco Archaeological Project: 1998 Excavations at Chiripa, Bolivia.

Hastorf, Christine A, William T Whitehead, Maria C Bruno and Melanie Wright 2006 The movements of maize into middle horizon Tiwanaku, Bolivia. In *Histories of maize: multidisciplinary approaches to the prehistory, linguistics, biogeography, domestication, and evolution of maize*, pp. 429-448.

Hayden, Brian

2001 Fabulous feasts: a prolegomenon to the importance of feasting. *Feasts: Archaeological* and ethnographic perspectives on food, politics, and power:23-64.

Hayden, Brian and Suzanne Villeneuve

2011 A century of feasting studies. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 40:433-449.

 Hazzi, Nicolas A, Juan Sebastián Moreno, Carolina Ortiz-Movliav and Rubén Darío Palacio
 2018 Biogeographic regions and events of isolation and diversification of the endemic biota of the tropical Andes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115(31):7985-7990.

Hegmon, Michelle

1992 Archaeological research on style. Annual Review of Anthropology:517-536.

2003 Setting theoretical egos aside: Issues and theory in North American archaeology. *American antiquity*:213-243.

Helms, Mary W

1992 Long-distance contacts, elite aspirations, and the age of discovery in cosmological context. In *Resources, power, and interregional interaction*, pp. 157-174. Springer.

Hendon, Julia A

1996 Archaeological approaches to the organization of domestic labor: household practice and domestic relations. *Annual review of anthropology* 25(1):45-61.

Henry, Edward R and Casey R Barrier

2016 The organization of dissonance in Adena-Hopewell societies of eastern North America. *World Archaeology* 48(1):87-109.

Herrera Corrales, N

2007 Informe Final del Proyecto de Evaluación Arqueológica en el Sector de la Variante Cimarrona – Capilluni, Toquepala, Distrito de Ilabaya, Provincia de Jorge Basadre, Departamento de Tacna. Tacna.

Hess, David J

1997 Science studies: An advanced introduction. NYU press.

Higueras-Hare, Alvaro

1996 Prehispanic settlement and land use in Cochabamba, Bolivia, University of Pittsburgh.

2008 Cultural heritage management in Peru: current and future challenges. In *The Handbook* of *South American Archaeology*, pp. 1073-1088. Springer.

2012 El Periodo Intermedio (Horizonte Medio) en los valles de Cochabamba: una perspectiva del análisis de asentamientos humanos y uso de tierras. *Boletín de Arqueología PUCP* (5):625-646.

Hillery, George A

1959 A critique of selected community concepts. Social Forces:237-242.

1982 A research odyssey: Developing and testing a community theory. Transaction Publishers.

Hillier, Bill

2010 Spatial Analysis and Cultural Information: the need for theory as well as method in space syntax analysis. *Proceedings of the Keynote presented at the international workshop: Spatial analysis in past built environments. Berlin, Germany.*

Hillier, Bill and Julienne Hanson

1984 *The social logic of space*. Cambridge University Press.

Hirth, Kenneth G

1978 Interregional trade and the formation of prehistoric gateway communities. *American Antiquity* 43(1):35-45.

1993 The household as an analytical unit: Problems in method and theory. In *Prehispanic Domestic Units in Western Mesoamerica: Studies of the Household, Compound, and Residence*, pp. 21-36.

1996 Political Economy and Archaeology: perspectives on exchange and production. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 4(3):203-239.

Hobbes, Thomas

[1651]1970 Leviathan Glasgow.

Hodder, Ian

1985 Postprocessual archaeology. Advances in archaeological method and theory:1-26.

1991 Interpretive archaeology and its role. *American Antiquity*:7-18.

2012 Entangled: An archaeology of the relationships between humans and things. John Wiley & Sons.

Agency and individuals in long-term processes. In *Agency in archaeology*, pp. 37-49. Routledge.

Hodder, Ian and Angus Mol

2016 Network analysis and entanglement. *Journal of archaeological method and theory* 23(4):1066-1094.

Hodos, Tamar

2016 The Routledge Handbook of Archaeology and Globalization. Routledge.

Holland-Lulewicz, Jacob, Megan Conger, Jennifer Birch, Stephen A Kowalewski and Travis Jones

2020 An institutional approach for archaeology. Journal of Anthropological Archaeology 58.

Holland, John H

2006 Studying complex adaptive systems. *Journal of systems science and complexity* 19(1):1-8.

Holling, Crawford Stanley and Lance H Gunderson

2002 *Panarchy: understanding transformations in human and natural systems*. Washington, DC: Island Press.

Horton, Douglas E

1984 Social scientists in agricultural research: Lessons from the Mantaro Valley Project, Peru. IDRC, Ottawa, ON, CA.

Houston, John and Adrian J Hartley

2003 The central Andean west-slope rainshadow and its potential contribution to the origin of hyper-aridity in the Atacama Desert. *International Journal of Climatology: A Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society* 23(12):1453-1464.

Huber, John D and Charles R Shipan

2006 Politics, delegation, and bureaucracy. In *The Oxford handbook of political science*.

Hubert, Erell

2015 Moche Colonial Identity in the Santa Valley, Peru, University of Cambridge.

Hughes, Everett C

1936 The ecological aspect of institutions. *American sociological review* 1(2):180-189.

Humphrey, Caroline and Stephen Hugh-Jones

1992 Barter, exchange and value: an anthropological approach. Cambridge University Press.

Hunefeldt, Christine

2001 Smoldering Ashes: Cuzco and the Creation of Republican Peru, 1780-1840. *Journal of Latin American Studies* 33:185.

Hutchins, Edwin

2010 Cognitive ecology. *Topics in cognitive science* 2(4):705-715.

Hutson, Scott

2016 The ancient urban Maya: neighborhoods, inequality, and built form. University Press of Florida.

Hyslop, John

- 1984 *The Inka road system*. Academic Press.
- 1990 Inka Settlement Planning. University of Texas Press.

INEI

2008 Población y crecimiento", En Dirección Técnicade Demografía y Estudios Sociales y Centro de Investigación y Desarrollo del INEI.

Ingold, Tim

2002 The perception of the environment: essays on livelihood, dwelling and skill. Routledge.

2007 *Lines: a brief history*. Routledge.

2012 Toward an ecology of materials. *Annual review of anthropology* 41:427-442.

Inomata, Takeshi and Lawrence S Coben

2006 Archaeology of Performance: theaters of power, community, and politics. Rowman Altamira.

Isbell, Billie Jean

1978 To Defend Ourselves, Ecology & Ritual in an Andean Village. Waveland Press Inc.

Isbell, William H

1986 Emergence of city and state at Wari, Ayacucho, Peru, during the Middle Horizon. *Andean Archaeology: Papers in Memory of Clifford Evans*:189-200.

1997a *Mummies and mortuary monuments: a postprocessual prehistory of Central Andean social organization.* University of Texas Press.

1997b Reconstructing Huari. In *Emergence and change in early urban societies*, pp. 181-227. Springer.

2000 What we should be studying: the 'imagined community' and the 'natural community'. *The archaeology of communities: a new world perspective*:243-266.

2004 Mortuary preferences: a Wari culture case study from Middle Horizon Peru. *Latin American Antiquity*:3-32.

2008 Wari and Tiwanaku: international identities in the central Andean Middle Horizon. In *The Handbook of South American Archaeology*, pp. 731-759. Springer.

Isbell, William H and JoEllen Burkholder

2002 Iwawi and Tiwanaku. In Andean Archaeology I, pp. 199-241. Springer.

Isbell, William H and Anita G Cook

2002 A new perspective on Conchopata and the Andean Middle Horizon. In Andean archaeology II, pp. 249-305. Springer.

Isbell, William H and Gordon F McEwan

1991 *Huari Administrative Structure: prehistoric monumental architecture and state government.* Dumbarton Oaks.

- Isbell, William H and Katharina J Schreiber 1978 Was Huari a state? *American Antiquity*:372-389.
- Isbell, William H, Mauricio Uribe, Anne Tiballi and Edward Zeggara
 2018 Images in Action: The Southern Andean Iconographic Series. Cotsen Advanced
 Seminars 6. The Cotsen Institute of Archaeology Press.

Isbell, William H and Alexei Vranich

2004 Experiencing the cities of Wari and Tiwanaku. In *Andean archaeology*, pp. 167-182. vol.1.

Ishida, Eichiro

1960 Andes: The Report of the University of Tokyo Scientific Expeditions to the Andes in 1958. University of Tokyo.

Izko, Xavier

1986 Comunidad andina: persistencia y cambio. *Revista andina* 4(1):59-99.

1992 La doble frontera: Ecología, política y ritual en el altiplano central. Hisbol/Ceres.

Jacobs, Jane

1961 The death and life of great American cities. Vintage.

James III, Russell N

2010 The origin of spaces: understanding residential satisfaction from ape nests, human cultures and the hierarchy of natural housing functions. *Housing, Theory and Society* 27(4):279-295.

James, William

1904 *The varieties of religious experience*. New American Library.

Jamieson, Ross W

2005 Colonialism, social archaeology and lo Andino: historical archaeology in the Andes. *World Archaeology* 37(3):352-372.

Janusek, John Wayne

1994 State and local power in a Prehispanic Andean polity: changing patterns of urban residence in Tiwanaku and Lukurmata, Bolivia, University of Chicago, Department of Anthropology.

1999 Craft and local power: Embedded specialization in Tiwanaku cities. *Latin American Antiquity*:107-131.

2002 Out of many, one: style and social boundaries in Tiwanaku. *Latin American Antiquity*:35-61.

2003a The changing face of Tiwanaku residential life: State and local identity in an Andean city. In *Tiwanaku and its hinterland: Archaeology and paleoecology of an Andean civilization*, edited by A. Kolata, pp. 264-295. vol. 2.

2003b Vessels, time, and society: toward a chronology of ceramic style in the Tiwanaku heartland. In *Tiwanaku and its hinterland: Archaeology and paleoecology of an Andean civilization*, edited by A. L. Kolata, pp. 30-94. vol. 2.

2004a Collapse as cultural revolution: Power and identity in the Tiwanaku to Pacajes transition. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 14(1):175-209.

2004b Household and city in Tiwanaku. In *Andean Archaeology*, edited by H. Silverman, pp. 183-208. Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

2004c Identity and power in the ancient Andes: Tiwanaku cities through time. Psychology Press.

2004d Tiwanaku and its precursors: Recent research and emerging perspectives. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 12(2):121-183.

2005a *Of pots and people: ceramic style and social identity in the Tiwanaku state.* Us and them: Archaeology and ethnicity in the Andes.

2005b Patios hundidos, encuentros rituales y el auge de Tiwanaku como centro religioso panregional. *Boletín de Arqueología PUCP* (9):161-184.

2005c Residential diversity and the rise of complexity in Tiwanaku. In *Advances in Titicaca Basin Archaeology*, edited by C. Stanish, A. Cohen and M. Aldenderfer, pp. 143-172. vol. 1. Cotsen Institute of Archaeology, University of California Press, Los Angeles.

2006 The changing 'nature' of Tiwanaku religion and the rise of an Andean state. *World Archaeology* 38(3):469-492.

2008 Ancient Tiwanaku. Cambridge University Press Cambridge.

2009 Residence and ritual in Tiwanaku. *Studies in Latin American Ethnohistory & Archaeology*:159.

2012 Understanding Tiwanaku Origins: Animistic Ecology in the Andean Altiplano. In *The Past Ahead: Language, Culture, and Identity in the Neotropics*, pp. 111-138.

2013 Social diversity, ritual encounter, and the contingent production of Tiwanaku. In *Visions of Tiwanaku*, pp. 197-210. vol. 78. Cotsen Institute.

2015 Incipient urbanism at the Early Andean center of Khonkho Wankane, Bolivia. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 40(2):127-143.

2019 Assembling Tiwanaku: Water and stone, humans and monoliths. In *New Materialisms Ancient Urbanisms*, pp. 65-129. Routledge.

Janusek, John Wayne and Deborah E Blom

2006 Identifying Tiwanaku Urban Populations. *Urbanism in the Preindustrial World: Crosscultural Approaches*:233.

Janusek, John Wayne and Corey Bowen

2018 Tiwanaku as Telluric Waterscape: Water and Stone in a Highland Andean City. In *Powerful Places in the Ancient Andes*, pp. 209-245.

Janusek, John Wayne and Alan L Kolata

2003 Prehispanic rural history in the Katari Valley. *Tiwanaku and its hinterland: archaeology and paleoecology of an Andean civilization* 2:129-172.

Top-down or bottom-up: rural settlement and raised field agriculture in the Lake Titicaca Basin, Bolivia. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 23(4):404-430.

Janusek, John Wayne, Alexei Vranich and Abigail R Levine

2013 Jésus de Machaca before and after Tiwanaku: a background to recent archaeology at Khonkho Wankane and Pukara de Khonkho. In *Advances in Titicaca Basin Archaeology*, pp. 7-22. vol. 2.

- Janusek, John Wayne, Patrick Ryan Williams, Mark Golitko and Carlos Lémuz Aguirre 2013 Building Taypikala: Telluric transformations in the lithic production of Tiwanaku. In *Mining and Quarrying in the Ancient Andes*, pp. 65-97. Springer.
- Jasanoff, Sheila, Gerald E Markle, James C Peterson and Trevor Pinch 2001 Handbook of science and technology studies. Sage publications.

Jenkins, David

2001 A network analysis of Inka roads, administrative centers, and storage facilities. *Ethnohistory* 48(4):655-687.

Jennings, Justin

2006 Core, peripheries, and regional realities in Middle Horizon Peru. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 25(3):346-370.

2010a *Beyond Wari walls: regional perspectives on middle horizon Peru*. University of New Mexico Press.

2010b Globalizations and the Ancient World. Cambridge University Press.

2016 Distinguishing past globalizations. *The Routledge Handbook of Archaeology and Globalization*.

Jennings, Justin, Timothy K Earle, Michael E Smith, José Lobo, Jason Ur, Justin Jennings and Timothy K Earle

2016 Urbanization, state formation, and cooperation: a reappraisal. *Current Anthropology* 57(4):000-000.

Jervis, Ben

2018 Assemblage thought and archaeology. Routledge.

Jervis, Robert

1998 System effects: Complexity in political and social life. Princeton University Press.

Jessup, David

1991 General Trends in the Development of the Chiribaya Culture, South-coastal Peru. *Proceedings of the Annual meeting of the Society for American Archaeology, New Orleans.*

Johnson, Gregory A

1980 Rank-size convexity and system integration: a view from archaeology. *Economic* geography 56(3):234-247.

1982 Organizational structure and scalar stress. *Theory and explanation in archaeology*:389-421.

Johnson, Kent M

2020 Exploring Family, Ethnic, and Regional Identities among Tiwanaku-Affiliated Communities in Moquegua, Peru. In *Bioarchaeology and Identity Revisited*, edited by K. J. Knudson and C. M. Stojanowski, pp. 20-55. University of Florida Press.

Johnson, Steven

2002 *Emergence: The connected lives of ants, brains, cities, and software*. Simon and Schuster.

Jones, Julie

1990 Andean Four-Cornered Hats, Ancient Volumes. Metropolitan Museum of Art.

Jones, Siân

1997 The archaeology of ethnicity: constructing identities in the past and present. Psychology Press.

Jost, Jürgen

2005 Formal aspects of the emergence of institutions. *Structure and Dynamics* 1(1).

Juan San, Martin M.

2002 Ritual Conflict (Tinku) and Vindication of Indigenous Rights in Bolivia. *Mountain Research and Development* 22(4):394-396.

Julien, Catherine J

1988 How Inca decimal administration worked. *Ethnohistory*:257-279.

2000 *Reading Inca History*. University of Iowa Press.

2007 Francisco de Toledo and his campaign against the Incas. *Colonial Latin American Review* 16(2):243-272.

Julien, Catherine J and George A Collier

1982 Inca decimal administration in the Lake Titicaca region. *The Inca and Aztec States* 1400(1800):119-147.

Keatinge, Richard W

1975 Urban settlement systems and rural sustaining communities: an example from Chan Chan's hinterland. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 2(3):215-227.

Keefer, David K and Michael E Moseley

2004 Southern Peru desert shattered by the great 2001 earthquake: Implications for paleoseismic and paleo-El Niño–Southern Oscillation records. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 101(30):10878-10883.

Kembel, Silvia Rodriguez and John W Rick

2004 Building authority at Chavín de Huántar: models of social organization and development in the Initial Period and Early Horizon. *Andean archaeology*:51-76.

Kent, Susan

1984 *Analyzing activity areas: an ethnoarchaeological study of the use of space.* University of New Mexico Press.

1990 Activity areas and architecture: an interdisciplinary view of the relationship between use of space and domestic built environments. In *Domestic architecture and the use of space*, pp. 1-8.

Kidder, Alfred Vincent

1956 *Digging in the Titicaca Basin.* University Museum, University of Pennsylvania.

Kinzig, Ann P, Paul Ryan, Michel Etienne, Helen Allison, Thomas Elmqvist and Brian H Walker 2006 Resilience and regime shifts: assessing cascading effects. *Ecology and society* 11(1).

Kirch, Patrick V

1988 Circumscription theory and sociopolitical evolution in Polynesia. *American Behavioral Scientist* 31(4):416-427.

1989 The evolution of the Polynesian chiefdoms. Cambridge University Press.

Klarich, Elizabeth A

From the monumental to the mundane: Defining early leadership strategies at Late Formative Pukara, Peru, University of California, Santa Barbara.

Klarich, Elizabeth A and Nancy Román Bustinza

2012 Scale and diversity at Late Formative period Pukara. In *Advances in Titicaca Basin archaeology*, pp. 105-120. vol. 3.

Klein, Herbert S

1993 Haciendas and ayllus: rural society in the Bolivian Andes in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. Stanford University Press.

Klink, Cynthia and Mark Aldenderfer

A projectile point chronology for the south-central Andean highlands. *Advances in Titicaca basin archaeology* 1:25-54.

Knapp, A Bernard

1988 Ideology, archaeology and polity. *Man*:133-163.

2003 The Archaeology of Community on Bronze Age Cyprus: Politiko" Phorades" in Context. *American Journal of Archaeology*:559-580.

2016 Beyond Agency: Identity and Individuals in Archaeology. In *Agency and Identity in the Ancient Near East*, pp. 193-200. Routledge.

Knapp, A Bernard and Peter Van Dommelen

2008 Past practices: rethinking individuals and agents in archaeology. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 18(1):15-34.

Knappett, Carl

2011 An Archaeology of Interaction: Network Perspectives on Material Culture and Society. Oxford University Press.

2013 *Network Analysis in Archaeology: new approaches to regional interaction.* Oxford University Press.

2016 Globalization, connectivities and networks. *The Routledge Handbook of Archaeology and Globalization*.

2020 The Visual Culture of the Aegean Bronze Age: Meaning in the Making. Cambridge University Press.

Knauft, Bruce M, Thomas S Abler, Laura Betzig, Christopher Boehm, Robert Knox Dentan, Thomas M Kiefer, Keith F Otterbein, John Paddock and Lars Rodseth

1991 Violence and sociality in human evolution [and comments and replies]. *Current Anthropology* 32(4):391-428.

Knobloch, Patricia J

2005 Monkey saw, monkey did: a stylization model for correlating Nasca and Wari chronology. *Andean Past* 7(1):10.

Knudson, Kelly J, Arthur E Aufderheide and Jane E Buikstra

2007 Seasonality and paleodiet in the Chiribaya polity of southern Peru. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 34(3):451-462.

 Knudson, Kelly J, P. S. Goldstein, A. Dahlstedt, A. Somerville and M. J. Schoeninger
 2014 Paleomobility in the Tiwanaku diaspora: biogeochemical analyses at Rio Muerto, Moquegua, Peru. Am J Phys Anthropol 155(3):405-421.

Knudson, Kelly J, Christina Torres-Rouff and A. Hoff

2020 Intersectionality and the Multiplicity of Identities in the Andean Past. In *Bioarchaeology and Identity Revisited*, edited by K. J. Knudson and C. M. Stojanowski. University of Florida Press.

Kohl, Philip L

1987 The use and abuse of world systems theory: The case of the pristine West Asian state. *Advances in Archaeological Method and Theory*:1-35.

Kohler, Timothy A

2012 Complex systems and archaeology. Archaeological theory today:93-123.

Kojan, David and Dante Angelo

2005 Dominant narratives, social violence and the practice of Bolivian archaeology. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 5(3):383-408.

Kolata, Alan L

1986 The Agricultural Foundations of the Tiwanaku State: A View from the Heartland. *American Antiquity* 51(4):748-762.

1991 The technology and organization of agricultural production in the Tiwanaku state. *Latin American Antiquity*:99-125.

1993a The Tiwanaku: portrait of an Andean civilization. Blackwell.

1993b Understanding Tiwanaku: Conquest, colonization, and clientage in the south central Andes. In *Latin American Horizons*, pp. 193-224. Dumbarton Oaks, Washington DC.

1996a Tiwanaku and Its Hinterland: Agroecology 1. Smithsonian Inst Press.

1996b Valley of the Spirits: A Journey into the Lost Realm of the Aymara. John Wiley & Sons Incorporated.

2003a The social production of Tiwanaku: political economy and authority in a native Andean state. *Tiwanaku and its hinterland: archaeology and paleoecology of an Andean civilization* 2:449-472.

2003b *Tiwanaku and its hinterland: archaeology and paleoecology of an Andean civilization* 2. Smithsonian

2003c Tiwanaku ceremonial architecture and urban organization. In *Tiwanaku and its hinterland:* archaeology and paleoecology of an Andean civilization, pp. 175-201. vol. 2.

2004 The flow of cosmic power: Religion, ritual, and the people of Tiwanaku. *Tiwanaku: Ancestors of the Inca*:96-125.

Kolata, Alan L, Michael W Binford, Mark Brenner, John W Janusek and Charles Ortloff
 2000 Environmental thresholds and the empirical reality of state collapse: A response to
 Erickson (1999). Antiquity 74(284):424-426.

Kolata, Alan L and Charles Ortloff

1989 Thermal analysis of Tiwanaku raised field systems in the Lake Titicaca Basin of Bolivia. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 16(3):233-263.

1996 Tiwanaku raised-field agriculture in the Lake Titicaca Basin of Bolivia. In *Tiwanaku and Its Hinterland: Archaeology and Paleoecology of an Andean Civilization*, edited by A. L. Kolata, pp. 109-152. vol. 1.

Kolata, Alan L and Carlos Ponce Sanginés

1992 Tiwanaku: the city at the center. In *The Ancient Americas*, pp. 317-333.

2003 Two Hundred Years of Archaeological Research at Tiwanaku: A Selective History.

Tiwanaku and Its Hinterland: Archaeological and Paleoecological Investigations of an Andean Civilization 2:18-29.

Kolb, Michael J and James E Snead

1997 It's a small world after all: Comparative analyses of community organization in archaeology. *American Antiquity*:609-628.

Kołomański, Tomasz

2016 La cultura Chiribaya en el valle de Tambo, Perú. *MOST RECENT RESULTS OF AMERICAN STUDIES AVANCES RECIENTES EN LA AMERICANÍSTICA MUNDIAL*:227.

Kondratiev, Nikolai D

1925 The major economic cycles. *Voprosy Konjunktury* 1(1):28-79.

Koons, Michele L

2013 Reexamining Tiwanaku's Urban Renewal through Ground-Penetrating Radar and Excavation: The Results of Three Field Seasons. *Advances in Titicaca Basin Archaeology* 2:147-165.

Korpisaari, Antti

2006 Death in the Bolivian high plateau: burials and Tiwanaku society, University of Helsinki.

Los vasos retratos, vasijas efigie humana y figurinas humanas de la isla Pariti. *Chachapuma* (7):18-30.

Korpisaari, Antti, Markku Oinonen and Juan Chacama

A Reevaluation of the Absolute Chronology of Cabuza and Related Ceramic Styles of the Azapa Valley, Northern Chile. *Latin American Antiquity* 25(4):409-426.

Korpisaari, Antti and Martti Pärssinen

2011 *Pariti: the ceremonial Tiwanaku pottery of an island in Lake Titicaca*. Acad. Scientiarum Fennica.

Krakauer, David, Nils Bertschinger, Eckehard Olbrich, Jessica C Flack and Nihat Ay

2014 The information theory of individuality. *Theory in Biosciences*:1-15.

Kristiansen, Kristian

1994 The emergence of the European world system in the Bronze Age: Divergence, convergence and social evolution during the first and second millennia BC in Europe. *Europe in the first millennium BC*:7-30.

Kroeber, Alfred L

1926 Culture stratifications in Peru. American Anthropologist 28(2):331-351.

1935 History and science in anthropology. American Anthropologist 37(4):539-569.

1939 The culture-area and age-area concepts of Clark Wissler. In *Americanist Culture History*, pp. 121-138. Springer.

1940 Stimulus diffusion. *American anthropologist* 42(1):1-20.

Kroll, Ellen M and Glynn L Isaac

1984 Configurations of artifacts and bones at early Pleistocene sites in East Africa. *Intrasite Spatial Analysis in Archaeology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge*:4-31.

Kuhlmeier, Valerie A, Paul Bloom and Karen Wynn

2004 Do 5-month-old infants see humans as material objects? *Cognition* 94(1):95-103.

Kurzban, Robert, Maxwell N Burton-Chellew and Stuart A West

2015 The evolution of altruism in humans. *Annual review of psychology* 66:575-599.

Kuznar, Lawrence A

1995 *Awatimarka: the ethnoarchaeology of an Andean herding community*. Wadsworth Publishing Company.

2016 Andean pastoralism and its effect on economic and social stability in the Andes. *The Archaeology of Andean Pastoralism*:11-16.

La Favre, Karl J

2016 Macro-scale Political History of the Lake Titicaca Region, Peru and Bolivia: A Synthesis and Analysis of Archaeological Settlement Patterns, University of California, Los Angeles.

La Lone, Darrell E

1982 The Inca as a nonmarket economy: Supply on command versus supply and demand. *Contexts for prehistoric exchange*:291-316.

La Lone, Mary B and Darrell E La Lone

1987 The Inka State in the Southern Highlands: state administrative and production enclaves. *Ethnohistory*:47-62.

LaBianca, Øystein S and Sandra Arnold Scham

2006 *Connectivity in Antiquity: globalization as a long-term historical process.* Equinox Publishing Limited.

Lane, Kevin

2007 The state they were in: community, continuity and change in the north-central Andes, 1000AD–1608AD. In *Socialising Complexity: Structure, Integration and Power, and (eds.)* edited by S. Kohring and -. J. S. Wynne, pp. 76-98. Oxbow Books, Oxford.

Langley, Michelle C

2013 Storied landscapes makes us (Modern) Human: Landscape socialisation in the Palaeolithic and consequences for the archaeological record. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 32(4):614-629.

Langlie, BrieAnna S, Christine A Hastorf, Maria C Bruno, Marc Bermann, Renée M Bonzani and William Castellón Condarco

2011 Diversity in Andean Chenopodium domestication: Describing a new morphological type from La Barca, Bolivia 1300-1250 BC. *Journal of Ethnobiology* 31(1):72-88.

Langlie, BrieAnna S.

2018 Building ecological resistance: Late intermediate period farming in the south-central highland Andes (CE 1100–1450). *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 52:167-179.

Larco Hoyle, Rafael

1948 Cronología arqueológica del norte del Perú. Sociedad Geográfica Americana.

Larson, Brooke

2004 *Trials of nation making: liberalism, race, and ethnicity in the Andes, 1810-1910.* Cambridge University Press.

Latour, Bruno

1994 Pragmatogonies: A mythical account of how humans and nonhumans swap properties. *American behavioral scientist* 37(6):791-808.

2005 Reassembling the social-an introduction to actor-network-theory. In *Reassembling the Social-An Introduction to Actor-Network-Theory*, edited by B. Latour, pp. 316. vol. 1. Oxford University Press.

Lau, George F

2008 Ancestor images in the Andes. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 1027-1045. Springer.

Lavallée, Danièle

1988 THE PREHISTORIC OCCUPATION OF THE TELARMACHAY ROCK-SHELTER, AN ORIGINAL ASPECT OF ANDEAN NEOLITHIZATION. COMPTES RENDUS DES SEANCES DE L ACADEMIE DES INSCRIPTIONS & BELLES-LETTRES:266-288.

2000 The first South Americans: the peopling of a continent from the earliest evidence to high culture.

Lavallée, Danièle, Michèle Julien, Philippe Béarez, Aldo Bolaños, Matthieu Carré, Alexandre Chevalier, Tania Delabarde, Michel Fontugne, Cecilia Rodríguez-Loredo and Laurent Klaric

2011 Quebrada de los Burros: Los primeros pescadores del litoral Pacífico en el extremo sur peruano. *Chungará (Arica)* 43(ESPECIAL):333-351.

Lave, Jean and Etienne Wenger

1998 Communities of practice: Learning, meaning, and identity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Law, John

2009 Actor network theory and material semiotics. *The new Blackwell companion to social theory* 3:141-158.

Lawrence, Denise L and Setha M Low

1990 The built environment and spatial form. Annual review of anthropology 19(1):453-505.

Le Paige, Gustavo

1964 El precerámico en la cordillera atacameña y los cementerios del período Agro-Alfarero de San Pedro de Atacama. Universidad Católica.

Leach, Edmund R

1954 Political systems of highland Burma: a study of Kachin social structure.

1959 Hydraulic society in Ceylon. Past & Present (15):2-26.

Lechtman, Heather

2003 Tiwanaku period (Middle Horizon) bronze metallurgy in the Lake Titicaca Basin: a preliminary assessment. In *Tiwanaku and its hinterland*, pp. 404-497. vol. 2.

Lees, Susan H

1994 Irrigation and society. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 2(4):361-378.

Leicht, Elizabeth A and Mark EJ Newman

2008 Community structure in directed networks. *Physical review letters* 100(11):118703.

Lemonnier, Pierre

1976 La description des chaînes opératoires: contribution à l'analyse des systèmes

techniques. Techniques et culture 1(1).

Lévi-Strauss, Claude

1978 *Myth and meaning*. Routledge.

1988 The Jealous Potter. Translated by B. Chorier. University of Chicago Press.

Levine, Abigail

2012 Competition, cooperation, and the emergence of regional centers in the Northern Lake Titicaca Basin, Peru, University of California, Los Angeles.

Levine, Abigail R and Alexei Vranich

2013 *Advances in Titicaca Basin Archaeology-II.* Memoirs of the Museum of Anthropology 51. University of Michigan.

Levine, Abigail, Charles Stanish, P Ryan Williams, Cecilia Chávez and Mark Golitko 2013 Trade and Early State Formation in the Northern Titicaca Basin, Peru. *Latin American Antiquity* 24(3):289-308.

LeVine, Terry Yarov

1992 Storage Systems in the Inca Empire. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press.

Lewis, Kerrie P

A comparative study of primate play behaviour: implications for the study of cognition. *Folia Primatologica* 71(6):417.

Lightfoot, Kent G and Antoinette Martinez

1995 Frontiers and boundaries in archaeological perspective. *Annual Review of Anthropology*:471-492.

Linares Málaga, Eloy

1964 El antropólogo alemán Friedrich Max Uhle "padre de la Arqueología andina". *Lima: Talleres Gráficos PL Villanueva*.

Liu, Li

2021 Communal drinking rituals and social formations in the Yellow River valley of Neolithic China. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 63:101310.

Locke, John

[1689]1947 *Two Treatises of Government*. Simon and Schuster.

Logan, Amanda, Christine Hastorf and Deborah Pearsall

2012 "Let's Drink Together": Early Ceremonial Use of Maize in the Titicaca Basin. *Latin American Antiquity* 23(3):235-258.

Long, Norman and Bryan R Roberts

1978 *Peasant cooperation and capitalist expansion in central Peru* 46. University of Texas Press.

Lorandi, Ana María

1986 Horizons in Andean Archaeology. *Anthropological History of Andean Polities, Cambridge University Press and Editions de la Maison des Sciences de l'Homme, London & New York*:35-47.

Lozada, María Cecilia and Jane E Buikstra

2002 El Señorío de Chiribaya en la costa sur del Perú. Instituto de Estudios Peruanos.

Lozada, Maria Cecilia, Jane E Buikstra, Gordon Rakita and Jane C Wheeler

2009 Camelid herders: The forgotten specialists in the coastal señorío of Chiribaya, southern Peru. In Andean Civilization: A Tribute to Michael E. Moseley. Cotsen Institute of Archaeology, University of California, Los Angeles, pp. 351-364.

Lull, Vicente and Rafael Micó

2011 Archaeology of the origin of the state: the theories. Oxford University Press.

Lumbreras, Luis Guillermo

1974 La arqueología como ciencia social 1. Ediciones Histar Lima.

1981 Arqueología de la América Andina. Milla Batres Lima.

1989 *Chavín de Huántar en el nacimiento de la civilización andina*. Ediciones INDEA, Instituto Andino de Estudios Arqueológicos Lima.

Lynch, John

1973 The Spanish American Revolutions, 1808-1826. Weidenfeld & Nicolson.

Lynch, Thomas F

1983 Camelid pastoralism and the emergence of Tiwanaku civilization in the South-Central Andes. *World Archaeology* 15(1):1-14.

1990 Glacial-age man in South America? A critical review. *American Antiquity* 55(1):12-36.

Mac Sweeney, Naoíse

2011 Community Identity and Archaeology. Dynamic Communities at Aphrodisias and Beycesultan. The Journal of Hellenic Studies. University of Michigan Press.

MacCormack, Sabine

1985a The fall of the Incas: A historiographical dilemma. *History of European Ideas* 6(4):421-445.

1985b "The Heart has Its Reasons": Predicaments of Missionary Christianity in Early Colonial Peru. *The Hispanic American Historical Review* 65(3):443-466.

Macfarlan, Shane J, Robert S Walker, Mark V Flinn and Napoleon A Chagnon

2014 Lethal coalitionary aggression and long-term alliance formation among Yanomamö men. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 111(47):16662-16669.

Mackey, Carol J and Alexandra Marie Ulana Klymyshyn

1981 Construction and labor organization in the Chimu empire. *Nawpa Pacha: Journal of Andean Archaeology*:99-114.

MacNeish, Richard S

1981 The Prehistory of the Ayacucho Basin, Peru: Excavations and chronology 2. University of Michigan Press.

MacNeish, Richard S, Karl A Wittfogel, Richard Benjamin Woodbury and Frederick Johnson 1972 The Prehistory of the Tehuacan Valley: Chronology and Irrigation. University of Texas Press.

MacQuarrie, Kim

2008 The last days of the Incas. Simon and Schuster.

Magilligan, Francis J and Paul S Goldstein

2001 El Niño floods and culture change: A late Holocene flood history for the Rio Moquegua, southern Peru. *Geology* 29(5):431-434.

Maine, Henry Sumner

1861 Ancient Law Reprint, London: JM Dent.

Makowski, Krzysztof

2008 Andean urbanism. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 633-657. Springer.

2009 Royal Statues, Staff Gods, and the Religious Ideology of the Prehistoric State of Tiwanaku. *Proceedings of the Tiwanaku: Papers from the 2005 Mayer Center Symposium at the Denver Art Museum*:133-164.

Malinowski, Bronislaw

1922 Argonauts of the Western Pacific: An account of native enterprise and adventure in the archipelagoes of Melanesian New Guinea. Routledge.

Malpass, Michael A and Sonia Alconini

2010 Distant provinces in the Inka empire: Toward a deeper understanding of Inka imperialism. University of Iowa Press.

Manners, Robert B, Francis J Magilligan and Paul S Goldstein

2007 Floodplain development, El Niño, and cultural consequences in a hyperarid Andean environment. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 97(2):229-249.

Mannheim, Bruce and Guillermo Salas Carreño

2015 Wak'as: Entifications of the Andean Sacred:47-72.

Manum, Bendik, Espen Rusten and Paul Benze

AGRAPH, software for drawing and calculating space syntax graphs. *Proceedings of the Proceedings of the 5th International Space Syntax Symposium* 1:97.

Manzanilla, Linda

1992 *Akapana: una pirámide en el centro del mundo.* Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Instituto de Investigaciones Antropológicas.

2004 Social Identity and Daily Life at Classic Teotihuacan. In *Mesoamerican Archaeology: Theory and Practice*, edited by J. A. Hendon and R. A. Joyce. Blackwell, Oxford.

Manzanilla, Linda R. and Claude Chapdelaine

2009 Domestic Life in Prehispanic Capitals: a study of specialization, hierarchy, and ethnicity. Memiors of the Museum of Anthropology, University of Michigan (46), Ann Arbor, MI.

Marcus, Joyce

1998 The Peaks and Valleys of Ancient States: an extension of the dynamic model. In *Archaic states*, pp. 59-94.

The archaeological evidence for social evolution. *Annual review of anthropology* 37:251-266.

2009 Understanding Houses, Compounds, and Neighborhoods. In Domestic Life in

Prehispanic Capitals, edited by L. R. Manzanilla and C. Chapdelaine. Memiors of the Museum of Anthropology (46) Ann Arbor, MI.

Marcus, Joyce and Kent V Flannery

1996 *Zapotec civilization: How urban society evolved in Mexico's Oaxaca Valley.* Thames and Hudson.

Margottini, Claudio

2013 Surface erosion and mass movement constrains in the conservation of Akapana pyramid mound (Tiwanaku, Bolivia). In *Landslide Science and Practice*, pp. 521-527. Springer.

Mariátegui, José Carlos

1934 7 ensayos de interpretación de la realidad peruana. Biblioteca Amauta.

Markham, Clements

2010 History of the Incas and Execution of the Inca Tupac Amaru 22. Ashgate Publishing, Ltd.

Marsh, Erik J

2012a The emergence of Tiwanaku: Domestic practices and regional traditions at Khonkho Wankane and Kk'araña, University of California, Santa Barbara.

2012b The Founding of Tiwanaku. *Ñawpa Pacha* 32(2):69-187.

2015 The emergence of agropastoralism: Accelerated ecocultural change on the Andean altiplano, ~3540–3120 cal BP. *Environmental Archaeology* 20(1):13-29.

2016 Building Household and Community through Active Assemblages: A Late Formative Patio Group at Khonkho Wankane, Bolivia. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal*:1-23.

2019 Arthur Posnansky, the Czar of Tiwanaku Archaeology. *Bulletin of the History of Archaeology* 29(1).

Marsh, Erik J, Maria C. Bruno, Sherilyn C. Fritz, Paul Baker, José M. Capriles and Christine A. Hastorf 2018 IntCal, SHCal, or a Mixed Curve? Choosing a 14C Calibration Curve for Archaeological and Paleoenvironmental Records from Tropical South America. *Radiocarbon* 60(3):925-940.

Marsh, Erik J, Andrew P Roddick, Maria C Bruno, Scott C Smith, John W Janusek and Christine A Hastorf

2019 Temporal Inflection Points in Decorated Pottery: A Bayesian Refinement of the Late Formative Chronology in the Southern Lake Titicaca Basin, Bolivia. *Latin American Antiquity* 30(4):798-817.

Martínez, Teodoro Hampe

1998 *Max Uhle y los orígenes del Museo de Historia Nacional:(Lima, 1906-1911).* Centro de Estudios Regionales Andinos Bartolomé de las Casas.

Mathews, James E

1992 Prehispanic settlement and agriculture in the Middle Tiwanaku Valley, Bolivia, University of Chicago, Department of Anthropology.

1997 Population and agriculture in the emergence of complex society in the Bolivian altiplano. In *Emergence and Change in Early Urban Societies*, pp. 245-271. Springer.

Mattson, Hannah V

2021 Personal Adornment and the Construction of Identity: A Global Archaeological Perspective. *Personal Adornment and the Construction of Identity*:1-224.

Mauricio, Ana Cecilia

2018 Reassessing the Impact of El Niño at the end of the early intermediate period from the perspective of the Lima culture. *Ñawpa Pacha* 38(2):203-231.

Mauss, Marcel

1954 The gift: Forms and functions of exchange in archaic societies. WW Norton & Company.

Mayer, Enrique

1974 Reciprocity, Self Sufficiency and Market Relations in a Contemporary Community in the Central Andes of Peru, Latin American Studies Program, Cornell University

1985 Production zones. Andean ecology and civilization:45-84.

2007 The articulated peasant: household economies in the Andes. Routledge.

McAnany, Patricia A and Norman Yoffee

2009 Questioning collapse: human resilience, ecological vulnerability, and the aftermath of empire. Cambridge University Press.

McAndrews, Timothy L

2005 Wankarani settlement systems in evolutionary perspective: A study in early village-based society and long-term cultural evolution in the south-central Andean Altiplano. Center for Comparative Arch.

2007 Report on Prehistoric Parotani Settlement Project 2007 Field Season: Excavations at Pirque Alto (CP-11). Department of Sociology/Archaeology, University of Wisconsin, La Crosse.

McAndrews, Timothy L, Juan Albarracin-Jordan and Marc Bermann

1997 Regional settlement patterns in the Tiwanaku Valley of Bolivia. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 24(1):67-83.

McEwan, Gordon F

1990 Some formal correspondences between the imperial architecture of the Wari and Chimu cultures of ancient Peru. *Latin American Antiquity*:97-116.

1996 Archaeological investigations at Pikillacta, a Wari site in Peru. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 23(2):169-186.

2009 *Pikillacta: the Wari empire in Cuzco*. University of Iowa Press.

2010 Inca State Origins. After Collapse: The Regeneration of Complex Societies:85.

McGraw, John J and Jan Krátký

2017 Ritual ecology. Journal of Material Culture 22(2):237-257.

McGrew, WC and Anna TC Feistner

1992 Two nonhuman primate models for the evolution of human food sharing: chimpanzees and callitrichids. *The adapted mind: Evolutionary psychology and the generation of culture*:229-243.

McGuire, Randall H

1992 A Marxist archaeology. Academic Press San Diego.

Menzel, Dorothy

1959 The Inca occupation of the south coast of Peru. *Southwestern Journal of Anthropology*:125-142.

1964a The Paracas pottery of Ica: a study in style and time 50. University of California Press.

1964b Style and time in the Middle Horizon. *Nawpa Pacha* 2(1):1-105.

1977 The archaeology of ancient Peru and the work of Max Uhle.

Merleau-Ponty, Maurice

1968 The visible and the invisible: Followed by working notes. Northwestern University Press.

Meyerson, Julia

1990 Tambo: Life in an Andean village. University of Texas Press.

Miller, George R and Richard L Burger

1995 Our father the cayman, our dinner the llama: Animal utilization at Chavin de Huantar, Peru. *American Antiquity* 60(3):421-458.

Miller, George Robert

1979 An introduction to the ethnoarchaeology of the Andean camelids. University of California, Berkeley.

Miller, John H

2016 A crude look at the whole: The science of complex systems in business, life, and society. Basic Books.

Millon, René

1973 Urbanization at Teotihuacan, Mexico 1. University of Texas Press.

Mills, Barbara J

2016 Communities of Consumption. *Knowledge in Motion: Constellations of Learning Across Time and Place*:247.

Mills, Barbara J, Jeffery J Clark, Matthew A Peeples, WR Haas, John M Roberts, J Brett Hill, Deborah L Huntley, Lewis Borck, Ronald L Breiger and Aaron Clauset

2013 Transformation of social networks in the late pre-Hispanic US Southwest. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110(15):5785-5790.

Mills, Barbara J, Matthew A Peeples, W Randall Haas, Lewis Borck, Jeffery J Clark and John M Roberts 2015 Multiscalar perspectives on social networks in the late prehispanic Southwest. *American Antiquity* 80(1):3-24.

Mitchell, Melanie

2009 Complexity: A guided tour. Oxford University Press.

Mitre, Bartolomé and Fernando Márquez Miranda

1879 Las ruinas de Tiahuanaco. Hachette.

Moore, Jerry D

1992 Pattern and meaning in prehistoric Peruvian architecture: The architecture of social control in the Chimu state. *Latin American Antiquity* 3(2):95-113.

1995 The archaeology of dual organization in Andean South America: A theoretical review and case study. *Latin American Antiquity*:165-181.

2004 Power and Practice in the Prehispanic Andes: Final Comments. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 14(1):261-274.

2012 The prehistory of home. Univ of California Press.

2014 A Prehistory of South America: ancient cultural diversity on the least known continent University of Colorado Press.

Moore, Jerry D and Carol J Mackey

2008 The Chimú Empire. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 783-807. Springer.

Moore, Katherine M

Early domesticated camelids in the Andes. *The archaeology of Andean pastoralism*:17-38.

Moore, Tom

2007 Perceiving communities: exchange, landscapes and social networks in the later Iron Age of western Britain. *Oxford journal of archaeology* 26(1):79-102.

Morales Cabrera, Dante, Edgardo Avendaño Cáceres, Daniel Zevallos Ramos, Julio Fernández Prado and Zoila Mendoza Rodas

2018 Environmental risk due to arsenic and boron in the watersheds Sama y Locumba from Perú. *MediSan* 22(04):406-414.

Moreno, Jakob L

1937 Sociometry in relation to other social sciences. Sociometry 1(1/2):206-219.

Morgan, Lewis Henry

1877 Ancient society; or, researches in the lines of human progress from savagery, through barbarism to civilization. H. Holt.

Morris, Craig

1982 The infrastructure of Inka control in the Peruvian central highlands. *The Inca and Aztec states, 1400-1800: anthropology and history*:153-171.

Morris, Craig and Donald E Thompson

1970 Huánuco Viejo: an Inca administrative center. American Antiquity:344-362.

Moseley, Michael E

1974 *The maritime foundations of Andean civilization*. Benjamin-Cummings Publishing Company.

1992a The Incas and their ancestors: the archaeology of Peru. Thames and Hudson.

1992b Maritime foundations and multilinear evolution: Retrospect and prospect. *Andean Past* 3(1):5.

1999 Convergent catastrophe: Past patterns and future implications of collateral natural disasters in the Andes. In *The Angry Earth*, pp. 73-86. Routledge.

2013 Stylistic variation and seriation. In *Visions of Tiwanaku* edited by A. Vranich and C. Stanish. vol. 78. Cotsen Institute of Archaeology Press, UCLA.
Moseley, Michael E and Kent C Day

1982 Chan Chan, Andean Desert City. Olympic Marketing Corporation.

Moseley, Michael E, Donna Nash, P. R. Williams, S. D. DeFrance, A. Miranda and M. Ruales 2005 Burning down the brewery: establishing and evacuating an ancient imperial colony at Cerro Baul, Peru. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102(48):17264-17271.

Moseley, Michael E and Gordon R Willey

1973 Aspero, Peru: A reexamination of the site and its implications. *American Antiquity* 38(4):452-468.

 Moy, Christopher M, Geoffrey O Seltzer, Donald T Rodbell and David M Anderson
 2002 Variability of El Niño/Southern Oscillation activity at millennial timescales during the Holocene epoch. *Nature* 420(6912):162-165.

Mucha, Peter J, J Onnela and MA Porter

2009 Communities in networks. Notices of the American Mathematical Society 56:1082-1097.

Mueller, Alain

2016 Beyond ethnographic scriptocentrism: Modelling multi-scalar processes, networks, and relationships. *Anthropological Theory* 16(1):98-130.

Mujica, Elias J, Mario A Rivera and Thomas F Lynch

1983 Proyecto de estudio sobre la complementariedad económica Tiwanaku en los valles occidentales del centro-sur andino. *Chungara*:85-109.

Mullins, Patrick

2016 Webs of defense: Structure and meaning of defensive visibility networks in Prehispanic Peru. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 8:346-355.

Mumford, Jeremy Ravi

2012 Vertical empire: The general resettlement of Indians in the colonial Andes. Duke University Press.

Muñoz Ovalle, Iván

1987 Enterramientos en túmulos en el valle de Azapa: nuevas evidencias para definir la fase Alto Ramírez en el extremo norte de Chile. *Chungara*:93-127.

2004 El período Formativo en los valles del norte de Chile y sur de Perú: nuevas evidencias y comentarios. *Chungará (Arica)* 36:213-225.

2019 Cronología del periodo medio en el Valle de Azapa, norte de Chile: estilos, fechados y contextos culturales del poblamiento humano. *Chungará (Arica)* (AHEAD):0-0.

Muñoz Ovalle, Iván

1983 La fase Alto Ramírez en los valles del extremo norte de Chile.

Murdock, George Peter

1949 Social structure. Macmillan Co., New York.

1951 South American culture areas. Southwestern Journal of Anthropology 7(4):415-436.

Murphy, Joanne M

2016 *Ritual and archaic states.* University Press of Florida.

Murra, John V

1956 Economic organization of the Inca state.

1962 Cloth and its functions in the Inca state. *American Anthropologist* 64(4):710-728.

1965 Herds and herders in the Inca state. *Man, culture, and animals: The role of animals in human ecological adjustments*:185-215.

1968 An Aymara kingdom in 1567. *Ethnohistory*:115-151.

1972 El" control vertical" de un máximo de pisos ecológicos en la economía de las sociedades andinas.

1975 Formaciones económicas y politicasdel mundo andino.

1980 The economic organization of the Inka state 1. Jai Press Greenwich, CT.

1985 *The limits and limitations of the "vertical archipelago" in the Andes.* Andean Ecology and Civilization: An Interdisciplinary Perspective on Andean Ecological Complementarity.

Nair, Stella and Jean-Pierre Protzen

2013 The Stones of Tiahuanaco: A Study of Architecture and Construction 75. ISD LLC.

Nash, Donna J

2002 The archaeology of space: Places of power in the Wari Empire, University of Florida

Household Archaeology in the Andes. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 17(3):205-261.

2016 Vernacular versus state housing in the Wari Empire: cosmological clashes and compromises. In *Vernacular Architecture in the Pre-Columbian Americas*, pp. 105-126. Routledge.

Nash, Donna J and Patrick Ryan Williams

2004 Architecture and power on the Wari–Tiwanaku frontier. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 14(1):151-174.

Netting, Robert McC, Richard R Wilk and Eric J Arnould

1984 Households: Comparative and historical studies of the domestic group 324. Univ of California Press.

Newman, Mark

2006 Modularity and community structure in networks. *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences* 103(23):8577-8582.

2018 Networks. Oxford University Press.

Newman, Mark, Albert-László Barabási and Duncan J Watts

2006 The structure and dynamics of networks. Princeton university press.

Nichols, Deborah

2006 Shining stars and black holes: Population and preindustrial cities. *Urbanism in the Preindustrial World, University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa*:330-340.

Nielsen, Axel E

2000 Andean Caravans: an ethnoarchaeology.

2016 Home-making among south andean pastoralists. *The archaeology of Andean pastoralism*.

2018 Agropastoral Taskscapes and Seasonal Warfare in the Southern Andes During the Regional Developments Period (Thirteenth–Fifteenth Centuries). In *Political Landscapes of the Late Intermediate Period in the Southern Andes*, pp. 247-268. Springer.

Nielsen, Axel E, José Berenguer and Gonzalo Pimentel

2019 Inter-nodal archaeology, mobility, and circulation in the Andes of Capricorn during the Late Intermediate Period (AD 1000–1450). *Quaternary International* 533:48-65.

- Niemeyer, Hermann M, Diego Salazar, Helena Horta Tricallotis and Francisco T Peña-Gómez 2015 New insights into the Tiwanaku style of snuff trays from San Pedro de Atacama, Northern Chile. *Latin American Antiquity*:120-136.
- Nigra, Ben, Terrah Jones, Jacob Bongers, Charles Stanish, Henry Tantaleán and Kelita Pérez 2014 The Chincha Kingdom: The Archaeology and Ethnohistory of the Late Intermediate Period South Coast, Peru. *Backdirt: Annual Review of the Cotsen Institute of Archaeology at UCLA*:36-47.

Niles, Susan A

The Nature of Inca Royal Estates. In *Machu Picchu: Unveiling the mystery of the Incas*, pp. 49.

Northrup, David

1978 *Trade without rulers: pre-colonial economic development in south-eastern Nigeria.* Oxford University Press, USA.

Norton, Christopher J

2007 Sedentism, territorial circumscription, and the increased use of plant domesticates across Neolithic—Bronze Age Korea. *Asian Perspectives*:133-165.

Oakland, Amy

1992 Textiles and ethnicity: Tiwanaku in San Pedro de Atacama, North Chile. *Latin American Antiquity*:316-340.

Ochatoma, José and Martha Cabrera

Arquitectura y áreas de actividad en Conchopata. *Boletín de arqueología PUCP* (4):449-488.

Ogburn, Dennis E

2012 Reconceiving the chronology of Inca imperial expansion. *Radiocarbon* 54(2):219-237.

Oka, Rahul and Chapurukha M Kusimba

2008 The archaeology of trading systems, part 1: towards a new trade synthesis. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 16(4):339-395.

Olivier, Laurent

2011 Dark abyss of time: Memory and archaeology. Lanham, MD: Altamira.

ONERN

1976 Ecológico del Perú, Mapa: guía explicativa. In ONERN, Lima.

Oquiche Hernani, Antonio

2014 Informe del Proyecto de Evaluación Argueológica con Excavaciones Restringidas en los

Terrenos del Proyecto SNIP "Construcción de los Sistemas de Riego Presurizado en el Sector Alto Ilabaya. Comité de Riego Carumbraya, Distrito de Ilabaya, Provincia de Jorge Basadre -Tacna: Municipalidad Distrital De Ilabaya.

Orange, Victoria

2019 SUPERCOMPLEXITY IN INTERACTION: An Introduction to the 4es. Springer.

Ortloff, Charles R

2014 Groundwater Management in the 300 bce-1100ce Pre-Columbian City of Tiwanaku (Bolivia). *Hydrol Current Res* 5(168):2.

Ortloff, Charles R and Alan L Kolata

1989 Hydraulic analysis of Tiwanaku aqueduct structures at Lukurmata and Pajchiri, Bolivia. *Journal of archaeological science* 16(5):513-535.

1993 Climate and collapse: agro-ecological perspectives on the decline of the Tiwanaku state. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 20(2):195-221.

Owen, Bruce D

1993 A model of multiethnicity: state collapse, competition, and social complexity from Tiwanaku to Chiribaya in the Osmore Valley, Peru, UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA Los Angeles.

2005 Distant colonies and explosive collapse: The two stages of the Tiwanaku diaspora in the Osmore drainage. *Latin American Antiquity*:45-80.

2009 Early agriculture in the coastal Osmore Valley, Peru: synchronous events and macroregional processes in the formation of Andean civilization. In *Andean Civilization: a tribute to Michael E. Moseley*, edited by J. Marcus and P. R. Williams, pp. 121-144.

Owen, Bruce D and Paul S Goldstein

2001 Tiwanaku en Moquegua: interacciones regionales y colapso. 2012.

Pacifico, David

2019 8 Neighborhood as Nexus: A Trans-historical Approach to Emplaced Communities. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 30(1):114-132.

Pacifico, David and Lise A Truex

2019 Why Neighborhoods? The Neighborhood in Archaeological Theory and Practice. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 30(1):5-19.

Paerregaard, Karsten

1992 Complementarity and duality: Oppositions between agriculturists and herders in an Andean village. *Ethnology* 31(1):15-26.

Pagador Moya, Carlos, Oscar Avalos Sanguinetti, Emilse Benvides Casanova, Juan Vizcarra Mamani and Jamie Iglesias Salas

2010 *Evaluacion de Recursos Hidricos Cuencas de los Rios Locumba y Sama*. Ministerio de Agricultura.

Pagán-Jiménez, Jaime R, Reniel Rodríguez-Ramos, Basil A Reid, Martijn van den Bel and Corinne L Hofman

2015 Early dispersals of maize and other food plants into the Southern Caribbean and Northeastern South America. *Quaternary Science Reviews* 123:231-246.

Palomino, Salvador

1971 Duality in the socio-cultural organization of several Andean populations. *Folk* 13:65-88.

Palumbo, Scott

From the Puna to the Panamerican: results from a preliminary survey of the Locumba Valley, Peru, Department of Anthropology, University of Florida.

Parker, Bradley J

2006 Toward an understanding of borderland processes. American Antiquity:77-100.

Parker, Bradley J and Catherine P Foster

2012 New perspectives on household archaeology. Eisenbrauns Winona Lake, IN.

Parmentier, Richard J

1994 Signs in society: Studies in semiotic anthropology. Indiana University Press.

Parsons, Jeffrey R

1976 Settlement and population history of the Basin of Mexico. *The Valley of Mexico*:69-100.

Pärssinen, Martti

1992 Tawantinsuyu: The Inca State and its political organization. Suomen historiallinen seura.

2015 Collasuyu of the Inka State. The Inka Empire: A Multidisciplinary Approach:265.

Pärssinen, Martti and Ari Siiriäinen

1997 Inka-style ceramics and their chronological relationship to the Inka Expansion in the southern lake Titicaca area (Bolivia). *Latin American Antiquity*:255-271.

Patterson, Thomas C

2005 Craft specialization, the reorganization of production relations and state formation. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 5(3):307-337.

Patterson, Thomas C and Edward P Lanning

1964 Changing settlement patterns on the central Peruvian coast. *Ñawpa Pacha* 2(1):113-123.

Pauketat, Timothy R

A New Tradition in Archaeology. In *The Archaeology of Traditions*, pp. 1-16.

2007 Chiefdoms and other archaeological delusions. Rowman Altamira.

2008 The grounds for agency in southwestern archaeology. *The social construction of communities: agency, structure, and identity in the Prehispanic Southwest*:233-249.

Paulsen, Allison C

1974 The thorny oyster and the voice of God: Spondylus and Strombus in Andean prehistory. *American Antiquity*:597-607.

Pearsall, Deborah M

2008 Plant domestication and the shift to agriculture in the Andes. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 105-120. Springer.

Pearson, Michael Parker and Colin Richards

2003 Architecture and order: spatial representation and archaeology. In *Architecture and Order*, pp. 47-79. Routledge.

Pease, Franklin

1965 El Derecho y la aparición del Estado Inca. Derecho PUCP 24:36.

1972 Los últimos incas del Cuzco. Ediciones PL Villanueva, Lima.

1985 Cases and variations of verticality in the southern Andes. *Andean Ecology and Civilization*:141-160.

1994 Los Incas: una introduccón. Pontificia universidad católica del Péru.

Peelo, Sarah

2011 Pottery-making in Spanish California: creating multi-scalar social identity through daily practice. *American Antiquity* 76(4):642-666.

Peeples, Matthew A

2011 R Script for Calculating the Brainerd-Robinson Coefficient of Similarity and Assessing Sampling Error. Electronic document, http://www.mattpeeples.net/br.html, accessed November 10, 2020.

2019 Finding a Place for Networks in Archaeology. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 27(4):451-499.

Peeples, Matthew A and John M Roberts Jr

2013 To binarize or not to binarize: relational data and the construction of archaeological networks. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 40(7):3001-3010.

Perego, Elisa, Rafael Scopacasa and Silvia Amicone

2019 Collapse or Survival: Micro-dynamics of crisis and endurance in the ancient central Mediterranean. Oxbow Books.

Peregrine, Peter

2000 Archaeology and World-Systems Theory. In A World-Systems Reader, pp. 59-68.

2012 Power and legitimation: Political strategies, typology, and cultural evolution. *The comparative archaeology of complex societies*:165-191.

Peregrine, Peter

1990 Archaeology and World-Systems Theory. *Sociological inquiry* 60(1):486-495.

Pereira, D, Ramón Sanzetenea and DL Brockington

2001 Investigaciones del proyecto arqueológico formativo en Cochabamba, Bolivia. *Textos Antropológicos* 13(1-2):167-182.

Peterson, Jordan B

1999 Maps of meaning: The architecture of belief. Routledge.

Pfeiffer, Marco, Claudio Latorre, Calogero M Santoro, Eugenia M Gayo, Rodrigo Rojas, María Laura Carrevedo, Virginia B McRostie, Kari M Finstad, Arjun Heimsath and Matthew C Jungers

2018 Chronology, stratigraphy and hydrological modelling of extensive wetlands and paleolakes in the hyperarid core of the Atacama Desert during the late quaternary. *Quaternary Science Reviews* 197:224-245.

Piaget, Jean

1951 *Play, dreams and imitation in childhood.* Routledge.

Pillsbury, Joanne and Banks L Leonard

2004 Identifying Chimú palaces: Elite residential architecture in the Late Intermediate period. *Palaces of the ancient New World*:247.

Piperno, Dolores R and Deborah M Pearsall

1998 The origins of agriculture in the lowland Neotropics.

Platt, Tristan

1982a El estado boliviano y el Ayllu Andino: Tierra y tributo en el Norte de Potosí. PNDRI.

1982b The role of the Andean ayllu in the reproduction of the petty commodity regime in northern Potosi (Bolivia). In *Ecology and Exchange in the Andes*, pp. 27-69.

1986 Mirrors and maize: the concept of yanantin among the Macha of Bolivia. *Anthropological history of Andean polities*:228-259.

Plog, Stephen

1976 Relative efficiencies of sampling techniques for archaeological surveys. *The Early Mesoamerican Village (Academic Press: New York 1976)*:136-158.

Plog, Stephen and David P Braun

Some issues in the archaeology of "tribal" social systems. *American Antiquity* 49(3):619-625.

Plourde, Aimée M and Charles Stanish

2006 The emergence of complex society in the Titicaca Basin: The view from the north. In *Andean Archaeology III*, pp. 237-257. Springer.

Plowman, Timothy

1984 The ethnobotany of coca (Erythroxylum spp., Erythroxylaceae). Advances in Economic Botany 1:62-111.

Plunger, Elizabeth M

2009 Woven Connections: Group Identity, Style, and the Textiles of the "A" and "B" Cemeteries at the Site of Río Muerto (M43), Moquegua Valley, Southern Peru, University of California, San Diego.

Polanyi, Karl

1944 The Great Transformation: the political and economic origins of our time. Beacon Press.

Ponce Sanginés, Carlos

1969a Descripción sumaria del templete semisubterráneo de Tiwanaku.

1969b La ciudad de Tiwanaku. Arte y arqueologia 1969(1):5-32.

1978 El instituto nacional de arqueología de Bolivia: Su organización y proyecciones. *Instituto Nacional de Arqueologia* (25).

Ponce Sanjinés, Carlos

1976 Tiwanaku. Espacio, tiempo y cultura.

Posnansky, Arthur

1945 Tihuanacu: The cradle of American man 1-4. JJ Augustin.

Povinelli, Daniel and Nicholas G Ballew

2012 World without weight: Perspectives on an alien mind. Oxford University Press.

Pozorski, Shelia

1987 Theocracy vs. militarism: The significance of the Casma Valley in understanding early state formation. *The origins and Development of the Andean State*:15-30.

Pozorski, Shelia and Thomas Pozorski

2002 The Sechin Alto complex and its place within Casma Valley Initial period development. In *Andean Archaeology I*, pp. 21-51. Springer.

2008 Early cultural complexity on the coast of Peru. In *The handbook of south American archaeology*, pp. 607-631. Springer.

Pozorski, Thomas and Shelia Pozorski

1990 Huaynuná, a Late Cotton Preceramic site on the north coast of Peru. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 17(1):17-26.

2018 Early Complex Society on the North and Central Peruvian Coast: New Archaeological Discoveries and New Insights. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 26(4):353-386.

Prentiss, Anna Marie

2019 Handbook of Evolutionary Research in Archaeology. Springer.

Prescott, William H.

1847 *History of the Conquest of Peru, with a preliminary view of civilization f the Incas.* London:Richard Bentley.

Price, Barbara and William Sanders

1968 Mesoamerica: the evolution of a civilization. RANDOM HOUSE.

Protzen, Jean-Pierre and Stella Nair

2002 The Gateways of Tiwanaku. In Andean Archaeology II, pp. 189-223. Springer.

2012 Pumapunku: plataformas y portales. 2012.

Proulx, Donald A

2008 Paracas and Nasca: regional cultures on the south coast of Peru. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 563-585. Springer.

Qespi, Eusebio Manga

1994 Pacha: un concepto andino de espacio y tiempo. *Revista española de antropología americana* 24:155-189.

Quilter, Jeffrey

1985 Architecture and chronology at El Paraiso, Peru. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 12(3):279-297.

- 1997 The narrative approach to Moche iconography. *Latin American Antiquity* 8(2):113-133.
- 2002 Moche politics, religion, and warfare. Journal of World Prehistory 16(2):145-195.
- 2013 The ancient central Andes. Routledge.

Radcliffe, Sarah A.

2009 Marking the Boundaries between the Community, the State and History in the Andes. *Journal of Latin American Studies* 22(03):575.

Rademaker, Kurt, Gregory Hodgins, Katherine Moore, Sonia Zarrillo, Christopher Miller, Gordon RM Bromley, Peter Leach, David Reid, Willy Yépez Álvarez and Daniel H Sandweiss

2016 Cuncaicha Rockshelter, a Key Site for Understanding Colonization of the High Andes: Reply to Capriles et al. *Current Anthropology* 57(1):101-103.

Rakita, Gordon FM

2009 Ancestors and elites: emergent complexity and ritual practices in the Casas Grandes polity. Rowman Altamira.

Ramírez, Susan E

1986 *Provincial patriarchs: land tenure and the economics of power in colonial Peru.* University of New Mexico Press.

Ramón, Gabriel

2014 Toolkits and cultural lexicon: An ethnographic comparison of pottery and weaving in the Northern Peruvian Andes. *Indiana* (31):291-320.

Ramón, Gabriel and Martha Bell

2013 Re-placing plainware: production and distribution of domestic pottery, and the narration of the pre-colonial past in the Peruvian Andes. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 32(4):595-613.

Rapp, Rayna

1977 Gender and class: An archaeology of knowledge concerning the origin of the state. *Dialectical Anthropology*:309-316.

Rappaport, Roy A

1968 Pigs for the ancestors: ritual in the ecology of a New Guinea people. Waveland Press.

Rapport, N.

1996 Community. In *Encyclopaedia of social and cultural anthropology*, edited by A. Barnard and J. Spencer, pp. 114–117. Routledge, London.

Rasnake, Roger

1986 Carnaval in Yura: Ritual Reflections on" ayllu" and State Relations. *American Ethnologist*:662-680.

1988 *Domination and cultural resistance: authority and power among an Andean people.* Duke University Press.

Ravines, Rogger

1980 El señorío Chimor y el fenómeno Chimú. Chanchan: metrópoli chimú:58-101.

Redden, Andrew

2015 Diabolism in colonial Peru, 1560–1750. Routledge.

Redfield, Robert

1956 The little community: Viewpoints for the study of a human whole.

Redman, Charles L

2005 Resilience theory in archaeology. American Anthropologist 107(1):70-77.

Reid, J Jefferson, Michael B Schiffer and William L Rathje

1975 Behavioral Archaeology: Four Strategies. American Anthropologist 77(4):864-869.

Reinhard, Johan

1985 The Nazca lines: a new perspective on their origin and meaning. Editorial Los Pinos.

Reitz, Elizabeth J, Elizabeth Reitz and Elizabeth S Wing

1999 Zooarchaeology. Cambridge University Press.

Renfrew, Colin

1996 Peer polity interaction and socio-political change. *Contemporary Archaeology in Theory*:114-142.

Renfrew, Colin and John F Cherry

1986 Peer polity interaction and socio-political change. Cambridge University Press.

Reycraft, Richard M

2005a Style change and ethnogenesis among the Chiribaya of far south coastal Peru. *Us and Them: Archaeology and Ethnicity in the Andes, Monograph* (53):54-72.

2005b Us and them: Archaeology and Ethnicity in the Andes. Cotsen Institute of Archaeology Press.

Ricardo, Antonio

[1586]1951 Vocabulario y phrasis en la lengua general de los indios del Perú, llamada quichua, y en la lengua española. Universidad Nacional Mayor de San Marcos, Instituto de Historia de la

Rice, Don S

1989 Osmore drainage, Peru: the ecological setting. *Ecology, Settlement and History in the Osmore Drainage, British Archaeological Reports International Series, Oxford*:17-33.

Rice, Prudence M

1996a The archaeology of wine: the wine and brandy haciendas of Moquegua, Peru. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 23(2):187-204.

1996b Recent ceramic analysis: 1. Function, style, and origins. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 4(2):133-163.

1996c Recent ceramic analysis: 2. Composition, production, and theory. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 4(3):165-202.

2014 Space-Time Perspectives on Early Colonial Moquegua. University Press of Colorado.

Richerson, Peter J and Robert Boyd

2008 Not by genes alone: How culture transformed human evolution. University of Chicago Press.

Rick, John W

1980 Prehistoric hunters of the high Andes. New York: Academic Press.

2004 The evolution of authority and power at Chavín de Huántar, Peru. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 14(1):71-89.

Ricoeur, Paul

1980 Narrative time. *Critical inquiry* 7(1):169-190.

Rivera Casanovas, Claudia

1994 Ch'iji Jawira: evidencias sobre la producción de cerámica en Tiwanaku, Universidad Mayor de San Andrés, La Paz.

2003 Ch'iji Jawira: A case of Ceramic Specialization. In *Tiwanaku and its Hinterland:* Archaeology and Paleoecology of an Andean Civilization, Urban and Rural Archaeology.

2016 Tiwanaku y las dinámicas de ocupación e interacción regional durante el Horizonte Medio en los valles orientales de Bolivia. In *Entre la Vertiente Tropical y los Valles: sociedades regionales e interacción prehispánicas en los Andes centro-sur*, edited by S. Alconini Mujica, pp. 201-217. Plural Editores.

Rivera Cusicanqui, Silvia

1991 Aymara past, Aymara future. *Report on the Americas* 25(3):18-45.

Rivera, Mario A

2008 The archaeology of northern Chile. In *The Handbook of South American Archaeology*, pp. 963-977. Springer.

Rivero, Mariano Eduardo de

1851 Antigüedades peruanas por Mariano Eduardo de Rivero y Juan Diego de Tschudi. Imprenta Imperial de la Corte y del Estado.

Robb, John

2007 The early Mediterranean village: agency, material culture, and social change in Neolithic Italy. Cambridge University Press.

Roberts, Leslie

1989 Disease and death in the New World. Science 246(4935):1245.

Robinson, William S

1951 A method for chronologically ordering archaeological deposits. *American antiquity* 16(4):293-301.

Rodbell, Donald T, Geoffrey O Seltzer, David M Anderson, Mark B Abbott, David B Enfield and Jeremy H Newman

1999 An~ 15,000-year record of El Niño-driven alluviation in southwestern Ecuador. *Science* 283(5401):516-520.

Roddick, Andrew P

2009 Communities of pottery production and consumption on the Taraco Peninsula, Bolivia, 200 BC-300 AD, University of California, Berkeley.

2018 Disordering the Chronotrope and Visualizing Inhabitation in the Lake Titicaca Basin. *Constructions of Time and History in the pre-Columbian Andes*:65-106.

Roddick, Andrew P and François Cuynet

2020 Genealogies and Juxtapositions: Traces of Potting Communities and Firing Facilities in Lake Titicaca Basin. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory*:1-29.

Roddick, Andrew P and Christine A Hastorf

2010 Tradition brought to the surface: Continuity, innovation and change in the Late Formative Period, Taraco Peninsula, Bolivia. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 20(02):157-178.

Roddick, Andrew P and Ann B Stahl

2016 *Knowledge in motion: constellations of learning across time and place.* University of Arizona Press.

Rolland, Nicolas

2004 Was the emergence of home bases and domestic fire a punctuated event? A review of the Middle Pleistocene record in Eurasia. *Asian perspectives*:248-280.

Romano, Valéria, Sergi Lozano and Javier Fernández-López de Pablo

2020 A multilevel analytical framework for studying cultural evolution in prehistoric hunter– gatherer societies. *Biological Reviews*:000-000.

Romero, G, Calogero M Santoro, R Valenzuela, R Chacama, N Rosello and Luigi Piacenza 2004 TÚMULOS, IDELOGÍA Y PAISAJE DE LA FASE ALTO RAMÍREZ DEL VALLE DE AZAPA. *Chungará (Arica)* 36:261-272.

Roosevelt, Anna C

1999 The development of prehistoric complex societies: Amazonia, a tropical forest. *Archeological papers of the American Anthropological association* 9(1):13-33.

Rostworowski, Maria de Diez Canseco

1999 *History of the Inca realm.* Translated by H. B. Iceland. Cambridge University Press.

Rostworowski, María de Diez Canseco

1953 Pachacutec Inca Yupanqui. Lima: Torres Aguirre.

2005 Redes económicas del Estado inca: el "ruego" y la "dádiva". In *El Estado está de vuelta: desigualdad, diversidad y democracia.* vol. 30.

Routledge, Bruce

2013 Archaeology and State Theory: Subjects and Objects of Power. A&C Black.

Rowe, John H

1944 An introduction to the archaeology of Cuzco 27. The Museum.

1945 Absolute chronology in the Andean area. *American Antiquity* 10(3):265-284.

1946 Inca culture at the time of the Spanish conquest. US Government Printing Office.

1954 *Max Uhle, 1856-1944: A memoir of the father of Peruvian archaeology* 46. University of California Press Berkeley and Los Angeles.

1956 Archaeological explorations in southern Peru, 1954–1955: preliminary report of the fourth University of California Archaeological Expedition to Peru. *American Antiquity* 22(2Part1):135-151.

1962 Stages and periods in archaeological interpretation. *Southwestern Journal of Anthropology* 18(1):40-54.

1964 Chavín Art, an inquiry into its form and meaning.

1967 What Kind of a Settlement Was Inca Cuzco? *Nawpa Pacha: Journal of Andean Archaeology*:59-76.

1982 Inca policies and institutions relating to the cultural unification of the empire. In *The Inca and Aztec States, 1400-1800: Anthropology and History*, pp. 93-118.

2006 The Inca civil war and the establishment of Spanish power in Peru. *Nawpa Pacha* 28(1):1-9.

Ruby, Bret J, Christopher Carr and Douglas K Charles

2005 Community Organizations in the Scioto, Mann, and Havana Hopewellian Regions. In *Gathering Hopewell*, pp. 119-176. Springer.

Rydén, Stig

1947 Archaeological researches in the highlands of Bolivia. Gumpert.

Saavedra, Bautista

1903 *El ayllu*. Estudios sociológicos, La Paz, Bolivia.

Sahlins, Marshall D

1960 The origin of society. *Scientific American* 203:76-88.

1961 The segmentary lineage: an organization of predatory expansion. *American anthropologist*:322-345.

1963a *Culture and environment: The study of cultural ecology*. Voice of America, US Information Agency.

1963b Poor man, rich man, big-man, chief: political types in Melanesia and Polynesia. *Comparative studies in society and history* 5(03):285-303.

1972 Stone age economics. Transaction Publishers.

Sahlins, Marshall D and Elman Service

1960 Evolution and Culture. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press:35-36.

Salazar, Diego, Valentina Figueroa, Diego Morata, Benoit Milleiv, Germán Manríquez and Ariadna Cifuentes

2011 Metalurgia en San Pedro de Atacama durante el Período Medio: nuevos datos, nuevas preguntas. *Revista de Antropología* 23:123-148.

Salazar, Diego, Hermann M. Niemeyer, Helena Horta, Valentina Figueroa and Germán Manríquez 2014 Interaction, social identity, agency and change during Middle Horizon San Pedro de Atacama (northern Chile): A multidimensional and interdisciplinary perspective. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 35:135-152.

Sallnow, Michael J

1981 Communitas reconsidered: the sociology of Andean pilgrimage. *Man*:163-182.

Salman, Ton and Annelies Zoomers

2003 Imaging the Andes: shifting margins of a marginal world. Aksant Academic Publishers.

Salmon, Merrilee H

1978 What can systems theory do for archaeology? American Antiquity 43(2):174-183.

Salomon, Frank

1978 Systèmes politiques verticaux aux marches de l'Empire inca. *Proceedings of the Annales. Histoire, Sciences Sociales* 33:967-989.

1985 The dynamic potential of the complementarity concept. *Andean ecology and civilization*:511-531.

2018 At the Mountains' Altar: Anthropology of Religion in an Andean Community. Routledge.

Salomon, Frank and George L Urioste

1991 *The Huarochiri manuscript: a testament of ancient and Colonial Andean religion.* University of Texas Press.

Sammells, Clare A

2012 The city of the present in the city of the past: Solstice celebrations at Tiwanaku, Bolivia. In *On Location*, pp. 115-130. Springer.

2013 The Aymara Year Count: Calendrical Translations in Tiwanaku, Bolivia. *Ethnology: An International Journal of Cultural and Social Anthropology* 50(3):245-258.

Sanders, William T, Deborah L Nichols, Richard E Blanton, Frederick J Bove, George L Cowgill, Gary M Feinman, Linda M Nicholas, Kent V Flannery, Kenneth G Hirth and Stephen A Kowalewski

1988 Ecological Theory and Cultural Evolution in the Valley of Oaxaca [and Comments and Reply]. *Current Anthropology*:33-80.

Sandweiss, Daniel H

2008 Early fishing societies in western South America. In *The Handbook of South American Archaeology*, pp. 145-156. Springer.

Sandweiss, Daniel H, C Fred T Andrus, Alice R Kelley, Kirk A Maasch, Elizabeth J Reitz and Paul B Roscoe

2020 Archaeological climate proxies and the complexities of reconstructing Holocene El Niño in coastal Peru. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 117(15):8271-8279.

Sandweiss, Daniel H and Jeffrey Quilter

2008 *El Niño, catastrophism, and culture change in ancient America*. Dumbarton Oaks Research Library and Collection.

Sandweiss, Daniel H and James B Richardson

2008 Central Andean Environments. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 93-104. Springer.

Sandweiss, Daniel H, James B Richardson, Elizabeth J Reitz, Harold B Rollins and Kirk A Maasch 1996 Geoarchaeological evidence from Peru for a 5000 years BP onset of El Niño. *Science* 273(5281):1531-1533.

Santley, Robert S and Rani T Alexander

1992 The Political Economy of Core-Periphery Systems. In *Resources, Power, and Interregional Interaction*, pp. 23-49. Springer.

Santo Tomás, Domingo de

[1560]1947 La primera gramática Quichua. Imprenta del Clero, Quito.

Santoro, Calogero M, José M Capriles, Eugenia M Gayo, María Eugenia de Porras, Antonio Maldonado, Vivien G Standen, Claudio Latorre, Victoria Castro, Dante Angelo and Virginia McRostie

2017 Continuities and discontinuities in the socio-environmental systems of the Atacama Desert during the last 13,000 years. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 46:28-39.

Sarmiento de Gamboa, Pedro 1988[1579] Historia de los Incas.

Satterlee, Dennis R, Michael E Moseley, David K Keefer, A Tapia and E Jorge 2000 The Miraflores El Niño disaster: convergent catastrophes and prehistoric agrarian change in southern Peru. *Andean Past* 6(1):8.

Schaedel, Richard P

1988 Andean world view: Hierarchy or reciprocity, regulation or control? *Current Anthropology* 29(5):768-775.

Schiffer, Michael B

1975 Archaeology as Behavioral Science 1. American Anthropologist 77(4):836-848.

2016 Behavioral archaeology: Principles and practice. Routledge.

Schneider, Jane

1977 Was there a Pre-Capitalist World System? *Peasant Studies* 6(1):20-29.

Schortman, Edward M

1989 Interregional interaction in prehistory: the need for a new perspective. *American Antiquity*:52-65.

Schortman, Edward M and Patricia A Urban

1992 Resources, Power, and Interregional Interaction. Springer Science & Business Media.

2004 Modeling the roles of craft production in ancient political economies. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 12(2):185-226.

2012 Enacting Power through Networks. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 31(4):500-514.

Schreiber, Katharina J

1987 Conquest and consolidation: a comparison of the Wari and Inka occupations of a highland Peruvian valley. *American Antiquity*:266-284.

1992 Wari Imperialism in Middle Horizon Peru 87. Univ of Michigan Museum.

2001 The Wari empire of Middle Horizon Peru: The epistemological challenge of documenting an empire without documentary evidence. In *Empires: Perspectives from Archaeology and History*, pp. 70-92. Cambridge University Press, New York.

2004 Sacred landscapes and imperial ideologies: The Wari empire in Sondondo, Peru. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 14(1):131-150.

Schultes, Richard Evans and Albert Hofmann

1979 Plants of the gods: origins of hallucinogenic use. New York.

Schultze, Carol A

2008 The role of silver ore reduction in Tiwanaku state expansion into Puno Bay, Peru, University of California, Los Angeles.

Schwartz, Glenn M and John J Nichols

2010 After Collapse: the regeneration of complex societies. University of Arizona press.

Scott, Heidi V

2006 Rethinking landscape and colonialism in the context of early Spanish Peru. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space* 24(4):481-496.

Scott, James C

1990 Domination and the Arts of Resistance: hidden transcripts. Yale University Press.

2017 Against the grain: a deep history of the earliest states. Yale University Press.

Seddon, Matthew T

2005 The Tiwanaku period occupation on the Island of the Sun. Advances in Titicaca Basin Archaeology-I. Cotsen Institute of Archaeology Press, Los Angeles:135-142.

2013 Tiwanaku Ritual and Political Transformations in the Core and Peripheries. In *Visions of Tiwanaku*, edited by A. Vranich and C. Stanish.

Seglins, Valdis, Agnese Kukela and Baiba Lazdina

2017 NAZCA LINES AS AN INDICATOR OF ANCIENT IRRIGATION SYSTEM ELEMENTS. International Multidisciplinary Scientific GeoConference: SGEM: Surveying Geology & mining Ecology Management 17:299-306.

Seltzer, Geoffrey, Donald Rodbell and Stephen Burns

2000 Isotopic evidence for late Quaternary climatic change in tropical South America. *Geology* 28(1):35-38.

Shady Solis, Ruth

America's first city? The case of Late Archaic Caral. In *Andean archaeology III*, pp. 28-66. Springer.

Shanks, Michael and Christopher Tilley

1982 Ideology, symbolic power and ritual communication: a reinterpretation of Neolithic mortuary practices. *Symbolic and structural archaeology* 1:129-154.

Shannon, Claude E and Warren Weaver

1949 The mathematical theory of communication. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Sharratt, Nicola

2011 Social Identities and State Collapse: A Diachronic Study of Tiwanaku Burials in the Moquegua Valley, Peru, University of Illinois, Chicago

2016 Crafting a Response to Collapse: ceramic and textile production in the wake of Tiwanaku state breakdown. In *Beyond Collapse: archaeological perspectives on resilience, revitalization, and transformation in complex societies*, edited by R. Faulseit.

2019 Tiwanaku's Legacy: A Chronological Reassessment of the Terminal Middle Horizon in the Moquegua Valley, Peru. *Latin American Antiquity* 30(3):529-549.

2020 Rejecting, reinventing, resituating: A diachronic perspective on ritual in the aftermath of Tiwanaku state collapse. In *Rituals, Collapse, and Radical Transformation in Archaic States*, pp. 123-146. Routledge.

Sharratt, Nicola, Mark Golitko, P. Ryan Williams and Laure Dussubieux

2009 Ceramic production during the Middle Horizon: Wari and Tiwanaku clay procurement in the Moquegua Valley, Peru. *Geoarchaeology* 24(6):792-820.

Sharratt, Nicola, Mark Golitko and P. Ryan Williams

2015 Pottery production, regional exchange, and state collapse during the Middle Horizon (A.D.500–1000): LA-ICP-MS analyses of Tiwanaku pottery in the Moquegua Valley, Peru. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 40(4):397-412.

Shimada, Izumi, Crystal Barker Schaaf, Lonnie G Thompson and Ellen Mosley-Thompson 1991 Cultural impacts of severe droughts in the prehistoric Andes: Application of a 1,500-year ice core precipitation record. *World Archaeology* 22(3):247-270.

Shimada, Izumi and Ursel Wagner

2001 Peruvian black pottery production and metalworking: a middle Sicán CraftWorkshop at Huaca Sialupe. *MRS Bulletin* 26(1):25-30.

Sillar, Bill

2000 Shaping culture: making pots and constructing households: an ethnoarchaeological study of pottery production, trade and use in the Andes. British Archaeological Reports Limited. Copies available from 1841711519.

2013 The building and rebuilding of walls: Aspirations, commitments and tensions within an Andean community and the archaeological monument they inhabit. *Journal of Material Culture* 18(1):27-51.

Sillar, Bill and Gabriel Ramón Joffré

2016 Using the present to interpret the past: the role of ethnographic studies in Andean archaeology. *World Archaeology* 48(5):656-673.

Silverblatt, Irene

1987 *Moon, sun, and witches: Gender ideologies and class in Inca and colonial Peru.* Princeton University Press.

1988 Imperial dilemmas, the politics of kinship, and Inca reconstructions of history. *Comparative Studies in Society and History* 30(1):83-102.

Silverman, Helaine

1991 The Northern Dynasties: Kinship and State-Craft in Chimor. *Science* 252(5008):1011-1013.

Silverman, Helaine and David Browne

1991 New evidence for the date of the Nazca lines. *Antiquity* 65(247):208-220.

Silverman, Helaine and William H Isbell

2008 Handbook of South American Archaeology. Springer Science & Business Media.

Simmel, Georg

1964 The sociology of georg simmel 92892. Simon and Schuster.

Sinopoli, Carla M

1991 Approaches to archaeological ceramics. Springer.

1994 The archaeology of empires. *Annual Review of Anthropology*:159-180.

Sitek, Matthew J

2010 An Examination of Block V at the Site of Pirque Alto in Cochabamba, Bolivia: A Household Archaeological Perspective, University of Wisconsin-La Crosse.

2013 Taypi, a View from the Middle (Court): analysis of liminal space in provincial Tiwanaku monumental architecture (Omo M10A), University of California, San Diego.

Skar, Harald O

1982 The warm valley people: Duality and land reform among the Quechua Indians of highland *Peru*. Universitetsforlaget Oslo.

1985 Communitas and schismo-genesis: The Andean Pilgrimage reconsidered. Ethnos 50(1-

2):88-102.

Skar, Sarah Lund

1995 Appropriating pawns: Andean dominance and the manipulation of things. *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute*:787-803.

Skyttner, Lars

2005 General systems theory: Problems, perspectives, practice. World scientific.

Smith, Adam

1776 The Wealth of Nations na.

- Smith, Jacqueline A, Geoffrey O Seltzer, Daniel L Farber, Donald T Rodbell and Robert C Finkel 2005 Early local last glacial maximum in the tropical Andes. *Science* 308(5722):678-681.
- Smith, Michael E, Abhishek Chatterjee, Angela C Huster, Sierra Stewart and Marion Forest
 2019 Apartment Compounds, Households, and Population in the Ancient City of Teotihuacan, Mexico. Ancient Mesoamerica 30(3):399-418.

Smith, Michael E and José Lobo

2019 Cities through the Ages: One Thing or Many? Frontiers in Digital Humanities 6:12.

- Smith, Michael E and Juliana Novic 2010 Neighborhoods and Districts in Ancient Mesoamerica.
- Smith, Michael E and Peter Peregrine

2012 Approaches to comparative analysis in archaeology. In *The Comparative Archaeology of Complex Societies*, pp. 4-20.

Smith, Michael E and Katharina J Schreiber

2005 New World states and empires: Economic and social organization. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 13(3):189-229.

Smith, Scott C. and John W. Janusek

2014 Political mosaics and networks: Tiwanaku expansion into the upper Desaguadero Valley, Bolivia. *World Archaeology* 46(5):681-704.

Somerville, Andrew D, Paul S Goldstein, Sarah I Baitzel, Karin L Bruwelheide, Allisen C Dahlstedt, Linda Yzurdiaga, Sarah Raubenheimer, Kelly J Knudson and Margaret J Schoeninger

2015 Diet and gender in the Tiwanaku colonies: Stable isotope analysis of human bone collagen and apatite from Moquegua, Peru. *American journal of physical anthropology* 158(3):408-422.

Southall, Aidan

1956 Determinants of the Social Structure of African Urban Populations, with Special Reference to Kampala (Uganda). *Social Implications of Industrialization and Urbanization in Africa South of the Sahara*:557-578.

1988 The segmentary state in Africa and Asia. *Comparative Studies in Society and History* 30(01):52-82.

1991 The segmentary state: From the imaginary to the material means of production. *Early state economics*:75-96.

2000 On the Emergence of States. I THEORIES OF SOCIAL EVOLUTION:239.

Spalding, Karen

1984 Huarochiri: An Andean Society Under Inca and Spanish Rule. Stanford University Press.

Spencer, Charles S

1990 On the tempo and mode of state formation: Neoevolutionism reconsidered. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 9(1):1-30.

1997 Evolutionary Approaches in Archaeology. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 5(3):209-264.

1998 A mathematical model of primary state formation. *Cultural Dynamics* 10(1):5-20.

2010 Territorial expansion and primary state formation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107(16):7119-7126.

Spencer, Charles S and Elsa M Redmond

2001 Multilevel selection and political evolution in the Valley of Oaxaca, 500–100 BC. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 20(2):195-229.

Spencer, Herbert

1860 The social organism. *Westminster review* 73(143):90-121.

1892 The study of sociology 5. Kegan Paul, Trench, Trübner.

Spielmann, Katherine A

2002 Feasting, craft specialization, and the ritual mode of production in small-scale societies. *American Anthropologist*:195-207.

Spooner, David M, Karen McLean, Gavin Ramsay, Robbie Waugh and Glenn J Bryan 2005 A single domestication for potato based on multilocus amplified fragment length polymorphism genotyping. *proceedings of the national academy of sciences* 102(41):14694-14699.

Squier, Ephraim George

1877 *Peru. Incidents of Travel and Exploration in the Land of the Incas.* Macmillan and Company.

Stahl, Ann B

2014 Intersections of craft and cuisine: implications for what and how we study. *African Archaeological Review* 31(2):383-393.

Stahl, Peter W

2008 Animal domestication in South America. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 121-130. Springer.

Standen, Vivien G

1997 Temprana complejidad funeraria de la cultura Chinchorro (norte de Chile). *Latin American Antiquity* 8(2):134-156.

Stanish, Charles

1989 Household archeology: Testing models of zonal complementarity in the south central Andes. *American Anthropologist*:7-24.

1991 A late pre-Hispanic ceramic chronology for the upper Moquegua Valley, Peru. *Fieldiana. Anthropology*:i-68.

1994 The hydraulic hypothesis revisited: Lake Titicaca Basin raised fields in theoretical perspective. *Latin American Antiquity*:312-332.

2001a The origin of state societies in South America. Annual Review of Anthropology:41-64.

2001b Regional research on the Inca. Journal of Archaeological Research 9(3):213-241.

2002 Tiwanaku political economy. In Andean Archaeology I, pp. 169-198. Springer.

2003 Ancient Titicaca: the evolution of complex society in southern Peru and northern Bolivia. University of California Press.

2012 Above-ground tombs in the circum-Titicaca basin. *Advances in Titicaca Basin archaeology III* 51:203-220.

2013 What was Tiwanaku? Proceedings of the Visions of Tiwanaku: Cotsen Institute Conference on Tiwanaku 78:151-167.

2014 Ancient Andean political economy. University of Texas Press.

2017 The Evolution of Human Co-operation. Cambridge University Press.

Stanish, Charles and Brian S Bauer

2004 Archaeological Research on the Islands of the Sun and Moon, Lake Titicaca, Bolivia: Final Results of the Proyecto Tiksi Iqarka.

Stanish, Charles, Edmundo de la Vega, Michael Moseley, Patrick Ryan Williams, Cecilia Chávez, Benjamin Vining and Karl LaFavre

2010 Tiwanaku trade patterns in southern Peru. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 29(4):524-532.

Stanish, Charles, Kirk L Frye, Edmundo de la Vega and Matthew T Seddon

2005 Tiwanaku expansion into the western Titicaca Basin, Peru. Advances in Titicaca Basin Archaeology 1:103-114.

Stanish, Charles and Kevin J Haley

2004 Power, fairness, and architecture: Modeling early chiefdom development in the central Andes. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 14(1):53-70.

Stanish, Charles and Abigail Levine

2011 War and early state formation in the northern Titicaca Basin, Peru. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108(34):13901-13906.

Steadman, Lee H

1995 Excavations at Camata: An early ceramic chronology for the western Titicaca Basin, Peru, University of California, Berkeley.

Steadman, Sharon R

2016 Archaeology of Domestic Architecture and the Human Use of Space. Routledge.

Stein, Gil

1999 *Rethinking World-Systems: diasporas, colonies, and interaction in Uruk Mesopotamia.* University of Arizona Press.

2002 From Passive Periphery to Active Agents: emerging perspectives in the archaeology of interregional interaction. *American Anthropologist* 104(3):903-916.

2005 *The Archaeology of Colonial Encounters: comparative perspectives.* School of American Research Press.

Stein, Gil S and M James Blackman

1993 The organizational context of specialized craft production in early Mesopotamian states. *Research in Economic Anthropology, Volume 14.*

Steward, Julian H

1940 Handbook of South American Indians. *Boletín Bibliográfico de Antropología Americana* (1937-1948) 4(3):227-231.

1953 Evolution and process. Anthropology today:313-326.

1968 Cultural ecology. International Encyclopedia of the Social Sciences 4:337-344.

1972 *Theory of culture change: The methodology of multilinear evolution.* University of Illinois Press.

Stone-Miller, Rebecca

Human-animal imagery, shamanic visions, and ancient American aesthetics. *RES: Anthropology and Aesthetics* 45(1):47-68.

Stone, Elizabeth Caecilia

1987 Nippur neighborhoods. Oriental Inst Pubns Sales.

Storey, Glen

2006 Urbanism in the preindustrial world: cross-cultural approaches. University of Alabama Press.

Stovel, Emily M

2001 Patrones funerarios de San Pedro de Atacama y el problema de la presencia de los contextos tiwanaku. 2001.

2013 Concepts of ethnicity and culture in Andean archaeology. *Latin American Antiquity* 24(1):3-20.

Strong, William Duncan and Clifford Evans

1952 Cultural stratigraphy in the Viru Valley, northern Peru: the formative and florescent epochs 4. Columbia University Press.

Strum, Shirley S and Bruno Latour

1987 Redefining the social link: from baboons to humans. *Information (International Social Science Council)* 26(4):783-802.

Stübel, Alphons and Max Uhle

1892 Die Ruinenstätte von Tiahuanaco im Hochlande des alten Peru. *Eine kulturgeschichtliche Studie auf Grund selbständiger Aufnahmen. Leip.*

Sugiyama, Michelle Scalise

2001 Food, foragers, and folklore: The role of narrative in human subsistence. *Evolution and Human Behavior* 22(4):221-240.

Sussman, Robert W and Paul A Garber

2007 Cooperation and competition in primate social interactions. *Primates in perspective*:636-651.

Sutter, Richard C

2006 Colonization vs. demic expansion in the Azapa Valley, Chile: Reply to Rothhammer et al. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 131(4):457.

2020 The Pre-Columbian Peopling and Population Dispersals of South America. *Journal of Archaeological Research*:1-59.

Sutter, Richard C, RosaJ Cortez, Garth Bawden, DeborahE Blom, ChristopherB Donnan, J Christopher Dudar, Peter Kaulicke, PatriciaM Lambert, Andrew Nelson and SusanElizabeth Ramrez

2005 The nature of Moche Human sacrifice: A bioarchaeological perspective. *Current Anthropology* 46(4):521-549.

Sutter, Richard C and Nicola Sharratt

2008 Relations Among Terminal Middle Horizon (AD 750-1150) Mortuary Populations of the Middle Moquegua Valley, Peru: A Bioarchaeological Perspective.

2010 Continuity and transformation during the Terminal Middle Horizon (AD 950–1150): A bioarchaeological assessment of Tumilaca origins within the Middle Moquegua Valley, Peru. *Latin American Antiquity*:67-86.

Swenson, Edward R

2003 Cities of Violence Sacrifice, Power and Urbanization in the Andes. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 3(2):256-296.

2015 The archaeology of ritual. Annual Review of Anthropology 44:329-345.

Swenson, Edward R and Andrew Roddick

2018 *Constructions of time and history in the pre-Columbian Andes.* University Press of Colorado.

Szabó, Péter

Historical ecology: past, present and future. *Biological Reviews* 90(4):997-1014.

Szykulski, Józef, K Figiel and K Kwiatkowski

2014 The Project Tambo and its significance for research on pre-Columbian societies of the southern part of Peru. *Contributions in New World Archaeology* 6:43-82.

Szykulski, Józef, Rocío Tejada Lewis, Jakub Wanot, Łukasz Mikocik, Karolina Krajewska and Ewa Bewziuk

2016 Investigaciones de la Universidad de Wroclaw/Polonia en los Valles Occidentales del extremo sur del Perú. MOST RECENT RESULTS OF AMERICAN STUDIES AVANCES RECIENTES EN LA AMERICANÍSTICA MUNDIAL.

Szykulski, Józef and Jakub Wanot

The Tiwanaku Tradition within the Tambo Valley, Southern Coast of Peru: Interpretation of Burial Contexts from La Pampilla 1. *Latin American Antiquity*:1-18.

Tainter, Joseph A

1990 The Collapse of Complex Societies. Cambridge University Press.

2006 Archaeology of Overshoot and Collapse. Annu. Rev. Anthropol. 35:59-74.

Tambiah, Stanley Jeyaraja

1985 Culture, thought and social action. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University.

Tantaleán, Henry

2016 Peruvian archaeology: a critical history. Routledge.

Tarlow, Sarah

2012 The archaeology of emotion and affect. *Annual review of anthropology* 41:169-185.

Teixeira de Melo, Ana

2020 Discussion: From Thinking to Performing Complexity. In *Performing Complexity: Building Foundations for the Practice of Complex Thinking*, pp. 65-68. Springer.

Tejada Bedoya, Gualberto

2007 Zonification Ecologica y Economica - Region Tacna. Goberno Regional Tacna.

Tello, Julio C

- 1929 Antiguo Perú: primera época.
- 1930 Andean civilization: some problems of Peruvian archaeology. na.
- 1943 Discovery of the Chavin culture in Peru. American Antiquity 9(1):135-160.

Theler, James L and Robert F Boszhardt

2005 *Twelve millennia: archaeology of the upper Mississippi River Valley* 1. University of Iowa Press.

Thomas, Lewis

1978 The lives of a cell: Notes of a biology watcher. Penguin.

Thomas, R Brooke

1976 Energy flow at high altitude. *Man in the Andes*:379-404.

Thompson, Lonnie G, Ellen Mosley-Thompson and Keith A Henderson

2000 Ice-core palaeoclimate records in tropical South America since the Last Glacial Maximum. *Journal of Quaternary Science: Published for the Quaternary Research Association* 15(4):377-394.

Tomasello, Michael

2009 The cultural origins of human cognition. Harvard university press.

Tomasi, Jorge and Carolina Rivet

2011 Puna y Arquitectura. Las formas locales de la construcción. *Buenos Aires: CEDODAL-Centro de Documentación de Arte y Arquitectura Latinoamericana*.

Tomlinson, John

1999 Globalization and Culture. University of Chicago Press.

Tönnies, Ferdinand

1887 Community and society. *The urban sociology reader* 13.

Toohey, Jason L

Formal and stylistic variation in the ceramic assemblage at the Late Intermediate Period site of Yanaorco in the Cajamarca highlands of northern Peru. *Nawpa Pacha* 31(2):171-200.

Topic, John R

2003 From stewards to bureaucrats: architecture and information flow at Chan Chan, Peru. *Latin American Antiquity*:243-274.

Topic, John R and Michael E Moseley

1983 Chan Chan: a case study of urban change in Peru. *Ñawpa Pacha* 21(1):153-182.

Topic, John R and Theresa L Topic

1983 El Horizonte Medio en Huamachuco. Revista del Museo Nacional 47:13-52.

Torres-Rouff, Christina and Kelly J. Knudson

2017 Integrating Identities: An Innovative Bioarchaeological and Biogeochemical Approach to Analyzing the Multiplicity of Identities in the Mortuary Record. *Current Anthropology* 58(3):381-409.

Torres-Rouff, Christina

2008 The influence of Tiwanaku on life in the Chilean Atacama: mortuary and bodily perspectives. *American Anthropologist* 110(3):325-337.

Torres, Constantino M and William J Conklin

1995 Exploring the San Pedro de Atacama/Tiwanaku relationship. *Worldwide Archaeology Series* 13:78-108.

Torres, Constantino M and David B Repke 2006 Anadenanthera: visionary plant of ancient South America. Psychology Press.

Trever, Lisa

2016 The Artistry of Moche Mural Painting and the Ephemerality of Monuments. *Making Value, Making Meaning: Techné in the Pre-Columbian World*:253-279.

Trigger, Bruce G

1980 Gordon Childe, revolutions in archaeology. New York: Columbia University Press.

1989 A history of archaeological thought. Cambridge University Press.

1991 Distinguished lecture in archeology: Constraint and freedom—a new synthesis for archeological explanation. *American anthropologist* 93(3):551-569.

Trimborn, Hermann

1975 Investigaciones arqueologicas: en los valles del Caplina y Sama (Dep. Tacna, Peru). Verbo Divino. Copies available from 3921389356.

Tripcevich, Nicholas

2010 Exotic goods, Chivay obsidian, and sociopolitical change in the south-central Andes. In *Trade and Exchange*, pp. 59-73. Springer.

Trivers, Robert L

1971 The evolution of reciprocal altruism. *The Quarterly review of biology* 46(1):35-57.

Trouillot, MichelRolph, Chris Hann, Lszl Krti and MichelRolph Trouillot

2001 The Anthropology of the State in the Age of Globalization 1: Close Encounters of the Deceptive Kind. *Current anthropology* 42(1):125-138.

Tschauner, Hartmut

2006 Chimu craft specialization and political economy: a view from the provinces. In Andean Archaeology III, pp. 171-196. Springer.

Tung, Tiffiny A

2007 Trauma and violence in the Wari empire of the Peruvian Andes: warfare, raids, and ritual fights. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 133(3).

2008 Dismembering bodies for display: a bioarchaeological study of trophy heads from the Wari site of Conchopata, Peru. *American journal of physical anthropology* 136(3):294-308.

2012 Violence, ritual, and the Wari Empire. Gainesville Fl: University press of Florida.

2014 Making warriors, making war: Violence and militarism in the Wari empire. *Embattled Bodies, Embattled Places: War in Pre-Columbian Mesoamerica and the Andes, Dumbarton Oaks, Washington, DC*:229-258.

Tung, Tiffiny A and Anita G Cook

2006 Intermediate-elite agency in the Wari empire: the bioarchaeological and mortuary evidence. In *Intermediate-elite agency in Precolumbian States and Empires*, edited by C. Elson and A. Covey. University of Arizona Press.

Tung, Tiffiny A and Kelly J Knudson

2010 Childhood lost: abductions, sacrifice, and trophy heads of children in the Wari empire of the ancient Andes. *Latin American Antiquity*:44-66.

Turnbull, David

2007 Maps narratives and trails: performativity, hodology and distributed knowledges in complex adaptive systems–an approach to emergent mapping. *Geographical research* 45(2):140-149.

Turner, Terence

1993 Social complexity and recursive hierarchy in indigenous South American societies.

Turner, Victor

1969 Liminality and communitas. *The ritual process: Structure and anti-structure* 94(113):125-130.

Twiss, Katheryn

2012 The archaeology of food and social diversity. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 20(4):357-395.

Tylor, Edward Burnett

1870 Researches into the Early History of Mankind and the Development of Civilization. J. Murray.

Uceda, Santiago, Elias Mujica and Ricardo Morales

1998 *Investigaciones en la Huaca de la Luna, 1996*. Facultad de Ciencias Sociales, Universidad Nacional de La Libertad Trujillo

Uhle, Max

- 1902 Types of culture in Peru. *American Anthropologist* 4(4):753-759.
- 1903 Pachacamac: Report of the William Pepper Peruvian Expedition of 1896. University of

Pennsylvania. Department of Archaeology.

Umire Alvarez, Adán

2014 *Representaciones Rupestres en el Valle de Locumba, sur del Peru*. UTA/Mineduc, Arica, Chile.

Upham, Steadman

1992 Interaction and Isolation. In *Resources, Power, and Interregional Interaction*, pp. 139-152. Springer.

Ur, Jason

2014 Households and the emergence of cities in ancient Mesopotamia. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 24(2):249-268.

Uribe Rodríguez, Mauricio

1999 La Cerámica de Arica 40 Años después de Dauelsberg. Chungará (Arica) 31(2):189-228.

Uribe Rodríguez, Mauricio and Carolina Agüero Piwonka

2004 Iconografía, alfarería y textilería Tiwanaku: elementos para una revisión del Período Medio en el Norte Grande de Chile. *Chungará (Arica)* 36:1055-1068.

Urton, Gary

1985 Animal myths and metaphors in South America. University of Utah Press.

1993 Moieties and ceremonialism in the Andes: the ritual battles of the carnival season in Southern Peru. *Senri ethnological studies* 37:117-142.

1998 From knots to narratives: Reconstructing the art of historical record keeping in the Andes from Spanish transcriptions of Inka khipus. *Ethnohistory*:409-438.

Valcárcel, Luis Eduardo

1945 *Ruta cultural del Perú*. Fondo de cultura económica.

1949 Historia de la cultura antigua del Perú 1. Imprenta del Museo nacional.

Valdés Guía, Miriam

2019 War in Archaic Athens: polis, Elites and Military power. *Historia* 68(2):126-149.

 Valenzuela, Daniela, Isabel Cartajena, Calogero M. Santoro, Victoria Castro and Eugenia M. Gayo
 2018 Andean caravan ceremonialism in the lowlands of the Atacama Desert: The Cruces de Molinos archaeological site, northern Chile. *Quaternary International*.

Vallières, Claudine

2012 A Taste of Tiwanaku: Daily Life in an Ancient Andean Urban Center as Seen through Cuisine, McGill University.

2016 Camelid Pastoralism at Ancient Tiwanaku. The Archaeology of Andean Pastoralism:67.

Van Buren, Mary

1996 Rethinking the vertical archipelago. *American Anthropologist* 98(2):338-351.

2001 The archaeology of El Niño events and other "natural" disasters. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 8(2):129-149.

Van Dommelen, Peter

1997 Colonial constructs: colonialism and archaeology in the Mediterranean. *World archaeology* 28(3):305-323.

Van Oyen, Astrid

2015 Actor-Network Theory's Take on Archaeological Types: Becoming, Material Agency and Historical Explanation. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 25(1):63-78.

Van Schaik, Carel P

1996 Social evolution in primates: the role of ecological factors and male behaviour. *Proceedings of the PROCEEDINGS-BRITISH ACADEMY* 88:9-32.

Van Vleet, Krista E

2002 The intimacies of power: rethinking violence and affinity in the Bolivian Andes. *American Ethnologist*:567-601.

2009 *Performing kinship: narrative, gender, and the intimacies of power in the Andes.* University of Texas Press.

VanDerwarker, Amber M

1999 Feasting and status at the Toqua site. Southeastern Archaeology:24-34.

VanPool, Christine S

2009 The signs of the sacred: Identifying shamans using archaeological evidence. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 28(2):177-190.

VanValkenburgh, Parker

2017 Unsettling Time: Persistence and Memory in Spanish Colonial Peru. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 24(1):117-148.

Vargas Edwin, Pino, Collas Chavez Manuel, Alfaro Ravello Luis and Avendano Juihuallanga Cesar
 2018 Analysis Hydrologic-Economic and Alternatives Current and Planned Damming in
 Locumba Basin. *Modern Environmental Science and Engineering* 4(9):665-675.

Varien, Mark D and James M Potter

2008 The social construction of communities: agency, structure, and identity in the Prehispanic Southwest. Rowman Altamira.

Vaughn, Kevin J

Households, crafts, and feasting in the ancient Andes: the village context of Early Nasca craft consumption. *Latin American Antiquity*:61-88.

Vaughn, Kevin J, Jelmer W Eerkens and John Kantner

2010 The Evolution of leadership: Transitions in decision making from small-scale to middlerange societies. School for Advanced Research Press.

Vázquez, Alexei

2003 Growing network with local rules: Preferential attachment, clustering hierarchy, and degree correlations. *Physical Review E* 67(5):056104.

Vázquez de Espinosa, Antonio

1968[1620] *Description of the Indies, C. 1620.* Translated by C. Upson Clark. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.

Vela Velarde, Carlos

2014 *Tiwanaku en Tacna*. 2nd ed.

Vella, M-A, EG Ernenwein, John Wayne Janusek, Michele L Koons, Julien Thiesson, Christelle Sanchez, Roger Guérin and Christian Camerlynck

2019 New insights into prehispanic urban organization at Tiwanaku (NE Bolivia): Cross combined approach of photogrammetry, magnetic surveys and previous archaeological excavations. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 23:464-477.

Verzijl, Andres and Silvano Guerrero Quispe

2013 The system nobody sees: irrigated wetland management and alpaca herding in the Peruvian Andes. *Mountain Research and Development* 33(3):280-293.

Vidal, Javier Pulgar

1987 Geografía del Perú: las ocho regiones naturales: la regionalización transversal: la micro regionalización. *Lima: Peisa*.

Villanueva Criales, Juan

2015 En torno a concepciones del tiempo en Tiwanaku. Consideraciones en base a la iconografía de los ch'alladores de Pariti. *Cuaderno de Campo* 6:1-20.

Vining, Benjamin R

2016 Pastoral intensification, social fissioning, and ties to state economies at the Formative Period–Middle Horizon transition in the Lake Suches Region, Southern Peru. In *The Archaeology of Andean Pastoralism*, pp. 87-118. University of New Mexico Press Albuquerque.

Vining, Benjamin R and Patrick Ryan Williams

2020 Crossing the western Altiplano: The ecological context of Tiwanaku migrations. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 113.

Vining, Benjamin R., Byron A. Steinman, Mark B. Abbott and Arielle Woods

2018 Paleoclimatic and archaeological evidence from Lake Suches for highland Andean refugia during the arid middle-Holocene. *The Holocene* 29(2):328-344.

Vogel, Melissa A

2012 Frontier life in ancient Peru: the archaeology of Cerro la Cruz. University Press of Florida.

2018 New Research on the Late Prehistoric Coastal Polities of Northern Peru. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 26(2):165-195.

Von Bertalanffy, Ludwig

1972 The history and status of general systems theory. *Academy of management journal* 15(4):407-426.

Von Hagen, Adriana and Craig Morris

1998 The cities of the ancient Andes. Thames & Hudson.

von Humboldt, Alexander

1878 Sitios de las cordilleras y monumentos: de los pueblos indígenas de América. Translated by T. B. Giner. Imprenta y Libereria de Gaspar, Madrid.

Vranich, Alexei

1999 Interpreting the meaning of ritual spaces: the temple complex of Pumapunku, Tiwanaku, Bolivia, University of Pennsylvania.

2001 La pirámide de Akapana: reconsiderando el centro monumental de Tiwanaku. 2012.

2006 The construction and reconstruction of ritual space at Tiwanaku, Bolivia (AD 500–1000). *Journal of field archaeology* 31(2):121-136.

2009 The development of the ritual core of Tiwanaku. *Proceedings of the Tiwanaku: papers from the 2005 Mayer Center symposium at the Denver Art Museum*:11-34.

2010 Plataformas, Plazas, y Palacios en Tiwanaku, Bolivia 500-1000 AD. In *Senores de los Imperios del Sol*, edited by K. Makowski, pp. 143-152. BCP, Lima.

Vranich, Alexei, Elizabeth A Klarich and Charles Stanish

2012 *Advances in Titicaca Basin Archaeology-III.* Memoirs of the Museum of Anthropology. University of Michigan.

Vranich, Alexei and Charles Stanish

2013 Visions of Tiwanaku. Cotsen Institute of Archaeology Press.

Wachtel, Nathan

1977 The vision of the vanquished: the Spanish conquest of Peru through Indian eyes, 1530-1570. Harvester Press Brighton.

1981 Reciprocity and the Inca State: From Karl Polanyi to John V. Murra. *Research in Economic Anthropology* 4:38-50.

Wallace, Dwight Tousch

1957 *The Tiahuanaco horizon styles in the Peruvian and Bolivian highlands.* University of California, Berkeley.

Wallerstein, Immanuel

1974 The Rise and Future Demise of the World Capitalist System: concepts for comparative analysis. *Comparative studies in society and history* 16(04):387-415.

1979 The capitalist world-economy 2. Cambridge University Press.

1993 World system versus world-systems. *The world system: Five hundred years or five thousand*:292-296.

2011 The modern world-system I: capitalist agriculture and the origins of the European worldeconomy in the sixteenth century, with a new prologue 1. Univ of California Press.

Wasserman, Stanley and Katherine Faust

1994 Social network analysis: Methods and applications 8. Cambridge university press.

Watanabe, Luis K, Michael E Moseley and Fernando Cabieses

1990 *Trabajos arqueológicos en Moquegua, Perú* 1. Programa Contisuyo del Museo Peruano de Ciencias de la Salud.

Watson, Patty Jo, Steven A LeBlanc and Charles L Redman

1971 *Explanation in archaeology: an explicitly scientific approach*. Colombia University Press.

Watts, Duncan J

2004 Six degrees: The science of a connected age. WW Norton & Company.

Watts, Duncan J and Steven H Strogatz

1998 Collective dynamics of 'small-world'networks. *nature* 393(6684):440.

Watts, Michael

2007 The sinister political life of community. *The seductions of community: Emancipations, oppressions, quandaries*:101-142.

Webb, Hillary S

2012 Yanantin and Masintin in the Andean world: Complementary dualism in modern Peru. UNM Press.

Weber, Max

[1904]2002 The Protestant ethic and the" spirit" of capitalism and other writings. Penguin.

[1922]1978 Economy and society: An outline of interpretive sociology 1. Univ of California Press.

Webster, Ann D and John Wayne Janusek

2003 Tiwanaku camelids: Subsistence, sacrifice, and social reproduction. *Tiwanaku and Its Hinterland: Archaeological and Paleoecological Investigations of an Andean Civilization* 2:343-362.

Weik, Terrance M

2014 The archaeology of ethnogenesis. Annual Review of Anthropology 43:291-305.

Weismantel, Mary J

1989 Food, gender, and poverty in the Ecuadorian Andes. University of Pennsylvania Press.

2006 The Ayllu, real and imagined: the romance of community in the Andes. In *The seductions of community: Emancipations, oppressions, quandaries*. School of American Research Press.

Weiss, Kenneth M and Anne V Buchanan

2009 The mermaid's tale: four billion years of cooperation in the making of living things. Harvard University Press.

Weiss, Kenneth M, Anne V Buchanan and Brian W Lambert

2011 The red queen and her king: cooperation at all levels of life. *American journal of physical anthropology* 146(S53):3-18.

Wells, L, Cl Hillaire-Marcel, Lisa E Wells, Jay S Noller, Daniel H Sandweiss, James B Richardson III, Elizabeth J Reitz, Harold B Rollins and Kirk A Maasch

1997 Determining the early history of El Niño. *Science* 276(5314):965-968.

Wells, Lisa E

1990 Holocene history of the El Niño phenomenon as recorded in flood sediments of northern coastal Peru. *Geology* 18(11):1134-1137.

Wendrich, Willeke

2013 Archaeology and apprenticeship: body knowledge, identity, and communities of practice. University of Arizona Press.

Wernke, Steven A

2007 Negotiating community and landscape in the Peruvian Andes: A transconquest view. *American Anthropologist* 109(1):130-152.

2012 Spatial network analysis of a terminal prehispanic and early colonial settlement in highland Peru. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 39(4):1111-1122.

Wheeler, Jane C

1995 Evolution and present situation of the South American Camelidae. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 54(3):271-295.

2012 South American camelids: past, present and future. *Journal of Camelid Science* 5(1):1-24.

White, Leslie A

1943 Energy and the evolution of culture. *American Anthropologist* 45(3):335-356.

Whitehead, Alfred North

1926 *Religion in the making: Lowell lectures 1926.* Fordham Univ Press.

1947 Essays in Science and Philosophy. Philosophical Library, New York.

Whitehead, William T

2006 Redefining plant use at the Formative site of Chiripa in the southern Titicaca Basin. In *Andean archaeology III*, pp. 258-278. Springer.

Whiten, Andrew

2000 Primate culture and social learning. *Cognitive Science* 24(3):477-508.

Whittle, Alisdair

2003 The archaeology of people: dimensions of Neolithic life. Routledge.

Widmer, Randolph J and Rebecca Storey

2012 The "Tlajinga Barrio": A distinctive cluster of neighborhoods in Teotihuacan. *The neighborhood as a social and spatial unit in Mesoamerican cities. University of Arizona Press, Tucson*:102-116.

Wiedner, Donald L

1960 Forced labor in colonial Peru. *The Americas* 16(4):357-383.

Wiener, C

1880 Perú y Bolivia: relato de viaje. *Lima: Institut Français d'Etudes Andines-Universidad Nacional Mayor de San Marcos. Travaux de l'Institut Français d'Etudes Andines* 56.

Wiessner, Polly, Shankar Aswani, Chris Ballard, Christopher Boehm, John E Clark, Brian Hayden, Jrg Helbling, Mitsuo Ichikawa, Anton Ploeg and Paul Roscoe

2002 The Vines of Complexity: Egalitarian Structures and the Institutionalization of Inequality among the Enga 1. *Current Anthropology* 43(2):233-269.

Wilk, Richard R and Robert M Netting

1984 Households: changing forms and functions. *Households: comparative and historical studies of the domestic group*:1-28.

Wilk, Richard R and William Rathje

1982 Household archaeology. The American Behavioral Scientist (pre-1986) 25(6):617.

Wilkinson, Darryl

2013 The Emperor's new body: personhood, ontology and the Inka sovereign. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 23(3):417.

Willey, Gordon R

1945 Horizon styles and pottery traditions in Peruvian archaeology. *American Antiquity* 11(1):49-56.

1953 Prehistoric settlement patterns in the Viru Valley, Peru.

1991 Horizonal integration and regional diversity: an alternating process in the rise of civilizations. *American antiquity* 56(2):197-215.

Williams, Patrick Ryan

2001 Cerro Baúl: A Wari center on the Tiwanaku frontier. Latin American Antiquity:67-83.

2002 Rethinking disaster-induced collapse in the demise of the Andean highland states: Wari and Tiwanaku. *World Archaeology* 33(3):361-374.

2005 Wari and Tiwanaku Borderlands. In *Tiwanaku*, Mayer Center Symposium.

2013 Tiwanaku: A Cult of the Masses. *Visions of Tiwanaku. Los Angeles: Cotsen Institute of Archaeology*:27-40.

Williams, Patrick Ryan, Johny A Isla and Donna J Nash

2001 Cerro Baúl: un enclave Wari en interacción con Tiwanaku. *Boletín de Arqueología PUCP* (5):69-87.

Williams, Patrick Ryan, Donna J Nash, Anita Cook, William Isbell and R Speakman

2019 *Wari Ceramic Production in the Heartland and Provinces*. Ceramics of the Indigenous Cultures of South America: Studies of Production and Exchange through Compositional Analysis.

Williams, Patrick Ryan, Donna J Nash, Michael E Moseley, Susan deFrance, Mario Ruales and David Goldstein

2005 Encounter and the foundation of Wari statecraft. *Boletín de Arqueología PUCP* (9):207-232.

Williams, Verónica I, Calogero M Santoro, Robert J Speakman, Michael D Glascock, Álvaro Luis Romero Guevara, Daniela Valenzuela, Vivien G Standen and Terence N D'Altroy

2016 Instrumental neutron activation analysis of Inka and local pottery from northern Chile's Atacama Desert. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 9:481-492.

Williamson, Rebecca

2015 Towards a Multi-Scalar Methodology: The challenges of studying social transformation and international migration. In *Social Transformation and Migration*, pp. 17-32. Springer.

Wilson, David J

1983 The origins and development of complex Prehispanic society in the Lower Santa Valley, Peru: implications for theories of state origins. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 2(3):209-276.

Wilson, Edward O

2012 The social conquest of earth. WW Norton & Company.

Winkelman, Michael

1992 *Shamans, priests, and witches: A cross-cultural study of magico-religious practitioners.* Arizona State University.

Wittfogel, Karl A

1955 Developmental aspects of hydraulic societies. Irrigation civilizations: A comparative

study:43-53.

Wolf, Eric R

1957 Closed corporate peasant communities in Mesoamerica and Central Java. *Southwestern journal of Anthropology* 13(1):1-18.

Wright, Henry T

1977 Recent research on the origin of the state. Annual Review of Anthropology 6(1):379-397.

1984 Prestate political formations. On the evolution of complex societies: essays in honor of Harry Hoijer 1982:41-77.

1986 The evolution of civilizations. American Archaeology: past and future:323-365.

Wright, Henry T and Gregory A Johnson

1975 Population, exchange, and early state formation in southwestern Iran. *American Anthropologist*:267-289.

Wright, Melanie F, Christine A Hastorf and Heidi A Lennstrom

2003 Pre-Hispanic agriculture and plant use at Tiwanaku: Social and political implications. In *Tiwanaku and its hinterland: archaeology and paleoecology of an Andean civilization*, edited by A. Kolata, pp. 384-403. vol. 2.

Wylde, Michael

2017 The Inca Dogs and Their Ancestors, University of Florida.

Xiang, Biao

2013 Multi-scalar ethnography: An approach for critical engagement with migration and social change. *Ethnography* 14(3):282-299.

Yacobaccio, Hugo D

2004 Social dimensions of camelid domestication in the southern Andes. *Anthropozoologica* 39(1):237-247.

Yacobaccio, Hugo D. and Bibiana L. Vilá

2016 A model for Ilama (Lama glamaLinnaeus, 1758) domestication in the southern Andes. *Anthropozoologica* 51(1):5-13.

Yaeger, Jason and José María López Bejarano

2004 Reconfiguración de un espacio sagrado: Los inkas y la pirámide Pumapunku en Tiwanaku, Bolivia. *Chungará (Arica)* 36(2):337-350.

Yampara Huarachi, Simon

2001 *El ayllu y la territorialidad en los Andes: Una aproximación a Chambi Grande*. Ediciones Qamán Pacha Cada UPEA-Universidad Pública de El Alto.

Yaranga, R

High-Andean wetland of Peru: floristic diversity, primary net aerial productivity, ecological condition, and carrying capacity. *Scientia Agropecuaria* 11(2):213-221.

Yates, Donna

2011 Archaeology and autonomies: the legal framework of heritage management in a new Bolivia. *International Journal of Cultural Property* 18(3):291-307.

Yeager, Timothy J

1995 Encomienda or Slavery? The Spanish Crown's Choice of Labor Organization in

Sixteenth-Century Spanish America. The Journal of Economic History 55(4):842-859.

Yoffee, Norman

2005 *Myths of the archaic state: Evolution of the earliest cities, states, and civilizations.* Cambridge University Press.

2016 The power of infrastructures: a counternarrative and a speculation. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 23(4):1053-1065.

2019 *The Evolution of Fragility: Setting the Terms.* McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research.

Yoffee, Norman and George L Cowgill

1991 The collapse of ancient states and civilizations. University of Arizona Press.

Young-Sanchez, Margaret

2004 *Tiwanaku: Ancestors of the Inca.* U of Nebraska Press.

Young-Sánchez, Margaret

2009 *Tiwanaku: Papers from the 2005 Mayer Center Symposium at the Denver Art Museum.* Denver Art Museum.

Yupanqui, Titu Cusi

2005[1570] An Inca account of the conquest of Peru. Translated by R. Bruce. University Press of Colorado.

Zaro, Gregory and Adán Umire Alvarez

Late Chiribaya agriculture and risk management along the arid Andean coast of southern Perú, AD 1200–1400. *Geoarchaeology* 20(7):717-737.

Zeidler, James A

2008 The ecuadorian formative. In *The handbook of South American archaeology*, pp. 459-488. Springer.

Zori, Colleen, Erika Brant and Mauricio Uribe Rodríguez

2017 Empires as social networks: roads, connectedness, and the Inka incorporation of northern Chile. *Nawpa Pacha* 37(1):1-23.

Zovar, JM

2007 Contact, conflict, trade and migration: Interregional interaction in the Andean Late Intermediate Period (1150–1450). *Buletinul Cercurilor Stiintifice Studentesti, Arheologie–Istorie– Muzeologie* 13:65-78.

Zuidema, R Tom

1964 *The ceque system of Cuzco: The social organization of the capital of the Inca* 50. Brill Archive.

1977 The inca calendar. *Proceedings of the Native American Astronomy*:219.

1989 The moieties of Cuzco. *The Attraction of Opposites. Thought and Society in the Dualistic Mode*:255-275.

2009 Tiwanaku iconography and the calendar. *Proceedings of the Tiwanaku: Papers from the* 2005 Mayer Center Symposium at the Denver Art Museum.